
 City Council  

Agenda 

City Hall 

225 Fifth Street 

Springfield, Oregon 97477 

541.726.3700 

Online at www.springfield-or.gov 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

       

  

 

 

 

These meetings will be available via phone, internet using Zoom and in person. Members of the public wishing to 

attend these meetings electronically can call in or attend virtually by following the directions below. This

information can also be found on the City’s website

 

City Manager: 

Nancy Newton 

City Recorder: 

AJ Nytes 541.726.3700 

Mayor  
Sean VanGordon 
 

City Council 

Michelle Webber, Ward 1 
Steve Moe, Ward 2 
Kori Rodley, Ward 3 
Beth Blackwell, Ward 4 
Victoria Doyle, Ward 5 
Joe Pishioneri, Ward 6 

The meeting location is wheelchair-accessible.  For the hearing-impaired, an interpreter can be provided with 48

hours’  notice prior to the meeting.  For meetings in the Council Meeting Room, a “Personal PA Receiver” for th

hearing impaired is available, as well as an Induction Loop for the benefit of hearing aid users.

To arrange for these services, call  541.726.3700.

Meetings will end prior to 10:00 p.m. unless extended by a vote of the Council.

All proceedings before the City Council are recorded.

January  29, 2024

_____________________________

6:30  p.m. Work Session

Council Meeting Room

or

Virtual Attendance

Registration Required:

Attend from your computer, tablet or smartphone:

Zoom

Meeting ID: 840 0662 1637

https://us06web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_iFg2RHEyRcuxsJByvRz_0g
To dial in using your phone in Listen Only Mode:

Dial 1 (971) 247-1195

Toll Free 1 (877) 853-5247

Oregon Relay/TTY: 711 or 800-735-1232

 _____________________________

(Council work sessions are reserved for discussion between Council, staff and consultants;

  therefore, Council will not receive public input during work sessions.

Opportunities for public input are given during all regular Council meetings)

CALL TO ORDER

ROLL CALL  –  Mayor  VanGordon___,  Councilors  Webber  ___,  Moe___,  Rodley____,  Blackwell ____,  Doyle 

___,  and Pishioneri  ___.

https://us06web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_iFg2RHEyRcuxsJByvRz_0g


Council Agenda 

January 29, 2024 

Page 2 

 
 

 

1. Fiscal Year 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) 

[Meg Allocco]          (15 Minutes) 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

____________________________ 

 

7:00 p.m. Regular Meeting 

Council Meeting Room 

or  

Virtual Attendance 

Registration Required: 

Attend from your computer, tablet or smartphone: 

Zoom 

Meeting ID: 840 0662 1637 

https://us06web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_iFg2RHEyRcuxsJByvRz_0g 
To dial in using your phone in Listen Only Mode: 

Dial 1 (971) 247-1195 

Toll Free 1 (877) 853-5247 

Oregon Relay/TTY: 711 or 800-735-1232 

_____________________________ 

 

 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

ROLL CALL – Mayor VanGordon___, Councilors Webber ___, Moe___, Rodley____, Blackwell ____,  Doyle  

___, and Pishioneri ___. 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 

SPRINGFIELD UPBEAT 

 

1. Mayor’s Recognition 

 

2. Other 

 

CONSENT CALENDAR 

 

1. Claims 

 

2. Minutes 

 

3. Resolutions 

 

a. RESOLUTION NO. 1 - A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT CITY PROJECT P21181 S.37TH, S. 38TH, 

OSAGE, AND JANUS SANITARY SEWER EXTENSIONS.   

 

 

https://us06web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_iFg2RHEyRcuxsJByvRz_0g


Council Agenda 

January 29, 2024 

Page 3 

 
 
4. Ordinances 

 

a. ORDINANCE NO. 1 - AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE EUGENE-SPRINGFIELD 

METROPOLITAN AREA GENERAL PLAN (METRO PLAN) DIAGRAM BY REDESIGNATING 

APPROXIMATELY 4.99 ACRES OF LAND FROM CAMPUS INDUSTRIAL (CI) TO COMMERCIAL 

(C); CONCURRENTLY AMENDING THE GATEWAY REFINEMENT PLAN DIAGRAM BY 

REDESIGNATING THE SAME 4.99 ACRES OF LAND FROM CAMPUS INDUSTRIAL (CI) TO 

COMMUNITY COMMERCIAL (CC); CONCURRENTLY AMENDING THE SPRINGFIELD ZONING 

MAP BY REZONING THE SAME 4.99 ACRES OF LAND FROM CAMPUS INDUSTRIAL (CI) TO 

MEDICAL SERVICES (MS); ADOPTING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE AND PROVIDING AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

5. Other Routine Matters 

 

a. Move to Formally Accept the City’s Fiscal Year 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 

b. Authorize the City Manager to sign contract C3541 with Bridgeway Contracting for $1,278,206 

c. Endorsement of OLCC Liquor License Application for Made By You, located at 715 Main St. Springfield, 

OR 97477 

d. Authorize City Manager to execute 2024 renewal contract for self-funded medical, prescription, vision, 

stop-loss, and third-party administrative services 

 

MOTION: APPROVE/REJECT THE CONSENT CALENDAR 

 

ITEMS REMOVED FROM THE CONSENT CALENDAR 

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS - Please limit comments to 3 minutes.  Request to speak cards are available at both 

entrances.  Please present cards to City Recorder.  Speakers may not yield their time 

to others. 

 

1. Repealing Municipal Code Grading Section (8.300) and Updating the Land and Drainage Alteration Program 

Section (8.400) 

[Todd Singleton]          (10 Minutes) 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2 - AN ORDINANCE AMENDING AND REPEALING VARIOUS SECTIONS OF THE 

SPRINGFIELD MUNICIPAL CODE CHAPTER 8 REGARDING LAND DRAINAGE AND ALTERATION 

PERMITS, ADOPTING A SAVINGS CLAUSE, AND ADOPTING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE 

 

NO ACTION REQUIRED. FIRST READING ONLY 

 

2. 2025-2029 Capital Improvement Program, A Community Reinvestment Plan 

[Stan Petroff and Jeff Paschall]        (10 Minutes) 

 

MOTION: ADOPT/NOT ADOPT 2025-2029 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM, A COMMUNITY 

REINVESTMENT PLAN 

  

 



Council Agenda 

January 29, 2024 

Page 4 

 
 
BUSINESS FROM THE AUDIENCE - Limited to 20 minutes.  Please limit comments to 3 minutes.  Request 

to Speak cards are available at both entrances.  Please present cards 

to City Recorder. Speakers may not yield their time to others. 

 

COUNCIL RESPONSE 

 

CORRESPONDENCE AND PETITIONS 

 

BIDS 

 

ORDINANCES 

 

1. An Ordinance Prohibiting the Use of Controlled Substances on Public Property 

[Mary Bridget Smith]         (05 Minutes) 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 3 - AN ORDINANCE REPEALING AND REPLACING SPRINGFIELD MUNICIPAL 

CODE SECTION 5.256 TO ADD A PROHIBITION FOR USE OF CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES ON PUBLIC 

PROPERTY 

 

MOTION: ADOPT/NOT ADOPT ORDINANCE NO. 3 

 

BUSINESS FROM THE CITY COUNCIL 

 

1. Committee Appointments 

 

2. Business from Council 

 

a. Committee Reports 

 

b. Other Business 

 

BUSINESS FROM THE CITY MANAGER 

 

1. Other Business 

 

BUSINESS FROM THE CITY ATTORNEY 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 



 AGENDA  ITEM  SUMMARY Meeting Date:  
 Meeting Type: Work Session/Reg. Mtg 
 Staff Contact/Dept.: Meg Allocco/Finance 
 Staff Phone No: 541-726-3690 
 Estimated Time: 15 Minutes/Consent 
S P R I N G F I E L D 
C I T Y   C O U N C I L 

Council Goals: Financially Responsible 
and Stable Government 
Services 

 
ITEM TITLE: 
 

FISCAL YEAR 2023 ANNUAL COMPREHENSIVE FINANCIAL REPORT 
(ACFR) 
 

ACTION 
REQUESTED: 

Work Session:  Review the City’s Fiscal Year 2023 Annual Comprehensive 
Financial Report  
 
Regular Session:  Motion to Formally Accept the City’s Fiscal Year 2023 Annual 
Comprehensive Financial Report 
 

ISSUE 
STATEMENT: 

In accordance with Oregon Statues and the City’s charter, the City is required to 

complete an annual audit and financial statement.  The report will be presented to 
the City Council at the January 16th work session.  The Council will be asked to 
formally accept the report at their regular meeting that same night. 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 1:  City’s Fiscal Year 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report  
2:  Communication with Governance at Audit Conclusion 
 

DISCUSSION/ 
FINANCIAL 
IMPACT: 

Grove, Mueller & Swank, the City’s independent auditors, have completed their 

audit of the City’s Fiscal Year 2023 ACFR and have issued their opinion thereon.  
Ryan Pasquarella, of Grove, Mueller & Swank, will review the audit process, the 
Independent Auditor’s Report, and the City’s ACFR during the work session. 
 
As a preliminary summary for the Council’s information, you may note that the 
auditor’s found no material weaknesses in the City’s internal financial controls and 

they issued an “unmodified opinion” on the City’s financial statements.  This means 

that the City is properly accounting for its resources and using adequate financial 
controls to help prevent the improper use of those resources. 
 
 

 

1/29/2024



Annual Comprehensive Financial Report

20
23

FISCAL
YEAR

COMMUNITY     OPPORTUNITYO
F 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023
City of Springfield, OR

Attachment 1 Page 1 of 230 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment 1 Page 2 of 230 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, OREGON 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ANNUAL COMPREHENSIVE  
 FINANCIAL REPORT 

 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared by: 
 

Finance Department 
Accounting Division 

 

Attachment 1 Page 3 of 230 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment 1 Page 4 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

ANNUAL COMPREHENSIVE FINANCIAL REPORT 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023  
 

 

                         TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

 
    Page 
INTRODUCTORY SECTION 
  
 Letter of Transmittal 11-23 
 Organization Chart 25 
 Principal City Officials 26 
 Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting 27 
 
 
FINANCIAL SECTION 
 
 Independent Auditor’s Report 33-36 
  
 Management’s Discussion and Analysis 39-53  
  
 Basic Financial Statements: 
 
  Government-wide Financial Statements: 
   Statement of Net Position 57 
   Statement of Activities 58-59 
  Fund Financial Statements: 
   Balance Sheet – Governmental Funds 60 
   Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – 

Governmental Funds 61 
   Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in 

Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities 62 
   Statement of Fund Net Position – Proprietary Funds 63 
   Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position – 

Proprietary Funds 64 
   Statement of Cash Flows – Proprietary Funds 65 
  Fiduciary Funds 
   Statement of Fiduciary Net Position – Custodial Fund 66 
   Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position – Custodial Fund 67 
  Notes to Financial Statements 69-123 
 
 
 Required Supplementary Information: 
 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance (NonGAAP 
Budgetary Basis) – Budget and Actual: 

    General Fund 127 
    Police Local Option Levy Fund 128 
    Special Revenue Fund 129 
         

Attachment 1 Page 5 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

ANNUAL COMPREHENSIVE FINANCIAL REPORT 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023  
 

 

        
  Schedule of CRP Employer Contributions 130-131 
  Schedule of Changes in Total Pension Liability, Fiduciary Net Position, and  
   Related Ratios for City Retirement Plan 130-131 
     
  Schedule of OPERS Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability (Asset) 132-133 
  Schedule of OPERS Contributions 132-133 
  Schedule of Changes in Total OPEB Liability 134-135 
  Schedule of RHIA Proportionate Share of Net OPEB Liability (Asset) 136-137 
  Schedule of RHIA Contributions 136-137 
 
  
 Other Supplementary Information: 
 
  Nonmajor Governmental Funds Combining Statements: 
   Combining Balance Sheet – Nonmajor Governmental Funds 143 
   Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund 
    Balance – Nonmajor Governmental Funds 144 
 

  Special Revenue Funds: 
   Combining Balance Sheet – Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds 147 
   Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund 

Balances – Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds 148 
   Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance (Non 

GAAP Budgetary Basis) – Budget and Actual: 
     Street Fund 149 
     Transient Room Tax Fund 150 
     Community Development Fund 151 
     Building Code Fund 152 
     SEDA Glenwood General Fund 153  
     SEDA Downtown General Fund 154 
     Fire Local Option Levy Fund 155 
        

  Debt Service Funds: 
   Balance Sheet – Nonmajor Debt Service Fund 159 
   Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance – 

Nonmajor Debt Service Fund 160 
   Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance (Non 

GAAP Budgetary Basis) – Budget and Actual: 
     General Obligation Debt Service Fund 161     
      

  Capital Projects Funds: 
   Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance (Non  
                         GAAP Budgetary Basis)  – Budget and Actual: 
              Street Capital Projects Fund (Major Fund) 165 
   Combining Balance Sheet – Nonmajor Capital Project Funds 166 

Attachment 1 Page 6 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

ANNUAL COMPREHENSIVE FINANCIAL REPORT 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023  
 

 

   Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund 
Balance – Nonmajor Capital Project Funds 167 

   Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance (Non 
GAAP Budgetary Basis) – Budget and Actual:     

     Development Assessments Capital Projects Fund 168 
     Development Capital Projects Fund 169 
     SEDA Glenwood Capital Projects Fund 170 
 
  Enterprise Funds: 
   Schedule of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position (Non 

GAAP Budgetary Basis) – Budget and Actual: 
     Sewer Fund 173 
     Storm Drainage Fund 174 
     Ambulance Fund 175 
     Booth-Kelly Fund 176 
    
  Internal Service Funds: 
   Combining Statement of Fund Net Position – Internal Service Funds 179 
   Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net 

Position – Internal Service Funds 180 
   Combining Statement of Cash Flows – Internal Service Funds 181 
   Schedule of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position (Non 

GAAP Budgetary Basis) – Budget and Actual: 
     Vehicle and Equipment Fund 182 
     Insurance Fund 183 
     SDC Administration Fund 184 
 
   
STATISTICAL SECTION  
 
 Financial Trend Information   
  Net position by component, last ten fiscal years 188-189 
  Changes in net position, last ten fiscal years 190-191 
  Fund balances, governmental funds, last ten fiscal years 192-193 
  Changes in fund balances, governmental funds, last ten fiscal years 194-195 
 
 Revenue Capacity Information 
  Assessed value and actual value of taxable property, last ten fiscal years 199 
  Direct and overlapping property tax rates, last ten fiscal years 200-201 
  Principal property tax payers, current year and nine years ago 202 
  Property tax levies and collections, last ten fiscal years 203 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment 1 Page 7 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

ANNUAL COMPREHENSIVE FINANCIAL REPORT 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023  
 

 

 Debt Capacity Information 
  Ratios of outstanding debt, by type, last ten fiscal years 207 
  Ratios of general bonded debt outstanding, last ten fiscal years 208 
  Computation of direct and overlapping governmental activities debt 209 
  Legal debt margin information, last ten fiscal years 210-211 
  Pledged-revenue coverage, last ten fiscal years 212 
 
 Demographic and Economic Information   
  Demographic and economic statistics, last ten calendar years 215 
  Principal employers, current year and nine years ago 216 
 
 Operating Information 
  Full-time equivalent city government employees by function/program, last ten 

fiscal years 218-219 
  Operating indicators by function/program, last ten fiscal years 220-221 
  Capital asset statistics by function/program, last ten fiscal years 222-223 
 
 
COMPLIANCE SECTION 
 
 Audit Comments: 
  Independent Auditor’s Report Required by Oregon State Regulations 229-230 

Attachment 1 Page 8 of 230 



 

 

 
Introductory Section 

Attachment 1 Page 9 of 230 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment 1 Page 10 of 230 



 
 

 

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, OREGON 
    

   FINANCE DEPARTMENT 
       ACCOUNTING / REPORTING 
       ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE / PAYABLE 
       ASSESSMENTS 
       BUDGETING / TREASURY 
       PAYROLL 
       PURCHASING 

  

 
 

225 FIFTH STREET   
SPRINGFIELD, OR 97477 

(541) 726-3705 
FAX (541) 726-3782 

www.ci.springfield.or.us 

 
December 23, 2023 
 
 
To the Citizens of Springfield, Oregon: 
 
Local ordinances and state statutes require that the City of Springfield issue a report on its 
financial position and activity within six months of the close of each fiscal year.  In addition, this 
report must be audited in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America by an independent firm of certified public accountants.  Pursuant to that 
requirement, we hereby issue the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report of the City of 
Springfield for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023. 
 
This report consists of management’s representations of the City’s finances.  Consequently, 
responsibility for the accuracy of the data and for the completeness and fairness of the 
presentation, including all disclosures, rests with management.  To provide a reasonable basis for 
making these representations, management has established a comprehensive internal control 
framework that is designed both to protect the government’s assets from loss, theft, or misuse, 
and to compile sufficient reliable information for the preparation of the City’s financial 
statements in conformity with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP).  Because the 
cost of internal controls should not outweigh their benefits, the City’s comprehensive framework 
of internal controls is designed to provide reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance that the 
financial statements will be free from material misstatement.  As management, we assert that, to 
the best of our knowledge and belief, this financial report is complete and reliable in all material 
respects. 
 
The City of Springfield’s financial statements have been audited by Grove, Mueller & Swank, 
P.C., a firm of licensed certified public accountants.  The goal of the independent audit was to 
provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements of the City of Springfield for the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2023, are free of material misstatement.  The independent audit involved 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements; assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management; and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  The independent 
auditor concluded, based upon the audit, that there was a reasonable basis for rendering an 
unmodified opinion that the City of Springfield’s financial statements for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2023, are fairly presented in conformity with GAAP.  The independent auditor’s report 
is presented as the first component of the financial section of this report.  
 
GAAP requires that management provide a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to 
accompany the basic financial statements in the form of Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
(MD&A).  This letter of transmittal is designed to complement the MD&A and should be read in 
conjunction with it.  The City of Springfield’s MD&A can be found immediately following the 
report of the independent auditors. 
 

11 Attachment 1 Page 11 of 230 



 
 

Profile of the Government 
 
The City of Springfield was incorporated on February 25, 1885.  The City has a council-manager 
form of government.  The six-member City Council sets overall city policy and goals.  The City 
Council also makes laws, or ordinances, which govern the City.  Councilors are nominated from 
one of six wards and are elected at large for four-year staggered terms.  The Mayor, elected at 
large to a four-year term, is the chief elected officer of the City and is responsible for providing 
political and policy leadership for the community.  The Mayor has no executive power, but 
presides at City Council meetings and serves as the ceremonial head of the City. 
 
Home to approximately 62,926 people, Springfield is bordered north and south by the McKenzie 
and Willamette Rivers, covering approximately 15 square miles in Lane County.  The 
Springfield community has rich cultural assets, such as the Springfield Museum and Historic 
Interpretive Center, Washburne Historic District, Springfield Railroad Depot, Oregon Trail 
Mural, and Dorris Ranch Living History Farm. 
 
The City provides a full range of municipal services.  These services include police, fire, 
emergency medical services, municipal court, community planning and development, library, 
wastewater management, stormwater management, general public works, central service 
administration, and other functions associated with a full-service city.   
 
For financial reporting purposes, the City includes all funds subject to appropriation by the City 
Council.  In addition, the City includes all governmental organizations and activities for which 
the City Council is financially accountable.  Therefore, the financial statements of the Urban 
Renewal Agency of the City of Springfield, although legally separate, have been blended with 
those of the City by including them in the appropriate statements and schedules in this report.  
Other potential component units have been evaluated and determined not to be component units 
of the City according to the criteria provided by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. 
 
For financial planning and control, the City prepares and adopts an annual budget in accordance 
with Oregon law.  The law establishes standard procedures for preparing, presenting, and 
administering the budget.  It requires citizen involvement in the preparation of the budget and 
public disclosure of the budget before final adoption.  The activities of all the funds of the City 
(except the Custodial Fund, which accounts only for non-budgeted pass-through monies) are 
included in the annual budget, as required by state law.  The City prepares its budget, as allowed 
under Oregon law, using the modified accrual basis of accounting.  The legally adopted budget is 
presented at the departmental level for current expenditures, with separate appropriations 
established for capital projects, debt service, interfund transfers, miscellaneous fiscal 
transactions, contingencies, unappropriated fund balances, and reserves. 
 
 
Under the changes made by Measure 50, Oregon’s municipalities now levy their annual property 
taxes on a partial rate-based levy system.  Springfield has been assigned a permanent tax rate of 
$4.7403 per thousand dollars of assessed valuation for its annual property tax operating levy.  
This amount can be supplemented through a voter-approved levy. In November 2015, 
Springfield voters renewed a special purpose five-year property tax levy for fire and life-safety 

12 Attachment 1 Page 12 of 230 



 
 

services at a rate of $0.36 per thousand beginning July 1, 2016.  Subsequently, in November 
2020, voters reauthorized that levy for another five years at a rate of $0.38 per thousand 
beginning July 1, 2021.  In November 2022, Springfield voters renewed a special purpose five-
year property tax levy for police, municipal court, and jail services at a rate of $1.40 per 
thousand for five years beginning July 1, 2023.  Springfield still has the authority to levy an 
additional dollar value property tax levy for the retirement of its voter-approved general 
obligation bond debt.  For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, the amount of the tax levy for 
general obligation debt was $0.71 per thousand.  
 
 
Local Economy July 2022-June 2023 
 
Springfield’s accessibility, diversity of industry, and market rate housing options continue to 
bolster the desirability of the community.  Springfield continues to see patterns of investments in 
local manufacturing and traded sector activities, increased values of property, and momentum in 
private and public projects and infrastructure investments.  Springfield is made up of a mix of 
industries and a balance of mature phase and startup phase companies which only reinforces the 
benefits of economic diversification. This diversification has contributed to the levels of stability 
within the local economy during FY23.  Many employers have maintained their workforce, or 
quickly brought back those employees impacted by temporary layoffs and the community is 
moving beyond the impacts of the global Covid-19 pandemic. 
   
Springfield is experiencing a renewed emphasis on delivering much needed housing to the area 
despite unfavorable commercial lending conditions.  By the end of FY23, the City of Springfield 
approved hundreds of new units of multifamily housing. Additionally, land use applications 
continue to remain steady with certain months experiencing higher than average submissions.  
This indicates that the Springfield market for housing and new development continues to be 
favorable enough for current projects to proceed to construction and new projects to begin to 
take steps to development.  
 
Property Values  
 
Per the Lane County Taxation and Assessors office, total assessed property values have steadily 
increased over the last decade, with minor impacts from the pandemic. From FY22 to FY23, 
median assessed value increased 3.7%, up from FY22’s increases of 3.5%.  This growth reflects 
the resiliency of the Springfield housing market as it is becoming a more desirable place for 
people to purchase homes. In total, FY23 assessed property values in the City of Springfield 
totaled over $5.6 billion, an increase of $394 million over FY22. 
 
Population Growth 
 
According to the Portland State University Population Research Center, Springfield’s population 
slightly increased in FY23 with an estimated population of 62,926. With the revised 2022 
population estimate at 62,646, Springfield experienced an increase of 280 community members 
(0.5%) from 2022.  This increase is slightly lower than the broader Lane County Region and the 
neighboring community of Eugene with respective population increases of 0.52% and 0.8% from 

13 Attachment 1 Page 13 of 230 



 
 

FY22.  Residential inventories continue to be competitive, despite less-than-ideal lending 
conditions.  A new 100-acre subdivision is completing construction, and future years are 
anticipated to reflect sustained population growth. 
 
In general, Springfield’s population trends are attributable to several variables, including 
population estimation methodology used by the Portland State University Population Research 
Center, but also impacts of existing limited housing supply and land, rising costs of construction 
which continues to see high unit and labor pricing, and trends in new single and multi-family 
housing starts.   
 
Job Growth 
 
Job growth saw substantial years of increase prior to 2020 in Lane County, with unemployment 
in Springfield maintaining all time historic lows. While job gains were not expected during the 
COVID-19 pandemic shut down, Springfield companies involved in manufacturing saw robust 
quarters of product demand.   
 
Notable trends are reflected in the jobs regained following initial pandemic caused layoffs. Many 
of these layoffs were seen temporarily in medical and retail fields, with jobs returning as early 
shutdowns eased and consumers regained confidence in daily activities. 
 

 
 
At the height of the FY20 COVID-19 job loss, unemployment rates in the Springfield-Eugene 
metro area rose from 3.5% on the eve of the ‘stay at home’ orders in March to over 16% in April 
and May. At the beginning of 2021, unemployment rates were at 6.5% and at the beginning of 
2022 rates were at 4.0% and have maintained that level through FY23.    

14 Attachment 1 Page 14 of 230 



 
 

Springfield Target Industries 
 
Springfield’s diversity of target industries has allowed the local economy to remain active 
throughout FY23.  That diversity is attributed most prevalently due to a high concentration of 
health care, retail, accommodation and food services, manufacturing, construction, and 
administrative services industries.  Specifically, within these industries Springfield’s focus has 
been advanced timber manufacturing, technology, craft food and beverage, and medical 
technology.  These industries also serve as the primary employment bases for the community.  
The city is home to multiple timber processing facilities, two hospitals, a major health insurance 
provider, technology and manufacturing outfits ranging in size and product, and an array of 
restaurants and food and beverage manufacturers.  
 
The Springfield business climate remains stable, supportive, and focused on growth and 
expansion opportunities for these target industries and employers.  Years of establishing positive 
relationships, a strong connection to the Chamber of Commerce, and a reputation for being open 
for business assure that future opportunities for growth and expansion remains a priority in 
Springfield.  
 
Springfield Industry Employers 
 
The City of Springfield’s positive relationships with existing employers is a hard-earned and 
critical resource in fostering trust and facilitating opportunities to support growth and expansion 
of those industries and, specifically, employers. Employment data specific to an individual 
private employer is highly sensitive and considered protected information by the State 
Employment Department. Springfield’s primary employment bases are health care, education, 
wood products and technology. The City is home to two hospitals employing approximately 
4,500 employees, as well as PacificSource Health Plans and Wayfair call centers. 
 
Significant Event Sampling 
 
 Urban Renewal Property Tax Performance. In FY23 both the Glenwood and Downtown 

Urban Renewal Areas saw greater than average increases in property tax performance due 
to continued investments in the areas and property taxes returning to the rolls after tax 
incentives. For the first time since either Urban Renewal Area was established, Downtown 
outperformed Glenwood in terms of excess assessed value revenue. This is notable because 
Downtown is a significantly smaller land area with different and unique redevelopment 
considerations. 
 

 Marcola Meadows. Construction continues in the Marcola Meadows subdivision. In late 
FY20, initial ground and infrastructure work began in the mid-Springfield area Marcola 
Meadows subdivision. The subdivision includes over 100 acres and an anticipated total 750 
residential units comprised of a mix of single-family homes for purchase and multifamily 
units for lease. Construction began on the first phase of residential units in FY21 with 
construction of two more phases continuing through FY22. FY23 saw the submission of 
permits and the start of construction for the multi-family units. 

 

15 Attachment 1 Page 15 of 230 



 
 

 Glenwood Riverfront Master Planning. In FY23, the Springfield Economic 
Development Agency (SEDA) contracted with a consultant team of planners, engineers, 
land use professionals, and ecological experts for master planning services on the 30-acre 
parcel. Master planning assures that the area is developed in an intentional and cohesive 
manner, while leaving flexibility for uses in the future both by the City, SEDA, and the 
adjacent landowners. 

 
 
Long-term Financial Planning 
 
The City’s long-range financial planning efforts mirror many other cities by producing trend line 
projections for both revenue and expenditures based upon individual analysis of both primary 
revenue and expenditures.  The annual budget and five-year forecasts for the City’s more 
significant funds serve as the foundation for the City’s financial planning. 
 
Financial policies are central to a strategic, long-term approach to financial management.  
Currently, the City of Springfield has a three-page document representing the Financial 
Management Policies and recently initiated a project to review the fiscal health of our 
organization starting with a review and revision of outdated policies.  The current City policies 
have three different update characteristics; these are: (1) policies that conflict with current 
practices; (2) policies that are simply out-of-date; and (3) policies that require clarification.  
Additionally, there are important policies that are not currently addressed, as well as policies that 
are better left to administrative process. 
 
The Finance Department identified nine policies for potential revision with six completed to 
date.  Our objective is to update other financial policies in order to develop a strategic, long-term 
approach to: (1) minimize the cost of government and reduce financial risk; (2) maintain 
appropriate financial capacity for present and future needs; and (3) ensure the legal use of 
financial resources through an effective system of internal controls. 
 
Another objective of the policy reviews was to better understand how budget decisions impact 
the long-term stability of the City’s financial position.  A critical component is the make-up of 
the different accounting funds and how each has its own unique external forces that can impact 
its financial stability.  The last recession did not treat all funds equally and lessons can be learned 
about the early identification of stress signs and what can be done to be able to respond in a 
timely manner.  A part of this exercise is to ensure that staff is providing adequate guidance for 
the Council and Budget Committee in these matters.   
 
The City’s major operating funds for General, Police Local Option Levy, Special Revenue, 
Sewer, and Storm Drainage purposes all meet current Council adopted policies for maintaining 
adequate contingency and working capital.  The City’s Ambulance Fund is not currently meeting 
the guidelines for maintaining adequate contingency and working capital at this time; however, 
City staff are making this fund a top priority in its fiscal health exercise.  
 
Utility enterprise operations such as sanitary sewer and stormwater, where there is the ability for 
the Council to make choices about raising monthly fees, have been better able to increase 

16 Attachment 1 Page 16 of 230 



 
 

revenues to meet expenditure needs.  Throughout this period, the combination of tempering 
expenditures with modest rate increases has allowed these enterprises to continue their vital 
maintenance needs.   
 
The City updates its Capital Improvement Program (CIP) every two years.  The FY23-FY27 CIP 
was adopted by the City Council in January 2022.  More capital projects for the Sanitary 
programs will be scheduled in the upcoming years beginning in FY23 as an update of the 
hydraulic model has been complete and a consultant has been hired to help the City update the 
Wastewater Master Plan.  Planning and projects in the stormwater program are also scheduled in 
the FY23-FY27 CIP with significant efforts planned to begin FY24.  After borrowing funds in 
the early 2000’s to catch up on capital needs, these utilities have been able to establish adequate 
reserves to meet current needs.  
 
The City’s capital resources for street improvements have not been able to match capital needs 
and the City asked voters for the approval of a 5-year $10 million general obligation bond in 
November of 2018, which passed with 55% voter approval, to address the most immediate 
needs.  All of the bond projects were designed and constructed ahead of schedule and are now 
complete. 
 
 
Public Safety Services: 
 
The City continues to have two special-purpose taxing levies approved by the voters.  Both 
levies were initially approved in 2002 and have been reauthorized by citizens several times.  The 
levy for fire services allows the City to operate a fifth engine company for first response and fire 
services and was recently renewed for an additional five years beginning in FY22.  The levy for 
police services funds additional services for patrol, dispatch, records, and our municipal jail and 
was recently renewed for an additional five years beginning in FY24.  
 
 
Urban Renewal: 
 
The City established, with voter approval, two urban renewal districts within our community.  
The Glenwood District, established in 2004, is located at the south western edge of the City and 
presents an area of riverfront opportunity immediately adjacent to Downtown Springfield and the 
City of Eugene’s University and Waterfront areas. The Downtown district, established in 2007, 
is located in Downtown Springfield and stretches from the Willamette River east to 21st Street. 
These urban renewal areas provide the community with the tools and resources necessary to 
influence and generate substantial revitalization and redevelopment.  
 
The Glenwood District is the least developed of the two urban renewal areas and requiring the 
most infrastructure and revisioning investment. At 618 acres, it is also the largest. Since 2016, 
SEDA and the City have been assembling land for the redevelopment of the Glenwood 
Riverfront.  That work was completed in FY23, with approximately 13 acres now in ownership 
or under contract.   In January 2023, SEDA contracted with a consultant team of planners, 
engineers, land use professionals, and ecological experts for master planning services that will 

17 Attachment 1 Page 17 of 230 



 
 

guide the phasing of development, provision of public facilities and services, determination of 
specific land uses and densities, identification of potential impacts of proposed developments, 
and assurances of predictability for long term development potential for property owners.  This 
concept work engaged adjacent landowners and public agency partners who currently own an 
additional 17 acres, bringing the total Master Plan area to approximately 30 acres.  The Master 
Plan work will continue through FY24. 
 
The Downtown District includes 417 acres encompassing the current Downtown core area, 
commercial opportunity areas to the east of the Downtown core, and key industrial lands 
primarily along the south edge of the district.  In FY23, a key industrial employer’s 2018 facility 
investment returned to the tax rolls following the expiration of their initial enterprise zone tax 
abatement window.  FY24 will see the expiration of another abatement window and additional 
facility investment coming back on to the tax rolls as well. 
 
Also in FY23, inflation and a significant increase in borrowing costs resulted in the 
discontinuation of a signature Downtown development project, a mixed-use, multi-family, 8-
story mass timber building.  The SEDA Board is still invested in bringing market-rate housing to 
Downtown and has received multiple inquiries from the private sector.  An initiative the City is 
exploring may assist in this goal, a High Density Property Tax Exemption program that would 
provide for a 10-year property tax exemption on housing development of 5 units or more within 
key transit corridors.  One of these corridors falls within the Downtown District’s plan area.   
 

 
Capital Improvements: 
  
The City of Springfield’s Capital Improvement Program (CIP) is a five‐year Community 
Reinvestment Plan which describes the funding and construction of City infrastructure. The 
Council typically approves biennially a list of public projects, such as transportation and streets, 
wastewater, stormwater, and buildings and properties, which are programmed for planning, 
design, and construction in the next five years.  Programming in the CIP is based upon the most-
current estimates of available funding.  Actual funding decisions are made during the City’s 
annual budgeting process. These projects are aimed at improving neighborhoods, providing for 
economic growth, improving traffic safety, and maintaining the existing City infrastructure and 
facilities.  Information on our various projects are located on our Current Construction webpage 
located here https://springfield-or.gov/city/development-public-works/current-construction-
projects/ . Some of the major projects in each of these program areas include the following: 
 
 
Transportation and Streets: 
 
  Street Bond Measure 20-296 – The bond proposed a five-year $10 million general 

obligation bond to fund repairs of a list of proposed city streets. Thanks to Springfield voters’ 
support, the bond passed during the November 6, 2018 election. Even before the taxes were 
being collected, City staff began planning and designing the first projects. All of the bond 
projects were constructed ahead of schedule and include the following: 
 
 

18 Attachment 1 Page 18 of 230 



 
 

o Commercial Ave - 42nd St west approx. 450 feet - Completed 2019 
o 14th St - Main St to A St & E St to G St - Completed 2019 
o Mohawk Blvd - G St to Hwy 126 - Completed 2021 
o Highbanks Rd/58th St - 52nd St to Thurston Rd - Completed 2021 
o Olympic St - Mohawk Blvd to 28th St - Completed 2021 
o Thurston Rd - 58th St to 69th St - Completed 2021 
o 42nd St - Main St to approx. International Paper - Completed 2021 
o Centennial Blvd - Aspen St to Prescott Ln - Completed 2022 

   
  Franklin Blvd. – The Franklin Boulevard Reconstruction Project includes constructing 

modern urban standards improvements on the old Hwy 99 alignment in Glenwood called 
Franklin Boulevard between the Franklin Blvd./Glenwood Blvd. intersection and the 
Franklin Blvd./ Franklin Blvd (Hwy 225) intersection.  This goal of the project is to support 
Glenwood redevelopment and regional safety and mobility for transit, bicycles/pedestrians, 
and autos.  Phase 1 construction was complete in 2018. Phase 2 includes the remaining 
design and construction of the roundabout at the intersection of Mississippi Boulevard and 
Franklin Blvd.  In partnership with the City of Eugene, the City applied for and received a 
federal grant for these Phase 2 improvements.  
 

  South 28th Street Paving  – The City of Springfield received Congestion Mitigation Air 
Quality funding to be utilized for paving the gravel portion of S. 28th St. from South F St. to 
the city limits (approximately .25 miles).  In addition to paving, new stormwater features to 
manage and improve stormwater quality will also be constructed. Due to Oregon Department 
of Transportation and Federal Highway Administration requirements, the City must utilize a 
certified agency to deliver the project.  For this project the City is working with Lane County 
through an intergovernmental agreement, with preliminary engineering in process and 
construction anticipated in 2024. 
 

  Projects In Design – Many transportation and street projects are in design and include the 
following: 

   
o Sidewalk Filling the Gaps 
o West ‘D’ Street Improvement Project 
o Mill Street Reconstruct: South ‘A’ Street to Centennial Blvd 
o 42nd Street Paving 
o Laura Street Reconstruction 
o South 42nd and Daisy Roundabout 
o South 32nd and Virginia RRFB 
o Franklin Blvd. Hwy 225 Environmental Analysis and Preliminary Design 
o Signal Enhancement Project 
o Citywide Streetlight LED Upgrades 

 
Wastewater: 
 
 Jasper Trunk Sewer – Phase 3 – The City Council approved funding for the extension of 

the Jasper Trunk Sewer with adoption of the 2020-2024 Capital Improvement Program. 

19 Attachment 1 Page 19 of 230 



 
 

Phase 3 will extend wastewater service approximately 5,280 feet southeast across Bob Straub 
Parkway terminating near Brand S Road. Further extension of the Jasper Trunk Sewer 
provides a key City service for urban level development of the Jasper-Natron area.  Design is 
nearing completion and the construction of this project is planned for 2024. 
 

 Mill Street Reconstruction – As part of the reconstruction of Mill Street from S. ‘A’ Street 
to Centennial Blvd., the City will replace the wastewater line from Main Street to just north 
of ‘G’ Street and line the wastewater laterals. The project is currently in design and is 
planned to go out to bid early 2024 with construction continuing into 2025.  

 
 16th Street Emergency Sewer Repair – The project is in design and will repair and/or 

replace pipe or other system components that have reached the end of their useful life or are 
otherwise causing problems within the collection system. This project will bring the City into 
compliance with federal and state requirements to eliminate wastewater overflows. 
 

 Local Sewer Extensions – Within the City of Springfield's city limits and urban growth 
boundary (UGB) are several areas that are fully developed but lack wastewater service.  This 
project would fund the design and construction of wastewater main line pipes to these areas 
upon request of affected property owners or annexation, with some or all of the cost possibly 
reimbursable through assessments. It is anticipated that extensions will be completed in two 
locations in south Springfield in 2023. 
 

 CMOM Planning and Implementation – The City continues to make the repair, 
rehabilitation, or replacement of older wastewater pipes throughout the City a high priority in 
the Capital Improvement Program in an effort to reduce leakage of ground water into the 
system.  As part of this program, the City plans to rehabilitate approximately 4,500 feet of 27 
inch sanitary trunk in 2022. The City continues to work on implementation of its Capacity, 
Management, Operations, and Maintenance (CMOM) program to remain in line with both 
State and Federal regulations. A flow monitoring plan and update of the collection system 
and the hydraulic model has been updated.  The City is well into the process of micro-basin 
monitoring and modeling, with two basins identified for rehabilitation and programmed in 
the upcoming FY23-FY27 CIP. The City will also begin the process of updating the 2008 
Wastewater Master Plan in the upcoming year. 

 
Stormwater: 
 
 42nd Street Levee Study – An initial study has been completed which identified several 

existing deficiencies.  It also identified areas for further study and investigation of the 
condition of the High Banks Road (42nd Street) Levee to identify any structural or non-
structural deficiencies and to evaluate the potential for obtaining federal accreditation of this 
levee as a flood control facility under the National Flood Insurance Program and for 
compliance with the National Levee Safety Program.  In October 1983, the City entered into 
an Agreement with the Soil Conservation Service for the operations and maintenance of the 
High Banks Road Dike that was constructed by Lane County in the 1950's adjacent to what is 
now known as 42nd Street.  This dike provides flood control protection for areas of 
Springfield north of Highway 126 and west of 42nd Street from McKenzie River flooding.  

20 Attachment 1 Page 20 of 230 



 
 

The Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) has developed an accreditation 
program for levees that are relied upon under the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) 
and the National Levee Safety Committee has developed recommendations to Congress for a 
National Levee Safety Program. The City has also started the process of creating an 
Emergency Action Plan for the levee. 
 

 Mill Street Reconstruction – As part of the reconstruction of Mill Street from South ‘A’ 
Street to Centennial Blvd., the City will replace the stormwater lines, inlets, and laterals. 
Proprietary StromTree water quality planters will be added to capture and treat stormwater 
before it leaves the site and eventually enters the Willamette River. The project is currently in 
design and is planned to go out to bid early 2024 with construction continuing into 2025. 

 
 Laura Street Reconstruction – As part of the reconstruction of Laura Street, the City will 

add a stormwater treatment system including new curb and gutter, inlets, pipes, and treatment 
swales. The project will also replace the failing 36-inch culvert which carries Channel 6 
under and across Laura Street with a new 48-inch culvert which is part of the larger Channel 
6 improvements to reduce flooding in the area. The project is currently in design with 
construction planned for 2025.  
 

 Channel 6 Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) Update / Channel 6 Phase II – The 
Master Plan and an evaluation and update to the Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) have 
been completed.  Phase II will implement the Council approved Master Plan.  
Implementation will begin with an upgrade of several culverts to improve water flow and 
mitigate potential flooding. 
 

 In addition to the above major projects, several other projects are already budgeted and are 
currently in process or scheduled, including: Glenwood Stormwater Master Plan, Stormwater 
Channel Improvement, and 5th Street/EWEB Path Storm Pipe. 
 

Major Initiatives 
 
The City Council goals for this year, along with some of the more significant activities and 
projects addressing those goals, are as follows: 

 
Provide Financially Responsible and Innovative Government Services 
 

 Urban growth boundary expansion to meet industrial zone employment needs 
 Infrastructure enterprise funds meet operating and capital requirements 
 Information technology infrastructure is available 
 Enhancements and customizations to existing applications will meet customer 

expectations  
 
 
 

 

21 Attachment 1 Page 21 of 230 



 
 

Encourage Economic Development and Revitalization through Community 
Partnerships 
 

 There is growth in the level of Glenwood Urban Renewal investment 
 There is growth in the level of Downtown Urban Renewal investment 
 Room tax receipts are meeting their set outcome measure 
 The infrastructure needed for growth is identified and planned 
 Target areas are planned and zoned for redevelopment to attract new business and 

attractions and/or eliminate blighted areas 
 Opportunities for affordable and decent housing are increased through 

partnerships with non-profit housing developers and providing assistance to low 
and very low-income citizens throughout the community   

 
 Foster an Environment that Values Diversity and Inclusion 
 

 Percent of proposers on Public Works formal solicitations that self-identify as 
minority, women, or emerging small businesses (MWESB) 

 City supports and encourages inclusion in advertisements for open positions, 
procurement, and budgetary objectives  

 Effective and appropriate language services are provided while at the Springfield 
Municipal Court 

 Percent of qualified applicants who meet City’s workforce diversity goals  
 
Strengthen Public Safety by Leveraging Partnerships and Resources 
 

 High priority calls are dispatched within 60 seconds of receipt 
 Medium priority calls are dispatched within five minutes of receipt 
 Low priority calls are dispatched within 10 minutes of receipt 
 Crime rate for property crimes is decreasing 
 Emergency ambulance responses are within eight minutes 
 Fire responses are within five minutes 

 
Maintain and Improve Infrastructure and Facilities 
 

 Planned infrastructure maintenance is performed 
 Preservation projects are completed on schedule 
 Out-of-service signalized intersections repaired within 48 hours of reporting 
 Capital projects are constructed to meet expanding needs 

 
Promote and Enhance Our Hometown Feel While Focusing on Livability and 
Environmental Quality 
 

 Student success and community literacy is supported 
 The quality of information services is improved 
 Access to Library services and collections is improved 

22 Attachment 1 Page 22 of 230 



23 Attachment 1 Page 23 of 230 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

24 Attachment 1 Page 24 of 230 



25 Attachment 1 Page 25 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

Principal City Officials 
June 30, 2023 

 

Elected Officials 
225 Fifth Street 

Springfield, Oregon 97477 
 
 

Mayor Term Expiration

Sean VanGordon December 31, 2024

Council Members

Michelle Webber Ward 1 December 31, 2026

Steve Moe Ward 2 December 31, 2026

Kori Rodley Ward 3 December 31, 2024

Beth Blackwell Ward 4 December 31, 2024

Victoria Doyle Ward 5 December 31, 2026

Joe Pishioneri Ward 6 December 31, 2024

 
 

The City Council can be contacted at the address above. 
 
 
 
 

Administrative Officials 
 

Nancy Newton  City Manager  
Nathan Bell Finance Director 

 

26 Attachment 1 Page 26 of 230 



Government Finance Officers Association

Certificate of 
Achievement
for Excellence

in Financial 
Reporting

Presented to

City of Springfield
Oregon

For its Annual Comprehensive
Financial Report

For the Fiscal Year Ended

June 30, 2022

Executive Director/CEO

27 Attachment 1 Page 27 of 230 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

28 Attachment 1 Page 28 of 230 



 

 

 

Financial Section 
 

29 Attachment 1 Page 29 of 230 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

30 Attachment 1 Page 30 of 230 



 
 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

31 Attachment 1 Page 31 of 230 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

32 Attachment 1 Page 32 of 230 



 

475 Cottage Street NE, Suite 200, Salem, OR 97301  T: 503.581.7788  E: info@gms.cpa  www.redw.com/gms 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 
 
To the Honorable Mayor, Members of the 
  City Council and the City Manager 
City of Springfield 
Springfield, Oregon 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinions 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each 
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Springfield, Oregon (the City) as 
of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively 
comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the respective 
financial position of the governmental activities, business-type activities, each major fund, and the 
aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Springfield, as of June 30, 2023, and the respective 
changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Basis for Opinions 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are required to be independent of the City and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 

As discussed in the notes to the financial statements, the City has implemented Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 96 Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements, in 
the current period, which resulted in changes to the presentation of Information Technology subscription 
related activity. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 

 
 
 

33 Attachment 1 Page 33 of 230 



 
 
 
 

475 Cottage Street NE, Suite 200, Salem, OR 97301  T: 503.581.7788  E: info@gms.cpa  www.redw.com/gms 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
 
The City’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a 
going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known 
information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a 
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a 
reasonable user based on the financial statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 
 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures 
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that 
raise substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable 
period of time.  

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control–related matters 
that we identified during the audit. 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis (MD&A) and required supplementary information, as listed in the table of contents, 
be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of 
management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental 

34 Attachment 1 Page 34 of 230 



 
 
 
 

475 Cottage Street NE, Suite 200, Salem, OR 97301  T: 503.581.7788  E: info@gms.cpa  www.redw.com/gms 

Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the 
basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied 
certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the 
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit 
of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information 
(except as mentioned in the following paragraph) because the limited procedures do not provide us with 
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
The schedules of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance (non GAAP budgetary basis) – 
budget and actual presented as required supplementary information, are the responsibility of management 
and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 
basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and 
reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 
basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the 
information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 
 
Supplementary Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the City’s basic financial statements. The introductory section, other supplementary information, 
and statistical section as listed in the table of contents, are presented for purposes of additional analysis and 
are not a required part of the basic financial statements.  
 
The other supplementary information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such 
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to 
the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated, 
in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 
 
Other Information Included in the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) 
 
Management is responsible for the other information included in the ACFR. The other information 
comprises the introductory and statistical sections but does not include the financial statements and our 
auditor's report thereon. Our opinions on the financial statements do not cover the other information, and we 
do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon. In connection with our audit of the financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and consider whether a material inconsistency 
exists between the other information and the financial statements, or the other information otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected 
material misstatement of the other information exists, we are required to describe it in our report. 
 
 
 
 
 

35 Attachment 1 Page 35 of 230 



 
 
 
 

475 Cottage Street NE, Suite 200, Salem, OR 97301  T: 503.581.7788  E: info@gms.cpa  www.redw.com/gms 

Reports on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 15, 
2023 on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. 
 
The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness 
of internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control 
over financial reporting and compliance. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Oregon Minimum Standards 
 
In accordance with Minimum Standards for Audits of Oregon Municipal Corporations, we have issued our 
report dated December 15, 2023, on our consideration of the City’s compliance with certain provisions of 
laws and regulations, including the provisions of Oregon Revised Statutes as specified in Oregon 
Administrative Rules. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of compliance and 
the results of that testing and not to provide an opinion on compliance. 

 

 

GROVE, MUELLER & SWANK, P.C. 
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 
 
 
 
By:        
 Ryan T. Pasquarella, Principal 
 December 15, 2023

36 Attachment 1 Page 36 of 230 



 
 
 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

37 Attachment 1 Page 37 of 230 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

38 Attachment 1 Page 38 of 230 



  

City of Springfield, Oregon 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 

This section of the City of Springfield’s annual financial report presents our discussion and analysis of the 
City’s financial performance during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023.  Please read it in conjunction 
with the City’s financial statements, which follow this section.   
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 
 The City’s total assets and deferred outflows of resources at June 30, 2023 increased $31.7 million 

from $426.7 million to $458.4 million, or 7.4% from the prior year.  This increase in total assets and 
deferred outflows of resources was primarily due to $12.6 million increase in the carrying value of 
capital assets, a $1.4 million increase in receivables, a $0.6 million decrease in the prepaids, a  $21.3 
million increase in cash and investments, and a decrease of $3.0 million in the deferred outflows of 
resources.   

 
 The City’s total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources decreased by $12.9 million from $140.3 

million to $127.4 million, or 9.2% from the prior year. This decrease was primarily due to a $3.8 
million decrease in long term debt, a $14.0 million decrease in deferred inflows of resources and a 
$3.2 million decrease in unearned revenue (American Rescue Plan) offset by a $6.6 million increase 
in net pension and OPEB liabilities and a $1.5 million increase in current payables.   
 

 The assets and deferred outflows of resources of the City exceeded its liabilities and deferred 
inflows of resources by $331.0 million at the close of fiscal year 2023.  Unrestricted net position 
totaled $33.8 million with the remainder of the City’s net position invested in capital assets ($235.6 
million) and restricted for capital projects, public safety, transportation, community development, 
debt service, and other purposes ($61.6 million). 

 
 At June 30, 2023, the City’s governmental funds reported a combined ending fund balance of $60.9 

million, an increase of $18.1 (42.3%) from the prior year.  Of this total amount, $11.4 million 
(18.7%) constitutes unassigned fund balance which is available for spending at the government’s 
discretion, $48.7 million (80.0%) constitutes either restricted, committed, or assigned fund balance 
which is not available for new spending because it has already been committed to another purpose, 
and the remainder of the fund balance, $0.8 million (1.3%) is in a nonspendable form. 

 
 At the end of fiscal year 2023, the unassigned fund balance in the General Fund was $11.4 million 

which was 26.9% of total General Fund expenditures.  
 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City of Springfield’s basic 
financial statements.  The City’s basic financial statements comprise three components: 
 

 Government-wide financial statements 
 Fund financial statements  
 Notes to the financial statements   

 
Government-wide Financial Statements 
 

The government-wide financial statements report information about the City as a whole using accounting 
methods similar to those used by private-sector companies.  The statement of net position presents 

39 Attachment 1 Page 39 of 230 



  

information on all of the City’s assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of 
resources with the difference reported as net position.  Over time, increases or decreases in net position 
may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating.   
 
The statement of activities presents information showing how the City’s net position changed during the 
most recent fiscal year.  All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving 
rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Thus, revenues and expenses are 
reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g. 
uncollected taxes). 
 
Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally 
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are 
intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type 
activities).  The governmental activities of the City include: 

 General Government 
 Fire and Life Safety 
 Police 
 Library 
 Development and Public Works  

 
The business-type activities of the City include: 

 Sanitary Sewer  
 Storm Drainage  
 Booth-Kelly (operation of the Booth-Kelly Center – a large commercial building and other 

similar activities) 
 Ambulance Service 

 
The government-wide financial statements include not only the City itself (known as the primary 
government), but also a legally separate Urban Renewal Agency for which the City is financially 
accountable. 
 
The Urban Renewal Agency, called the Springfield Economic Development Agency (SEDA), has a 
governing body that is substantively the same as the City’s and City management is responsible for the 
Agency’s operations.  For these reasons, the SEDA special revenue and capital project funds are included 
as an integral part of the City.   
 
The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 57-59 of the basic financial statements. 
 
Fund Financial Statements 
 
The fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been 
segregated for specific activities or objectives.  The City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate 
compliance with finance-related legal requirements.  All of the funds of the City can be divided into three 
categories:  governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds. 
 
Governmental funds.  Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions 
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  However, unlike the 
government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on the acquisition 
and use of current spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end 
of the fiscal year.  Such information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-term financing 
requirements. 
 

40 Attachment 1 Page 40 of 230 



  

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar 
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  By doing 
so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing 
decisions.  Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, 
expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between 
governmental funds and government activities.  The reconciliations can be found on pages 60 and 62 in 
the basic financial statements. 
 
The City maintains 15 individual governmental funds.  Information is presented separately in the 
governmental funds balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and 
changes in fund balances for those funds that are considered significant (major) to the City taken as a 
whole.  These financial statements report four major funds:  General Fund, Police Local Option Levy 
Fund, Special Revenue Fund, and the Street Capital Fund.  Data from the other governmental funds are 
combined into a single, aggregated presentation.  Individual fund data for each of these nonmajor 
governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report.  
 
The City adopts an annual appropriated budget for all governmental funds.  To demonstrate compliance 
with the budget, budgetary comparison statements have been provided for the General Fund and other 
major special revenue funds as required supplementary information on pages 127-129. Budgetary 
comparisons for all other governmental funds have been provided elsewhere in this report. 
 
The governmental funds financial statements can be found at pages 60-62 in the basic financial 
statements.   
 
Proprietary funds.  The City maintains two different types of proprietary funds.  Enterprise funds are 
used to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in government-wide financial 
statements.  The City uses enterprise funds to account for its Sanitary Sewer operations, Storm Drainage 
operations, Ambulance Service, and Booth-Kelly operations.  Internal service funds are an accounting 
device used to accumulate and allocate costs internally among the City’s various functions.  The City uses 
internal service funds to account for its equipment, including its fleet of vehicles and its computer and 
telecommunication equipment, for employee benefits and risk management activities, and for 
administrative activities related to the System Development Charge program.  Because all three of these 
services predominantly benefit government rather than business-type functions, they have been included 
within governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. 
 
Proprietary fund statements provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial 
statements, only in more detail.  The proprietary funds financial statements provide separate information 
for the Sewer Fund, the Storm Drainage Fund, and the Ambulance Fund, which are all considered to be 
major funds of the City.  Conversely, the internal service funds are combined into a single, aggregated 
presentation in the proprietary funds financial statements.  Individual fund data for the internal service 
funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report. 
 
The proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 63-65 in the basic financial statements. 
 
Fiduciary funds.  The City is the trustee, or fiduciary, for certain funds.  The City is responsible for 
ensuring that the assets reported in a fiduciary fund are used for their intended purposes.  The City has 
one fiduciary fund, the Custodial Fund.  All of the City’s fiduciary activities are reported in a separate 
statement of fiduciary net position and a statement of changes in fiduciary net position.  We exclude these 
activities from the City’s government-wide financial statements because the City cannot use these assets 
to finance its operations. 
 
The fiduciary fund financial statements can be found on pages 66-67 in the basic financial statements. 

41 Attachment 1 Page 41 of 230 



  

 
Notes to the financial statements.  The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.  The notes to 
the financial statements can be found on pages 69-123 of this report. 
 
Required supplementary information.  This report also presents certain required supplementary 
information concerning budgetary comparisons for the general and major funds as well as information 
about the City’s progress in funding its obligation to provide pension and other post employment benefits 
to its employees.  Required supplementary information can be found on pages 127-137 of this report. 
  
Other supplementary information.  The combining statements referred to earlier in connection with 
nonmajor governmental funds and internal service funds, as well as budgetary comparisons for 
proprietary funds are included in this report and can be found on pages 143-184. 
 
Government-wide Financial Analysis 
 
As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial 
position.  In the case of the City, assets and deferred outflows exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows by 
$331.0 million at the close of the most recent fiscal year.  
 
The largest portion of the City’s net position, $235.6 million (71.2%) reflects its net investment in capital 
assets (e.g., land and right-of-way, buildings, improvements, equipment, and infrastructure, net of 
accumulated depreciation), less any related debt used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding.  The 
City uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens.  Consequently, these assets are not available 
for future spending.  Although the City’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it 
should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since 
the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities. 
 

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Current and other assets 109,499,376$ 93,533,089$   74,052,828$   67,844,788$   183,552,204$ 161,377,877$ 

Capital assets, net, where applicable,

  of accumulated depreciation 179,509,397   169,125,208   76,424,937    74,221,845    255,934,334   243,347,053   

        Total assets 289,008,773   262,658,297   150,477,765   142,066,633   439,486,538   404,724,930   

Deferred outflows of resources 14,444,490    16,845,438    4,465,016      5,109,092      18,909,506    21,954,530    

Noncurrent liabilities 22,021,664    24,391,802    2,499,511      1,813,273      24,521,175    26,205,075    

Other liabilities 60,841,487    58,145,973    23,276,132    23,176,260    84,117,619    81,322,233    

       Total liabilities 82,863,151    82,537,775    25,775,643    24,989,533    108,638,794   107,527,308   

Deferred inflows of resources 14,201,432    25,023,275    4,581,871      7,720,468      18,783,303    32,743,743    

Net position:

Net investment in capital assets 170,120,054   156,787,166   65,431,182    61,382,119    235,551,236   218,169,285   

Restricted 47,182,803    31,386,128    14,442,988    11,980,398    61,625,791    43,366,526    

Unrestricted (10,914,177)   (16,230,609)   44,711,097    41,103,207    33,796,920    24,872,598    

        Total net position 206,388,680$ 171,942,685$ 124,585,267$ 114,465,724$ 330,973,947$ 286,408,409$ 

City of Springfield's Statement of Net Position

Governmental Business-type

Activities Activities Total

 
 

42 Attachment 1 Page 42 of 230 



  

A portion of the City’s net position, $61.6 million (18.6%), represents resources that are subject to 
external restrictions on how they may be used.  The remaining balance of unrestricted net position, $33.8 
million (10.2%) may be used to meet the government’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. 
 
 
 

`

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Revenues:

  Program revenues:

    Charges for services 12,048,868$   10,829,486$   24,411,572$   25,306,668$   36,460,440$   36,136,154$   

    Operating grants and contributions 13,579,392    6,055,257      -                52,239           13,579,392    6,107,496      

    Capital grants and contributions 24,391,492    13,921,588    7,352,623      5,863,574      31,744,115    19,785,162    

  General revenues:

    Taxes 47,258,506    44,387,412    -                    -                    47,258,506    44,387,412    

    Payment in lieu of taxes 3,280,621      2,821,285      -                    -                    3,280,621      2,821,285      

    Shared revenue 2,242,188      2,152,946      -                    -                    2,242,188      2,152,946      

    Investment earnings 2,738,203      (156,863)        1,638,958      (264,079)        4,377,161      (420,942)        

    Debt forgiveness (1,658,465)     -                -                -                (1,658,465)     -                

    Miscellaneous receipts 1,812,277      2,098,685      (541,659)        91,665           1,270,618      2,190,350      

        Total revenues 105,693,082   82,109,796    32,861,494    31,050,067    138,554,576   113,159,863   

Expenses:

    General government 9,148,194      9,053,662      -                    -                    9,148,194      9,053,662      

    Fire and life safety 14,415,836    13,521,804    -                    -                    14,415,836    13,521,804    

    Police 24,401,419    22,635,549    -                    -                    24,401,419    22,635,549    

    Library 2,316,912      2,116,123      -                    -                    2,316,912      2,116,123      

    Development & public works 20,391,866    13,014,042    -                    -                    20,391,866    13,014,042    

    Depreciation and amortization 55,244           147,249         -                    -                    55,244           147,249         

    Interest on long-term debt 276,787         325,776         -                    -                    276,787         325,776         

    Sanitary sewer -                    -                    8,024,658      7,470,840      8,024,658      7,470,840      

    Storm drainage -                    -                    6,767,197      6,326,880      6,767,197      6,326,880      

    Booth-Kelly -                    -                    780,317         553,805         780,317         553,805         

    Ambulance -                    -                    7,410,608      7,036,505      7,410,608      7,036,505      

        Total expenses 71,006,258    60,814,205    22,982,780    21,388,030    93,989,038    82,202,235    

Increase (decrease) in net position

  before transfers 34,686,824    21,295,591    9,878,714      9,662,037      44,565,538    30,957,628    

Transfers (240,829)        (625,240)        240,829         625,240         -                    -                    

Increase (decrease) in net position 34,445,995    20,670,351    10,119,543    10,287,277    44,565,538    30,957,628    

Net position - beginning, previously reported 171,942,685   151,272,334   114,465,724   104,663,688   286,408,409   255,936,022   

Prior period adjustment -                    -                    -                (485,241)        -                (485,241)        

Net position - beginning, as restated 171,942,685   151,272,334   114,465,724   104,178,447   286,408,409   255,450,781   

Net position - ending 206,388,680$ 171,942,685$ 124,585,267$ 114,465,724$ 330,973,947$ 286,408,409$ 

City of Springfield's Statement of Activities

Governmental Business-type

Activities Activities Total

 
 

 
 
Entity-wide change in net position:  Entity-wide net position increased by $44.6 million in the current 
fiscal year compared to an increase of $31.0 million in the prior year.  This $13.6 million year-to-year 
increase in the change in entity-wide net position can be attributed to some one-time events in both the 
previous and current year, the details of which are provided below.  
 
 

43 Attachment 1 Page 43 of 230 



  

 
Governmental Activities.  The governmental activities during the fiscal year increased the City’s net 
position by $34.4 million, an increase from a prior year surplus of $20.7 million, explained by the 
following highlights: 
 

 Capital grants and contributions increased by $10.5 million (75.2%) from the prior year and can 
be primarily attributed to an increase in the transfer of infrastructure and right of way from 
developers to the City.  While these transfers can be an indicator on the strength of development 
occurring within the City, they can also fluctuate from year-to-year based on factors unrelated to 
the level of development occurring such as the timing of completion of single large projects and 
when the transfer occurs.  In addition to the timing fluctuations, the increase this year is mainly 
attributed to a large jurisdictional transfer from the State.  
  

 Operating grants and contributions increased by $7.5 million (124.3%) from the prior year.  This 
is primarily related to the American Rescue Plan funding that is materializing in the current year 
as the projects are in full swing in FY23.  This will continue in the next couple years, the projects 
were just starting at the end of FY22 and will continue into FY25.  
 

 Charges for services increased by $1.2 million (11.3%) from the prior year.  This was mainly 
driven by increases in development and public works building fees.  Additionally, police special 
event services and leasing of jail beds contributed to this increase. 

 
 Taxes increased by $2.9 million (6.5%) from the prior year and can be partially attributed to an 

increase in property tax receipts resulting from a continuation of appreciation of property values 
in the City.  Specifically, the appreciation in the economic development funds as property tax 
exemptions sunset and development has been very active.  Fuel taxes remained flat as some 
industries continued the trend of working remotely. The continued appreciation in property values 
is a strong indicator of a healthy local economy and a strong housing market. 
 

 Shared revenue remained flat from the prior year.  This was a result of a decrease in cigarette 
apportionment offset by an increase to the City’s receipts from the State of Oregon for state tax 
revenue from the sale of recreational marijuana.   
 

 Investment earnings in total increased by $2.9 million (184.6%) from the prior year and can be 
attributed to a large fair value adjustment to investments.  This is driven by the fast changing 
interest rates.  In the prior year the investments held by the City would have been sold at a loss if 
sold before maturity.  This is a required accounting adjustment that reversed in the current fiscal 
year since the City does not sell their securities before maturity. 

 
 Primary government expenses as a whole increased by $10.2 million (16.8%), This increase was 

mainly in development and public works with a smaller increase in fire and life safety and police.  
This was driven primarily by projects being done with funding from the American Rescue Plan as 
spending on those activities were in full swing during the current fiscal year.   

 
 Interest on long-term debt decreased by $49 thousand (15.0%) from the prior year and can be 

attributed to the reduction of existing debt and one new (smaller) issuance in the current year. 
 

44 Attachment 1 Page 44 of 230 



  

      
Chart 1 

 
Chart 1 compares program revenues and expenses for the individual governmental activities for the 
current year.  As the chart reflects, most governmental activities relied on general revenues to support the 
function.               
 
                      

 
 

Chart 2 
 
 
Chart 2 shows the percent of the total for each source of revenue supporting governmental activities.  The 
chart demonstrates that the City depends on taxes as its major source of revenue.  The City is making a 
deliberate effort to increase revenues generated by charges for services both by implementing new fees 
and by increasing the cost recovery percentage on existing fees.  
 

45 Attachment 1 Page 45 of 230 



  

 
Business-type Activities.  The change in net position for business-type activities decreased from a $10.3 
million surplus in the prior year to a $10.1 million surplus in the current year.  This decrease of $0.2 
million can be explained by the following highlights: 
  

 Total program revenues increased by $0.5 million (1.7%) from the prior year and can be 
primarily attributed to $174 and $227 thousand increases in charges for services for both the 
Sewer and Storm Drainage funds, respectively, as well as $0.9 and $0.5 million increases in 
capital contributions also for both the Sewer and Storm Drainage Funds, respectively, and a 
decrease of $1.4 million in Ambulance revenues.  The increases in the Sewer and Storm Drainage 
funds charges for services and capital contributions can be attributed to the continued robust 
development activity which created increased system development charge (SDC) revenues and 
donated sewer infrastructure.  The decrease in Ambulance revenues is related to the leveling off 
of collections of billing revenues, after the prior fiscal year swings due to the transition to a new 
software billing platform that began in January 2021. 
 

 Total operating expenses for all business-type activities increased by $1.6 million (7.5%) from 
the prior year.  The Sewer, Storm Drainage and Ambulance funds all saw an increase in 
contractual services, with the Sewer and Storm Drainage funds also seeing an increase in billing 
and collection expense and depreciation expense.  The Booth-Kelly fund saw an increase in 
material and services related to the demolition of the Carter Building.  The Ambulance funds 
increase in contractual services was offset by a decrease in personal services. 

 
 

 
 

Chart 3 
 

Chart 3 compares program revenues and expenses for the individual business-type activities for the 
current year.   
 
The Sewer, Storm Drainage, Ambulance, and Booth-Kelly Funds all relied on program revenue to fund 
operating expenses.   

 
 
 

46 Attachment 1 Page 46 of 230 



  

 
 

Chart 4 
 
Chart 4 shows the percent of the total for each source of revenue supporting business-type activities.  The 
largest component of business-type fund revenue comes from charges for services. 
 
Financial Analysis of the Government’s Funds 
 
As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-
related legal requirements. 
 
Governmental funds.  The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term 
inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources.  Such information is useful in assessing the 
City’s financing requirements.  In particular, fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a 
government’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 
 
As of the end of the current fiscal year, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund 
balances of $60.9 million.  Of this total amount, $11.4 million (18.7%) constitutes unassigned fund 
balance which is available for spending at the government’s discretion, $48.7 million (80.0%) constitutes 
either restricted, committed, or assigned fund balance which is not available for new spending because it 
has already been committed to another purpose, and the remainder of the fund balance, $0.8 million 
(1.3%) is in a nonspendable form. 
 
The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City of Springfield.  At the end of the current fiscal 
year, the unassigned fund balance of the General Fund was $11.4 million, while the total fund balance 
was $12.5 million.  As measure of the General Fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to compare both 
unassigned fund balance and total fund balance to total fund expenditures.   Unassigned fund balance 
represents 26.9% of total General Fund expenditures, while total fund balance represents 29.7% of that 
same amount. 
 
The fund balance of the City’s General Fund increased by $1.5 million during the current fiscal year 
compared to the prior year decrease of $0.5 million.  There are some highlights worth mentioning: 
 

 Property taxes increased 7.2% from the prior year.  This can be attributed partially to normal 
appreciation, but also to the sunset of property tax exemptions.  

47 Attachment 1 Page 47 of 230 



  

 
 Licenses, permits, and fees decreased 1.7% from the prior year and can be attributed to lower 

planning fees in the current year as a major development project in Springfield was planned in the 
prior year and is under construction in the current year.  

 
 General government expenditures remained relatively flat in the current year and can be primarily 

attributed to inflationary pressures offset by reduced costs in human resources contractual 
services and information technology salaries. 
 

 Fire and Life Safety expenditures remained flat from the prior year as several positions remained 
unfilled but personnel savings were more than offset by increased overtime costs. Normal 
inflationary pressures were offset by reduced contractual service costs and the increased 
overtime. 

 
 Police expenditures experienced an increase of $0.7 million (4.0%) due to increased costs for 

contracted jail health services and additional fuel costs as gasoline prices stayed significantly 
higher than projected.   

 
 Transfers from other funds increased by $0.2 million over the prior year.  This is due to a $0.2 

million decrease in the transfer from the vehicle and equipment fund.  In the prior year there were 
assets transferred to the general fund to be depreciated with general government assets.   
 

The Police Local Option Levy Fund balance increased $0.4 million in the current year which is level with 
the increase in the prior year.  While revenues increased by 9.9% driven by property taxes and increased 
jail bed fees, expenses were proportionately higher (9.9%) due to increased prisoner medical costs and 
indigent representation costs as well as normal inflationary costs. 
 
The Special Revenue Fund continues to be a major fund this year for the third year.  The total assets 
decreased by $1.9 million, while liabilities also decreased by $2.8 million in the current fiscal year. This 
decrease is almost entirely related to the American Rescue Plan (ARP) funds.  Many of the projects are 
now in progress and will continue through FY24. 
 
The Street Capital Projects Fund continues to be a major fund this year for the fourth year.  This is driven 
by large capital project expenses as the City continues implementing the Street Improvement Plan 
financed by the sale of General Obligation bonds in the fiscal year 2020 of $10.0 million dollars. In the 
current year, the fund balance increased by $14.7 million due to a jurisdictional transfer from the State 
and reduced spending as capital projects funded by the bond wind down. 
 
The Non-Major Governmental Funds balances increased $2.5 million in the current year, consistent with  
the prior year.  This driven by a combination of increased property taxes, primarily in the economic 
development funds, increased investment earnings and increased building fees in the Building Code Fund 
($0.7 million).  The bond proceeds in the SEDA Downtown fund was offset by increased property 
purchases and debt forgiveness to a developer.    
 
Proprietary funds.  The City’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the 
government-wide financial statements, but in more detail. 
 
As of the end of the current fiscal year, the City’s proprietary funds reported a combined ending net 
position of $124.6 million.  Of this amount, $44.7 million (35.9%) constitutes unrestricted net position.  
Proprietary fund highlights are as follows: 
 

48 Attachment 1 Page 48 of 230 



  

The Sewer Fund reported a $5.8 million increase in net position. The user rate increase for FY23 was 3%, 
remaining at the same rate of increase as FY22 at 3%.  The sewer rates are set to provide for sufficient net 
operating revenue to fund capital projects in the sewer system, as well as comply with bond covenants.  
The change in net position was largely driven by underspending the capital budget, increased SDC 
revenues, and large donated sewer infrastructure. 
 
The Storm Drainage Fund reported a $5.2 million increase in net position.  The user rate increase for 
FY23 was 2.5%, remaining at the same rate of increase as FY22 at 2.5%.  The storm sewer rates are set to 
provide for sufficient net operating revenue to fund capital projects in the sewer system, as well as 
comply with bond covenants.  The change in net position was largely driven by an increase in charges for 
services revenue, decrease in public works operating expenditures, decreases in capital expenditures, and 
increases to donated infrastructure. 
 
The Ambulance Fund reported a $0.1 million decrease in net position compared to last year’s increase of 
$2.0 million.  This decrease was primarily due to a $1.4 million decrease in operating revenues, with the 
major contributing factor related to the leveling out of collections of billing revenues, after the prior fiscal 
year swings due to the transition to a new software billing platform.  Additionally, operating expenses 
increased a net of $0.4 million due to a decrease in personal services related to the implementation of the 
new single role paramedic and EMT positions, however the new single role positions also increased 
contractual services costs between Springfield and the City of Eugene related to the equalization of 
staffing costs during implementation.  The fund continues to actively seek efficiencies to increase the 
health of the fund in a challenging and competitive market. 
 
General Fund Budgetary Highlights  
 
The difference between the original budget and the final amended budget was a net increase of $241,339.  
Details of this increase are as follows: 
  

 $     81,293  increase to City Manager’s Office 
        12,420  increase to Library 
        65,000   increase to Development Services 
      183,649   increase in Fire & Life Safety 
      240,000   increase to City Attorney’s Office 
      402,339  increase in transfers 
        87,334  decrease in Contingency 
      656,028  decrease in the City reserves 

 
For actual expenditures and transfers out, the City General Fund under-spent the amended budget by 
$1,217,195.  
 
While the COVID-19 pandemic negatively impacted some City revenues, the construction and 
development sectors have continued to experience strong growth, primarily driven by housing. This is due 
to a combination of a decade of suppressed housing development following the burst of the housing 
bubble in the early 2000’s and continued positive migration trends to the State. This has resulted in 
consistent growth in our property tax base as well as growth in our planning and development revenues 
and State shared revenues.  The differences in actual revenue received compared to the amended budget 
are as follows: 
 

  $   1,339,273  increase in taxes 
        94,077     increase in licenses, permits and fees  
      104,966  increase in intergovernmental revenues 

49 Attachment 1 Page 49 of 230 



  

      772,839   increase in interest and investment earnings 
      247,478    increase in charges for service 
      118,631  decrease in fines and forfeitures 
        27,192  increase in miscellaneous revenues 
      190,651    decrease in internal transfers and indirect charges 
       94,976     decrease in beginning cash (amended over adopted budget) 

 
For the year ended June 30, 2023, the total variance between the final amended budgeted revenue and the 
actual budget-basis revenue amounts in the General Fund (both less beginning cash) was 5.35%, where 
actual revenues were more than budgeted revenues.  The combined actual current and delinquent property 
tax revenues exceeded the budgeted amounts by 5.3%. Licenses and permits exceeded budgeted 
projections by 3.2%. However, fines and forfeitures were below amended budget by 12.7% which can be 
attributed to the impacts of state laws reducing fines in municipal court operations along with state 
sentencing reforms.  Beginning fund balance on July 1, 2022 was $94,976 less than budgeted (0.86%) 
while ending fund balance on June 30, 2023 was $927,096 (8.1%) greater than was projected in the FY24 
adopted budget. 
 
Capital Asset and Debt Administration 
 
Capital Assets.  The City’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities 
as of June 30, 2023 amounts to $255.9 million (net of accumulated depreciation).  This investment in 
capital assets includes land, buildings, sewer pipes, improvements, machinery and equipment and roads. 
 
Major capital asset events and improvements during the current fiscal year include the following: 
 

 Donated streets and right-of-way were recorded at an estimated cost of $9.7 million 
 

 Donated Sewer and Storm sewer lines were recorded at an estimated cost of $3.3 million 
 

 Projects that are not yet complete will be capitalized to Work In Process (WIP) until completion.  
Once complete, they are reclassified to a specific asset category and depreciation begins.  Among 
the large projects capitalized to WIP this fiscal year were the Jasper trunk sewer improvements 
project at $193 thousand, and the 28th street paving project at $128 thousand.  
 

 Work was completed on several large projects, the prior year Work in Process along with current 
year expenses were moved to corresponding asset accounts.  Large completed projects for FY23 
included the High Banks and 58th Thurston Overlay at $2.1 million, street design services at $1 
million, the city phone system upgrades at $435 thousand, and the Centennial Overlay Aspen-
Prescot ay at $393 thousand.  
 

 The ambulance fund purchased six LUCAS Compression Devices in conjunction with an 
Assistance to Firefighter grant awarded to Eugene Springfield Fire through the City of Eugene for 
$93 thousand. 
 

 Twenty vehicles were purchased during the year, most as replacement for vehicles retired after 
the end of the fiscal year, including two large public works apparatus.  The combined cost of 
these vehicles is $2.0 million. 
 
 

50 Attachment 1 Page 50 of 230 



  

 
City of Springfield’s Capital Assets 

(net of depreciation) 
 

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Land 90,069,445$     84,411,069$    6,411,506$     6,411,506$     96,480,951$    90,822,575$       

Land improvements -                        -                       26,812            15,341            26,812             15,341                

Work in progress 1,036,735         6,027,758        1,413,891       1,104,278       2,450,626        7,132,036           

Buildings 12,593,439       14,467,460      67,658,632     65,704,377     80,252,071      80,171,837         

Infrastructure 65,432,789       56,037,202      -                     -                     65,432,789      56,037,202         

Machinery & equipment 8,938,640         7,791,770        98,928            12,087            9,037,568        7,803,857           

Machinery & equipment - leased 24,233              -                       -                     -                     24,233             -                         

Subscriptions - software 1,124,145         -                       -                     -                     1,124,145        -                         

Studies 289,971            389,950           815,168          974,255          1,105,139        1,364,205           

    Total 179,509,397$   169,125,209$  76,424,937$   74,221,844$   255,934,334$  243,347,053$     

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total

 
 
 

Additional information on the City’s capital assets can be found in Note F in the Basic Financial 
Statement section of this report. 
 
Debt Administration.  At the end of the current fiscal year, the City had total bonded debt outstanding of 
$17.1 million.  Of this amount, $7.2 million comprises debt backed by the full faith and credit of the City.  
The remainder of the City’s debt represents bonds secured solely by specified revenue sources.   
 
 

City of Springfield’s Outstanding Debt 
General Obligation and Revenue Bonds 

 

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

General obligation

  bonds -2019 2,009,000$     3,982,000$     -$                   -$                   2,009,000$     3,982,000$     

General obligation

  bonds - 2016 5,235,000       6,930,000       -                     -                     5,235,000       6,930,000       

Revenue bonds

  series 2009 -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

Revenue bonds

  series 2010 -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

Revenue bonds

  series 2020 -                     -                     4,209,528       4,707,741       4,209,528       4,707,741       

Revenue bonds

  series 2017 -                     -                     5,650,000       7,075,000       5,650,000       7,075,000       

    Total 7,244,000$     10,912,000$   9,859,528$     11,782,741$   17,103,528$   22,694,741$   

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total

 
 
The City’s total bonded debt decreased by $5.6 million during the current fiscal year.  For additional 
information on the City’s long-term debt, see Note I in the Basic Financial Statement section of this 
report. 
 
 
 

51 Attachment 1 Page 51 of 230 



  

 
Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates  
 
During the preparation of the budget for the ensuing fiscal year, the long-term impacts of the local 
economy were examined in conjunction with business decisions made by the City.  The following are the 
major assumptions used in developing the FY24 budget: 
 
 
 Property Tax Receipts - Assessed (taxable) value for the City is projected to increase by 3.0% in-line 

with the historical average.  
 

 Transient Room Tax Revenues - Transient room tax receipts have returned to pre-pandemic levels 
and are expected to increase by about 6% over FY23 levels.  

 
 Land Development Revenues - Development activity is anticipated to remain steady in the upcoming 

fiscal year with building permit and planning revenue expected to be consistent with FY23 revenues. 
 

 Sewer & Stormwater User Fees - Revenues for both the City’s sewer and storm water drainage 
programs were escalated by 2.5% and 3% respectively for FY24. 

 
 Interest Income - The Federal Reserve's decision to increase interest rates is expected to have a 

positive impact on the City's investments, resulting in projected interest earnings of around 3%. 
 
 Inflation has remained at a historically high level over the past year.   We are now seeing its impact 

on the wages of peer agencies and expect it to impact future contract negotiations.  However, with 
only one bargaining unit in active negotiations, inflation will not be a significant factor in the FY24 
Personnel Services budgets.  We have been seeing an impact in contractual services and material 
purchases and have therefore built in a 3.5% increase into the Materials and Services budgets. 

 
 AFSCME employees, the City’s smallest employee group, received a cost of living adjustment on 

July 1, 2023 of 2.5%.  This is the last year of a three-year contract. 
 

 SEIU and non-represented employees received market pay adjustments July 1, 2021 as a result of a 
market survey completed in the spring of 2021. The next market survey will occur in the spring of 
2024 and implemented on July 1, 2024. 

 
 Springfield Police Association (SPA) employee’s current contract expires June 30, 2023.  

Negotiations for a new contract are still ongoing and the full potential impacts on FY24 wages are 
unknown at this time. 

 
 The International Association of Fire Fighters (IAFF) now has two contracts with the City as the 

battalion chiefs are now a separate represented unit.  The main contract has been negotiated with a 
three-year contract that will expire on June 30, 2024.  Members represented by this contract will 
receive a cost of living increase on July 1, 2023 as follows: 2.25% for Firefighters and Engineers, 
3.5% for Captains, and 3% for 40-hour positions.  The battalion chief’s contract is also a three-year 
contract that will expire on June 30, 2024 with a cost of living increase on July 1, 2023 of 3%.  

 
 The plan year for health insurance is the calendar year.  Beginning January 2013, the City initiated a 

self-funded insurance program with the administration of the program contracted out to a private 
provider.  The City’s experience factors since becoming self-insured have been very positive.  For 

52 Attachment 1 Page 52 of 230 



  

January 1, 2023, the City held rates flat.  For the plan year beginning January 1, 2024, the City is not 
projecting an increase. 

  

 Oregon PERS rates are biennial with the last rate adjustment occurring in 2023 for FY24 and FY25. 
State legislation intended to help control the growth of PERS costs for local governments has started 
to influence rate adjustments and has moderated the rate of increases for this biennium.   For FY24, 
the City had three separate PERS retirement rates for its employees with the lowest % rate increase 
being 6.6% (PERS Tier 1 / 2) and the highest rate increase at 9.28% (OPSRP General Service).  
These rates will remain flat for FY25.  The total estimated dollar impact over the two-year period is 
$3.4M.   

 
 The City schedules an updated actuarial study of its City Retirement Plan every two years.  The last 

update was as of July 1, 2022 and completed in early 2023 and implemented on July 1, 2023.  The 
employer paid percentage of payroll contribution for members of this plan is 28.3% and will continue 
at this rate until the next update scheduled for early 2025 with an implementation date of July 1, 
2025.  In addition to the payroll contribution, the City makes an additional annual payment of 
$1,352,000. 

 
Requests for Information 
 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City’s finances for those with an 
interest in the government’s finances.  Questions concerning any of the information provided in this 
report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to: 
 
Accounting Manager 
City of Springfield 
225 Fifth Street 
Springfield, OR  97477 
 
 

53 Attachment 1 Page 53 of 230 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

54 Attachment 1 Page 54 of 230 



 
 
 

City of Springfield, Oregon 
 
 

Basic Financial Statements 

55 Attachment 1 Page 55 of 230 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

56 Attachment 1 Page 56 of 230 



Governmental Business-type

Activities Activities Total

ASSETS 

Cash and investments 100,802,962$        63,146,156$          163,949,118$        

Receivables, net of allowance for 

uncollectable receivables 6,668,608              6,992,776              13,661,384            

Internal balances (1,158,587)            1,158,587              -                            

Inventories 448,897                 -                            448,897                 

Investment in foreclosed properties 1,970                     -                            1,970                     

Prepaid items 532,374                 91,401                   623,775                 

Grant receivable 803,114                 2,261                     805,375                 

Lease receivable -                            108,603                 108,603                 

Deposits 200,800                 -                            200,800                 

Accrued interest 385,840                 221,332                 607,172                 

Net OPEB asset - RHIA 813,400                 240,427                 1,053,827              

Due from other governments -                            2,091,285              2,091,285              

Capital assets:

Land and work in progress 91,106,180            7,825,396              98,931,576            

Other capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 88,403,217            68,599,541            157,002,758          

Total assets 289,008,775          150,477,765          439,486,540          

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred pension outflow 13,082,565            3,782,076              16,864,641            

Deferred OPEB outflow 1,256,823              343,758                 1,600,581              

Deferred charge for debt refunding 105,102                 339,182                 444,284                 

Total deferred outflows of resources 14,444,490            4,465,016              18,909,506            

LIABILITIES 

   Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 2,784,540              1,443,297              4,227,837              

Accrued payroll and other liabilities 5,482,557              801,159                 6,283,716              

Unearned revenue 13,592,884            150,944                 13,743,828            

Accrued interest payable 60,285                   69,314                   129,599                 

Deposits 58,222                   34,797                   93,019                   

Due to other governments 43,176                   -                            43,176                   

   Noncurrent liabilities:

Due within one year:

Subscription liability 297,303                 -                            297,303                 

Lease payable 24,444                   -                            24,444                   

General obligation long-term debt 3,882,733              -                            3,882,733              

Revenue bonds payable -                            1,986,164              1,986,164              

Notes payable 691,380                 -                            691,380                 

Due in more than one year:

Accrued absence payable 1,754,261              425,129                 2,179,390              

Accrued claims liabilities 229,819                 -                            229,819                 

General obligation long-term debt (net of unamortized premium) 6,294,933              -                            6,294,933              

Revenue bonds payable (net of unamortized discount) -                            8,479,731              8,479,731              

Notes and contracts payable 737,927                 472,123                 1,210,050              

Subscription liability 829,294                 -                            829,294                 

Net pension liability 39,474,849            10,267,778            49,742,627            

OPEB liability - City Plan 6,624,544              1,645,207              8,269,751              

Total liabilities 82,863,151            25,775,643            108,638,794          

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred pension inflow 13,093,707            3,866,811              16,960,518            

Deferred OPEB inflow 1,107,727              427,936                 1,535,663              

Deferred on refunding -                            189,368                 189,368                 

Deferred lease resources -                            97,756                   97,756                   

Total deferred inflows of resources 14,201,434            4,581,871              18,783,305            

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 170,120,054          65,431,182            235,551,236          

Restricted for:

Capital projects 1,878,228              14,442,988            16,321,216            

Public safety 6,792,128              -                            6,792,128              

Transportation 26,570,745            -                            26,570,745            

Urban renewal 1,145,289              -                            1,145,289              

Community development 9,250,116              -                            9,250,116              

Debt service 811,153                 -                            811,153                 

Other purposes 735,144                 -                            735,144                 

Unrestricted (10,914,177)          44,711,097            33,796,920            

Total net position 206,388,680$        124,585,267$        330,973,947$        

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement

City  of Springfield, Oregon

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

June 30, 2023

57 Attachment 1 Page 57 of 230 



Functions/Programs

Charges Operating Capital Grants

for Grants and and

Expenses Services Contributions Contributions

Primary government:

Governmental activities:

General government 9,148,194$            3,919,667$            3,301,863$            -$                          

Fire and life safety 14,415,836            1,980,460              83,909                   -                            

Police 24,401,419            1,299,113              451,860                 60,000                   

Library 2,316,912              100,089                 239,030                 -                            

Development and public works 20,391,866            4,749,539              9,502,730              24,331,492            

Depreciation and amortization, unallocated 55,244                   -                            -                            -                            

Interest on long-term debt 276,787                 -                            -                            -                            

Total governmental activities 71,006,258            12,048,868            13,579,392            24,391,492            

Business-type activities:

Sanitary sewer 8,024,658              8,234,652              -                            4,601,852              

Storm drainage 6,767,197              8,568,413              -                            2,750,771              

Booth-Kelly 780,317                 605,035                 -                            -                            

Ambulance 7,410,608              7,003,472              -                            -                            

Total business-type activities 22,982,780            24,411,572            -                            7,352,623              

Total primary government 93,989,038$          36,460,440$          13,579,392$          31,744,115$          

General revenues:

Property taxes

Payment in lieu of taxes

Franchise & utility taxes

Local fuel tax

Transient room tax

Shared revenue

Investment earnings

Miscellaneous

Gain (loss) on sale of capital assets

Debt Forgiveness

Transfers

Total general revenues and transfers

Change in net position

Net position, beginning

Net position, ending

Program Revenues

City of Springfield, Oregon

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 

58 Attachment 1 Page 58 of 230 



Total Total

Governmental Business-type

Activites Activities Total

(1,926,664)$          -$                          (1,926,664)$          

(12,351,467)          -                            (12,351,467)          

(22,590,446)          -                            (22,590,446)          

(1,977,793)            -                            (1,977,793)            

18,191,894            -                            18,191,894            

(55,244)                 -                            (55,244)                 

(276,787)               -                            (276,787)               

(20,986,506)          -                            (20,986,506)          

-                            4,811,846              4,811,846              

-                            4,551,987              4,551,987              

-                            (175,282)               (175,282)               

-                            (407,136)               (407,136)               

-                            8,781,415              8,781,415              

(20,986,506)          8,781,415              (12,205,091)          

41,709,190            -                            41,709,190            

3,280,621              -                            3,280,621              

3,034,752              -                            3,034,752              

886,087                 -                            886,087                 

1,628,477              -                            1,628,477              

2,242,188              -                            2,242,188              

2,738,203              1,638,958              4,377,161              

1,803,375              5,594                     1,808,969              

8,902                     (547,253)               (538,351)               

(1,658,465)            -                            (1,658,465)            

(240,829)               240,829                 -                            

55,432,501            1,338,128              56,770,629            

34,445,995            10,119,543            44,565,538            

171,942,685          114,465,724          286,408,409          

206,388,680$        124,585,267$        330,973,947$        

Primary Government

Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position

59 Attachment 1 Page 59 of 230 



Police Local Special Street Nonmajor Total

General Option Levy Revenue Capital Governmental Governmental

ASSETS

Cash and investments 13,637,366$        3,804,249$          16,622,382$        20,866,544$        19,867,919$        74,798,460$        

Receivables:

Accounts 1,258,429            26,240                 33,505                 996,805               1,745,843            4,060,822            

Taxes 756,730               260,484               -                           -                           346,532               1,363,746            

Grants 8,105                   -                           260,045               -                           534,919               803,069               

Accrued interest 140,180               15,359                 -                           69,071                 73,056                 297,666               

Assessments and liens -                           -                           -                           -                           17,944                 17,944                 

Leases -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           

Notes -                           -                           -                           -                           963,903               963,903               

Deferred system development charges 1,233                   -                           -                           1,036,544            26                        1,037,803            

Inventories 1,864                   -                           -                           -                           407,863               409,727               

Investment in foreclosed property 1,970                   -                           -                           -                           -                           1,970                   

Deposits -                           -                           -                           -                           800                      800                      

Prepaid items 156,789               112,018               43,022                 -                           44,148                 355,977               

Advance to other funds 90,641                 -                           -                           -                           -                           90,641                 

Total assets 16,053,307$        4,218,350$          16,958,954$        22,968,964$        24,002,953$        84,202,528$        

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF

RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES

Liabilities:

Accounts payable 855,860$             63,897$               541,017$             59,840$               712,586$             2,233,200$          

Accrued payroll and other liabilities 1,038,065            165,681               45,551                 -                           234,591               1,483,888            

Unearned revenue 137,067               -                           13,395,066          -                           5,383                   13,537,516          

Due to other funds -                           -                           -                           -                           64,929                 64,929                 

Deposits -                           -                           -                           53,075                 5,147                   58,222                 

Total liabilities 2,030,992            229,578               13,981,634          112,915               1,022,636            17,377,755          

Deferred inflows of resources:

Deferred lease revenue -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           

Unavailable revenue 1,508,992            256,605               8,921                   2,033,348            2,120,561            5,928,427            

1,508,992            256,605               8,921                   2,033,348            2,120,561            5,928,427            

Fund balances:

Nonspendable 160,623               112,018               43,022                 -                           452,811               768,474               

Restricted -                           3,620,149            1,007,149            20,822,701          16,138,251          41,588,250          

Committed -                           -                           942,387               -                           3,102,303            4,044,690            

Assigned 1,000,000            -                           975,841               -                           1,166,391            3,142,232            

Unassigned 11,352,700          -                           -                           -                           -                           11,352,700          

Total fund balances 12,513,323          3,732,167            2,968,399            20,822,701          20,859,756          60,896,346          

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of 

resources, and fund balances 16,053,307$        4,218,350$          16,958,954$        22,968,964$        24,002,953$        

Reconciliation to the statement of net position

The statement of net position reports receivables at their net realizable value.  However, receivables not 

available to pay for current period expenditures are deferred in governmental funds. 5,928,427            

Capital assets are not financial resources in governmental funds, but are reported in the statement of net

position at their net depreciable value. 172,147,197        

All liabilities are reported in the statement of net position.  However, if they are not due and payable in the 

current period, they are not recorded in the governmental funds. (63,430,893)         

Internal service funds are proprietary-type funds and not reported with governmental funds.  However,

because internal service funds primarily benefit governmental activities, their assets, liabilities, and net 

position are reported along with governmental activities in the statement of net position. 30,847,603          

Net position of governmental activities 206,388,680$      

June 30, 2023

City of Springfield, Oregon

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

BALANCE SHEET

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 

60 Attachment 1 Page 60 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Police Local Special Street Nonmajor Total

General Option Levy Revenue Capital Governmental Governmental

Revenues:

Taxes 25,566,087$        7,303,389$          -$                         -$                         11,424,065$        44,293,541$        

Licenses, permits and fees 3,018,265            55,162                 187,521               -                           262,318               3,523,266            

Intergovernmental 6,200,574            115,514               7,676,803            12,830,588          6,157,776            32,981,255          

Charges for services 6,978,218            609,073               -                           1,281,139            3,515,899            12,384,329          

Fines and forfeitures 817,969               -                           309,225               -                           21,433                 1,148,627            

Investment earnings 949,783               67                        6,487                   428,060               559,334               1,943,731            

Special assessments -                           -                           -                           -                           1,351                   1,351                   

Miscellaneous revenues 504,192               2,800                   253,756               -                           532,020               1,292,768            

Total revenues 44,035,088          8,086,005            8,433,792            14,539,787          22,474,196          97,568,868          

Expenditures:

Current operating:

General government 7,421,544            632,033               866,332               -                           836,859               9,756,768            

Fire and life safety 12,526,801          -                           867,822               -                           1,774,591            15,169,214          

Police 17,181,365          7,038,039            440,427               -                           -                           24,659,831          

Library 1,956,842            -                           231,516               -                           254,646               2,443,004            

Development and public works 2,959,837            -                           5,066,169            88,353                 9,163,861            17,278,220          

Capital projects -                           -                           40,000                 2,255,297            3,397,888            5,693,185            

Debt service:

Principal 121,840               -                           7,038                   -                           4,343,950            4,472,828            

Interest 3,200                   -                           -                           -                           437,742               440,942               

Total expenditures 42,171,429          7,670,072            7,519,304            2,343,650            20,209,537          79,913,992          

Excess of revenues over

(under) expenditures 1,863,659            415,933               914,488               12,196,137          2,264,659            17,654,876          

Other financing sources (uses):

Debt forgiveness -                           -                           -                           -                           (1,658,465)           (1,658,465)           

Bond proceeds -                           -                           -                           -                           2,250,000            2,250,000            

Bond costs of issuance -                           -                           -                           -                           (68,596)                (68,596)                

Transfers in 861,605               -                           37,500                 551,339               527,312               1,977,756            

Transfers out (1,254,717)           -                           (7,419)                  -                           (903,793)              (2,165,929)           

Total other financing sources (uses) (393,112)              -                           30,081                 551,339               146,458               334,766               

     Net change in fund balance 1,470,547            415,933               944,569               12,747,476          2,411,117            17,989,642          

Fund balances, beginning 11,042,776          3,316,234            2,023,830            8,075,225            18,326,899          42,784,964          

Change in reserve for inventories -                           -                           -                           -                           121,740               121,740               

Fund balances, ending 12,513,323$        3,732,167$          2,968,399$          20,822,701$        20,859,756$        60,896,346$        

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 

61 Attachment 1 Page 61 of 230 



Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds 17,989,642$      

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different 

because:

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain activities, 

such as insurance, vehicle and equipment replacement, and SDC administration to 

individual funds.  The net revenue (expense) of certain internal service funds is reported 

with governmental activities. 1,978,428          

Governmental funds defer revenues that do not provide current financial resources.  

However, the Statement of Activities recognizes such revenues at their net realizable 

value when earned, regardless of when received. (60,785)             

Capital outlay is reported as expenditures in governmental funds.  However, the 

Statement of Activities allocates the cost of capital outlays over their estimated useful 

lives as depreciation expense. 9,018,869          

Governmental funds do not report expenditures for unpaid compensated absences, 

pension liability, or other post employment benefits since they do not require the use of 

current financial resources.  However, the statement of activities reports such expenses 

when incurred, regardless of when settlement ultimately occurs. 3,623,920          

Proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt provide current financial resources to 

governmental funds and are reported as revenues.  In the same way, repayments of long-

term debt use current financial resources and are reported as expenditures in 

governmental funds.  However, neither the receipt of debt proceeds nor the payment of 

debt principal affect the Statement of Activities, but are reported as increases and 

decreases in noncurrent liabilities in the Statement of Net Position.  Also, governmental 

funds report the effect of premiums, discounts, and similar items when debt is first 

issued, whereas these amounts are deferred and amortized in the statement of activities.  

This amount is the net effect of these differences in the treatment of long-term debt and 

related items. 1,774,181          

Decreases in inventory in governmental funds increase expenses. 121,740             

Change in net position of governmental activities 34,445,995$      

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

City of Springfield, Oregon

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

The accompanying notes are are an integral part of this statement.

62 Attachment 1 Page 62 of 230 



 

Governmental
Activities

Nonmajor Internal
Storm Service

Sewer Drainage Ambulance Booth-Kelly Total Funds
ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and investments 35,734,559$            26,184,670$            (237)$                       1,227,164$              63,146,156$            26,004,502$            
Accounts receivable, net of allowance

for estimated uncollectibles 3,061,469                1,454,529                2,455,915                20,863                     6,992,776                262,193                   
Prepaids 28,830                     19,117                     43,454                     -                               91,401                     176,397                   
Grant receivable 1,037                       1,224                       -                               -                               2,261                       45                            
Deposits -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               200,000                   
Accrued interest 126,597                   88,352                     -                               6,383                       221,332                   88,173                     
Lease receivable, current portion -                               -                               -                               102,066                   102,066                   -                               
Deferred system development fees 683,480                   48,540                     -                               -                               732,020                   94,378                     
Inventory -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               39,170                     

Total current assets 39,635,972              27,796,432              2,499,132                1,356,476                71,288,012              26,864,858              
Noncurrent assets:

Capital assets - net 51,053,453              16,835,990              89,452                     620,646                   68,599,541              7,362,201                
Construction in progress 761,712                   652,178                   -                               -                               1,413,890                -                               
Land and land rights 2,048,070                1,721,879                -                               2,641,557                6,411,506                -                               
Lease receivable -                               -                               -                               6,537                       6,537                       -                               
Net OPEB asset - RHIA 86,661                     66,555                     85,597                     1,614                       240,427                   14,535                     
Due from other governments 2,091,285                -                               -                               -                               2,091,285                -                               

Total noncurrent assets 56,041,181              19,276,602              175,049                   3,270,354                78,763,186              7,376,736                

Total assets 95,677,153              47,073,034              2,674,181                4,626,830                150,051,198            34,241,594              

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred pension outflow 1,356,324                1,123,188                1,264,857 37,707                     3,782,076                230,739                   
Deferred OPEB outflows 124,422                   105,508                   110,094 3,734                       343,758                   15,936                     
Deferred charge for debt refunding 339,182                   -                               -                               -                               339,182                   -                               

Total deferred outflows of resources 1,819,928                1,228,696                1,374,951                41,441                     4,465,016                246,675                   

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 296,901                   168,937                   953,914                   23,545                     1,443,297                551,340                   
Accrued payroll and other liabilities 326,947                   183,461                   280,843                   9,908                       801,159                   574,419                   
Subscription liability current portion -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               165,994                   
Accrued interest payable 56,500                     12,560                     254                          -                               69,314                     12,445                     
Due to other funds -                               -                               18,815                     -                               18,815                     6,898                       
Deposits -                               -                               -                               34,797                     34,797                     -                               
Unearned revenues 152                          184                          135,447                   15,161                     150,944                   55,368                     
Revenue bonds payable - current maturity 1,480,000                506,164                   -                               -                               1,986,164                -                               

Total current liabilities 2,160,500                871,306                   1,389,273                83,411                     4,504,490                1,366,464                

Noncurrent liabilities:
Accrued absence payable 277,858                   78,179                     69,092                     -                               425,129                   13,225                     
Accrued claims liabilities -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               229,819                   
Subscription liability, less current portion 541,243                   
Revenue bonds payable (net of 

unamortized premium) 4,776,367                3,703,364                -                               -                               8,479,731                -                               
Contracts payable 472,123                   -                               -                               -                               472,123                   -                               
Net pension liability 3,577,046                3,198,721                3,380,030                111,981                   10,267,778              661,478                   
Net OPEB obligation payable 482,516                   441,220                   704,824                   16,647                     1,645,207                83,714                     

Total noncurrent liabilities 9,585,910                7,421,484                4,153,946                128,628                   21,289,968              1,529,479                

Total liabilities 11,746,410              8,292,790                5,543,219                212,039                   25,794,458              2,895,943                

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred pension inflow 1,345,323                1,038,441                1,471,956                11,091                     3,866,811                227,116                   
Deferred OPEB inflow 159,570                   147,429                   115,988                   4,949                       427,936                   29,048                     
Deferred amount on refunding -                               189,368                   -                               -                               189,368                   -                               
Deferred lease resources -                               -                               -                               97,756                     97,756                     -                               

Total deferred inflows of resources 1,504,893                1,375,238                1,587,944                113,796                   4,581,871                256,164                   

FUND NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 47,339,506              14,740,022              89,452                     3,262,202                65,431,182              6,652,571                
Restricted for capital projects 10,991,872              3,451,116                -                               -                               14,442,988              -                               
Unrestricted 25,914,400              20,442,564              (3,171,483)               1,080,234                44,265,715              24,683,591              

Total fund net position 84,245,778$            38,633,702$            (3,082,031)$             4,342,436$              124,139,885            31,336,162$            

Adjustment to reflect consolidation of internal service fund activities related to enterprise funds. 445,382                   

Net position of business-type activities 124,585,267$          

City of Springfield, Oregon

STATEMENT OF FUND NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

June 30, 2023

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 

63 Attachment 1 Page 63 of 230 



Governmental
Activities

Nonmajor

 Sewer  Storm Drainage Ambulance  Booth-Kelly  Total
 Internal Service 

Funds 
Operating revenues

Charges for services 8,234,652$       8,526,510$       17,237,407$      605,035$          34,603,604$      14,998,587       
  Less: Contractual adjustments -                        -                        (10,355,796)       -                        (10,355,796)      -                        
Licenses, permits and fees -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        358,353            
Intergovernmental revenues -                        41,903              121,861            -                        163,764            61,724              
Miscellaneous revenue 10                     17                     5,567                -                        5,594                66,159              

Total operating  revenues 8,234,662         8,568,430         7,009,039         605,035            24,417,166       15,484,823       

Operating expenses:
City manager's office 44,559              44,629              -                        46,971              136,159            -                        
Human resources -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        9,212,052         
Finance 54,130              54,131              -                        -                        108,261            2,041,581         
Information technology -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        445,380            
Library -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        8,000                
Fire and life safety -                        -                        7,418,215         -                        7,418,215         8,875                
Police -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        2,473                
Development and public works 4,746,026         5,961,870         -                        683,017            11,390,913       1,044,782         
Depreciation 2,931,853         648,025            3,889                59,254              3,643,021         1,549,431         

Total operating expenses 7,776,568         6,708,655         7,422,104         789,242            22,696,569       14,312,574       

Operating income (loss) 458,094            1,859,775         (413,065)           (184,207)           1,720,597         1,172,249         

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Investment earnings 944,880            655,893            (7,633)               45,818              1,638,958         664,484            
Grant revenues -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        
Interest expense (201,816)           (25,887)             -                        -                        (227,703)           (13,246)             
Loss on disposal of equipment -                        -                        -                        (547,253)           (547,253)           128,972            

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 743,064            630,006            (7,633)               (501,435)           864,002            780,210            

Income (loss) before contributions
   and transfers 1,201,158         2,489,781         (420,698)           (685,642)           2,584,599         1,952,459         

Transfers in -                        -                        325,066            -                        325,066            12,953              
Transfers out -                        -                        -                        (84,237)             (84,237)             (65,609)             
Capital contributions 4,601,852         2,750,771         -                        -                        7,352,623         -                        

Change in fund net position 5,803,010         5,240,552         (95,632)             (769,879)           10,178,051       1,899,803         

Fund net position, beginning of year 78,442,768       33,393,150       (2,986,399)        5,112,315         29,436,359       

Fund net position, end of year 84,245,778$      38,633,702$      (3,082,031)$      4,342,436$       31,336,162$      

Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of internal service fund activities related to enterprise funds. (58,508)             

Change in net position of business-type activities 10,119,543$      

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

City of Springfield, Oregon

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

Year Ended June 30, 2023

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 

64 Attachment 1 Page 64 of 230 



Governmental
Activities

Nonmajor Internal
Storm Service

Sewer Drainage Ambulance Booth-Kelly Total Funds

6,494,383$           8,462,262$           6,534,209$           607,187$              22,098,041$         14,812,773$         
(2,510,186)            (4,567,285)            (3,933,774)            (147,887)               (11,159,132)          (623,343)               

 (2,241,051)            (1,624,662)            (3,143,188)            (585,711)               (7,594,612)            (11,478,031)          
2,776                    42,104                  127,428                -                            172,308                486,236                

1,745,922             2,312,419             (415,325)               (126,411)               3,516,605             3,197,635             

Noncapital grants (1,704,343)            -                            -                            -                            (1,704,343)            -                            
-                            -                            -                            -                            -                            12,953                  
-                            -                            325,066                (84,237)                 240,829                (65,609)                 

(1,704,343)            -                            325,066                (84,237)                 (1,463,514)            (52,656)                 

3,415,924             598,809                -                            -                            4,014,733             -                            
(795,076)               (156,404)               (93,341)                 240,941                (803,880)               (2,116,686)            

-                            -                            -                            (547,253)               (547,253)               175,472                
Subscription asset -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            (844,565)               
Principal paid on due to developer (4,863)                   -                            -                            -                            (4,863)                   -                            

(1,410,750)            (470,596)               -                            -                            (1,881,346)            707,237                
(382,220)               (55,067)                 -                            -                            (437,287)               (802)                      

823,015                (83,258)                 (93,341)                 (306,312)               340,104                (2,079,344)            

917,910                636,833                (9,269)                   44,771                  1,590,245             648,012                

1,782,504             2,865,994             (192,869)               (472,189)               3,983,440             1,713,647             

33,952,055           23,318,676           192,632                1,699,353             59,162,716           24,290,855           

35,734,559$         26,184,670$         (237)$                    1,227,164$           63,146,156$         26,004,502$         

458,094$              1,859,775$           (413,065)$             (184,207)$             1,720,597$           1,172,249$           

2,931,853             648,025                3,889                    59,254                  3,643,021             1,549,431             

(1,740,269)            (64,248)                 (460,677)               (11,209)                 (2,276,403)            (185,814)               
Due from other governments 2,624                    -                            -                            -                            2,624                    -                            
Prepaid expenses (8,915)                   (5,322)                   (19,809)                 -                            (34,046)                 777,637                

106,807                48,893                  434,203                18,461                  608,364                (221,892)               
-                            -                            18,815                  -                            18,815                  6,898                    

71,927                  (52,995)                 (60,177)                 (230)                      (41,475)                 195,187                
-                            -                            -                            -                            -                            (106,181)               

(174,872)               (204,925)               (95,666)                 (15,621)                 (491,084)               (17,628)                 
98,521                  83,032                  63,887                  3,043                    248,483                1,316                    

-                            -                            -                            (9,263)                   (9,263)                   -                            
-                            -                            -                            (1,800)                   (1,800)                   -                            

152                       184                       113,275                15,161                  128,772                (9,958)                   
Inventory -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            36,390                  

1,745,922$           2,312,419$           (415,325)$             (126,411)$             3,516,605$           3,197,635$           

2,890,271$           2,151,962$           -$                          -$                          5,042,233$           -$                          
Accounts payable on capital assets 88,838                  71,129                  -                            -                            159,967                2,393                    
Subscription liability on capital assets -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            707,237                
Retainage payable on capital assets 45,583                  -                            -                            -                            45,583                  -                            

3,024,692$           2,223,091$           -$                          -$                          5,247,783$           709,630$              

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.  

City of Springfield, Oregon

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Business type activities - Enterprise Funds

Cash paid for employee services 
Cash received from customers 

Cash flows from operating activities: 

Noncash capital and related financing activities: 

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities: 

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities: 

Cash flows from investing activities: 

Net change in cash and investments 

Cash and investments, beginning of year 

Interest paid on long-term debt 

Interest received 

net cash provided by (used in) operating activities: 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 

Cash paid to suppliers for goods and services  
Other operating receipts 

Unearned revenue 

Accrued claims liabilities 

Transfers to/from other funds 
Operating transfers in from other funds

Net cash provided by (used in) noncapital  

Net cash provided by (used in) 
operating activities 

Contributed capital assets  

Deposits 

Cash and investments, end of year 

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to  

Operating income (loss) 
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to  

Due to/from other funds
Accrued payroll and other liabilities 

financing activities 

Changes in assets and liabilities: 
Depreciation  

Principal paid on long-term debt 

System development charges
Acquisition and construction of capital assets 
Disposition of capital assets 

Net lease receivable
Net OPEB obligation and related deferrals

Accounts payable 

net cash provided by (used in) operating activities: 

Net pension liability and related deferrals 

Net cash used in capital and related 

Accounts receivable 

financing activities 

65 Attachment 1 Page 65 of 230 



Year Ended June 30, 2023

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and investments 118,330,767$  

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 3,963,706        

NET POSITION
Restricted for HRA participants 2,105,650        
Restricted for Bail 22,883             
Restricted for Regional Fiber Consortium 572,573           

 Restricted for Metropolitan Wastewater 
        Management Commission 110,012,310    
Net position restricted for individuals, organizations
        and other governments 1,653,645        

       Total fiduciary net position 114,367,061$  

City of Springfield, Oregon

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

CUSTODIAL FUND

June 30, 2023

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements

66 Attachment 1 Page 66 of 230 



ADDITIONS
     HRA contributions from employer 919,969$             
     Ambulance service collections for other
            governments 2,755,053            
     Bail receipts from individuals 145,208               
     Miscellaneous receipts from individuals,
            organizations 3,718,239            
    Receipts from Regional Fiber Consortium 1,240,082            
    Receipts from Metropolitan Wastewater
            Management Commission 263,469,010        

                     Total additions 272,247,561        

DEDUCTIONS
     HRA disbursements by employer 690,587               
     Ambulance service disbursements to other
            governments 2,755,053            
     Bail refunds to individuals 182,739               
     Miscellaneous disbursements to individuals,
            organizations 3,477,628            
    Disbursements by Regional Fiber Consortium 1,185,200            
    Disbursements by Metropolitan Wastewater
            Management Commission 250,409,675        

                     Total deductions 258,700,881        

CHANGE IN FUND NET POSITION 13,546,680          

Fund net position - beginning 100,820,381        

Fund net position - ending 114,367,061$      

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

CUSTODIAL FUND

Year Ended June 30, 2023

City of Springfield, Oregon

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements

67 Attachment 1 Page 67 of 230 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

68 Attachment 1 Page 68 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 

     
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
  
The financial statements of the City of Springfield (City) have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) as applied to government units. The Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting 
and financial reporting standards. 
 
The more significant accounting policies of the City are described below. 
 
1. Financial Reporting Entity 
 
The accompanying financial statements present the City of Springfield and its component unit. 
 
BLENDED COMPONENT UNIT 
 
The Springfield Economic Development Agency (SEDA) is a legally separate body, acting as the Urban Renewal 
Agency of the City of Springfield.  Because the SEDA governing body is substantively the same as the City’s, and 
because City management is responsible for the Agency’s operations, the funds of the Agency are blended with those 
of the City by including them in the appropriate statements and schedules of this Annual Comprehensive Financial 
Report.  Separate financial statements for the Agency can be obtained from the Finance Department of the City of 
Springfield or viewed on the City’s website at www.springfield-or.gov. 
 
2. Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements  
 
The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of activities) report 
information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the City and its component units.  For the most part, the effect of 
interfund activity has been removed from these statements.  Governmental activities, which normally are supported 
by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a 
significant extent on charges for services for support.  Likewise, the primary government is reported separately from 
certain legally separate component units for which the primary government is financially accountable. 
 
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or segment are 
offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment.  
Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, 
services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to 
meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment.  Taxes and other items not 
properly included among program revenues are reported instead as general revenues. 
 
Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds, even 
though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial statements.  Major individual governmental funds 
and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements. 
 
3. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation  
 
Measurement focus refers to what is being measured by a fund.  Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and 
expenditures or expenses are recognized in the accounts and reported in the financial statements. 
 

69 Attachment 1 Page 69 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 
 
The government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements are reported using the economic resources 
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are 
recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Property taxes are recognized as 
revenues in the year for which they are levied.  Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all 
eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 
 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the 
modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available.  
Revenues are considered to be available when they are collected within the current period or soon enough thereafter 
to pay liabilities of the current period.  For this purpose, the government considers revenues to be available if they 
are collected within 30 days of the end of the year being reported.  Expenditures generally are recorded when a 
liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting.  However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related 
to compensated absences and claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due. 
 
Property taxes, franchise fees, transient room taxes, and state shared revenues associated with the current fiscal period 
are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current period when 
collected within 30 days following the year end.  Expenditure-driven grants are recognized as revenue when the 
qualifying expenditures have been incurred and all other grant requirements have been met.  All other revenue items 
are considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received.  
 
The fiduciary fund reported by the City, the Custodial Fund, uses the economic resources measurement focus and is 
reported on the full accrual basis of accounting. 
 
The financial transactions of the City are recorded in individual funds.  Each fund is accounted for by providing a 
separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, deferred inflows, 
fund balance, revenues, and expenditures/expenses.  The various funds are reported by generic classification within 
the financial statements. 
 
There are stated minimum criteria for the determination of major funds: percentage of the assets plus deferred 
outflows, liabilities plus deferred inflows, revenues or expenditures/expenses of either fund category, or the 
governmental and enterprise funds combined.  The City electively added funds as major funds, those funds which 
either had debt outstanding or specific community focus.  Non-major funds are combined in a column in the fund 
financial statements and detailed in the combining section. 
 
The City reports the following major governmental funds: 
 
 The General Fund is the City’s primary operating fund.  It accounts for all financial resources of the general 

government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 
 

The Police Local Option Levy Fund accounts for revenue received from a five-year Police Local Option 
Levy to enhance public safety services by adding staff to the Police and Court Departments as well as funding 
jail operations. 
 
 

70 Attachment 1 Page 70 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued  
 

The Special Revenue Fund accounts for revenue received for specific, restricted purposes.  Grant funds from 
the American Recovery Act were received in FY21 and FY22 and are accounted for in this fund. 
 
The Street Capital Fund accounts for revenue and expenses related to public transportation capital 
improvements.  Financing is provided by bond sales and system development charges. 

  
The City reports the following major proprietary funds: 
 
 The Sewer Fund accounts for the operation, construction, and maintenance of the wastewater collection 

system.  Revenue is derived from sewer user fees and system development charges. 
 
 The Storm Drainage Fund accounts for operation, construction, and maintenance of the stormwater drainage 

system.  Revenue is derived from storm drainage fees and system development charges.  
 

The Ambulance Fund accounts for the City’s ambulance operations.  Revenue is derived mainly from 
ambulance fees.  The fund also performs billing and collection of ambulance operations for other Oregon 
cities.  This service is provided for a fee. 

 
Additionally, the government reports the following fund types: 
 
 Internal Service funds account for the ownership and use of rolling stock and computer equipment, the City’s 

risk and employee benefit program, and costs related to the administration of system development charges.  
Resources are provided by charges to other funds, including component units. 

 
 The Custodial Fund is a fiduciary fund used to account for funds received and held by the City in a custodial 

capacity.  The majority of the activity in this fund is made up of transactions related to being the fiscal agent 
for the Metropolitan Wastewater Management Commission and Regional Fiber Consortium, Ambulance 
billing fees collected for other agencies, Health Reimbursement Accounts held on behalf of City employees, 
and fees collected by the municipal court that are passed on to other entities and government agencies. 

 
As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial statements.  
Exceptions to this general rule include interfund services provided and/or used.  Interfund services provided and/or 
used are accounted for as revenues and expenses since the elimination of such revenues and expenses would distort 
the direct costs and program revenues reported for the various functions.  
 
Accounts recorded as program revenues include charges to customers, operating grants and contributions, and capital 
grants and contributions.  Internally dedicated resources are reported as general revenues rather than as program 
revenues.  Likewise, general revenues include all taxes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

71 Attachment 1 Page 71 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 
 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items.  Operating revenues and 
expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a 
proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations.  The principal operating revenues of the Ambulance Fund are 
ambulance fees and billing and collection charges.  The principal operating revenues of the Sewer Fund are sewer 
user fees.  The principal operating revenues of the Storm Drainage Fund are drainage fees.  The principal operating 
revenues of the internal service funds are charges to other funds for depreciation on equipment and for services 
provided.  Operating expenses for the enterprise funds and internal service funds include administrative expenses, 
depreciation on capital assets and the cost of providing services.  All revenues and expenses not meeting this 
definition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses. 
  
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City’s practice to use restricted resources 
first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed. 
 
4. Assets, Liabilities, and Net Position  
 
a. Cash and Investments 
 
State statutes authorize the City to invest in obligations of the U.S. Treasury and its agencies, bankers’ acceptances, 
high grade commercial paper, the State of Oregon Local Government Investment Pool and repurchase agreements. 
 
Investments are reported at fair value. 
 
For purposes of the statement of cash flows for proprietary fund types, cash and investments in the City-wide 
investment   pool   (including   restricted  cash   and   investments)   are   considered   cash   and   cash   equivalents. 
 
The pool has the general characteristics of a demand deposit account in that funds may deposit additional cash at any 
time and may withdraw cash at any time without prior notice or penalty. 
 
b. Receivables and Payables 
 
Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of the fiscal 
year are referred to as either “due to/from other funds (i.e., the current portion of interfund loans) or “advances to/from 
other funds” (i.e., the non-current portion of interfund loans).  All other outstanding balances between funds are 
reported as “due to/from other funds.”  Any residual balances outstanding between the governmental activities and 
business-type activities are reported in the government-wide financial statements as “internal balances.” 
 
Advances between funds, as reported in the fund financial statements, are offset by a nonspendable fund balance in 
applicable governmental funds to indicate that they are not available for appropriation and are not expendable 
available financial resources. 
 
 
 
 
 

72 Attachment 1 Page 72 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 
 
Real and personal property taxes attach as an enforceable lien on property as of July 1st.  All taxes are levied as of 
July 1st and are payable in three installments on November 15th, February 15th, and May 15th.  All property taxes 
are billed and collected by Lane County, Oregon and then turned over to the City.  For the year ended June 30, 2023 
the City’s tax levy did not exceed the Oregon constitutional limitation.  The total property tax levy was $42,778,704.  
This includes general property taxes to support general obligation bond debt service of $4,261,942. 
 
The City has foreclosed on properties, collateralizing assessments receivable over the past twenty years.  The 
properties collateralizing the assessments receivable, where the right to redemption still exists by the benefited 
property owner, are recorded as liens receivable, which include the cost of the original assessment, foreclosure costs 
and interest to the date of foreclosure, as provided by Oregon Statutes.  Once the right to redeem these properties no 
longer exists (after one year), the properties are deeded to the City and then become investment in foreclosed property.  
Liens receivable and investment in foreclosed property are offset by unavailable revenue and, accordingly, have not 
been recorded as revenue in the governmental funds. 
 
The value of these properties, both liens and investment in foreclosed property, has been adjusted to the lower of net 
realizable value or cost.  Net realizable value for the City has been determined by reviewing the true cash value of 
these properties as recorded by the Lane County assessor, less the underlying property taxes that must be paid upon 
the sale of the property by the City. 
 
c. Inventories 
 
Inventories of materials and supplies are valued at cost or average cost using the first-in/first-out method and are 
shown on the balance sheet as an asset with a corresponding nonspendable fund balance.  Inventories are charged to 
operations as consumed in both the government-wide and fund financial statements. 
 
d. Prepaid Items 
 
Payments made to vendors for services that will benefit periods beyond June 30, 2023 are recorded as prepaid items.  
These prepaid amounts are recorded in the balance sheet as an asset with a corresponding nonspendable fund balance 
and are shown as expenditures in the periods that the service is provided, consistent with the “consumption method” 
of accounting for prepaids. 
 
e. Restricted Assets 
 
Assets whose use is restricted for construction, debt service or other purposes by provisions of grants, bond indentures 
or other agreements are segregated on the statement of net position. 
 
f. Capital Assets 
 
Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment and infrastructure assets (e.g., roads, multi-use paths and 
traffic  control  devices),  are  reported  in  the  applicable governmental or  business-type activities columns  in  the 
government-wide  financial  statements.  Capital  assets are defined by the City  as  assets with an initial,  individual  
 
 

73 Attachment 1 Page 73 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 
 
cost of more than $5,000 and an estimated useful life greater than one year.  Such assets are recorded at historical 
cost, or estimated historical cost if actual historical cost is not available.  Donated capital assets, donated works of art 
and similar items, and capital assets received in a service concession arrangement are reported at acquisition value. 
 
As permitted by GAAP, the City has limited the retroactive capitalization of governmental fund infrastructure to 
fiscal years ending after June 30, 1980.  Although the majority of such infrastructure was placed in service before 
that date, it has not been included in these financial statements since it has been substantially depreciated. 
  
The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend asset lives 
are not capitalized. 
 
Depreciation and amortization of capital assets are computed on the straight-line method over the estimated useful 
lives of the related assets.  Upon disposal of such assets, the accounts are relieved of the related historical costs and 
accumulated depreciation, and resulting gains or losses are reflected in income.  The estimated useful lives of the 
various categories of assets are as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
g. Compensated Absences 
 
It is the City’s policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused vacation leave within limits set by 
collective bargaining agreements.  All employees with accrued vacation leave are paid the outstanding vacation 
accrual balance, within limits, at separation at the employees current pay rate.  Employees with sick leave accruals 
and meeting longevity requirements are paid the outstanding sick leave accrual balance, within limits, upon retirement 
at the employees current pay rate.  All vacation and sick leave pay is accrued when incurred in the government-wide 
and proprietary fund statements.  The governmental fund financial statements do not report liabilities for compensated 
absences unless they are due for payment.  The General Fund is the governmental fund that will be primarily used to 
liquidate compensated absences based on the high level of staffing that is funded from this fund. 
 
h. Long-term Liabilities 
 
In the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements, long-term 
debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental activities, business-
type activities, or proprietary fund type statement of net position.  Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and 
amortized over the life of the bonds.  Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount. 
Bond issuance costs are recognized in the year incurred.  Deferred charges for refunding are amortized straight-line 
over the life of the new debt. 
 
 
 

Category Estimated Useful Life 
Buildings 10-50 years 
Equipment 3-20 years 
Infrastructure 20-50 years 
Studies 10 years 

74 Attachment 1 Page 74 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 
 
In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts as well as bond 
issuance costs during the current period.  The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources while 
discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the 
actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures. 
 
i. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 
 
In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows 
of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of 
net assets that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources 
(expense/expenditure) until then.   
 
In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred 
inflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an 
acquisition of net assets that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources 
(revenue) until that time.  
 
The other instance of deferred inflows arises only under a modified accrual basis of accounting.  Accordingly, 
unavailable revenue is reported only in the governmental funds balance sheet.  These amounts are deferred and 
recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amounts become available. 
 
j. Pensions 
 
Oregon Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS) – For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, 
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, 
information about the fiduciary net position of the OPERS and additions to/deductions from OPERS’s fiduciary net 
position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by OPERS.  For this purpose, benefit payments 
(including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit 
terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 
 
City Retirement Plan (CRP) – For purposes of measuring the net pension liability and pension expense, information 
about the fiduciary net position of CRP and additions to/deductions from CRP fiduciary net position have been 
determined on the same basis as they are reported by the City’s actuary.  For this purpose, benefit payments are 
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.  Investments are reported at fair value. 
 
k. Fund Balance 
 
In the fund financial statements, the fund balance for governmental funds is reported in classifications that comprise 
a hierarchy based primarily on the extent to which the City is bound to honor constraints on the specific purposes for 
which amounts in those funds can be spent. 
 
Fund balance is reported as nonspendable when the resources cannot be spent because they are either in a 
nonspendable form or legally or contractually required to be maintained intact.  Resources in nonspendable form 
include inventories, prepaids, and assets held for resale. 

75 Attachment 1 Page 75 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 
 
Fund balance is reported as restricted when the constraints placed on the use of resources are either (a) externally 
imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants), grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other 
governments; or (b) imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 
 
Fund balance is reported as committed when the City Council passes a resolution that places specific constraints on 
how the resources may be used.  The City Council can modify or rescind the commitment at any time through passage 
of an additional resolution. 
  
Resources that are constrained by the City’s intent to use them for a specific purpose, but are neither restricted nor 
committed, are reported as assigned fund balance. Intent is expressed when the City Council approves which 
resources should be “reserved” during adoption of the annual budget.  The City’s Finance Director uses that 
information to determine whether those resources should be classified as assigned or unassigned for presentation in 
the City’s Annual Financial Report. 
 
Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the General Fund.  This classification represents fund 
balance that has not been restricted, committed, or assigned within the General Fund.  This classification is also used 
to report any negative fund balance amounts in other governmental funds. 
 
When both restricted and unrestricted (committed, assigned, or unassigned) resources are available for use, it is the 
City’s practice to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as needed.  When an expenditure is incurred 
where an unrestricted fund balance classification could be used, the City’s practice is to use committed resources 
first, assigned resources second, and then unassigned amounts as they are needed. 
 
Fund balances by classification for the year ended June 30, 2023 were as follows:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

76 Attachment 1 Page 76 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Total

Police Local Special Street Nonmajor Governmental

Fund Balances General Option Levy Revenue Capital Governmental Funds

Nonspendable:

Inventories 1,864$           -$                  -$                  -$                  407,863$         409,727$           

Prepaids 156,789          112,018          43,022           -                    44,148             355,977            

Investment in foreclosed property 1,970             -                    -                    -                    -                     1,970                

Deposits -                    -                    -                    -                    800                 800                  

Restricted:

Debt service -                    -                    -                    -                    625,206           625,206            

Urban renewal -                    -                    -                    -                    993,415           993,415            

Capital projects -                    -                    -                    -                    1,918,891         1,918,891          

Street repairs and maintenance -                    -                    -                    -                    2,723,901         2,723,901          

Street improvements -                    -                    -                    20,822,701     -                     20,822,701        

Public Safety - Fire -                    -                    1,000             -                    1,834,196         1,835,196          

Public Safety - Police general -                    3,620,149       440,041          -                    -                     4,060,190          

Public Safety - Police forfeitures -                    -                    529,221          -                    -                     529,221            

Building code -                    -                    -                    -                    5,519,059         5,519,059          

Economic development -                    -                    7,203             -                    2,523,583         2,530,786          

Library services -                    -                    29,684           -                    -                     29,684              

Committed:

Development assessment -                    -                    -                    -                    800,910           800,910            

Capital projects -                    -                    -                    -                    2,301,393         2,301,393          

Technology fee reserve -                    -                    942,387          -                    -                     942,387            

Assigned:

Capital projects -                    -                    -                    -                    1,166,391         1,166,391          

Contigency reserve 1,000,000       -                    -                    -                    -                     1,000,000          

Public Safety - Police K9 -                    -                    89,913           -                    -                     89,913              

Public Saftey - Police general -                    -                    711,995          -                    -                     711,995            

Other purposes -                    -                    173,933          -                    -                     173,933            

Unassigned 11,352,700     -                    -                    -                    -                     11,352,700        

Total fund balances 12,513,323$    3,732,167$     2,968,399$     20,822,701$    20,859,756$     60,896,346$      

77 Attachment 1 Page 77 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 
 
l. Indirect Expenses Allocation 
 
In the government-wide statement of activities, program costs include incidental indirect costs. 
  
m. Contingency and Working Capital Policy 
   
The City will maintain adequate cash reserves for both contingencies and working capital.  Each fund will maintain 
adequate cash reserves, borrow internally from another City fund, or as a last resort, borrow externally to provide for 
cash flow and contingency requirements.  
 
5. New Accounting Pronouncements 
 
During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, the City implemented the following GASB pronouncements: 
 

 GASB Statement No. 91 – Conduit Debt Obligations.  The objective of this statement is to provide a single 
method of reporting conduit debt obligations by issuers and eliminate diversity in practice.  The adoption and 
implementation of Statement No. 91 did not have a significant impact to the City. 

 
 GASB Statement No. 94 – Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships (PPP) and Availability Payment 

Arrangements (APA).  The objective of this statement is to better meet the information needs of financial 
statement users by improving comparability of financial statements among governments that enter into PPPs 
and APAs and by enhancing the understandability, reliability, relevance, and consistency of information 
about PPPs and APAs.  The adoption and implementation of Statement No. 94 did not have a significant 
impact to the City. 

 
 GASB Statement No. 96 – Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements. The objective of this 

statement is to provide guidance on the accounting and financial reporting for subscription-based information 
technology arrangements (SBITAs) for government end users. 
 

 GASB Statement No. 99 – Omnibus 2022.  The objective of this statement is to enhance comparability in the 
accounting and financial reporting and to improve the consistency of authoritative literature by addressing 
practice issues that have been identified during application and implementation of certain GASB Statements 
and financial reporting for financial guarantees. The adoption and implementation of Statement No. 99 did 
not have a significant impact to the City. 

 
 GASB Statements No. 100 and 101 – These are other pronouncements that have been issued by the GASB 

but not yet required to be implemented.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

78 Attachment 1 Page 78 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE B – RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
1. Explanation of certain differences between the governmental fund balance sheet and the government-wide 
statement of net position. 
 
The governmental fund balance sheet includes a reconciliation between fund balance – total governmental funds and 
net position – governmental activities as reported in the government-wide statement of net position.  One element of 
that reconciliation explains that “all liabilities are reported in the statement of net position.  However, if they are not 
due and payable in the current period, they are not recorded in the governmental funds.”  The details of this 
$63,430,893 difference are as follows: 

 

 
 
Another element of that reconciliation states that capital assets are not financial resources in governmental funds, but 
are reported in the statement of net position at their net depreciable value.  The details of this $172,147,197 are as 
follows: 
 

 
 
2. Explanation of certain differences between the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and 
changes in fund balances and the government-wide statement of activities. 
 
The governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances includes reconciliation 
between net changes in fund balances – total governmental funds and changes in net position of government activities 
as reported in the government-wide statement of activities.  One element of that reconciliation explains that “Capital 
outlay is reported as expenditures in governmental funds.  However, the Statement of Activities allocates the cost of 
capital outlays over their estimated useful lives as depreciation expense.”  The details of this $9,018,869 difference 
are as follows: 

Bonds payable, net of original issue premium and deferred charges 10,072,564$   
Notes payable 1,219,307       
Interfund loan payable 1,864,201       
Due to developer (contracts payable) 210,000         
Accrued interest payable 33,696           
Rebatable arbitrage 14,142           
Lease and subscription liability 443,804         
Compensated absences 5,165,287       
Net pension liability and related deferrals 38,828,135     
Net OPEB obligation and related deferrals 5,579,757       

     Total 63,430,893$   

Capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation) reported in the Statement of 
Net Position - governmental activities column:
     Land and work in progress 91,106,180$    
     Other capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation) 88,403,218      
Total capital assets reported in internal service funds included in the Statement of
Net Position - governmental activities column (net of accumulated depreciation) (7,362,201)       

172,147,197$   

79 Attachment 1 Page 79 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE B – RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – 
Continued 

 

 
 
Another element of that reconciliation states that the issuance of long-term debt (e.g., bonds, leases) provides current 
financial resources to governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the 
current financial resources of governmental funds.  Neither transaction, however, has any effect on net position. Also, 
governmental funds report the effect of premiums, discounts, and similar items when debt is first issued, whereas 
these amounts are deferred and amortized in the statement of activities.  The details of this $1,774,181 difference are 
as follows:  
 

 
 
Another element of the reconciliation states that governmental funds do not report expenditures for unpaid 
compensated absences or other post-employment benefits since they do not use current financial resources.  
The details of this $3,623,920 difference are as follows: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Capital outlay 4,573,362$      
Donated capital assets 9,672,480        
Leased equipment (7,345)             
Subscription assets 425,437           
Depreciation (5,645,065)       
Net adjustment to increase net changes in fund balances - total governmental funds
     to arrive at changes in net position of governmental activities 9,018,869$      

Issuance of note payable (2,250,000)$     
Principal repayment of general obligation debt 3,675,777        
Principal repayment of note payable 668,173           
Amortization of deferred charges (35,034)           
Amortization of bond premiums 230,481           
Increase in interfund loan payable (85,019)           
Decrease in lease liability 7,208              
Increase in subscription liability (419,360)          
Increase in rebatable arbitrage (14,143)           
Increase in accrued interest payable (3,902)             
Net adjustment to increase net changes in fund balances - total governmental funds
     to arrive at changes in net position of governmental activities 1,774,181$      

Increase in accrued compensated absences (285,438)$        
Decrease in net pension liability and related deferrals 3,739,277        
Decease in net OPEB obligation and related deferrals 170,081           
Net adjust to increase net changes in fund balances - total governmental
     funds to arrive at changes in net position of governmental activities 3,623,920$      

80 Attachment 1 Page 80 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE C – STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY  
 
The City follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial statements: 
 
In April of each year, the City Manager submits a recommended budget to the Budget Committee (which consists of 
the City Council and an equal number of citizens of the City).  The City’s budget is prepared for each fund on the 
modified accrual basis of accounting.  Estimated receipts and expenditures are budgeted for by fund, program and 
object.  Information on the past two years’ actual receipts and expenditures and current-year amended budgets are 
included in the budget document. 
 
The Budget Committee conducts public hearings for the purpose of obtaining citizens’ comments. 
 
The Budget Committee then presents an approved budget to the City Council for final adoption.  The adopted 
expenditures for each fund may not be increased by more than 10% during the year without a special public hearing  
of the governing body with notice to the citizens published 5 to 30 days in advance.  After the Council adopts the 
budget and certifies the total of ad valorem taxes to be levied, no additional tax levy may be made for that fiscal year. 
 
The City Council legally adopts the budget before July 1, by resolution.  The resolution authorizes fund appropriations  
as  current  annual  departmental  requirements,  debt service,  capital  projects,  interfund  transfers, interfund loans, 
statutory payments, contingencies, unappropriated fund balances and reserves.  Expenditures cannot legally exceed 
appropriations at these control levels.  Appropriations lapse as of the end of the year. 
 
The City Council may change the budget throughout the year by transferring appropriations between levels of control 
and by adopting supplemental budgets as authorized by Oregon Revised statutes.  Management may administratively 
transfer budget amounts between individual line items within the control level, but cannot make changes between the 
legal levels of control.  During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, the City Council approved several transfer 
resolutions and supplemental budgets for a net increase in appropriations of $40,746,540. 
 
The Ambulance Fund reported a GAAP basis negative fund balance of $3,082,031.  This negative fund balance was 
the result of the Fund not receiving the anticipated ambulance billing revenue in the current and prior fiscal years 
dating back to June 30, 2017. 
 
 
NOTE D – CASH AND INVESTMENTS 
 
The City of Springfield maintains a common cash and investment pool that is available for use by all funds. 
At June 30, 2023, cash and investments are comprised of the following: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

81 Attachment 1 Page 81 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE D – CASH AND INVESTMENTS – Continued 

 

 
 
Each fund’s portion of this pool is displayed in the Statement of Net Position. 
 

 
 
Deposits 
 
Deposits with financial institutions are comprised of checking, money market and certificate of deposit accounts.  As 
of June 30, 2023, the City of Springfield had a book balance of $9,777,992 and a bank balance of $10,330,784.  The 
difference is due to transactions in process.  Of this amount, $1,000,000 was covered by federal depository insurance, 
and the remainder was collateralized by the statewide pool. 
 
Effective July 1, 2008, the State of Oregon formed the Oregon Public Funds Collateralization Program under 
ORS 295.  The collateralization program creates a statewide pool of qualified bank depositories for local 
governments, providing  collateralization for bank  balances  that exceed the  limits of federal depository insurance, 
and eliminating the need for certificates of participation.  The legislation creates a shared liability structure for 
depository banks, but does not guarantee that public funds are 100% protected.  The City is also required to verify 
that amounts in excess of FDIC insurance limits are deposited only in qualified depository banks listed by the Office 
of the State Treasurer.  
 
Local Government Investment Pool 
 
The City participates in the State of Oregon Local Investment Pool (LGIP or Pool) which is an open-ended, load 
diversified portfolio created under ORS 294.805 to 294.895 and is not registered with the U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission as an investment company.  Fair value of the LGIP is calculated at the same value as the 
number of shares owned.  The unit of account is each share held, and the value of the position would be the fair value 
of the pool’s share price multiplied by the number of shares held.  The State Treasurer is the investment officer for 
the Pool and is responsible for all funds in the Pool.   These funds must be invested and managed, like that of a 
prudent  investor, exercising  reasonable care,  skill, and caution.  Investments in the funds  are further  governed by  
 

Cash on hand 4,742$              

Cash with Fiscal Agent 5,500               

Deposits 9,777,992         

Local Government Investment Pool Accounts 21,450,701       

Investments 251,040,950     

282,279,885$    

Governmental Funds 100,802,962$    

Business-type Funds 63,146,156       

Not Appearing on Statement of Net Position

    Fiduciary Fund 118,330,767     

282,279,885$    

82 Attachment 1 Page 82 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE D – CASH AND INVESTMENTS – Continued 
 
portfolio guidelines issued by the Oregon short-term Funds Board, which establish diversification percentages and 
specify the types of maturities of investments. 
 
The Oregon Audits Division of the Secretary of State’s Office audits the Pool annually.  The Division’s report on the 
Pool as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023 was unmodified and may be obtained at the Oregon State Treasury, 
350 Winter St. NE, Ste 100, Salem, OR 97310 or at www.oregon.gov/treasury.   At June 30, 2023, the fair value of 
the City’s deposits with the LGIP approximates cost.   
 
Cash and Investments 
 
On June 30, 2023, the City of Springfield held $251,040,950 of investments; corporate indebtedness of $7,956,350, 
and government agency securities totaling $243,084,600.  
 
The City’s investment policy requires that the City diversify investments across maturities, security type, and 
institution to avoid incurring unreasonable risks.  Specifically, except for the Local Government Investment Pool and 
U.S. Treasury Obligations, no more than 25% of the City’s total investment portfolio will be invested with a single 
financial institution, no more than 20% of the total portfolio will be invested with any one security, and lastly, no 
more than 5% of the total portfolio will be invested with any one corporate entity.  The City was in compliance with 
all of the above stated City investment policy guidelines.  
 
The City’s policy for custodial credit risk is outlined in the City’s Investment and Portfolio Policies, adopted by the 
City Council.  This investment policy applies to all cash-related assets included within the scope of the City of 
Springfield’s audited financial statements and held directly by the City.  Funds will be invested in compliance with 
the provisions of, but not necessarily limited to the Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS), Chapter 295, other applicable 
statutes and this policy.  Investment of any tax exempt borrowings proceeds and any related debt service funds will 
comply with the arbitrage restrictions in all applicable Internal Revenue Service codes.  The City will limit investment 
activities in order to ensure safety, legality, liquidity, diversity, and yield.  The standard of prudence used by the 
City’s investment officer in the context of managing the overall portfolio shall be the prudent investor rule.  
 
The scope of the City’s investment policy includes not only investments, but all cash-related assets included within 
the scope of the City of Springfield’s financial statements and held directly by the City.  The investment policy 
establishes the City’s permitted investments and provides guidelines for managing the various types of risk associated 
with these investments.  The different risks will be discussed below. 
 

A. Interest rate risk 
 

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment. City 
staff manages this risk by limiting the maturity of the investments held by the City.  The investment policy 
requires that all short-term investments mature in less than 18 months.  The investment policy defines short-term 
investments as those not reserved for specific capital projects or debt payments.  Long-term investments are 
required to have maturities less than 3 years.  Commercial paper is required to have a maturity which does not 
exceed 270 days.   On June 30, 2023, 100% of  the total  investments were  considered  short-term and had 
maturities less than 18 months and none were considered long-term with maturities of more than 18 months but  
 

83 Attachment 1 Page 83 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE D – CASH AND INVESTMENTS – Continued 
 
less than 3 years.  The table below displays the liquidity requirements of the investment policy and the liquidity 
characteristics of the City’s cash and investments on June 30, 2023. 
 
Short-Term Investments: 

 

B. Credit risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligation.  The 
City’s investment policy provides that all corporate debt securities be rated at a minimum of A1 or AA by 
Standard and Poor’s rating service or P1 or Aa by Moody’s rating service, or for an Oregon issuer, a minimum 
of A1 or A or better by S & P; or P1 or Aa by Moody’s. At June 30, 2023, all of the corporate debt in the City’s 
portfolio is in compliance with the investment policy.  The Local Government Investment Pool is not rated and 
is not registered with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. 
 
C.  Custodial credit risk 

 
Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty to a transaction, the City will 
not be able to recover the value of an investment or collateral securities in the possession of an outside party. The 
City’s investment policy requires that broker/dealers meet certain qualifications and that purchased investment  
securities will be delivered  by FED book entry, DTC, or physical  delivery, and held in third party safekeeping,  
registered to the City of Springfield - with a designated custodian.  All of the City’s investments at June 30, 2023 
were delivered by book entry to the account of BNY Mellon Trust Company, who held the securities for the 
benefit of the City. 
 
D. Concentration of credit risk 

 
Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of a government’s investment in a single 
issuer.  The City’s investment policy provides concentration guidelines by both institution and by type of 
investment.  The City diversifies investments across maturities, security type and institution to avoid incurring 
unreasonable risks.  In particular, except for the Local Government Investment Pool, no more than 25% of the 
City’s total investment portfolio will be invested with a single financial institution. In addition, no more than 
20% of the total portfolio will be invested with any one security and no more than 5% of the total portfolio will 
be invested with any one corporate entity.  As of June 30, 2023, the City was in compliance with the City’s 
investment policy.  

 
 
 

Maturity             Amount Actual % Investment Policy % 
Under 30 days $  51,188,834         18% 10 % minimum 
Under 90 days    83,973,034         30% 25 % minimum 
Under 270 days     157,348,234         56% 50 % minimum 
Under one year     205,571,883         73% 80 % minimum 
Under 18 months     282,279,885       100% 100 % minimum 

    

84 Attachment 1 Page 84 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE D – CASH AND INVESTMENTS – Continued 
 

Diversification by Financial Instrument: 
 

 
 

E. Fair Value Measurements 
 

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received at the sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  The City categorizes fair value 
measurements within the hierarchy established by GASB Statement 72.  This hierarchy defines three levels of 
inputs used to assess fair value which allows financial statement users to identify the level of reliability and 
determine variance risk between actual amounts received during a sale of assets or transfer of liabilities to that 
which is reported in the financial statements for the measurement date. 

 
The classification of securities within this fair value hierarchy is based on activity level in the market for the 
security type, and the inputs used to determine their fair value as follows: 
 

 Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets. 
 

 Level 2 – Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar 
 instruments in markets that are not active; and model-derived valuations in which all 
 significant inputs are observable based on market data obtained from sources independent of 
 the reporting entity. 
 

 Level 3 – Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which significant inputs are unobservable 
 (based on the best information available regarding assumptions market participants would
  use in pricing the asset). 

 
As of June 30, 2023, the City’s investments in corporate and municipal bonds are classified as level 2. 
 
F. Foreign currency 
 
The City of Springfield has not made any investments that are not in US dollar denominations therefore the City 
is not exposed to this risk. 

Maximum %

Instrument Amount % Invested of Portfolio

State of Oregon Investment Pool 21,450,701$    8% 100%
Interest Bearing Checking Account 2,161,103        1% 50%
Money Market Account 3,526,032        1% 50%
Time Certificates of Deposit 4,090,857        1% 25%
Corporate Bonds 7,956,350        3% 25%
U.S. Treasury Bonds 243,084,600    86% 100%
Other 10,242              0% 0%

     Totals 282,279,885$ 100%

85 Attachment 1 Page 85 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE E – RECEIVABLES AND UNAVAILABLE REVENUE 
 
       

  
 
 
Assessments, liens, and mortgage notes are collateralized by real estate. 
 
Mortgage notes within the non-major governmental Community Development fund are a result of loans made under 
the CDBG federal program.  Repayment is dependent on the type of mortgage note. Deferred payment loans, housing 
improvement loans, and SHOP loans are due and payable at the time of sale or transfer of title.  Most loans are interest 
free. 
 
In all cases, loans become immediately due and payable if the client fails to meet any contract requirements. 
 
Governmental funds report unavailable revenue in connection with receivables for revenues that are not considered 
to be available to liquidate liabilities of the current period.  At June 30, 2023, the various components of unavailable 
revenue (deferred inflows of resources) consist of the following: 

 

 
 

Receivables at June 30, 2023 consist of the following:

Property

Taxes and Accrued Assessments Mortgage SDC Deferred Total Net

Fund Accounts Other Grants Interest and Liens Leases Notes Receivable Receivable

General 1,258,429$      756,730$      8,105$         140,180$    -$               -$                 -$                 1,233$         2,164,677$      

Police Local Option Levy 26,240            260,484       -                  15,359       -                 -                   -                   -                  302,083          

Special Revenue 33,505            -                  260,045        -                -                 -                   -                   -                  293,550          

Street Capital 996,805          -                  -                  69,071       -                 -                   -                   1,036,544     2,102,420        

Sewer 3,061,469        * -                  1,037           126,597      -                 -                   -                   683,480       3,872,583        

Storm Drainage 1,454,529        * -                  1,224           88,352       -                 -                   -                   48,540         1,592,645        

Ambulance 2,455,915        * -                  -                  -                -                 -                   -                   -                  2,455,915        

Nonmajor

   governmental 1,745,843        346,532       534,919        73,056       17,944        -                   963,903        26                3,682,223        

Nonmajor

   enterprise 20,863            -                  -                  6,383         -                 108,603        -                   -                  135,849          

Internal Service 262,193          -                  45                88,173       -                 -                   -                   94,378         444,789          

11,315,791$    1,363,746$   805,375$      607,171$    17,944$      108,603$      963,903$       1,864,201$   17,046,734$    

*Net of allowances for uncollectible accounts totalling $3,158,178

Property Mortgage Total  

taxes Fees and notes Unavailable

FUND receivable charges receivable Assessments revenue

General 743,064$      765,928$      -$                 -$                 1,508,992$   

Police Local Option Levy 256,605        -                  -                  -                  256,605        

Special Revenue -                  8,921           -                  -                  8,921           

Street Capital -                  2,033,348     -                  -                  2,033,348     

Nonmajor governmental 341,947        916,501        844,169        17,944          2,120,561     

Total unavailable revenue 1,341,616$   3,724,698$   844,169$      17,944$        5,928,427$   

86 Attachment 1 Page 86 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE E – RECEIVABLES AND UNAVAILABLE REVENUE – Continued 
 
Lease Receivables: 
 
The City is involved in various leasing arrangements for land, buildings, equipment and land use rights which are 
leased mainly to commercial and retail customers.  With the implementation of GASB Statement No. 87 Leases, in 
the prior fiscal year, all leases are classified as either qualified or non-qualified leases, for both lessor and lessee 
positions.  With this implementation, a respective receivable or payable is recognized.  Lessee lease detail and 
liabilities are shown in Note G. 
 
 Lessor lease receivables 
 
In September, 2021, City of Springfield Economic Development entered into a 11 month lease as Lessor for the use 
of Second Story Office – 228 Main Street.  An initial lease receivable was recorded in the amount of $24,003.  As of 
June 30, 2023, the value of the lease receivable is $0.  This building was sold in FY23. 
 
In May, 2021,the City entered into a 14 month lease as Lessor for the use of Booth-Kelly Center - Suite 170.  An 
initial lease receivable was recorded in the amount of $10,250. As of June 30, 2023, the value of the lease receivable 
is $0. The building was fully depreciated as of contract commencement.  The value of the deferred inflow of resources 
as of June 30, 2023, was $0, and the City of Springfield recognized lease revenue of $1,464 during the fiscal year. 
 
In July, 2021, the City entered into a 13 month lease as Lessor for the use of Booth-Kelly Center - Suite 112 & 127.  
An initial lease receivable was recorded in the amount of $83,967.  As of June 30, 2023, the value of the lease 
receivable is $0. The building was fully depreciated as of contract commencement.  The value of the deferred inflow 
of resources as of June 30, 2023, was $0, and City of Springfield recognized lease revenue of $10,952 during the 
fiscal year. 
 
In June, 2021, the City entered into a 14 month lease as Lessor for the use of Booth-Kelly Center - Suite 115.  An 
initial lease receivable was recorded in the amount of $37,721. As of June 30, 2023, the value of the lease receivable 
is $0. The building was fully depreciated as of the contract commencement.  The value of the deferred inflow of 
resources as of June 30, 2023, was $0, and City of Springfield recognized lease revenue of $5,389 during the fiscal 
year. 
 
In December, 2021, the City of Springfield entered into a 17 month lease as Lessor for the use of Booth-Kelly Center 
- Suite 110.  An initial lease receivable was recorded in the amount of $21,704.  As of June 30, 2023, the value of the 
lease receivable is $0.  The building was fully depreciated as of contract commencement.  The value of the deferred 
inflow of resources as of June 30, 2023, was $0, and City of Springfield recognized lease revenue of $6,384 during 
the fiscal year. 
 
In January, 2022, the City of Springfield entered into a 12 month lease as Lessor for the use of Booth-Kelly Center - 
Suite 153 & 155.  An initial lease receivable was recorded in the amount of $25,415. As of June 30, 2023, the value  
of the lease receivable is $0. The building was fully depreciated as of contract commencement.  The value of the 
deferred inflow of resources as of June 30, 2023, was $0, and City of Springfield recognized lease revenue of $14,826 
during the fiscal year. 
 
 

87 Attachment 1 Page 87 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE E – RECEIVABLES AND UNAVAILABLE REVENUE – Continued 
 
In January, 2022, the City of Springfield entered into a 24 month lease as Lessor for the use of Booth-Kelly Center - 
Suite 140.  An initial lease receivable was recorded in the amount of $66,123. As of June 30, 2023, the value of the 
lease receivable is $19,436. The lessee is required to make monthly fixed payments of $2,788.19. The lease has an 
interest rate of 1.2480%. The building was fully depreciated as of contract commencement.  The value of the deferred 
inflow of resources as of June 30, 2023, was $19,286, and City of Springfield recognized lease revenue of $33,061 
during the fiscal year.  The lessee has 2 extension option(s), each for 12 months.  
 
In January, 2023, the City of Springfield entered into a 36 month lease as Lessor for the use of Booth-Kelly Center - 
Suite 150.  An initial lease receivable was recorded in the amount of $60,002.  As of June 30, 2023, the value of the 
lease receivable is $60,001. In the first year of the lease the lessee is required to make annual fixed payments of $1.00, 
and beginning in year two the lessee is required to make annual fixed payments of $2,396.  The lease has an interest 
rate of 2.6560%.  The building was fully depreciated as of contract commencement.  The value of the deferred inflow 
of resources as of June 30, 2023, was $50,002, and City of Springfield recognized lease revenue of $10,000 during 
the fiscal year.  
 
In December, 2019, the City of Springfield entered into a 40 month lease as Lessor for the use of Kelly Butte ATT 
Cell Tower.  An initial lease receivable was recorded in the amount of $69,875. As of June 30, 2023, the value of the 
lease receivable is $29,166. The lessee is required to make monthly fixed payments of $1,725.00.  The lease has an 
interest rate of 0.7270%.  The value of the deferred inflow of resources as of June 30, 2023, was $28,468, and City 
of Springfield recognized lease revenue of $20,703 during the fiscal year. The lessee had a termination period of 12 
months as of the lease commencement.  
 

 

Governmental activities Balance as of Balance as of

July 1, 2022 Additions Reductions June 30, 2023

Lease receivable

Buildings

     Second Story Office - 228 Main Street 4,038$           -$                  4,038$           -$                   

          Total lease receivable 4,038$           -$                  4,038$           -$                   

Business-type activities

Lease receivable

Buildings

     Booth-Kelly Center - suite 170 1,466$           -$                  1,466$           -$                   

     Booth-Kelly Center - suite 112 & 127 12,015           -                    12,015           -                     

     Booth-Kelly Center - suite 115 5,397             -                    5,397             -                     

     Booth-Kelly Center - suite 110 6,394             -                    6,394             -                     

     Booth-Kelly Center - suite 153 & 155 14,843           -                    14,843           -                     

     Booth-Kelly Center - suite 140 52,429           -                    32,993           19,436            

     Booth-Kelly Center - suite 150 -                    60,002           1                    60,001            

          Total building lease receivable 92,544           60,002           73,109           79,437            

Land

     Kelly Butte ATT cell tower 49,573           -                    20,407           29,166            

          Total lease receivable 142,117$       60,002$         93,516$          108,603$        

88 Attachment 1 Page 88 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
     

NOTE E – RECEIVABLES AND UNAVAILABLE REVENUE – Continued 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Principal and interest expected to maturity

Fiscal Year Principal Payments Interest Payments

2024 52,169$                    2,423$                     

2025 39,317                      933                         

2026 17,117                      133                         

108,603$                   3,489$                     

Business-Type Activities

Governmental activities Balance as of Balance as of

July 1, 2022 Additions Reductions June 30, 2023

Deferred inflow of resources

Buildings

     Second Story Office - 228 Main Street 4,023$           -$                  4,023$           -$                   

          Total deferred inflow of resources 4,023$           -$                  4,023$           -$                   

Business-type activities

Deferred inflow of resources

Buildings

     Booth-Kelly Center - suite 170 1,464$           -$                  1,464$           -$                   

     Booth-Kelly Center - suite 112 & 127 10,952           -                    10,952           -                     

     Booth-Kelly Center - suite 115 5,389             -                    5,389             -                     

     Booth-Kelly Center - suite 110 6,384             -                    6,384             -                     

     Booth-Kelly Center - suite 153 & 155 14,826           -                    14,826           -                     

     Booth-Kelly Center - suite 140 52,347           -                    33,061           19,286            

     Booth-Kelly Center - suite 150 -                    60,002           10,000           50,002            

          Total building deferred inflow of resources 91,362           60,002           82,076           69,288            

Land

     Kelly Butte ATT cell tower 49,171           -                    20,703           28,468            

          Total deferred inflow of resources 140,533$       60,002$         102,779$        97,756$          

89 Attachment 1 Page 89 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE F – CAPITAL ASSETS 

 

Governmental activities: Beginning Ending

Balance Increases Decreases Balance

Capital assets, not being depreciated or amortized:

  Land 84,411,069$         5,718,159$           (59,783)$               90,069,445$         

  Work in progress 6,027,758             1,739,425             (6,730,448)            1,036,735             

  Total capital assets, not being depreciated or amortized 90,438,827           7,457,584             (6,790,231)            91,106,180           

Capital assets, being depreciated or amortized:

  Buildings 49,593,664           114,414                 (305,217)               49,402,861           

  Infrastructure 108,871,848         12,986,284           -                              121,858,132         

  Machinery & equipment 27,306,942           2,890,791             (708,877)               29,488,856           

  Leased machinery & equipment 36,942                   -                              -                              36,942                   

  Studies 1,350,346             -                              -                              1,350,346             

  Subscriptions - software -                              1,387,245             -                              1,387,245             

Total capital assets, being depreciated or amortized 187,159,742         17,378,734           (1,014,094)            203,524,382         

Less accumulated depreciation or amortization for:

  Buildings (35,126,204)          (1,692,120)            8,902                     (36,809,422)          

  Infrastructure (52,834,646)          (3,590,697)            -                              (56,425,343)          

  Machinery & equipment (19,546,750)          (1,665,843)            662,377                 (20,550,216)          

  Leased machinery & equipment (5,364)                    (7,345)                    -                              (12,709)                 

  Studies (960,396)               (99,979)                 -                              (1,060,375)            

  Subscriptions - software -                              (263,100)               -                              (263,100)               

Total depreciation or amortization (108,473,360)       (7,319,084)            671,279                 (115,121,165)       

Total capital assets, being depreciated or amortized, net 78,686,382           10,059,650           (342,815)               88,403,217           

Governmental activities capital assets, net 169,125,209$       17,517,234$         (7,133,046)$          179,509,397$       

Business-type activities: Beginning Ending

Balance Increases Decreases Balance

Capital assets, not being depreciated or amortized:

  Land 6,411,506$           -$                           -$                           6,411,506$           

  Work in progress 1,104,278             340,404                 (30,792)                 1,413,890             

  Total capital assets, not being depreciated or amortized 7,515,784             340,404                 (30,792)                 7,825,396             

Capital assets, being depreciated or amortized:

  Buildings & infrastructure 114,783,724         5,975,797             (1,078,357)            119,681,164         

  Land improvements 532,806                 14,615                   -                              547,421                 

  Equipment 1,762,429             93,341                   -                              1,855,770             

  Studies 2,775,243             -                              -                              2,775,243             

Total capital assets, being depreciated or amortized 119,854,202         6,083,753             (1,078,357)            124,859,598         

Less accumulated depreciation for:

  Land improvements (517,465)               (3,144)                    -                              (520,609)               

  Buildings & infrastructure (49,079,347)          (3,474,289)            531,105                 (52,022,531)          

  Equipment (1,750,342)            (6,500)                    -                              (1,756,842)            

  Studies (1,800,988)            (159,087)               -                              (1,960,075)            

Total depreciation or amortization (53,148,142)          (3,643,020)            531,105                 (56,260,057)          

Total capital assets, being depreciated or amortized, net 66,706,060           2,440,733             (547,252)               68,599,541           

Business-type activities capital assets, net 74,221,844$         2,781,137$           (578,044)$             76,424,937$         

90 Attachment 1 Page 90 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE F – CAPITAL ASSETS – Continued 
 
 
Depreciation and amortization expense was charged to functions of the City as follows: 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Governmental activities:

  General government 429,917$              

  Fire and life safety 606,713                 

  Police 1,534,660             

  Library 63,165                   

  Development and public works 4,629,386             

  Unallocated 55,244                   

Total depreciation and amortization expense - governmental activities 7,319,084$           

Business activities:

  Sanitary sewer 2,931,854$           

  Storm drainage 648,025                 

  Booth-Kelly 59,253                   

  Ambulance 3,889                     

Total depreciation and amortization expense - business-type activities 3,643,021$           

91 Attachment 1 Page 91 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE G – LEASES AND SUBSCRIIPTIONS 
 
1. Leases 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2023, the financial statements include the previous adoption of GASB Statement No. 87, 
Leases. This statement establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the principle that leases are financings 
of the right to use an underlying asset. Under this Statement, a lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an 
intangible right-to-use lease asset. For additional information, refer to the disclosures below: 
 
In November, 2021, The City entered into a 60 month lease as Lessee for the use of Ricoh Printers - Police 
Department. An initial lease liability was recorded in the amount of $29,126. As of June 30, 2023, the value of the 
lease liability is $19,762.  The City is required to make monthly fixed payments of $492. The lease has an interest 
rate of 1.1770%. The Equipment estimated useful life was 60 months as of the contract commencement. The value 
of the right to use asset is $29,126 with accumulated amortization of $9,523 included with Equipment on the Lease 
Class activities table found below.  
 
In July, 2021, The City entered into a 58 month lease as Lessee for the use of Konica Minolta Copier/Printer/Scanner 
- CMO. An initial lease liability was recorded in the amount of $7,816.  As of June 30, 2023, the value of the lease 
liability is $4,682. The City is required to make monthly fixed payments of $136. The lease has an interest rate of 
1.0590%. The Equipment estimated useful life was 60 months as of the contract commencement. The value of the 
right to use asset is $7,816 with accumulated amortization of $3,186 included with Equipment on the Lease Class 
activities table found below.  
 
Lease activity for the year ended June 30, 2023, was as follows: 
 

 
 
 

Governmental activities Balance as of Balance as of

July 1, 2022 Additions Reductions June 30, 2023

Lease assets

Equipment

     Ricoh printers 29,126$         -$                  -$                  29,126$          

     Konica Minolta copier/printer/scanner 7,816             -                    -                    7,816              

          Total lease assets 36,942           -                    -                    36,942            

Lease accumulated amortization

Equipment

     Ricoh printers 3,771             5,752             -                    9,523              

     Konica Minolta copier/printer/scanner 1,593             1,593             -                    3,186              

          Total lease accumulated amortization 5,364             7,345             -                    12,709            

          Total governmental lease assets, net 31,578$         (7,345)$          -$                  24,233$          

92 Attachment 1 Page 92 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE G – LEASES AND SUBSCRIPTIONS – Continued 
 

 
 
Amortization expense is charged to general governmental activities.  
 
Principal and interest expected to maturity: 
 

 
 
2. Subscriptions 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2023, the financial statements include the adoption of GASB Statement No. 96, 
Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements. The primary objective of this statement is to enhance the 
relevance and consistency of information about governments' subscription activities. This statement establishes a 
single model for subscription accounting based on the principle that subscriptions are financings of the right to use 
an underlying asset. Under this Statement, an organization is required to recognize a subscription liability and an 
intangible right-to-use subscription asset. For additional information, refer to the disclosures below: 
 
In September 2022, the City entered into a 72 month subscription for the use of VLA Enterprise Vision Online. An 
initial subscription liability was recorded in the amount of $776,027. As of June 30, 2023, the value of the subscription 
liability is $661,935.  The City is required to make annual fixed payments of $136,911.  The subscription has an 
interest rate of 2.1840%.  The value of the right to use asset as of June 30, 2023 is $776,027 with accumulated 
amortization of $107,781 and is included with Software on the Subscription Class activities table found below. The 
City has 1 extension option for 36 months. 
 
In May 2023, the City entered into a 36 month subscription for the use of Cisco Meraki Enterprise License. An initial 
subscription liability was recorded in the amount of $6,104. As of June 30, 2023, the value of the subscription liability 
is  $5,748. The City is required to make annual  fixed payments of $2,134. The subscription  has an interest  rate of 

Governmental activities Balance as of Balance as of

July 1, 2022 Additions Reductions June 30, 2023

Lease liability

Equipment

     Ricoh printers 25,397$         -$                  5,635$           19,762$          

     Konica Minolta copier/printer/scanner 6,255             -                    1,573             4,682              

          Total governmental lease liability 31,652$         -$                  7,208$           24,444$          

Principal and interest expected to maturity

Fiscal Year Principal Payments Interest Payments Total Payments

2024 7,633$                      256$                        7,889$                  

2025 7,722                        167                         7,889                    

2026 7,675                        78                           7,753                    

2027 1,414                        8                             1,422                    

24,444$                    509$                        24,953$                 

Governmental Activities

93 Attachment 1 Page 93 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE G – LEASES AND SUBSCRIPTIONS – Continued 
 
2.6560%. The value of the right to use asset as of June 30, 2023 is $6,104 with accumulated amortization of $339 
and is included with Software on the Subscription Class activities table found below. 
 
In January 2023, the City entered into a 36 month subscription for the use of DigEplan SaaS. An initial subscription 
liability was recorded in the amount of $41,821. As of June 30, 2023, the value of the subscription liability is $34,783. 
The City is required to make annual graduated payments averaging $14,503. The subscription has an interest rate of 
2.6560%. The value of the right to use asset as of June 30, 2023 of $43,472 with accumulated amortization of $7,245 
and is included with Software on the Subscription Class activities table found below. 
 
In July 2022, the City entered into a 44 month subscription for the use of Incode - Court Case Management Suite. An 
initial subscription liability was recorded in the amount of $189,429. As of June 30, 2023, the value of the subscription 
liability is $126,755. The City is required to make annual fixed payments of $65,548. The subscription has an interest 
rate of 2.2750%. The value of the right to use asset as of June 30, 2023 of $189,429 with accumulated amortization 
of $51,663 and is included with Software on the Subscription Class activities table found below. 
 
In July 2022, the City entered into a 66 month subscription for the use of Blue Cloud. An initial subscription liability 
was recorded in the amount of $274,963.  As of June 30, 2023, the value of the subscription liability is $230,445. The 
City is required to make annual fixed payments of $49,631 ($44,518 for FY23 only). The subscription has an interest 
rate of 2.5200%. The value of the right to use asset as of June 30, 2023 of $274,963 with accumulated amortization 
of $49,993 and is included with Software on the Subscription Class activities table found below. 
 
In July 2022, the City entered into a 32 month subscription for the use of KnowBe4 Anti-phishing Training 
Subscription. An initial subscription liability was recorded in the amount of $14,097. As of June 30, 2023, the value 
of the subscription liability is $8,775. The City is required to make annual fixed payments of $7,204. The subscription 
has an interest rate of 2.1840%. The value of the right to use asset as of June 30, 2023 of $14,097 with accumulated 
amortization of $5,137 and is included with Software on the Subscription Class activities table found below. 
 
In August 2022, the City entered into a 36 month subscription for the use of DebtBook Services. An initial 
subscription liability was recorded in the amount of $28,712. As of June 30, 2023, the value of the subscription 
liability is $21,629. The City is required to make graduated annual payments with $7,083 being the payment for the 
current fiscal year.  The subscription has an interest rate of 2.1840%. The value of the right to use asset as of June 
30, 2023 of $28,712 with accumulated amortization of $8,002 and is included with Software on the Subscription 
Class activities table found below. 
 
In July 2022, the City entered into a 19 month subscription for the use of RMIS Software License. An initial 
subscription liability was recorded in the amount of $54,441. As of June 30, 2023, the value of the subscription 
liability is $36,527. The City is required to make annual payments with $18,633 being the payment for the current 
fiscal year. The subscription has an interest rate of 2.0240%. The value of the right to use asset as of June 30, 2023 
of $54,441 with accumulated amortization of $32,939 and is included with Software on the Subscription Class 
activities table found below. 
 
 
 
 

94 Attachment 1 Page 94 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE G – LEASES AND SUBSCRIPTIONS – Continued 
 
 
Assets: 
 

 
 
 
Liabilities: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Governmental activities Balance as of Balance as of

July 1, 2022 Additions Reductions June 30, 2023

Subscription Assets

Software

     DebtBook Services -$                  28,712$         -$                  28,712$          

     Blue Cloud 274,963         -                    -                    274,963          

     Incode - Court Case Management Suite 189,429         -                    -                    189,429          

     DigEplan SaaS -                    43,472           -                    43,472            

     Cisco Meraki Enterprise License -                    6,104             -                    6,104              

     KnowBe4 Anit-phishing Subscription 14,097           -                    -                    14,097            

     VLA Enterprise Visions Online -                    776,027         -                    776,027          

     RMIS Software License 54,441           -                    -                    54,441            

          Total subscription assets 532,930$       854,315$        -$                  1,387,245$     

Governmental activities Balance as of Balance as of

July 1, 2022 Additions Reductions June 30, 2023

Subscription Liability

Software

     DebtBook Services -$                  28,712$         7,083$           21,629$          

     Blue Cloud 274,963         -                    44,518           230,445          

     Incode - Court Case Management Suite 189,429         -                    62,674           126,755          

     DigEplan SaaS -                    41,821           7,038             34,783            

     Cisco Meraki Enterprise License -                    6,104             356                5,748              

     KnowBe4 Anit-phishing Subscription 14,097           -                    5,322             8,775              

     VLA Enterprise Visions Online -                    776,027         114,092          661,935          

     RMIS Software License 54,441           -                    17,914           36,527            

          Total subscription liability 532,930$       852,664$        258,997$        1,126,597$     

95 Attachment 1 Page 95 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE G – LEASES AND SUBSCRIPTIONS – Continued 
 

 
 
NOTE H - RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, errors and omissions, loss or damage to assets, employee 
injury or illness, and natural disasters. 
 
The City maintains professional risk management and health and wellness programs.  Various loss-control techniques 
are used to minimize or prevent losses.  These techniques and programs include, but are not limited to contracting for 
risk and benefit broker services, contracting for legal services, operation of a wellness clinic, accident investigation 
and training, fleet management, verification of employee qualifications, and employee and supervisory training. 
 
The City has established an internal service fund to account for and finance its risks of loss.  The City maintains a 
self-insured health benefit program that provides medical, dental, and vision coverage to all regular full and part-time 
employees and their dependents as well as non-Medicare eligible retirees and their dependents.  The City has 
established a self-insurance reserve to pay medical, dental, and vision claims up to the self-insurance retention limit 
of $150,000 per covered individual. 
 
The following changes occurred in the health and dental claims liability in the current and previous fiscal years: 
 

 

Principal and interest requirements to maturity

Fiscal Year Principal Payments Interest Payments Principal Payments Interest Payments

2024 131,309$                   10,240$                   165,994$                   15,388$                   

2025 135,599                    7,095                       126,891                    11,821                     

2026 56,820                      3,848                       127,861                    9,049                       

2027 47,221                      2,410                       130,653                    6,257                       

2028 48,411                      1,220                       133,507                    3,403                       

2029 -                               -                              22,331                      488                         

419,360$                   24,813$                   707,237$                   46,406$                   

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities

Liability Current year

Fiscal balance at claims and Liability

year ended beginning changes in Claim balance at

June 30 of year estimates Payments end of year

2013 -$                  2,256,826$ (1,791,735)$   465,091$    

2014 465,091       4,894,984   (4,960,500)     399,575      

2015 399,575       6,007,389   (5,359,049)     1,047,915   

2016 1,047,915    5,343,218   (5,895,677)     495,456      

2017 495,456       5,771,608   (5,531,337)     735,727      

2018 735,727       6,293,791   (6,292,611)     736,907      

2019 736,907       6,417,464   (6,040,112)     1,114,259   

2020 1,114,259    5,599,898   (5,975,269)     738,888      

2021 738,888       5,699,761   (5,638,464)     800,185      

2022 800,185       5,551,941   (5,886,199)     465,927      

2023 465,927       5,151,040   (5,244,899)     372,068      

96 Attachment 1 Page 96 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE H - RISK MANAGEMENT – Continued 
 
The City of Springfield purchases third-party coverage for workers’ compensation insurance, but was previously self-
insured.  Under the previous self-insured model, the City estimates liability for incurred losses for reported and 
unreported claims for worker’s compensation, and this will continue until the previous claims liabilities are satisfied.  
Workers’ compensation estimates are primarily based on individual case estimates for reported claims and through 
historical data for unreported claims as determined by the City’s Risk Management Services and independent 
actuarial studies.  The estimated outstanding liability for the period ending June 30, 2023 is $229,819.  Liabilities are 
based on estimated ultimate cost of settling claims, including effects of inflation and other societal and economic 
factors. 

 
The City purchases third-party coverage or is part of the City County Insurance Services Insurance Pool for all lines 
of coverage.  These include but are not limited to personal injury, public officials’ errors and omissions, automobile, 
employer’s liability, workers’ compensation, and property. Settled claims have not exceeded insurance coverage in 
any of the past five fiscal years. 
 
 
NOTE I - LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
General Obligation Bonds 
 
The City issues general obligation bonds to provide funds for the acquisition and construction of major capital 
facilities.  General obligation bonds are backed by the full faith and credit of the City and are serviced by general 
property tax revenues.   
 
The original amount of the Series 2016 general obligation bonds was $14,690,000.   
 
The original amount of the Series 2020 general obligation bonds was $10,000,000.  This issue was a direct placement 
and is subject to a default interest rate that is 1.50% higher than the bond interest rate.  A default is defined as failure 
to pay principal or interest within ten days of the due date, a determination by the Internal Revenue Service that 
interest on the bond is includable in gross income due  to actions or  omissions of  the  Borrower or  failure by the  
City to  comply  with  any of its  obligations, or to perform any of its duties under the bond, which failure continues 
and is not cured for a period of more than 60 days after the Lender has made written demand on the City to cure such 
failure.  
 
On November 29, 2022 SEDA issued an Urban Renewal Bond in the amount of $5,000,000 to be accessed on a draw 
down basis.  The first draw of $250,000 occurred at closing with an additional draw on May 26, 2023 of $2,000,000 
leaving a balance left to draw of $2,750,000.  This bond was issued to finance land purchases for development of the 
Glenwood district.  The bond is backed with tax increment revenue pledged as collateral. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

97 Attachment 1 Page 97 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE I - LONG-TERM DEBT – Continued 
 
General obligation bonds payable transactions for the year ended June 30, 2023 are as follows: 
 

 
Revenue Bonds 
 
The City issues revenue bonds to finance major construction projects in business-type activities.  Revenue bonds are 
secured and serviced by system revenues.  The original amount of revenue bonds issued in prior years was 
$18,809,936.  
 
In the prior fiscal year, The City did an advance refunding of the 2010 issuance and replaced it with the 2020 series.  
The 2020 issue was a direct placement and is subject to a default interest rate that is 4.0% higher than the bond interest 
rate until such time that the default is cured.  A default is defined as failure to pay principal or interest when due, a 
failure to comply with any obligations or to perform any of its duties under the bonds, which continues and is not 
cured for a period of more than 60 days after the lender has made a written demand, or a material misrepresentation 
by the borrower to the lender. The Series 2010 Sewer System Revenue bonds were retired.1111 
 
The City has committed to establish utility user charges sufficient to pay principal and interest when due.  If user 
charges are not sufficient, the City is required by covenant to raise utility rates sufficient to pay maturing principal 
and interest.  Debt service on the revenue bonds is paid solely from user fees. 
 
Revenue obligation bonds payable transactions for the year ended June 30, 2023 are as follows: 
 

 

Final Effective Outstanding Outstanding

Issue Maturity Interest July 1, Issued Retired June 30, Due Within

Date Date Rate 2022 During year During Year 2023 One Year

Series 2016 6/29/2016 2026 1.36% 6,930,000$    -$                     (1,695,000)$      5,235,000$     1,765,000$ 

Series 2019 8/6/2019 2024 1.80% 3,982,000      - (1,973,000)        2,009,000       2,009,000    

Series 2022 11/29/2022 2037 5.73% -                  2,250,000       (7,777)                2,242,223       108,733       

Unamortized premium 691,443          

Due in current year (3,882,733)      

Total general obligation long-term debt 6,294,933$     

Final Effective Outstanding Outstanding

Issue Maturity Interest July 1, Issued Retired June 30, Due Within

Date Date Rate 2022 During year During Year 2023 One Year

Series 2017 6/27/2017 2027 1.725% 7,075,000$    -$                     (1,425,000)$    5,650,000$     1,480,000$ 

Series 2020 11/10/2020 2031 1.200% 4,707,741      -                       (498,213)          4,209,528       506,164       

Unamortized premium 606,367          

Deferred on refunding (339,182)         

Due in current year (1,986,164)      

Total revenue bonds payable 8,140,549$     

98 Attachment 1 Page 98 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE I - LONG-TERM DEBT – Continued  
 
 
Maturities of bond principal and interest are as follows: 
 

 
 
 
The City issues debt backed solely by future fees received for certain services.  At June 30, 2023, future pledged 
revenues are as follows: 
 

 
 
 
The Springfield Economic Development Agency (SEDA) entered into two direct placement Notes Payable, one in 
2016 and one in 2018.  The Notes are not subject to any acceleration clauses and are not subject to finance related 
consequences due to events of default.  Both Notes are subject to covenants regarding continuing disclosure and 
prepayment fees.  The 2016 Note has a variable interest rate which will reset in October 2021 based on the 3 year 
FHLB Des Moines Fixed-Rate Advances symmetrical index, plus 1.40 basis points. Both notes also require that the 
SEDA maintain an unassigned fund balance of at least $125,000.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Year Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest

2023-24 3,882,733$           375,633$        1,986,164$     273,477$        5,868,897$     649,110$        

2024-25 1,944,963            261,049          2,050,866       208,175          3,995,829       469,224          

2025-26 1,761,551            181,262          2,119,820       140,421          3,881,371       321,683          

2026-27 128,516               108,697          1,547,947       69,994           1,676,463       178,691          

2027-28 135,880               101,333          530,166          22,676           666,046          124,009          

2028-33 805,505               380,559          1,624,565       29,360           2,430,070       409,919          

2033-37 827,075               121,776          -                    -                    827,075          121,776          

Total 9,486,223$           1,530,309$     9,859,528$     744,103$        19,345,751$    2,274,412$     

General Obligation Bonds Revenue Bonds Total

Approx %

Future pledged of future revenues Revenue, net of

Year end of revenue debt pledged to related expenses Debt payments 2023

Purpose Revenue Stream final payments outstanding gross revenues Y/E 6/30/2023 Y/E 6/30/2023 Gross Revenues

Revenue bonds:

Sewer System series 2017 Sewer system fees 2027 5,367,000$       10.2% 6,034,211$         * 1,708,000$        16,761,161$      

Revenue bonds:

Storm System series 2020 Sewer system fees 2031 4,156,024        3.3% 6,034,211           * 551,717             

Business-type activities 9,523,024$       2,259,717$        

* same revenue source pledged for two purposes

99 Attachment 1 Page 99 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE I - LONG-TERM DEBT – Continued  
 
Notes Payable 
 
At June 30, 2023 notes payable are as follows: 
 

 
Principal amounts due on these notes payable in each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows: 
 
 

 
The contract payable included in governmental activities represents an amount due to Sycan B Corporation for a land 
purchase, with a due date to be established by mutual agreement of both parties. 
 
The contract payable included in business-type activities represents an amount due to Peacehealth.  The City gave 
Peacehealth a credit against future System Development Charges in return for Peacehealth constructing infrastructure 
that exceeded capacity requirements at the time the Riverbend Hospital was built, in anticipation of future 
development’s demand for that infrastructure.  
 
Legal Debt Margin 
 
The City of Springfield is subject to a debt limit that is 3% of the real fair value of taxable property.  As of June 30, 
2023, that amount was $373,155,656.  As of June 30, 2023, the total outstanding debt applicable to the limit was 
$7,244,000 which is 1.94% of the total debt limit. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

     Bank of Cascades (SEDA), payable in monthly installments

     including interest at 2.34%, due 2025 366,642$      

     Bank of Cascades (SEDA), payable in monthly installments

     including interest at 4.15%, due 2025 852,665        

                    Total governmental activities 1,219,307$   

Governmental

Fiscal Year Activities

2024-25 691,380$         

2025-26 527,927$         

1,219,307$      

100 Attachment 1 Page 100 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE I - LONG-TERM DEBT – Continued 
 
Changes in Long-term Liabilities 
 
Long-term liability activity for the year ended June 30, 2023 was as follows: 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Beginning Ending Due Within

Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year

Governmental activities

General obligation bonds 10,912,000$         2,250,000$     (3,675,776)$   9,486,224$   3,882,733$ 

  Less deferred amounts

    for issuance premiums 921,923                 -                       (230,481)        691,442        -                    

Total bonds payable 11,833,923            2,250,000       (3,906,257)     10,177,666   3,882,733   

Notes payable 1,887,480              -                       (668,173)        1,219,307     691,381       

Contracts payable 210,000                 -                       -                       210,000        -                    

Leases 31,652                   -                       (7,208)             24,444           24,444         

Subscription liability -                              1,126,597       -                       1,126,597     297,303       

Accrued claims liability 336,000                 -                       (106,181)        229,819        -                    

Compensated absences 4,915,309              3,612,845       (3,335,412)     5,192,742     3,438,481   

OPEB liability - City Plan 5,910,208              714,336          -                       6,624,544     -                    

Net pension liability 35,745,137            3,729,712       -                       39,474,849   -                    

  Governmental activity

    long-term liabilities 62,648,892$         11,433,490$  (8,023,231)$   64,279,968$ 8,334,342$ 

Business-type activities:

Bonds payable:

  Revenue bonds 11,782,741$         -$                     (1,923,213)$   9,859,528$   1,986,164$ 

  Less deferred amounts

    for issuance premiums 758,271                 -                       (151,904)        606,367        -                    

Total bonds payable 12,541,012            -                       (2,075,117)     10,465,895   1,986,164   

Notes and contracts payable 476,986                 -                       (4,863)             472,123        -                    

Compensated absences 946,710                 506,816          (521,649)        931,877        500,232       

OPEB liability - City Plan 1,418,084              227,123          -                       1,645,207     -                    

Net pension liability 8,307,117              1,960,661       -                       10,267,778   -                    

  Business-type activities

    long-term liabilities 23,689,909$         2,694,600$     (2,601,629)$   23,782,880$ 2,486,396$ 

101 Attachment 1 Page 101 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE J – RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES WITHIN THE REPORTING ENTITY 
 
Interfund Payables & Receivables 
 

 
 
The balances shown above are for services rendered and are generally paid within 30 days. 
 
In an effort to encourage development within the two urban renewal districts, the Springfield Economic Development 
Agency (SEDA) implemented a program to pay the system development fees on any new commercial or industrial 
development within the boundaries of the two districts.  Additionally, the City has agreed to defer payment from 
SEDA up to the date the Agency sunsets.  That date is not defined and is dependent on the Agency accomplishing its 
stated goals.  The earliest it would reasonably sunset is late 2024.  Being a noncash transaction and due to the 
uncertainty and timing of the payments, authoritative accounting standards indicate that no transaction would need 
to be recorded (GASB statement No. 34, paragraph 112a(1)).  However, due to the size of these deferred payments 
and impact they would have on affected funds, the City has chosen to recognize a receivable and deferred revenue in 
the governmental funds statements and a receivable and revenue in the government-wide and proprietary fund 
statements.  For the offsetting liability, a corresponding expense and liability has been recognized in the government-
wide statements, however, no expenditure or corresponding liability has been recognized in the governmental funds 
statements.  The details of theses deferred fees are as follows: 
 

 

Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount

Sewer Internal service funds 95,599$      

Storm Drainage Internal service funds 130,749      

Booth-Kelly Internal service funds 19,543        

Ambulance Internal service funds 199,491      

Total due to/from other funds (different fund types) 445,382$    

Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount

Sewer SEDA Glenwood 498,056$    

Sewer SEDA Downtown 185,424      

Storm Drainage SEDA Glenwood 48,219        

Storm Drainage SEDA Downtown 322            

Total Advance to/from other funds (different fund types) 732,021$    

Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount

Street Capital SEDA Glenwood 687,566$    

Street Capital SEDA Downtown 348,978      

Internal Service Funds SEDA Glenwood 67,641        

Internal Service Funds SEDA Downtown 26,736        

General Fund SEDA Glenwood 1,233          

Building Code SEDA Glenwood 26              

Total due to/from other funds (similar fund types) 1,132,180$ 

102 Attachment 1 Page 102 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE J – RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES WITHIN THE REPORTING ENTITY – Continued 
 
 
Interfund Transfers 

 
 
Transfers are routinely made for the following purposes: 

 
 To move unrestricted revenues collected in the General Fund to finance various programs and activities 

accounted for in other funds in accordance with budgetary authorizations. 
 To move unrestricted revenues collected in other funds to the General Fund to finance government programs. 
 To move revenues appropriated for debt service from the funds collecting the receipts to the debt service 

fund as debt service payments become due. 
 To move revenues from the fund the statute or budget requires to collect them in to the fund the statute or 

budget requires to expend them. 
 
 
NOTE K – REBATABLE ARBITRAGE 
 
The City has two general obligation bonds payable.  The Series 2016 bond, originally issued for $14,690,000, has no 
arbitrage liability as of June 30, 2023.   
 
The Series 2019 bond, originally issued for $10,000,000, has a contingent arbitrage liability of $14,144 as of June 
30, 2023.  Arbitrage reporting on this bond is not due until 2024, by which time there may or may not be a liability. 
 
The City has two revenue bonds payable.  The Sewer Series 2017 bond, originally issued for $13,610,000 and the 
Series 2020 Sewer Refunding bond, originally issued for $5,199,936 have no arbitrage liability as of June 30, 2023.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Nonmajor Total

Street Special Governmental Internal Transfers

Fund description General Capital Revenue Funds Service Ambulance Out

General -$                401,339$    1,000$        527,312$    -$                 325,066$    1,254,717$ 

Special Revenue -                  -                  -                  -                  7,419           -                  7,419          

Nonmajor Governmental 753,793      150,000      -                  -                  -                   -                  903,793      

Nonmajor Proprietary 84,237        -                  -                  -                  -                   -                  84,237        

Internal Service Funds 23,575        -                  36,500        -                  5,534           -                  65,609        

Total Transfers In 861,605$    551,339$    37,500$      527,312$    12,953$       325,066$    2,315,775$ 

103 Attachment 1 Page 103 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE L – CITY DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN 
 
Plan Description – The City sponsors a pension plan for Springfield Police Association employees hired before 
April 1, 1996 (City of Springfield, Oregon Retirement Plan – CRP).  CRP is a governmental single-employer plan 
maintained and operated by the City of Springfield.  The plan is closed to new entrants and  all participants are fully  
vested.  The CRP covers full-time regular employees covered by the Springfield Police Association, Fire 
management, and  all Police management  employees hired before April 1, 1996, and all disability retirees formerly  
in the Money Purchase Pension Plan.  As of June 30, 2023, there were 12 participants in the plan, of which 5 are 
active employees and 7 are inactive employees or their beneficiaries.  The CRP is subject to Oregon PERS “equal to 
or better than” statutory requirements.  PERS completed its latest “equal to or better than” testing in July of 2005.  
The most recent testing prior to July 2005 was in 1995.  The plan does not issue a separate stand-alone report. 
 
City Retirement Plan Benefits 
 
Pension Benefits – The City will contribute, as an employer’s contribution to an individual’s retirement account, a 
percentage of pay for all annual covered salary.  The current percentage is 12.8% for sworn public safety employees, 
10% for police dispatchers and 7% for other union employees.  In addition, the City contributes 6% of salaries as 
employee contributions.  The annual interest earnings to be credited to plan participants’ accounts remains at a 
guarantee of 9% for emergency service employees while employed with the City, but includes additional provisions 
on the withdrawal of individual retirement funds once employment is terminated.  Police management employees 
accepted the same terms and conditions for their participation in the CRP. 
 
Distribution of Benefits – Upon severance of employment of a participant other than by death, a participant’s vested 
account balances shall be distributed to the participant as soon as administratively feasible.  Participants who retired 
prior to June 30, 2006 could elect to leave their account balances in the plan up until the age of 70-1/2 with a 9% 
interest guarantee.  Participants that terminate employment with the City subsequent to June 30, 2006 and have 
reached the age of 50 may elect to leave their account balances in the plan up until the age of 70-1/2 with a 9% interest 
guarantee the 1st year, 6% for years 2 and 3, 4% for years 4 and 5, and 0% thereafter.  For participants who terminate 
employment with the City after June 30, 2006 and before the age of 50, the interest guarantee is 9% for the 1st year 
and 0% thereafter.  All distributions must be lump sum. 
 
Death Benefits – Upon the death of a participant, the participant’s vested account balances shall be distributed to the 
participant’s beneficiary no later than one year after the date of death. 
 
Disability Benefits – A participant who becomes permanently disabled while employed by the City so that the 
participant is unable to perform all essential duties will continue to earn credits for service up through the earlier of 
age 60, death, or the date the participant is no longer disabled.  Participant accounts will be distributed at the earlier 
of age 65 or death. 
 
Contributions – The CRP is funded through a tax-exempt trust that holds assets and funds benefits for the plan. The 
assets of the CRP are held for the exclusive benefit of participants and beneficiaries under the terms of the plan and 
cannot be used to pay any benefits or expenses of any other retirement plan or trust.  The benefits are funded by 
employer contributions and earnings from plan investments.  The City’s Council adopted a formal CRP Funding 
Policy in 2015 that established  a policy to systematically  fund the  liabilities of the plan on a sound actuarial basis, 
 
 

104 Attachment 1 Page 104 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE L – CITY DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN – Continued  
 
 
taking into account the closed status of the plan.  The funding policy may be amended by the City Council at any 
time for any reason. 
 
The City completes an actuarial study of the CRP as of June 30 every two years.  In part, because of the closed 
membership nature of the plan, the City has implemented a new funding strategy for the CRP.  The City now 
contributes annually to the plan a consistent percentage for all covered salary across all employee groups and an 
annual single lump sum in each year of the bi-annual cycle. The percentage contribution for all covered salary was 
28.3% through June 30, 2023.  The annual lump sum contribution for the current bi-annual period is $1,352,000.  
 
Employer contributions for the year ended June 30, 2023 were $1,567,966.  The General Fund is the governmental 
fund that will be used to liquidate the net CRP pension liability. 
 
Pension Assets, Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to Pensions – At June 30, 2023, the City reported a net pension liability of $49,742,627 between 
the City Retirement Plan and PERS.  The net pension liability and fiduciary net position for the City Retirement Plan 
were measured as of June 30, 2023.  The total pension liability was determined using actuarial valuation results as of 
July 1, 2022 rolled forward to June 30, 2023.  The following table presents the changes in the net pension liability 
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023: 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Changes in Net Pension Liability Total Pension

  Liability       

City Plan   

Plan Fiduciary

Net Position  

City Plan

Net Pension

  Liability        

City Plan

Net Pension 

Liability PERS 

(Note M) Total NPL

Balances as of June 30, 2022 24,879,893$     17,247,879$     7,632,014$       36,420,240$     44,052,254$     

Changes for the year:

PERS changes -                       -                       -                       9,505,395         9,505,395         

Service cost 178,979            -                       178,979            -                       178,979            

Interest on total pension liability 1,132,491         -                       1,132,491         -                       1,132,491         

Effect of economic/demographic (gains) or losses (1,813,512)       -                       (1,813,512)       (1,813,512)       

Benefit payments (4,818,111)       (4,818,111)       -                       -                       -                   

Administrative expenses -                       (79,241)            79,241              -                       79,241              

Net investment income -                       1,824,255         (1,824,255)       -                       (1,824,255)       

Employer contributions -                       1,567,966         (1,567,966)       -                       (1,567,966)       

Net changes (5,320,153)       (1,505,131)       (3,815,022)       9,505,395         5,690,373         

Balances as of June 30, 2023 19,559,740$     15,742,748$     3,816,992$       45,925,635$     49,742,627$     

105 Attachment 1 Page 105 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE L – CITY DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN – Continued 
 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2023, the City recognized pension expense of $4,509,652 between the City Retirement 
Plan and PERS, the details of which are presented in the following table: 
 

 
 

At June 30, 2023, the City reported deferred outflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources: 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Total

City PERS July 1, 2022 to

Retirement Plan (Note M) June 30, 2023

Pension expense

  Service Cost 178,979$          6,929,419$       7,108,398$      

  Interest on total pension liability 1,132,491         -                      1,132,491        

  Administrative expenses 79,241             -                      79,241            

  Expected investment return net of investment expenses (779,159)          -                      (779,159)         

  Net amortization of employer-specific deferred amounts from:

     Changes in proportionate share -                      (120,149)          (120,149)         

     Differences between employer contributions and proportionate

          share of system contributions -                      (1,715,871)       (1,715,871)      

  Recognition of Deferred (Inflows)/Outflows of Resources:

     Recognition of economic/demographic (gains) losses (1,084,023)       -                      (1,084,023)      

     Recognition of assumption changes or inputs 223,477           -                      223,477          

     Recognition of investment (gains) losses (334,753)          -                      (334,753)         

Pension Expense (583,747)$        5,093,399$       4,509,652$      

Deferred Inflows/Outflows of Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience (911,362)$              -$                          

Changes of assumptions or inputs -                           82,135                   

Net difference between projected and actual earnings (216,700)                -                           

  Total (1,128,062)$           82,135$                 

 Deferred Inflows of 

Resources 

 Deferred Outflows 

of Resources 

106 Attachment 1 Page 106 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE L – CITY DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN – Continued 
 
 
The $(1,045,927) net deferred inflows/outflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized as pension 
expense as follows: 

 
 

Actuarial Valuations – The total pension liability in the July 1, 2022 actuarial valuation rolled forward to 
June 30, 2023 was determined using the following actuarial assumptions: 
 

 
 

 
Discount Rate – The Plan’s fiduciary net position plus anticipated future contributions in adherence with the funding 
policy is projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive 
employees.  Therefore, the discount rate for calculating the total pension liability is equal to the long-term expected 
rate of return of 5.0%. 
 
Sensitivity of the City's proportionate share of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate – The 
following presents the City's proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 
5.0%, as well as what the City's proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a 
discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (4.0%) or 1-percentage-point higher (6.0%) than the current rate: 
 

Year Ending

June 30, Amount

2024 (1,107,655)$      

2025 (285,801)          

2026 556,549           

2027 (209,020)          

Total (1,045,927)$      

Actuarial Valuation Assumptions

Valuation date June 30, 2022 rolled forward to June 30, 2023.

Actuarial cost method Individual entry age normal, level percentage of base salary

Amortization method Fixed amortization period of 14 years starting July 1, 2022, 

with payments calculated in level dollar installments.

Asset valuation method Five-year smoothing of fair value investment gains and losses, 

with the resulting smoothed asset value within 10% of market 

value.

Actuarial assumptions:

Investment rate of return 5.00%

Projected salary increases 3.0% per year for wage inflation with merit increases

Administrative expenses $75,000 per year

Mortality None assumed

107 Attachment 1 Page 107 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE L – CITY DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN – Continued 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Long-Term Expected Rate of Return – To help select the long-term expected rate of return assumption, the plan’s 
actuary, Milliman Inc, reviewed the plan’s asset allocation as of the most recent July 1, 2022 valuation date.  The 
table below shows  Milliman’s assumptions for the general asset classes in which  the plan was  invested at that 
time.  Each asset class return assumption is based on a consistent set of underlying assumptions, and includes 
adjustment for the inflation assumption.  These assumptions are not based on historical returns, but instead are based 
on a forward-looking capital market economic model. 
 

 

 

Asset Class 

    

 

Allocation  

Compound Annual 

Return (20-Year 

Geometric) 

Cash 3.3%            2.65%  

Core Fixed Income 37.3%            3.89%  

Broad US Equities 7.7%            6.00%  

Large Cap US Equities 18.3%            5.90% 

Small Cap US Equities 18.7%            6.19%  

Developed Economy Foreign Equities 11.8%            7.00%  

Emerging Markets Equity 2.9% 7.75% 

Assumed Inflation – Mean             2.50%  

 
 
 
NOTE M – PERS DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN 
 
Plan Description – Qualifying employees of the city, consisting of police public safety personnel – covered by the 
Springfield Police Association (SPA) – and fire public safety personnel, hired on or after April 1, 1996, as well as all 
general service personnel beginning April 1, 2002,  are provided pensions through the Oregon Public Employees 
Retirement System (OPERS).  These pensions are part of a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit plan 
administered  and  managed  by  the  Public   Employees  Retirement  System  Board.    All  related  benefits  were  
 
 

Current 

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

(4.00%) (5.00%) (6.00%)

Total pension liability 20,078,724$          19,559,740$          19,077,770$          

Fiduciary net position 15,742,748            15,742,748            15,742,748            

Net pension liability 4,335,976$            3,816,992$            3,335,022$            

108 Attachment 1 Page 108 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE M – PERS DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN – Continued 
 
established by the legislature pursuant to ORS Chapters 238 and 238A. OPERS issues a publicly available Annual 
Comprehensive  Financial   Report and Actuarial Valuation that can be obtained at 
http://www.oregon.gov/pers/Pages/Financials/Actuarial-Financial-Information.aspx, or by calling (888) 320-7377, 
or by writing the Oregon Public Employees Retirement System at   PO  Box  23700,  Tigard,  Oregon  97281-3700. 
 
Tier One/Tier Two Plan Benefits 
 
Pension Benefits – This pension program (ORS Chapter 238A) is closed to new members hired on or after August 29, 
2003.  The PERS retirement allowance is payable monthly for life.  It may be selected from 13 retirement benefit 
options. These options include survivorship benefits and lump-sum refunds.  The basic benefit is based on years of 
service and final average salary.  A percentage (2% for police and fire employees, 1.67% for general service 
employees) is multiplied by the number of years of service and the final average salary.  
 
A member is considered vested and will be eligible at minimum retirement age for a service retirement allowance if 
he or she has had a contribution in each of five calendar years or has reached at least 50 years of age before ceasing 
employment with a participating employer (age 45 for  police and fire).  General Service  members  may retire after  
reaching age 55.  Police and fire members are eligible after reaching age 50.  Tier One general service member 
benefits are reduced if retirement occurs prior to age 58 with fewer than 30 years of service.  Police and fire member 
benefits are reduced if retirement occurs prior to age 55 with fewer than 25 years of service.  Tier Two members are 
eligible for full benefits at age 60. 
 
Death Benefits – Upon the death of a non-retired member, the beneficiary receives a lump-sum refund of the 
member’s account balance (accumulated contributions and interest).  In addition, the beneficiary will receive a lump-
sum payment from employer funds equal to the account balance, provided one or more of the following conditions 
are met:  
 

 the member was employed by a PERS employer at the time of death,  
 the member died within 120 days after termination of PERS-covered employment,  
 the member died as a result of injury sustained while employed in a PERS-covered job, or  
 the member was on an official leave of absence from a PERS-covered job at the time of death. 

 
Disability Benefits – A member with 10 or more years of creditable service who becomes disabled from other than 
duty-connected causes may receive a non-duty disability benefit.  A disability resulting from a job-incurred injury or 
illness qualifies a member (including PERS judge members) for disability benefits regardless of the length of PERS-
covered service. Upon qualifying for either a non-duty or duty disability, service time is computed to age 58 (55 for 
police and fire members) when determining the monthly benefit.  
 
Benefit Changes After Retirement – Members may choose to continue participation in a variable equities investment 
account after retiring and may experience annual benefit fluctuations due to changes in the fair value of equity 
investments.  Under ORS 238.360 monthly benefits may change annually through cost-of-living adjustments 
(COLA). Under current law, the COLA is capped at 2.0%. 
 
 
 

109 Attachment 1 Page 109 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE M – PERS DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN – Continued 
 
OPSRP Plan Benefits 
 
Pension Benefits – This Pension Program (ORS Chapter 238A) provides benefits to members hired on or after August 
29, 2003.  This portion of OPSRP provides a life pension funded by employer contributions.  Benefits are calculated 
with a formula for members who attain normal retirement age; for Police and Fire, age 60 or 53 with 25 years of 
retirement credit, 1.8% is multiplied by the number of years of service and the final average salary; for General 
Service, age 65 or 58 with 30 years of retirement credit, 1.5% is multiplied by the number of years of service and the 
final average salary.  
 
To be classified as a police and fire member, the individual must have been employed continuously as a police and 
fire member for at least five years immediately preceding retirement.  A member of the OPSRP Pension Program 
becomes vested on the earliest of the following dates: the date the member completes 600 hours of service in each of 
five calendar years, the date the member reaches normal retirement age, and, if the pension program is terminated, 
the date on which termination becomes effective. 
 
Death Benefits – Upon the death of a non-retired member, the spouse – or other person who is constitutionally 
required to be treated in the same manner as the spouse – receives, for life, 50% of the pension that would otherwise 
have been paid to the deceased member.  The surviving spouse, or other person may elect to delay payment of the 
death benefit, but payment must commence no later than December 31 of the calendar year in which the member 
would have reached 70 ½ years.  
 
Disability Benefits – A member who has accrued 10 or more years of retirement credits before the member becomes 
disabled, or a member who becomes disabled due to job-related injury, shall receive a disability benefit of 45% of 
the member’s salary determined by the last full month of employment before the disability occurred. 
 
Benefit Changes After Retirement – Under ORS 238A.210, post retirement monthly benefits will change annually 
through cost-of-living adjustments.  Under current law, the cap on the COLA in fiscal year 2018 and beyond will 
vary based on 1.25% on the first $60,000 of annual benefit and 0.15% on annual benefits above $60,000. 
 
Contributions – PERS funding policy provides for monthly employer contributions at actuarially determined rates. 
These contributions, expressed as a percentage of covered payroll, are intended to accumulate sufficient assets to pay 
benefits when due.  This funding policy applies to the PERS Defined Benefit Plan and Other Postemployment Benefit 
Plans. 
 
Employer contribution rates during the period were based on the December 31, 2019 actuarial valuation.  The City 
contribution rates in effect for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023 were 21.68% for Tier One/Tier Two covered 
members, 19.28% for OPSRP Pension Program Police and Fire Members, and 14.92% for OPSRP Pension Program 
General Service Members.  
 
Employer contributions for the year ended June 30, 2023 were $6,988,773.  The General Fund is the governmental 
fund that will be primarily used to liquidate the net PERS pension liability based on the high level of staffing that is 
funded from this fund. 
 
 

110 Attachment 1 Page 110 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE M – PERS DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN – Continued 
 
Pension Assets, Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to Pensions – At June 30, 2023, the City reported a liability of $45,925,635 for its proportionate 
share of the net pension liability.  The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2022, and the total pension 
liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2020 
rolled forward to June 30, 2022.  The City's proportion of the net pension liability was based on a projection of the 
City's long-term share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the projected contributions of all participating 
entities, actuarially determined.  At June 30, 2022, the City's proportion was 0.29993%, which was changed from 
0.30435% measured as of June 30, 2021. 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2023, the City recognized pension expense of $5,093,399.  At June 30, 2023, the City 
reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following 
sources: 
 

  

Deferred Outflows  of 
Resources  

Deferred Inflows of 
Resources 

Differences between expected and actual experience  $               2,229,319     $      (      286,401)  

Changes of assumptions  7,205,980    (        65,834)   

Net difference between projected and actual earnings of 
pension plan investments  -     (  8,210,615) 

Changes in proportion and differences between employer 
contributions and proportionate share of contributions  

                             
358,434   (  1,306,099) 

Differences between employer contributions and employer’s 
proportionate share of system contributions               -         (   5,963,507) 

Total (prior to post measurement date contributions)                9,793,733          ( 15,832,456) 

Contributions subsequent to the measurement date                6,988,773                           - 

Total Deferred Outflow/Inflow of Resources  $             16,782,506  $     ( 15,832,456) 

 
The $6,988,773 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from City contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended 
June 30, 2024. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 
 

 

Year Ending June 30, 

2024 (1,209,404)$    

2025 (2,401,905)     

2026 (4,712,581)     

2027 2,768,796       

2028 (483,628)        

Total (6,038,722)$    

111 Attachment 1 Page 111 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE M – PERS DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN – Continued 

 
Actuarial Valuations – The employer contribution rates effective July 1, 2021, through June 30, 2023, were set 
using the entry age normal actuarial cost method.  Under this cost method, each active member’s entry age present 
value of projected benefits is allocated over the member’s service from their date of entry until their assumed date of 
exit, taking into consideration expected future compensation increases. 
 
The total pension liability in the December 31, 2020 actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial 
assumptions:  
 

 
 
 
 

Actuarial Assumptions

Valuation Date December 31, 2020

Measurement Date June 30, 2022

Experience Study Report 2020, published July 20, 2021

Actuarial cost method Entry Age Normal

Actuarial assumptions:

  Inflation rate 2.40 percent

  Long-term expected rate of return 6.90 percent

  Discount rate 6.90 percent

  Projected salary increases 3.40 percent

  Cost of living adjustments (COLA) Blend of 2.00% COLA and graded COLA

(1.25%/0.15%) in accordance with Moro  decision:

Blend based on service.

Mortality Healthy retirees and beneficiaries:

Pub-2010 Healthy retiree, sex-distinct, generational 

with Unisex, Social Security Data Scale, with job category

adjustments and set-backs as described in the valuation.

Active members:

Pub-2010 Employee, sex-distinct, generational with 

Unisex, Social Security Data Scale, with job category

adjustments and set-backs as described in the valuation.

Disabled Retirees:

Pub-2010 Disabled retirees, sex-distinct, generational

with Unisex, Social Security Data Scale, with job cagegory

adjustments and set-backs as described in the valuation.

112 Attachment 1 Page 112 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE M – PERS DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN – Continued 
 
The actuarial valuation calculations are based on the benefit provided under the terms of the plan in effect at the time 
of each valuation and on the pattern of sharing of costs between the employer and plan members.  Experience studies 
are performed as of December 31 of even numbered years.  The methods and assumptions shown above are based on 
the 2022 Experience Study which reviewed experience for the four-year period ending on December 31, 2022. 
 
Discount Rate – The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.90% for the Defined Benefit 
Pension Plan, same as the prior year.  The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that 
contributions from plan members and those of the contributing employers are made at the contractually required rates, 
as actuarially determined.  Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be 
available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members.  Therefore, the long-term expected 
rate of return on pension plan investments for the Defined Benefit Pension Plan was applied to all periods of projected 
benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 
 
Depletion Date Projection – GASB Statement No. 68 generally requires that a blended discount rate be used to 
measure the Total Pension Liability (the Actuarial Accrued Liability calculated using the Individual Entry Age 
Normal Cost Method).  The long-term expected return on plan investments may be used to discount liabilities to the 
extent that the plan’s Fiduciary Net Position (fair market value of assets) is projected to cover benefit payments and 
administrative expenses.  A 20-year high quality (AA/Aa or higher) municipal bond rate must be used for periods 
where the Fiduciary Net Position is not projected to cover benefit payments and administrative expenses. 
 
Sensitivity of the City's proportionate share of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate – The 
following presents the City's proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) calculated using the discount rate 
of 6.90%, as well as what the City's proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) would be if it were 
calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (5.90%) or 1-percentage-point higher (7.90%) than 
the current rate: 
 
 

 
 1 % Decrease 

(5.90%) 

 Current 
Discount Rate 

(6.90%) 

 
1 % Increase 

(7.90%) 
City’s proportionate share of 
the net pension liability (asset)  

 
$81,445,140 

  
$45,925,635 

  
$16,197,448 

 
 
Long-Term Expected Rate of Return – To develop an analytical basis for the selection of the long-term expected 
rate of return assumption, in June 2021 the PERS Board reviewed long-term assumptions developed by both 
Milliman’s capital market assumptions team and the Oregon Investment Council’s (OIC) investment advisors.  The 
following table shows Milliman’s assumptions for each of the asset classes in which the plan was invested at that 
time based on the OIC long-term target asset allocation.  The OIC’s description of each asset class was used to map 
the target allocation to the asset classes shown below.  Each asset class assumption is based on a consistent set of  
 
 
 
 

113 Attachment 1 Page 113 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE M – PERS DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN – Continued 
 
underlying assumptions, and includes adjustment for the inflation assumption.  These assumptions are not based on 
historical returns, but instead are based on a forward-looking capital market economic model.  
 
 

 
 
Pension plan fiduciary net position – Detailed information about the pension plan's fiduciary net position is 
available in the separately issued OPERS financial report.  The effect of OPERS on the City’s net position has been 
determined on the same basis used by OPERS. 
 
 
NOTE N – PERS DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PENSION PLAN 
 
Plan Description – OPSRP Individual Account Program (IAP) is a defined contribution pension plan for 
Tier One/Tier Two and OPSRP plan members.  All benefits of the system are established by the legislature pursuant 
to ORS Chapters 238 and 238A. 
 
Plan Benefits – An IAP member becomes vested on the date the employee account is established or on the date the 
rollover account was established. If the employer makes optional employer contributions for a member, the member 
becomes vested on the earliest of  the following dates:  the date the member completes 600  hours of service in each  
of five calendar years, the date the member reaches normal retirement age, the date the IAP is terminated, the date 
the active member becomes disabled, or the date the active member dies. 
 
Upon retirement, a member of the OPSRP IAP may receive the amounts in his or her employee account, rollover 
account, and vested employer account as a lump-sum payment or in equal installments over a 5-, 10-, 15-, or 20-year 
period or anticipated life span option.  Each distribution option has a $200 minimum distribution limit. 
 

20-Year

Annuallized

(Geometric)

Asset Class Target Mean

Global Equity 30.62          % 5.85             %

Private Equity 25.50          7.71             

Core Fixed Income 23.75          2.73             

Real Estate 12.25          5.66             

Master Limited Partnerships 0.75            5.71             

Infrastructure 1.50            6.26             

Commodities 0.63            3.10             

Hedge Fund of Funds - Multistrategy 1.25            5.11             

Hedge Fund Equity - Hedge 0.63            5.31             

Hedge Fund - Macro 5.62            5.06             

US Cash (2.50)           1.76             

Assumed Inflation - Mean 2.40             %

114 Attachment 1 Page 114 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE N – PERS DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PENSION PLAN – Continued 
 
 
Death Benefits – Upon the death of a non-retired member, the beneficiary receives in a lump sum the member’s 
account balance, rollover account balance, and vested employer optional contribution account balance.  If a retired 
member dies before the installment payments are completed, the beneficiary may receive the remaining installment 
payments or choose a lump-sum payment. 
 
Recordkeeping – PERS contracts with VOYA Financial to maintain IAP participant records. 
 
Contributions – State statute requires that covered employees contribute 6% of their covered salary to the IAP plan 
effective January 1, 2004.  Statute allows that the employer may elect to pay any or all of the employee’s required 
IAP contributions. 
 
The City has elected to pay all of the employees’ required IAP contribution, except for employees who are members 
of the City’s International Association of Fire Fighters (IAFF) union, which elected to pay the required employee 
contribution. 
 
For the fiscal year ending June 30, 2023, the City’s contribution to the IAP plan was $1,636,166. 
 
 
NOTE O – OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 
 
 
The other postemployment benefits (OPEB) for the City combines two separate plans.  The City provides an implicit 
rate subsidy for retiree medical insurance premiums, and a contribution to the State of Oregon’s PERS cost-sharing 
multiple-employer defined health insurance benefit plan.   
 
Financial Statement Presentation 
 
The City’s two OPEB plans are presented in the aggregate on the Statement of Net Position.  The amounts on the 
financial statements relate to the plans as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

115 Attachment 1 Page 115 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE O – OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS – Continued 
 

 
 

IMPLICIT RATE SUBSIDY PLAN 
 
Plan Description 
 
Plan Description - The City administers a single-employer defined benefit healthcare plan as established through 
negotiations between the City and collective bargaining units.  The healthcare plan provides post-retirement medical, 
dental, vision and wellness center only coverage for eligible retirees, spouses, and dependents.  The following groups 
are eligible:  Non-Medicare eligible regular retirees, disability retirees, Non-Medicare eligible early retirees eligible 
for pension under a City Plan or OPERS with at least 2 years of benefited service at the City, and Non-Medicare 
eligible early retirees whose age plus years of service equal 70 or greater at their time of retirement.  At June 30, 
2023, 51 qualified retirees are eligible to receive this benefit.  The retiree is responsible for the full premium as 
established by the City for all participants of the plan less a subsidy of $115 per month provided by the City.  The 
City treats this subsidy as a single-employer, defined benefit OPEB plan administered by the City only to satisfy the 
accounting and financial reporting requirements of GASB 75, and a separate financial report is not issued.  The total 
cost of providing this subsidy for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023 was $50,277. 
            
The City also provides disability retirement contributions for employees who cease working because of a permanent 
disability.  The following groups are eligible:  employees, who at the time of disability retirement were covered under 
the City Retirement Plan, and employees, who at the time of disability retirement were covered under the Money 
Purchase Pension Plan.  The authority for this coverage is in the pension plan documents.  All of the disability retirees 
are members of the City Retirement Plan. 
 

Implicit Rate RHIA Total

Subsidy Plan Cost Sharing Plan Reported

OPEB Liability (8,269,751)$         -$                        (8,269,751)$         

OPEB Asset -                          1,053,827            1,053,827            

Deferred Outflows of Resources

  Difference in expected and actual experience 852,414               -                          852,414               

  Changes of assumptions 169,761               8,251                   178,012               

  Changes in proportionate share -                          61,634                 61,634                 

  Contributions after the measurement date 501,230               7,291                   508,521               

Deferred Inflows of Resources

  Difference in expected and actual experience -                          (28,558)                (28,558)                

  Changes of assumptions (1,320,151)           (35,127)                (1,355,278)           

  Net difference between projected and actual

     earnings on investments (80,368)                (80,368)                

  Change in proportionate share -                          (71,459)                (71,459)                

OPEB Expense 459,587               (169,296)              290,291               

116 Attachment 1 Page 116 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE O – OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS – Continued 
 
For these employees, the amount of the pension contribution is either 7%, 8%, or 9% of the employee’s last monthly 
salary, depending on what the employee’s contribution rate was before retirement.  At June 30, 2023, there were no 
employees receiving this benefit. 
 
Total OPEB Liability, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources 
Related to OPEB - The City’s total OPEB liability of $8,269,752 was measured as of June 30, 2022, and was 
determined by an actuarial valuation as of July 1, 2022 (plan details outlined in the next page). 
 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, the City recognized OPEB expense from this plan of $459,587.  At June 30, 
2023, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to this OPEB plan 
from the following sources: 
 

 
 
Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB of $501,230 resulting from the City’s contributions subsequent to 
the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the total OPEB liability in the year ending June 30, 2023. 
Other amounts reported as deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as 
follows: 
 

 
 

Actuarial Assumptions and Other Inputs - The total OPEB liability in the July 1, 2022 valuation was determined 
using the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods included in the measurement, unless 
otherwise specified: 

Net Deferred

Deferred Inflows Deferred Outflows (Inflows)/Outflows

of Resources of Resources of Resources

Difference in expected and actual experience -$                        852,414$             852,414$             

Changes of assumptions or inputs (1,320,151)           169,761               (1,150,390)           

Contributions made subsequent to measurement date -                          501,230               501,230               

(1,320,151)$         1,523,405$          203,254$             

Year Ended Annual

June 30: Recognition

2024 (129,035)$    

2025 (129,035)      

2026 (123,465)      

2027 (73,317)        

2028 (5,669)          

Thereafter 162,545       

                  Total (297,976)$    

117 Attachment 1 Page 117 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE O – OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS – Continued 
 

 
 
 

Changes in the Total OPEB Liability (Implicit Rate Subsidy Plan) 
 

 
 
Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability - The following presents the total OPEB liability of the Plan, calculated 
using the discount rate of 3.54%, as well as what the Plan’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using 
a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (2.54%) or 1 percentage point higher (4.54%) than the current rate. A 
similar sensitivity analysis is then presented for changes in the healthcare cost trend assumption. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Valuation date July 1, 2022

Measurement Date June 30, 2022

Discount rate 3.54%

Inflation 2.40%

Salary Increases 3.40%

Withdrawal, retirement, and mortality rates December 31, 2021 Oregon PERS valuation and 

July 1, 2022 Springfield Retirement Plan valuation

Election and Lapse Rates 60% of members eligible for the explicit

employer-paid benefit.  35% of other eligible

employees.  60% of male members and 35%

of female members will elect spouse coverage.

3% annual lapse rate

Actuarial cost method Entry Age Normal

Balance as of June 30, 2022 7,328,292$          

Changes for the year:

Service cost 424,442               

Interest on total OPEB liability 164,180               

Effect of economic/demographic gains or losses 636,440               

Effect of assumptions changes or inputs 20,044                 

Benefit payments (303,647)              

Balance as of June 30, 2023 8,269,751$          

118 Attachment 1 Page 118 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE O – OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS – Continued 
 

 
 
 

PERS RETIREMENT HEALTH INSURANCE ACCOUNT (RHIA) 
 
Plan Description - The City contributes to the Oregon Public Employees Retirement System’ (PERS) Retiree Health 
Insurance Account (RHIA), a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit post-employment healthcare plan 
administered by the Public Employees Retirement Board (PERB).  The authority to establish and amend the benefit 
provisions of the plan rests with the Oregon Legislature.  The plan, which was established under ORS 238.420, 
provides a payment of up to $60 per month towards the costs of health insurance for eligible PERS retirees.  RHIA 
post-employment benefits are set by state statue.  The annual comprehensive financial report of the funds 
administered by the PERB may be obtained by writing to Oregon Public Employees Retirement System 
at PO Box 23700, Tigard, Oregon 97281-3700, by calling (888) 320-7377, or by accessing the PERS website at 
http://www.oregon.gov/PERS/. 
 
Funding Policy and contributions - Participating employers are contractually required to contribute at a rate 
assessed bi-annually by the PERB, currently 0.05% of annual covered payroll for PERS Plan members, and 0.0% for 
OPSRP Plan members.  The PERB sets the employer contribution rate based on an amount actuarially determined in 
accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement No. 75.  The level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, 
is projected to cover the normal cost each year and amortize any actuarial liabilities of the plan over a period not to 
exceed five years.  The City’s total for the year ended June 30, 2023 contributions was $7,291. 
 
OPEB Liabilities, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflow of Resources 
Related to OPEB - For the employer cost-sharing plan, the OPEB liability was based on the employer’s share of 
covered payroll in the OPEB plan relative to the covered payroll of all participating OPEB employers.  At June 30, 
2023, the City’s proportion was 0.2965%, which was a decrease from its proportion of 0.3370% at the prior 
measurement date. 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2023, the City recognized deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources in the amount of $77,176 and $215,512.  For the year ended June 30, 2023, the City recognized OPEB 
expense of $(169,296) for this plan. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Current 

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

Total OPEB liability 8,905,266$          8,269,752$          7,680,699$          

Current 

1% Decrease Trend Rate 1% Increase

Total OPEB liability 7,536,363$          8,269,752$          9,121,991$          

119 Attachment 1 Page 119 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE O – OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS – Continued 
 

 
 
Other amounts reported as deferred inflows related to the Oregon’s PERS cost-sharing plan will be recognized in 
OPEB expense as follows: 

       
Change in Net OPEB Liability (RHIA) 
 

 

Net Deferred

Deferred Inflows Deferred Outflows (Inflows)/Outflows

of Resources of Resources of Resources

Differences in expected and actual experience (28,558)$              -$                        (28,558)$              

Changes of assumptions (35,127)                8,251                   (26,876)                

Net difference between projected and actual earnings (80,368)                -                          (80,368)                

Changes in proportionate share (71,459)                61,634                 (9,825)                  

Subtotal (215,512)              69,885                 (145,627)              

Contributions subsequent to the measurement date -                          7,291                   7,291                   

Total (215,512)$            77,176$               (138,336)$            

Year Ended Annual 

June 30, Recognition

2024 (92,268)$       

2025 (28,382)         

2026 (50,716)         

2027 25,739          

Total (145,627)$     

Oregon Public Employees Retirement System Cost-sharing Plan 2023

Net OPEB Liability:

Difference between expected and actual experience (28,558)$              

Changes in assumptions (26,876)                

Net difference between projected and actual earnings (80,368)                

Change in proportionate share 401,355               

OPEB income (169,296)              
Benefit payments 7,291                   
Net changes in OPEB liability 103,548               

Net OPEB liability (asset) - beginning (1,157,375)           

Net OPEB liability (asset) - ending (1,053,827)$          

City's proportionate share at measurement date 0.29657254%

City's covered employee payroll 38,495,936$         

City's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability (asset) as a

percentage of its covered payroll -2.7%

120 Attachment 1 Page 120 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE O – OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS – Continued 
 
 
Discount Rate - The discount rate used to measure the net OPEB liability for the RHIA Plan was 6.90%, unchanged 
from the prior year.  The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that the contributions 
from plan members and those contributing employers are made at the contractually required rates, as actuarially 
determined.  Based on those assumptions, the RHIA plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to 
make all projected future benefit payments.  Therefore, the long term expected rate of return on pension plan 
investments for the RHIA Plan was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the net OPEB 
liability. 
 
 
Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate - The following presents the City’s 
proportionate share of the net OPEB liability (asset) calculated using the discount rate of 6.90%, as well as what the 
City’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability (asset) would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 
1-percentage-point lower (5.90%) or 1-percentage-point higher (7.90%) than the current rate: 
 

 
 
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions - All actuarial methods and assumptions are consistent with those disclosed 
for the OPERS Pension Plan.  See Note M for additional information on assumptions and methods, the Long-Term 
Expected Rate of Return, and the Discount Rate. 
 
 
NOTE P – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
 
At June 30, 2023, the City was obligated under incomplete construction contracts in the amount of $429,985. 
 
The Sick Leave Reserve Program allows AFSCME, SEIU and Non-Union employees to join annually for a calendar 
year of coverage during open enrollment by contributing hours from their accrued sick leave or PTO bank.  The 
number of hours required to join is based on the employee’s FTE and is pro-rated for mid-year hires who elect to join 
the program for the remainder of the calendar year at hire.  Employees may draw from the reserve bank under certain 
circumstances as defined in the policy.  Prior to drawing, employees must exhaust all their own leave accruals 
first.  At June 30, 2023, the Sick Leave Reserve Program bank contained 8,238 hours.  The value of these hours is 
not included in the liability for compensated absences because there is no estimate of the number of hours that will 
be used. 
 
 
 
 
 

Current 

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

(5.90%) (6.90%) (7.90%)

Net OPEB Liability (Asset) (949,795)$            (1,053,827)$         (1,143,006)$         

121 Attachment 1 Page 121 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE P – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES – Continued 
 
The City provides funding for health reimbursement accounts for its employees to offset the high deductible medical 
plan.  Once charged to the department, the funds are owned by the individual employees and are held in a fiduciary 
capacity in the Agency fund until either paid to the Plan Administrator if the funds are used, or rolled into the 
employees outside VEBA account upon retirement.  These funds no longer belong to the City of Springfield, but are 
sometimes held for years until employees draw on them. 
 
 
NOTE Q – CONSTITUTIONAL PROPERTY TAX LIMITATION 
 
The State of Oregon has a constitutional limit on property taxes for governmental operations.  The limitation specifies 
a maximum rate for local government operations of $10.00 per $1,000 of assessed value. 
 
In May 1997, the voters approved a citizen initiative (Measure 50) that rolls back assessed property values to 
90 percent of their 1995-96 real fair value amount and limits future increases to 3 percent per year, except for major 
improvements.  Under Measure 50, voters may approve new local initiatives provided a majority approves at either 
a general election in an even numbered year, or at any other election in which at least 50 percent of registered voters 
cast a ballot.  This double majority requirement for local initiatives is no longer required as a result of the passage of 
statewide measure 56, passed on November 4, 2008. 
 
 
NOTE R – TAX ABATEMENT 
 
As of June 30, 2023, the City of Springfield provided tax abatements through the Enterprise Zone and Low Income 
Rental Housing Programs.  In previous years, tax abatements were also provided under the Vertical Housing Program 
(ORS 307.841 – 307.867), however these abatements/exemptions expired in the 2017-2018 tax year. 
 
Enterprise Zone (ORS 285C.175) 
 
The purpose of the Enterprise Zone program is to stimulate and protect economic success by providing tax incentives 
for employment, business, industry and commerce and by providing adequate levels of complementary assistance to 
community strategies for such interrelated goals as environmental protection, growth management and efficient 
infrastructure.  To be an eligible business firm, a business firm must be engaged, or proposing to engage, within the 
enterprise zone, in the business of providing goods, products or services to businesses or other organizations through 
activities including, but not limited to, manufacturing, assembly, fabrication, processing, shipping or storage.  
Qualified real and personal property owned or leased and newly placed into service by a qualified business in an 
enterprise zone is exempt from property tax for three years.  The exemption period may be increased to a total of four 
or five consecutive years.  For the basic, three-year enterprise zone exemption period, the business needs to: 
 
• Increase full-time, permanent employment of the firm inside the enterprise zone by the greater of one new job or 
10% (or less with special-case local sponsor waivers); 

• Generally have no concurrent job losses outside the zone boundary inside Oregon; 
• Maintain minimum employment level during the exemption period; 
• Enter into a first-source agreement with local job training providers; and 
• Satisfy any additional local condition that has been established (only) in an urban zone. 

122 Attachment 1 Page 122 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

 
NOTE R – TAX ABATEMENT – Continued 
 
Low Income Rental Housing (ORS 307.517) 
 
Low Income Rental Housing property, or a portion of the property, qualifies for this exemption if it is offered for rent 
or held for the purpose of developing low income rental housing for a period not exceeding a reasonable maximum 
period, if any, adopted by the governing body.  The property, if occupied, must be occupied solely by low income 
persons; the required rent payment reflects the full value of the property tax exemption; the exemption has been 
approved as provided in ORS 307-523, pursuant to an application filed before July 1, 2030; the housing units on the 
property were constructed after the local governing body adopted the provisions of ORS 307.515 to 307.523 and the 
information disclosed on the application filed pursuant to ORS 307.521 meets any other criteria adopted by the 
governing body.   
 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, the City of Springfield abated taxes totaling $810,057 under the Enterprise 
Zone program. 

 
 

Tax Abatement Program

Enterprise Zone 807,207$                    

Housing for Low Income Rental 2,850                          

810,057$                    

Amount of Taxes 

Abated during the Fiscal 

Year

123 Attachment 1 Page 123 of 230 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

124 Attachment 1 Page 124 of 230 



 

 

 
Required Supplementary 

Information 

125 Attachment 1 Page 125 of 230 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

126 Attachment 1 Page 126 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

(NONGAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

GENERAL FUND

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Adjustments
to Budget GAAP

Original Revised Basis Basis
Budget Budget Actual Variance Actual Actual

Revenues:

Taxes 24,226,814$  24,226,814$  25,566,087$  1,339,273$    -$                  25,566,087$  

Licenses, permits and fees 2,924,188      2,924,188      3,018,265      94,077           -                    3,018,265      

Intergovernmental 6,001,538      6,087,503      6,192,469      104,966         8,105             6,200,574      

Charges for services 6,720,390      6,730,740      6,978,218      247,478         -                    6,978,218      

Fines and forfeitures 936,600         936,600         817,969         (118,631)       -                    817,969         

Investment earnings 140,600         140,600         913,439         772,839         36,344           949,783         

Miscellaneous 237,000         477,000         504,192         27,192           -                    504,192         

Total revenues 41,187,130    41,523,445    43,990,639    2,467,194      44,449           44,035,088    

Expenditures:

Current operating:

City manager's office 1,599,228      1,680,521      1,470,435      210,086         8,210             1,478,645      

Legal and judicial services 887,735         1,127,735      1,119,883      7,852             -                    1,119,883      

Human resources 750,152         750,152         695,407         54,745           -                    695,407         

Finance 2,595,074      2,595,074      2,425,460      169,614         (72,631)         2,352,829      

Information technology 1,856,407      1,856,407      1,774,780      81,627           -                    1,774,780      

Fire and life safety 12,589,148    12,772,797    12,537,428    235,369         (10,627)         12,526,801    

Police 17,336,526    17,336,526    17,163,848    172,678         17,517           17,181,365    

Library 2,062,570      2,074,990      2,001,360      73,630           (44,518)         1,956,842      

Development and public works 3,105,437      3,170,437      2,958,843      211,594         994                2,959,837      

Contingency 1,000,000      912,666         -                    912,666         -                    -                    

Debt service:

Principal -                    -                    -                    -                    121,840         121,840         

Interest -                    -                    -                    -                    3,200             3,200             

Total expenditures 43,782,277    44,277,305    42,147,444    2,129,861      23,985           42,171,429    

Excess of revenues over

    (under) expenditures (2,595,147)    (2,753,860)    1,843,195      4,597,055      20,464           1,863,659      

Other financing sources (uses):

Transfers in 1,028,681      1,028,681      838,030         (190,651)       23,575           861,605         

Transfers out (852,378)       (1,254,717)    (1,254,717)    -                    -                    (1,254,717)    

Total other financing sources (uses) 176,303         (226,036)       (416,687)       (190,651)       23,575           (393,112)       

Net change in fund balance (2,418,844)    (2,979,896)    1,426,508      4,406,404      44,039           1,470,547      

Fund balance, beginning of year 11,083,195    10,988,219    10,988,219    -                    54,557           11,042,776    

Fund balance, end of year 8,664,351$    8,008,323$    12,414,727$  4,406,404$    98,596$         12,513,323$  

127 Attachment 1 Page 127 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

(NONGAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

POLICE LOCAL OPTION LEVY FUND

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Adjustments

to Budget GAAP

Original Revised Basis Basis

Budget Budget Actual Variance Actual Actual

Revenues:

Taxes 6,902,493$    6,902,493$    7,303,389$    400,896$       -$                   7,303,389$    

Licenses, permits, and fees 71,000           71,000           55,162           (15,838)          -                     55,162           

Charge for services 428,200         428,200         609,073         180,873         -                     609,073         

Fines and forfeitures -                     -                     67                  67                  -                     67                  

Investment earnings 20,000           20,000           113,968         93,968           1,546             115,514         

Intergovernmental -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

Miscellaneous -                     -                     2,800             2,800             -                     2,800             

Total revenues 7,421,693      7,421,693      8,084,459      662,766         1,546             8,086,005      

Expenditures:

Current operating:

Finance 701,355         701,355         542,650         158,705         -                     542,650         

Legal services 89,700           89,700           89,383           317                -                     89,383           

Police 7,134,929      7,626,929      7,038,039      588,890         -                     7,038,039      

Contingency 150,000         150,000         -                     150,000         -                     -                     

Total expenditures 8,075,984      8,567,984      7,670,072      897,912         -                     7,670,072      

Net change in fund balance (654,291)        (1,146,291)     414,387         1,560,678      1,546             415,933         

Fund balance, beginning of year 2,758,956      3,307,329      3,307,330      1                    8,904             3,316,234      

Fund balance, end of year 2,104,665$    2,161,038$    3,721,717$    1,560,679$    10,450$         3,732,167$    

128 Attachment 1 Page 128 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

(NONGAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

SPECIAL REVENUE FUND

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Adjustments

to Budget GAAP

Original Revised Basis Basis

Budget Budget Actual Variance Actual Actual

Revenues:

Licenses, permits and fees 200,000$       200,000$       187,517$       (12,483)$       4$                   187,521$       

Intergovernmental 619,451         4,129,542      4,383,721      254,179         3,293,082       7,676,803      

Fines and forfeitures -                     -                     309,225         309,225         -                      309,225         

Investment earnings -                     -                     6,487             6,487             -                      6,487             

Miscellaneous 93,229           225,132         253,755         28,623           1                     253,756         

Total revenues 912,680         4,554,674      5,140,705      586,031         3,293,087       8,433,792      

Expenditures:

Current operating:

City manager's office 273,934         304,910         240,725         64,185           -                      240,725         

Information Technology 143,889         240,759         102,691         138,068         -                      102,691         

Human Resources 103,621         103,621         84,433           19,188           -                      84,433           

Finance 14,000           1,172,138      438,483         733,655         -                      438,483         

Fire 270,508         936,232         867,822         68,410           -                      867,822         

Police 393,000         1,248,314      452,749         795,565         (12,322)           440,427         

Library 125,180         326,283         231,516         94,767           -                      231,516         

Development and public works 5,534,827      13,497,589    5,073,477      8,424,112      (7,308)             5,066,169      

Capital projects -                     40,000           40,000           -                     -                      40,000           

Debt service:

Principal -                     -                     -                     -                     7,038              7,038             

Total expenditures 6,858,959      17,869,846    7,531,896      10,337,950    (12,592)           7,519,304      

Excess of revenues over

(under) expenditures (5,946,279)    (13,315,172)  (2,391,191)    10,923,981    3,305,679       914,488         

Other financing sources (uses):

Transfers in -                     37,500           37,500           -                     -                      37,500           

Transfers out -                     -                     -                     -                     (7,419)             (7,419)            

Total other financing sources (uses) -                     37,500           37,500           -                     (7,419)             30,081           

Net change in fund balance (5,946,279)    (13,277,672)  (2,353,691)    10,923,981    3,298,260       944,569         

Fund balance, beginning of year 10,272,042    18,711,456    18,711,456    -                     (16,687,626)    2,023,830      

Fund balance, end of year 4,325,763$    5,433,784$    16,357,765$  10,923,981$  (13,389,366)$  2,968,399$    

129 Attachment 1 Page 129 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

CITY RETIREMENT PLAN (CRP)

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Schedule of CRP Employer Contributions

2023 2022 2021

Actuarially determined contribution 1,130,000$      1,190,000$      1,336,000$      
Actual employer contribution 1,568,000        1,633,149        1,700,288        
Contribution deficiency (Excess) (438,000)          (443,149)          (364,288)          
Covered payroll 655,186           836,804           1,085,680        
Contribution as a % of covered payroll 239.32% 195.17% 156.61%

Valuation Date 7/1/2020 7/1/2020 7/1/2018
Investment Rate of Return Assumption 5.00% 5.00% 5.50%

Schedule of Changes in Total Pension Liability, Fiduciary Net Position, and Related Ratios

2023 2022 2021
Total Pension Liability
  Service cost 178,979$         442,046$         424,658$         
  Interest on total pension liability 1,132,491        1,346,214        1,648,210        
  Effect of economic/demographic (gains) or losses (1,813,512)       -                       (313,972)          
  Effect of assumptions changes or inputs -                       -                       492,811           
  Benefit payments (4,818,111)       (6,781,187)       (3,843,362)       
  Net change in total pension liability (5,320,153)       (4,992,927)       (1,591,655)       

  Total pension liability, beginning 24,879,893      29,872,820      31,464,475      
  Total pension liability, ending (a) 19,559,740      24,879,893      29,872,820      

Fiduciary Net Position
  Employer contributions 1,567,966        1,633,149        1,700,288        
  Investment income net of investment expenses 1,824,255        (2,699,056)       5,264,296        
  Benefit payments (4,818,111)       (6,781,187)       (3,843,362)       
  Administrative expenses (79,241)            (109,447)          (78,351)            
  Net change in plan net position (1,505,131)       (7,956,541)       3,042,871        
  
  Fiduciary net position, beginning 17,247,879      25,204,420      22,161,549      
  Fiduciary net position, ending (b) 15,742,748      17,247,879      25,204,420      

Net pension liability, ending (a) - (b) 3,816,992$      7,632,014$      4,668,400$      

Fiduciary net position as a % of total pension liability 80% 69% 84%

Covered payroll 655,186$         836,804$         1,085,680$      
Net pension liability as a % of covered payroll 583% 912% 430%

* Note:  GAAP serves as the basis of budgeting

130 Attachment 1 Page 130 of 230 



Fiscal Year Ended June 30,

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

1,469,000$      1,652,000$      1,754,000$      1,874,000$      1,875,000$      1,936,000$     2,088,000$     
1,895,516        1,842,671        1,949,686        1,916,262        1,953,954        1,964,977       2,088,000       
(426,516)          (190,671)          (195,686)          (42)                   (79)                   (29)                 -                     

1,529,732        1,573,655        1,915,136        2,027,175        2,034,238        2,100,871       2,426,000       
123.91% 117.09% 101.80% 94.52% 96.07% 93.53% 86.07%

7/1/2018 7/1/2016 7/1/2016 7/1/2014 7/1/2014 7/1/2012 7/1/2012
5.50% 6.50% 6.50% 6.50% 6.50% 6.50% 6.50%

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

473,416$         409,467$         576,750$         596,684$         608,191$         611,102$        
1,690,860        1,942,409        2,137,457        2,333,205        2,199,860        2,186,388       

-                       (606,741)          -                       (1,642,892)       -                       -                     
-                       1,241,053        -                       70,885             -                       -                     

(1,938,600)       (2,442,290)       (8,653,011)       (45,910)            (1,444,246)       (3,730,383)     
225,676           543,898           (5,938,804)       1,311,972        1,363,805        (932,893)        

31,238,799      30,694,901      36,633,705      35,321,733      33,957,928      34,890,821     
31,464,475      31,238,799      30,694,901      36,633,705      35,321,733      33,957,928     

1,895,516        1,842,671        1,949,686        1,916,262        1,953,954        1,964,977       
1,123,428        1,387,284        1,973,759        2,717,812        (12,259)            708,524          

(1,938,600)       (2,442,290)       (8,653,011)       (45,910)            (1,444,246)       (3,730,383)     
(73,200)            (71,812)            (86,436)            (76,423)            (68,077)            (70,078)          

1,007,144        715,853           (4,816,002)       4,511,741        429,372           (1,126,960)     

21,154,405      20,438,552      25,254,554      20,742,813      20,313,441      21,440,401     
22,161,549      21,154,405      20,438,552      25,254,554      20,742,813      20,313,441     

9,302,926$      10,084,394$    10,256,349$    11,379,151$    14,578,920$    13,644,487$   

70% 68% 67% 69% 59% 60%

1,529,732$      1,573,655$      1,915,136$      2,027,175$      2,034,238$      2,100,871$     
608% 641% 536% 561% 717% 649%

131 Attachment 1 Page 131 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

OREGON PUBLIC EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM (OPERS)

Year Ended June 30, 2023

OPERS RETIREMENT PLAN PENSION BENEFITS

Schedule of Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset)

2023 2022 2021

Proportion of the net pension liability (asset) 0.2999% 0.3044% 0.3059%

Proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) 45,925,635$      36,420,240$      66,759,811$      

Covered payroll 36,805,071        34,220,410        31,984,379        

Proportionate share of the pension liability (asset) as a

  percentage of its covered payroll 124.78% 106.43% 208.73%

Plan net position as a percentage of the total pension liability 84.5% 87.6% 75.8%

* Amounts presented are as of the measurement date, which is one year in arrears.

** No assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria of GASB to pay related benefits for the pension plan.

Schedule of Contributions

2023 2022 2021

Contractually required contribution 6,988,773$        6,422,871$        5,878,193$        

Contributions in relation to the contractually required contribution 6,988,773          6,422,871          5,878,193          
Contribution deficiency (excess) -$                      -$                      -$                      

Covered payroll 38,495,936$      36,805,071$      34,220,410$      

Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll 18.15% 17.45% 17.18%

* Note:  GAAP serves as the basis of budgeting

132 Attachment 1 Page 132 of 230 



Fiscal Year Ended June 30,

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

0.3141% 0.3009% 0.3053% 0.2894% 0.3089% 0.2801% 0.2801%

54,332,518$      45,585,971$    41,153,474$    43,443,622$      17,733,343$       (6,349,764)$     14,295,480$     

31,987,774        29,957,604      29,371,018      28,785,414        27,340,088         26,270,045       26,151,761       

169.85% 152.17% 140.12% 150.92% 64.86% -24.17% 54.42%

80.2% 82.1% 83.1% 80.5% 91.9% 103.6% 92.0%

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

5,667,777$        4,190,470$      3,930,696$      2,875,247$        2,718,458$         2,393,904$       2,371,838$       

5,667,777          4,190,470        3,930,696        2,875,247          2,718,458           2,393,904         2,371,838         
-$                      -$                    -$                    -$                      -$                       -$                     -$                     

31,984,379$      31,987,774$    29,957,604$    29,371,018$      28,785,414$       27,340,088$     26,270,045$     

17.72% 13.10% 13.12% 9.79% 9.44% 8.76% 9.03%

133 Attachment 1 Page 133 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

IMPLICIT RATE SUBSIDY PLAN

Year Ended June 30, 2023

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY

2023

Total OPEB Liability:

Services cost 424,442$            

Interest on total OPEB liability 164,180              

Difference between expected and actual experience

Effect of economic/demographic (gains) or losses 636,440              

Effect of assumptions, changes or inputs 20,044                

Benefit payments (303,646)            
Net change in total OPEB liability 941,460$            

Total OPEB liability - beginning 7,328,292           

Restatement for GASB 75 Implementation -                         

Total OPEB liability - beginning as restated 7,328,292           
Total OPEB liability - ending 8,269,752$         

Covered-employee payroll 36,805,071$       

Total OPEB liability as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 22.5%

*This schedule is intended to show a 10-year trend of changes in the net pension liability.  However, 

  until a full 10-year trend is compiled, information will only be presented for those years in which 

  it is available.

**Amounts presented are as of the measurement date, which is one year in arrears

*** No assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria of GASB to pay related benefits for the

      OPEB plan.

**** Note:  GAAP serves as the basis of budgeting

134 Attachment 1 Page 134 of 230 



Fiscal Year Ended June 30,

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

411,626$            414,080$            372,531$            395,930$            453,737$            

161,350              262,383              266,338              273,058              223,423              

-                         326,881              -                         159,236              -                         

28,478                (892,059)            226,366              (1,219,048)         (495,892)            

(324,876)            (284,290)            (300,212)            (361,763)            (309,306)            
276,578$            (173,005)$          565,023$            (752,587)$          (128,038)$          

7,051,714           7,224,719           6,659,696           7,412,283           6,559,960           

-                         -                         -                         -                         980,361              

7,051,714           7,224,719           6,659,696           7,412,283           7,540,321           
7,328,292$         7,051,714$         7,224,719$         6,659,696$         7,412,283$         

34,220,410$       31,984,379$       31,987,774$       29,957,604$       29,371,018$       

21.4% 22.0% 22.6% 22.2% 25.2%

135 Attachment 1 Page 135 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

OREGON PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM

RHIA COST SHARING PLAN

Year Ended June 30, 2023

SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET OPEB LIABILITY (ASSET)

2023

Net OPEB Liability:

Proportion of the net pension liability (asset) 0.2966%

Proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) (1,053,827)$       

Covered payroll 36,805,071         

Proportionate share of the pension liability (asset) as a

  percentage of its covered payroll -2.9%

Plan net position as a percentage of the total pension liability 194.6%

*This schedule is intended to show a 10-year trend of contributions.  However, 

  until a full 10-year trend is compiled, information will only be presented for 

  those years in which it is available.

**Amounts presented are as of the measurement date, which is one year in arrears

SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS

2023

Contractually required contribution 5,287$                

Contributions in relation to the contractually required contribution 7,291                  
Contribution deficiency (excess) (2,004)$              

Covered payroll 38,495,936$       

Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll 0.01%

*This schedule is intended to show a 10-year trend of contributions.  However, 

  until a full 10-year trend is compiled, information will only be presented for 

  those years in which it is available.

**Note: GAAP serves as the basis of budgeting

136 Attachment 1 Page 136 of 230 



Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

0.3370% 0.1955% 0.2985% 0.2885% 0.2986%

(1,157,375)$       (398,376)$          (576,806)$          (322,081)$          (124,618)$          

34,220,410         31,984,379         31,987,774         29,957,604         29,371,018         

-3.4% -1.2% -1.8% -1.1% -0.4%

183.9% 150.1% 144.4% 124.0% 108.9%

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

7,310$                9,018$                13,962$              147,942$            139,708$            

9,988                  12,434                148,101              138,490              148,660              
(2,678)$              (3,416)$              (134,139)$          9,452$                (8,952)$              

36,805,071$       34,220,410$       31,984,379$       31,987,774$       29,957,604$       

0.02% 0.03% 0.04% 0.46% 0.47%

137 Attachment 1 Page 137 of 230 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

138 Attachment 1 Page 138 of 230 



 
 
 

Other Supplementary 
Information 

139 Attachment 1 Page 139 of 230 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

140 Attachment 1 Page 140 of 230 



 

 

 
Nonmajor Governmental Funds 

Combining Statements 

141 Attachment 1 Page 141 of 230 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

142 Attachment 1 Page 142 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

June 30, 2023

Total

Nonmajor

Special Debt Capital Governmental

Revenue Funds Service Funds Projects Funds Funds

ASSETS

Cash and investments 13,069,047$      613,851$           6,185,021$        19,867,919$      

Receivables:

Accounts 1,745,843          -                         -                         1,745,843          

Taxes 158,229             188,303             -                         346,532             

Grants 534,919             -                         -                         534,919             

Accrued interest 46,652               8,999                 17,405               73,056               

Assessments and liens -                         -                         17,944               17,944               

Notes 963,903             -                         -                         963,903             

Deferred system development charges 26                      -                         -                         26                      

Prepaid items 44,148               -                         -                         44,148               

Deposits 800                    -                         -                         800                    

Inventory 407,863             -                         -                         407,863             

Total assets 16,971,430$      811,153$           6,220,370$        24,002,953$      

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF 

RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES

Liabilities:

Accounts payable 697,745$           -$                       14,841$             712,586$           
Accrued payroll and other liabilities 234,591             -                         -                         234,591             

Unearned revenue 5,383                 -                         -                         5,383                 
Due to other fund 64,929               -                         -                         64,929               

Deposits 5,147                 -                         -                         5,147                 

Total liabilities 1,007,795          -                         14,841               1,022,636          

Deferred inflows of resources:

Unavailable revenue 1,916,670          185,947             17,944               2,120,561          

Fund Balances:

Nonspendable 452,811             -                         -                         452,811             

Restricted 13,594,154        625,206             1,918,891          16,138,251        

Committed -                         -                         3,102,303          3,102,303          

Assigned -                         -                         1,166,391          1,166,391          

Total fund balances 14,046,965        625,206             6,187,585          20,859,756        

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of 

resources, and fund balances 16,971,430$      811,153$           6,220,370$        24,002,953$      

143 Attachment 1 Page 143 of 230 



Total

Nonmajor

Special Debt Capital Governmental

Revenue Funds Service Funds Project Funds Funds

Revenues:

Taxes 7,484,954$      3,939,111$      -$                     11,424,065$    

Licenses, permits and fees 262,318           -                       -                       262,318           

Intergovernmental 6,157,726        -                       50                    6,157,776        

Charges for services 3,209,034        -                       306,865           3,515,899        

Fines and forfeitures 21,433             -                       -                       21,433             

Investment earnings 329,964           68,571             160,799           559,334           

Special assessments -                       -                       1,351               1,351               

Miscellaneous 532,020           -                       -                       532,020           

Total revenues 17,997,449      4,007,682        469,065           22,474,196      

Expenditures:

Current operating:

General government 836,859           -                       -                       836,859           

Fire and life safety 1,774,591        -                       -                       1,774,591        

Library 254,646           -                       -                       254,646           

Development and public works 9,163,861        -                       -                       9,163,861        

Capital projects 3,176,889        -                       220,999           3,397,888        

Debt service:

Principal 675,950           3,668,000        -                       4,343,950        

Interest 88,866             348,876           -                       437,742           

Total expenditures 15,971,662      4,016,876        220,999           20,209,537      

Excess of revenues over

(under) expenditures 2,025,787        (9,194)              248,066           2,264,659        

Other financing sources (uses):

Debt forgiveness (1,658,465)       -                       -                       (1,658,465)       

Interfund loans issued and repaid 2,250,000        -                       -                       2,250,000        

Transfers in 471,000           -                       56,312             527,312           

Transfers out (903,793)          -                       -                       (903,793)          

Bond costs (68,596)            -                       -                       (68,596)            

Total other financing sources (uses) 90,146             -                       56,312             146,458           

2,115,933        (9,194)              304,378           2,411,117        

Fund balance, beginning of year 11,809,292      634,400           5,883,207        18,326,899      

Change in reserve for inventory 121,740           -                       -                       121,740           

Fund balance, end of year 14,046,965$    625,206$         6,187,585$      20,859,756$    

 Net change in fund balances 

Year ended June 30, 2023

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

City of Springfield, Oregon

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

144 Attachment 1 Page 144 of 230 



 

Special Revenue Funds 
 
 
Combining statements for all individual nonmajor special revenue funds are reported here.  The combined 
totals are reported in the combining nonmajor governmental fund statements.  Fund statements for major 
special revenue funds are reported in the basic financial statements. 
 
Schedules of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund balance – budget and actual are presented here for 
each individual nonmajor special revenue fund.  Budget and actual comparisons for major special revenue 
funds are reported as required supplementary information.   
 
Major Special Revenue Funds: 
 
Police Local Option Levy Fund – This fund accounts for revenue received from a five-year Police Local 
Option Levy to enhance public safety services by adding staff to the Police and Court Departments as well 
as funding jail operations. 
 
Special Revenue Fund – This fund accounts for the receipt of 911 taxes collected to provide an emergency 
communications system and the receipt and expenditure of grant monies from various state and federal 
government agencies. 
 
 
Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds: 
 
Street Fund – This fund accounts for revenues from state gasoline taxes apportioned from the State of 
Oregon and expenditures as specified under Article IX, Section 3 of the Constitution of the State of 
Oregon. 
 
Transient Room Tax Fund – This fund accounts for revenues from hotel and motel taxes and expenditures 
related and restricted to the economic development of the area.  
 
Community Development Fund – This fund accounts for the receipt and expenditure of monies received 
from the United States Government under the Community Development Block Grant Program. 
 
Building Code Fund – This fund accounts for the dedicated revenues generated in providing building 
permit and inspection services. 
 
SEDA Glenwood Fund – This fund accounts for the general fund of the Springfield Economic 
Development Agency Glenwood Urban Renewal District. 
 
SEDA Downtown General Fund – This fund accounts for the general fund of the Springfield Economic 
Development Agency Downtown Urban Renewal District. 
 
Fire Local Option Levy Fund – This fund accounts for revenue received from a five-year Fire Local Option 
Levy to restore staffing to Fire Station #3. 
 
 

145 Attachment 1 Page 145 of 230 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

146 Attachment 1 Page 146 of 230 



SEDA SEDA

Transient Community Building Glenwood Downtown Fire Local

Street Room Tax Development Code General General Option Levy Total

ASSETS

Cash and investments 2,728,301$   1,957,180$   -$                  5,550,410$   269,036$      713,040$      1,851,080$   13,069,047$   

Receivables:

Accounts 1,112,938     598,056        -                    -                   4,500            8,296            22,053          1,745,843       

Taxes -                    -                    -                    -                   42,980          40,178          75,071          158,229         

Grants 18,859          58                 516,002        -                   -                    -                    -                    534,919         

Accrued interest 8,945            7,166            -                    16,063         2,893            5,090            6,495            46,652           

Leases -                    -                    -                    -                   -                    -                    -                    -                     

Notes -                    -                    844,169        -                   -                    119,734        -                    963,903         

Deferred system development fees -                    -                    -                    26                -                    -                    -                    26                  

Prepaid items 44,148          -                    -                    -                   -                    -                    -                    44,148           

Deposits -                    -                    -                    -                   800               -                    -                    800                

Inventory 407,863        -                    -                    -                   -                    -                    -                    407,863         

Total assets 4,321,054$   2,562,460$   1,360,171$   5,566,499$   320,209$      886,338$      1,954,699$   16,971,430$   

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF

RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES

Liabilities:

Accounts payable 462,553$      18,144$        89,535$        10,268$        46,313$        67,605$        3,327$          697,745$        

Accrued payroll and other

liabilities 135,308        9,718            9,272            37,146         -                    -                    43,147          234,591         

Unearned revenue 5,383            -                    -                    -                   -                    -                    -                    5,383             

Deposits -                    -                    -                    -                   4,247            900               -                    5,147             

Due to other funds -                    -                    64,929          -                   -                    -                    -                    64,929           

Total liabilities 603,244        27,862          163,736        47,414         50,560          68,505          46,474          1,007,795       

Deferred inflows of resources:

Unavailable revenue 541,898        363,281        844,169        26                45,325          47,942          74,029          1,916,670       
Fund balances:

Nonspendable 452,011        -                    -                    -                   800               -                    -                    452,811         

Restricted 2,723,901     2,171,317     352,266        5,519,059     223,524        769,891        1,834,196     13,594,154     

Total fund balances 3,175,912     2,171,317     352,266        5,519,059     224,324        769,891        1,834,196     14,046,965     

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of

resources, and fund balances 4,321,054$   2,562,460$   1,360,171$   5,566,499$   320,209$      886,338$      1,954,699$   16,971,430$   

City of Springfield, Oregon

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

June 30, 2023

NONMAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

147 Attachment 1 Page 147 of 230 



SEDA SEDA

Transient Community Building Glenwood Downtown Fire Local

Street Room Tax Development Code General General Option Levy Total

Revenues:

Taxes 881,768$     1,544,253$    -$                   -$                   1,465,292$    1,612,190$    1,981,451$    7,484,954$    

Licenses, permits and fees 231,983       -                     -                     -                     -                     30,335           -                     262,318         

Intergovernmental 5,093,146    -                     1,027,454      -                     5,673             483                30,970           6,157,726      

Charges for services 269,740       -                     -                     2,850,791      60,032           28,471           -                     3,209,034      

Fines and forfeitures -                   -                     -                     -                     -                     21,433           -                     21,433           

Investment earnings 66,627         49,651           -                     114,677         20,473           31,519           47,017           329,964         

Miscellaneous 18,008         -                     148,529         303                -                     365,180         -                     532,020         

Total revenues 6,561,272    1,593,904      1,175,983      2,965,771      1,551,470      2,089,611      2,059,438      17,997,449    

Expenditures:

Current operating:

General government:

City manager's office 34,477         170,864         -                     12,136           171,456         344,055         -                     732,988         

Information Technology -                   -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

Finance 58,853         -                     24,579           -                     10,230           10,209           -                     103,871         

Fire and life safety -                   -                     -                     83,859           -                     -                     1,690,732      1,774,591      

Library -                   254,646         -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     254,646         

Development and public works 6,682,371    24,209           1,095,185      1,362,096      -                     -                     -                     9,163,861      

Capital projects -                   -                     -                     -                     2,772,495      404,394         -                     3,176,889      

Debt service:

Principal -                   -                     -                     -                     675,950         -                     -                     675,950         

Interest -                   -                     -                     -                     63,686           25,180           -                     88,866           

Total expenditures 6,775,701    449,719         1,119,764      1,458,091      3,693,817      783,838         1,690,732      15,971,662    

Excess of revenues over

(under) expenditures (214,429)      1,144,185      56,219           1,507,680      (2,142,347)     1,305,773      368,706         2,025,787      

Other financing sources (uses):

Loan forgiveness -                   -                     -                     -                     -                     (1,658,465)     -                     (1,658,465)     

Bond proceeds -                   -                     -                     -                     2,250,000      -                     -                     2,250,000      

Transfers in 471,000       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     471,000         

Transfers out (150,000)      (753,793)        -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     (903,793)        

Bond sale expense -                   -                     -                     -                     (68,596)          -                     -                     (68,596)          

Total other financing sources (uses) 321,000       (753,793)        -                     -                     2,181,404      (1,658,465)     -                     90,146           

Net change in fund balances 106,571       390,392         56,219           1,507,680      39,057           (352,692)        368,706         2,115,933      

Fund balances, beginning of year 2,947,601    1,780,925      296,047         4,011,379      185,267         1,122,583      1,465,490      11,809,292    

Change in reserve for inventory 121,740       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     121,740         

Fund balances, end of year 3,175,912$  2,171,317$    352,266$       5,519,059$    224,324$       769,891$       1,834,196$    14,046,965$  

Year ended June 30, 2023

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

NONMAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

City of Springfield, Oregon

148 Attachment 1 Page 148 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

(NONGAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

STREET FUND

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Adjustments

to Budget GAAP

Original Revised Basis Basis

Budget Budget Actual Variance Actual Actual

Revenues:

Taxes 850,000$      850,000$      881,768$      31,768$        -$                  881,768$      

Licenses, permits and fees 175,000        175,000        231,983        56,983          -                     231,983        

Intergovernmental 5,133,000     5,133,000     5,090,121     (42,879)         3,025             5,093,146     

Charges for services 120,515        120,515        269,740        149,225        -                     269,740        

Investment earnings 25,000          25,000          65,590          40,590          1,037             66,627          

Miscellaneous 10,000          10,000          527                (9,473)           17,481          18,008          

Total revenues 6,313,515     6,313,515     6,539,729     226,214        21,543          6,561,272     

Expenditures:

Current operating:

City managers office 57,912          57,912          33,741          24,171          736                34,477          

Development and public works 6,951,767     6,951,767     6,668,305     283,462        14,066          6,682,371     

Finance 68,156          68,156          58,853          9,303             -                     58,853          

Contingency 200,000        200,000        -                     200,000        -                     -                     

Total expenditures 7,277,835     7,277,835     6,760,899     516,936        14,802          6,775,701     

Excess of revenues over

(under) expenditures (964,320)       (964,320)       (221,170)       743,150        6,741             (214,429)       

Other financing sources (uses):

Transfers in 471,000        471,000        471,000        -                     -                     471,000        

Transfers out (150,000)       (150,000)       (150,000)       -                     -                     (150,000)       

Total other financing sources (uses) 321,000        321,000        321,000        -                     -                     321,000        

Net change in fund balance (643,320)       (643,320)       99,830          743,150        6,741             106,571        

Fund balance, beginning of year 2,810,823     2,817,795     2,817,796     1                    129,805        2,947,601     

Change in reserve for inventory -                     -                     -                     -                     121,740        121,740        

Fund balance, end of year 2,167,503$   2,174,475$   2,917,626$   743,151$      258,286$      3,175,912$   

149 Attachment 1 Page 149 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

(NONGAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

TRANSIENT ROOM TAX FUND

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Adjustments

to Budget GAAP

Original Revised Basis Basis

Budget Budget Actual Variance Actual Actual

Revenues:

Taxes 1,700,000$   1,700,000$   1,544,253$   (155,747)$     -$                  1,544,253$   

Investment earnings 12,000          12,000          48,032          36,032          1,619             49,651          

Intergovernmental -                     -                     (56)                (56)                56                  -                     

Total revenues 1,712,000     1,712,000     1,592,229     (119,771)       1,675             1,593,904     

Expenditures:

Current operating:

City manager's office 242,212        242,212        171,326        70,886          (462)              170,864        

Library 249,771        257,308        254,366        2,942             280                254,646        

Development and public works 32,874          32,874          24,209          8,665             -                     24,209          

Total expenditures 524,857        532,394        449,901        82,493          (182)              449,719        

Excess of revenues over

(under) expenditures 1,187,143     1,179,606     1,142,328     (37,278)         1,857             1,144,185     

Other financing sources (uses):

Transfers out (944,444)       (944,444)       (753,793)       190,651        -                     (753,793)       

Net change in fund balance 242,699        235,162        388,535        153,373        1,857             390,392        

Fund balance, beginning of year 1,529,862     1,778,129     1,778,129     -                     2,796             1,780,925     

Fund balance, end of year 1,772,561$   2,013,291$   2,166,664$   153,373$      4,653$          2,171,317$   

150 Attachment 1 Page 150 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

(NONGAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT FUND

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Adjustments

to Budget GAAP

Original Revised Basis Basis

Budget Budget Actual Variance Actual Actual

Revenues:

Intergovernmental 1,220,956$   1,886,102$   1,027,454$   (858,648)$     -$                  1,027,454$   

Miscellaneous 37,464          37,464          148,529        111,065        -                     148,529        

Total revenues 1,258,420     1,923,566     1,175,983     (747,583)       -                     1,175,983     

Expenditures:

Current operating:

Finance 26,041          26,041          24,579          1,462             -                     24,579          

Development and public works 1,321,783     1,986,929     1,095,185     891,744        -                     1,095,185     

Total expenditures 1,347,824     2,012,970     1,119,764     893,206        -                     1,119,764     

Net change in fund balance (89,404)         (89,404)         56,219          145,623        -                     56,219          

Fund balance, beginning of year 96,395          296,047        296,047        -                     -                     296,047        

Fund balance, end of year 6,991$          206,643$      352,266$      145,623$      -$                  352,266$      

151 Attachment 1 Page 151 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

(NONGAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

BUILDING CODE FUND

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Adjustments

to Budget GAAP

Original Revised Basis Basis

Budget Budget Actual Variance Actual Actual

Revenues:

Charges for services 1,504,000$    1,504,000$    2,850,791$    1,346,791$    -$                   2,850,791$    

Investment earnings 24,000           24,000           111,766         87,766           2,911             114,677         

Miscellaneous -                     -                     303                303                -                     303                

Total revenues 1,528,000      1,528,000      2,962,860      1,434,860      2,911             2,965,771      

Expenditures:

Current operating:

City manager office 22,648           22,647           12,136           10,511           -                     12,136           

Fire and life safety 84,213           84,214           83,859           355                -                     83,859           

Development and public works 1,396,226      1,396,226      1,362,096      34,130           -                     1,362,096      

Contingency 35,000           35,000           -                     35,000           -                     -                     

Total expenditures 1,538,087      1,538,087      1,458,091      79,996           -                     1,458,091      

Net change in fund balance (10,087)          (10,087)          1,504,769      1,514,856      2,911             1,507,680      

Fund balance, beginning of year 3,690,813      4,003,361      4,003,361      -                     8,018             4,011,379      

Fund balance, end of year 3,680,726$    3,993,274$    5,508,130$    1,514,856$    10,929$         5,519,059$    

152 Attachment 1 Page 152 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

(NONGAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

SEDA GLENWOOD GENERAL FUND

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Adjustments

to Budget GAAP

Original Revised Basis Basis

Budget Budget Actual Variance Actual Actual

Revenues:

Taxes 1,241,000$    1,391,000$    1,465,292$    74,292$         -$                  1,465,292$    

Intergovernmental -                    -                    5,673             5,673             -                    5,673             

Charges for services 60,000           60,000           60,032           32                 -                    60,032           

Investment earnings 5,000             5,000             19,840           14,840           633                20,473           

Total revenues 1,306,000      1,456,000      1,550,837      94,837           633                1,551,470      

Expenditures:

Current operating:

City manager's office 305,705         305,705         171,455         134,250         1                   171,456         

Finance 12,000           12,000           10,230           1,770             -                    10,230           

Capital projects -                    5,000,000      2,842,376      2,157,624      (69,881)         2,772,495      

Debt service:

Principal 668,055         2,668,055      675,950         1,992,105      -                    675,950         

Interest 56,465           56,465           63,686           (7,221)           -                    63,686           

Total expenditures 1,042,225      8,042,225      3,763,697      4,278,528      (69,880)         3,693,817      

Excess of revenues over (under)

expenditures 263,775         (6,586,225)    (2,212,860)    4,373,365      70,513           (2,142,347)    

Other financing sources (uses):

Issuance of debt -                    7,000,000      2,250,000      (4,750,000)    -                    2,250,000      

Bond sale expense -                    (69,000)         (68,596)         404                -                    (68,596)         

Total other financing sources (uses) -                    6,931,000      2,181,404      (4,749,596)    -                    2,181,404      

Net change in fund balance 263,775         344,775         (31,456)         (376,231)       70,513           39,057           

Fund balance, beginning of year 215,992         254,883         254,883         -                    (69,616)         185,267         

Fund balance, end of year 479,767$       599,658$       223,427$       (376,231)$     897$              224,324$       

153 Attachment 1 Page 153 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

(NONGAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

SEDA DOWNTOWN GENERAL FUND

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Adjustments

to Budget GAAP

Original Revised Basis Basis

Budget Budget Actual Variance Actual Actual

Revenues:

Taxes 890,000$       1,582,000$      1,612,190$    30,190$         -$                  1,612,190$    

Licenses, permits and fees 45,000           45,000             30,335           (14,665)         -                    30,335           

Intergovernmental -                    -                       483                483                -                    483                

Charges for services 25,000           25,000             28,471           3,471             -                    28,471           

Fines and forfeitures 25,000           25,000             21,433           (3,567)           -                    21,433           

Investment earnings 6,500             6,500               33,751           27,251           (2,232)           31,519           

Miscellaneous -                    345,000           364,680         19,680           500                365,180         

Total revenues 991,500         2,028,500        2,091,343      62,843           (1,732)           2,089,611      

Expenditures:

Current operating:

City manager's office 565,216         966,704           808,402         158,302         (464,347)       344,055         

Finance 12,000           112,000           10,209           101,791         -                    10,209           

Capital projects -                    1,100,000        -                    1,100,000      404,394         404,394         

Debt service:

Interest 15,000           30,000             25,180           4,820             -                    25,180           

Total expenditures 592,216         2,208,704        843,791         1,364,913      (59,953)         783,838         

Excess of revenues over (under)

expenditures 399,284         (180,204)          1,247,552      1,427,756      58,221           1,305,773      

Other financing sources (uses):

Loan proceeds -                    11,200,000      -                    (11,200,000)   -                    -                    

Loan to developer -                    (10,000,000)     -                    10,000,000    -                    -                    

Loan forgiveness -                    -                       -                    -                    (1,658,465)    (1,658,465)    

Interfund loan repaid (400,000)       (1,300,000)       (1,300,000)    -                    1,300,000      -                    

Total other financing sources (uses) (400,000)       (100,000)          (1,300,000)    (1,200,000)    (358,465)       (1,658,465)    

Net change in fund balance (716)              (280,204)          (52,448)         227,756         (300,244)       (352,692)       

Fund balance, beginning of year 275,847         699,142           699,142         -                    423,441         1,122,583      

Fund balance, end of year 275,131$       418,938$         646,694$       227,756$       123,197$       769,891$       

154 Attachment 1 Page 154 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

(NONGAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Adjustments

to Budget GAAP

Original Revised Basis Basis

Budget Budget Actual Variance Actual Actual

Revenues:

Taxes 1,886,320$         1,886,320$         1,981,451$          95,131$           -$                     1,981,451$      

Investment earnings 10,000                10,000                 45,975                 35,975             1,042               47,017             

Intergovernmental -                          30,970                 30,970                 -                       -                       30,970             

Total revenues 1,896,320           1,927,290           2,058,396            131,106           1,042               2,059,438        

Expenditures:

Current operating:

Fire and life safety 1,647,095           1,690,801           1,690,732            69                    -                       1,690,732        

Contingency 45,000                32,264                 -                           32,264             -                       -                       

Total expenditures 1,692,095           1,723,065           1,690,732            32,333             -                       1,690,732        

Net change in fund balance 204,225              204,225              367,664               163,439           1,042               368,706           

Fund balance, beginning of year 1,434,905    1,462,112     1,462,112     -                       3,378               1,465,490        

Fund balance, end of year 1,639,130$         1,666,337$         1,829,776$          163,439$         4,420$             1,834,196$      

FIRE LOCAL OPTION LEVY FUND

155 Attachment 1 Page 155 of 230 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

156 Attachment 1 Page 156 of 230 



 

 

 

Debt Service Funds 
 

 

 

 

Combining statements for all individual nonmajor debt service funds are reported here.  The 

combined totals are reported in the combining nonmajor governmental fund statements.  The City 

has no major debt service funds. 

 

Schedules of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund balance – budget and actual are presented 

here for each individual debt service fund. 

 

 

Nonmajor Debt Service Funds: 

 

General Obligation Debt Service Fund – This fund is used to account for payments on all general 

obligation debt, except for debt secured by assessment liens.  Ad valorem property taxes are 

levied to make the debt service payments. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

157 Attachment 1 Page 157 of 230 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

158 Attachment 1 Page 158 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon

BALANCE SHEET

NONMAJOR DEBT SERVICE FUNDS

June 30, 2023

General
Obligation

Debt Service
ASSETS

Cash and investments 613,851$          
Receivables:

Property taxes 188,303            
Accrued interest 8,999                

Total assets 811,153$          

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES

Deferred inflows of resources:
Unavailable revenue 185,947$          

Fund balance restricted 625,206            

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources, and fund balances 811,153$          

159 Attachment 1 Page 159 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

NONMAJOR DEBT SERVICE FUNDS

Year Ended June 30, 2023

General

Obligation

Debt Service

Revenues:

Taxes 3,939,111$    

Investment earnings 68,571           

Total revenues 4,007,682      

Expenditures:

Debt service:

Principal 3,668,000      

Interest 348,876         

Total expenditures 4,016,876      

Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures (9,194)           

Net change in fund balance (9,194)           

Fund balance, beginning of year 634,400         

Fund balance, end of year 625,206$       

160 Attachment 1 Page 160 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

(NONGAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT SERVICE FUND

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Adjustments
Budget to Budget GAAP

Original Revised Basis Basis Basis
Budget Budget Actual Variance Actual Actual

Revenues:
Taxes 3,840,000$    3,840,000$    3,939,111$    99,111$         -$                   3,939,111$    
Investment earnings 5,000             5,000             67,853           62,853           718                68,571           

Total revenues 3,845,000      3,845,000      4,006,964      161,964         718                4,007,682      

Expenditures:
Debt service:

Principal 3,668,000      3,668,000      3,668,000      -                     -                     3,668,000      
Interest 348,880         348,880         348,876         4                    -                     348,876         

Total expenditures 4,016,880      4,016,880      4,016,876      4                    -                     4,016,876      

Excess of revenues over
(under) expenditures (171,880)        (171,880)        (9,912)            161,968         718                (9,194)            

Net change in fund balance (171,880)        (171,880)        (9,912)            161,968         718                (9,194)            

Fund balance, beginning of year 597,338         628,994         628,995         1                    5,405             634,400         

Fund balance, end of year 425,458$       457,114$       619,083$       161,969$       6,123$           625,206$       

161 Attachment 1 Page 161 of 230 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

162 Attachment 1 Page 162 of 230 



 

 

 

Capital Projects Funds 
 

 

 

 
The City has three nonmajor capital projects funds.  The combining Balance Sheet and the combining 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance for these funds are presented here.  

The combined totals are reported on the combining nonmajor governmental fund statements.   

 

Schedules of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund balance – budget and actual are presented here for 

each individual capital projects fund. 

 

Major Capital Projects Funds: 

 

Street Capital Projects Fund – This fund accounts for public transportation capital improvement costs and 

local capacity-increasing public transportation improvements.  Financing is provided by transfers from the 

Street Fund, interest on investments, and system development charges. 

 

 

Nonmajor Capital Projects Funds: 

 

Development Assessments Capital Projects Fund – This fund is used to account for costs of constructing 

public improvements.  Financing is provided by assessing benefiting property owners. 

 

Development Capital Projects Fund – This fund is used to account for costs of constructing and improving 

City-owned buildings and for infrastructure projects with shared funding.  Financing is provided by grants, 

contracts, intergovernmental revenues, and other non-recurring revenues. 

 

SEDA Glenwood Capital Projects Fund – This fund is used to account for capital projects undertaken by 

the Springfield Economic Development Agency in Glenwood.  Tax increment financing is in place. 

 

 

163 Attachment 1 Page 163 of 230 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

164 Attachment 1 Page 164 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

(NONGAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

STREET CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Adjustments

Budget to Budget GAAP

Original Revised Basis Basis Basis

Budget Budget Actual Variance Actual Actual

Revenues:

122,000$         122,000$         401,766$         279,766$         26,294$           428,060$         

Charges for services 1,060,000        1,060,000        1,281,139        221,139           -                       1,281,139        

-                       -                       12,830,588      12,830,588      -                       12,830,588      

Total revenues 1,182,000        1,182,000        14,513,493      13,331,493      26,294             14,539,787      

Expenditures:

Current operating

Development and public works 137,069           155,069           88,353             66,716             -                       88,353             

Capital projects 2,773,100        5,185,323        2,251,776        2,933,547        3,521               2,255,297        

Total expenditures 2,910,169        5,340,392        2,340,129        3,000,263        3,521               2,343,650        

(under) expenditures (1,728,169)       (4,158,392)       12,173,364      16,331,756      22,773             12,196,137      

Other financing sources (uses):

Transfer in 150,000           551,339           551,339           -                       -                       551,339           

Net change in fund balance (1,578,169)       (3,607,053)       12,724,703      16,331,756      22,773             12,747,476      

8,775,781        8,054,521        8,054,522        1                      20,703             8,075,225        

7,197,612$      4,447,468$      20,779,225$    16,331,757$    43,476$           20,822,701$    

Investment earnings

Intergovernmental 

Excess of revenues over

Fund balance, beginning of year

Fund balance, end of year

165 Attachment 1 Page 165 of 230 



Development SEDA

Assessments Development Glenwood

Capital Capital Capital

Projects Projects Projects Total

ASSETS

Cash and investments 798,255$         5,328,159$      58,607$           6,185,021$      

Receivables:

Accrued interest 2,655               14,750             -                       17,405             

Assessments and liens 17,944             -                       -                       17,944             

Total assets 818,854$         5,342,909$      58,607$           6,220,370$      

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF

RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES

Liabilities:

Accounts and contracts payable -$                     14,841$           -$                     14,841$           

Deferred inflows of resources:

Unavailable revenue 17,944             -                       -                       17,944             

Fund balances:

Restricted -                       1,860,284        58,607             1,918,891        

Committed 800,910           2,301,393        -                       3,102,303        

Assigned -                       1,166,391        -                       1,166,391        

Total fund balances 800,910           5,328,068        58,607             6,187,585        

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of

resources, and fund balances 818,854$         5,342,909$      58,607$           6,220,370$      

City of Springfield, Oregon

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

June 30, 2023

NONMAJOR CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS

166 Attachment 1 Page 166 of 230 



Development SEDA
Assessments Development Glenwood

Capital Capital Capital
Projects Projects Projects Total

Revenues:
Intergovernmental 50$                  -$                     -$                     50$                  
Charges for services -                       306,865           -                       306,865           
Investment earnings 19,807             140,992           -                       160,799           
Special assessments 1,351               -                       -                       1,351               

Total revenues 21,208             447,857           -                       469,065           

Expenditures:
Capital projects -                       220,999           -                       220,999           

Excess of revenues over
(under) expenditures 21,208             226,858           -                       248,066           

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfer in 56,312             -                       -                       56,312             

Net change in fund balance 77,520             226,858           -                       304,378           

Fund balance, beginning of year 723,390           5,101,210        58,607             5,883,207        

Fund balance, end of year 800,910$         5,328,068$      58,607$           6,187,585$      

Year Ended June 30, 2023

City of Springfield, Oregon

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

NONMAJOR CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS

167 Attachment 1 Page 167 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

(NONGAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

DEVELOPMENT ASSESSMENTS CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Adjustments
Budget to Budget GAAP

Original Revised Basis Basis Basis
Budget Budget Actual Variance Actual Actual

Revenues:
Taxes -$                  -$                  50$                50$                -$                  50$                
Investment earnings 7,300             7,300             19,495           12,195           312                19,807           

Special assessments 5,000             5,000             1,351             (3,649)           -                    1,351             

Total revenues 12,300           12,300           20,896           8,596             312                21,208           

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfer in 56,312           56,312           56,312           -                    -                    56,312           

Net change in fund balance 68,612           68,612           77,208           8,596             312                77,520           

Fund balance, beginning of year 730,204         721,896         721,895         (1)                  1,495             723,390         

Fund balance, end of year 798,816$       790,508$       799,103$       8,595$           1,807$           800,910$       

168 Attachment 1 Page 168 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

(NONGAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

DEVELOPMENT CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Adjustments
Budget to Budget GAAP

Original Revised Basis Basis Basis
Budget Budget Actual Variance Actual Actual

Revenues:
Charges for services 313,812$         313,812$         306,865$         (6,947)$            -$                     306,865$         
Investment earnings 25,000             25,000             140,535           115,535           457                  140,992           

Total revenues 338,812           338,812           447,400           108,588           457                  447,857           

Expenditures:
Capital projects 313,812           313,812           220,999           92,813             -                       220,999           

Excess of revenues over
(under) expenditures 25,000             25,000             226,401           201,401           457                  226,858           

Other financing sources (uses):
Interfund loan repayments 415,000           415,000           1,300,000        885,000           (1,300,000)       -                       

Net change in fund balance 440,000           440,000           1,526,401        1,086,401        (1,299,543)       226,858           

Fund balance, beginning of year 3,234,469        3,791,631        3,791,631        -                       1,309,579        5,101,210        

Fund balance, end of year 3,674,469$      4,231,631$      5,318,032$      1,086,401$      10,036$           5,328,068$      

169 Attachment 1 Page 169 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

(NONGAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

SEDA GLENWOOD CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Adjustments
Budget to Budget GAAP

Original Revised Basis Basis Basis
Budget Budget Actual Variance Actual Actual

Expenditures:
Capital projects -$                  58,399$        -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  

Net change in fund balance -                     (58,399)         -                     58,399          -                     -                     

Fund balance, beginning of year 208                58,607          58,607          -                     -                     58,607          

Fund balance, end of year 208$              208$              58,607$        58,399$        -$                  58,607$        

170 Attachment 1 Page 170 of 230 



 

 

 

Enterprise Funds 
 

 

 

Combining statements for all individual nonmajor enterprise funds are reported in this section.  

Fund statements for major enterprise funds are reported in the basic financial statements. 

 

Schedules of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net position – budget and actual are 

presented here for each individual enterprise fund.   

 

 

Major Enterprise Funds: 

 

Sewer Fund – This fund accounts for the operation, construction, and maintenance of the 

wastewater collection system.  Primary revenues are sewer user fees and system development 

charges.    

 

Storm Drainage Fund – This fund accounts for the operation, construction, and maintenance of 

the stormwater drainage system.  Primary revenues are storm drainage fees and system 

development charges. 

 

Ambulance Fund – This fund accounts for the City’s ambulance operations.  Revenue sources 

include ambulance transport fees, ambulance billing services fees, and FireMed program 

memberships. 

 

 

Nonmajor Enterprise Fund: 

 

Booth-Kelly Fund – This fund accounts for the cost of managing and maintaining City-owned 

income properties.  The primary revenue source is rental income.  

171 Attachment 1 Page 171 of 230 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

172 Attachment 1 Page 172 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

(NONGAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

SEWER FUND

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Adjustments
Budget to Budget GAAP

Original Revised Basis Basis Basis
Budget Budget Actual Variance Actual Actual

Revenues:
Charges for services 8,002,000$      8,002,000$      8,179,107$      177,107$         55,545$           8,234,652$      

Investment earnings 355,000           355,000           930,139           575,139           14,741             944,880           

Intergovernmental -                       -                       (1,037)             (1,037)             1,037               -                       

Miscellaneous -                       -                       10                    10                    -                       10                    

Total revenues 8,357,000        8,357,000        9,108,219        751,219           71,323             9,179,542        

Expenses:
Current operating:

Development and public works 5,013,493        5,013,493        4,644,500        368,993           101,526           4,746,026        
City managers office 81,907             81,907             43,823             38,084             736                  44,559             
Finance 61,922             61,922             54,130             7,792               -                       54,130             

Debt service:
Principal 1,425,000        1,425,000        1,425,000        -                       (1,425,000)      -                       
Interest 283,000           283,000           283,000           -                       (81,184)           201,816           

Capital projects 10,421,782      10,421,782      2,664,239        7,757,543        (2,664,239)      -                       
Depreciation -                       -                       -                       -                       2,931,853        2,931,853        

Total expenses 17,287,104      17,287,104      9,114,692        8,172,412        (1,136,308)      7,978,384        

Excess of revenues over
(under) expenses (8,930,104)      (8,930,104)      (6,473)             8,923,631        1,207,631        1,201,158        

Other financing sources (uses):
Capital contributions 1,240,000        1,240,000        1,711,581        471,581           2,890,271        4,601,852        

  
Change in fund net position (7,690,104)      (7,690,104)      1,705,108        9,395,212        4,097,902        5,803,010        

Fund net position, beginning of year 33,472,636      34,347,351      34,347,352      1                      44,095,416      78,442,768      

Fund net position, end of year 25,782,532$    26,657,247$    36,052,460$    9,395,213$      48,193,318$    84,245,778$    

173 Attachment 1 Page 173 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

(NONGAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

STORM DRAINAGE FUND

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Adjustments
Budget to Budget GAAP

Original Revised Basis Basis Basis
Budget Budget Actual Variance Actual Actual

Revenues:
Charges for services 8,000,000$      8,000,000$      8,485,613$      485,613$         40,897$           8,526,510$      
Investment earnings 236,000           236,000           645,423           409,423           10,470             655,893           
Intergovernmental 35,000             35,000             40,679             5,679               1,224               41,903             
Miscellaneous -                       -                       17                    17                    -                       17                    

Total revenues 8,271,000        8,271,000        9,171,732        900,732           52,591             9,224,323        

Expenses:
Current operating:

Development and public works 6,969,180        7,202,180        5,999,676        (1,202,504)      (37,806)           5,961,870        
City managers office 82,228             82,228             43,892             (38,336)           737                  44,629             
Finance 61,923             61,923             54,131             (7,792)             -                       54,131             

Debt service:
Principal 498,213           498,213           498,213           -                       (498,213)         -                       
Interest 53,505             53,505             53,504             (1)                    (27,617)           25,887             

Capital projects 6,964,464        7,564,464        261,688           (7,302,776)      (261,688)         -                       
Depreciation -                       -                       -                       -                       648,025           648,025           

Total expenses 14,629,513      15,462,513      6,911,104        (8,551,409)      (176,562)         6,734,542        

Excess of revenues over
(under) expenses (6,358,513)      (7,191,513)      2,260,628        9,452,141        229,153           2,489,781        

Other financing sources (uses):
Capital contributions 540,000           540,000           597,804           57,804             2,152,967        2,750,771        

Change in fund net position (5,818,513)      (6,651,513)      2,858,432        9,509,945        2,382,120        5,240,552        

Fund net position, beginning of year 23,215,934      23,778,168      23,778,168      -                       9,614,982        33,393,150      

Fund net position, end of year 17,397,421$    17,126,655$    26,636,600$    9,509,945$      11,997,102$    38,633,702$    

174 Attachment 1 Page 174 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

(NONGAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

AMBULANCE FUND

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Adjustments
Budget to Budget GAAP

Original Revised Basis Basis Basis
Budget Budget Actual Variance Actual Actual

Revenues:
Charges for services 6,440,760$    7,124,742$    6,498,559$    (626,183)$     10,738,848$  17,237,407$  
  Less:  Contractual adjustments -                    -                    -                    -                    (10,355,796)   (10,355,796)   
Intergovernmental 83,466           197,322         235,136         37,814           (113,275)       121,861         
Investment earnings -                    -                    (8,815)           (8,815)           1,182             (7,633)           
Miscellaneous 6,500             6,500             5,567             (933)              -                    5,567             

Total revenues 6,530,726      7,328,564      6,730,447      (598,117)       270,959         7,001,406      

Expenses:
Current operating:

Fire and life safety 6,781,261      7,432,207      7,427,706      4,501             (9,491)           7,418,215      
Depreciation -                    -                    -                    -                    3,889             3,889             
Contingency 150,000         91,892           -                    91,892           -                    -                    

Total expenses 6,931,261      7,524,099      7,427,706      96,393           (5,602)           7,422,104      

Excess of revenues over
(under) expenses (400,535)       (195,535)       (697,259)       (501,724)       276,561         (420,698)       

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in 325,066         325,066         325,066         -                    -                    325,066         

Change in fund net position (75,469)         129,531         (372,193)       (501,724)       276,561         (95,632)         

Fund net position, beginning of year 81,152           -                    -                    -                    (2,986,399)    (2,986,399)    

Fund net position, end of year 5,683$           129,531$       (372,193)$     (501,724)$     (2,709,838)$   (3,082,031)$   

175 Attachment 1 Page 175 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

(NONGAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

BOOTH-KELLY FUND

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Adjustments
Budget to Budget GAAP

Original Revised Basis Basis Basis
Budget Budget Actual Variance Actual Actual

Revenues:
Charges for services 472,700$       472,700$       585,249$       112,549$       19,786$         605,035$       
Investment earnings 7,622             7,622             44,244           36,622           1,574             45,818           

Total revenues 480,322         480,322         629,493         149,171         21,360           650,853         

Expenses:
Current operating:

City Manager's Office 50,583           50,583           46,971           3,612             -                     46,971           
Development and public works 529,945         1,034,945      1,004,356      30,589           (321,339)       683,017         

Capital projects 190,000         -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
Depreciation -                     -                     -                     -                     59,254           59,254           
Contingency 15,000           -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

Total expenses 785,528         1,085,528      1,051,327      34,201           (262,085)       789,242         

Excess of revenues over
(under) expenses (305,206)       (605,206)       (421,834)       183,372         283,445         (138,389)       

Other financing sources (uses):
Loss on disposal of assets -                     -                     -                     -                     (547,253)       (547,253)       
Transfers out (84,237)         (84,237)         (84,237)         -                     -                     (84,237)         

Total other financing sources (uses) (84,237)         (84,237)         (84,237)         -                     (547,253)       (631,490)       

Change in fund net position (389,443)       (689,443)       (506,071)       183,372         (263,808)       (769,879)       

Fund net position, beginning of year 1,397,076      1,656,710      1,656,710      -                     3,455,605      5,112,315      

Fund net position, end of year 1,007,633$    967,267$       1,150,639$    183,372$       3,191,797$    4,342,436$    

176 Attachment 1 Page 176 of 230 



 

 

 

Internal Service Funds 
 

 

 

 

Combining statements for all internal service funds are reported here.  The combined totals are 

reported alongside the individual enterprise funds in the basic financial statements. 

 

Schedules of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net position – budget and actual are 

presented here for each individual internal service fund. 

 

Vehicle and Equipment Fund – This fund accounts for the ownership and use of major 

equipment.  Resources are provided by charges to other City funds. 

 

Insurance Fund – This fund accounts for the accumulation of resources to provide for the City’s 

insurance, the worker’s compensation program, and the employee benefits programs.  Resources 

are provided by charges to other City funds. 

 

SDC Administration Fund – This fund accounts for the activities required to administer the City’s 

various system development charges.  Resources are provided primarily by charges to other City 

funds. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

177 Attachment 1 Page 177 of 230 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

178 Attachment 1 Page 178 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon

COMBINING STATEMENT OF FUND NET POSITION

INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS

Vehicle
and SDC

Equipment Insurance Administration Total
ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and investments 10,020,042$    15,411,657$    572,803$         26,004,502$    
Prepaids 129,871           43,256             3,270               176,397           
Deposits -                       200,000           -                       200,000           
Accounts receivable 31,931             39,806             190,456           262,193           
Grant receivable -                       -                       45                    45                    
Accrued interest receivable 34,557             51,915             1,701               88,173             
Deferred system development fees -                       -                       94,378             94,378             
Inventory 39,170             -                       -                       39,170             

Total current assets 10,255,571      15,746,634      862,653           26,864,858      

Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets

Machinery and equipment 22,490,301      -                       -                       22,490,301      
Less accumulated depreciation (15,826,808)     -                       -                       (15,826,808)     

Subscription Asset 790,124           54,441             -                       844,565           
Less accumulated amortization (112,918)          (32,939)            -                       (145,857)          

Total net capital assets 7,340,699        21,502             -                       7,362,201        
Net OPEB Asset - RHIA -                       7,377               7,158               14,535             

Total non-current assets 7,340,699        28,879             7,158               7,376,736        

Total assets 17,596,270      15,775,513      869,811           34,241,594      

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred pension outflow -                       114,378           116,361           230,739           
Deferred OPEB outflow -                       8,949               6,987               15,936             

Total deferred outflows -                       123,327           123,348           246,675           

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 99,685             451,450           205                  551,340           
Accrued interest payable 12,188             257                  -                       12,445             
Subscription liability, current portion 129,467           36,527             -                       165,994           
Accrued payroll and other

related liabilities -                       563,836           10,583             574,419           
Due to other funds -                       6,898               -                       6,898               
Unearned revenue -                       55,368             -                       55,368             

Total current liabilities 241,340           1,114,336        10,788             1,366,464        

Noncurrent liabilities:
Accrued absence payable -                       13,225             -                       13,225             
Subscription liability, less current portion 541,243           -                       -                       541,243           
Accrued claims liabilities, less current portion -                       229,819           -                       229,819           
Net pension liability -                       331,614           329,864           661,478           
Net OPEB obligation payable -                       45,876             37,838             83,714             

Total noncurrent liabilities 541,243           620,534           367,702           1,529,479        

Total liabilities 782,583           1,734,870        378,490           2,895,943        

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred pension inflow -                       107,837           119,279           227,116           
Deferred OPEB inflow -                       14,798             14,250             29,048             

Total deferred inflows -                       122,635           133,529           256,164           

FUND NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 6,667,596        (15,025)            -                       6,652,571        
Unrestricted 10,146,091      14,056,360      481,140           24,683,591      

Total fund net position 16,813,687$    14,041,335$    481,140$         31,336,162$    

Year ended June 30, 2023

179 Attachment 1 Page 179 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND 

CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION
INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS

Year ended June 30, 2023

Vehicle
and SDC

Equipment Insurance Administration Total
Operating revenues:  

Intergovernmental -$                        61,724$              -$                        61,724$              
Charges for services 2,915,264           11,872,547        210,776              14,998,587        
Licenses and permits -                          -                          358,353              358,353              
Miscellaneous -                          66,156                3                         66,159                
 

Total operating revenues 2,915,264           12,000,427        569,132              15,484,823        

Operating expenses:
Current operating:

Human resources -                          9,212,052           -                          9,212,052           
Finance -                          2,000,000           41,581                2,041,581           
Information technology 445,380              -                          -                          445,380              
Library 8,000                  -                          -                          8,000                  
Fire and life safety 8,875                  -                          -                          8,875                  
Police 2,473                  -                          -                          2,473                  
Development and public works 681,596              -                          363,186              1,044,782           

Depreciation 1,516,492           32,939                -                          1,549,431           

Total operating expenses 2,662,816           11,244,991        404,767              14,312,574        

Operating income 252,448              755,436              164,365              1,172,249           

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Investment earnings 266,503              384,980              13,001                664,484              
Interest expense (12,270)              (976)                   -                          (13,246)              
Gain/(loss) on disposition of equipment 128,972              -                          -                          128,972              

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 383,205              384,004              13,001                780,210              

Income before capital contributions
     and transfers 635,653              1,139,440           177,366              1,952,459           

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in 12,953                -                          -                          12,953                
Transfers out (36,500)              (29,109)              -                          (65,609)              

                    Total other financing sources (uses) (23,547)              (29,109)              -                          (52,656)              

Change in fund net position 612,106              1,110,331           177,366              1,899,803           

Fund net position, beginning of year 16,201,581        12,931,004        303,774              29,436,359        

Fund net position, end of year 16,813,687$      14,041,335$      481,140$            31,336,162$      

180 Attachment 1 Page 180 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon
COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

Year ended June 30, 2023

Vehicle
and SDC

Equipment Insurance Administration Total
Cash flows from operating activities:  
     Cash received from interfund 
          services provided 2,897,698$      11,843,543$    71,532$           14,812,773$    
     Cash paid for employee services -                       (290,653)          (332,690)          (623,343)          
     Cash paid to suppliers for goods and services  (512,748)          (10,886,470)     (78,813)            (11,478,031)     
     Other operating receipts -                       127,880           358,356           486,236           

                    Net cash provided by operating activities 2,384,950        794,300           18,385             3,197,635        

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities: 
     Operating transfers in from other funds 12,953             -                       -                       12,953             
     Transfers to other funds (36,500)            (29,109)            -                       (65,609)            

                    Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities (23,547)            (29,109)            -                       (52,656)            

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities: 
     Acquisition of capital assets (2,116,686)       -                       -                       (2,116,686)       
     Disposition of capital assets 175,472           -                       -                       175,472           
     Subscription asset (790,124)          (54,441)            -                       (844,565)          
     Principal on long term debt 670,710           36,527             -                       707,237           
     Interest on long term debt (83)                   (719)                 -                       (802)                 

                    Net cash used in capital and related 

                         financing activities (2,060,711)       (18,633)            -                       (2,079,344)       

Cash flows from investing activities: 
     Interest received 261,844           373,453           12,715             648,012           

                    Net change in cash and investments 562,536           1,120,011        31,100             1,713,647        
 
Cash and investments, beginning of year 9,457,506        14,291,646      541,703           24,290,855      

Cash and investments, end of year 10,020,042$    15,411,657$    572,803$         26,004,502$    

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash 
     provided by operating activities: 

Operating income  252,448$         755,436$         164,365$         1,172,249$      
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to  
     net cash provided by operating activities: 
          Depreciation 1,516,492        32,939             -                       1,549,431        
          Changes in assets and liabilities: 
                    Prepaids 653,048           127,859           (3,270)              777,637           
                    Accounts receivable (17,566)            (29,004)            (139,244)          (185,814)          
                    Due to/from other funds -                       6,898               -                       6,898               
                    Inventory 36,390             -                       -                       36,390             
                    Net pension liability and related deferrals -                       (10,637)            (6,991)              (17,628)            
                    Accounts payable (55,862)            (166,082)          52                     (221,892)          
                    Accrued payroll and other liabilities -                       194,284           903                  195,187           
                    Accrued claims liabilities -                       (106,181)          -                       (106,181)          
                    Unearned revenue -                       (9,958)              -                       (9,958)              
                    Net OPEB obligation and related deferrals -                       (1,254)              2,570               1,316               

                         Net cash provided by operating activities 2,384,950$      794,300$         18,385$           3,197,635$      

Noncash capital and related financing activities:
     Accounts payable on capital assets 2,393$             -$                     2,393$             
     Subscription liability on capital assets 670,710           36,527             -                       707,237           

673,103$         36,527$           -$                     709,630$         

INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS  

181 Attachment 1 Page 181 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

(NONGAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT FUND

Year ended June 30, 2023

Adjustments
Budget to Budget GAAP

Original Revised Basis Basis Basis
Budget Budget Actual Variance Actual Actual

Revenues:
Charges for services 2,756,112$    2,756,112$    2,899,504$     143,392$       15,760$         2,915,264$       
Investment earnings 64,006           64,006           264,414          200,408         2,089             266,503            
Miscellaneous -                   -                     175,472        175,472         (175,472)      -                        

Total revenues 2,820,118      2,820,118      3,339,390       519,272         (157,623)       3,181,767         

Expenses:
Current operating:

Finance 500                500                -                      500                -                     -                        
Information technology 636,115         636,115         564,875          71,240           (119,495)       445,380            
Library 8,000             8,000             8,000              -                     -                     8,000                
Fire and life safety 328,300         1,186,027      716,403          469,624         (707,528)       8,875                
Police 370,250         631,250         487,475          143,775         (485,002)       2,473                
Development and public works 948,400         1,598,668      1,598,334       334                (916,738)       681,596            

Debt service:
Interest -                     -                     -                      -                     12,270           12,270              

Depreciation and amortization -                     -                     -                      -                     1,516,492      1,516,492         

Total expenses 2,291,565      4,060,560      3,375,087       685,473         (700,001)       2,675,086         

Excess of revenues over
(under) expenses 528,553         (1,240,442)    (35,697)          1,204,745      542,378         506,681            

Other financing sources (uses):
Gain on disposal of assets -                     -                     -                      -                     128,972         128,972            
Transfers out -                     (36,500)         (36,500)          -                     -                     (36,500)             
Transfers in -                   5,534           5,534              -                     7,419             12,953              

Total other financing sources (uses) -                     (30,966)         (30,966)          -                     136,391         105,425            

Change in fund net position 528,553         (1,271,408)    (66,663)          1,204,745      678,769         612,106            

Fund net position, beginning of year 8,301,631      10,188,555    10,188,555     -                     6,013,026      16,201,581       

Fund net position, end of year 8,830,184$    8,917,147$    10,121,892$   1,204,745$    6,691,795$    16,813,687$     

182 Attachment 1 Page 182 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

(NONGAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
INSURANCE FUND

Year ended June 30, 2023

Adjustments
Budget to Budget GAAP

Original Revised Basis Basis Basis
Budget Budget Actual Variance Actual Actual

Revenues:
Intergovernmental 50,560$           50,560$           41,164$           (9,396)$            20,560$           61,724$           
Charges for services 12,087,112      12,087,112      11,872,547      (214,565)          -                       11,872,547      
Investment earnings 104,897           104,897           378,597           273,700           6,382               384,979           
Miscellaneous 5,500               5,500               59,983             54,483             6,174               66,157             

Total revenues 12,248,069      12,248,069      12,352,291      104,222           33,116             12,385,407      

Expenses:
Current operating:

Human resources 877,871           877,871           760,276           117,595           (49,145)            711,131           
Finance -                       2,000,000        2,000,000        -                       -                       2,000,000        
Health insurance 8,589,515        8,589,515        6,827,191        1,762,324        4,150               6,831,341        
Risk services 2,429,567        2,429,567        1,801,821        627,746           (132,241)          1,669,580        

Debt Service:
Interest -                       -                       -                       -                       976                  976                  

Depreciation and amortization -                       -                       -                       -                       32,939             32,939             
Contingency 200,000           200,000           -                       200,000           -                       -                       

Total expenses 12,096,953      14,096,953      11,389,288      2,707,665        (143,321)          11,245,967      

Excess of revenues over
(under) expenses 151,116           (1,848,884)       963,003           2,811,887        176,437           1,139,440        

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers out -                       (5,534)              (5,534)              -                       (23,575)            (29,109)            

Change in fund net position 151,116           (1,854,418)       957,469           2,811,887        152,862           1,110,331        

Fund net position, beginning of year 13,863,095      13,589,708      13,589,707      (1)                     (658,703)          12,931,004      

Fund net position, end of year 14,014,211$    11,735,290$    14,547,176$    2,811,886$      (505,841)$        14,041,335$    

183 Attachment 1 Page 183 of 230 



City of Springfield, Oregon

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

(NONGAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

SDC ADMINISTRATION FUND

Year ended June 30, 2023

Adjustments
Budget to Budget GAAP

Original Revised Basis Basis Basis
Budget Budget Actual Variance Actual Actual

Revenues:
Charges for services 375,000$      375,000$      203,064$      (171,936)$     7,712$          210,776$      
Licenses and permits 100,000        100,000        226,822        126,822        131,531        358,353        
Investment earnings 2,000            2,000            12,857          10,857          144               13,001          
Intergovernmental -                    -                    (45)                (45)                45                  -                    

Total revenues 477,000        477,000        442,698        (34,302)         139,433        582,131        

Expenses:
Current operating:

Finance 45,055          45,055          41,581          3,474            -                    41,581          
Development and public works 469,638        469,638        367,604        102,034        (4,420)           363,184        

Contingency 10,000          10,000          -                    10,000          -                    -                    

Total expenses 524,693        524,693        409,185        115,508        (4,420)           404,765        

Change in fund net position (47,693)         (47,693)         33,513          81,206          143,853        177,366        

Fund net position, beginning of year 428,403        532,317        532,317        -                    (228,543)       303,774        

Fund net position, end of year 380,710$      484,624$      565,830$      81,206$        (84,690)$       481,140$      

184 Attachment 1 Page 184 of 230 



 
 
 

Statistical Section 
 
 
 
 
This part of the City of Springfield’s annual comprehensive financial report presents detailed 
information as a context for understanding what the information in the financial statements, note 
disclosures, and required supplementary information says about the City’s overall financial 
health. 
 
 
Contents            Page 
 

Financial Trends                  188-195 
 These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how  

the City’s financial performance and well-being have changed over time. 
 

Revenue Capacity                  199-203 
 These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the City’s most 
 significant local revenue source, the property tax. 
 

Debt Capacity                   207-212 
 These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability 
 of the City’s current levels of outstanding debt and the City’s ability to issue 
 additional debt in the future. 
 

Demographic and Economic Information               215-216 
 These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader 
 understand the environment within which the City’s financial activities take  
 place. 
 

Operating Information                  218-223 
 These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader 
 understand how the information in the City’s financial report relates to the 

services the City provides and the activities it performs. 
 
 
 
 
Sources:  Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is derived from the annual 
comprehensive financial reports for the relevant year.   

 
 

 

185 Attachment 1 Page 185 of 230 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

186 Attachment 1 Page 186 of 230 



 

 

 
Financial Trend Information 

187 Attachment 1 Page 187 of 230 



2014 2015 2016 2017

Governmental activities

Net investment in capital assets 107,219,252$   112,632,832$   115,176,581$   122,230,625$   

Restricted 14,144,006       18,977,155       17,357,721       17,295,648       

Unrestricted 20,240,783       4,394,678         (5,988,448)       (11,706,242)     

Total governmental activities net position 141,604,041$   136,004,665$   126,545,854$   127,820,031$   

Business-type activities

Net investment in capital assets 54,491,005$     52,836,347$     54,212,835$     54,802,364$     

Restricted 3,072,205         3,348,526         3,976,909         4,733,337         

Unrestricted 23,137,298       27,590,908       28,145,472       31,242,641       

Total business-type activities net position 80,700,508$     83,775,781$     86,335,216$     90,778,342$     

Primary government

Net investment in capital assets 161,710,257$   165,469,179$   169,389,416$   177,032,989$   

Restricted 17,216,211       22,325,681       21,334,630       22,028,985       

Unrestricted 43,378,081       31,985,586       22,157,024       19,536,399       

Total primary government net position 222,304,549$   219,780,446$   212,881,070$   218,598,373$   

Source:  Financial Statements

Fiscal Year

NET POSITION BY COMPONENT

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

City of Springfield, Oregon

(accrual basis of accounting)

188 Attachment 1 Page 188 of 230 



2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

120,175,702$   129,324,764$   122,555,408$   139,384,434$   156,787,166$   170,120,054$   

22,674,644       20,647,784       20,426,784       18,318,226       31,386,128       47,182,803       

(15,369,959)     (11,948,772)     (1,909,951)       (6,430,326)        (16,230,609)      (10,914,177)      

127,480,387$   138,023,776$   141,072,241$   151,272,334$   171,942,685$   206,388,680$   

55,901,549$     57,366,837$     56,619,451$     59,677,720$     61,382,119$     65,431,182$     

5,457,331         6,575,305         8,505,363         9,429,173         11,980,398       14,442,988       

32,027,245       34,958,604       37,282,183       35,556,795       41,103,207       44,711,097       

93,386,125$     98,900,746$     102,406,997$   104,663,688$   114,465,724$   124,585,267$   

176,077,251$   186,691,601$   179,174,859$   199,062,154$   218,169,285$   235,551,236$   

28,131,975       27,223,089       28,932,147       27,747,399       43,366,526       61,625,791       

16,657,286       23,009,832       35,372,232       29,126,469       24,872,598       33,796,920       

220,866,512$   236,924,522$   243,479,238$   255,936,022$   286,408,409$   330,973,947$   

Fiscal Year

189 Attachment 1 Page 189 of 230 



2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Expenses
Governmental activities:

General government 4,928,452$       5,194,119$       8,055,900$       8,105,716$       7,450,495$       
Fire and life safety 11,736,970       9,905,694         14,789,977       13,351,001       13,890,821       
Police 20,708,780       18,007,975       26,060,501       22,068,423       22,233,956       
Library 1,508,178         1,477,854         2,131,183         1,981,508         1,727,501         
Development and public works 11,925,811       10,605,607       15,857,538       12,483,443       12,687,939       
Depreciation, unallocated 270,618            270,619            250,942            250,435            250,435            
Interest on long-term debt 1,027,212         909,122            744,674            518,495            457,480            

Total governmental activities expense 52,106,021       46,370,990       67,890,715       58,759,021       58,698,627       
Business-type activities:

Sanitary sewer 6,848,708         6,340,495         7,523,149         7,158,008         7,269,835         
Storm drainage 4,407,437         4,259,913         5,982,172         5,559,128         6,316,516         
Booth-Kelly 1,611,902         1,649,088         1,507,253         1,424,527         1,410,609         
Ambulance 5,525,464         5,082,272         7,073,633         6,574,936         6,515,453         

Business-type activities expenses 18,393,511       17,331,768       22,086,207       20,716,599       21,512,413       
Total primary government expenses 70,499,532$     63,702,758$     89,976,922$     79,475,620$     80,211,040$     

Program Revenue
Govermental activities:

Charges for services:
General government 3,766,791$       3,868,870$       3,888,018$       4,078,095$       4,248,830$       
Fire and life safety 1,874,473         1,809,091         1,921,748         1,984,859         1,916,552         
Police 429,497            408,750            346,629            422,625            715,863            
Library 102,737            125,482            106,200            120,912            117,114            
Development and public works 2,054,066         2,710,606         3,420,717         2,884,311         2,626,049         

Operating grants and contributions 5,039,850         4,444,185         4,184,978         4,954,592         5,135,869         
Capital grants and contributions 481,598            9,934,788         4,841,296         4,085,842         2,177,260         

Total governmental activities program revenues 13,749,012       23,301,772       18,709,586       18,531,236       16,937,537       
Business-type activities:

Charges for services:
Sanitary sewer 7,536,486         7,738,487         7,224,927         8,798,173         7,709,636         
Storm drainage 6,347,901         6,613,264         6,892,114         7,408,192         7,194,627         
Booth-Kelly 1,355,337         1,412,722         1,532,687         1,537,293         1,630,764         
Ambulance 5,612,386         6,119,908         6,599,690         6,046,048         5,383,760         

Operating grants and contributions -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        
Capital grants and contributions 16,848              199,269            2,088,254         1,033,069         1,164,761         

Total business-type activities program revenues 20,868,958       22,083,650       24,337,672       24,822,775       23,083,548       
Total primary government program revenues 34,617,970$     45,385,422$     43,047,258$     43,354,011$     40,021,085$     

Net (Expense) Revenue
Governmental activities (38,357,009)$    (23,069,218)$    (49,181,129)$    (40,227,785)$    (41,761,090)$    
Business-type activities 2,475,447 4,751,882 2,251,465 4,106,176 1,571,135
Total primary government net expense (35,881,562)$    (18,317,336)$    (46,929,664)$    (36,121,609)$    (40,189,955)$    

Governmental activities:
Taxes:

Property taxes 28,735,713$     30,497,567$     29,449,109$     30,691,286$     30,910,303$     
Room tax 1,070,722         1,219,497         1,373,464         1,445,031         1,553,872         
Other taxes 3,158,101         3,288,462         3,387,888         3,446,975         3,567,850         

Payment in lieu of taxes 2,390,734         2,404,859         2,392,729         2,353,365         2,414,018         
Investment earnings 361,323            305,267            416,909            573,280            783,330            
Miscellaneous 908,413            857,657            867,789            972,473            1,345,586         
Gain (loss) on disposition of capital assets -                        -                        149,687            -                        -                        
Shared revenue 1,533,466         1,579,978         1,584,743         2,019,553         1,743,533         
Debt forgiveness -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        
Transfers 64,344              71,311              100,000            -                        63,000              

Total governmental activities 38,222,816       40,224,598       39,722,318       41,501,963       42,381,492       
Business-type activities:

Investment earnings 282,238            162,671            227,641            317,398            528,250            
Miscellaneous 92,912              446,106            180,329            19,552              209,703            
Gain (loss) on disposition of capital assets -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        
Transfers (64,344)             (71,311)             (100,000)           -                        (63,000)             

Total business-type activities 310,806            537,466            307,970            336,950            674,953            
Total primary government 38,533,622$     40,762,064$     40,030,288$     41,838,913$     43,056,445$     

Change In Net Position
Governmental activities (134,193)$         17,155,380$     (9,458,811)$      1,274,178$       620,402$          
Business-type activities 2,786,253         5,289,348         2,559,435         4,443,126         2,246,088         
Total primary government 2,652,060$       22,444,728$     (6,899,376)$      5,717,304$       2,866,490$       

1 This schedule reports using the accrual basis of accounting.
2 Expenses include allocated indirect expenses.

Source:  Financial Statements

Fiscal Year

City of Springfield, Oregon
CHANGES IN NET POSITION, LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(accrual basis of accounting)

190 Attachment 1 Page 190 of 230 



Fiscal Year
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

8,570,530$       8,652,793$         8,809,340$        9,053,662$        9,148,194$        
14,187,421       14,732,495         15,675,680        13,521,804        14,415,836        
23,962,665       25,654,527         25,222,243        22,635,549        24,401,419        

2,065,860         2,266,167           2,245,447          2,116,123          2,316,912          
13,921,361       16,950,960         15,977,248        13,014,042        20,391,866        

207,852            231,808              231,809             147,249             55,244               
488,109            556,436              452,538             325,776             276,787             

63,403,798       69,045,186         68,614,305        60,814,205        71,006,258        

7,304,346         7,212,599           7,591,941          7,470,840          8,024,658          
5,968,181         6,633,084           6,860,432          6,326,880          6,767,197          
1,300,368         837,049              502,562             553,805             780,317             
7,212,214         6,886,133           7,194,162          7,036,505          7,410,608          

21,785,109       21,568,865         22,149,097        21,388,030        22,982,780        
85,188,907$     90,614,051$       90,763,402$      82,202,235$      93,989,038$      

4,194,777$       4,116,660$         4,046,675$        3,851,633$        3,919,667$        
2,012,641         1,963,379           1,970,004          1,969,783          1,980,460          
1,041,123         1,013,728           636,755             768,141             1,299,113          

118,372            97,423                80,274               92,961               100,089             
2,880,108         3,617,802           3,042,558          4,146,968          4,749,539          
5,626,172         7,465,635           7,781,066          6,055,257          13,579,392        
4,181,484         4,820,681           10,947,796        13,921,588        24,391,492        

20,054,677       23,095,308         28,505,128        30,806,331        50,019,752        

7,541,750         7,698,075           7,740,534          8,060,782          8,234,652          
7,259,708         7,483,023           7,766,070          8,341,425          8,568,413          
1,481,538         638,301              547,906             549,184             605,035             
7,239,771         6,060,953           4,854,619          8,355,277          7,003,472          

-                        222,080              167,977             52,239               -                         
2,540,505         1,874,362           3,922,047          5,863,574          7,352,623          

26,063,272       23,976,794         24,999,153        31,222,481        31,764,195        
46,117,949$     47,072,102$       53,504,281$      62,028,812$      81,783,947$      

(43,349,121)$    (45,949,878)$     (40,109,177)$    (30,007,874)$    (20,986,506)$    
4,278,163 2,407,929 2,850,056 9,834,451 8,781,415

(39,070,958)$    (43,541,949)$     (37,259,121)$    (20,173,423)$    (12,205,091)$    

33,272,981$     36,796,537$       37,426,263$      38,733,351$      41,709,190$      
1,356,155         1,119,292           1,206,485          1,885,268          1,628,477          
3,473,477         3,618,162           3,744,708          3,768,793          3,920,839          
2,403,565         2,336,861           2,318,473          2,821,285          3,280,621          
1,557,790         1,745,096           600,210             (156,863)            2,738,203          
1,351,036         1,227,437           1,789,005          2,098,685          1,803,375          

-                        -                          -                         -                         8,902                 
2,026,255         2,212,330           2,334,354          2,152,946          2,242,188          

-                        -                          -                         -                         (1,658,465)        
67,548              80,000                889,772             (625,240)            (240,829)            

45,508,807       49,135,715         50,309,270        50,678,225        55,432,501        

1,176,791         1,154,005           283,940             (264,079)            1,638,958          
127,215            24,317                12,467               91,665               5,594                 

-                        -                          -                         -                         (547,253)            
(67,548)             (80,000)               (889,772)            625,240             240,829             

1,236,458         1,098,322           (593,365)            452,826             1,338,128          
46,745,265$     50,234,037$       49,715,905$      51,131,051$      56,770,629$      

2,159,686$       3,185,837$         10,200,093$      20,670,351$      34,445,995$      
5,514,621         3,506,251           2,256,691          10,287,277        10,119,543        
7,674,307$       6,692,088$         12,456,784$      30,957,628$      44,565,538$      

191 Attachment 1 Page 191 of 230 



2014 2015 2016 2017
General Fund

Nonspendable 22,109$            86,584$            98,292$            83,602$            
Restricted -                       -                       -                       -                       
Committed 25,902              83,224              172,840            293,004            
Assigned 600,000            600,000            600,000            1,000,000         
Unassigned 7,698,382         8,553,497         7,999,863         7,387,428         

Total general fund 8,346,393$       9,323,305$       8,870,995$       8,764,034$       

All Other Governmental Funds
Nonspendable 147,593$          205,477$          223,261$          219,897$          
Restricted 9,060,917         13,642,430       14,194,470       13,672,194       
Committed 2,460,530         2,617,234         1,980,130         2,036,262         
Assigned 443,945            644,492            1,493,031         808,377            
Unassigned (64,907)            (23,321)            (37,306)            (142,091)          

Total all other governmental funds 12,048,078$     17,086,312$     17,853,586$     16,594,639$     

Source:  Financial Statements

City of Springfield, Oregon
FUND BALANCES, GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
(modified accrual basis of accounting)

Fiscal Year

192 Attachment 1 Page 192 of 230 



2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

64,408$            118,343$          110,259$         169,293$         194,341$         160,623$         
-                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       

293,004            472,153            -                       -                       -                       -                       
1,000,000         1,000,000         1,000,000        1,000,000        1,000,000        1,000,000        
8,388,052         9,176,504         9,931,764        10,353,531      9,848,436        11,352,700      

9,745,464$       10,767,000$     11,042,023$    11,522,824$    11,042,777$    12,513,323$    

243,998$          520,564$          344,309$         301,174$         337,668$         607,851$         
18,873,553       16,461,113       28,651,926      26,053,526      25,897,514      41,588,250      

2,200,742         2,569,918         3,209,955        3,384,079        3,600,074        4,044,690        
920,076            1,261,961         1,341,713        1,849,430        1,906,931        2,142,232        

-                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       

22,238,369$     20,813,556$     33,547,903$    31,588,209$    31,742,187$    48,383,023$    

Fiscal Year

193 Attachment 1 Page 193 of 230 



2014 2015 2016

Taxes 31,087,716$    33,065,500$    31,862,305$    

Licenses and permits 2,700,850        2,783,280        3,122,149        

Intergovernmental 8,576,500        12,172,857      8,484,882        

Charges for services 7,142,048        7,670,658        9,247,507        

Fines & forfeitures 1,673,933        1,688,251        1,652,415        

Use of money & property 141,996           109,373           170,631           

Special assessments 31,651             45,618             25,265             

Miscellaneous 570,176           708,847           775,308           

Total Revenues 51,924,870      58,244,384      55,340,462      

Current Operating:

General government 6,042,155        6,643,279        8,240,463        

Fire and life safety 11,515,444      11,237,818      11,848,268      

Police 19,118,811      18,997,316      20,231,011      

Library 1,440,438        1,610,330        1,706,475        

Development and public works 9,427,305        9,233,725        9,063,061        

Capital Projects 1,232,663        1,354,801        2,187,974        

Debt service:

Principal 2,507,974        2,602,206        1,630,000        

Interest 1,011,446        913,103           807,469           

Total expenditures 52,296,236      52,592,578      55,714,721      

Excess of revenues over

   (under) expenditures (371,366)          5,651,806        (505,464)          

Transfers in 4,754,376        4,874,912        6,369,454        

Transfers out (4,409,317)       (4,506,705)       (5,801,301)       

Bond sale costs -                       -                       -                       

Issuance of debt -                       -                       16,994,808      

Forgiveness of debt -                       -                       -                       

Payment to refunded bond escrow agent -                       -                       (16,863,603)     

Total other financing sources (uses) 345,059           368,207           699,358           

Net changes in fund balances (26,307)$          6,020,013$      193,894$         

Debt services as a percentage of noncapital expenditures 6.83% 6.84% 4.61%

Notes:

a)  Debt service represents principal and interest incurred during the year.

b)

  construction in progress, buildings and improvements, machinery

  and equipment and other infrastructure.

Source:  Financial Statements

Noncapital expenditures do not include capital outlay for land,

City of Springfield, Oregon

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES, GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(modified accrual basis of accounting)

Fiscal Year

194 Attachment 1 Page 194 of 230 



2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

33,098,818$    33,794,986$    36,634,081$    38,889,782$    39,448,636$      41,397,614$      44,293,541$      

3,325,162        3,251,909        3,184,547        3,384,446        3,421,932          3,580,016          3,523,266          

9,224,182        9,515,619        10,388,913      12,054,048      13,433,515        12,308,507        32,981,255        

8,410,972        8,740,655        8,255,515        9,824,965        9,912,595          11,047,635        12,384,329        

1,655,009        1,813,942        1,819,429        1,577,656        1,316,405          1,138,554          1,148,627          

276,286           427,571           1,017,688        1,205,189        275,832             (271,088)           1,943,731          

18,989             13,082             17,098             15,062             6,621                 18,111               1,351                 

743,777           785,899           1,205,665        1,057,800        1,566,002          1,347,267          1,292,768          

56,753,195      58,343,663      62,522,936      68,008,948      69,381,538        70,566,616        97,568,868        

8,509,994        7,901,804        8,571,201        8,616,360        9,085,862          9,248,427          9,756,768          

12,380,622      12,894,682      13,114,125      13,149,807      14,318,920        14,386,945        15,169,214        

19,388,013      19,748,479      21,115,709      22,052,943      22,352,091        23,010,099        24,659,831        

1,848,510        1,646,799        1,904,135        2,063,085        2,055,401          2,291,515          2,443,004          

9,285,822        9,036,058        9,628,378        11,004,908      12,330,771        10,988,756        17,278,220        

6,204,622        967,170           6,095,447        2,758,368        6,831,924          5,796,262          5,693,185          

2,156,706        1,695,530        2,021,673        4,247,965        4,093,807          4,214,331          4,472,828          

650,730           653,657           674,222           735,544           653,938             531,621             440,942             

60,425,019      54,544,179      63,124,890      64,628,980      71,722,714        70,467,956        79,913,992        

(3,671,824)       3,799,484        (601,954)          3,379,968        (2,241,176)        98,660               17,654,876        

1,775,328        2,729,248        1,458,838        2,025,984        2,739,379          1,757,269          1,977,756          

(1,459,296)       1,229,455        (1,278,261)       (2,271,493)       (1,913,875)        (2,218,817)        (2,165,929)        

-                       -                       -                       (39,159)            -                        -                        (68,596)             

2,000,000        (1,166,455)       -                       10,000,000      -                        -                        2,250,000          

-                       -                       -                       -                       -                        -                        (1,658,465)        

-                       -                       -                       -                       -                        -                        -                        

2,316,032        2,792,248        180,577           9,715,332        825,504             (461,548)           334,766             

(1,355,792)$     6,591,732$      (421,377)$        13,095,300$    (1,415,672)$      (362,888)$         17,989,642$      

5.21% 4.39% 4.71% 7.87% 7.43% 7.27% 6.52%

Fiscal Year

195 Attachment 1 Page 195 of 230 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

196 Attachment 1 Page 196 of 230 



 

 

 
Revenue Capacity Information 

197 Attachment 1 Page 197 of 230 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

198 Attachment 1 Page 198 of 230 



Fiscal year 

ended June 30, Real Property

Manufactured 

Structures Personal Property Utilities

Total Taxable 

Assessed Value 

Including Urban 

Renewal and 

Exempt Property

Total City 

Direct Tax 

Rate

Total 

Urban 

Renewal 

Tax Rate

Estimated Actual 

Taxable Value

2014 * * * * 4,043,528,204$      7.15         0.18         6,450,348,959$      

2015 * * * * 4,253,901,084        7.03         0.22         6,782,631,808        

2016 * * * * 4,339,850,283        6.78         0.21         6,939,893,310        

2017 * * * * 4,471,924,355        6.79         0.21         7,145,332,593        

2018 * * * * 4,624,303,479        6.68         0.24         7,841,457,283        

2019 4,541,773,087$    29,429,233$     197,693,142$      88,220,300$      4,857,115,762        6.77         0.30         8,492,723,597        

2020 4,685,349,599      32,414,522       193,329,553        83,515,100        4,994,608,774        7.27         0.29         9,110,886,037        

2021 4,984,917,360      37,273,263       194,341,228        86,663,100        5,303,194,951        7.20         0.30         9,594,834,513        

2022 5,370,435,687      39,574,783       193,427,657        93,675,700        5,697,113,827        7.19         0.32         10,535,427,628      

2023 5,586,328,747      39,928,605       206,771,625        91,146,914        5,924,175,891        7.05         0.46         12,438,521,879      

Source:  Lane County Department of Assessment and Taxation

* Breakdown of assessed value into categories is not available

City of Springfield, Oregon

ASSESSED VALUE AND  ACTUAL VALUE OF TAXABLE PROPERTY

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

199 Attachment 1 Page 199 of 230 



 Fiscal 

Year 

 Basic 

Rate 

 General 

Obligation 

Debt 

Service 

 Police 

Operating 

Levy 

 Fire 

Operating 

Levy 

 Total 

Direct 

2014 4.67$    0.84$       1.28$      0.36$       7.15$        
2015 4.65      0.74         1.28        0.36         7.03           
2016 4.65      0.49         1.28        0.36         6.78           
2017 4.65      0.50         1.28        0.36         6.79           
2018 4.64      0.40         1.28        0.36         6.68           
2019 4.62      0.39         1.40        0.36         6.77           
2020 4.62      0.89         1.40        0.36         7.27           
2021 4.62      0.82         1.40        0.36         7.20           
2022 4.61      0.80         1.40        0.38         7.19           
2023 4.56      0.71         1.40        0.38         7.05           

Source:  Lane County Department of Assessment & Taxation

City Direct Rates

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING PROPERTY TAX RATES

City of Springfield, Oregon

200 Attachment 1 Page 200 of 230 



 School 

District 

No. 19 

 Lane 

County 

 Lane 

Community 

College 

 Lane 

County 

I.E.D. 

(E.S.D.) 

 

Willamalane 

Park District 

 Springfield 

Economic 

Development 

Agency 

 Upper 

Willamette 

Soil & 

Water 

5.61$    1.91$     0.85$         0.22$       2.42$          0.18$           -               
5.61      1.91       0.85           0.22         2.33            0.22             -               
5.79      1.80       0.81           0.22         2.30            0.21             -               
5.88      1.65       0.83           0.22         2.31            0.21             -               
5.84      1.64       0.83           0.22         2.28            0.24             -               
5.78      1.77       0.83           0.22         2.25            0.30             -               
5.79      1.81       0.82           0.22         2.24            0.29             -               
5.79      1.81       0.95           0.22         2.21            0.30             -               
5.73      1.82       0.94           0.22         2.18            0.32             0.07         
5.63      1.81       0.92           0.21         2.11            0.46             0.07         

Overlapping Rates

201 Attachment 1 Page 201 of 230 



Percentage Percentage
Taxable of Total City Taxable of Total City
Assessed Taxable Assessed Taxable

Taxpayer Value Rank * Assessed Value Value Rank * Assessed Value

IP Eat Three LLC (Weyerhauser) 345,796,754$      1 6.07% 148,905,413$    1 3.68%
McKenzie Willamette Regional Med Ctr 88,670,820          2 1.56%
BRFI Gateway LLC 82,295,371          3 1.45% 63,724,337       3 1.58%
Swanson Group Mfg LLC 76,863,180          4 1.35% 0.00%
PeaceHealth 535,672,326        5 9.41% 381,056,880      5 9.42%
Rosboro LLC 41,422,921          6 0.73%
PacificSource Properties LLC 57,640,933          7 1.01% 26,146,271       10 0.65%
Kingsford Manufacturing 39,177,420          8 0.69%
Borden Chemical Inc 35,615,905          9 0.63%
HSRE NW Spec Clinics Mob LLC 32,717,797          10 0.57%
Symantec Corporation 91,918,795       2 2.27%
RC Springfield 2007 LLC 24,858,230       7 0.61%
Comcast Corporation 38,527,400       4 0.95%
United States bakery 37,917,091       6 0.94%
Shepard investment group LLC 28,131,391       9 0.70%
Symantec Corporation 25,109,463       8 0.62%

Total 1,335,873,427$   23.47% 866,295,271$    21.42%

Source:  Lane County Department of Assessment and Taxation
* Ranked by total taxes paid

City of Springfield, Oregon

PRINCIPAL PROPERTY TAX PAYERS

Current Year and Nine Years Ago 

2023 2014

202 Attachment 1 Page 202 of 230 



Amount

Percentage 

of Levy Amount

Percentage 

of Levy

2014 29,539,586$     27,866,138$     94.3% 1,665,515$       29,531,653$     99.97%
2015 31,427,683       29,665,353       94.4% 1,753,874         31,419,227       99.97%
2016 30,360,092       28,616,502       94.3% 1,734,653         30,351,155       99.97%
2017 31,525,757       29,852,562       94.7% 1,662,556         31,515,118       99.97%
2018 32,210,580       30,617,910       95.1% 1,576,651         32,194,561       99.95%
2019 34,341,345       32,759,524       95.4% 1,557,441         34,316,965       99.93%
2020 37,806,421       36,043,062       95.3% 1,706,589         37,749,651       99.85%
2021 38,412,008       36,786,581       95.8% 1,474,282         38,260,863       99.61%
2022 39,739,637       38,067,836       95.8% 1,382,495         39,450,331       99.27%
2023 42,778,704       40,981,634       95.8% 1,081,519         42,063,153       98.33%

Sources: Lane County Department of Assessments and
Taxation;  Annual Financial Reports

City of Springfield, Oregon

PROPERTY TAX LEVIES AND COLLECTIONS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Collected within the Fiscal Year 

of the Levy

Total Collections and 

Adjustments to Date

Collections & 

Adjustments

Fiscal 

Year 

Ended 

June 30, 

Taxes Levied 

for the Fiscal 

Year

203 Attachment 1 Page 203 of 230 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

204 Attachment 1 Page 204 of 230 



 

 

 
Debt Capacity Information 

205 Attachment 1 Page 205 of 230 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

206 Attachment 1 Page 206 of 230 



Fiscal Year

General 

Obligation 

Bonds Leases Notes Payable

Contracts 

Payable

Revenue 

Bonds Notes Payable

Total Primary 

Government

Percentage 

of Personal 

Income Per Capita

2014 20,597,007$    1,227,516$    977,206$       210,000$       28,363,611$  3,695,017$    55,070,357$     0.41% 917          

2015 18,400,955      676,209         715,000         210,000         26,752,681    3,011,742      49,766,587       0.34% 828          

2016 17,194,064      535,062         520,000         210,000         25,318,704    2,198,125      45,975,955       0.30% 764          

2017 15,717,891      789,049         1,873,246      210,000         23,123,478    1,494,105      43,207,769       0.27% 712          

2018 13,992,095      440,990         4,296,965      210,000         21,190,522    739,418         40,869,990       * 674          

2019 13,243,365      297,355         3,720,293      210,000         19,317,564    505,833         37,294,410       * 608          

2020 19,332,885      150,385         3,152,328      210,000         17,399,607    478,956         40,724,161       * 662          

2021 15,628,404      -                     2,532,522      210,000         14,555,111    478,621         33,404,658       * 536          

2022 11,833,923      31,652           1,887,480      210,000         12,541,012    476,986         26,981,053       * 431          

2023 10,177,666      24,444           1,219,307      210,000         10,465,895    472,123         22,569,435       * 359          

Source:  Annual Financial Reports

* not yet available

City of Springfield, Oregon

RATIO OF OUTSTANDING DEBT, BY TYPE

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Business-Type ActivitiesGovernmental Activities

207 Attachment 1 Page 207 of 230 



Fiscal 

Year

General Obligation 

Bonds

Percentage of 

Actual Taxable 

Value of Property Per Capita

2014 20,597,007$         0.51% 343          

2015 18,400,955           0.43% 306          

2016 17,194,064           0.40% 286          

2017 15,717,891           0.35% 260          

2018 13,992,095           0.30% 230          

2019 13,243,365           0.27% 216          

2020 19,332,885           0.39% 314          

2021 15,628,404           0.29% 251          

2022 11,833,923           0.21% 189          

2023 10,177,666           0.17% 162          

Source: Annual Financial Statements, 

Lane County Department of Assessment & Taxation
Population Research Center Portland State University

City of Springfield, Oregon

RATIO OF GENERAL BONDED DEBT OUTSTANDING

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

208 Attachment 1 Page 208 of 230 



Governmental Unit Debt Outstanding

City's share of 

overlapping debt

City of Springfield - general obligation bonds 10,177,666$         100.00% 10,177,666$           

City of Springfield - notes payable 1,219,307             100.00% 1,219,307               

City of Springfield - contracts payable 210,000                100.00% 210,000                  

City of Springfield - leases 24,444                  100.00% 24,444                    

 City of Springfield - subscriptions 1,126,597             100.00% 1,126,597               

     Total Direct debt 12,758,014$         12,758,014$           

Overlapping Debt

Lane Community College 241,770,000$       14.44% 34,909,896$           

Lane County 328,085,863         14.67% 48,117,073             

School District 19 227,810,893         75.17% 171,243,855           

School District 4J 466,750,402         4.27% 19,920,907             

Lane Education Service District 4,876,958             14.70% 716,996                  

Willamalane Park & Recreation District 10,765,000           93.63% 10,078,871             

Lane County Housing Authority 7,821,113             14.67% 1,147,044               

    Total overlapping debt 1,287,880,228      286,134,641           

     Total direct and overlapping debt 298,892,655$         

Source: Oregon State Treasury

Notes:

a.  Overlapping governments are those that coincide, at least in part, with the geographic boundaries of the City.  This

     schedule estimates the portion of the outstanding debt of those overlapping governments that is borne by the residents

     and businesses of the City.  The State of Oregon, Debt Management Division, provides overlapping debt data based on 

     fair market valuation of properties for each jurisdiction.

b.  Total direct debt and overlapping debt is total direct debt plus gross overlapping debt.

City of Springfield, Oregon

COMPUTATION OF DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES DEBT

JUNE 30, 2023

Percentage applicable 

to the City

209 Attachment 1 Page 209 of 230 



June 30, 2023

Fair market value 12,438,521,879$  

Debt limit 3% of fair market value 373,155,656$       

Amount of debt applicable to debt limit: 7,244,000             

               Total debt margin 365,911,656$       

2014 2015 2016 2017

Debt Limit 193,510,469$     203,478,954$       208,196,799$     214,359,978$     

Total net debt applicable to limit 21,410,000         19,070,000           15,975,000         14,465,000         

Legal debt margin 172,100,469$     184,408,954$       192,221,799$     199,894,978$     

Total net debt applicable to the limit 11.06% 9.37% 7.67% 6.75%

as a percentage of debt limit

Source:  Lane County Assessment & Taxation

City of Springfield Financials

City of Springfield, Oregon

LEGAL DEBT MARGIN INFORMATION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Fiscal Year

210 Attachment 1 Page 210 of 230 



2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

235,243,718$     254,781,708$     273,326,581$     287,845,035$     316,062,829$     373,155,656$     

13,075,000         11,630,000         17,950,000         14,476,000         10,912,000         7,244,000           

222,168,718$     243,151,708$     255,376,581$     273,369,035$     305,150,829$     365,911,656$     

5.56% 4.56% 6.57% 5.03% 3.45% 1.94%

Fiscal Year

211 Attachment 1 Page 211 of 230 



Fiscal 

Year System Revenues

Less: 

Operating 

Expenses

Net Available 

Revenue Principal Interest Coverage

2014 14,102,581$      7,954,941$    6,147,640$    1,515,000$    1,144,050$    2.31         

2015 14,819,959        7,270,726      7,549,233      1,560,000      1,097,325      2.84         

2016 15,814,960        9,925,186      5,889,774      1,380,000      1,039,531      2.43         

2017 17,544,930        8,584,216      8,960,714      1,425,000      988,281         3.71         

2018 16,755,001        9,430,586      7,324,415      1,755,000      656,409         3.04         

2019 17,132,240        9,117,789      8,014,451      1,695,000      724,400         3.31         

2020 17,822,336        9,955,541      7,866,795      1,740,000      673,400         3.26         

2021 17,576,152        11,031,158    6,544,994      1,795,000      533,790         2.81         

2022 19,215,611        10,314,375    8,901,236      1,862,195      397,246         3.94         

2023 20,590,122        10,905,342    9,684,780      1,923,213      336,504         4.29         

Source: Annual Financial Reports

System revenues include user fees, system development charges and miscellaneous revenue.

City of Springfield, Oregon

PLEDGED-REVENUE COVERAGE

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Debt Service

Local Sewer Revenue Bonds

212 Attachment 1 Page 212 of 230 



 

 

 
Demographic and Economic Information 

213 Attachment 1 Page 213 of 230 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

214 Attachment 1 Page 214 of 230 



Personal Per
Income Capita

(thousands Personal School Unemployment
Year Population of dollars) Income Enrollment Rate

2014 60,065 13,392,647$      37,374$     10,384 6.8%
2015 60,135 14,597,955        40,259       10,249 5.7%
2016 60,140 15,160,278        41,027       10,315 5.0%
2017 60,655 16,275,200        43,430       10,366 4.4%
2018 60,865 17,050,394        45,018       10,133 4.3%
2019 61,355 17,859,486        46,752       10,200 4.0%
2020 61,535 19,634,078        51,272       9,746 7.9%
2021 62,352 21,131,525        55,146       9,779 5.5%
2022 62,646 21,483,599        56,188       9,619 4.0%
2023 62,926 1 * * 8,433 4.0%

Sources: Population information provided by the Population Research Center, Portland State University.
Personal income and Per Capita income provided by Bureau of Economic Analysis and represents
   all of Lane County.
School enrollment data provided by Springfield School District No. 19.
Unemployment data provided by Bureau of Labor and statistics and represents the 
      annual average for the entire Eugene-Springfield Metropolitan area

* Not yet available
1 Most recent information from Population Research Center at PSU is 2023 Estimate

City of Springfield, Oregon

DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC STATISTICS

LAST TEN CALENDAR YEARS

215 Attachment 1 Page 215 of 230 



Percentage
Estimated average of Total City

Employer** Employees Rank Employment
Peace Health Oregon Region 3,370       1 12.62%
McKenzie Willamette Hospital 1,400       2 5.24%
Springfield School District #19 1,205       3 4.51%
Top 3 Technology Employers 900          4 3.37%
Top 3 Wood product employers 850          5 3.18%
Top 3 Food and beverage employers 525          6 1.97%
City of Springfield 427          7 1.60%
State Government 300          8 1.12%
Willamalane Park and Recreation District 317          9 1.19%
Federal Government 210          10 0.79%

Total 9,504       35.59%

Percentage
Estimated average of Total City

Employer** Employees Rank Employment

Peace Health Oregon Region 3451 1 14.08%
Symantic 1600 2 6.53%
Springfield School District #19 1197 3 4.88%
Royal Caribbean Cruise Lines 900 4 3.67%
McKenzie Willamette Hospital 892 5 3.64%
City of Springfield 407 6 1.66%
Willamalane Park and Recreation District 368 7 1.50%
Wal-Mart 352 8 1.44%
Peace Health Medical Laboratories 346 9 1.41%
Lane Transit District 303 10 1.24%

Total 9816 40.04%

Source:  City Economic Development Division
** Due to confidentiality - the department of labor no longer discloses 
     employee numbers for private companies.

City of Springfield, Oregon

PRINCIPAL EMPLOYERS

CURRENT YEAR AND NINE YEARS AGO

2023

2014

216 Attachment 1 Page 216 of 230 



 

 

 
Operating Information 

217 Attachment 1 Page 217 of 230 



2014 2015 2016 2017
Function/Program

General government
City management 7.00 7.50 7.50 7.50
Finance 9.50 9.50 11.70 11.70
Human resources 6.00 6.00 6.00 8.00
Information technology 10.00 10.00 15.00 15.00
Legal/Judicial services 8.84 8.84 8.84 8.84

Police 122.99 123.00 123.00 124.00
Fire and Life Safety 100.00 99.00 99.00 97.50
Development and public works 129.75 130.00 123.00 123.00
Library 12.60 13.10 13.50 13.50

Total 406.68 406.94 407.54 409.04

Source:  
City Budget Office - Based on published Budgeted FTE as of July 1, prior year

City of Springfield, Oregon
FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT CITY GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES BY FUNCTION/PROGRAM

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Fiscal Year

218 Attachment 1 Page 218 of 230 



2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 9.00
9.70 9.70 9.65 9.95 9.95 19.14
8.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 8.00

14.80 15.80 15.80 14.80 14.80 10.00
8.84 11.84 12.09 12.09 12.09 3.00

123.00 123.00 123.00 123.50 122.00 124.00
95.75 101.65 101.65 92.00 91.00 93.00

126.38 126.55 128.55 134.05 136.05 144.85
14.13 15.06 15.13 16.03 16.63 16.00

407.60 417.60 419.87 416.42 416.52 426.99

Fiscal Year

219 Attachment 1 Page 219 of 230 



2014 2015 2016
Function/Program

Police
Criminal arrests (charges) 9,221 7,672 8,506
Parking violations 360 209 244
Traffic violations 7,517 7,775 8,219

Fire and life safety
Number of fire stations 5 5 5
Incident responses 8,076 8,651 8,626
Fire incidents 206 177 185
Inspections 121 138 123

Library 
Number of public computer log-ins **** 70,756 56,666 53,733
Number of patron visits ****
Total volumes loaned **** 354,503 365,497 364,823

Development and public works
Crack sealing (in miles) 28 11 12
Potholes repaired 1,047 775 ***
Storm lines high velocity cleaning (in feet) 1,811 2,200 1,500
Sanitary lines high velocity cleaning (in feet) 363,748 426,466 601,920
Number of building permits ** 433 466 224
Building valuation (in thousands) $  44,621 $  51,818 $  77,150

Sources:  Various city departments
* City of Eugene provides Fire and life safety statistics - between 2011 and 2014, the Cities 

of Eugene and Springfield merged the departments.  From 2014 on, the statics represent 
Incident Responses, Fire Incidents and Inspections done inside the City of Springfield by 
employees who may be Springfield or Eugene employees.
Prior to 2014, comparable data is unavailable.

** New constructions permits
*** Data not available

**** During FY21, the Library was mostly not open to patrons due to COVID19, instead of 
patron visits the number of phone calls received was recorded above.  For FY22 we 
returned to number of patron visits.  In FY21, loaned materials were delivered curbside
to patrons who reserved them online and public computers were seldom available.
During FY23, the Library was having issues with the door tracking software, which is why
FY23 is so much lower than FY22

Fiscal Year

City of Springfield, Oregon
OPERATING INDICATORS BY FUNCTION/PROGRAM

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

220 Attachment 1 Page 220 of 230 



2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

9,348 9,367 8,462 7,282 6,721 7,543 3,719
607 558 818 736 599 673 756

8,087 7,997 7,644 7,633 6,130 6,834 5,571

5 5 5 5 5 5 5
8,625 8,714 9,283 8,985 9,159 10,344 10,353

167 162 180 132 221 190 202
214 262 257 236 67 135 158

25,683 21,958 22,220 14,373 1,990 6,277 12,481
4,225 202,618 107,912

355,848 365,763 376,622 321,688 107,256 193,782 206,648

0.14 2 4 18 7 11 5
*** 1,103 1,634 1,705 1,705 1,699 1,119

2,000 4,661 20,000 3,600 3,613 2,933 0
786,000 646,635 510,000 331,601 333,600 452,500 491,569

427 1,541 2,236 2,349 2,575 2,829 2,728
$  91,011 $  71,631 $  88,928 $  115,946 $  91,536 $  147,667 $  187,826

Fiscal Year

221 Attachment 1 Page 221 of 230 



2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Function/Program

Police
Stations 1 1 1 1 1
Patrol units 20 20 20 24 24

Fire stations 5 5 5 5 5
Public works

Streets (lane miles) 423 444 442 443 447
Street lights 4,300 4,362 4,338 4,227 4,431
Traffic signals 68 83 93 78 72

Sources:  Various city departments
* Number of traffic signals for 2019 includes only those owned by Springfield. 

Prior years include signals installed within Springfield but owned by ODOT
(Oregon Department of Transportation)

** Unavailable

City of Springfield, Oregon

CAPITAL ASSET STATISTICS BY FUNCTION/PROGRAM

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Fiscal Year

222 Attachment 1 Page 222 of 230 



2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

1 1 1 1 1

26 30 30 30 36

5 5 5 5 5

447 448 449.6 451.5 455.8
4,518 ** 4,385 4,726 4,751

44 40 43 43 43

Fiscal Year

223 Attachment 1 Page 223 of 230 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

224 Attachment 1 Page 224 of 230 



 

 

 
Compliance Section 

225 Attachment 1 Page 225 of 230 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

226 Attachment 1 Page 226 of 230 



 

 

 
Audit Comments 

227 Attachment 1 Page 227 of 230 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

228 Attachment 1 Page 228 of 230 



 

475 Cottage Street NE, Suite 200, Salem, OR 97301  T: 503.581.7788  E: info@gms.cpa  www.redw.com/gms 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

REQUIRED BY OREGON STATE REGULATIONS 
 
 
To the Honorable Mayor, Members of the 
  City Council and the City Manager 
City of Springfield 
Springfield, Oregon 
 
We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States, the basic financial statements of the City of Springfield, Oregon 
as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and have issued our report thereon dated December 15, 2023.   
 
Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City's financial statements are free of material 
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, 
and grants, including the provisions of Oregon Revised Statutes as specified in Oregon Administrative 
Rules 162-10-000 through 162-10-320 of the Minimum Standards for Audits of Oregon Municipal 
Corporations, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of 
financial statements amounts.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not 
an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.   
 
We performed procedures to the extent we considered necessary to address the required comments and 
disclosures which included, but were not limited to the following: 
 

 Deposit of public funds with financial institutions (ORS Chapter 295). 
 Indebtedness limitations, restrictions and repayment. 
 Budgets legally required (ORS Chapter 294). 
 Insurance and fidelity bonds in force or required by law. 
 Programs funded from outside sources. 
 Highway revenues used for public highways, roads, and streets. 
 Authorized investment of surplus funds (ORS Chapter 294). 
 Public contracts and purchasing (ORS Chapters 279A, 279B, 279C). 
 Accountability for collecting or receiving money by elected officials - no money was collected 

or received by elected officials. 
 
In connection with our testing nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe the City was not in 
substantial compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants, including the 
provisions of Oregon Revised Statutes as specified in Oregon Administrative Rules 162-10-000 through 
162-10-320 of the Minimum Standards for Audits of Oregon Municipal Corporations.

229 Attachment 1 Page 229 of 230 



 
 
 
 

475 Cottage Street NE, Suite 200, Salem, OR 97301  T: 503.581.7788  E: info@gms.cpa  www.redw.com/gms 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City's internal control 
over financial reporting to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the 
purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control over financial reporting.  Accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control.  
 
Restriction on Use 
 
This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Honorable Mayor, City Council and 
management of the City of Springfield, Oregon and the Oregon Secretary of State and is not intended to be 
and should not be used by anyone other than these parties. 
 
 
   GROVE, MUELLER & SWANK, P.C. 
   CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 
 
 
 
   By:   
    Ryan T. Pasquarella, Principal 
    December 15, 2023 
 

230 Attachment 1 Page 230 of 230 



 

475 Cottage Street NE, Suite 200, Salem, OR 97301  T: 503.581.7788  E: info@gms.cpa  www.redw.com/gms 

 
December 15, 2023 

 
 
To the Honorable Mayor, Members of the 
  City Council and the City Manager 
City of Springfield 
Springfield, Oregon 
 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the City of Springfield and the Springfield Economic Development 
Agency (collectively known as the City) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and have issued our report 
thereon dated December 15, 2023. Professional standards require that we advise you of the following matters relating 
to our audit. 
 
Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit 
 
As communicated in our engagement letter dated June 5, 2023, our responsibility, as described by professional 
standards, is to form and express opinions about whether the financial statements that have been prepared by 
management with your oversight are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our audit of the financial statements does not relieve 
you or management of your respective responsibilities. 
 
Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain reasonable, 
rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit of 
financial statements includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the City’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, as part of our audit, we considered 
the internal control of the City solely for the purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide any 
assurance concerning such internal control. 
 
We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our professional 
judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process. However, we are not 
required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to communicate to you.  
 
Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit 
 
We conducted our audit consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously communicated to you. 
 
Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence 
 
The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, and our firm have complied with all relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence.  

Attachment 2 Page 1 of 10 



 

Page 2 of 4 
 

475 Cottage Street NE, Suite 200, Salem, OR 97301  T: 503.581.7788  E: info@gms.cpa  www.redw.com/gms 

 
 
 
Significant Risks Identified 
 
We have identified the following significant risks: 
 

The possibility that management could override the system of controls. This risk is always identified and 
addressed by our planned audit procedures. This is not indicative of any unusual circumstances observed 
within your organization. 
 
The possibility the Emergency Medical Services (EMS) revenues are miscalculated. This risk was identified 
as EMS revenues:  

 Continue to utilize two billing system software programs to account for client billings,  
 EMS billings are subject to large write-off’s and write-downs by either a contractual or non-

contractual obligation as determined by the reviewing technician, 
 Write-off’s were previously not reviewed by management, and 
 Allowance for bad debt determination. 

 
The possibility revenues and receivables are mis-recorded. This risk was identified as the City has several 
sources of revenue and there is a risk those revenues were not recorded on the books or recorded in the 
wrong fiscal period. 
 
The possibility of misclassifying expenditures. This risk was identified due to management recording and 
classifying expenditures in different funds to stay within the funds adopted budget and avoid over-
expenditures.    

 
Qualitative Aspects of the City’s Significant Accounting Practices 
 
Significant Accounting Policies 
 
Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary of the significant 
accounting policies adopted by the City is included in the notes to the financial statements. During the year, the City 
implemented the new GASB 96 pronouncement. See the notes to basic financial statements for details. No matters 
have come to our attention that would require us, under professional standards, to inform you about (1) the methods 
used to account for significant unusual transactions and (2) the effect of significant accounting policies in 
controversial or emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. 
 
Significant Accounting Estimates 
 
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are based on 
management’s current judgments. Those judgments are normally based on knowledge and experience about past and 
current events and assumptions about future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because 
of their significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may 
differ markedly from management’s current judgments. 
 
The most sensitive accounting estimates affecting the financial statements are: 

 
 Management’s estimate of other post-employment benefits, based on calculations from an independent third-

party actuary.  
 Management’s estimate of the net pension liability related to OPERS and the City Retirement Plan, based 

on calculations from an independent third-party actuary. 
 

Attachment 2 Page 2 of 10 



 

Page 3 of 4 
 

475 Cottage Street NE, Suite 200, Salem, OR 97301  T: 503.581.7788  E: info@gms.cpa  www.redw.com/gms 

 
 
 

 Management’s estimate of the carrying value of capital assets, based on management's determination of the 
useful lives and future economic benefit of the assets.  

 Management’s estimate of the allowance for doubtful accounts, based on past experience with uncollected 
accounts.  

 Management’s estimate of the fair market value of investments, based on third-party brokerage information.   
 Management’s estimate of the self-insured health insurance liability, based on claims actually paid following 

year-end.  
 Management’s estimate of the self-insured workers compensation liability, based on calculations from an 

independent third-party actuary.  
 
We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the estimates and determined that they are reasonable 
in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole and in relation to the applicable opinion units. 
 
Financial Statement Disclosures  
 
Certain financial statement disclosures involve significant judgment and are particularly sensitive because of their 
significance to financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the City’s financial statements 
relate to the fair value estimates related to the City’s investments and the estimated liabilities related to OPERS, the 
City Retirement Plan, OPEB and self-insurance. 
 
Significant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit 
 
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the performance of the audit. 
 
Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements 
 
For purposes of this communication, professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely 
misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and communicate them to the 
appropriate level of management. Further, professional standards require us to also communicate the effect of 
uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the relevant classes of transactions, account balances or 
disclosures, and the financial statements as a whole and each applicable opinion unit. There were no uncorrected 
misstatements. 
 
In addition, professional standards require us to communicate to you all material, corrected misstatements that were 
brought to the attention of management as a result of our audit procedures. There were no corrected or uncorrected 
misstatements. 
 
Disagreements with Management 
 
For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a matter, whether or 
not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter, which could be 
significant to the City’s financial statements or the auditor’s report. No such disagreements arose during the course 
of the audit. 
 
Representations Requested from Management 
 
We have requested certain written representations from management, which are included in the attached letter dated 
December 15, 2023. 
  

Attachment 2 Page 3 of 10 



 

Page 4 of 4 
 

475 Cottage Street NE, Suite 200, Salem, OR 97301  T: 503.581.7788  E: info@gms.cpa  www.redw.com/gms 

 
 
 
Management’s Consultations with Other Accountants 
 
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting matters. 
Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no consultations with other accountants regarding 
auditing and accounting matters. 
 
Other Significant Matters, Findings, or Issues 
 
In the normal course of our professional association with the City, we generally discuss a variety of matters, including 
the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, significant events or transactions that occurred during 
the year, operating and regulatory conditions affecting the entity, and operational plans and strategies that may affect 
the risks of material misstatement. None of the matters discussed resulted in a condition to our retention as the City’s 
auditors. 
 
 
Restriction on Use 
 
This report is intended solely for the information and use of the City Council and management of the City of 
Springfield and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 
 
        

Very truly yours, 
 
 
 
       CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

Attachment 2 Page 4 of 10 



Attachment 2 Page 5 of 10 



Attachment 2 Page 6 of 10 



Attachment 2 Page 7 of 10 



Attachment 2 Page 8 of 10 



Attachment 2 Page 9 of 10 



Attachment 2 Page 10 of 10 



 AGENDA  ITEM  SUMMARY Meeting Date:  
 Meeting Type: Regular Meeting 
 Staff Contact/Dept.: Amanda Clinton, 

Development and Public 
Works 

 Staff Phone No: 541-726-3628 
 Estimated Time: Consent Calendar 
S P R I N G F I E L D 
C I T Y   C O U N C I L 

Council Goals: Maintain and Improve 
Infrastructure and 
Facilities 

 
ITEM TITLE: ACCEPTANCE OF PROJECT P21181 S.37TH, S. 38TH, OSAGE, AND JANUS 

SANITARY SEWER EXTENTIONS.   
 

ACTION 
REQUESTED: 

 
Adopt or reject the following resolution: 
 
A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT CITY PROJECT P21181 S.37TH, S. 38TH, OSAGE, 
AND JANUS SANITARY SEWER EXTENSIONS.   
 

ISSUE 
STATEMENT: 

H & J Construction has completed the sewer extension work for this Project. City 
staff have completed the final inspection, paperwork, and approval. The project is 
now ready for the City Council to formally accept the work. 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 1. Resolution 
2. Before, During and After Photos 
 

DISCUSSION/ 
FINANCIAL 
IMPACT: 

Construction has been completed for project P21181- S.37TH, S. 38TH, Osage, and 
Janus Sanitary Sewer Expansion. This locally delivered sewer extension project 
consisted of installing 3182 lineal feet of 8-inch diameter PVC pipe and installing 
maintenance holes, service laterals, cleanouts, and slurry seals. The project also 
included pavement restoration and took place at four separate locations.   
 
This project has been completed with a final cost of $838,695.20.   
 
All work under this contract has been completed and inspected by the City 
Engineer or designee and found satisfactory.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

1/29/2024



 

 

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, OREGON 
RESOLUTION NO. ___________  

 
RESOLUTION ACCEPTING CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECT P21181 

 
WHEREAS, work on the improvement described below has been fully completed and has been 

duly inspected by the City Engineer of the City of Springfield: P21181, S.37th, S. 38th, Osage and 

Janus Sanitary Sewer Extensions, Capital Improvement Project; 

WHEREAS, said work was found to be in conformance with the terms of the Public 

Improvement Permit and plans submitted by the Engineer of Record and approved by the City 

Engineer; and 

WHEREAS, it is the recommendation of the City Engineer that this Capital Improvement 

Project be accepted and permanently included in the improvement maintenance program of the 

City of Springfield. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
SPRINGFIELD: 
 

Section 1:   The Common Council of the City of Springfield does hereby accept for 
future maintenance the above-described project and accepts said improvement from the 
Developer involved. 

 
Section 2:   This Resolution will take effect upon adoption by the Council and 

approval by the Mayor. 
 

ADOPTED by the Common Council of the City of Springfield this 16th day of January 
2024, by a vote of _____ for and ____ against. 

 
 
 

       
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________ 
City Recorder 
 
 

 

Attachment 1 Page 1 of 1 



OSAGE (BEFORE) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment 2 Page 1 of 4 



OSAGE (DURING CONSTRUCTION) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment 2 Page 2 of 4 



OSAGE (AFTER) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment 2 Page 3 of 4 



 

OSAGE (AFTER) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment 2 Page 4 of 4 



AGENDA  ITEM  SUMMARY Meeting Date:  
 Meeting Type: Regular Meeting 
 Staff Contact/Dept.: Andy Limbird, DPW 
 Staff Phone No: 541-726-3784 
 Estimated Time: Consent Calendar 
S P R I N G F I E L D 
C I T Y   C O U N C I L 

Council Goals: Encourage Economic Development and 
Revitalization through Community 
Partnerships 

 
ITEM TITLE: REQUEST FOR METRO PLAN DIAGRAM AMENDMENT AND ZONE CHANGE FOR 4.99 

ACRES OF PROPERTY LOCATED AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF GAME FARM ROAD 
AND MAPLE ISLAND ROAD.  

ACTION 
REQUESTED: 

Conduct a second reading and adopt/not adopt the following ordinance: 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE EUGENE-SPRINGFIELD METROPOLITAN AREA 
GENERAL PLAN (METRO PLAN) DIAGRAM BY REDESIGNATING APPROXIMATELY 4.99 
ACRES OF LAND FROM CAMPUS INDUSTRIAL (CI) TO COMMERCIAL (C); 
CONCURRENTLY AMENDING THE GATEWAY REFINEMENT PLAN DIAGRAM BY 
REDESIGNATING THE SAME 4.99 ACRES OF LAND FROM CAMPUS INDUSTRIAL (CI) TO 
COMMUNITY COMMERCIAL (CC); CONCURRENTLY AMENDING THE SPRINGFIELD 
ZONING MAP BY REZONING THE SAME 4.99 ACRES OF LAND FROM CAMPUS 
INDUSTRIAL (CI) TO MEDICAL SERVICES (MS); ADOPTING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE 
AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  (SECOND READING). 

ISSUE 
STATEMENT: 

The applicant has submitted concurrent Metro Plan diagram and Zoning Map amendment applications 
for vacant property at the northeast corner of the intersection of Game Farm Road and Maple Island 
Road.    

ATTACHMENTS 1. Ordinance 
Exhibit A:  Map and Legal Description 
Exhibit B:  Staff Report for Metro Plan Amendment 
Exhibit C:  Staff Report for Zoning Map Amendment 

2. Site maps for Metro Plan Amendment & Zone Change 
3. Application and Exhibits – Metro Plan Amendment  
4. Application and Exhibits – Zone Change 
5. PC Order & Recommendation – Metro Plan Amendment Application 811-23-000182-TYP4 
6. PC Order & Recommendation – Zoning Map Amendment Application 811-23-000181-TYP3 
7. Comments from Nancy Fuhrman 

DISCUSSION/ 
FINANCIAL 
IMPACT: 

The subject property is comprised of four separate tax lots (or portions thereof) owned by PeaceHealth 
and the site adjoins the existing PeaceHealth Riverbend Annex facility located at 123 International 
Way.  The site comprises approximately 4.99 acres and it is located at the northeast corner of the 
intersection of Game Farm Road and Maple Island Road.  The property is zoned and designated for 
Campus Industrial use but is currently vacant and is not assigned a municipal street address 
(Assessor’s Map 17-03-15-40, Tax Lot 1000 and Portions of Tax Lots 800, 900 & 1100).  Concurrent 
with redesignation of the subject property, the Gateway Refinement Plan diagram would be amended 
to change the designation from Campus Industrial to Community Commercial.    
  
The applicant is requesting the Metro Plan diagram amendment and Zone Change for the property to 
facilitate future construction of a rehabilitation hospital on the site.  The current Campus Industrial 
zoning does not list medical clinics or hospitals as an allowable use on the site.  Additionally, the 
proposed Medical Services zoning requires an underlying Commercial designation for the property.    
The Medical Services district is currently applied to the Sacred Heart Medical Center at Riverbend site 
because it accommodates hospitals, medical clinics, medical laboratories, medical and administrative 
offices and other related medical facility uses.  
 
The City Council conducted a public hearing on the proposal to amend the Metro Plan diagram and 
Zoning Map on January 2, 2024.  The applicant made a presentation in support of the proposal and no 
other testimony was received at the public hearing.  The City Council is now requested to conduct a 
second reading and consider adopting the Ordinance at the regular meeting on January 16, 2024.   

 

1/29/2024



  

 

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, OREGON 
ORDINANCE NO.______________ (GENERAL) 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE EUGENE-SPRINGFIELD METROPOLITAN AREA GENERAL 

PLAN (METRO PLAN) DIAGRAM BY REDESIGNATING APPROXIMATELY 4.99 ACRES OF LAND 
FROM CAMPUS INDUSTRIAL (CI) TO COMMERCIAL (C); CONCURRENTLY AMENDING THE 

GATEWAY REFINEMENT PLAN DIAGRAM TO REDESIGNATE THE SAME 4.99 ACRES OF LAND 
FROM CAMPUS INDUSTRIAL (CI) TO COMMUNITY COMMERCIAL (CC); CONCURRENTLY 

AMENDING THE SPRINGFIELD ZONING MAP BY REZONING THE SAME 4.99 ACRES OF LAND 
FROM CAMPUS INDUSTRIAL (CI) TO MEDICAL SERVICES (MS); ADOPTING A SEVERABILITY 

CLAUSE AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 
 

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SPRINGFIELD FINDS THAT: 
 
WHEREAS, Springfield Development Code (SDC) 5.14.100 sets forth procedures for Metro Plan 
diagram amendments; and 
 
WHEREAS, SDC 5.14.115(A) classifies amendments to the Metro Plan diagram for land inside the 
Springfield City limits as being Type I Metro Plan amendments that require approval by Springfield only; 
and  
 
WHEREAS, SDC 5.14.125(A) sets forth procedures for property owners to initiate a Type I Metro Plan 
diagram amendment for property under their ownership; and 
 
WHEREAS, the applicant/owner of the subject property initiated Type I Metro Plan diagram amendment 
as follows:  
 

Redesignate approximately 4.99 acres of property that is located at the northeast corner of the 
intersection of Game Farm Road and Maple Island Road, identified as Assessor’s Map 17-03-15-
40, Tax Lot 1000 and Portions of Tax Lots 800, 900 & 1100, as generally depicted and more 
particularly described in Exhibit A to this Ordinance, from Campus Industrial to Commercial; and  
 

WHEREAS, SDC 5.14.120(D) provides that when a Metro Plan diagram amendment is enacted that 
requires an amendment to a refinement plan for consistency, the Metro Plan diagram amendment 
automatically amends the refinement plan diagram if no amendment to the refinement plan text is 
involved; and 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to SDC 5.14.120(D) the Gateway Refinement Plan diagram has been amended as 
follows:   
 

Redesignate approximately 4.99 acres of property that is located at the northeast corner of the 
intersection of Game Farm Road and Maple Island Road, identified as Assessor’s Map 17-03-15-
40, Tax Lot 1000 and Portions of Tax Lots 800, 900 & 1100, as generally depicted and more 
particularly described in Exhibit A to this Ordinance, from Campus Industrial to Community 
Commercial; and  

 
WHEREAS, SDC 5.22.110 sets forth procedures for property owners to initiate an amendment to the 
Springfield Zoning Map; and 
 
WHEREAS, SDC 5.22.110(A)(1) sets forth procedures for concurrent amendments to the Metro Plan 
diagram and Springfield Zoning Map through the Legislative Zoning Map amendment process; and  
 

Attachment 1 Page 1 of 35 



  

 

WHEREAS the applicant/owner of the subject property initiated the following Springfield Zoning Map 
amendment: 
 

Rezone approximately 4.99 acres of property identified herein as Assessor’s Map 17-03-15-40, 
Tax Lot 1000 and Portions of Tax Lots 800, 900 & 1100, as generally depicted and more 
particularly described in Exhibit A to this Ordinance, from Campus Industrial to Medical Services; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, on November 7, 2023 the Springfield Planning Commission conducted a public hearing on 
the proposed Metro Plan diagram amendment request and concurrent request for Zoning Map 
amendment;  the Development & Public Works Department staff reports, including criteria of approval, 
findings and recommendations, together with the testimony and submittals of the persons testifying at 
that hearing, were considered and were made a part of the record of the proceeding; and 
 
WHEREAS, at the regular meeting on November 7, 2023 the Planning Commission conducted 
deliberations and voted four (4) in favor and none (0) opposed to forward recommendations of approval 
to the City Council for the proposed Metro Plan diagram and Zoning Map amendments; and 
 
WHEREAS, on January 2, 2024 the City Council held a public hearing to receive testimony and hear 
comments on the proposals; and 
 
WHEREAS, The City Council is now ready to take action on these proposals with due consideration 
given to the above recommendations of the Planning Commission and the evidence and testimony 
already in the record, as well as the evidence and testimony presented at this public hearing held in the 
matter of adopting this Ordinance amending the Metro Plan diagram and Springfield Zoning Map; and 
 
WHEREAS, substantial evidence exists within the record and the findings set forth in Exhibits B & C, 
attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, that the proposal meets the relevant approval 
criteria,   
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BASED ON THE FOREGOING FINDINGS, THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF SPRINGFIELD ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS:   
 

Section 1.   The above findings and conclusions are hereby adopted.  
 
Section 2.   The applicant narrative and staff reports and recommendations to this Ordinance 

set forth in Exhibits B & C, attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, are hereby adopted. 
  

Section 3.   The Metro Plan diagram designation of 4.99 acres of the subject property identified 
herein as Assessor’s Map 17-03-15-40, Tax Lot 1000 and Portions of Tax Lots 800, 900 & 1100, 
generally depicted and more particularly described in Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein 
by reference, is hereby amended from Campus Industrial (CI) to Commercial (C). 
 

Section 4.   The Gateway Refinement Plan diagram designation of 4.99 acres of the subject 
property identified herein as Assessor’s Map 17-03-15-40, Tax Lot 1000 and Portions of Tax Lots 800, 
900 & 1100, generally depicted and more particularly described in Exhibit A attached hereto and 
incorporated herein by reference, is hereby amended from Campus Industrial (CI) to Community 
Commercial (CC). 

 
Section 5. The Springfield Zoning Map is hereby amended to rezone 4.99 acres of the 

subject property identified as a portion of Assessor’s Map 17-03-15-40, Tax Lot 1000 and Portions of Tax 
Lots 800, 900 & 1100, generally depicted and more particularly described in Exhibit A attached hereto 
and incorporated herein by reference, from Campus Industrial (CI) to Community Commercial (CC). 

Attachment 1 Page 2 of 35 



  

 

Section 6.  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase, or portion of this Ordinance is 
for any reason held to be invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, that portion 
shall be deemed a separate, distinct, and independent provision and that holding shall not affect the 
validity of the remaining portion of this Ordinance. 
 

Section 7.   Notwithstanding the effective date of ordinances as provided by Section 2.110 of 
the Springfield Municipal Code 1997, this ordinance shall become effective 30 days from the date of 
passage by the City Council and approval by the Mayor or upon the date of acknowledgement as 
provided in ORS 197.625, whichever date is later.  

 
ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Springfield this ____ day of ______________, 2024 

by a vote of ____for and ____ against. 
 
 

APPROVED by the Mayor of the City of Springfield this ____ day of _______________, 2024. 
 
 
 
 
       _____________________ 
       Mayor  
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
___________________________________________ 
City Recorder 

Attachment 1 Page 3 of 35 



EXHIBIT A 
PROPERTY REDESIGNATED FROM CAMPUS INDUSTRIAL TO COMMUNITY COMMERCIAL  

AND REZONED FROM CAMPUS INDUSTRIAL TO MEDICAL SERVICES 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Deadmond Ferry Road Game Farm Road 

International Way 

M
ap

le
 Is

la
n

d
 R

o
ad

 

SITE 

Exhibit A Page 1 of 2 

Attachment 1 Page 4 of 35 



LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
BEGINNING AT A 5/8-INCH REBAR FOUND; THENCE NORTH 88 DEGREES 16 MINUTES 33 SECONDS 
WEST, A DISTANCE OF 237.55 FEET, MORE OR LESS TO A 5/8-INCH REBAR WITH YELLOW PLASTIC 
CAP INSCRIBED " LS2609" FOUND; THENCE NORTH 88 DEGREES 16 MINUTES 19 SECONDS WEST, A 
DISTANCE OF 22.10 FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE NORTH 63 DEGREES 55 MINUTES 41 SECONDS 
WEST, A DISTANCE OF 18.74 FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE NORTH 60 DEGREES 32 MINUTES 51 
SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 35.25 FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE WITH A CURVE TO THE 
RIGHT, HAVING AN ARC LENGTH OF 45.62 FEET, WITH A RADIUS OF 70.00 FEET, HAVING A CHORD 
BEARING OF NORTH 40 DEGREES 11 MINUTES 6 SECONDS WEST, AND WITH A CHORD LENGTH OF 
44.82 FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE WITH A COMPOUND CURVE TO THE RIGHT, HAVING AN ARC 
LENGTH OF 35.40 FEET, WITH A RADIUS OF 270.00 FEET, HAVING A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 15 
DEGREES 1 MINUTE 0 SECONDS WEST, AND WITH A CHORD LENGTH OF 35.37 FEET, MORE OR 
LESS TO A BENT 1/2-INCH REBAR FOUND; THENCE NORTH 1 DEGREE 47 MINUTES 9 SECONDS 
EAST, A DISTANCE OF 311.51 FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE WITH A CURVE TO THE RIGHT, 
HAVING AN ARC LENGTH OF 41.75 FEET, WITH A RADIUS OF 100.00 FEET, HAVING A CHORD 
BEARING OF NORTH 31 DEGREES 14 MINUTES 21 SECONDS EAST, AND WITH A CHORD LENGTH OF 
41.45 FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE WITH A REVERSE CURVE TO THE LEFT, HAVING AN ARC 
LENGTH OF 74.47 FEET, WITH A RADIUS OF 60.00 FEET, HAVING A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 1 
DEGREE 32 MINUTES 5 SECONDS EAST, AND WITH A CHORD LENGTH OF 69.78 FEET, MORE OR 
LESS; THENCE SOUTH 88 DEGREES 12 MINUTES 51 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 414.32 FEET, 
MORE OR LESS; THENCE SOUTH 1 DEGREE 47 MINUTES 10 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 523.27 
FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE NORTH 88 DEGREES 16 MINUTES 33 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE 
OF 66.30 FEET, MORE OR LESS TO A 5/8-INCH REBAR WITH YELLOW PLASTIC CAP INSCRIBED 
"LS2609" FOUND; THENCE NORTH 51 DEGREES 18 MINUTES 18 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 
24.94 FEET, MORE OR LESS TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, AND CONTAINING AN AREA OF 217,364 
SQUARE FEET, OR 4.99 ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 
 
BEARINGS IN THE DESCRIPTIONS ABOVE ARE BASED ON OREGON STATE PLANE COORDINATES, 
SOUTH ZONE, NAD - 83, INTERNATIONAL FOOT. 

Exhibit A Page 2 of 2 

Attachment 1 Page 5 of 35 



Staff Report and Findings 

Springfield City Council 

Type 1 Amendment to the Metro Plan Diagram 

 

Meeting Date:  January 16, 2024 

 

File Number:  811-23-000182-TYP4 

 

Applicant:  Law Office of Micheal Reeder on behalf of PeaceHealth 

 

Project Location:  Northeast corner of the intersection of Game Farm Road and Maple Island Road 

(Assessor’s Map 17-03-15-40, Tax Lot 1000 and portions of Tax Lots 800, 900 & 1100).   

 

Request 

The City has received applications for a Type 1 Metro Plan diagram amendment and a concurrent Zoning 

Map amendment from a property owner.  In accordance with Springfield Development Code (SDC) 

5.14.115(A)(1), proposals for redesignating land inside the City limits are classified as a Type 1 Metro Plan 

diagram amendment requiring approval by Springfield only.  SDC 5.14.125(A) states that an amendment 

to the Metro Plan diagram can be initiated by a property owner at any time.  Per SDC 5.1.420(B), the 

property owner-initiated amendment to the Metro Plan diagram is processed as a Type 3 quasi-judicial land 

use action that requires public hearings before the Springfield Planning Commission and City Council.   

 

The proposed Metro Plan diagram amendment would change the plan designation for approximately 4.99 

acres of the subject property from Campus Industrial (CI) to Commercial and concurrently change the 

Gateway Refinement Plan designation for the same approximately 4.99 acres from CI to Community 

Commercial (CC).  Concurrent with this Metro Plan diagram amendment, an amendment to the Springfield 

Zoning Map (File 811-23-000181-TYP3) would change the zoning of the same 4.99 acres of property from 

CI to Medical Services (MS).   

 

The proposed Metro Plan diagram, Gateway Refinement Plan diagram and Zoning Map amendments would 

allow for creation of a 4.99-acre site with Community Commercial designation and Medical Services zoning 

at the southern edge of a large, contiguous area of existing Campus Industrial zoning.  The subject site is 

vacant and is located at the southwest corner of a roughly 42.1-acre property already owned by the applicant.  

Approximately the eastern 80% of the site (roughly 33.4 acres) is developed as the PeaceHealth Riverbend 

Annex.  Upon redesignation and rezoning of the subject property, the applicant intends to construct a 

~66,000 ft2 rehabilitation hospital on the 4.99-acre site.  Hospitals and medical clinics are not listed as 

permitted uses within the Campus Industrial district (SDC 3.2.400).  However, in accordance with SDC 

3.2.510, hospital services and medical clinics are listed as permitted uses in the Medical Services zoning 

district.   

 

The application was submitted on August 24, 2023 and the Springfield Planning Commission conducted a 

public hearing on the proposed Metro Plan diagram, Gateway Refinement Plan diagram and Zoning Map 

amendments on November 7, 2023.  The Planning Commission unanimously adopted recommendations of 

support for the proposal (Attachments 5 & 6). 

 

The City Council conducted a public hearing and gave first reading to the Ordinance at the regular meeting 

on January 2, 2024.  The applicant made a presentation in support of the proposal and no other testimony 

was received at the public hearing.   

 

Exhibit B Page 1 of 17 

Attachment 1 Page 6 of 35 



Background 

The subject property was originally identified as part of the McKenzie-Gateway Special Light Industrial 

area when the Gateway Refinement Plan was adopted in 1992.  Implementation of the Special Light 

Industrial area was subsequently accomplished through the creation and establishment of the Campus 

Industrial zoning district.  Approximately 280 acres of north Springfield extending from I-5 on the west to 

the McKenzie River on the east is currently zoned and designated for Campus Industrial use.  Notable early 

developments within the CI district included Sony, Symantec, and Royal Caribbean.  See the acknowledged 

Commercial and Industrial Lands Inventory (CIBL) for a history of business development in Springfield.  

However, these companies have since departed and other companies have gravitated to the area and 

proceeded to occupy and repurpose many of the sites and buildings, including the applicant (PeaceHealth).   

   

Notification and Written Comments 

In accordance with the Oregon Administrative Rules (OARs) 660-018-0020, prior to adopting a change to an 

acknowledged comprehensive plan or land use regulation, local governments are required to notify the state 

Department of Land Conservation and Development (DLCD) at least 35 days prior to the first evidentiary 

hearing.  A Notice of Proposed Amendment was transmitted to the DLCD on October 2, 2023, which is 36 

days prior to the initial public hearing on the matter.     

 

In accordance with SDC 5.1.425(A), Type 3 land use decisions that amend a comprehensive plan and/or 

rezone specific properties require mailed notification, a posted notice, and a notice in a newspaper of general 

circulation.  Consistent with the requirements of SDC 5.1.425(A), notification of the November 7, 2023 

Planning Commission public hearing and January 2, 2024 City Council public hearing was mailed to property 

owners and residents within 300 feet of the subject property on October 17, 2023 which is more than 20 days 

prior to the first hearing.  In accordance with SDC 5.1.440(A), the Planning Commission and City Council 

public hearing notice was published in The Chronicle newspaper on October 26, 2023.  Staff also posted 

notices of the November 7, 2023 Planning Commission public hearing and January 2, 2024 City Council 

public hearing at the following locations:  three points along the public street frontages of the subject property 

(northwest corner, southwest corner and southeast corner); on the Public Notices board in the lobby of 

Springfield City Hall; on the Development & Public Works office digital display; and on the City’s webpage.  

For the January 2, 2024 City Council public hearing, staff mailed a second round of notification letters to 

property owners and residents within 300 feet of the subject property on December 7, 2023.  Additionally, a 

second public hearing notice was published in The Chronicle newspaper on December 14, 2023.  The mailed 

and posted notices exceed the requirements of SDC 5.1.435. 

 

During the public notification period for the City Council public hearing meeting a comment was received 

from Nancy Fuhrman (Attachment 7).  Ms. Fuhrman’s concerns relate to increased traffic and noise from the 

proposed medical facility.  According to the applicant’s submittal, the proposed rehabilitation hospital is for 

patients recovering from injuries or medical procedures.  The facility will not have an urgent care center or 

emergency room, so, unlike the nearby Sacred Heart Hospital, there won’t be ambulances inbound with lights 

and sirens.  This limits the noise associated with the facility to normal vehicle traffic and facility operations.   

 

The applicant has provided a supporting Traffic Impact Analysis that confirms the proposed comprehensive 

plan amendment and zone change will not have a significant affect on existing or planned transportation 

facilities, including Game Farm Road.  The applicant’s findings satisfy the Goal 12 requirements discussed 

in this staff report.  Because some of the properties within the Campus Industrial district are vacant or only 

partially built-out, it is inevitable that traffic will increase incrementally as new sites develop or redevelop – 

even under the current zoning pattern.  The proposed hospital is not designed or intended to accommodate 

casual or walk-in patients which greatly limits the amount of daytime traffic associated with the facility.  At 

buildout, most vehicle trips associated with the facility would be reasonably expected to be employees and 

Exhibit B Page 2 of 17 

Attachment 1 Page 7 of 35 



medical staff that work at the hospital.  Details on the traffic and vehicle circulation patterns associated with 

the facility will be reviewed at the time of a future land use application submittal. 

 

Criteria of Approval 

SDC 5.14.135 contains the criteria of approval for the decision maker to utilize during review of Metro Plan 

diagram amendments.  The Criteria of approval are:  

 

SDC 5.14.135 CRITERIA  

A Metro Plan amendment may be approved only if the Springfield City Council and other applicable 

governing body or bodies find that the proposal conforms to the following criteria: 

 

A. The amendment shall be consistent with applicable Statewide Planning Goals; and 

 

B. Plan inconsistency: 

  

1. In those cases where the Metro Plan applies, adoption of the amendment shall not make the 

Metro Plan internally inconsistent. 

 

2. In cases where Springfield Comprehensive Plan applies, the amendment shall be consistent with 

the Springfield Comprehensive Plan.  

 

A. Consistency with Applicable State-Wide Planning Goals  

 

Applicant’s Narrative:  “The Findings of Facts below demonstrate the amendment is consistent with 

applicable Statewide Planning Goals.  The following applicable statewide planning goal statements 

have been summarized.  The Oregon Land Conservation and Development Commission Goals and 

Guidelines are incorporated herein by reference, except as noted.” 

 

Finding 1:  Of the 19 statewide planning goals, 13 are as “urban” goals that may be applicable to 

comprehensive plan map amendments in the city; however, it is the proposal and its effect on the 

purpose of these goals that will determine whether or not the proposed amendment is “consistent with” 

the applicable goals. The goals that are to be evaluated are:  Goal 1 – Citizen Involvement; Goal 2 – 

Land Use Planning; Goal 5 – Natural Resources, Scenic and Historic Areas, and Open Spaces; Goal 

6 – Air, Water and Land Resources Quality; Goal 7 – Areas Subject to Natural Hazards; Goal 8 – 

Recreational Needs; Goal 9 – Economic Development; Goal 10 – Housing; Goal 11 – Public Facilities 

and Services; Goal 12 – Transportation; Goal 13 – Energy Conservation; Goal 14 – Urbanization; and 

Goal 15 – Willamette River Greenway.  All of the statewide goals are listed below; the narrative that 

accompanies each is more expositive when the discussion applies to one of the 13 goals identified 

above.    

 

Goal 1 – Citizen Involvement 

 

Applicant’s Narrative:  “The City of Springfield has a citizen involvement program that is 

acknowledged by the State as in compliance with Goal 1.  Citizens are provided the opportunity to be 

involved in all phases of the planning process.  The proposal does not include any changes to the 

City’s citizen involvement program.  The requirements under Goal 1 are met by adherence to the 

City’s provisions for citizen involvement as implemented by the Springfield Development Code 

(SDC).” 

 

Exhibit B Page 3 of 17 

Attachment 1 Page 8 of 35 



Finding 2:  Goal 1 – Citizen Involvement calls for “the opportunity for citizens to be involved in all 

phases of the planning process.”  The proposed property owner-initiated amendment to the adopted 

Metro Plan diagram and concurrent amendment to the Gateway Refinement Plan diagram is subject 

to the City’s acknowledged plan amendment process which is a Type 3 land use action under SDC 

5.1.400.  The applicable Code sections include SDC 5.14.100 – Metro Plan Amendments, SDC 

5.1.400 – Type 2 and 3 Procedures and SDC 5.1.425–5.1.440 – Type 3 Notice.  SDC 5.1.420(B)(4) 

requires a public hearing before the Springfield Planning Commission and a public hearing before the 

Springfield City Council, and includes specifications for the content, timing and dispersal of mailed 

notice (see description following).   

 

Finding 3:  The Planning Commission public hearing to consider the proposed amendments was held 

on November 7, 2023.  Mailed notification of the Planning Commission and City Council public 

hearings was provided to all property owners and residents within 300 feet of the subject property on 

October 17, 2023.  The Planning Commission and City Council public hearings were advertised in 

the legal notices section of The Chronicle newspaper on October 26, 2023.  Staff also posted notices 

of the scheduled public hearings at the following locations:  three points along the subject property 

frontages on Game Farm Road (at the southeast corner of the site near the intersection with Deadmond 

Ferry Road and at southwest corner of the site near the roundabout intersection with Maple Island 

Road) and at the northwest corner of the site at a second roundabout on Maple Island Road; on the 

City’s website; on the Public Notices board in the lobby of City Hall; and on the digital display in the 

Development & Public Works office lobby.   

 

Finding 4:  The recommendations of the Planning Commission to the Springfield City Council are 

included as Attachments 5 and 6 to the covering Agenda Item Summary (AIS) for consideration at 

the public hearing meeting held on January 2, 2024.  Because of the nearly two-month delay between 

the two scheduled public hearing meetings, staff completed another round of public notifications for 

the January 2, 2024 City Council public hearing.  A second notification of the City Council public 

hearing was mailed on December 7, 2023 to all property owners and residents within 300 feet of the 

subject property.  The City Council public hearing was also readvertised in the legal notices section 

of The Chronicle newspaper on December 14, 2023.  The meeting agenda, AIS, covering staff reports 

and supporting documents were posted on the City’s website the Thursday prior to the January 2, 2024 

meeting and the public was invited to provide comments through the City’s webpage, submittal to 

staff or direct submittal to Council.  Additional information was also provided to the public for how 

to attend the public hearing meeting via online meeting platform or by phone.  As a result of the 

second round of public hearing notification, a written comment was received from Nancy Fuhrman 

and is included as Attachment 7.  The notice for this proposed Metro Plan diagram amendment 

complies with SDC 5.1.425–5.1.440 and is consistent with Goal 1 requirements.      

 

Goal 2 – Land Use Planning 

 

Applicant’s Narrative:  “Goal 2 requires local plans and regulatory measures to be consistent with 

statewide goals and land use decisions to be supported by an adequate factual basis.  Goal 2 also 

requires that comprehensive plan amendments be adopted after a public hearing by the governing 

body that provides citizens an opportunity to comment on the proposed amendment.  Goal 2 

establishes a land use planning process and policy framework as a basis for all land use decisions 

and requires the development of an adequate factual base to support these decisions.  A minor change 

is one that does not have significant effect beyond its immediate area and is based on special studies 

or information.  The justification for the particular change must be established.  The City of 

Springfield has adopted a comprehensive land use Plan amendment process, including specific 

Exhibit B Page 4 of 17 

Attachment 1 Page 9 of 35 



standards that must be addressed to justify the change.  In addition, Oregon Administrative Rules 

have been promulgated for the Exception Process.  Substantial compliance with SDC 5.14.100 and 

the OAR provisions is addressed above and below in this written statement in compliance with the 

applicable provisions of Goal 2.  The SDC implements Goal 2 by providing state-acknowledged 

procedures and criteria governing land use decisions.  This Plan amendment and related zone change 

application will be considered by the Planning Commission and City Council following two public 

hearings.  This application is being processed in compliance with the requirements of SDC and thus 

complies with Goal 2.” 

 

Finding 5:  Goal 2 – Land Use Planning outlines the basic procedures for Oregon’s statewide planning 

program.  In accordance with Goal 2, land use decisions are to be made in accordance with a 

comprehensive plan, and jurisdictions are to adopt suitable implementation ordinances that put the 

plan’s policies into force and effect.  Consistent with the City’s coordination responsibilities and 

obligations to provide affected local agencies with an opportunity to comment, the City sent a copy 

of the application submittals to the following agencies:  Willamalane Park & Recreation District; 

Springfield Utility Board (water, ground water protection, electricity and energy conservation); Lane 

911; United States Postal Service; Northwest Natural Gas; Emerald People’s Utility District; Rainbow 

Water District; Eugene Water and Electric Board – Water and Electric Departments; Springfield 

School District #19 Maintenance, Safe Routes to School and Financial Services; Lane County 

Transportation, County Sanitarian; Lane Regional Air Pollution Authority; Comcast Cable; 

CenturyLink; Lane Transit District; and ODOT Planning and Development, State Highway Division.  

Additionally, notice was provided electronically to DLCD on October 2, 2023.   

 

Finding 6:  The Metro Plan and Springfield 2030 Comprehensive Plan together make up the 

acknowledged comprehensive plan for guiding land use planning in Springfield.  The City has adopted 

other neighborhood- or area-specific plans (such as Refinement Plans) that provide more detailed 

direction for land use planning under the umbrella of the Metro Plan and Springfield 2030 

Comprehensive Plan.  The subject site is within the boundary of the adopted Gateway Refinement 

Plan.  Therefore, the proposed amendment to the Metro Plan diagram will concurrently amend the 

Gateway Refinement Plan diagram.   

 

Finding 7:  The City has adopted the Urbanization, Residential Land and Housing and Economic 

elements of the Springfield 2030 Comprehensive Plan.  These adopted elements either replace and 

supersede (i.e. Urbanization and Economic elements) or update and supplement (i.e. Residential Land 

and Housing element) the corresponding Metro Plan elements.  Springfield’s Comprehensive Plan 

elements have been acknowledged by DLCD.  Ensuring that the proposed Metro Plan diagram 

amendment does not create an internal inconsistency in the Metro Plan is addressed in Criterion B.1 

below. 

 

Finding 8:  The public hearing process used for amendment of the Metro Plan is specified in Chapter 

IV Metro Plan Review, Amendments, and Refinements.  The findings under Criterion B (below) 

demonstrate that the proposed amendment will not make the adopted Metro Plan internally 

inconsistent. 

 

Finding 9:  The City’s Development Code is a key mechanism used to implement the goals and 

policies of the City’s adopted comprehensive plans including the Metro Plan, elements of the 

Springfield 2030 Comprehensive Plan and neighborhood-specific Refinement Plans.  The proposal is 

classified as a Type 1 amendment to the adopted Metro Plan diagram that is approved by Springfield 

only in accordance with SDC 5.14.115(A).  Type 1 Metro Plan amendments within City limits do not 

Exhibit B Page 5 of 17 

Attachment 1 Page 10 of 35 



require concurrent approval or adoption by Lane County.  The proposed Metro Plan diagram 

amendment is site-specific and is therefore processed as a Type 3 land use action as described in SDC 

5.1.420.  The process observed for the proposed Metro Plan diagram amendment is consistent with 

the policies pertaining to Review, Amendments and Refinements.  Additionally, the proposed Metro 

Plan diagram amendment and concurrent Gateway Refinement Plan diagram amendment has been 

initiated in accordance with the provisions of the City’s acknowledged comprehensive plan and 

Development Code (SDC 5.14.125(A)).  The proposed Metro Plan diagram and Gateway Refinement 

Plan diagram amendments are consistent with City ordinances, policies, plans, and studies adopted to 

comply with Goal 2 requirements.  Notice and coordination requirements “with those local 

governments, state and federal agencies and special districts which have programs, land ownerships, 

or responsibilities within the area” that includes this proposal have been provided consistent with Goal 

2.     

 

Goal 5 – Natural Resources, Scenic and Historic Areas, and Open Spaces 

 

Applicant’s Narrative:  “Goal 5 requires the conservation of open space and the protection of 

numerous natural, cultural, historic and scenic resources.  The goal applies to the following 

resources:  riparian corridors, water and riparian areas and fish habitat, wetlands, wildlife habitat, 

mineral and aggregate resources, energy sources, natural areas, scenic views and sites, open space, 

groundwater resources, wilderness areas, historic resources, cultural areas, Oregon recreational 

trails, federal wild and scenic waterways and state scenic waterways.  OAR 660-023-0010 and 0020 

includes definitions, standards and specific rules applicable to each Goal 5 resource inventoried for 

conservation under the goal.  The Goal 5 resources listed above have been appropriately considered 

by the City of Springfield in the Plan.  The property does not contain any inventoried Statewide Goal 

5 resources.  There are no known significant natural assets or historic resources on the property.  The 

amendment does not propose a change to the City’s list of Goal 5 resources or propose a change to 

any regulatory measures related to Goal 5.  The proposed request will not allow new uses that could 

be in conflict with a significant Goal 5 resource site.  Goal 5 is not applicable.” 

 

Finding 10:  Goal 5 – Open Spaces, Scenic and Historic Areas, and Natural Resources applies to more 

than a dozen natural and cultural resources such as wildlife habitats and wetlands, and establishes a 

process for each resource to be inventoried and evaluated.  The subject site has not been identified as 

a historic resource in the City’s Register of Historic Sites, nor as an open space resource in the adopted 

2012 Willamalane Park & Recreation District Comprehensive Plan.  Project O3 in the 2023 

Willamalane Comprehensive Plan (awaiting adoption by the City of Springfield) lists “North 

Springfield Trail Connectivity” as an ongoing project in the general vicinity of the Campus Industrial 

district but there are no planned connections through the subject site.   Finally, there are no features 

within the subject property that are identified in the City’s acknowledged Local Wetlands Inventory 

or Natural Resources Inventory.  As noted in the applicant’s narrative, there are no identified or 

inventoried Goal 5 resources located within the subject site.  Therefore, this action does not alter the 

City’s acknowledged compliance with Goal 5.  

 

Goal 6 – Air, Water and Land Resources Quality 

 

Applicant’s Narrative:  “Goal 6 is generally implemented during the comprehensive planning process 

and local regulations.  The City of Springfield' s Environmental Services Division (ESD) coordinates 

the City' s compliance with applicable state and federal environmental quality statues.  ESD manages 

multiple programs to maintain compliance with Goal 6 including 1) Water Resources Programs, such 

as implementing the City’s National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System NPDES) stormwater 

Exhibit B Page 6 of 17 

Attachment 1 Page 11 of 35 



discharge permit, 2) Industrial Pretreatment Program such as administering the Pollution 

Management Practice programs, and 3) Wastewater & Stormwater Programs.  The proposed Plan 

amendment does not alter the City’s acknowledged compliance with Goal 6.  As Goal 6 pertains to 

site-specific development, it requires that adequate protective measures are taken to ensure the 

maintenance of an, water and land quality.  This Plan amendment will encourage development of land 

inside the city for medical services.  All new development must comply with applicable local, state 

and federal air and water quality standards.  The general vicinity of the Subject Property is served by 

adequate on-site water and sanitation facilities.  The proposed use of the Subject Property is not 

expected to produce or discharge any product or by-product that would degrade the quality of the any 

water and land resources.” 

 

Finding 11:  Goal 6 – Air, Water and Land Resources Quality applies to local comprehensive plans 

and the implementation of measures consistent with state and Federal regulations on matters such as 

clean air, clean water, and preventing groundwater pollution.  The proposed Metro Plan diagram 

amendment does not affect City ordinances, policies, plans, and studies adopted to comply with Goal 

6 requirements.  Future development of the site will be subject to the city’s adopted and acknowledged 

land use regulations at the time of development.   

 

Finding 12:  There are no mapped Water Quality Limited Watercourses within or adjacent to the 

subject property.  Therefore, this action does not alter the City’s acknowledged compliance with Goal 

6.     

 

Goal 7 – Areas Subject to Natural Hazards 

 

Applicant’s Narrative:  “The Metro Plan and the SDC are acknowledged to be in compliance with all 

applicable statewide land use goals, including Goal 7.  The City of Springfield has existing programs, 

policies, zoning overlays, and development standards to regulate development in areas subject to 

natural disasters and hazards.  The Subject Property included is not in the City’s Floodplain Overlay 

District or the Hillside Development Overlay District.  The proposed Plan amendment does not affect 

any City regulations or alter mitigation requirements for any properties in areas subject to natural 

disasters and hazards.  Goal 7 is not applicable.  There are no known areas subject to natural 

disasters or hazards on the Subject Property.  The Subject Property is not located within the 100 -

year flood hazard area as determined by Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) Panel 41039C1133F 

effective June 2, 1999.  FEMA has updated flood maps to better show the risk of flooding in Central 

Lane County.  The revised pending maps continue to show the Subject Property in Zone X.  The 

western and southern edge of the Subject Property are in an area with 0.2% annual chance of flood 

and the remaining portion is considered an area of minimal flood hazard.” 

 

Finding 13:  Goal 7 – Areas Subject to Natural Hazards applies to development in areas such as 

floodplains and potential landslide areas.  Local jurisdictions are required to apply “appropriate 

safeguards” when planning for development in hazard areas.  The City has inventoried areas subject 

to natural hazards such as the McKenzie and Willamette River floodplains and potential landslide 

areas on steeply sloping hillsides.  The subject site is on vacant, level ground that is not within the 

mapped 100-year flood hazard area of the McKenzie River.  Future development of the site is subject 

to the provisions of the City’s Site Plan Review process as described in SDC 5.17.100. 

 

Finding 14:  The proposed Metro Plan diagram amendment and concurrent Gateway Refinement Plan 

diagram amendment has no effect on City ordinances, policies, plans, and studies adopted to comply 

with Goal 7 requirements and siting standards for development within hillside areas or the mapped 

Exhibit B Page 7 of 17 

Attachment 1 Page 12 of 35 



flood hazard area of the McKenzie and Willamette Rivers.  Therefore, this action has no effect on the 

City’s acknowledged compliance with Goal 7.  

 

Goal 8 – Recreational Needs 

 

Applicant’s Narrative:  “Goal 8 addresses the recreational needs of Oregon residents and visitors. 

Provisions of this goal are appropriately implemented by a legislative process as part of periodic 

review of the Plan.  The City of Springfield evaluated projected population growth, changes in 

community demographics, and the recreational needs of citizens and visitors.  In compliance with 

Goal 8, the Metro Plan Diagram designates areas needed for Parks and Open Space.  The subject 

property does not contain any land identified as needed to meet recreational needs or to satisfy the 

demand for recreational facilities.  The proposed Plan amendment and zone change will not affect 

the City' s supply of land available for recreation areas or recreational facilities.  The proposed 

change from Campus Industrial to Commercial has no direct impact on recreational needs.  Goal 8 

is not applicable.” 

 

Finding 15:  Goal 8 – Recreational Needs requires communities to evaluate their recreation areas and 

facilities and to develop plans to address current and projected demand.  The provision of recreation 

services within Springfield is the responsibility of Willamalane Park & Recreation District.  

Willamalane has just adopted a new Comprehensive Plan for the provision of park, open space and 

recreation services for Springfield (2023 Willamalane Comprehensive Plan).  The 2023 Willamalane 

Comprehensive Plan has not yet been co-adopted by the City of Springfield, but it provides current 

and updated information about the City’s recreational needs under Goal 8.   

 

Finding 16:  There are no park or recreational facility projects in the adopted 2012 Willamalane 

Comprehensive Plan that affect the subject property.  The 2023 Willamalane Comprehensive Plan 

identifies a potential project in the general vicinity of the subject site.  Project O3 – North Springfield 

Trail Connectivity (also depicted as Project L27 on Figure 35, Page 110) shows a linear multi-purpose 

path that is not a Willamalane facility, but that could be extended to connect with local trail systems 

at Coburg Loop and Armitage Park from north Springfield.  The multi-use path shown on Figure 35 

of the Willamalane Comprehensive Plan and described in Appendix 11, Page 27, follows the 

alignment of International Way which is just north of the subject site.  There is an existing multi-use 

pathway along the north side of International Way.  However, there are no dedicated pathway 

connections shown to or through the subject property.  Future development of the subject site would 

require the provision of setback sidewalks on the east side of Maple Island Road, which would 

improve pedestrian accessibility along this segment of road and would eventually connect with the 

multi-use pathway to the north along International Way.  Based on the foregoing, the proposed Metro 

Plan diagram amendment would not affect Willamalane’s adopted Comprehensive Plan or other 

ordinances, policies, plans, and studies adopted to comply with Goal 8 requirements.  Therefore, this 

action is consistent with the City’s acknowledged compliance with Goal 8.  

 

Goal 9 – Economic Development 

 

Applicant’s Narrative:  “The purpose of Goal 9 is to diversify and improve the economy of the State 

and is primarily applicable to commercial and industrial development.  In 2007 the Oregon 

legislature adopted House Bill 3337 establishing land use planning requirements for the Eugene - 

Springfield Metro area.  ORS 197.304 established a mandate that Springfield and Eugene separately 

determine the projected 20-year need for housing and establish separate urban growth boundaries to 

meet housing needs.  Although ORS 197.304 only required separate UGBs for housing, it was implicit 

Exhibit B Page 8 of 17 

Attachment 1 Page 13 of 35 



that the two cities independently plan for other land use needs including employment growth, as 

defined by Goal 9.  Pursuant to Goal 9, in 2010, Lane County and the cities and Springfield and 

Eugene approved the Regional Prosperity Economic Development Plan providing a framework to 

better align regional economic growth the area’s assets and values.  Given the complexity involved 

with addressing ORS 197.304, the City of Springfield chose to phase adoption of various amendments 

to the Plan.  To address OAR 660-009-0015(1) and (4), the City of Springfield prepared an Economic 

Opportunities Analysis (EOA) to review “the types and amounts of industrial and other employment 

uses likely to occur in the planning area”.  The EOA identified “Medical Services” as a Target 

Industry and typically located in Plan Designations Commercial, Commercial Mixed Use, High 

Density Residential Mixed Use, Light Medium Industrial Mixed use or Medium Density Mixed use, or 

Mixed Use.  The City of Springfield inventory of Commercial Industrial Buildable Land (CIBL) 

identified the Subject Property as vacant Campus Industrial Land.  The CIBL also concluded there 

were not enough large vacant sites within the City of Springfield UGB to accommodate the projected 

economic growth.  Relevant City of Springfield economic development strategies include:  

  

• Provide sites with a variety of site characteristics to meet both commercial and industrial 

economic opportunities, including sites that are available for relatively fast development.  This 

include[s] large sites for major employers. 

• Support and assist existing businesses within Springfield by assessing what kind of assistance 

businesses need and developing programs to meet that need.   

• Attract and develop new businesses, especially those related to regional business clusters.  The 

City would like to build on the developing health care cluster, promote development of high-

tech businesses, and attract sustainable businesses. 

• Maintain flexibility in planning through providing efficient planning services and developing 

planning policies to respond to the changing needs of businesses. 

 

On December 5, 2016, the City of Springfield adopted Ordinance No. 6361 amending the Springfield 

urban growth boundary and adopting the Springfield 2030 Comprehensive Plan (2030 Plan) 

Economic and Urbanization Policy Elements.  The 2030 Economic Element provides policy direction 

to address the community’s commercial, industrial, and other employment development needs and 

supplants the Economic Element in the Metro Plan.  The new In-Patient Rehabilitation Facility 

requires a site approximately 4.99 acres in size.  Based on data provided by LCOG on June 1, 2023, 

inside the City of Springfield there are no vacant lots between 4.0 to 8.0 acres in size currently zoned 

Community Commercial or Medical Services.  There are two vacant lots zoned Mixed Use 

Commercial that fall within this size range located on the PeaceHealth RiverBend campus across 

from the hospital.  Although the MUC zone would allow an In-Patient Rehabilitation Facility, it is 

vital that the two properties remain available for uses that require proximity to the hospital.  The Plan 

amendment will allow the Subject Property to be designated Commercial and fulfill a key economic 

goal to support the health care cluster.  The new In-Patient Rehabilitation Facility will provide a 

medical service offering patients a transition between services provided in a hospital and those 

typically available in an assisted care facility.  The Subject Property is located close to other major 

medical facilities including the PeaceHealth RiverBend and McKenzie Willamette hospitals. The 

Subject Property is within a block of frequent transit service and bike routes.  The Plan amendment 

will not have an adverse impact availability of suitable sites for a variety of economic activities.  The 

Plan amendment will provide the following economic benefits: 

 

1. The change in plan designation will stimulate development of an underutilized portion of the 

RiverBend Campus and result in a more efficient land use Pattern. 

Exhibit B Page 9 of 17 

Attachment 1 Page 14 of 35 



2. Strengthen the medical services sector in the City of Springfield helping to address a “target 

industry”.   

3. Development of the site for the planned In-Patient Rehabilitation Facility is expected to add 

approximately 150 jobs and result in direct and indirect benefits to the local economy. 

 

For further information regarding the Plan amendment’s compliance with the City of Springfield 2030 

Economic Element, please refer to the analysis below regarding SDC 5.14.135(B).” 

 

Finding 17:  Under Goal 9 – Economic Development,  the proposed plan amendment must ensure that 

there is enough serviceable land within the Springfield UGB to meet the industrial and commercial 

site needs identified in  the Economic Element and the City’s acknowledged Commercial and 

Industrial Buildable Lands Inventory and Economic Opportunities Analysis (CIBL-EOA). The CIBL 

identifies the City’s needed sites for employment uses based on use categories and site size ranges, 

rather than by cumulative area needed within the UGB.   

 

Finding 18:  Table 5-1 of the CIBL concluded that there was a surplus of 235 commercial sites less 

than one (1) acre, and a deficit of two (2) commercial sites 2-5 acres, but a surplus of forty-four (44) 

industrial sites of that size.  The plan designation proposed for this property would create a commercial 

site of roughly 5 acres from a currently vacant 6.8-acre industrial site and a small portion 

(approximately 0.6 acres) of a larger, existing industrial site.  The approximately 0.6-acre portion 

taken from the southwest corner of the ~35-acre PeaceHealth Riverbend Annex property has no 

appreciable impact on the City’s CIBL or the property’s size classification because it was already 

inventoried as a 20+ acre “developed” site. 

 

Finding 19:  A recent Metro Plan diagram amendment and zone change adopted in Ordinance 6422 

removed one commercial site in the 2-5 acre category from the City’s Commercial and Industrial 

Buildable Lands Inventory (CIBL) and added a commercial site in the less than 1 acre category.  

Subsequently, adoption of Ordinance 6429 added back about 1.14 acres of commercial to the less-

than-one-acre site, which, in aggregate, resulted in a new commercial site in the 2-5 acre category and 

removed a site from the less than 1 acre category.  Additionally, the recently approved Latter Day 

Saints temple on International Way – currently under construction – removed a 5-20 acre industrial 

site from the inventory.  By creating a new 4.99-acre commercial site from a combination of vacant 

and developed industrial properties, the proposed redesignation would:  1) remove another 5-20 acre 

industrial site from the inventory; 2) create another commercial site of 2-5 acres (which eliminates the 

deficit); and, 3) create a new vacant industrial site in the 2-5 acre category.   

 

Conclusion:  The proposal does not have an adverse impact on the City’s CIBL and would eliminate 

a deficit of commercial sites 2-5 acres in size.  Based on the foregoing, this proposal is consistent with 

Goal 9. 

 

Goal 10 - Housing 

 

Applicant’s Narrative:  “Goal 10 is intended to provide for the housing needs of the citizens of the 

State. This Goal is primarily implemented through the provisions of the Plan.  The proposed Plan 

Amendment does not impact the buildable land supply for housing.  The new expanded IPF will 

initially provide 50 beds for those needing 24-hour medical care exceeding what is typically offered 

in an assisted care facility or nursing home.  The size of the site will allow the facility to add 10 more 

beds in the future.  The facility will not provide the complete services of a hospital so being in close 

proximity to the two hospitals in Springfield will be beneficial.” 

Exhibit B Page 10 of 17 

Attachment 1 Page 15 of 35 



Finding 20:  Goal 10 – Housing applies to the planning for – and provision of – needed housing types, 

including multi-family and manufactured housing.  Goal 10 requires the City to evaluate and maintain 

a sufficient buildable land base for projected housing needs over the forecast period.  The City 

monitors and updates the calculated acreage of residential buildable lands when redesignation and 

rezoning actions affect the net acreage attributed to Low, Medium, and High-Density Residential uses.   

 

Finding 21:  The proposed redesignation does not affect the City’s inventory of residential land.  

Therefore, Goal 10 is not applicable.   

 

Goal 11 – Public Facilities and Services 

 

Applicant’s Narrative:  “The Subject Property is located in the City of Springfield and a full range of 

urban services are available to serve the site and the anticipated development.  The Plan amendment 

will not affect the City or other service providers’ ability to provide public services.” 

 

Finding 22:  Goal 11 – Public Facilities and Services addresses the efficient planning and provision 

of public services such as sewer, water, law enforcement, and fire protection.  In accordance with 

OAR 660-011-0005(5), public facilities include water, sewer and transportation facilities, but do not 

include buildings, structures or equipment incidental to the operation of those facilities.  The proposed 

redesignation and rezoning cannot result in permitted uses that will have an adverse effect on the 

demand for public facilities and services provided to the subject property and adjacent properties.  

This area of Springfield is already planned for a variety of Campus Industrial uses and the public 

facilities serving this area have been designed accordingly.   

 

Finding 23:  The existing public facilities available to serve the subject site are detailed in the 

accompanying Zone Change staff report (File 811-23-000181-TYP3) and are incorporated herein by 

reference.  Existing and planned public facilities and services (including infrastructure to be 

constructed in conjunction with the proposed rehabilitation hospital) will be evaluated with the Site 

Plan Review process and are deemed to be adequate to support buildout of the site under the current 

Campus Industrial zoning and designation or the proposed Commercial designation.  Under either 

land use designation, a proposed development would be responsible for managing drainage on the 

site, improving the public street frontages (particularly along Maple Island Road), extending the throat 

of the midpoint roundabout intersection on Maple Island Road to create a driveway entrance, and 

calculating sewage flow volumes relative to the capacity of the existing sanitary sewer pump station 

located at the southeast corner of the property.  Under the current Campus Industrial designation, the 

subject property could be developed with a large corporate headquarters building, regional distribution 

center or manufacturing facility that would require similar infrastructure and have similar impacts to 

those of a rehabilitation hospital.  For the aforementioned reasons, it is found that the proposed 

redesignation of 4.99 acres of Campus Industrial to Commercial will not have a significant impact on 

the overall land use characteristics and configuration for the Gateway Refinement Plan area.  The 

proposed redesignation will result in maintaining stable demand on public facilities and services.  

Therefore, the changes to the type and distribution of land uses resulting from the proposed Metro 

Plan amendment will not have an adverse impact to the City’s sanitary or storm sewer systems, or 

other public infrastructure.  The proposal is consistent with Goal 11 requirements. 

 

Goal 12 – Transportation 

 

Applicant’s Narrative:  “The intent of Goal 12 is implemented through the provisions of the State 

Transportation Planning Rule (TPR) (OAR 660, Division 12) which was adopted by LCDC in 1991. 

Exhibit B Page 11 of 17 

Attachment 1 Page 16 of 35 



OAR 660-012-0060(1) requires that amendments to functional plans, acknowledged comprehensive 

plans, and land use regulations which significantly affect a transportation facility shall assure that 

allowed land uses are consistent with the identified function, capacity, and level of service of the 

facility.  To determine whether the proposed amendments will significantly affect a transportation 

facility, the TPR lists specific criteria against which the proposed amendments are to be evaluated. 

The TPR provides that a plan or land use regulation amendment significantly affects a transportation 

facility if it: 

a)  Changes the functional classification of an existing or planned transportation facility; 

b)  Changes standards implementing a functional classification system; 

c)  Allows types or levels of land uses which would result in levels of travel or access which are 

inconsistent with the functional classification of a transportation facility; or, 

d)  Would reduce the level of service of the facility below the minimum acceptable level identified 

in the TSP (Transportation System Plan). 

 

For a complete analysis of how the application meets Goal 12 and the Transportation Planning Rule, 

please see Exhibit II - Traffic Impact Analysis and Transportation Planning Rule Analysis prepared 

by Sandow Engineering.” 

 

Finding 24:  The Transportation Planning Rule (TPR), Oregon Administrative Rule OAR 660-12-0060, 

requires local governments to put in place mitigation measures as provided in the TPR whenever an 

amendment to a functional plan, an acknowledged comprehensive plan, or land use regulation (including 

a zone change) would “significantly affect” an existing or planned transportation facility.   

 

Finding 25:  Under the TPR, a plan amendment or zone change may result in a “significant affect” under 

OAR 660-012-0060(2)(a) and (b) by changing the functional classification of an existing or planned 

transportation facility or by changing the standards implementing a functional classification system.  

The subject application proposed to amend the Metro Plan diagram designation from Medium Density 

Residential (MDR) to Commercial designation.  The proposed amendments do not alter the functional 

classification of any facility or change any standards for implementing the functional classification 

system and therefore do not result in a “significant affect” under OAR 660-012-0060(2)(a) or (b). 

 

Finding 26:  Under the TPR, a plan amendment or zone change may also result in a “significant affect” 

if it would result in any of the effects listed under OAR 660-012-0060(2)(c) “based on projected 

conditions measured at the end of the planning period identified in the adopted TSP.”   

 

Finding 27:  Under the TPR, a “significant affect” occurs if the proposed amendment(s) would result 

in types or levels of travel or access that are inconsistent with the identified function classification of 

the existing or planned transportation facilities, that degrade the performance of an existing or planned 

transportation facility such that it would not meet performance standards identified in the TSP, or that 

degrade the performance of an existing or planned transportation facility that is otherwise not projected 

to meet the performance standards identified in the TSP. 

 

Finding 28:  As required by SDC 5.22.110, the applicant has submitted a Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) 

addressing trip generation associated with the proposed zone change to show compliance with the TPR 

at OAR 660-012-0060.  The applicant’s TIA can be found in Exhibit H to the application materials 

submitted for the Metro Plan diagram amendment and zone change.   

 

Finding 29:  The City’s Transportation Planning Engineer has reviewed the TIA and concurs with the 

applicant’s trip generation methodology and findings.  The applicant’s TIA provides Trip Generation 

Exhibit B Page 12 of 17 

Attachment 1 Page 17 of 35 



scenarios for the existing and proposed plan designations and zoning.  The trips generated by the existing 

zoning were compared to the proposed zoning under “reasonable worst-case scenario” or the reasonable 

most-traffic-generative use conditions.   

 

Finding 30:  The applicant’s proposed zoning scenario is the reasonable most-traffic-generative use 

for the subject property.  Specifically, the applicant assumes that the subject property would develop 

as an approximately 72,000 square foot medical clinic, which represents the reasonable most-traffic-

generative use that could be constructed on this site.   

 

Finding 31:  Under the applicant’s reasonable most traffic-generative scenario, the proposed Metro Plan 

diagram amendment and zone change would result in an increase of 132 peak hour trips over the 

reasonable most traffic-generative scenario under the current Campus Industrial zoning and designation.  

When calculated based on 2023 traffic volumes and also projected to the 2035 planning horizon, the 

applicant’s TIA reaches the following conclusions:  1) the proposed zone change will not cause traffic 

levels, patterns, or access that are inconsistent with the functional classification of an existing or 

planned transportation facility; 2) the proposed zone change does not degrade the performance of an 

existing or planned transportation facility such that it would not meet the performance standards; and, 

3) all existing and planned transportation facilities will meet the applicable standards.  The TIA further 

concludes that no off-site mitigation is required to accommodate the proposed development.  The TIA’s 

analysis and findings in support of these conclusions are incorporated herein by reference.  Therefore, 

the increase in trips proposed with this plan amendment and zone change will not result in any significant 

affect listed under OAR 660-012-0060(2)(c).  

 

Conclusion:  Based on the above findings, the subject proposal to amend the Metro Plan diagram 

designation is consistent with OAR 660-012-0060 and SDC 5.22.115(C)(4)(b), and no additional 

mitigation is required under the TPR.  The proposal is consistent with Goal 12 requirements. 

 

Goal 13 – Energy Conservation 

 

Applicant’s Narrative:  “The Subject Property does not contain any non- renewable energy resources 

on the property.  The proposed Plan amendment will not amend or affect any land use regulations 

enacted to implement Goal 13.  All new development will be required to comply with local, state and 

federal codes related to energy conservation.  Goal 13 is not applicable.”  

 

Finding 32:  The Oregon Land Use Board of Appeals (LUBA) has established that Goal 13 does not 

require a specific energy analysis or other Goal 13 analysis for changes to a comprehensive plan 

diagram or zoning.  See Barnard Perkins Corp. v. City of Rivergrove, 34 Or LUBA 660 (1998).   

 

Finding 33:  The proposed comprehensive plan diagram amendment and rezoning does not affect the 

City’s ordinances, policies, plans, or studies adopted to comply with Goal 13 requirements.  

Converting 4.99 acres of the property from Campus Industrial to Commercial should not have an 

appreciable impact to energy consumption.  The developer will have an opportunity to incorporate 

suitable energy conservation measures when detailed construction plans are prepared for the site, 

irrespective of the zoning.  The City’s building codes comply with all Oregon State Building Codes 

Agency standards for energy efficiency in commercial building design.  The City’s conservation 

measures applicable to storm water management, temporary storage, filtration and discharge would 

apply to any Campus Industrial, commercial or medical services uses developed on this site; therefore, 

this action has no effect on the City’s acknowledged compliance with Goal 13.      

 

Exhibit B Page 13 of 17 

Attachment 1 Page 18 of 35 



Goal 14 - Urbanization 

 

Applicant’s Narrative:  “The Subject Property is in the Springfield Urban Growth Boundary and 

inside the city limits.  This Plan amendment does not propose to expand the Urban Growth Boundary 

thus does not require a review of the transition of rural to urban land uses.  Therefore, the provisions 

of Goal 14 and OAR Chapter 660, Division 24 (Urban Growth Boundaries) are not applicable.” 

 

Finding 34:  Goal 14 – Urbanization requires cities to estimate future growth rates and patterns, and 

to incorporate, plan, and zone enough land to meet the projected demands.  The City already planned 

for employment land use on the subject property when completing its Commercial and Industrial 

Buildable Land inventory.  As previously determined and stated above, a surplus of industrial land in 

the 2-5 acre range exists in the City’s employment land inventory already.  The City is responding to 

a request from a property owner to redesignate and rezone 4.99 acres of the subject property from 

Campus Industrial to Medical Services use.  Very similar and complementary employment land uses 

already exist in the immediate vicinity of the subject site.  The subject property is within the existing 

UGB and is already annexed to the City.  The proposed redesignation and zone change does not affect 

the City’s adopted ordinances, policies, plans, or studies adopted to satisfy the compliance 

requirements of Goal 14.   

 

Goal 15 – Willamette River Greenway 

 

Applicant’s Narrative:  “Goals 15 through 18 are inapplicable to this application as they are 

geographically oriented and only apply to the Willamette River Greenway and coastal resources.”  

 

Finding 35:  Goal 15 – Willamette River Greenway establishes procedures for administering the 300 

miles of greenway that borders the Willamette River, including portions that are inside the City limits 

and UGB of Springfield.  The subject site is not within the adopted Willamette River Greenway 

Boundary area so this goal is not applicable; therefore, this action has no effect on the City’s 

acknowledged compliance with Goal 15.  

 

 B. Plan Inconsistency 

 

1. In those cases where the Metro Plan applies, adoption of the amendment shall not make the 

Metro Plan internally inconsistent. 

 

Applicant’s Narrative:  “The Plan amendment is a request to change the Plan designation for a 

specific site and does not include any proposed changes to the Plan text.  Adoption of the Plan 

amendment will not cause any internal inconsistencies in the Metro Plan.” 

 

Finding 36:  The adopted Metro Plan and Springfield 2030 Comprehensive Plan are the principal 

policy documents that create the broad framework for land use planning within the City of Springfield.  

As explained herein, both are applicable to this application.  The City’s adopted Zoning Map 

implements the zoning designations of the Metro Plan diagram and localized Refinement Plans, which 

are adopted amendments to the Metro Plan.  The subject property is within the Gateway Refinement 

Plan area, so the proposed amendment to the Metro Plan diagram will concurrently amend the 

Refinement Plan diagram.  The policies and implementation actions of the Springfield 2030 

Refinement Plan – Economic Element have updated and superseded the goals, objectives and policies 

of the Metro Plan’s Commercial Element pertaining to employment lands.  Therefore, the Metro Plan 

Commercial Element does not apply to this proposal. 

Exhibit B Page 14 of 17 

Attachment 1 Page 19 of 35 



Finding 37:  In accordance with Chapter IV – Metro Plan Review, Amendments, and Refinements, 

the City’s Comprehensive Plan is not designed or intended to remain static and unyielding in its 

assignment of land use designations.  To that end, provisions of Chapter IV, Policy 7.a, allow for 

property owners to initiate an amendment to the Metro Plan diagram to reflect a change in 

circumstances or need.   

 

Finding 38:  There are no conflicts created by this proposed diagram amendment based on needed 

employment land inventories.  The development of this land with a commercial (i.e. medical services) 

use would not conflict with other land use elements in the Metro Plan including residential, industrial, 

park and open space, or government and education.  Therefore, adoption of the amendment to the 

Metro Plan diagram will not result in an internal inconsistency.   

 

Finding 39:  The City has adopted the Gateway Refinement Plan for the northwest quadrant of 

Springfield, including the subject site.  The proposed redesignation would amend the Gateway 

Refinement Plan diagram to change the site’s land use designation from Campus Industrial to 

Community Commercial.  The Community Commercial designation in the adopted Refinement Plan 

is necessary to implement the requested Medical Services zoning.  There are no specific policies or 

implementation actions in the Commercial or Industrial elements of the adopted Refinement Plan that 

preclude the redesignation of one employment land use to another employment land use – in this case, 

from Industrial to Commercial. 

 

Finding 40:  Implementation Action 7.0 of the Industrial element requires the City to “ensure that 

McKenzie-Gateway SLI Site development achieves a high level of aesthetics and amenity, consistent 

with the intent of the Metro Plan SLI designation and with the “campus industrial” concept.”  The 

proposed redesignation does not preclude the site from adhering to the requirements of 

Implementation Action 7.0, and this consistency with Refinement Plan provisions would be 

determined at the time of Site Plan Review. 

 

Finding 41:  Implementation Action 8.0 of the Industrial element requires the City to “provide for an 

efficient and flexible transportation system for the McKenzie-Gateway SLI Site.”  The subject site 

already has a mature and efficient transportation system developed along the site frontages and in the 

immediate vicinity, including provisions for passenger vehicle, commercial vehicle, pedestrian, 

bicycle, and bus rapid transit modes of travel.  As evidenced by the TIA submitted in support of the 

proposed redesignation (see Goal 12 analysis in Criterion A, above), the requested action does not 

adversely impact the local transportation system.   

 

Conclusion:  Because the City has adopted the Springfield 2030 Refinement Plan – Economic Element, 

the Commercial Element of the Metro Plan no longer applies to this proposal.  Additionally, based on 

the foregoing findings the requested redesignation does not cause the adopted Gateway Refinement 

Plan to be internally inconsistent.  For the above reasons, Criterion B.1 is met. 

 

2. In cases where Springfield Comprehensive Plan applies, the amendment shall be consistent 

with the Springfield Comprehensive Plan. 

 

Applicant’s Narrative:  “The Plan amendment is consistent with the Springfield Comprehensive Plan 

including the policies listed below in bold italics: 

 

Policy E.3 Work with property owners and their representatives to ensure that prime development 

and redevelopment sites throughout Springfield and its Urban Growth Boundary that are 

Exhibit B Page 15 of 17 

Attachment 1 Page 20 of 35 



designated for employment use are preserved for future employment needs and are not subdivided 

or used for non-employment uses. 

The Plan amendment will facilitate development of an underutilized land and allow an inpatient 

rehabilitation facility to be developed on the site bringing about 150 new jobs to the City of Springfield 

at about 30 employees per acre. 

 

Policy E.6 Facilitate short term and long term redevelopment activity and increased efficiency of 

land use through the urban renewal program, updates to refinement plans and the development 

review process. 

The Plan amendment will facilitate efficient land use by increasing the overall intensity and density 

of the uses on the PeaceHealth RiverBend Annex campus.   

 

Policy E.7 Where possible, concentrate development on sites with existing infrastructure or on sites 

where infrastructure can be provided relatively easily and at a comparatively low cost. 

The Plan amendment concentrates development within the city limits on a site with available 

infrastructure for public facilities and services. 

 

Policy E.16 Consider the economic opportunities provided by transportation corridors and seek to 

maximize economic uses in corridors that provide the most optimal locations and best exposure for 

existing and future commercial and industrial uses. 

The Plan amendment will stimulate development on a multi -modal transportation corridor.  The new 

employees will increase ridership on the EmX and use of the bike routes. 

 

Policy E.28 Increase the potential for employment in the regional industry clusters, including:  

Health Care, Communication Equipment, Information Technology (Software), Metals 

(Wholesalers), Local Food and Beverage Production and Distribution, Specialty Agriculture, Wood 

& Forest Products, and Transportation Equipment.  

The Plan amendment will facilitate development of a new in-patient rehabilitation facility increasing 

employment in the Health Care industry.  This Plan amendment will increase the Health Care cluster 

in the Gateway [area] of the City.  

 

Policy E.40 Provide the services, infrastructure, and land needed to attract the identified industry 

clusters, especially where they can increase economic connectivity among businesses. 

The Plan amendment will increase the amount of land available for community commercial uses 

including the proposed in-patient rehabilitation facility.” 

 

Finding 42:  The applicant is proposing to redesignate a vacant portion of its own property holdings 

to facilitate construction of a medical facility in an area of expanding medical and health-related 

industries in north Springfield.  The health care use proposed for this location (i.e. specialty hospital) 

is specifically identified in the CIBL as being a top-tier sector for commercial land uses within the 

City’s employment land base.  

 

Finding 43:  The proposed Metro Plan diagram amendment will concurrently amend the Gateway 

Refinement Plan diagram.  The land use designation for the subject site would be changed from 

Campus Industrial to Community Commercial.  In accordance with SDC 3.2.505(B), the requested 

Medical Services zoning requires a commercial land use designation of Community Commercial, 

Major Retail Commercial or Mixed Use Commercial for its implementation. 

 

Exhibit B Page 16 of 17 

Attachment 1 Page 21 of 35 



Finding 44:  Through its previous Commercial and Industrial Buildable Land inventory, the City has 

determined that a large surplus of 2-5 acre industrial sites exist within the Springfield land base.  The 

proposed redesignation and rezoning of this property from Campus Industrial to Medical Services 

would slightly reduce this acknowledged surplus while providing a development-ready site for a key 

target industry employment use.  The proposed redesignation also eliminates the deficit of commercial 

sites in the 2-5 acre category. 

 

Finding 45:  The proposed redesignation is consistent with Policy E.1 of the Springfield 2030 

Comprehensive Plan – Economic Element whereby the applicant is proposing to redesignate a vacant, 

undeveloped site with specific characteristics (e.g. size, location and configuration) and for a specific 

intended employment use.  Consistent with Policy E.11 and Implementation Strategy E.11.1 of the 

Economic Element, the proposed employment use is Medical Services which represents a top “target 

sector” as described in the City’s Economic Opportunities Analysis.   

 

Finding 46:  By redesignating the subject property, the proposal meets Policy E.28 and 

Implementation Strategy E.28.3 of the Economic Element which encourages employment in regional 

clusters of target industries, particularly medical services.  The proposed redesignation would 

facilitate construction of a rehabilitation hospital on the site, which contributes to a local cluster of 

health care and health-related users that have located or relocated into the North Gateway area of 

Springfield.  These include a major regional hospital, specialty clinics, medical laboratories, 

physicians’ offices, and administrative headquarters for health care plan and health insurance 

providers.   

 

Finding 47:  The Economic Element policies and implementation actions of the Springfield 2030 

Comprehensive Plan – Economic Element apply to the subject site.  The accompanying Zone Change 

staff report (File 811-23-000181-TYP3) discusses and evaluates the application’s consistency with 

the adopted policies and implementation strategies of the Economic Element.  The findings and 

conclusions in Criterion C.1 of the Zone Change staff report are adopted herein by reference and in 

part satisfy the requirements of Metro Plan Amendment Criterion B.2.   
  

Conclusion:  Based on the foregoing, the proposal to redesignate the subject property from Campus 

Industrial to Commercial is consistent and compatible with the adopted policies of the Metro Plan and 

the Springfield 2030 Comprehensive Plan – Economic Element.  The action reduces an acknowledged 

surplus of 2-5 acre industrial sites and eliminates the deficit of 2-5 acre commercial sites in favor of 

creating a key target industry development site.  The action also contributes to an industry cluster of 

similar medical and health care related sites in the Riverbend and North Gateway area of Springfield.  

Therefore, the proposal meets Criterion B.2.     

 

Conclusion and Recommendation  

Based on the applicant’s narrative, the findings herein, testimony submitted into the record, the criteria of 

SDC 5.14.135 for approving amendments to the Metro Plan, the proposed Metro Plan diagram amendment 

is consistent with the applicable criteria.   

 

 

Exhibit B Page 17 of 17 

Attachment 1 Page 22 of 35 



Staff Report and Findings 

Springfield City Council 

Zone Change Request  

 

Hearing Date:  January 16, 2024 

 

File Number:  811-23-000181-TYP3 

 

Applicant:  Micheal Reeder, Law Office of Mike Reeder 

 

Property Owner:  PeaceHealth 

 

Site:  Northeast corner of the intersection of Game Farm Road and Maple Island Road (Assessor’s Map 17-

03-15-40, Tax Lot 1000 and portions of Tax Lots 800, 900 & 1100).   

 

Request 

Rezone approximately 4.99 acres of vacant property from Campus Industrial (CI) to Medical Services (MS).  

Concurrently rezone the abutting public right-of-way for Game Farm Road and the eastern half of Maple 

Island Road as measured from centerline abutting the subject site.   

 

Site Information/Background 

The application was initiated on August 24, 2023 and amended on October 2, 2023, and the Planning 

Commission public hearing on the matter of the zone change request was held on November 7, 2023.  The 

zone change request is being processed concurrently with a Metro Plan diagram amendment submitted 

under separate cover, File 811-23-000182-TYP4.  The City Council reviewed both applications and the 

Planning Commission’s recommendations at a public hearing held on January 2, 2024.   

 

The site that is subject of the zone change request is a 4.99-acre property located at the northeast corner of 

the intersection of Game Farm Road and Maple Island Road.  The property is comprised of four separate 

tax lots (or portions thereof) and it adjoins the PeaceHealth Riverbend Annex facility to the east (Assessor’s 

Map 17-03-15-40, Tax Lot 1000 and portions of Tax Lots 800, 900 & 1100).  The property is vacant and 

contains a remnant filbert orchard that probably pre-dates the creation of the Campus Industrial zoning 

district.     

 

The subject site has corner frontage on Game Farm Road along the southern boundary and Maple Island 

Road along the western boundary.  The properties immediately to the west, north and east are zoned and 

designated for Campus Industrial (CI) use.  Properties to the south and southeast are zoned and designated 

R-1 residential and R-3 residential.  The property to the southwest is zoned and designated Mixed Use 

Commercial (MUC).  The applicant is proposing the zone change from Campus Industrial to Medical 

Services as an initial step to facilitate future construction of a rehabilitation hospital on the site.  

 

Staff is recommending concurrently annexing the abutting public right-of-way for Game Farm Road and 

the eastern half of Maple Island Road to ensure the Springfield Zoning Map depicts the rezoned area 

correctly and there are no remnant pieces of Campus Industrial zoning created through this action.  

 

Notification and Written Comments 

Notification of the November 7, 2023 Planning Commission public hearing and January 2, 2024 City Council 

public hearing was sent to all property owners and residents within 300 feet of the site on October 17, 2023.  

Newspaper notice of the public hearing meetings was published in The Chronicle on October 26, 2023.  

Following the Planning Commission public hearing meeting, a second mailed notice of the January 2, 2024 

Exhibit C Page 1 of 13 

Attachment 1 Page 23 of 35 



City Council public hearing was sent to property owners and residents within 300 feet of the site on 

December 7, 2023.  A newspaper notice of the January 2, 2024 City Council public hearing meeting was 

published in The Chronicle on December 14, 2023.  Staff responded to one request for online access to 

view the application materials and one telephone inquiry about the proposal during the period from initial 

public notification on October 17, 2023 through to closure of the public hearing on January 2, 2024.  One 

written comment was received during the notification periods for both public hearing meetings (Attachment 

7) and it is addressed in the Metro Plan Amendment staff report (Attachment 1, Exhibit B).  At the public 

hearing on January 2, 2024, the applicant provided testimony in support of the proposal and no other 

testimony was received.   

 

Criteria of Approval 

Springfield Development Code (SDC)  5.22.100 contains the criteria of approval for the decision maker to 

utilize during review of Zoning Map amendment requests.  The Criteria of Zoning Map amendment approval 

criteria are:  

 

SDC 5.22-115 CRITERIA  

  

C. Zoning Map amendment criteria of approval: 

 

1. Consistency with applicable Metro Plan policies and the Metro Plan diagram; 

 

2. Consistency with applicable Refinement Plans, Plan District maps, Conceptual Development 

Plans and functional plans; and 

 

3. The property is presently provided with adequate public facilities, services and transportation 

networks to support the use, or these facilities, services and transportation networks are planned 

to be provided concurrently with the development of the property. 

 

4. Legislative Zoning Map amendments that involve a Metro Plan Diagram amendment shall: 

 

a. Meet the approval criteria specified in Section 5.14-100; and 

 

b. Comply with Oregon Administrative Rule (OAR) 660-012-0060, where applicable. 

 

Proposed Findings In Support of Zone Change Approval 

 

Criterion:  Zoning Map amendment criteria of approval: 

 

1. Consistency with applicable Metro Plan policies and the Metro Plan diagram; 

 

Applicant’s Narrative:  “Following approval of the amendment to change the Plan Diagram 

designation from Campus Industrial to Commercial, the zoning map amendment will be consistent.  

There are no mandatory Metro Plan policies related to the proposed zoning.” 

 

Approval Standard:  Metro Plan Chapter IV, Policy 7.a states:  “A property owner may initiate a 

[Type I Metro Plan diagram] amendment for property they own at any time.  Owner initiated 

amendments are subject to the limitations for such amendments set out in the development code of 

the home city.” 

 

Exhibit C Page 2 of 13 

Attachment 1 Page 24 of 35 



Finding 1:  The property owner initiated a concurrent Metro Plan diagram amendment in accordance 

with provisions of SDC 5.14.100 (File 811-23-000182-TYP4).  Rezoning 4.99 acres of the subject 

property from Campus Industrial (CI) to Medical Services (MS) is consistent with the requested Metro 

Plan diagram amendment initiated by the applicant.  Upon adoption of the amending Ordinance, the 

Metro Plan diagram would be amended and the requested zone change from Campus Industrial to 

Medical Services would be consistent with the provisions of the adopted Comprehensive Plan.  Prior 

or concurrent amendment of the Metro Plan diagram will be required for the subject zone change 

request to be approved.  

 

Finding 2:  The proposed zone change is consistent with provisions of the Metro Plan whereby zoning 

can be monitored and adjusted as necessary to meet current urban land use demands.  The requested 

change from CI to MS would facilitate the future review and approval of a hospital facility on currently 

vacant property.  Additionally, the requested rezoning would allow for a recalibration of the amount 

and type of uses within the Campus Industrial zone of north Springfield.   

 

Finding 3:  The subject site is part of a large, contiguous area of north Springfield that is zoned and 

designated for Campus Industrial use.  The Campus Industrial zoning district was implemented in this 

area after adoption of the Gateway Refinement Plan in 1992.  As of October 2023, there is still a 

substantial area of vacant and undeveloped CI zoned lands including the subject site.  

 

Finding 4:  The City has initiated adoption of the Springfield 2030 Comprehensive Plan – Land Use 

Element that will also introduce a new, parcel-specific land use designation map for Springfield.  Upon 

implementation, the new Land Use Element and Comprehensive Plan Map will replace and supersede 

the Metro Plan Land Use Element and Diagram.  This initiative has already proceeded through joint 

public hearings with the Springfield and Lane County Planning Commissions and is scheduled for 

public hearings and final adoption with the Joint Elected Officials (Springfield and Lane County).  

The new Land Use Element and Comprehensive Plan map are anticipated to become effective after 

the subject application is adjudicated by the Springfield Planning Commission and City Council.  

Therefore, no conflict exists for this proposed Metro Plan diagram amendment and Zone Change. 

  

Finding 5:  The policies of the Springfield 2030 Comprehensive Plan – Economic Element also apply 

to the subject site.  The Economic Element of the City’s 2030 Comprehensive Plan updated and 

replaced the Economic Element of the Metro Plan.  The “Economic Element” policies cited below are 

from the Springfield 2030 Comprehensive Plan.         

 

Approval Standard:  Policy E.1 of the Economic Element states:   
 
Designate an adequate supply of land that is planned and zoned to provide sites of varying locations, 
configurations, size and characteristics as identified and described in the Economic Opportunity 
Analysis to accommodate industrial and other employment over the planning period. These sites may 
include vacant undeveloped land; partially developed sites with potential for additional development 
through infill development; and sites with redevelopment potential.  

 

Finding 6:  The applicant is proposing to rezone approximately 5 acres of vacant, undeveloped 

property to accommodate a targeted employment use, which in this case is a specialized medical 

services facility (i.e. rehabilitation hospital).  The proposed rezoning is consistent with Policy E.1.  

 

Approval Standard:  Policy E.4 of the Economic Element states:   
Expand industrial site opportunities by evaluating and rezoning commercial, residential, and industrial 
land for the best economic return for the community through the process of City refinement planning, 

Exhibit C Page 3 of 13 

Attachment 1 Page 25 of 35 



review of owner-initiated land use proposals, expanding the urban growth boundary, and other 
means.  

 

Finding 7:  The subject rezoning request is an owner-initiated land use proposal.  However, the 

applicant is proposing to rezone the property from Campus Industrial to Medical Services to facilitate 

development of an approximately 67,000 ft2 medical facility on vacant property already owned by the 

applicant.  The proposed rezoning changes an industrial site to a Medical Services site, which is not 

consistent with Policy E.4. 

 

Finding 8:  While the proposed rezoning removes an industrial site from the City’s inventory and 

therefore acts contrary to Policy E.4, there are other available industrial sites within the Campus 

Industrial district and in other industrial zones within Springfield. As contemplated by Policy E-4, the 

site is being rezoned to potentially provide a better economic return for the community.  Based on the 

findings in this section, the proposal satisfies the preponderance of applicable policies in the Economic 

Element and should achieve a net benefit within the City’s employment land base.  For these reasons, 

the proposed rezoning is consistent with Criterion 1.    

 

Approval Standard:  Policy E.5 of the Economic Element states:   
 
Provide an adequate, competitive short-term supply of suitable land to respond to economic 
development opportunities as they arise. “Short-term supply" means suitable land that is ready for 
construction within one year of an application for a building permit or request for service extension. 
"Competitive Short-term Supply" means the short-term supply of land provides a range of site sizes 
and locations to accommodate the market needs of a variety of industrial and other employment 
uses. 

 

Finding 9:  The subject proposal represents an economic development opportunity if the zoning for 

the property is changed.  By definition, the rezoning action would create a “competitive short-term 

supply” site because the site is delineated from a larger contiguous landholding and the applicant 

would be able to proceed immediately with submittal of site plans.  The proposed rehabilitation 

hospital represents an employment use because it is anticipated to have approximately 150 employees 

(Applicant Narrative, Page 17).  The proposed rezoning is consistent with Policy E.5. 

   

Approval Standard:  Policy E.6 of the Economic Element states:   

 
Facilitate short term and long term redevelopment activity and increased efficiency of land use 
through the urban renewal program, updates to refinement plans and the development review 
process.  

 

Finding 10:  The subject rezoning request would allow for consideration of a new medical services 

use on vacant property that is currently zoned for Campus Industrial use.  In the absence of a rezoning, 

the applicant would be unable to initiate the development review process for the proposed 

rehabilitation hospital use.  The proposed rezoning is consistent with Policy E.6     

 

Approval Standard:  Policy E.7 of the Economic Element states:   
 
Where possible, concentrate development on sites with existing infrastructure or on sites where 
infrastructure can be provided relatively easily and at a comparatively low cost.  

 

Finding 11:  The subject site has frontage on fully developed public streets along the southern and 

western boundaries.  A roundabout intersection at the northwest corner of the property can be modified 

Exhibit C Page 4 of 13 

Attachment 1 Page 26 of 35 



to provide direct access to the subject site.  All public utilities are available to serve the subject site, 

including electricity, telecommunications, water, sanitary sewer and storm sewer.  The property is 

close to major transportation corridors and the Gateway-Riverbend EmX bus rapid transit route which 

runs along International Way.  The infrastructure needed to serve the proposed medical services on 

the site are already available, or can be provided without costly extensions or upgrades to adjacent 

utilities.  Therefore, the proposed rezoning is consistent with Policy E.7. 

 

Approval Standards:  Policy E.11 of the Economic Element states:   
 
Integrate opportunistic economic development objectives into Springfield’s land use and supply 
analyses and policies.  

 

Implementation Strategy E.11.1 of the Economic Element states: 

   
Plan, zone and reserve a sufficient supply of industrial and commercial buildable land to create 
opportunity sites for employment uses identified in the 2015 Economic Opportunities Analysis (EOA), 
with an initial emphasis on Target Industries listed in the analysis Table S-1, Target Industries, 
Springfield 2010-2030 (page iii-iv.) 

 

Finding 12:  The proposed rezoning would create an approximately 5-acre opportunity site for 

construction of a rehabilitation hospital on currently vacant property.  The proposed rehabilitation 

hospital represents an employment use in Medical Services which is the number one listed target 

industry in Table S-1 of the 2015 Economic Opportunities Analysis.  The proposed rezoning is 

consistent with Policy E.11 and Implementation Strategy E.11.1.   

 

Approval Standards:  Policy E.12 of the Economic Element states:   

 
Recruit or support businesses that pay higher than average wages for the region (as reported by the 
Oregon Employment Department) to diversify and expand Springfield’s economy.  

 

Implementation Strategy E.12.5 of the Economic Element states: 

 
Support increased potential for employment in one of the regional industry clusters.  

 

Finding 13:  The proposed rezoning would facilitate construction of a medical services facility that 

pays higher than average wages for Lane County according to 2023 wage information from the 

Oregon Employment Department.  These medical sector wages include nurses, physicians, physician 

assistants, physical therapists, medical assistants, medical technicians, and hospital administrators.      

 

Finding 14:  The adjoining property to the east is occupied by the PeaceHealth Riverbend annex, 

which operates as a medical laboratory facility and administrative offices for the nearby Sacred Heart 

Medical Center at Riverbend.  The adjacent property to the west is occupied by PacificSource, which 

operates as a health insurance provider and health care plan administrator.  The proposed rehabilitation 

hospital is located in-between the PeaceHealth and PacificSource buildings and it would represent the 

third medical services and health care related facility on the two adjacent sites.  In combination with 

the nearby Sacred Heart Riverbend Medical Center, this aggregation contributes to a medical services 

industry cluster as identified in the City’s acknowledged Commercial Industrial Buildable Lands 

Inventory and Economic Opportunities Analysis (CIBL) (See CIBL page 132).  An “industrial cluster” 

is explained in the CIBL as including sectors with a higher-than-average number of businesses within 

a geographic area and with anticipated higher than average employment growth (See CIBL pp. 129).  

Exhibit C Page 5 of 13 

Attachment 1 Page 27 of 35 



The Sacred Heart Riverbend campus is described in the CIBL as an emerging medical services cluster 

(See CIBL pg. 132).  In this case, the subject property would become part of the cluster of medical 

and health care related facilities (listed in Finding 20 below) that are located within an approximately 

0.5 square mile area of the Gateway Refinement Plan:  the cluster area begins at the intersection of 

Riverbend Drive at Martin Luther King, Jr. Boulevard, incorporates the Sacred Heart at Riverbend 

hospital campus, and extends in a north and northwesterly direction to International Way near the 

intersection with Sports Way.  The proposed rezoning is consistent with Policy E.12 and 

Implementation Strategy E.12.5.   

     

Approval Standard:  Policy E.16 of the Economic Element states: 

 
Consider the economic opportunities provided by transportation corridors and seek to maximize 
economic uses in corridors that provide the most optimal locations and best exposure for existing 
and future commercial and industrial uses.  

 

Finding 15:  In combination with the concurrent Metro Plan diagram amendment, the proposed 

rezoning introduces a new zoning district into a large, contiguous area of existing Campus Industrial 

zoning.  However, this is the most expeditious step necessary (and available under current 

Development Code provisions) to create a new, viable site for the proposed rehabilitation hospital on 

property already owned by the applicant.   

 

Finding 16:  Provisions of the Campus Industrial zoning district specifically preclude the type of 

medical services facility proposed by the applicant.  Because the property has been vacant and 

continues to host a remnant filbert orchard that likely pre-dates the implementation of CI zoning more 

than 30 years ago, it seems unlikely that another potential site user would be displaced by the requested 

rezoning action.  Additionally, the proposed rezoning is the minimum area necessary to accommodate 

the rehabilitation hospital and there is vacant CI zoned property remaining to the north of the site. 

 

Finding 17:  The applicant has identified the subject property as a potential site and stated a market 

need that can be addressed by the proposed rezoning.  The proposed rezoning looks to capitalize on 

siting a new 67,000 ft2 medical facility with 150 employees on a vacant, undeveloped piece of property 

at the intersection of Game Farm Road and Maple Island Road. Along the southern boundary of the 

site, the proposed rehabilitation hospital has frontage on Game Farm Road which is developed as an 

urban major collector street.  The primary frontage along the western boundary of the site is located 

on Maple Island Road, which is developed as a local street.  The property has an existing roundabout 

intersection at the northwest corner that can be readily extended to provide future access to the site.  

The property’s corner location on two existing developed public streets with roundabout intersections 

offers a comparative advantage to other Campus Industrial zoned sites in the vicinity that are either 

not currently annexed (and therefore not development-ready) or that lack fully improved public street 

frontages (such as properties along Deadmond Ferry Road east of International Way).      

 

Finding 18:  The subject property has been vacant and unused for urban land use activities since the 

Campus Industrial zoning district was established in 1992.  The economic opportunity presented by 

the applicant is to utilize land that has been zoned for urban uses but has remained vacant for more 

than 30 years.  In addition to developing a currently vacant piece of property, the proposed end user 

(i.e. medical services) is a key target industry (as defined in the CIBL) that generates considerable 

direct and indirect economic benefits for the City and region.  The proposed rezoning is consistent 

with Policy E.16.  

 

Exhibit C Page 6 of 13 

Attachment 1 Page 28 of 35 



Approval Standards:  Policy E.28 of the Economic Element states:   
Increase the potential for employment in the regional industry clusters, including: Health Care, 
Communication Equipment, Information Technology (Software), Metals (Wholesalers), Local Food 
and Beverage Production and Distribution, Specialty Agriculture, Wood & Forest Products, and 
Transportation Equipment.  

 

Implementation Strategy 28.3 of the Economic Element states: 
Promote further development of the health care cluster by examining land-use policies and, if 
necessary, modifying those policies to promote health care cluster development where the 
supporting uses are consistent with 2030 Plan policies or when policies are amended through a 
district or corridor refinement planning process. 

 

Finding 19:  The economic conditions of 2024 are significantly different than when the Campus 

Industrial district was initially created in 1992.  It is also notable that many of the original “colonizers” 

of the City’s Campus Industrial district – such as Sony, Symantec and Royal Caribbean – are no longer 

operating in the area.  Instead, other users have gravitated to the area and repurposed the buildings 

and facilities.  Within close proximity to the Sacred Heart Medical Center, several of the users are in 

health care and closely related industries. 

 

Finding 20:  The proposed rezoning would introduce another health care related use (i.e. specialized 

medical services facility) into a local cluster of similar and complementary uses.  These existing uses 

include PacificSource health plans, the PeaceHealth Riverbend annex (medical laboratories), Sacred 

Heart Medical Center at Riverbend campus (which incorporates the main hospital building, Riverbend 

Pavilion building, Northwest Specialty Clinics building and Ronald McDonald House), PeaceHealth 

medical practitioners operating at the former Birthing Center on Deadmond Ferry Road, and the 

Women’s Care center on Martin Luther King Jr. Boulevard at Riverbend Drive.  All of these facilities 

are clustered in a roughly 0.5-square-mile area of the north Gateway region of Springfield.  The 

proposed rezoning is consistent with Policy E.28 and Implementation Strategy E.28.1.   

 

Conclusion:  The proposed rezoning meets Criterion 1.       

 

2. Consistency with applicable Refinement Plans, Plan District maps, Conceptual Development 

Plans and functional plans;  

 

Applicant’s Narrative:  “The Subject Property is within the boundary of the Gateway Refinement Plan 

adopted on November 9, 1992.  In 1992, the Subject Property was shown on the land use diagram as 

part of the McKenzie-Gateway Special Light Industrial site.  Below are applicable Gateway 

Refinement Plan policies in bold italics followed by the applicant’s findings. 

 

8.0 Provide for an efficient and flexible transportation system for the McKenzie-Gateway SLI Site. 

 

9.0 Improve the appearance and effectiveness of the main approaches to the McKenzie-Gateway 

SLI Site. . . . 

 

Through substantial public and private investments, significant capital improvements have improved 

the transportation system serving the McKenzie-Gateway SLI Site.  The proposed Zone Change will 

not have an adverse impact on the transportation system.  The planned development will increase 

potential transit riders using the nearby EmX stations. 

 

Exhibit C Page 7 of 13 

Attachment 1 Page 29 of 35 



10.0 Mitigate the impacts of incremental (SLI) development on existing onsite (non-SLI) uses 

occupying the McKenzie-Gateway SLI Site. 

 

Policy 10.0 recognized that full development of the McKenzie-Gateway SLI Site would likely occur 

incrementally. The Subject Property is located at the southwest corner of the RiverBend Annex 

campus. The impetus for the proposed Zone Change is the proposed use of the Subject Property for a 

new expanded PeaceHealth RiverBend In-Patient Rehabilitation Facility. Through the site plan 

review process, any development will be required to comply with SDC standards including 

requirements for landscaping, building setbacks, parking, etc.  Development of the Subject Property 

will be compatible with surrounding land uses including the remaining portion of the RiverBend 

Annex campus. 

 

11.0 Ensure that development plans adequately consider the site’s natural landscape features and 

amenities, and provide for the development needs of future developers. 

 

The proposed Zone Change to Medical Services will allow different uses than the existing CI Campus 

Industrial zone but many of the development standards, such as landscape requirements for parking 

areas and stormwater management will remain the same.  The site plan review process requires that 

developers adequately consider existing site conditions. 

 

12.0 Encourage the preservation and/or enhancement of reminders of the area’s rich agricultural 

heritage, which are found in the McKenzie-Gateway SLI area. 

 

The policy above is directed towards the City of Springfield encouraging historic preservation but is 

not a mandatory policy for reviewing a zone change request.  The Subject Property contains a small 

remnant of a significantly larger filbert orchard to the west of the site.  The applicant will consider 

ways to provide a reminder of the area’s rich agricultural heritage such as a commemorative plaque 

or display of historic photos in the building.  Regardless of zoning, any new development will require 

changes in grade making it impracticable to retain the orchard. 

 

13.0 Ensure adequate storm drainage management planning emphasizing the minimization of 

negative impacts on water quality and quantity resulting from McKenzie-Gateway SLI Site 

development.  

 

Any development of the Subject Property will require compliance with City, state and federal water 

quality standards and to review of proposed storm drainage for the site.” 

 

Finding 21:  The applicant’s narrative responses for Policies 8.0 – 13.0 are incorporated as findings 

herein and demonstrate the proposal is consistent with Criterion 2. 

 

Finding 22:  For Policy 12.0, it is not logical or feasible to preserve remnant filbert orchards on the 

subject site – especially groves that have not been actively managed for productivity, blight and other 

issues.  The current and proposed zoning is not conducive to maintaining agricultural activities on the 

site.  Additionally, other orchards in the vicinity have been incrementally displaced by buildings, 

infrastructure, and manicured landscaping as the Campus Industrial district has developed and 

evolved.  The applicant’s suggestion to commemorate the historic agricultural use through a plaque or 

other visual display is commendable and supported by the City of Springfield. 

 

Finding 23:  For Policy 13.0, upon rezoning of the subject property, the proposed development will be 

subject to the stormwater regulatory requirements in effect on the date of submittal.  Staff advises that 

Exhibit C Page 8 of 13 

Attachment 1 Page 30 of 35 



these stormwater requirements are increasingly stringent and far more complex and detailed than what 

was originally contemplated in the 1992 Refinement Plan.  For this reason, any stormwater 

management design for the subject site that meets current Development Code provisions and the City’s 

adopted Stormwater Management requirements will satisfy the stated standards referenced in the 

original Refinement Plan but under a stricter regulatory environment.      

 

Conclusion:  The proposed rezoning meets Criterion 2. 

 

3. The property is presently provided with adequate public facilities, services and transportation 

networks to support the use, or these facilities, services and transportation networks are planned 

to be provided concurrently with the development of the property. 

 

Applicant’s Narrative:  “The Subject Property is within the City limits and is presently provided with 

adequate public facilities, services and transportation networks to support the planned use.” 

 

Finding 24:  The property requested for zone change has frontage on Game Farm Road (which is 

classified as a collector street), and Maple Island Road (classified as a local street).  Along the southern 

boundary of the property, Game Farm Road is developed with one vehicle travel lane and one bicycle 

lane in each direction and there is a short segment of bi-directional center turn lane.  The Game Farm 

Road frontage has existing setback sidewalk, street trees and street lighting.  Along the western 

boundary of the property, Maple Island Road is developed with one vehicle travel lane and bicycle 

lane in each direction.  Street trees and street lighting has been installed.  Setback sidewalks have been 

installed adjacent to the roundabout intersections at the northwest and southwest corners of the 

property, but the western edge of the subject site lacks a continuous sidewalk connection.  

Additionally, the bicycle lanes on Maple Island Road converge to the adjacent sidewalk at the 

southwest and northwest corners of the site where there are roundabout intersections.  Upon future 

development of the subject property, should this occur, the developer will be responsible for 

completing the sidewalk connection along Maple Island Road.       

 

Finding 25:  The proposed rezoning would allow for introduction of a new medical services use within 

an area of similar and complementary uses.  The applicant is proposing to rezone only the property 

area necessary for the rehabilitation hospital, which leaves other vacant Campus Industrial land to the 

north of the site available for future development.   

 

Finding 26:  The northwest corner of the proposed development site is located about 850 feet walking 

distance from bus rapid transit service on International Way.  Existing transit platforms are positioned 

just to the west of the roundabout intersection at Maple Island Road and International Way.         
 

Finding 27:  The entire Campus Industrial district – which this site is proposed to be a part of – has 

an interconnected network of sidewalks and pedestrian walkways that are commonly used for exercise 

and recreation by local employees.  The proposed rehabilitation hospital would have similar walkable 

facilities on the public street frontages and internal to the site.   

 

Finding 28:  The Campus Industrial district of north Springfield has been provided with a full suite of 

public utilities and services with sufficient capacity to support the requested rezoning from CI to MS.  

Existing public utilities within or on the perimeter of the subject property include the following: 

 

• Sanitary Sewer:  There is an existing 8-inch sanitary sewer line within Maple Island Road that 

runs southward to the intersection with Game Farm Road and then eastward to an existing 

sanitary sewer pump station at the southeast corner of the site.  The pump station serves the 

Exhibit C Page 9 of 13 

Attachment 1 Page 31 of 35 



adjacent Campus Industrial and R-3 residential areas to the north and east of Game Farm Road 

and Deadmond Ferry Road, including the subject site.  Collected sewage is pumped westward 

to the regional treatment plant on River Avenue in Eugene.  To accommodate the proposed 

development, the applicant will be responsible for modeling anticipated sewage flows from 

the site to ensure they meet projected volumes as contemplated by the Campus Industrial 

designation and zoning and the City’s Sanitary Sewer Master Plan.  Additionally, the applicant 

may be proportionally responsible for any upgrades to the existing sanitary sewer pump station 

necessary to increase capacity and flows as new development occurs within the service area.  

Review and approval of sanitary sewer plans will be done in conjunction with detailed site 

plans for the proposed development.  Confirmation of sanitary sewer capacity in the system 

and pump station serving the subject property is a condition of approval to be satisfied 

prior to or concurrently with Site Plan Review for the proposed development.   

• Storm Sewer:  There are public storm sewer lines that run along the Maple Island Road and 

Game Farm Road frontages of the subject site.  These storm sewer lines have been sized for 

full buildout of the entire Campus Industrial district of north Springfield.  At present, not all 

sites within the anticipated catchment area have fully developed so there is some excess 

capacity in the public stormwater system.  However, evolving stormwater regulations now 

require more infiltration and management of drainage on individual sites and discharge to the 

public system is limited to pre-development flow conditions, or less.  As future development 

occurs the developer will be responsible for installing private stormwater facilities to manage 

drainage on the site. 

• Water:  Springfield Utility Board (SUB) water service is located along the public street 

frontages of the property.  The applicant will need to review the location and availability of 

public fire hydrants as site development plans are prepared for the project.  Confirmation of 

existing and proposed fire hydrant locations, coverage areas and flow capacities 

necessary to serve the proposed rehabilitation hospital is a condition of approval to be 

satisfied prior to or concurrently with Site Plan Review for the proposed development.      

• Electricity:  SUB Electric has underground conduit and electrical facilities along the Maple 

Island Road frontage of the property.  There are existing overhead lines on the south side of 

Deadmond Ferry Road and Game Farm Road that can also serve the subject property.  The 

planned electrical facilities are to be placed underground and area suitable for future 

development of the site with a medical services use.    

• Telecommunications:  Comcast and CenturyLink have telecommunication facilities along the 

Maple Island Road and Game Farm Road frontages of the property, including fiberoptic lines.  

The existing and planned facilities are suitable for future development of the site with a 

medical services use. 

 

Finding 29:  Should the applicant’s concurrent applications for Metro Plan amendment and zone 

change be approved, future development of the subject site with a medical services use would be 

subject to the land use approval process outlined in SDC 5.17.100 (Site Plan Review). 

 

Conclusion:  As conditioned, the proposed rezoning meets Criterion 3.   

  

4.  Legislative Zoning Map amendments that involve a Metro Plan Diagram amendment shall: 

 

a. Meet the approval criteria specified in Section 5.14.100; and 

 

Applicant’s Narrative:  “The findings provided above related to SDC 5.14.100 are hereby 

incorporated by reference.” 

Exhibit C Page 10 of 13 

Attachment 1 Page 32 of 35 



 

 

 

b. Comply with Oregon Administrative Rule (OAR) 660-012-0060, where applicable. 

 

Applicant’s Narrative:  “The applicant retained a licensed traffic engineer (Sandow 

Engineering) to prepare a Traffic Impact Analysis and Transportation Planning Rule 

Analysis.  The report contains the following findings: 

 

•  The addition of development trips does not trigger any intersections to not meet the LOS 

standards. 

•  The intersection of Gateway Street at Beltline Road currently operates at LOS F during 

the PM peak hour. The zone change and proposed use will add less than a 3% increase 

in trips. This trip increase is insignificant in terms of impact on the intersection. 

Therefore, no mitigation is recommended. 

•  The addition of development traffic does not substantially increase queuing conditions. 

•  There is no off-site mitigation needed for this development. 

•  TPR findings are demonstrated to be met. 

 

Based upon the findings above, the zone change complies with the Transportation Planning 

Rule (TPR). For further information, refer to Exhibit I – Traffic Impact Analysis and 

Transportation Planning Rule Analysis.”  

 

 Finding 30:  The applicant has submitted a concurrent Metro Plan diagram amendment 

application (File 811-23-000182-TYP4) under separate cover.  The applicant’s submittal 

materials, narrative, and staff findings and recommendations demonstrate compliance with the 

Metro Plan amendment provisions of Chapter IV of the Metro Plan and SDC 5.14.135.   

 

Finding 31:  The applicant has initiated an amendment to the Metro Plan diagram to change 

the designation for approximately 4.99 acres of property from Campus Industrial to 

Commercial under separate cover (File 811-23-000182-TYP4). That amendment will also 

include redesignating the land to Community Commercial in the Gateway Refinement Plan.  

Prior or concurrent redesignation to Community Commercial is necessary for the subject site 

to be rezoned from CI to MS.  In accordance with SDC 3.2.505(B), the Medical Services 

zoning district can be implemented on a limited range of land use designations including 

Community Commercial, Major Retail Commercial, Mixed Use, High Density Residential 

and Medium Density Residential provided these sites abut a collector or arterial street. 

 

Finding 32:  The subject site is proposed to be redesignated to Commercial (under the Metro 

Plan diagram) and concurrently redesignated to Community Commercial under the Gateway 

Refinement Plan diagram.  The site abuts a collector street (Game Farm Road) along the 

southern boundary.  Therefore, provided the requested Metro Plan diagram and concurrent 

Gateway Refinement Plan diagram amendments are adopted, the subject site meets the 

requirements of SDC 3.2.505(B) for implementation of the Medical Services zoning district.     

 

Finding 33:  The rezoning area is a contiguous 4.99 acres plus adjacent public rights-of-way 

for Game Farm Road and the eastern half of Maple Island Road, which meets the requirements 

of SDC 3.2.505(C) for implementation of the Medical Services district on sites at least 3 

contiguous acres in size.  The concurrent rezoning of abutting public rights-of-way eliminates 

remnant pieces of Campus Industrial zoning on the property perimeter.  

Exhibit C Page 11 of 13 

Attachment 1 Page 33 of 35 



 

Finding 34:  The applicant has submitted a supporting Traffic Impact Analysis for the project, 

which meets the requirements of SDC 3.2.505(E) for implementation of the Medical Services 

district.   

 

Finding 35:  The requested zone change is being undertaken as a site-specific change in 

compliance with provisions of the adopted Metro Plan and the Springfield Development Code.  

Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR) 660-012-0060 requires that, “if an amendment to a 

functional plan, an acknowledged comprehensive plan, or a land use regulation (including a 

zoning map), would significantly affect an existing or planned transportation facility, then the 

local government must put in place measures” to mitigate the impact, as defined in OAR 660-

012-0060(2).  The findings in the applicant’s Traffic Impact Assessment (TIA) and the 

findings under Goal 12 provided in the concurrent Metro Plan diagram and Gateway 

Refinement Plan amendment contemplate the proposed zone change from CI to MS for the 

subject property.  Based on those findings, which are incorporated by reference herein, no 

significant affect will occur and therefore no mitigation measures are necessary.  Therefore, 

the rezoning complies with OAR 660-012-0060. 

 

Conclusion:  The proposed rezoning of the subject property and additional public rights-of-

way meets Criterion 4. 

 

Conclusion:  Based on the above-listed criteria, as conditioned herein the criteria for rezoning have been 

met.  

 

Conditions of Approval 

SDC Section 5.22.120 allows for the Approval Authority to attach conditions of approval to a zone change 

request to ensure the application fully meets the criteria of approval.  The specific language from the Code 

section is cited below: 

 

5.22.120 CONDITIONS  

 

The Approval Authority may attach conditions as may be reasonably necessary in order to allow the 

Zoning Map amendment to be granted.  Staff is recommending the following conditions of approval. 

 

Conditions of Approval: 

 

1. Prior to or concurrent with submittal of a Site Plan Review application for the proposed 

rehabilitation hospital or another permitted medical services use, the applicant must prepare and 

submit a capacity analysis for the sanitary sewer system and pump station serving the property.  

The analysis must confirm that adequate sanitary sewer capacity exists for the proposed 

development.  Alternatively, prior to City approval of the Site Plan Review application, the 

applicant must demonstrate that the necessary capacity can be provided through pump station 

upgrades.  The applicant is responsible for paying the costs of any necessary pump station 

upgrades in proportion to the impact of the proposed development, prior to issuance of building 

permits for the project. 

 

2. Prior to or concurrent with submittal of a Site Plan Review application for the proposed 

rehabilitation hospital or another permitted medical services use, the applicant must prepare and 

submit a fire hydrant location, coverage, and flow capacity analysis for the site.  The analysis must 

confirm that adequate capacity and coverage exists or can be provided for the proposed 

Exhibit C Page 12 of 13 

Attachment 1 Page 34 of 35 



development through installation of new fire hydrants.  The applicant is responsible for paying 

the costs of any necessary water system upgrades in proportion to the impact of the proposed 

development, prior to issuance of building permits for the project. 

 

 

 

Exhibit C Page 13 of 13 

Attachment 1 Page 35 of 35 



LOCATION OF PROPERTY SUBJECT TO PROPOSED COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT AND ZONE CHANGE 

 

   SITE 
       

    

Attachment 2 Page 1 of 8 



811-23-000181-TYP3 & 811-23-000182-TYP4 – PROPOSED COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT AND ZONE CHANGE  
FOR VACANT PROPERTY AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF GAME FARM ROAD AND MAPLE ISLAND ROAD  

(ASSESSOR’S MAP 17-03-15-40, TAX LOTS 800–1100)  
SITE CONTEXT MAP 

 

  

SITE 

Deadmond Ferry Road 

M
a
p

le
 I

s
la

n
d

 R
o

a
d

 

Game Farm Road 

International Way 

Attachment 2 Page 2 of 8 



CURRENT METRO PLAN DESIGNATION 

           

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SITE 

Note:  Diagram is for illustrative purposes only. 

Attachment 2 Page 3 of 8 



PROPOSED METRO PLAN DESIGNATION 

           

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SITE 

Note:  Diagram is for illustrative purposes only. 

Attachment 2 Page 4 of 8 



CURRENT GATEWAY REFINEMENT PLAN DESIGNATION  

 

SITE 

Attachment 2 Page 5 of 8 



PROPOSED GATEWAY REFINEMENT PLAN DESIGNATION  

 

SITE 

Attachment 2 Page 6 of 8 



811-23-000181-TYP3 – PROPOSED ZONING MAP AMENDMENT FOR 4.99 ACRES 
NE CORNER OF GAME FARM ROAD AND MAPLE ISLAND ROAD 

(MAP 17-03-15-40, TAX LOTS 800–1100)  
CURRENT ZONING 

 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  R-1 Residential District (R-1) 
   
   
  R-3 Residential District (R-3) 
 
 
  Mixed Use Commercial District (MUC) 
 
 
  Campus Industrial District (CI) 
 

  Medical Services District (MS) 

SITE 

International Way 

M
a

p
le

 I
s
la

n
d

 R
o

a
d

 

Deadmond Ferry Road Game Farm Road 

Attachment 2 Page 7 of 8 



811-23-000181-TYP3 – PROPOSED ZONING MAP AMENDMENT FOR 4.99 ACRES AND 
ABUTTING PUBLIC RIGHTS-OF-WAY FOR GAME FARM ROAD AND MAPLE ISLAND ROAD 

NE CORNER OF GAME FARM ROAD AND MAPLE ISLAND ROAD 
(MAP 17-03-15-40, TAX LOTS 800–1100)  

PROPOSED ZONING 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  R-1 Residential District (R-1) 
   
   
  R-3 Residential District (R-3) 
 
 
  Mixed Use Commercial District (MUC) 
 
 
  Campus Industrial District (CI) 
 

  Medical Services District (MS) 

SITE 

Deadmond Ferry Road 

International Way 

Game Farm Road 

Attachment 2 Page 8 of 8 



City of Springfield
Development & Public Works SPRINGFIELD

225 Fifth Street

Springfield, OR 97477

Phone: ( 541) 726- 3753

Fax: ( 541) 726- 3689

Metro Plan Amendment

Application Type IV

Type of Plan Amendment ( Check One) 

Type I: is a non -site specific amendment of the Plan. 

Q Type II: changes the Plan diagram; or is a site- specific Plan text amendment. 

Property Subject to the Amendment (if applicable) 

Tax Assessor Map 17- 03- 15- 40 Tax Lot(,) 1000 and portion of 800, 900, 1100

Street Address Not assigned. RiverBend Annex is 123 International Way Acres 4. 99 acres

Metro Plan Designation CampUS Industrial Refinement Plan Designation Special Light Industrial

Description of Proposed Amendment (Attach additional sheets if needed) 

This is a request to amend the Metro Plan Diagram to change the designation of the subject

property from Campus Industrial to Community Commercial to allow development of a new

PeaceHealth In -Patient Rehabilitation Facility on the southwest portion of the RiverBend Annex. 

Applicant/ Owner Information

Printed Name ofApplicantPeaceHealth Phone: 5` II- LZ5- S' j'+ 

Applicant Signature
A Date 8 / nt / 2 -OZ 3

Mailing Address 1115 SE 164th Avenue Vancouver, WA 98683

Property Owner Signature a4l" — - Date S / 9 / 212 3

Mailing Address 1115 SE 164th Avenue Vancouver, WA 98683

For Office Use Only: 

Case No. Received By

Date Accepted as Complete

Attachment 3 Page 1 of 420 



THE APPLICATION PACKET

A COMPLETE APPLICATION CONSISTS OF: 

L A complete application page ( all of the sections on the opposite side of this page must

be filled out). 

2, A statement containiniz Findings of Fact addressing the Criteria of Approval found
in Springfield Development Code ( SDC) 5. 14- 135. In order for the Planning Commission

and the City Council to consider an amendment of a plan text and/ or diagram, there must be
Findings of Fact submitted by the applicant. The Findings of Fact must show reason for the
request consistent with the Criteria of Approval ( shown below). If insufficient or unclear
information is submitted by the applicant, the request may be denied or delayed. 

The application must include requirements for addressing specific stateivide goals that the

Oregon legislature has said must be part of the amendment analysis. In particular, 
Statenvide Planning Goal 9 Economy and Goal 10 Housing must be addresser) for impact
on buildable lands inventories, and a Goal 12 Transportation analysis must address

criteria contained in OAR 660- 011- 060( 1) and ( 2) of lite Transportation Planning Rule
TPR) . Goals 9, 10 and 11 are three ofseveral " Applicable State -Wide Planning Goals" 

that must be .specifically addressed in criteria (A) of the Springfield Development Code
SDC) 5.14- 135. A. These specific items must be included in the application submittal to be
considered o complete application. 

In reaching a decision on these actions, the Planning Commission and the City Council shall
adopt findings which demonstrate conformance to the following Criteria of Approval ( SDC
5. 14- 135. 

A Metro Plan amendment may be approved only if the Springfield City Council And other
applicable governing body or bodies find that the proposal conforms to the following criteria. 

A. The amendment shall be consistent with applicable Statewide Planning Goals; and

B. Plan inconsistency: 

1. In those cases where the Metro Plan applies, adoption of the amendment shal I not

make a Metro Plan internally inconsistent. 

2. In oases where Springfield Comprehensive Plan applies, the amendment shall be
consistent with the Springfield Comprehensive Plan. ( 6331) 

3. A map to scale depicting the existing and proposed diagram change. ( If applicable) 

4. The application fee. Refer to the Development Code Pee Schedule for the

appropriate fee. A copy of the Fee Schedule is available at the Development & Public
Works Department. 

Revised 1/ 2017

Attachment 3 Page 2 of 420 



City of Springfield
Development & Public Works

225 Fifth Street

Springfield, OR 97477

Zoning Map Amendment, Type III

SPRINGFIELD

qq

Required Project

Applicant Name: I

Company: 

Address: 11115

Information ( Applicant., complete this section) 

PeaceHealth one 541_ 725 - 

Fax: 

SE 164th Avenue Vancouver, WA 98683

Applicant Signature: 

Property Owner: 

Company: 

Address: 

PeaceHealth Phone

Fax: 

5YI- 225 - 

1115 SE 164th Avenue Vancouver, WA 98683

Owner Signature: 

If the applicant Is other than the owner, the owner hereby grants permission forthe applicant to act In. his or her behalf

ASSESSOR' S MAP NO: 17- 03- 15- 40 TAX LOT NO( S): 

Property Address: 
Not assigned. 1000 and portions of 800, 900 and 1100

Area of Request Square Feet: 217, 364.4 Acres: 4. 99

Existing ) 
of Property:rty: 

Vacant southeast portion of the PeaceHealth RiverBend Annex

Description of

The Proposal: To change the zoning from Cl Campus Industrial to CC Community Commercial. 

The zone change will allow the site to be developed with a new In -Patient

Required Property Information ( City Zntake Staff., complete this section

Received by: 
Case No.: Date ( initials) 

Postage Total

Application Fee: Fee: Fee: 

Edited 7/ 19/ 2007 bjones

Attachment 3 Page 3 of 420 



Zoning Map Amendment Submittal Requirements Checklist

1. The application fee - Refer to the Development Code Fee Schedule for the
appropriate application and postage fee. A copy of the Fee Schedule is available at
the Development & Public Works Department, 

2. Deed - A copy of the deed to show ownership. 

3. Vicinity Map - A map of the property and the surrounding vicinity which includes
the existing zoning and plan designations. One copy must be reduced to 8 1/ 2" by
11" which will be mailed as part of the required neighboring property notification
packet. 

4. Findings - Before the Planning Commission can approve a Zone/ Overlay District
Change Request, there must be information submitted by the applicant which
adequately supports the request. The Criteria the Planning Commission will
consider in making their decision is listed below. If insufficient or unclear data is
submitted by the applicant, there is a good chance that the request will be denied
or delayed. It is recommended that you hire a professional planner or land use

attorney to prepare your findings. 

Criteria of Approval ( Ouasi- iudicial) 

SDC 12. 030 requires that in reaching a decision on these actions, the Planning
Commission or Hearings Official map approve, approve with conditions or deny a quasi- 
judicial Zoning Map amendment based upon approval criteria ( a) -( c), below. 

a) Consistency with the Metro Plan policies and the Metro Plan Diagram; 

b) Consistency with applicable Refinement Plans, Plan District maps, Conceptual
Development Plans and functional plans; and

c) The property is presently provided with adequate public facilities, services and
transportation networks to support the use, or these facilities, services and

transportation networks are planned to be provided concurrently with the

development of the property. 

Attachment 3 Page 4 of 420 



PeaceHealth — RiverBend Annex

In -Patient Rehabilitation Facility
Metro Plan Amendment

Zone Change Applications

Submitted to: 

City of Springfield
Development & Public Works

225 Fifth Street

Springfield, OR 97477

Submitted for: Submitted by: 
PeaceHealth Mike Reeder

1115 SE 164' Avenue Law Office of Mike Reeder

Vancouver, WA 98683 345 West 4" Ave, Suite 205

Eugene, OR 97401

Submittal Date: August 9, 2023

Attachment 3 Page 5 of 420 



PeaceHealth — RiverBend Annex

In -Patient Rehabilitation Facility
Metro Plan Amendment & Zone Change Applications

I. SUMMARY.............................................................. 3

II. PROPOSAL.............................................................. 4

III. SITE AND PLANNING PROFILE ........................................ 4

IV. PLAN AMENDMENT APPROVAL CRITERIA AND FINDINGS OF FACT

Consistency with Applicable Statewide Planning Goals ............................ 9

Consistency with Metro Plan ................................................. 16

Consistency with Springfield Comprehensive Plan ................................ 16

V. ZONE CHANGE APPROVAL CRITERIA AND FINDINGS OF FACT

Consistency with Metro Plan. 18

Consistency with the Gateway Refinement Plan .............................................. 18

Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services. 19

Compliance with OAR 660- 012- 0060...... .. 20

VI. CONCLUSION.......................................................... 20

EXHIBITS

Exhibit A - County Assessor' s Map
Exhibit B - Public Notice Map
Exhibit C - Aerial Photo

Exhibit D - Existing and Proposed Plan Designation Map
Exhibit E - Existing and Proposed Zoning Map
Exhibit F - Legal Description

Exhibit G - In -Patient Rehabilitation Hospital Facility — Conceptual Site Plan
Exhibit H - Traffic Impact Analysis and Tranportation Planning Rule Analysis, Sandow Engineering

ITEMS SUBMITTED SEPARATELY

Metro Plan Amendment Application Form, Type IV

Zoning Map Amendment Application Form, Type III

Attachment 3 Page 6 of 420 



PeaceHealth — RiverBend Annex IPF

Plan Amendment/ Zone Change Narrative

August 9, 2023 - Page 3 of 21

I. SUMMARY

Project Name: RiverBend In -Patient Rehabilitation Facility

Applications: Plan Amendment & Zone Change — Request for

Concurrent Processing as Type IV

Project Address: Not Assigned to Subject Property
East of the Subject Property the PeaceHealth RiverBend
Annex building is addressed as 123 International Way. 

Assessors Map: 17- 03- 15- 40

Tax Lots: All of tax lot 1000 and portion of tax lots 800, 900, 1100

Project Size: 

Existing Plan Designation: 

Proposed Plan Designation: 

Existing Zoning: 

Proposed Zoning: 

Applicant/ Owner. 

Applicant' s Representative: 

4. 99 Acres

Campus Industrial

Commercial

CI Campus Industrial

CC Community Commercial

PeaceHealth

1115 SE 164" Ave

Vancouver, Washington 98683

Mike Reeder

Law Office of Mike Reeder

375 W. 4' Ave., Suite 205

Eugene, Oregon 97401

541) 225- 8777

nue eder ( c), or egonlanduse. c om

Attachment 3 Page 7 of 420 



Peace Health — RivecBend Annex IPF

Plan Amendment/ Zone Change Naccative

August 9, 2023 - Page 4 of 21

II. PROPOSAL

The property subject to this application ( the " Subject Property") is located at the northeast
comer of Deadmond Ferry Road and Maple Island Road in Springfield, Oregon. The
Subject Property is identified by Lane County Assessor' s Office as Map 17- 03- 15- 40, Tax
Lot 1000 and the southern portion of Tax Lots 800, 900, and 1100. Refer to Exhibit A - 

County Assessor' s Mag and Exhibit B- Public Notice Man. 

This proposal is a request for approval of a Plan Amendment to the Metro Plan (" Plan") to

re -designate 4.99 acres from Campus Industrial to Community Commercial and a zone
change from Campus Industrial (CI) to Community Commercial ( CC). Approval of this
request will allow development of a new In-patient Rehabilitation Facility on the RivecBend
Annex Campus. 

III. SITE AND PLANNING PROFILE

a. Location

The Subject Property is located northeast of the intersection at Maple Island Rd and
Deadmond Ferry Rd. The Subject Property is currently part of a larger development site
known as the PeaceHealth ( RivecBend) Annex. Refer to Exhibit C - Aerial Photo. 

b. Land Use and Zoning

The Subject Property has a plan designation of Campus Industrial and is zoned CI Campus
Industrial. The Subject Property is undeveloped. Refer to Exhibit D- Existing and Proposed
Plan Designation Mag and Exhibit E- Existing and Proposed Zoning Mag. 

C. Site Characteristics

The Subject Property is undeveloped and a portion contains remnants of an old orchard. 
The perimeter of the Subject Property is approximately the same grade as the adjacent public
right-of-way and slopes downward to the orchard. The soil on the Subject Property is
Malabon Silty Clay Loam. 

d. Surrounding Area

The Subject Property is situated in an area developed with a mix of residential, commercial, 
and industrial uses. 

Deadmond Ferry Rd. borders the Subject Property along the South side. 

Attachment 3 Page 8 of 420 



Peace Health — Rive, Bend Annex IPF

Plan Amendment/ Zone Change Naaative

August 9, 2023 - Page 5 of 21

Maple Island Road boarders the Subject Property along the West side. 

Property to the southeast and across Deadmond Ferry Rd is a 1. 38 -acre
parcel zoned High Density Residential and identified as Assessor' s Map
17- 03- 15- 40, Tax Lot 2500. The property is part of a larger development
site being developed as a senior assisted living facility. The property
address is 3535 Game Farm Rd. 

Property to the south and across Deadmond Ferry is a 0. 33 -acre parcel
zoned Low Density Residential and identified as Assessor' s Map 17- 03- 15- 
40, Tax Lot 2600. The property contains a multi -family home and is
assigned an address of 3548 E Game Farm Rd. 

Property to the south and across Deadmond Ferry is a 0. 55 -acre parcel
zoned Low Density Residential and identified as Assessor' s Map 17- 03- 15- 
40, Tax Lot 2900. The property contains a single- family dwelling and is
assigned an address of 3562 E Game Farm Rd. 

Property to the south and across Deadmond Ferry is a 1. 38 -acre parcel
zoned Low Density Residential and identified as Assessor' s Map 17- 03- 15- 
40, Tax Lot 3000. The property contains a multi -family dwelling and is
assigned an address of 3580 E Game Farm Rd. 

Property to the southwest and across Game Farm Rd is a 13. 65 -acre parcel
zoned Mixed Use Commercial and identified as Assessor' s Map 17- 03- 15- 
40, Tax Lot 3100. The property contains a mobile home park and is
assigned an address of 3530 Game Farm Rd. 

Attachment 3 Page 9 of 420 



Peace Health — Rive, Bend Annex IPF

Plan Amendment/ Zone Change Naaative

August 9, 2023 - Page 6 of 21

Property to the west across Maple Island Road is a 13. 55 -acre parcel zoned
Campus Industrial and identified as Assessor' s Map 17- 03- 15- 40, Tax Lot
0700. The property is developed commercial office headquarters and
surface parking lots. The property address is 555 International Way. 

Property to the north across Industrial Way is a 7. 05 -acre parcel zoned
Campus Industrial and identified as Assessor' s Map 17- 03- 15- 40, Tax Lot
0500. The property is a developed multi -tenant commercial/ retail
complex. The property is assigned an address of 400 International Way. 

Property to the north across Industrial Way is a 10.29 -acre parcel zoned
Campus Industrial and identified as Assessor' s Map 17- 03- 15- 40, Tax Lot
3201. The property is being developed for a religious building. The
property is assigned an address of 300 International Way. 

Attachment 3 Page 10 of 420 



Peace Health — Rive, Bend Annex IPF

Plan Amendment/ Zone Change Naaative

August 9, 2023 - Page 7 of 21

Property to the north across Industrial Way is a 2. 38 -acre parcel zoned
Campus Industrial and identified as Assessor' s Map 17- 03- 15- 40, Tax Lot
3600. The property is undeveloped land. The property is assigned an
address of 200 International Way. 

Property to the east of the Subject Property is 25. 11 acres zoned Campus
Industrial and identified as Assessor' s Map 17- 03- 15- 40, Tax Lot 1100 and
1101. The property is developed with an Industrial Warehouse with
Commercial Offices with an address of 123 International Way. This
property is owned by the applicant and commonly known as The Annex. 

Attachment 3 Page 11 of 420 



Peace Health — Rive, Bend Annex IPF

Plan Amendment/ Zone Change Naaative

August 9, 2023 - Page 8 of 21

e. Services & Resources

Fire Eugene Springfield Fire and Life Safety
Police Springfield Police

Water Springfield Utility District (SUB) 

Sewer City of Springfield Sewer

Schools Holt Elementary, Monroe Middle, and Sheldon High. 

Power Emerald People' s Utility District

Access Game Farm Rd and Intemational Way
Class I Stream None

Floodplain The Subject Property is determined to be outside the 500 - 
yeas flood plain as determined by Flood Insurance Rate
Ma FIRM Panel 41039C1133F effective Ime 2, 1999

Historical None

Archaeological None

Sensitive

Habitat

None

Water Quality Not located within a water quality limited area per Lane
Manual 13. 010

Wetlands None

Attachment 3 Page 12 of 420 



Peace Health — Rive, Bend Annex IPF

Plan Amendment/ Zone Change Naaative

August 9, 2023 - Page 9 of 21

IV. PLAN AMENDMENT APPROVAL CRITERIA & FINDINGS OF

FACT

On January 19, 2023 the applicant participated in an informal meeting with City staff to
share PeaceHealth' s vision for anew In -Patient Rehabilitation Facility in the RiverBend
campus and to discuss a proposed Plan Amendment and Zone Change for the Subject

Property. 

Listed below are the Plan Amendment approval criteria in bold italics followed by the
applicant' s findings of fact. 

SDC 5. 14.135 Criteria. 

A) The amendment shall be consistent with applicable Statewide Planning
Goals; 

The Findings of Facts below demonstrate the amendment is consistent with applicable

Statewide Planning Goals. 

The following applicable statewide planning goal statements have been summarized. The
Oregon Land Conservation and Development Commission Goals and Guidelines are

incorporated herein by reference, except as noted. 

GOAL 1: Citizen Involvement - To develop a citizen involvement program to
insure the opportunity for citizens to be involved in all phases of the planning
process. 

The City of Springfield has a citizen involvement program that is acknowledged by the State
as in compliance with Goal 1. Citizens are provided the opportunity to be involved in all
phases of the planning process. The proposal does not include any changes to the City' s
citizen involvement program. The requirements under Goal 1 are met by adherence to the
City' s provisions for citizen involvement as implemented by the Springfield Development
Code ( SDC). 

GOAL 2: Land Use Planning - To establish a land use planning process and
policy framework as a basis for all decisions and actions related to use of land
and to assure an adequate factual basis for such decisions and actions. 

Goal 2 requires local plans and regulatory measures to be consistent with statewide goals and
land use decisions to be supported by an adequate factual basis. Goal 2 also requires that
comprehensive plan amendments be adopted after a public hearing by the governing body
that provides citizens an opportunity to comment on the proposed amendment. 

Attachment 3 Page 13 of 420 



Peace Health — Rive, Bend Annex IPF

Plan Amendment/ Zone Change Naaative

August 9, 2023 - Page 10 of 21

Goal 2 establishes a land use planning process and policy framework as a basis for all land
use decisions and requires the development of an adequate factual base to support these

decisions. A minor change is one that does not have significant effect beyond its immediate

area and is based on special studies or information. The justification for the particular

change must be established. 

The City of Springfield has adopted a comprehensive land use Plan amendment process, 
including specific standards that must be addressed to justify the change. In addition, 
Oregon Administrative Rules have been promulgated for the Exception Process. Substantial

compliance with SDC 5. 14. 100 and the OAR provisions is addressed above and below in

this written statement in compliance with the applicable provisions of Goal 2. 

The SDC implements Goal 2 by providing state -acknowledged procedures and criteria
governing land use decisions. This Plan amendment and related zone change application
will be considered by the Planning Commission and City Council following two public
hearings. This application is being processed in compliance with the requirements of SDC
and thus complies with Goal 2. 

GOAL 3: Agricultural Lands

The amendment is for property in the Springfield urban growth boundary and does not
affect any land designated for agricultural use. Goal 3 is not applicable. 

GOAL 4: Forest Lands

The amendment is for property in the Springfield urban growth boundary and does not
affect any land designated for forest use. Goal 4 is not applicable. 

GOAL 5: Open Spaces, Scenic and Historic Areas, and Natural Resources- To

protect natural resources and conserve scenic and historic areas and open

spaces. 

Goal 5 requires the conservation of open space and the protection of numerous natural, 

cultural, historic and scenic resources. The goal applies to the following resources: riparian
corridors, water and riparian areas and fish habitat, wetlands, wildlife habitat, mineral and

aggregate resources, energy sources, natural areas, scenic views and sites, open space, 
groundwater resources, wilderness areas, historic resources, cultural areas, Oregon

recreational trails, federal wild and scenic waterways and state scenic waterways. OAR 660- 

023- 0010 and 0020 includes definitions, standards and specific Hiles applicable to each Goal

5 resource inventoried for conservation under the goal. 

Attachment 3 Page 14 of 420 



Peace Health — Rive, Bend Annex IPF

Plan Amendment/ Zone Change Naaative

August 9, 2023 - Page 11 of 21

The Goal 5 resources listed above have been appropriately considered by the City of
Springfield in the Plan. The property does not contain any inventoried Statewide Goal 5
resources. There are no known significant natural assets or historic resources on the

property. The amendment does not propose a change to the City' s list of Goal 5 resources
or propose a change to any regulatory measures related to Goal 5. The proposed request
will not allow new uses that could be in conflict with a significant Goal 5 resource site. Goal

5 is not applicable. 

GOAL 6: Air, Water and Land Resource Quality- To maintain and improve
the quality of the air, water, and land resources of the state. 

Goal 6 is generally implemented during the comprehensive planning process and local
regulations. 

The City of Springfield' s Environmental Services Division ( ESD) coordinates the City' s
compliance with applicable state and federal environmental quality statues. ESD manages
multiple programs to maintain compliance with Goal 6 including 1) Water Resources
Programs, such as implementing the City' s National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System
NPDES) stonnwater discharge permit, 2) Industrial Pretreatment Program such as

administering the Pollution Management Practice programs, and 3) Wastewater & 
Stormwater Programs. The proposed Plan amendment does not alter the City' s
acknowledged compliance with Goal 6. 

As Goal 6 pertains to site- specific development, it requires that adequate protective

measures are taken to ensure the maintenance of an, water and land quality. This Plan
amendment will encourage development of land inside the city for medical services. All new
development must comply with applicable local, state and federal air and water quality
standards. 

The general vicinity of the Subject Property is served by adequate on- site water and
sanitation facilities. The proposed use of the Subject Property is not expected to produce or
discharge any product or by-product that would degrade the quality of the an, water and land
resources. 

GOAL 7: Areas Subject to Natural Disasters or Hazards- To protect people

and property from natural hazards. 

The Metro Plan and the SDC are acknowledged to be in compliance with all applicable

statewide land use goals, including Goal 7. The City of Springfield has existing programs, 
policies, zoning overlays, and development standards to regulate development in areas
subject to natural disasters and hazards. 

Attachment 3 Page 15 of 420 



Peace Health — Rive, Bend Annex IPF

Plan Amendment/ Zone Change Naaative

August 9, 2023 - Page 12 of 21

The Subject Property included is not in the City' s Floodplain Overlay District or the Hillside
Development Overlay District. The proposed Plan amendment does not affect any City
regulations or alter mitigation requirements for any properties in areas subject to natural
disasters and hazards. Goal 7 is not applicable. 

There are no known areas subject to natural disasters or hazards on the Subject Property. 
The Subject Property is not located within the 100 -year flood hazard area as detemuned by
Flood Insurance Rate Map ( FIRM) Panel 41039C1133F effective June 2, 1999. FEMA has
updated flood maps to better show the risk of flooding in Central Lane County. The revised
pending maps continue to show the Subject Property in Zone X. The western and southern
edge of the Subject Property are in an area with 0.2% annual chance of flood and the
remaining portion is considered an area of minimal flood hazard. 

GOAL 8: Recreational Needs- To satisfy the recreational needs of the citizens
of the state and visitors and, where appropriate, to provide for the siting of
necessary recreational facilities including destination resorts. 

Goal 8 addresses the recreational needs of Oregon residents and visitors. Provisions of this

goal are appropriately implemented by a legislative process as part of periodic review of the
Plan. The City of Springfield evaluated projected population growth, changes in community
demographics, and the recreational needs of citizens and visitors. In compliance with Goal

8, the Metro Plan Diagram designates areas needed for Parks and Open Space. The subject

property does not contain any land identified as needed to meet recreational needs or to
satisfy the demand for recreational facilities. 

The proposed Plan amendment and zone change will not affect the City' s supply of land
available for recreation areas or recreational facilities. The proposed change from Campus

Industrial to Commercial has no direct impact on recreational needs. Goal 8 is not

applicable. 

GOAL 9: Economy of the State- To provide adequate opportunities
throughout the state for a variety of economic activities vital to the health, 
welfare, and prosperity of Oregon' s citizens. 

The purpose of Goal 9 is to diversify and improve the economy of the State and is primarily
applicable to commercial and industrial development. In 2007 the Oregon legislature

adopted House Bill 3337 establishing land use planning requirements for the Eugene - 
Springfield Metro area. ORS 197. 304 established a mandate that Springfield and Eugene

separately determine the projected 20 -year need for housing and establish separate urban
growth boundaries to meet housing needs. Although ORS 197.304 only required separate
UGBs for housing, it was implicit that the two cities independently plan for other land use
needs including employment growth, as defined by Goal 9. 

Attachment 3 Page 16 of 420 



Peace Health — Rive, Bend Annex IPF

Plan Amendment/ Zone Change Narrative

August 9, 2023 - Page 13 of 21

Pursuant to Goal 9, in 2010, Lane County and the cities and Springfield and Eugene
approved the Regional Prosperity Economic Development Plan providing a framework to
better align regional economic growth the area' s assets and values. 

Given the complexity involved with addressing ORS 197. 304, the City of Springfield chose
to phase adoption of various amendments to the Plan. To address OAR 660- 009- 0015( 1
and ( 4), the City of Springfield prepared an Economic Opportunities Analysis ( EOA) to
review " the types and amounts of industrial and other employment uses likely to occur in the planning
area". The EOA identified " Medical Services" as a Target Industry and typically located in
Plan Designations Commercial, Commercial Mixed Use, High Density Residentual Mixed
Use, Light Medium Industrial Mixed use or Medium Density Mixed use, or Mixed Use. 

The City of Springfield inventory of Commercial Industrial Buildable Land ( CIBL) identified
the Subject Property as vacant Campus Industrial Land. The CIBL also concluded there
were not enough large vacant sites within the City of Springfield UGB to accommodate the
projected economic growth. Relevant City of Springfield economic development strategies' 
include: 

Provide sites with a vtusgy of site charactenstics to meet both commercial and industrial economic
opportunities, including sites that are availablefor n1atizelyfast derelopment This include large
sites for major employers

Support and assist existing businesses within Spnngfield by assessing what kind of assistance
businesses need and dereloping programs to meet that need

Attract and dewlap new businesses, especially those related to regional business clusters The City
would like to build on the dereloping health care cluster, promote development of high- tech businesses, 
and attract sustainable businesses

Maintinflexibility - planning through provading eecientplanning services and deolopingplanning
policies to respond to the changing needs of businesses

On December 5, 2016, the City of Springfield adopted Ordinance No. 6361 amending the
Springfield urban growth boundary and adopting the Springfield 2030 Comprehensive Plan
2030 Plan) Economic and Urbanization Policy Elements. The 2030 Economic Element

provides policy direction to address the community' s commercial, industrial, and other
employment development needs and supplants the Economic Element in the Metro Plan. 

The new InPatientRehabilitation Facility requires a site approximately 4.99 acres in size. 
Based on data provided by LCOG on] une 1, 2023, inside the City of Springfield there are
no vacant lots between 4.0 to 8. 0 acres in size currently zoned Community Commercial or

1 CIBL —HOA Summary, August 2015. 

Attachment 3 Page 17 of 420 



Peace Health — RivecBend Annex IPF

Plan Amendment/ Zone Change Naccative

August 9, 2023 - Page 14 of 21

Medical Services. There are two vacant lots zoned Mixed Use Commercial that fall within

this size range located on the PeaceHealth RivecBend campus across from the hospital. 

Although the MUC zone would allow an InPatientRehabilitation Facility, it is vital that the
two properties remain available for uses that requite proximity to the hospital. 

The Plan amendment will allow the Subject Property to be designated Commercial and fulfill
a key economic goal to support the health care cluster. The new In -Patient Rehabilitation
Facility will provide a medical service offering patients a transition between services
provided in a hospital and those typically available in an assisted care facility. The Subject
Property is located close to other major medical facilities including the PeaceHealth
RivecBend and McKenzie Willamette hospitals. The Subject Property is within a block of
frequent transit service and bike routes. 

The Plan amendment will not have an adverse impact availability of suitable sites for a
variety of economic activities. The Plan amendment will provide the following economic
benefits: 

1. The change in plan designation will stimulate development of an undemtilized

portion of the RivecBend Campus and result in a more efficient land use

Pattern. 

2. Strengthen the medical services sector in the City of Springfield helping to
address a " target industry". 

3. Development of the site for the planned In -Patient Rehabilitation Facility is
expected to add approximately 150 jobs and result in direct and indirect
benefits to the local economy. 

For further information regarding the Plan amendment' s compliance with the City of
Springfield 2030 Economic Element, please refer to the analysis below regarding SDC
5. 14. 135( B). 

GOAL 10: Housing- To provide for the housing needs of citizens of the state. 

Goal 10 is intended to provide for the housing needs of the citizens of the State. This Goal
is primarily implemented through the provisions of the Plan. The proposed Plan
Amendment does not impact the buildable land supply for housing. The new expanded IPF
will initially provide 50 beds for those needing 24-hour medical care exceeding what is
typically offered in an assisted care facility or nursing home. The size of the site will allow
the facility to add 10 more beds in the future. The facility will not provide the complete
services of a hospital so being in close proximity to the two hospitals in Springfield will be
beneficial. 

Attachment 3 Page 18 of 420 



Peace Health — Rive, Bend Annex IPF

Plan Amendment/ Zone Change Naaative

August 9, 2023 - Page 15 of 21

GOAL 11: Public Facilities and Services- to plan and develop a timely, orderly
and efficient arrangement of public facilities and services to serve as a

framework for urban and rural development. 

The Subject Property is located in the City of Springfield and a full range of urban services
are available to serve the site and the anticipated development. The Plan amendment will

not affect the City or other service providers' ability to provide public services. 

GOAL 12: Transportation- To provide and encourage a safe, convenient and

economic transportation system. 

The intent of Goal 12 is implemented through the provisions of the State Transportation

Planning Rule (TPR) (OAR 660, Division 12) which was adopted by LCDC in 1991. 
OAR 660- 012- 0060( 1) requires that amendments to functional plans, acknowledged

comprehensive plans, and land use regulations which significantly affect a transportation
facility shall assure that allowed land uses are consistent with the identified function, 
capacity, and level of service of the facility. 

To determine whether the proposed amendments will significantly affect a transportation
facility, the TPR lists specific criteria against which the proposed amendments are to be
evaluated. The TPR provides that a plan or land use regulation amendment significantly
affects a transportation facility if it

a) Changes the functional classification of an existing or planned transportation
facility; 

b) Changes standards implementing a functional classification system; 
c) Allows types or levels of land uses which would result in levels of travel or

access which are inconsistent with the functional classification of a

transportation facility; or, 
d) Would reduce the level of service of the facility below the minimum

acceptable level identified in the TSP ( Transportation System Plan). 

For a complete analysis of how the application meets Goal 12 and the Transportation

Planning Rule, please see Exhibit II - Traffic Impact Analysis and Transportation Planning
Rule Analysis prepared by Sandow Engineering. 

GOAL 13: Energy Conservation- To conserve energy. 

The Subject Property does not contain any non- renewable energy resources on the property. 
The proposed Plan amendment will not amend or affect any land use regulations enacted to
implement Goal 13. All new development will be required to comply with local, state and
federal codes related to energy conservation. Goal 13 is not applicable. 

Attachment 3 Page 19 of 420 



Peace Health — Rive, Bend Annex IPF

Plan Amendment/ Zone Change Naaative

August 9, 2023 - Page 16 of 21

GOAL 14: Urbanization- To provide an orderly and efficient transition from
rural to urban land use, to accommodate urban population and urban

employment inside urban growth boundaries, to ensure efficient use of land, 

and to provide for livable communities. 

The Subject Property is in the Springfield Urban Growth Boundary and inside the city limits. 
This Plan amendment does not propose to expand the Urban Growth Boundary thus does
not require a review of the transition of rural to urban land uses. Therefore, the provisions

of Goal 14 and OAR Chapter 660, Division 24 ( Urban Growth Boundaries) are not

applicable. 

GOALS 15- 19

Goals 15 through 18 are inapplicable to this application as they are geographically oriented
and only apply to the Willamette River Greenway and coastal resources. 

B) Plan inconsistency: 

1) In those cases where the Metro Plan applies, adoption of the

amendment shall not make the Metro Plan internally
inconsistent. 

The Plan amendment is a request to change the Plan designation for a specific site and does

not include any proposed changes to the Plan text. Adoption of the Plan amendment will
not cause any internal inconsistencies in the Metro Plan. 

2) In cases where Springfield Comprehensive Plan applies, the

amendment shall be consistent with the Springfield

Comprehensive Plan. (6331

The Plan amendment is consistent with the Springfield Comprehensive Plan including the
policies listed below in bold italics: 

Policy E.3 Work with property owners and their representatives to ensure
that prime development and redevelopment sites throughout

Springfleld and its Urban Growth Boundary that are designated
for employment use are preserved for future employment needs

and are not subdivided or used for non -employment uses. 

Attachment 3 Page 20 of 420 



Peace Health — RivecBend Annex IPF

Plan Amendment/ Zone Change Naccative

August 9, 2023 - Page 17 of 21

The Plan amendment will facilitate development of an underutilized land and allow an in- 

patient rehabilitation facility to be developed on the site bringing about 150 new jobs to the
City of Springfield at about 30 employees per acre. 

Policy E.6 Facilitate short term and long term redevelopment activity and
increased efficiency of land use through the urban renewal
program, updates to refinement plans and the development

review process. 

The Plan amendment will facilitate efficient land use by increasing the overall intensity and
density of the uses on the PeaceHealth RivecBend Annex campus. 

Policy E. 7 Where possible, concentrate development on sites with existing
infrastructure or on sites where infrastructure can be provided

relatively easily and at a comparatively low cost. 

The Plan amendment concentrates development within the city limits on a site with available
infrastructure for public facilities and services. 

Policy E.16 Consider the economic opportunities provided by transportation
corridors and seek to maximize economic uses in corridors that

provide the most optimal locations and best exposure for existing
and future commercial and industrial uses. 

The Plan amendment will stimulate development on a multi -modal transportation corridor. 

The new employees will increase ridership on the EmX and use of the bike routes. 

Policy E.28 Increase the potential for employment in the regional industry
clusters, including: Health Care, Communication Equipment, 
Information Technology ( Software), Metals ( Wholesalers), Local
Food and Beverage Production and Distribution, Specialty
Agriculture, Wood Pr Forest Products, and Transportation

Equipment. 

The Plan amendment will facilitate development of a new in-patient rehabilitation facility
increasing employment in the Health Care industry. This Planamendment willincrease the
Health Care cluster in the Gateway are of the City. 

Attachment 3 Page 21 of 420 



Peace Health — Rive, Bend Annex IPF

Plan Amendment/ Zone Change Naaative

August 9, 2023 - Page 18 of 21

Policy E.40 Provide the services, infrastructure, and land needed to attract
the identified industry clusters, especially where they can increase
economic connectivity among businesses. 

The Plan amendment will increase the amount of land available for community commercial
uses including the proposed in-patient rehabilitation facility. 

Attachment 3 Page 22 of 420 



Peace Health — RivecBend Annex IPF

Plan Amendment/ Zone Change Naccative

August 9, 2023 - Page 19 of 21

V. ZONE CHANGE APPROVAL CRITERIA & FINDINGS OF FACT

SDC 5.22. 11 S ( C) Zoning Map Amendment Criteria of Approval

1) Consistency with applicable Metro Plan policies and the Metro
Plan Diagram; 

Following approval of the amendment to change the Plan Diagram designation from
Campus Industrial to Commercial, the zoning map amendment will be consistent. 

There are no mandatory Metro Plan policies related to the proposed zoning. 

2) Consistency with applicable Refinement Plans, Plan District
maps, Conceptual Development Plans and functional plans; 

The Subject Property is within the boundary of the Gateway Refinement Plan adopted on
November 9, 1992. In 1992, the Subject Property was shown on the land use diagram as
part of the McKenzie -Gateway Special Light Industrial site. 

Below are applicable Gateway Refinement Plan policies in bold italics followed by the
applicant' s findings. 

8. 0 Provide for an efficient and flexible transportation system for the

McKenzie -Gateway SLI Site. 

9. 0 Improve the appearance and effectiveness of the main approaches to the
McKenzie -Gateway SLI Site.... 

Through substantial public and private investments, significant capital improvements have

improved the transportation system serving the McKenzie -Gateway SLI Site. 

The proposed Zone Change will not have an adverse impact on the transportation system. 

The planned development will increase potential transit riders using the nearby EmX
stations. 

10. 0 Mitigate the impacts of incremental ( SLI) development on existing on- 
site ( non -SLI) uses occupying the McKenzie -Gateway SLI Site. 

Policy 10.0 recognized that full development of the McKenzie -Gateway SLI Site would likely
occur incrementally. The Subject Property is located at the southwest comer of the
RivecBend Annex campus. The impetus for the proposed Zone Change is the proposed use

Attachment 3 Page 23 of 420 



Peace Health — Rive, Bend Annex IPF

Plan Amendment/ Zone Change Naaative

August 9, 2023 - Page 20 of 21

of the Subject Property for a new expanded PeaceHealth RiverBend InPatient
Rehabilitation Facility. Through the site plan review process, any development will be
required to comply with SDC standards including requirements for landscaping, building
setbacks, parking, etc. Development of the Subject Property will be compatible with
surrounding land uses including the remaining portion of the RiverBend Annex campus. 

11. 0 Ensure that development plans adequately consider the site' s natural
landscape features and amenities, and provide for the development

needs offuture developers. 

The proposed Zone Change to Community Commercial will allow different uses than the
existing CI Campus Industrial zone but many of the development standards, such as
landscape requirements for parking areas and stormwater management will remain the same. 
The site plan review process requires that developers adequately consider existing site
conditions. 

12. 0 Encourage the preservation and/ or enhancement of reminders of the
area' s rich agricultural heritage, which are found in the McKenzie - 

Gateway SLI area. 

The policy above is directed towards the City of Springfield encouraging historic
preservation but is not a mandatory policy for reviewing a zone change request. The Subject
Property contains a small remnant of a significantly larger filbert orchard to the west of the
site. The applicant will consider ways to provide a reminder of the area' s rich agricultural

heritage such as a commemorative plaque or display of historic photos in the building. 
Regardless of zoning, any new development will require changes in grade making it
impracticable to retain the orchard. 

13. 0 Ensure adequate storm drainage management planning emphasizing the
minimization of negative impacts on water quality and quantity
resulting from McKenzie -Gateway SLI Site development. 

Any development of the Subject Property will require compliance with City, state and federal
water quality standards and to review of proposed storm drainage for the site. 

3) The property is presently provided with adequate public
facilities, services and transportation networks to support the use, 

or these facilities, services and transportation networks are

planned to be provided concurrently with the development of the
property; 

Attachment 3 Page 24 of 420 



Peace Health — Rive, Bend Annex IPF

Plan Amendment/ Zone Change Naaative

August 9, 2023 - Page 21 of 21

The Subject Property is within the City limits and is presently provided with adequate public
facilities, services and transportation networks to support the planned use. Please refer to

ALTA / HSPS Land Title Survey demonstrating the adequacy of public infrastructure. 

4) Meet the approval criteria specified in SDC 5. 14. 100 when

involving a Metro Plan Diagram amendment; and

The findings provided above related to SDC 5. 14. 100 are hereby incorporated by reference. 

5) Compliance with Oregon Administrative Rule ( OAR) 660- 012- 

0060, where applicable. ( 6443) 

The applicant retained a licensed traffic engineer ( Sandow Engineering) to prepare a Traffic
Impact Analysis and Transportation Planning Rule Analysis. The report contains the
following findings: 

The addition of development trips does not trigger any intersections to not meet the
LOS standards. 

The intersection of Gateway Street at Belthne Road currently operates at LOS F
during the PM peak hour. The zone change and proposed use will add less than a
3% increase in trips. This trip increase is insignificant in terms of impact on the
intersection. Therefore, no mitigation is recommended. 

The addition of development traffic does not substantially increase queuing
conditions. 

There is no off-site mitigation needed for this development. 

TPR findings are demonstrated to be met. 

Based upon the findings above, the zone change complies with the Transportation Planning
Rule ( TPR). For further information, refer to Exhibit I — Traffic Impact Analysis and TPR

Analvsis — PeaceHealth Rehabilitation Hospital. 

VI. CONCLUSION

The proposed amendments to the Metro Plan Diagram and the Springfield Zoning Map will
stimulate development of the Subject Property and help strengthen the local economy. 

This written narrative, exhibits, and technical reports provide substantial evidence to support

approval of the Plan Amendment and Zone Change applications. 

Attachment 3 Page 25 of 420 



004-011

e o 00"60000 0\ 000000\ 000000 ,\ 000

0
000Ooo

eao • \ 00000000000000 '" = — – °
q

F \ . e\ a ,, °° s000vsv00000000000000000aooeaooe  ° 

004- 04waw „ m

ip« 

p
t•`=. 

l u . r

6EEM.> __ -- ... ._-... .... 

MtFERNP,T10NAtiNAY-.__. :,' 

004-78

Subject` 

v. operty

K - 

0 -62ZT
vao

c' 4 .. 7i004 rutPeaceHealth  
ver;„ 00 

EXHIBIT A - Assessor's Map
style Y= 400' 

Map 17- 03- 15- 40 Tax Lot 1000 sEEM, n> +• m
Map 17- 03. 15- 40 Tax Lots 800, 90Q 1100 ( portions) 8/ 9/ 23 •---'---' n niAttachment 3 Page 26 of 420 



I

1 4
1

R x+ landIal . e

I+f WCa

1 ` IV I

I  R

J N  

n

r Ll - Eig

allj

1 1 0— dmond Ferry Rd

r

F Randy Paye Re Rline ReNme- Rd sE xos ' h PI

Gelanlalm Cninnia1 P

LaneCO11M` y sn o, 5egon GEOaEsiCada Esri HERE, Garmin,IINCREMENTPg(3SOPA, USDA
Hhan Ct

YYY

III III llnIl III d ql. l III— 

PeaceHealth

F° EXHIBIT B - Vicinity MapImime ncy, Or cn 8/ 9/ 23

Attachment 3 Page 27 of 420 



rBS'-SSW ' ss — 

J S S 1 S 1 + r

rr

PeaceHealth

EXHIBITC- Aerial Photo scale r"=300" 

Map 17- 03- 15- 40 Tax Lot 1000 ®
ter

Map 17- 03- 15- 40 Tax Lots 800, 900, 1100 ( portions) 

8/ 9/ 23

Attachment 3 Page 28 of 420 



Eugene - Springfield

Metropolitan Area

General Plan

Plan Diagram

The interpretation and purpose or the Plan Diagram, and descriptions

or the land uses and symbols shown, are contained in Chapter II - 0.) 

Ie%/ Urban Growth Boundary Low Density Residleniial

Matra Plan Boundary Medium Density Residential

ICY Railroads
High Density Residential

Rivers and Ponds N Nodal Development
Overlays: El Commercial

Mixed Use Areas In Major Retail Center
N Nodal DewdoinnetArear El Heavy Industrial

I] Wllamene Greenway

F

PAW

WC

I

Uj

Prop rt

4e

F

PROPOSED PLAN DESIGNATION

Eugene - Springfield

Metropolitan Area

General Plan

Plan Diagram

The interpretation and purpose or the Plan Diagram, and descriptions

or the land uses and symbols shown, are contained in Chapter II - 0.) 

Ie%/ Urban Growth Boundary Low Density Residleniial

Matra Plan Boundary Medium Density Residential

ICY Railroads
High Density Residential

Rivers and Ponds N Nodal Development
Overlays: El Commercial

Mixed Use Areas In Major Retail Center
N Nodal DewdoinnetArear El Heavy Industrial

I] Wllamene Greenway

special Henvy Industrial Sand and Graval

Light Medium Industrial Agriculture

Lamers Industrial Forest Land

University Research Rural Residential

Government & Education © Rural Commercial

OParks and Open Space Rural Industrial

Natural Resource  Airpri Rasa. 

12/ 31/ 2010

PeaceHealth

scale i^=2000 EXHIBIT D - Plan Map

a sen ram mm 8/ 923

Attachment 3 Page 29 of 420 



C

eh2ie

o. iuw

r. - 

EXISTING ZONING - Campus Industrial

31

w. ....:: 

o. iuw

r. - 

EXISTING ZONING - Campus Industrial

PROPOSED ZONING - Community Commercial

ZONING

Low Density Residential

Medium Density Residential

High Density Residential

Mixed Use Residential

Residential M. U. ( Glenwood) 

Neighborhood Commercial

Community Commercial

Major Retail Commercial

Mixed Use Commercial

Commercial M. U. ( Glenwood) 

Mixed Use LM1 & CC

Campus Industrial

Light - Medium Industrial

Heavy Industrial

Special Heavy Industrial

Employment M. U. ( Glenwood) 

Booth - Kelly Mixed Use

General Office

Office Mixed Use ( Glenwood) 

Medical Services

Quarry & Mine Operations

Public Land & Open Space

Agnculture- Urban Holding Area

PeaceHealth
scale 3^= 3o00• 

sem EXHIBIT E - Zoning Map
o sso wo imo

8/ 9/ 23

w. ....:: 

piope.. 

PROPOSED ZONING - Community Commercial

ZONING

Low Density Residential

Medium Density Residential

High Density Residential

Mixed Use Residential

Residential M. U. ( Glenwood) 

Neighborhood Commercial

Community Commercial

Major Retail Commercial

Mixed Use Commercial

Commercial M. U. ( Glenwood) 

Mixed Use LM1 & CC

Campus Industrial

Light - Medium Industrial

Heavy Industrial

Special Heavy Industrial

Employment M. U. ( Glenwood) 

Booth - Kelly Mixed Use

General Office

Office Mixed Use ( Glenwood) 

Medical Services

Quarry & Mine Operations

Public Land & Open Space

Agnculture- Urban Holding Area

PeaceHealth
scale 3^= 3o00• 

sem EXHIBIT E - Zoning Map
o sso wo imo

8/ 9/ 23

Attachment 3 Page 30 of 420 



EXHIBIT F

23-0757. 01 ( Springfield, OR) AS -SURVEYED DESCRIPTION ( FOR ZONING PURPOSES): 

BEGINNING AT A 5/ 8 - INCH REBAR FOUND; THENCE NORTH 88 DEGREES 16 MINUTES 33 SECONDS WEST, 

A DISTANCE OF 237.55 FEET, MORE OR LESS TO A 5/ 8 - INCH REBAR WITH YELLOW PLASTIC CAP

INSCRIBED " LS2609" FOUND; THENCE NORTH 88 DEGREES 16 MINUTES 19 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE

OF 22. 10 FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE NORTH 63 DEGREES 55 MINUTES 41 SECONDS WEST, A

DISTANCE OF 18. 74 FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE NORTH 60 DEGREES 32 MINUTES 51 SECONDS WEST, 

A DISTANCE OF 35. 25 FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE WITH A CURVE TO THE RIGHT, HAVING AN ARC

LENGTH OF 45. 62 FEET, WITH A RADIUS OF 70. 00 FEET, HAVING A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 40

DEGREES 11 MINUTES 6 SECONDS WEST, AND WITH A CHORD LENGTH OF 44. 82 FEET, MORE OR LESS; 

THENCE WITH A COMPOUND CURVE TO THE RIGHT, HAVING AN ARC LENGTH OF 35. 40 FEET, WITH A

RADIUS OF 270.00 FEET, HAVING A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 15 DEGREES 1 MINUTE 0SECONDS

WEST, AND WITH A CHORD LENGTH OF 35. 37 FEET, MORE LESS TO A BENT 1/ 2 - INCH REBAR FOUND; 

THENCE NORTH 1 DEGREE 47 MINUTES 9SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 311. 51 FEET, MORE OR LESS; 

THENCE WITH A CURVE TO THE RIGHT, HAVING AN ARC LENGTH OF 41.75 FEET, WITH A RADIUS OF

100. 00 FEET, HAVING A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 31 DEGREES 14 MINUTES 21 SECONDS EAST, AND

WITH A CHORD LENGTH OF 41. 45 FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE WITH A REVERSE CURVE TO THE LEFT, 

HAVING AN ARC LENGTH OF 74. 47 FEET, WITH A RADIUS OF 60. 00 FEET, HAVING A CHORD BEARING OF

NORTH 1 DEGREE 32 MINUTES 5 SECONDS EAST, AND WITH A CHORD LENGTH OF 69. 78 FEET, MORE OR

LESS; THENCE SOUTH 88 DEGREES 12 MINUTES 51 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 414. 32 FEET, MORE

OR LESS; THENCE SOUTH 1 DEGREE 47 MINUTES 10 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 523. 27 FEET, MORE

OR LESS; THENCE NORTH 88 DEGREES 16 MINUTES 33 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 66. 30 FEET, 

MORE OR LESS TO A 5/ 8 - INCH REBAR WITH YELLOW PLASTIC CAP INSCRIBED " LS2609" FOUND; THENCE

NORTH 51 DEGREES 18 MINUTES 18 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 24. 94 FEET, MORE OR LESS TO THE

POINT OF BEGINNING, AND CONTAINING AN AREA OF 217, 364 SQUARE FEET, OR 4.99 ACRES, MORE OR

LESS. 

BEARINGS IN THE DESCRIPTIONS ABOVE ARE BASED ON OREGON STATE PLANE COORDINATES, SOUTH

ZONE, NAD - 83, INTERNAIONAL FOOT. 

Attachment 3 Page 31 of 420 



B

I 1 I I ` 
waunr m

Iffi \ 
14' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT I \ MAP and TAX LOT

MHp13\ ) / PLAT N0. . 1994 3I \ GRAVEL \ 
INSTRUMENT N0. 1994- 37280 \  

0 1 \ w MAPW. 17-08 0, 400 MINIMUM DENSITY UNITS PER ACRE

SMH// b \ 

I I \ \ I / \ 
TAX LOTS: 060- 090- 100- 1100 MAXIMUM DENSITY X UNITS PER ACRE

WOODED LESSEL EXCEPT VACATED ZONING: EXISTING:' MIPUSCOMM INDUSTRIALCOMMERCIAL
XX ACRES XX = XUNRS

AREA

I I I \ / 
a

CORPORATE WAY
GRAVEL \ PROPOSED' COMMUNITY

4.99 IC. COMMERCIAL VERIFY) APPROXIMATE TOTAL SIZE: 4.99 AC. 

N

I
I

a

w wQ, w= rmur mnr TRANSIT FACILITIES
m 

Nmn n
EXISTING AND PROPOSED TRANSIT FACILITIES

EXISTING TBD

PROPOSED , v

PROPERTY LINE

IIIImwrj

14' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEM EIN

TO

VACATEDToEI

I
8

TABULATION OF BUILDING COVERAGEINSTMENTNO. 1994 34205

HATCHED PORTION

oowFOOTPRINT OF EXISTING BUILDINGS OSF PROPOSED LOT COVERAGE= 23% OF TOTAL SITE

v FOOTPRINT OF PROPOSED BUILDING 42,667 SF

0p
p1yRROR M DIA

l
0 0 \ TOTAL 42,667 SF

O IpEWAL C D Ia... w wnw r r   SECLTI r5 aue. x• _ I N / 
munr muvr I . 6 3

fa _ 

b. y

D • -- 

1
TER T3REAT T 0 z

DM" q2 

TABULATION OF IMPERVIOUS SURFACES

BUILDINGS
a m / 

I / \ l PROPOSEDR

XSF

ILEW TOTAL SITE XSF
w

2FIRE LB. 6 O' I-. w / I I PARKING AND CIRCULATION - XSF TOTAL IMPERVIOUS - XSF

RADILt§ Ixayvl

l / I 
@ \ TOTALNEW: XSF

TOTAL PERVIOUSNEGETATED XSF

I r %
Nawar wi... w un xxa r \ 

po
o' p ... rxr4im.v Xi¢ m¢. r % rN: u,, TOTAL IMPERVIOUS SURFACE: XSF

5 op p apo I I I I IMPERVIOUS SURFACE TREATED: XSF

3 zz

W
SERVICE

I^ 
w

C w

fir= $ 0 o o \ 

WOODED I o ro GRAVEL / I
p / I \ AUTOMOBILE PARKING BIKE PARKING

r
I

g XNQAwC
X¢_ 4] MF C mwXY mune' mwss. a j 3 \ PARKING SPACES REWIRED TBD BIKE PARKING REWIRED TBD

SPACES REQUIRED= XX

l
l

W
WAREAD / 

I
IEe m SPACES REQUIRED TIED

SPACES PROVIDED XX

SPACES PROVIDED 130

p, HEALING
m W / GARDEN

C

v

Q I ^ rn W

o

28 8J
IT

I
MQAAr

I
w 9

W

2MkIA6
U

O I
n

S; 
10 \ 14' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT

I
PLAT NO. 93- PO421 I

w
INSTRUMENT NO. 1994- 37280

w ST RM WATE 0Q
O

io a Q EATItifENT

n O o o GRAVE I mO
W I y

0 Lu

W I W III ' N

0 %
NR43IA• 

I] 6V Id6. R' WM¢ Abl' mwax' XIQAY6' XR 6' % iAAV. 

V Z UIQ T' J I
M

Q
a

W W

18
G / 

00 co <lgi l I !' i
W - 

EMPLOYEE

Wo Q I w
w' W GARDEN? I^ I w

J o O a \ , ," Cl \ 

l >
v SHELTERED BIKE

yl rl •
P , QARKING- QUANTIT)' Jgp, ouwxr Ia¢ 4a1.> m4ac Xnaar \ Xiamxs• / 

game• Xmub I , aQ. e
WOODED w PARCEL B

PARCEL C
I _ ' AREA ' JI° 

I AS

SHOWPA
DEL A

N PER P TITION
I I 2 OA62

ACRES7
SO E i } 

PLA - PO 1 I I
APN: 1518826

8" RE AR PLASTIC
478.9 T 3

1 I \ 
16' 12" E 111. 13' M) IN CREED " LS1138 U II 1

AC is 1 TY ENT

1 125. 12'( 8) 
i  tF.PN: 1518A84i¢war nI I

RE P NO 5230 9 14' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT

STWATER XII T j ` P S 8' 56' 30" W 146.),2'( 8) \ ® ] TO BE VACATED \ 

PIPE ATA G -\ \ 
i

INSTRUMENT N0. 1994- 34205 + I
HATCHED PORTION /) 

OM U V \ \ \ 

W \ \ 

wl¢ mur

z
xNQ c wee mus.> mune• was wumm

TURAL i \ 
I GRAVEL

GROUND

S H$ 7 < \ \% GRAVEL

ED
1O

J

PA AND
I / / 

VACAT

z \ \ 

L  
CORPORATE WAY4

e' Iac: mm> mwx> mNxr ' war / 

2 \ \ 
f ENRANCE/ J

POE COCHERE m, N4•* 
i / 

IBENT REBAR

y p BEAR! . S 3331' 3
3 0. 93' FIR CORN \\ 3

AREA

w n — \\ \ 
o o  

v m m  I I • 
PARC \• \ 8 \ 

61
bti. 

8
UJI

fi w 17,299 SQ. ET t / 

ATUR L/ P I` 0. 397 ACR t \ e X
o o APN: 0150

GR ND , NpS

MAINSOUND \\ NIURAL\ ` 
13a` RA\ NG SPACES \ 

n' 

oY _ / /./ 

7' PUBLIC TILITY EASEMENT \ 

o• \ \ "

j w / / 

EL17"
43CP Z' 

IRON PIN WITH 3 a aINS/TI2U T N0. 1994- 56452  5/ 8" REBAR LLO  / 

PLASTIC CAP IN E
ALE TO LQQCC TE BRASS CAP FOUN® O / 

A" GA LS2609" FOUND D OF 19E / 8" RE R F UN 6 I I ( NO REFERENCE) w M 5

wy, lae Iw¢ 8' 56' 00 W 102- 51 ( R1 - - / \- ER AR ON PLA
I

oalaule' 

S 89 6' 00" W 2 5

xawnr D g/ 

NATURAL 8 16' 35" E 102. 49' 6 reAS 
ps, +/ 

GROUND W . - M - ........ 
F' .. A = YELLOW REBARWITHCAP

Ag SgODfRGR P G m INSCRIBED y / UNDERGR6U ND GAS

a PfOND '°' 
est

L2 " LS2609" FOUND _ — 
R 04S a '* 

AS SHO ER FIELDSMW

2
o B eLIZIL " FCDS'17gRTy _'. s,. ,,,. _ . — - — — — EXHIBIT GO

er

o — n
eaawu. uAvs• D H/ j17 . 

SMHAB
RIG - dS_ 

5
T' DMHF1

MEDIAN
S _ • ° - 

M - F E' °°
c '' 

F; Wo- 
arPBL «. _ - - 

J .

7 PRO
S- 1NDlANE— 

SS SS SS SS SS
00 Ed SLL-A& IFJC LO SDz

a: r _ _ LOPE EASEMENT / 1 - C - SD  _ 
N'^ - PLAT NO. 93- PO5y6A C _ S

LAND USE
54'( 8) _ _ 

Fl; , rySTRUMENT N0- 19943]280 C p79 jASH " 78.43' 3" W - - 
er \ 

7' PUBLIC UTILITY EASE E
lL• CRIBE Y FOUND d5 _ ( n

STRUMENT N0. 1994- 56450 3z

m. m m

W J WL ST BOUND LANE - 4 REVIEW SETN 88' 16' 33" W 124.39'( M) - 
S 88' 56' 00" W 124. 39'( R)- - - - -- Li

N 8896' 33" W 2 —--- — — —— 

70' RIGHT

N 89' 56' 30" E 124. 39'( R) S 89' 56' 00" W 237.49'( R) n:uav — — - - - THIS DRAWING IS

ICATIR

as ai INSTRUMENNTT NO. 

NDEDICATION
70' RIGHT- OF- WAY DEDON

O. 1994- 56456 RECEPTION NO. 94- 41947 30' X30' @. P. O. B. NOT FORN: 

wNau
PARTITION PLAT 93- PO421, 00 PARTITION PLAT 93- PO421, CONSTRUCTION AND SANITARY ,+} PARCEL B CONSTRUCTION

94- P0501 94- P0501
la

RECEPTION EASEMENTN NO82- 9287 DEADMOND FERRY ROAD 1 07- 19- 2023

FORMERLY GAME FARM ROAD EAST) 
j" 70' WIDTH PUBLIC RIGHT- OF- WAY

N AS SHOWN PER RECEPTION N0. 2003- 015537

SATR
GROU

I

Z

Q ! 
J
a ; 

Hi

i

I

Q  

L_ 

I

J I

Lu
I

a . 

TSCA^
LE 1"= 30'' = - D' 9

0 15' 30' 

Rmaiamna

I Dale I D . rpti

z

r 

m

Ow

CL c v

c

7 m wm. O w' g

0

oLu vii U

m

Y n f0 c
oF s W' 0 5
m

H 1>

Nn
n

Lu

D t 5
Fina

52
r

I

Z

Q ! 
J
a ; 

Hi

i

I

Q  

L_ 

I

J I

Lu
I

a . 

TSCA^
LE 1"= 30'' = - D' 9

0 15' 30' 

Rmaiamna

I Dale I D . rpti

z m am
c

m m

a o ou

Attachment 3 Page 32 of 420 



 

  

 

  

160 Madison Street, Suite A    
Eugene, Oregon 97402          

541.513.3376 
 

        
            

PEACEHEALTH REHABILITATION HOSPITAL 

TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS 
TRANSPORTATION PLANNING RULE ANALYSIS 

 

 

 

 SPRINGFIELD, OR 

October 20, 2023 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

   

 

SANDOW
  ENGINEERING 

T
R

A
FF

IC
 IM

PA
C

T
 A

N
A

LY
S 

 

Attachment 3 Page 33 of 420 



Springfield  

October 20, 2023 

   
 

 

6035
Attachment 3 Page 34 of 420 

SE
Text Box
Traffic Impact AnalysisTransportation Planning Rule Analysis Peace Health Rehabilitation Hospital

SE
Cross-Out



 
 
 

 
 

1 PeaceHealth Rehabilitation Hospital 10.20.23 

SANDOW
  ENGINEERING 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This report provides the Transportation Planning Rule Analysis and Traffic Impact Analysis 
prepared for a proposed zone change and development proposal for the PeaceHealth 
Rehabilitation Facility in Springfield, Oregon. The site is located at Tax Lot 1000 and a portion of 
Tax Lots 800, 900, and 1100 of Assessor’s Map 17-03-15-40. The site will utilize approximately 5.0 
acres.  

The existing zoning is Campus Industrial- CI. The proposal is to rezone the property to Medical 
Services-MS. The proposed zone change triggers an evaluation as per Oregon Administrative Rule, 
OAR 660-012-0060, the Transportation Planning Rule.  

The development proposal is a 50-bed inpatient rehabilitation hospital at approximately 67,000 sf. 
The development proposal triggers a Traffic Impact Analysis as per SDC 4.2.105(B)(2). 

The following report recommendations are based on the information and analysis documented in 
this report.  

 

FINDINGS 
• The addition of development trips does not trigger any intersections to not meet the LOS 

standards. 
• The intersection of Gateway St at Beltline Rd currently operates at LOS F during the PM 

peak hour. The City has identified improvements at this intersection, which are reasonably 
assumed to be constructed within the 20-year planning horizon. With these improvements, 
the intersection will meet the mobility standards through the year 2035. 

• The addition of development traffic does not substantially increase queuing conditions. 
• There is no off-site mitigation needed for this development. 
• TPR findings are demonstrated to be met.  
• The minimum number of parking spaces, as per the ITE Parking Generation Manual, is 151 

for the 67,000-sf facility.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Attachment 3 Page 35 of 420 



 
 
 

 
 

2 PeaceHealth Rehabilitation Hospital 10.20.23 

SANDOW
  ENGINEERING 

CONTENTS 
 BACKGROUND ..................................................................................................................... 4 

1.1 SITE INFORMATION .................................................................................................................... 4 

1.2 ANALYSIS SCOPE ......................................................................................................................... 4 

 EXISTING ROADWAY CONDITIONS ..................................................................................... 5 

2.1 STREET NETWORK ...................................................................................................................... 5 
TABLE 1: ROADWAY CHARACTERISTICS WITHIN STUDY AREA ........................................................................... 5 

2.2 STUDY INTERSECTIONS............................................................................................................... 6 
FIGURE 1- VICINITY MAP AND SITE LOCATION ................................................................................................... 7 
FIGURE 2- INTERSECTION CONTROL AND LANE CONFIGURATION ..................................................................... 8 

 CRASH ANALYSIS ................................................................................................................. 9 
TABLE 2: INTERSECTION CRASH RATE ................................................................................................................. 9 
TABLE 3: INTERSECTION CRASH PATTERNS ........................................................................................................ 9 

4.0 DEVELOPMENT TRIP GENERATION AND DISTRIBUTION ....................................................... 10 
TABLE 4: TRIP GENERATION .............................................................................................................................. 11 
FIGURE 3 –AM PEAK HOUR DEVELOPMENT TRIPS ........................................................................................... 12 
FIGURE 4 –PM PEAK HOUR DEVELOPMENT TRIPS ............................................................................................ 13 

5.0 BACKGROUND TRAFFIC VOLUMES ................................................................................... 14 

5.1 INTERSECTION COUNTS ........................................................................................................... 14 

5.2 FUTURE YEAR BACKGROUND VOLUMES .................................................................................. 14 

5.3 FINAL TRAFFIC VOLUMES ......................................................................................................... 14 
FIGURE 5 –YEAR 2023 AM PEAK HOUR EXISTING TRAFFIC VOLUMES .............................................................. 15 
FIGURE 6 – YEAR 2023 PM PEAK HOUR EXISTING TRAFFIC VOLUMES ............................................................. 16 
FIGURE 7 – YEAR 2025 AM PEAK HOUR BACKGROUND TRAFFIC VOLUMES .................................................... 17 
FIGURE 8 – YEAR 2025 PM PEAK HOUR BACKGROUND TRAFFIC VOLUMES .................................................... 18 
FIGURE 9 – YEAR 2030 AM PEAK HOUR BACKGROUND TRAFFIC VOLUMES .................................................... 19 
FIGURE 10 – YEAR 2030 PM PEAK HOUR BACKGROUND TRAFFIC VOLUMES................................................... 20 
FIGURE 11 – YEAR 2025 AM PEAK HOUR WITH DEVELOPMENT ...................................................................... 21 
FIGURE 12 – YEAR 2025 PM PEAK HOUR WITH DEVELOPMENT ....................................................................... 22 
FIGURE 13 – YEAR 2030 AM PEAK HOUR WITH DEVELOPMENT ...................................................................... 23 
FIGURE 14 – YEAR 2030 PM PEAK HOUR WITH DEVELOPMENT ....................................................................... 24 

6.0 INTERSECTION ANALYSIS .................................................................................................. 25 

6.1 PERFORMANCE MEASURES ...................................................................................................... 25 
TABLE 5: HCM LEVEL OF SERVICE FOR INTERSECTIONS .................................................................................... 25 

6.2 INTERSECTION ANALYSIS RESULTS ........................................................................................... 26 
TABLE 6: INTERSECTION PERFORMANCE: WEEKDAY AM PEAK HOUR ............................................................. 26 
TABLE 7: INTERSECTION PERFORMANCE: WEEKDAY PM PEAK HOUR ............................................................. 27 

Attachment 3 Page 36 of 420 



 
 
 

 
 

3 PeaceHealth Rehabilitation Hospital 10.20.23 

SANDOW
  ENGINEERING 

7.0 QUEUE ANALYSIS .............................................................................................................. 27 
TABLE 8: INTERSECTION QUEUING: WEEKDAY AM PEAK HOUR ...................................................................... 28 
TABLE 9: INTERSECTION QUEUING: WEEKDAY PM PEAK HOUR ....................................................................... 29 

8.0  TRANSPORTATION PLANNING RULE ANALYSIS ................................................................ 30 

8.1 EXISTING ZONING DEVELOPMENT PROPOSAL ......................................................................... 30 
TABLE 10: PM PEAK HOUR TRIP GENERATION COMPARISON-EXISTING ZONING ............................................ 31 

8.2 PROPOSED ZONING DEVELOPMENT POTENTIAL ..................................................................... 31 
TABLE 11: PM PEAK HOUR TRIP GENERATION-PROPOSED NC ZONING ........................................................... 32 
TABLE 12: TRIP INCREASE WITH ZONE CHANGE ............................................................................................... 32 

8.3 TRAFFIC VOLUMES ................................................................................................................... 32 

8.4 INTERSECTION ANALYSIS .......................................................................................................... 33 
TABLE 13: INTERSECTION PERFORMANCE: PROPOSED ZONING ...................................................................... 33 
FIGURE 15 – TRIP DISTRIBUTION FOR TPR FINDINGS ....................................................................................... 34 
FIGURE 16 – YEAR 2035 PM PEAK HOUR BACKGROUND TRAFFIC VOLUMES................................................... 35 
FIGURE 17 – YEAR 2035 PM PEAK HOUR TRAFFIC VOLUMES WITH PROPOSED ZONING ................................ 36 

8.5 TRANSPORTATION PLANNING RULE FINDINGS ....................................................................... 37 
TABLE 12: EXISTING STREET CLASSIFICATION ................................................................................................... 37 

9.0 CONCLUSION ..................................................................................................................... 38 
FINDINGS........................................................................................................................................................... 39 

 

LIST OF APPENDICES 
APPENDIX A: SITE PLAN 
APPENDIX B: SCOPE OF WORK 
APPENDIX C: CRASH DATA 
APPENDIX D: TRAFFIC VOLUMES 
APPENDIX E: SYNCHRO OUTPUTS 
APPENDIX F: QUEUING OUTPUTS 
APPENDIX G: TPR ANALYSIS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment 3 Page 37 of 420 



 
 
 

 
 

4 PeaceHealth Rehabilitation Hospital 10.20.23 

SANDOW
  ENGINEERING 

 BACKGROUND 

1.1 SITE INFORMATION 
The site is located on the northeast corner of Maple Island Road and Game Farm Road at Tax Lot 
1000 and a portion of Tax Lots 800, 900, and 1100 of Assessor’s Map 17-03-15-40. The parcel site is 
approximately 5 acres. Figure 1 illustrates the site location. The proposal includes the rezoning of 
the site from Campus Industrial-CI to Medical Services-MS. The site will be developed with a 50-
bed inpatient rehabilitation hospital at approximately 67,000 square feet. Appendix A contains the 
site plan. 

Primary access to the site will be via a new access location to Game Farm Road, located between 
the intersections with Maple Island Road and Deadmond Ferry Road. This access will be right-in 
right-out only. This access provides a direct route to the facility’s main entrance and patient drop-
off/pick-up area. A second entrance to the site will be provided from Maple Island Road by 
constructing an access as the east leg of the roundabout.  

1.2 ANALYSIS SCOPE 
The development proposal of a 50-bed rehabilitation facility triggers an evaluation of impacts 
during the AM and PM peak hours at the time of development completion, estimated at year 
2025, and for 5 years beyond the completion (year 2030).  

The proposed zone change triggers an evaluation consistent with the Transportation Planning Rule 
criteria (TPR),  Oregon Administrative Rule (OAR) 660-012-0060. This evaluation considers the 
impacts from the “reasonable worst-case” development potential at the end of the City’s 
Transportation System Plan planning horizon, year 2035.  

The traffic study is performed in accordance with the City of Springfield standards and criteria. 
Appendix B contains the Scope of Work. An intersection analysis was performed for the adjacent 
intersections at the following locations: 

• Maple Island Road at Site Access 
• Maple Island Road at Game Farm Road 
• Game Farm Road at Deadmond Ferry Road 
• Game Farm Road at Beltline Road/Martin Luther King Jr Parkway 
• Gateway Street at Game Farm Road 
• Gateway Street at Beltline Road 

The operational analysis was performed at the study area intersections for the weekday AM peak 
period (7:00-9:00 AM) and PM peak period (4:00-6:00 PM). The operational analysis is performed 
for the following conditions: 

• Existing conditions, year 2023 

Attachment 3 Page 38 of 420 



 
 
 

 
 

5 PeaceHealth Rehabilitation Hospital 10.20.23 

SANDOW
  ENGINEERING 

• Year of completion, year 2025, with and without the proposed development  
• Five-year planning horizon, the year 2030, with and without the proposed development 
• End of TSP Planning Horizon, year 2035, with and without proposed development 

 EXISTING ROADWAY CONDITIONS 

2.1 STREET NETWORK 
Streets included within the study are Maple Island Road, Game Farm Road, Deadmond Ferry Road, 
Beltline Road, Gateway Street, and Marin Luther King Jr Parkway. The roadway characteristics 
within the study area are included in Table 1. Figure 2 illustrates the street classifications and the 
study area intersection geometry and access control.  

TABLE 1: ROADWAY CHARACTERISTICS WITHIN STUDY AREA 

Characteris�c Maple 
Island Rd 

Game 
Farm Rd 

Deadmond 
Ferry 

Beltline MLK Jr 
Pkwy 

Gateway 
Street 

Jurisdic�on City of 
Springfield City City City City City 

Func�onal 
Classifica�on Local Major 

Collector 
Major 

Collector 

Major/ 
Minor    

Arterial 

Minor 
Arterial 

Minor 
Arterial 

Lanes per 
Direc�on 

1 1 1 2-3 2 1-2 

Center Le� 
Turn lane 

None Yes Yes None None None 

Restric�ons 
in the 
Median 

Spliter 
Island 

Spliter 
Island None Planter 

Median 
Planter 
Median 

Planter 
and 

Concrete 
Median 

Bikes Lanes 
Present Yes Yes Yes Yes 

Yes- Off 
Street Path 

Provided 
Yes 

Sidewalks 
Present 

Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 

Transit 
Route 

None None None Yes Yes Yes 

On-Street 
Parking 

None None None None None None 

*As per TSP  

 

Attachment 3 Page 39 of 420 



 
 
 

 
 

6 PeaceHealth Rehabilitation Hospital 10.20.23 

SANDOW
  ENGINEERING 

2.2 STUDY INTERSECTIONS 
Intersections included in the study are: 

• Maple Island Rd at Site Access 
• Maple Island Rd at Game Farm Rd 
• Game Farm Rd at Deadmond Ferry Road 
• Game Farm Rd at Beltline Rd/Martin Luther King Jr Parkway\ 
• Gateway Street at Game Farm Road 
• Gateway Street at Beltline Road 

Figure 2 provides the study area geometry and access control. 

Maple Island Rd at Access: This is currently a 3-legged intersection with a single-lane roundabout 
as control. The project includes constructing the east leg of the intersection as an access for the 
site. There are sidewalks and marked pedestrian crossings on all legs.  

Maple Island Rd at Game Farm Rd: This is a 3-legged intersection with a single-lane roundabout as 
control. There are sidewalks and marked pedestrian crossings on all legs.  

Game Farm Rd at Deadmond Ferry Rd: This is a stop-controlled 3-legged intersection with the 
northbound approach as stop controlled. There is a marked crosswalk across the northbound leg. 
There is no ADA ramp located on the northeast corner of the intersection.  

Game Farm Rd at Beltline Rd/MLK Jr Parkway: This is a 3-legged signalized intersection. There are 
sidewalks and bike lanes/shared paths along all approaches. There are ADA ramps and marked 
crosswalks along the north and west legs. There is no crosswalk across the east leg.  

Gateway St at Game Farm Rd: This is a 4-legged signalized intersection. There are sidewalks and 
striped crosswalks on all 4 approaches. There are striped bike lanes on the Gateway St and Game 
Farm Rd approaches.  

Gateway St at Beltline: This is a 4-legged signalized intersection. There are sidewalks, striped 
pedestrian crossings, and bike lanes on the north, east, and south approaches.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment 3 Page 40 of 420 



  
SA

N
D

O
W

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
   

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

16
0 

M
ad

is
on

 S
tr

ee
t 

Su
ite

 A
  E

ug
en

e,
 O

re
go

n 
97

40
2 

- 5
41

.5
13

.3
37

6 
- s

an
do

w
en

gi
ne

er
in

g.
co

m
   

Pe
ac

e 
He

al
th

-In
pa

tie
nt

 R
eh

ab
ilit

at
io

n 
Ho

sp
ita

l, 
Sp

rin
gf

ie
ld

, O
R

Fig
ure

 1:
 S

ite
 Lo

ca
tio

n &
 V

ici
nit

y M
ap

Mckenzie River

Rd

Ch
ad

Dr
Ra

nd
y Pa

pe
Be

lt l
in

e

O

ldCoburg

H
w

y 
12

6

N
Si

te

LE
G

EN
D

GatewayStG
am

ef
ar

m
 R

d

Ra
nd

y 
Pa

pe
 B

el
tli

ne

MLK Pkwy

Maple

In
te

rn
at

io
na

l W
ay

H
ar

lo
w

 R
d

Q
 S

t

N Garden way

H
ay

de
n 

Br
id

ge

Coburg
 Rd

Attachment 3 Page 41 of 420 



er

Ch
ad

Dr

Ra
nd

y Pa
pe

Be
ltl

in
e

O

ldCoburg

  
SA

N
D

O
W

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
   

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

16
0 

M
ad

is
on

 S
tr

ee
t 

Su
ite

 A
  E

ug
en

e,
 O

re
go

n 
97

40
2 

- 5
41

.5
13

.3
37

6 
- s

an
do

w
en

gi
ne

er
in

g.
co

m
   

Pe
ac

e 
He

al
th

-In
pa

tie
nt

 R
eh

ab
ilit

at
io

n 
Ho

sp
ita

l, 
Sp

rin
gf

ie
ld

, O
R

Fig
ure

 2:
 La

ne
 C

on
fig

ura
tio

n a
nd

 S
tre

et 
Cl

as
sif

ica
tio

n 

N
LE

G
EN

D

St
re

et
 C

la
ss

ifi
ca

tio
n

N
ei

gh
bo

rh
oo

d 
Co

lle
ct

or
Lo

ca
l R

oa
d

M
aj

or
 A

rt
er

ia
l 

M
aj

or
 C

ol
le

ct
or

M
in

or
 A

rt
er

ia
l 

Si
te

5
1

2

4

6

2.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

Be
ltl

in
e

1.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

G
am

e 
Fa

rm

4.
 M

ap
le

 @
G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 

YIELD

YIELD

YIELD

Gateway St

G
am

ef
ar

m
 R

d

Ra
nd

y 
Pa

pe
 B

el
tli

ne

MLK Pkwy

3

5.
 G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 @
D

ea
dm

on
d 

Fe
rr

y
6.

 G
am

e 
Fa

rm
 @

Be
ltl

in
e

ST
O

P

3.
 M

ap
e 

@
Si

te
 A

cc
es

s

Maple Island

YIELD

YIELD

YI
EL

D

Attachment 3 Page 42 of 420 



 
 
 

 
 

9 PeaceHealth Rehabilitation Hospital 10.20.23 

SANDOW
  ENGINEERING 

 CRASH ANALYSIS 
A crash evaluation was performed for the study area intersection. The analysis investigates crash 
data available for the most recent 5 years, 1/1/2017-12/31/2021, to determine the crash rate in 
crashes per million entering vehicles and the type of crashes that occurred. The crash analysis 
follows the Critical Crash Rate methodology outlined in ODOT’s Analysis Procedures Manual. The 
intersection crash rates are compared to the calculated Critical Crash Rates. If the crash rate 
exceeds the Critical Crash Rate, the intersection is further evaluated for possible mitigation 
measures. The crash data is provided in Appendix C. The crash rates are provided in Table 2. Table 
3 summarizes the crash data.  

TABLE 2: INTERSECTION CRASH RATE 

Loca�on  
Intersec�on 

Type 

Number 
of 

Crashes AADT MEV 
Crash 
Rate 

Cri�cal 
Crash 
Rate  

Maple Island @ Access Stop  
Control 0 1,390 2.54 0.00 0.64 Under 

Maple Island @ Game 
Farm Rd 

Stop  
Control 1 4,230 7.72 0.13 0.36 Under 

Game Farm Rd @ 
Deadmond Ferry Rd 

Stop  
Control 1 4,760 8.69 0.12 0.34 Under 

Game Farm at Beltline Signal 6 18,110 33.05 0.18 0.71 Under 
Gateway St @ Game 
Farm Signal 3 17,060 31.13 0.10 0.72 Under 

Gateway St @ Beltline Signal 62 42,970 78.42 0.79 0.64 Over 
*(crashes/million entering vehicles) 

Gateway Street at Beltline has a crash rate higher than the Critical Crash Rate for the study area. 
All other intersections have crash rates under the Critical Crash Rate.  

TABLE 3: INTERSECTION CRASH PATTERNS 

Loca�on  

Number 
of 

Crashes 

Types of Crashes 

Head Rear Side Turn Other 
Pedestrian/ 

Bike 
Maple Island @ Access 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Maple Island @ Game Farm 
Rd 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 

Game Farm Rd @ Deadmond 
Ferry Rd 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 

Game Farm @ Beltline 6 0 1 0 3 2 0 
Gateway St @ Game Farm Rd 3 0 1 0 1 1 0 
Gateway St @ Beltline 62 0 22 0 24 15 1 
*(crashes/million entering vehicles) 

Attachment 3 Page 43 of 420 



 
 
 

 
 

10 PeaceHealth Rehabilitation Hospital 10.20.23 

SANDOW
  ENGINEERING 

There was 1 reported crash involving a pedestrian, occurring at the Beltline/Gateway intersection. 
This crash occurred Monday, 4/24/2017, at 6 AM. The pedestrian was in the crosswalk on the east 
side leg of the intersection, traveling northbound. The vehicle was on Beltline traveling eastbound. 
The error/cause of the crash is noted as the pedestrian in the crosswalk during the “don’t walk” 
indication and not visible due to the time of day. 

The intersection of Gateway at Beltline has a crash rate that is over the Critical Crash Rate. A 
majority of the crashes are classified as rear-end or turn crashes. Of the 22 rear-end collisions, 2 
involved southbound vehicles, 8 involved westbound vehicles, 7 involved northbound vehicles, and 
5 involved eastbound vehicles. The patterns are consistent with the higher volume/higher 
congested approaches. Of the 24 turning movement crashes, 12 involved northbound through and 
southbound left turns. A majority of these types of crashes had the error assigned to the left-
turning vehicle. There is no apparent crash pattern with the remainder of the turning crashes. 

4.0 DEVELOPMENT TRIP GENERATION AND DISTRIBUTION 
The development proposal is a 67,000 square foot inpatient rehabilitation facility with 50 
beds. The rehabilitation facility provides physical and neurological rehabilitation for adults. The 
facility will primarily serve inpatient care. 
 
The ITE Trip Generation Manuals do not have a Land Use that is an exact match to the 
proposed use. The closest land uses are: 

• 610-Hospital: This land use is defined as “any institution where medical or surgical care 
and overnight accommodations are provided to non-ambulatory and ambulatory 
patients.”  

• 630-Clinic: This land use is defined as “a facility that provides limited diagnostic and 
outpatient care but is unable to provide prolonged in-house medical and surgical care”.  

• 720-Medical- Dental Office Building: This land use is defined as “a facility that provides 
diagnoses and outpatient care on a routine basis but is unable to provide prolonged in-
house medical and surgical care.” 
 

The most closely matched land use is 610-Hospital, as the other land uses are specific to 
outpatient care, and the proposed use will be primarily inpatient care. 
 
610-Hospital provides trip rates based on the number of beds, square feet, and employees. 
The independent variable of beds was chosen as the most appropriate independent variable as 
it’s the driving factor for the number of patients, employees, etc. Additionally, the trip rates 
for using beds as an independent variable provide the highest trip generation estimate, 
providing a more conservative analysis. The trip generation is illustrated in Table 4.  
 
 

Attachment 3 Page 44 of 420 



 
 
 

 
 

11 PeaceHealth Rehabilitation Hospital 10.20.23 

SANDOW
  ENGINEERING 

TABLE 4: TRIP GENERATION  

Time Period 
Size 

(Beds) Rate Trips In Out 

610-Hospital     

Daily 50 22.32 1,116 (50%) 
558 

(50%) 
558 

AM Peak Hour 50 1.79 90 (72%) 
64 

(28%) 
26 

PM Peak Hour 50 1.69 85 (33%) 
28 

(67%) 
57 

 
The site will generate more than 1000 ADT, meeting the requirement for a TIA as per SDC 
4.2.105.  
 
The trips are distributed on the system based on the existing travel patterns in the area and the 
reasonable origins and destinations. Figure 3 illustrates the trip distribution during the AM peak 
hour. Figure 4 illustrates the trip distribution during the AM peak hour.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment 3 Page 45 of 420 



Ch
ad

Dr

Ra
nd

y Pa
pe

Be
ltl

in
e

Old
Coburg

  
SA

N
D

O
W

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
   

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

16
0 

M
ad

is
on

 S
tr

ee
t 

Su
ite

 A
  E

ug
en

e,
 O

re
go

n 
97

40
2 

- 5
41

.5
13

.3
37

6 
- s

an
do

w
en

gi
ne

er
in

g.
co

m
   

Pe
ac

e 
He

al
th

-In
pa

tie
nt

 R
eh

ab
ilit

at
io

n 
Ho

sp
ita

l, 
Sp

rin
gf

ie
ld

, O
R

Fig
ure

 3:
 A

M 
De

ve
lop

me
nt 

Tr
ip 

Di
str

ibu
tio

n

5
1

2

4

6

2.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

Be
ltl

in
e

1.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

G
am

e 
Fa

rm

4.
 M

ap
le

 @
G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 
5.

 G
am

e 
Fa

rm
 @

D
ea

dm
on

d 
Fe

rr
y

Gateway St

G
am

ef
ar

m
 R

d

Ra
nd

y 
Pa

pe
 B

el
tli

ne

3

7

3
2

3 2

7
10

7 10

10
3 5 14

2

2

6 14

24

2

35

8 8

N
LE

G
EN

D

Si
te

3.
 M

ap
le

 @
 

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

3

2 4 24

6.
 G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 @
M

LK
 

5

3

15

20

7.
 S

ite
 A

cc
es

s

20
37

16

U
 T

ur
n

Maple Island

Attachment 3 Page 46 of 420 



Ch
ad

Dr

Ra
nd

y Pa
pe

Be
ltl

in
e

Old
Coburg

  
SA

N
D

O
W

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
   

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

16
0 

M
ad

is
on

 S
tr

ee
t 

Su
ite

 A
  E

ug
en

e,
 O

re
go

n 
97

40
2 

- 5
41

.5
13

.3
37

6 
- s

an
do

w
en

gi
ne

er
in

g.
co

m
   

Pe
ac

e 
He

al
th

-In
pa

tie
nt

 R
eh

ab
ilit

at
io

n 
Ho

sp
ita

l, 
Sp

rin
gf

ie
ld

, O
R

Fig
ure

 4:
 P

M 
De

ve
lop

me
nt 

Tr
ip 

Di
str

ibu
tio

n

5
1

2

4

6

2.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

Be
ltl

in
e

1.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

G
am

e 
Fa

rm

4.
 M

ap
le

 @
G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 
5.

 G
am

e 
Fa

rm
 @

D
ea

dm
on

d 
Fe

rr
y

Gateway St

G
am

ef
ar

m
 R

d

Ra
nd

y 
Pa

pe
 B

el
tli

ne

3

7

13
11

3 2

2
3

3 3

4
6 24 5

4

2

26 21

9

6

9

5 18

N
LE

G
EN

D

Si
te

3.
 M

ap
le

 @
 

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

4

4 6 9

6.
 G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 @
M

LK
 

5

13

3

6

7.
 S

ite
 A

cc
es

s

47
15

23

U
 T

ur
n

Maple Island

Attachment 3 Page 47 of 420 



 
 
 

 
 

14 PeaceHealth Rehabilitation Hospital 10.20.23 

SANDOW
  ENGINEERING 

5.0 BACKGROUND TRAFFIC VOLUMES 

5.1 INTERSECTION COUNTS 
Recent traffic counts were collected in March and May 2023 at the study intersections from 7:00-
9:00 AM and 4:00-6:00 PM. The peak hours of the system are 7:30-8:30 AM and 4:30-5:30 PM. 

The traffic volumes are included in Appendix D. 

5.2 FUTURE YEAR BACKGROUND VOLUMES 
The proposed site development is projected to be completed by the year 2025. Consistent with the 
traffic impact analysis criteria, the intersections were evaluated for the year of completion, the 
year 2025, and a 5-year planning horizon, the year 2030. An annual growth rate was applied to 
account for naturally occurring traffic increases between the count year and the future analysis 
year. The City standard growth rate of 2% per year was used for this study. The 2.0% per year rate 
was applied to the 2023 counts to estimate 2025 and 2029 volumes.  

5.3 FINAL TRAFFIC VOLUMES 
The existing traffic volumes were adjusted according to the methodology described above. 
Appendix D provides the traffic volume calculations. The development trips are added to the 
background traffic to volume to represent the build conditions. The traffic volumes are provided in 
the following figures: 

• Figure 5- Year 2023 AM Peak Hour 
• Figure 6- Year 2023 PM Peak Hour 
• Figure 7- Year 2025 AM Peak Hour Background 
• Figure 8- Year 2025 PM Peak Hour Background 
• Figure 9- Year 2030 AM Peak Hour Background 
• Figure 10- Year 2030 PM Peak Hour Background 
• Figure 11- Year 2025 AM Peak Hour with Development 
• Figure 12- Year 2025 PM Peak Hour with Development 
• Figure 13- Year 2030 AM Peak Hour with Development 
• Figure 14- Year 2030 PM Peak Hour with Development 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment 3 Page 48 of 420 



Ch
ad

Dr

Ra
nd

y Pa
pe

Be
ltl

in
e

Old
Coburg

  
SA

N
D

O
W

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
   

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

16
0 

M
ad

is
on

 S
tr

ee
t 

Su
ite

 A
  E

ug
en

e,
 O

re
go

n 
97

40
2 

- 5
41

.5
13

.3
37

6 
- s

an
do

w
en

gi
ne

er
in

g.
co

m
   

Pe
ac

e 
He

al
th

-In
pa

tie
nt

 R
eh

ab
ilit

at
io

n 
Ho

sp
ita

l, 
Sp

rin
gf

ie
ld

, O
R

Fig
ure

 5:
 Y

ea
r 2

02
3 A

M 
Ba

ck
gro

un
d P

ea
k H

ou
r T

raf
fic

 V
olu

me
s

5
1

2

4

6

2.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

Be
ltl

in
e

1.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

G
am

e 
Fa

rm

4.
 M

ap
le

 @
G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 
5.

 G
am

e 
Fa

rm
 @

D
ea

dm
on

d 
Fe

rr
y

Gateway St

G
am

ef
ar

m
 R

d

Ra
nd

y 
Pa

pe
 B

el
tli

ne

3

203
150
121

11
7

37
2

37

341
209

52

44
2

75
6

50
2

6
417
62

53 2 35

31
549
177

0 3 20

6

13

70 72

16 96

9 32

134

98

31 79

N
LE

G
EN

D

Si
te

3.
 M

ap
le

 @
 

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

1
17

20
66

1 2

6.
 G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 @
M

LK
 

25

113

18
6

46
0

58 76
3

U
 T

ur
n 

2

2  U Turn

U
 T

ur
n 

1

Maple Island

Attachment 3 Page 49 of 420 



Ch
ad

Dr

Ra
nd

y Pa
pe

Be
ltl

in
e

Old
Coburg

  
SA

N
D

O
W

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
   

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

16
0 

M
ad

is
on

 S
tr

ee
t 

Su
ite

 A
  E

ug
en

e,
 O

re
go

n 
97

40
2 

- 5
41

.5
13

.3
37

6 
- s

an
do

w
en

gi
ne

er
in

g.
co

m
   

Pe
ac

e 
He

al
th

-In
pa

tie
nt

 R
eh

ab
ilit

at
io

n 
Ho

sp
ita

l, 
Sp

rin
gf

ie
ld

, O
R

Fig
ure

 6:
 Y

ea
r 2

02
3 P

M 
Ba

ck
gro

un
d P

ea
k H

ou
r T

raf
fic

 V
olu

me
s

5
1

2

4

6

2.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

Be
ltl

in
e

1.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

G
am

e 
Fa

rm

4.
 M

ap
le

 @
G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 R
ou

nd
ab

ou
t

5.
 G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 @
D

ea
dm

on
d 

Fe
rr

y

Gateway St

G
am

ef
ar

m
 R

d

Ra
nd

y 
Pa

pe
 B

el
tli

ne

3

611
272
154

97 61
2

11
7

605
200

75

28
0

49
6

77
8

5
809
118

82 3 19
0

53
464

47

3 2 27

27

77

24 12
1

5
16

9

34 83

112

32

40 20
7

N
LE

G
EN

D

Si
te

3.
 M

ap
le

 @
 

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

1
74

0
29

5 30

6.
 G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 @
M

LK
 

51

233

10
9

71
1

26 68
1

U
 T

ur
n 

2

11  U Turn

U
 T

ur
n 

1

U Turn 2

Maple Island

Attachment 3 Page 50 of 420 



Ch
ad

Dr

Ra
nd

y Pa
pe

Be
ltl

in
e

Old
Coburg

  
SA

N
D

O
W

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
   

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

16
0 

M
ad

is
on

 S
tr

ee
t 

Su
ite

 A
  E

ug
en

e,
 O

re
go

n 
97

40
2 

- 5
41

.5
13

.3
37

6 
- s

an
do

w
en

gi
ne

er
in

g.
co

m
   

Pe
ac

e 
He

al
th

-In
pa

tie
nt

 R
eh

ab
ilit

at
io

n 
Ho

sp
ita

l, 
Sp

rin
gf

ie
ld

, O
R

Fig
ure

 7:
 Y

ea
r 2

02
5 A

M 
Ba

ck
gro

un
d P

ea
k H

ou
r T

raf
fic

 V
olu

me
s

5
1

2

4

6

2.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

Be
ltl

in
e

1.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

G
am

e 
Fa

rm

4.
 M

ap
le

 @
G

am
e 

Fa
rm

5.
 G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 @
D

ea
dm

on
d 

Fe
rr

y

Gateway St

G
am

ef
ar

m
 R

d

Ra
nd

y 
Pa

pe
 B

el
tli

ne

3

211
156
126

12
2

38
7

38

355
217

54

46
0

78
6

52
2

6
434
64

55 2 36

32
571
184

0 3 21

6

14

73 75

17 10
0

9 33

139

102

32 82

N
LE

G
EN

D

Si
te

3.
 M

ap
le

 @
 

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

1
18

21
69

1 2

6.
 G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 @
M

LK
 

26

118

19
3

47
8

60 79
4

U
 T

ur
n 

2

2  U Turn

U
 T

ur
n 

1

Maple Island

Attachment 3 Page 51 of 420 



Ch
ad

Dr

Ra
nd

y Pa
pe

Be
ltl

in
e

Old
Coburg

  
SA

N
D

O
W

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
   

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

16
0 

M
ad

is
on

 S
tr

ee
t 

Su
ite

 A
  E

ug
en

e,
 O

re
go

n 
97

40
2 

- 5
41

.5
13

.3
37

6 
- s

an
do

w
en

gi
ne

er
in

g.
co

m
   

Pe
ac

e 
He

al
th

-In
pa

tie
nt

 R
eh

ab
ilit

at
io

n 
Ho

sp
ita

l, 
Sp

rin
gf

ie
ld

, O
R

Fig
ure

 8:
 Y

ea
r 2

02
5 P

M 
Ba

ck
gro

un
d P

ea
k H

ou
r T

raf
fic

 V
olu

me
s

5
1

2

4

6

2.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

Be
ltl

in
e

1.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

G
am

e 
Fa

rm

4.
 M

ap
le

 @
G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 
5.

 G
am

e 
Fa

rm
 @

D
ea

dm
on

d 
Fe

rr
y

Gateway St

G
am

ef
ar

m
 R

d

Ra
nd

y 
Pa

pe
 B

el
tli

ne

3

635
283
160

10
1

63
6

12
2

629
208

78

29
1

51
6

80
9

5
841
123

85 3 19
8

55
483

49

3 2 28

28

80

25 12
6

5
17

6

35 86

116

33

42 21
5

N
LE

G
EN

D

Si
te

3.
 M

ap
le

 @
 

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

1
77

0
30

5 31

6.
 G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 @
M

LK
 

53

242

11
3

73
9

27 70
8

Maple Island

U
 T

ur
n 

2

11  U Turn

U
 T

ur
n 

1

U Turn 2

Attachment 3 Page 52 of 420 



Ch
ad

Dr

Ra
nd

y Pa
pe

Be
ltl

in
e

Old
Coburg

  
SA

N
D

O
W

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
   

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

16
0 

M
ad

is
on

 S
tr

ee
t 

Su
ite

 A
  E

ug
en

e,
 O

re
go

n 
97

40
2 

- 5
41

.5
13

.3
37

6 
- s

an
do

w
en

gi
ne

er
in

g.
co

m
   

Pe
ac

e 
He

al
th

-In
pa

tie
nt

 R
eh

ab
ilit

at
io

n 
Ho

sp
ita

l, 
Sp

rin
gf

ie
ld

, O
R

Fig
ure

 9:
 Y

ea
r 2

03
0 A

M 
Ba

ck
gro

un
d P

ea
k H

ou
r T

raf
fic

 V
olu

me
s

5
1

2

4

6

2.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

Be
ltl

in
e

1.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

G
am

e 
Fa

rm

4.
 M

ap
le

 @
G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 
5.

 G
am

e 
Fa

rm
 @

D
ea

dm
on

d 
Fe

rr
y

Gateway St

G
am

ef
ar

m
 R

d

Ra
nd

y 
Pa

pe
 B

el
tli

ne

3

231
171
138

13
3

42
4

42

389
238

59

50
4

86
2

57
2

7
475
71

60 2 40

35
626
202

0 3 23

7

15

80 82

18 10
9

10 36

153

112

35 90

N
LE

G
EN

D

Si
te

3.
 M

ap
le

 @
 

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

1
19

23
75

1 2

6.
 G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 @
M

LK
 

29

129

21
2

52
4

66 87
0

U
 T

ur
n 

2

2  U Turn

U
 T

ur
n 

1

Maple Island

Attachment 3 Page 53 of 420 



Ch
ad

Dr

Ra
nd

y Pa
pe

Be
ltl

in
e

Old
Coburg

  
SA

N
D

O
W

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
   

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

16
0 

M
ad

is
on

 S
tr

ee
t 

Su
ite

 A
  E

ug
en

e,
 O

re
go

n 
97

40
2 

- 5
41

.5
13

.3
37

6 
- s

an
do

w
en

gi
ne

er
in

g.
co

m
   

Pe
ac

e 
He

al
th

-In
pa

tie
nt

 R
eh

ab
ilit

at
io

n 
Ho

sp
ita

l, 
Sp

rin
gf

ie
ld

, O
R

Fig
ure

 10
: Y

ea
r 2

03
0 P

M 
Ba

ck
gro

un
d P

ea
k H

ou
r T

raf
fic

 V
olu

me
s

5
1

2

4

6

2.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

Be
ltl

in
e

1.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

G
am

e 
Fa

rm

4.
 M

ap
le

 @
G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 
5.

 G
am

e 
Fa

rm
 @

D
ea

dm
on

d 
Fe

rr
y

Gateway St

G
am

ef
ar

m
 R

d

Ra
nd

y 
Pa

pe
 B

el
tli

ne

3

697
310
176

11
1

68
9

13
3

690
228

86

31
9

56
5

88
7

6
922
135

93 3 21
7

60
529

54

3 2 31

31

88

27 13
8

6
19

3

39 95

128

36

46 23
6

N
LE

G
EN

D

Si
te

3.
 M

ap
le

 @
 

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

1
84

0
33

6 34

6.
 G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 @
M

LK
 

58

266

12
4

81
1

30 77
6

Maple Island

U
 T

ur
n 

2

13  U Turn

U
 T

ur
n 

1

U Turn 2

Attachment 3 Page 54 of 420 



Ch
ad

Dr

Ra
nd

y Pa
pe

Be
ltl

in
e

Old
Coburg

  
SA

N
D

O
W

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
   

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

16
0 

M
ad

is
on

 S
tr

ee
t 

Su
ite

 A
  E

ug
en

e,
 O

re
go

n 
97

40
2 

- 5
41

.5
13

.3
37

6 
- s

an
do

w
en

gi
ne

er
in

g.
co

m
   

Pe
ac

e 
He

al
th

-In
pa

tie
nt

 R
eh

ab
ilit

at
io

n 
Ho

sp
ita

l, 
Sp

rin
gf

ie
ld

, O
R

Fig
ure

 11
: Y

ea
r 2

02
5 A

M 
Tr

aff
ic 

Vo
lum

es
 w

ith
 D

ev
elo

pm
en

t

5
1

2

4

6

2.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

Be
ltl

in
e

1.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

G
am

e 
Fa

rm

4.
 M

ap
le

 @
G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 
5.

 G
am

e 
Fa

rm
 @

D
ea

dm
on

d 
Fe

rr
y

Gateway St

G
am

ef
ar

m
 R

d

Ra
nd

y 
Pa

pe
 B

el
tli

ne

3

7

214
158
126

12
2

39
0

40

355
224

64

46
7

79
6

52
2

6
434
74

58 2 41

32
571
198

0 3 21

8

16

73 81 15

41 10
0

11 33

174

102

40 90

N
LE

G
EN

D

Si
te

3.
 M

ap
le

 @
 

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

1
18
3

2 4

21
69
24

1 2

6.
 G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 @
M

LK
 

31

121

20
8

47
8

80 79
4

7.
 S

ite
 A

cc
es

s

20
37 14

9

13
0

U
 T

ur
n

Maple Island

2  U Turn

Attachment 3 Page 55 of 420 



Ch
ad

Dr

Ra
nd

y Pa
pe

Be
ltl

in
e

Old
Coburg

  
SA

N
D

O
W

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
   

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

16
0 

M
ad

is
on

 S
tr

ee
t 

Su
ite

 A
  E

ug
en

e,
 O

re
go

n 
97

40
2 

- 5
41

.5
13

.3
37

6 
- s

an
do

w
en

gi
ne

er
in

g.
co

m
   

Pe
ac

e 
He

al
th

-In
pa

tie
nt

 R
eh

ab
ilit

at
io

n 
Ho

sp
ita

l, 
Sp

rin
gf

ie
ld

, O
R

Fig
ure

 12
: Y

ea
r 2

02
5 P

M 
Tr

aff
ic 

Vo
lum

es
 w

ith
 D

ev
elo

pm
en

t

5
1

2

4

6

2.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

Be
ltl

in
e

1.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

G
am

e 
Fa

rm

4.
 M

ap
le

 @
G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 
5.

 G
am

e 
Fa

rm
 @

D
ea

dm
on

d 
Fe

rr
y

Gateway St

G
am

ef
ar

m
 R

d

Ra
nd

y 
Pa

pe
 B

el
tli

ne

3

7

648
294
160

10
1

63
9

12
4

629
210

81

29
4

51
9

80
9

5
841
127

91 3 22
2

55
483

54

3 2 28

32

82

25 15
2

22

14 17
6

41 86

125

33

47 23
3

N
LE

G
EN

D

Si
te

3.
 M

ap
le

 @
 

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

1
77
4

4 0 6

0
30

9

5 0 31

6.
 G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 @
M

LK
 

58

255

11
6

73
9

33 70
8

7.
 S

ite
 A

cc
es

s

47
15 15

2

28
0

U
 T

ur
n

U
 T

ur
n 

2

11  U Turn
 U Turn 2

Attachment 3 Page 56 of 420 



Ch
ad

Dr

Ra
nd

y Pa
pe

Be
ltl

in
e

Old
Coburg

  
SA

N
D

O
W

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
   

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

16
0 

M
ad

is
on

 S
tr

ee
t 

Su
ite

 A
  E

ug
en

e,
 O

re
go

n 
97

40
2 

- 5
41

.5
13

.3
37

6 
- s

an
do

w
en

gi
ne

er
in

g.
co

m
   

Pe
ac

e 
He

al
th

-In
pa

tie
nt

 R
eh

ab
ilit

at
io

n 
Ho

sp
ita

l, 
Sp

rin
gf

ie
ld

, O
R

Fig
ure

 13
: Y

ea
r 2

03
0 A

M 
Tr

aff
ic 

Vo
lum

es
 w

ith
 D

ev
elo

pm
en

t

5
1

2

4

6

2.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

Be
ltl

in
e

1.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

G
am

e 
Fa

rm

4.
 M

ap
le

 @
G

am
e 

Fa
rm

5.
 G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 @
D

ea
dm

on
d 

Fe
rr

y

Gateway St

G
am

ef
ar

m
 R

d

Ra
nd

y 
Pa

pe
 B

el
tli

ne

3

7

234
173
138

13
3

42
7

44

389
245

69

51
1

87
2

57
2

7
475
81

63 2 45

35
626
216

0 3 23

9

17

80 88 15

42 10
9

12 36

188

112

43 98

N
LE

G
EN

D

Si
te

3.
 M

ap
le

 @
 

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

1
19
3

2 0 4

23
75
24

1 0 2

6.
 G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 @
M

LK
 

34

132

22
7

52
4

86 87
0

7.
 S

ite
 A

cc
es

s

20
37 16

3

14
1

U
 T

ur
nU
 T

ur
n 

2

2  U Turn

Attachment 3 Page 57 of 420 



Ch
ad

Dr

Ra
nd

y Pa
pe

Be
ltl

in
e

Old
Coburg

  
SA

N
D

O
W

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
   

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

16
0 

M
ad

is
on

 S
tr

ee
t 

Su
ite

 A
  E

ug
en

e,
 O

re
go

n 
97

40
2 

- 5
41

.5
13

.3
37

6 
- s

an
do

w
en

gi
ne

er
in

g.
co

m
   

Pe
ac

e 
He

al
th

-In
pa

tie
nt

 R
eh

ab
ilit

at
io

n 
Ho

sp
ita

l, 
Sp

rin
gf

ie
ld

, O
R

Fig
ure

 14
: Y

ea
r 2

03
0 P

M 
Tr

aff
ic 

Vo
lum

es
 w

ith
 D

ev
elo

pm
en

t

5
1

2

4

6

2.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

Be
ltl

in
e

1.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

G
am

e 
Fa

rm

4.
 M

ap
le

 @
G

am
e 

Fa
rm

5.
 G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 @
D

ea
dm

on
d 

Fe
rr

y

Gateway St

G
am

ef
ar

m
 R

d

Ra
nd

y 
Pa

pe
 B

el
tli

ne

3

7

710
321
176

11
1

70
1

13
5

690
230

89

32
2

56
8

88
7

6
922
139

99 3 24
1

60
529

59

3 2 31

35

90

27 16
4

22

15 19
3

45 95

137

36

51 25
4

N
LE

G
EN

D

Si
te

3.
 M

ap
le

 @
 

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

1
84
4

4 0 6

0
33

9

6 0 34

6.
 G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 @
M

LK
 

63

279

12
7

81
1

36 77
6

7.
 S

ite
 A

cc
es

s

47
15 16

6

30
5

U
 T

ur
n

U
 T

ur
n 

2

13  U Turn
U Turn 2

Maple Island

Attachment 3 Page 58 of 420 



 
 
 

 
 

25 PeaceHealth Rehabilitation Hospital 10.20.23 

SANDOW
  ENGINEERING 

6.0 INTERSECTION ANALYSIS 

6.1 PERFORMANCE MEASURES 
The City of Springfield uses a Level of Service (LOS) standard for intersections under the City’s 
jurisdiction. The LOS standard is based on the Highway Capacity Manual (HCM) defined level of 
service (LOS). LOS is a concept developed to quantify the degree of comfort (including such 
elements as travel time, number of stops, total amount of stopped delay, and impediments caused 
by other vehicles) afforded to drivers as they travel through an intersection or along a roadway 
segment. It was developed to quantify the quality of service of transportation facilities.  

LOS is based on average delay, defined as the average total elapsed time from when a vehicle 
stops at the end of a queue until the vehicle departs from the stop line. Average delay is measured 
in seconds per vehicle per hour and is then translated into a grade or “level of service” for each 
intersection. LOS ranges from A to F, with A indicating the most desirable condition and F 
indicating the most unsatisfactory condition. 

Springfield has a standard of LOS D. 

The LOS criteria, as defined by the Highway Capacity Manual (HCM 6) for signalized intersections, 
are provided in Table 5. 

 

TABLE 5: HCM LEVEL OF SERVICE FOR INTERSECTIONS 

 

 

Stopped Delay Per Vehicle 
 (Seconds per Vehicle) 

Unsignalized Intersec�ons Signalized Intersec�ons 

A ≤ 10.0 ≤ 10 

B > 10.0 and  ≤ 15.0 > 10 and  ≤ 20 

C > 15.0 and ≤ 25.0 > 20 and ≤ 35 

D > 25.0 and ≤ 35.0 > 35 and ≤ 55 

E > 35.0 and ≤ 50.0 > 55 and  ≤ 80 

F > 50.0 > 80 
 

 

 

Attachment 3 Page 59 of 420 



 
 
 

 
 

26 PeaceHealth Rehabilitation Hospital 10.20.23 

SANDOW
  ENGINEERING 

6.2 INTERSECTION ANALYSIS RESULTS 
A performance analysis was conducted for the studied intersections for the Years 2023, 2025, and 
2030 conditions during the AM and PM peak hours. The intersection evaluation was performed 
using Synchro 10, utilizing the HCM 6 methodology, for the signalized and stop-controlled 
intersections. ODOT Roundabout Methodology was used to calculate the LOS for the roundabouts. 
The results are shown in Table 6 for the AM and Table 7 for the PM. The SYNCHRO and roundabout 
calculation outputs are provided in Appendix E.   

TABLE 6: INTERSECTION PERFORMANCE: WEEKDAY AM PEAK HOUR 

Intersec�on 

Mobility 
Standard 

LOS 
2023 

Background 
2025 

Background 
2025 
Build 

2030 
Background 

2030 
Build 

Maple Island Rd @ Site 
Access 

D A A A A A 

Maple Island Rd @ 
Game Farm Rd D A A A A A 

Game Farm Rd @ 
Deadmond Ferry Road D B B B B B 

Game Farm Rd @ 
Beltline Rd/Mar�n 
Luther King Jr Parkway 

D A A A A A 

Gateway Street @ 
Game Farm Rd D A A A A A 

Gateway St @ Beltline 
Rd D D D D D D 

Game Farm @ Site 
Access D N/A N/A A N/A A 

 

As illustrated in Table 6, all intersections and site access connections will meet the applicable 
mobility standards with the addition of development trips for the AM Peak Hour.   

Attachment 3 Page 60 of 420 



 
 
 

 
 

27 PeaceHealth Rehabilitation Hospital 10.20.23 

SANDOW
  ENGINEERING 

TABLE 7: INTERSECTION PERFORMANCE: WEEKDAY PM PEAK HOUR 

Intersec�on 

Mobility 
Standard 

LOS 
2023 

Background 
2025 

Background 
2025 
Build 

2030 
Background 

2030 
Build 

Maple Island Rd @ Site 
Access D A A A A A 

Maple Island Rd @ 
Game Farm Rd D A A A A A 

Game Farm Rd @ 
Deadmond Ferry Road D B B C C C 

Game Farm Rd @ 
Beltline Rd/Mar�n 
Luther King Jr Parkway 

D B B B B B 

Gateway Street @ 
Game Farm Rd D B B B C C 

Gateway St @ Beltline 
Rd D F F F F F 

Game Farm @ Site 
Access D N/A N/A A N/A A 

 

The intersections of Gateway at Beltline operated at LOS for current conditions and continues to 
operate at LOS F through the year 2030. All other intersections meet the LOS standard.  

7.0 QUEUE ANALYSIS 
A queuing analysis was conducted for the studied intersections. The signalized and stop-controlled 
queuing analysis was performed using SimTraffic, a microsimulation software tool that uses the 
HCM-defined criteria to estimate the queuing of vehicles within the study area. ODOT’s 
Roundabout Methodology was used to calculate the roundabout queues. The average and 95th 
percentile queuing results are illustrated in Table 8 for the AM peak hour and Table 9 for the PM 
peak hour. All results are rounded to 25 feet to represent the total number of vehicles in the 
queue, as one vehicle typically occupies 25 feet of space. The SimTraffic and roundabout 
calculation outputs are provided in Appendix F. 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment 3 Page 61 of 420 



 
 
 

 
 

28 PeaceHealth Rehabilitation Hospital 10.20.23 

SANDOW
  ENGINEERING 

TABLE 8: INTERSECTION QUEUING: WEEKDAY AM PEAK HOUR 

-not provided in roundabout calculation 

As demonstrated in Table 8, the addition of development traffic does not substantially increase the 
queuing conditions at the studied intersections.   

Intersec�on 

Available 
Storage 
(Feet) 

2023  
Background 

(Feet) 

2025  
Background 

(Feet) 

2025 
Build 
(Feet) 

2030 
Background 

(Feet) 

2030 
Build 
(Feet) 

95th  Average 95th  Average 95th  Average 95th  Average 95th  Average 

Game 
Farm @ 
Beltline 

EB L 425 75 50 75 25 75 50 75 50 75 50 
EB T 1000+ 100 50 100 50 100 50 100 50 100 50 
WB T 390 100 75 125 75 125 75 125 75 125 75 
WB R 410 50 50 50 50 50 50 75 50 75 50 
SB L 150 100 50 100 50 100 50 100 50 100 75 
SB R 530 0 0 0 0 0 0 25 0 0 0 

Game 
Farm @ 

Deadmond 
Ferry 

EB TR 290 0 0 25 0 25 0 25 0 25 0 
WB L 160 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 50 25 
NB L 140 50 50 50 50 75 50 75 50 75 50 
NB R 540 50 25 50 25 50 25 50 25 50 50 

Beltline @ 
Gateway 

EB L 525 225 175 250 175 250 175 250 175 300 200 
EB T 700 175 100 175 100 175 125 200 125 200 125 
EB R 670 100 50 125 50 125 50 150 75 125 50 
WB UL 440 75 25 75 50 75 50 75 50 75 50 
WB T 440 200 125 200 125 200 150 225 150 200 150 
WB TR 400 75 50 75 50 100 50 100 50 100 50 
NB L 275 175 75 225 150 225 150 250 175 275 175 
NB TR 450 225 125 225 150 225 150 275 150 275 150 
SB L 375 125 75 150 75 125 75 150 100 175 100 
SB T 470 150 75 175 100 150 100 175 100 175 100 
SB R 210 50 25 100 50 100 50 100 50 75 50 

Gateway 
@ Game 

Farm 

EB LTR 250 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 
WB L 750 50 25 50 25 50 25 50 25 50 25 
WB TR 810 50 25 50 25 50 25 50 25 50 25 
NB UL 120 50 25 50 25 25 25 50 25 50 25 
NB T 475 75 50 100 50 75 50 100 50 100 50 
NB TR 475 100 50 125 50 100 50 125 50 125 75 
SB L 240 25 25 25 25 25 25 50 25 50 25 
SB T 450 75 25 75 25 50 25 50 25 50 25 
SB TR 610 75 25 75 25 75 25 75 25 75 25 

Maple @ 
North Site 

Access 

EB LTR 180 0 - 0 - 0 - 0 - 0 - 
WB LTR 100 0 - 0 - 0 - 0 - 0 - 
NB LTR 330 25 - 25 - 25 - 25 - 25 - 
SB LTR 280 0 - 0 - 25 - 0 - 25 - 

Maple @ 
Game 
Farm 

EB LTR 1000+ 25 - 25 - 25 - 25 - 25 - 
WB UTR 300 25 - 25 - 25 - 25 - 25 - 
NB LTR 25 0 - 0 - 0 - 0 - 0 - 
SB LTR 300 0 - 0 - 25 - 25 - 25 - 

Attachment 3 Page 62 of 420 



 
 
 

 
 

29 PeaceHealth Rehabilitation Hospital 10.20.23 

SANDOW
  ENGINEERING 

TABLE 9: INTERSECTION QUEUING: WEEKDAY PM PEAK HOUR 

-not provided in roundabout calculation 

As demonstrated in Table 9, the addition of development traffic does not substantially increase the 
queuing conditions at the studied intersections. The northbound approach on Gateway at Beltline 

Intersec�on 

Available 
Storage 
(Feet) 

2023  
Background 

(Feet) 

2025  
Background 

(Feet) 

2025 
Build 
(Feet) 

2030 
Background 

(Feet) 

2030 
Build 
(Feet) 

95th  Average 95th  Average 95th  Average 95th  Average 95th  Average 

Game 
Farm @ 
Beltline 

EB L 425 75 25 50 25 75 25 75 25 75 50 
EB T 1000+ 125 75 125 75 125 75 150 75 150 100 
WB T 390 175 125 175 125 200 125 225 150 200 125 
WB R 410 50 25 50 25 50 25 50 25 50 25 
SB L 150 150 100 150 100 175 100 175 100 175 100 
SB R 530 50 25 50 25 125 25 100 25 75 25 

Game 
Farm @ 

Deadmond 
Ferry 

EB TR 290 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 
WB L 160 50 25 50 25 50 25 50 25 50 25 
NB L 140 75 50 50 25 75 50 75 50 75 50 
NB R 540 50 25 50 25 50 25 50 25 50 25 

Beltline @ 
Gateway 

EB L 525 250 150 225 150 200 125 250 150 275 125 
EB T 700 200 125 225 150 200 150 250 125 225 125 
EB R 670 250 150 275 175 275 200 425 225 425 225 
WB UL 440 150 100 150 100 150 100 175 100 200 100 
WB T 440 300 225 300 225 300 225 350 225 325 225 
WB TR 400 175 75 175 100 200 100 200 100 200 100 
NB L 275 275 175 350 250 375 250 1050 1000 1025 100 
NB TR 450 225 125 225 150 250 150 1125 975 1100 975 
SB UL 375 175 100 200 125 200 125 225 125 225 125 
SB T 470 250 150 275 175 275 175 325 175 300 175 
SB R 210 200 125 200 125 250 175 275 125 225 125 

Gateway 
@ Game 

Farm 

EB LTR 250 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 
WB L 750 125 75 125 75 50 25 175 100 175 100 
WB TR 810 50 25 50 25 50 25 175 50 150 50 
NB UL 120 50 25 50 25 50 25 100 50 100 50 
NB T 475 100 50 125 50 100 50 150 75 150 75 
NB TR 475 125 75 125 75 125 50 175 75 150 100 
SB L 240 50 25 50 25 50 25 100 25 100 50 
SB T 450 150 75 150 75 100 50 300 100 225 100 
SB TR 610 175 100 175 100 125 75 300 150 275 125 

Maple @ 
North Site 

Access 

EB LTR 180 25 - 25 - 25 - 25 - 25 - 
WB LTR 100 0 - 0 - 0 - 0 - 0 - 
NB LTR 330 25 - 25 - 25 - 25 - 25 - 
SB LTR 280 25 - 25 - 25 - 25 - 25 - 

Maple @ 
Game 
Farm 

EB UTR 1000+ 25 - 25 - 25 - 25 - 25 - 
WB LTR 300 25 - 25 - 25 - 25 - 25 - 
NB LTR 25 0 - 0 - 0 - 0 - 0 - 
SB LTR 300 25 - 25 - 25 - 25 - 25 - 

Attachment 3 Page 63 of 420 



 
 
 

 
 

30 PeaceHealth Rehabilitation Hospital 10.20.23 

SANDOW
  ENGINEERING 

currently experiences long queue lengths during the PM peak hour. The addition of development 
trips does not substantially impact the queuing conditions for the northbound approach.   

8.0  TRANSPORTATION PLANNING RULE ANALYSIS 
To be consistent with TPR findings, the traffic generated by the proposed zoning needs to be found 
to not have a significant effect on the adjacent transportation system. This is achieved by first 
determining if the proposed zoning will have a higher impact on the surrounding transportation 
system than the existing zoning. This is done by evaluating a reasonable “worst-case” development 
scenario for the existing and the proposed land use. If the proposed zoning has a higher trip 
generation, then an evaluation of the impacts to the transportation system is required. 

The impacts from the proposed zoning are to be evaluated at the end of the City’s Transportation 
System Plan planning horizon- year 2035.  

8.1 EXISTING ZONING DEVELOPMENT PROPOSAL 
Existing Zoning Trip Generation 
The existing zoning is Campus Industrial-CI. Uses allowed in the CI zoning are: 

• Warehouse and wholesale sales 
• Corporate Office/Headquarters 
• Business Park 

 
Maximum building height is 45 feet. 
 
Taking into consideration the typical building footprint layout of adjacent properties with C-I 
zoning, it is estimated that a reasonable maximum building footprint is approximately 25% 
percent of the total site. The remaining 75% is landscaping parking, drive aisles, and loading 
areas.  
 

• Building footprint 25%= 54,450 sf 
• 2 Stories = 108,900 sf total 

 
The PM peak hour trip generation is estimated by comparing the uses allowed within the 
zoning. The associated ITE Trip Generation Land Uses with the higher PM peak hour rates are: 
 

• 140 Manufacturing: The primary activity is manufacturing raw materials into finished 
products. Buildings typically contain offices, manufacturing areas, and storage areas.  

• 156 High-Cube Parcel Hub Warehouse: buildings primarily devoted to the storage of 
materials. Land use codes 150 Warehousing, 154 High-Cube Transload and Short-Term 
Storage, 155 High-Cube Fulfillment Center Warehouse, and 157 High-Cube Storage 
Warehouse were all evaluated. 156 High-Cube Parcel Hub Warehouse has the highest 
PM peak hour rates. 

Attachment 3 Page 64 of 420 



 
 
 

 
 

31 PeaceHealth Rehabilitation Hospital 10.20.23 

SANDOW
  ENGINEERING 

• 714 Corporate Headquarters Building: single-tenant office buildings that house the 
corporate or headquarters of a company. 

• 750 Office Park: planned unit development that contains general office buildings and 
support services arranged in a park or campus-like setting.  

• 760 Research and Development Center: facility devoted to research and development. 
Buildings contain offices and light fabrication areas 

• 770 Business Park: group of flex-type or incubator buildings. The space contains a mix 
of office, manufacturing, retail, and wholesale stores.   

 
Table 10 provides the PM Peak Hour trip for each development scenario allowed in the 
existing zoning.  

TABLE 10: PM PEAK HOUR TRIP GENERATION COMPARISON-EXISTING ZONING  

ITE Code Rate Trips 

140 Manufacturing  T=0.87(X)-17.5 77 

156 High-Cube Parcel Hub Warehouse 0.64 70 

714 Corporate Headquarters Building Ln(T)=0.94Ln(x)+0.58 147 

750 Office Park T=1.26(X)+20.98 158 

760 Research and Development Center T=0.84(x)+25.08 117 

770 Business Park  Ln(T)=0.88Ln(x)+0.93 157 
 
As demonstrated in Table 10, the highest PM peak hour generator is 750 Office Park at 158 PM 
peak hour trips.  

8.2 PROPOSED ZONING DEVELOPMENT POTENTIAL 
Potential Zoning 
The proposed zoning is Medical Services-MS. The higher trip-generating uses allowed within 
the MS zoning are: 

• Medical clinic 
• Medical office building 
• Hospital  

 
For office and medical uses, the building footprint is estimated considering the parking 
requirements, minimum landscaping at 10%, and building heights. The office and clinic use 
would likely be 2 stories. The building would have a total square footage of approximately 
72,000 sf. 
 
The trip generation for each development scenario is illustrated in Table 11.  

Attachment 3 Page 65 of 420 



 
 
 

 
 

32 PeaceHealth Rehabilitation Hospital 10.20.23 

SANDOW
  ENGINEERING 

TABLE 11: PM PEAK HOUR TRIP GENERATION-PROPOSED NC ZONING 

Development Poten�al  ITE Code Rate Trips 

72,000 sf medical 
office building 

720 Medical Office 
Building  

T=4.07(X)-3.17 290 

72,000 sf clinic 630 Clinic T=3.53(X)+2.98 257 

72,000 sf hospital 610-Hospital  Ln(T)=0.64Ln(x)+2.27 122 
  
The reasonable worst-case development potential under the proposed zoning will generate 
290 PM peak hour trips.  
 
The entering and exiting splits are illustrated in Table 12 below. As demonstrated, the increase 
in trips from the zone change will increase the total trips by 132.  
 
 

TABLE 12: TRIP INCREASE WITH ZONE CHANGE 
 Total In Out 
Existing Zoning   158 22 136 
Proposed Zoning  290 87 203 
Increase  132 65 67 

 

8.3 TRAFFIC VOLUMES 
The development trips from the worst-case development potential are distributed on the street 
network based on the existing travel patterns with modifications for reasonable ongoing 
destinations. Figure 15 illustrates the development trips. 

The traffic evaluation is to be prepared for the end of the City’s Transportation System Plan’s 
Planning Horizon, year 2035. The annual growth rate, described in Section 5.3, is calculated at 2.0% 
per year. This growth rate is applied to the year 2023 traffic volumes to estimate the year 2035 
background traffic volumes.  

The trips from the worst-case development potential (shown in Tables 11 and 12) are added to the 
year 2035 background volumes to represent conditions with the worst-case development of the 
proposed zone change. Figure 16 provides the year 2035 background traffic volumes. Figure 17 
provides the year 2035 traffic volumes with the maximum potential of the proposed zoning.  

8.4 IN-PROGRESS IMPROVEMENTS 
The City of Springfield has identified improvements to the Beltline/Gateway intersection area. The 
improvements are reasonably anticipated to be completed within the 20-year planning horizon. 
Therefore, the improvements are assumed to be completed in the year 2035 background and build 
conditions. The improvements include: 

Attachment 3 Page 66 of 420 



 
 
 

 
 

33 PeaceHealth Rehabilitation Hospital 10.20.23 

SANDOW
  ENGINEERING 

• Converting Gateway into a couplet between the Crossroads Center Access to Beltline 
Road.  

• Divert northbound movements to the couplet, removing all northbound movements at 
the Gateway and Beltline intersection.  

• Signalize Beltline at Hutton St intersection.  
 

8.5 INTERSECTION ANALYSIS 
The intersection evaluation was performed using Synchro 10 utilizing the HCM 6 methodology for 
the signalized and stop-controlled intersections. The roundabout LOS is calculated using the ODOT 
Roundabout Methodology. The results are shown in Table 13. The SYNCHRO  and roundabout 
calculation outputs are provided in Appendix G. 

TABLE 13: INTERSECTION PERFORMANCE: PROPOSED ZONING 

Intersec�on 

 
Mobility Standards 

LOS 
2035 

Background 
2035 
Build 

Maple Island Rd @ Site Access D A A 

Maple Island Rd @ Game Farm Rd D A A 

Game Farm Rd @ Deadmond Ferry Road D C C 
Game Farm Rd @ Beltline Rd/ 
Mar�n Luther King Jr Parkway D B B 

Gateway Street @ Game Farm Rd D C C 

Gateway St @ Beltline Rd D D D 

Game Farm @ Site Access D N/A B 

Huton St @ Game Farm D D D 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment 3 Page 67 of 420 



Ch
ad

Dr

Ra
nd

y Pa
pe

Be
ltl

in
e

Old
Coburg

  
SA

N
D

O
W

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
   

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

16
0 

M
ad

is
on

 S
tr

ee
t 

Su
ite

 A
  E

ug
en

e,
 O

re
go

n 
97

40
2 

- 5
41

.5
13

.3
37

6 
- s

an
do

w
en

gi
ne

er
in

g.
co

m
   

Pe
ac

e 
He

al
th

-In
pa

tie
nt

 R
eh

ab
ilit

at
io

n 
Ho

sp
ita

l, 
Sp

rin
gf

ie
ld

, O
R

Fig
ure

 15
: T

rip
 D

ist
rib

uti
on

 fo
r T

PR
 Fi

nd
ing

s

5
1

2

4

6

2.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

Be
ltl

in
e

1.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

G
am

e 
Fa

rm

4.
 M

ap
le

 @
G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 
5.

 G
am

e 
Fa

rm
 @

D
ea

dm
on

d 
Fe

rr
y

Gateway St

G
am

e 
Fa

rm
 R

d

Ra
nd

y 
Pa

pe
 B

el
tli

ne

3

7

48
64

5 6

11 8

5
5 11

2

11

22

23

95 45

16

19

39

8 60

N
LE

G
EN

D

Si
te

3.
 M

ap
le

 @
 

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

13

18 45 16

6.
 G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 @
M

LK
 

11

49

11

28

7.
 S

ite
 A

cc
es

s

140
58

68

U
 T

ur
n

Maple Island

8

8.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

 
H

ut
to

n

8

11

20

Attachment 3 Page 68 of 420 



Ch
ad

Dr

Ra
nd

y Pa
pe

Be
ltl

in
e

Old
Coburg

  
SA

N
D

O
W

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
   

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

16
0 

M
ad

is
on

 S
tr

ee
t 

Su
ite

 A
  E

ug
en

e,
 O

re
go

n 
97

40
2 

- 5
41

.5
13

.3
37

6 
- s

an
do

w
en

gi
ne

er
in

g.
co

m
   

Pe
ac

e 
He

al
th

-In
pa

tie
nt

 R
eh

ab
ilit

at
io

n 
Ho

sp
ita

l, 
Sp

rin
gf

ie
ld

, O
R

Fig
ure

 16
: Y

ea
r 2

03
5 P

M 
Ba

ck
gro

un
d P

ea
k H

ou
r T

raf
fic

 V
olu

me
s

5
1

2

4

6

2.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

Be
ltl

in
e

1.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

G
am

e 
Fa

rm

4.
 M

ap
le

 @
G

am
e 

Fa
rm

5.
 G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 @
D

ea
dm

on
d 

Fe
rr

y

Gateway St

G
am

ef
ar

m
 R

d

Ra
nd

y 
Pa

pe
 B

el
tli

ne

3

758
337
191

12
0

75
9

14
5

34
7

61
5

96
5

6
1003
146

10
2

4 23
6

66
575

58

4 2 33

33

95

30 15
0

6
21

0

42 10
3

139

40

50 25
7

N
LE

G
EN

D

Si
te

3.
 M

ap
le

 @
 

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

1
92

0
36

6 37

6.
 G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 @
M

LK
 

63

289

13
5

88
2

32 84
4

U
 T

ur
n 

2

14  U Turn

U
 T

ur
n 

1

 U Turn 2

Maple Island

7

7.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

 
H

ut
to

n

50
20
50

50 92
4

50

998
10
93

41 68
6 81

Attachment 3 Page 69 of 420 



Ch
ad

Dr

Ra
nd

y Pa
pe

Be
ltl

in
e

Old
Coburg

  
SA

N
D

O
W

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
   

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

16
0 

M
ad

is
on

 S
tr

ee
t 

Su
ite

 A
  E

ug
en

e,
 O

re
go

n 
97

40
2 

- 5
41

.5
13

.3
37

6 
- s

an
do

w
en

gi
ne

er
in

g.
co

m
   

Pe
ac

e 
He

al
th

-In
pa

tie
nt

 R
eh

ab
ilit

at
io

n 
Ho

sp
ita

l, 
Sp

rin
gf

ie
ld

, O
R

Fig
ure

 17
: Y

ea
r 2

03
5 P

M 
Tr

aff
ic 

Vo
lum

es
 w

ith
 Zo

ne
 C

ha
ng

e

5
1

2

4

6

2.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

Be
ltl

in
e

1.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

G
am

e 
Fa

rm

4.
 M

ap
le

 @
G

am
e 

Fa
rm

5.
 G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 @
D

ea
dm

on
d 

Fe
rr

y

Gateway St

G
am

ef
ar

m
 R

d

Ra
nd

y 
Pa

pe
 B

el
tli

ne

3

7

806
401
191

36
8

15
14

15
1

35
8

62
3

96
5

6
1003
151

10
7

4 34
8

66
575

99

4 2 33

55

118

30 24
5

46

22 21
0

61 10
3

178

40

58 31
7

N
LE

G
EN

D

Si
te

3.
 M

ap
le

 @
 

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

1
92
13

18 0 45

0
36
16

6 0 37

6.
 G

am
e 

Fa
rm

 @
M

LK
 

74

338

14
6

88
2

60 84
4

7.
 S

ite
 A

cc
es

s

140
58 18

1

37
4

U
 T

ur
nU
 T

ur
n 

2

14 U Turn
U Turn 2

Maple Island

8.
 G

at
ew

ay
 @

 
H

ut
to

n

50
20
50

50 93
5

50

998
10

113

41 69
4 81

8

Attachment 3 Page 70 of 420 



 
 
 

 
 

37 PeaceHealth Rehabilitation Hospital 10.20.23 

SANDOW
  ENGINEERING 

8.6 TRANSPORTATION PLANNING RULE FINDINGS 
Consistent with the Transportations Rule (TPR), the following elaborates on how this 
development meets the TPR requirements.  

Goal 12, (OAR) 660-12-0060 (1) requires that a local government ensures that an amendment to a 
functional plan, an acknowledged comprehensive plan, or a land-use regulation (including a zoning 
map) does not significantly affect an existing or planned transportation facility. A plan or land use 
amendment significantly affects a transportation facility if it would: 

(a)  Change the functional classification of an existing or planned transportation facility 
(exclusive of correction of map errors in an adopted plan);  

The existing street classification of the study area roadways is illustrated in Table 12.  

TABLE 12: EXISTING STREET CLASSIFICATION  

Street Classifica�on 

Maple Island Rd  Local 

Game Farm Rd Collector 

Beltline Hwy Minor/Major Arterial 

Mar�n Luther King Jr Parkway Minor Arterial 

Gateway St Minor Arterial 

 

The City of Springfield Transportation System Plan identifies the factors considered in street 
classifications. These are land use patterns, roadway volumes, density of accesses, traffic mix and 
volumes, safety trends, traffic speeds, intersection spacing, and right-of-way availability and 
constraints.  

The traffic mix is anticipated to be a majority as passenger vehicles with infrequent larger truck 
deliveries. The mix and levels of traffic are consistent with what is typically found within the types 
of streets in the study area. The proposed zone change and use will not require a change in street 
classification. 

As demonstrated, the levels of traffic added from the proposed zone change will not change the 
functional classification of any of the adjacent streets where development traffic will be added.   

  (b)  Change standards implementing a functional classification system; or  

The standards for implementing a functional classification system are found within the City of 
Springfield’s Transportation System Plan. The standards are based on street connectivity, spacing 
of streets, mix and amounts of travel modes, and mobility. The proposed zone change does not 
need to modify the standards for the street functional classification system.  

Attachment 3 Page 71 of 420 



 
 
 

 
 

38 PeaceHealth Rehabilitation Hospital 10.20.23 

SANDOW
  ENGINEERING 

(c)  Result in any of the effects listed in paragraphs (A) through (C) of this subsection based 
on projected conditions measured at the end of the planning period identified in the 
adopted TSP. As part of evaluating projected conditions, the amount of traffic projected 
to be generated within the area of the amendment may be reduced if the amendment 
includes an enforceable, ongoing requirement that would demonstrably limit traffic 
generation, including, but not limited to, transportation demand management. This 
reduction may diminish or completely eliminate the significant effect of the 
amendment.  

(A)  Types or levels of travel or access that are inconsistent with the functional classification 
of an existing or planned transportation facility;  

Development on the property with the proposed zone change will mostly consist of passenger 
cars, pedestrians, and bicycles, with occasional use by delivery vehicles, etc. This type of use is 
consistent with the types of uses expected on urban streets, especially local and collector streets.  

The proposed zone change will not cause traffic levels, patterns, or access that are inconsistent 
with the functional classification of an existing or planned transportation facility.  

(B)  Degrade the performance of an existing or planned transportation facility such that it 
would not meet the performance standards identified in the TSP or comprehensive plan; 
or 

As demonstrated in Section 8.4, the proposed zone change does not degrade the performance of 
an existing or planned transportation facility such that it would not meet the performance 
standards.   

(C)  Degrade the performance of an existing or planned transportation facility that is 
otherwise projected to not meet the performance standards identified in the TSP or 
comprehensive plan.” OAR 660-12-0060(1) 

All existing and planned transportation facilities will meet the applicable standards.  

9.0 PARKING 
The ITE Parking Generation Manual is used to estimate the minimum number of parking spaces for 
the proposed Rehabilitation Hospital. ITE Land Use 610-Hospital has a parking estimate of 2.25 
stalls per 1,000 sf. At 67,000 sf, the minimum parking spaces needed is 151.  

 

Attachment 3 Page 72 of 420 



 
 
 

 
 

39 PeaceHealth Rehabilitation Hospital 10.20.23 

SANDOW
  ENGINEERING 

10.0 CONCLUSION 
This report provides the Traffic Impact Analysis and findings prepared for the proposed zone 
change and a 50-bed rehabilitation hospital in Springfield, Oregon. The analysis evaluates the 
transportation impacts as per the City of Springfield, evaluating adjacent roadway and intersection 
operation with the addition of development traffic for the year of completion and 5 years into the 
future. Additionally, a TPR analysis was evaluated for the proposed zone change.  

FINDINGS 
• The addition of development trips does not trigger any intersections to not meet the LOS 

standards. 
• The intersection of Gateway St at Beltline Rd currently operates at LOS F during the PM 

peak hour. The City has identified improvements at this intersection, which are reasonably 
assumed to be constructed within the 20-year planning horizon. With these improvements, 
the intersection will meet the mobility standards. 

• The addition of development traffic does not substantially increase queuing conditions. 
• There is no off-site mitigation needed for this development. 
• TPR findings are demonstrated to be met.  
• The minimum number of parking spaces, as per the ITE Parking Generation Manual, is 151 

for the 67,000-sf facility.  
 
 
 
 

Attachment 3 Page 73 of 420 



SANDOW ENGINEERING 

PEACEHEALTH REHABILITATION HOSPITAL

A
P
P
E
N

D
IX

 A
: 

SI
T

E 
PL

A
N

Attachment 3 Page 74 of 420 



Peace Health - Inpatient Rehabilitation Hospital
Springfield, OR   -   23023.00   -   04/11/2023 SITE PLAN

177,707.9 sf

100'-3/4"

4.08
acres

Primary
Site

Visibility

Therapy 
Courtyard

Mech
Yard

Existing FO Line

30
0'

-0
"

12'-6"

Future
or
Shell 
10 Beds

Proposed
Inpatient
Rehabilitation
Hospital
50 Beds

Dumpsters Service
Entry

Main
Entry

+/- 125 Parking
Spaces

Detention
Basin

0    10   20         40                       80                       120

AREA MAP

Proposed
Site

Attachment 3 Page 75 of 420 



SANDOW ENGINEERING 

PEACEHEALTH REHABILITATION HOSPITAL

A
P
P
E
N

D
IX

 B
: 

SC
O

PE
 O

F 
W

O
R

K

Attachment 3 Page 76 of 420 



 SANDOWENGINEERING 
 

 
 
160 MADISON STREET, SUITE A      EUGENE, OREGON 97402        541.513.3376 

 

 

  

TECH MEMO 
 
DATE:    May 16, 2023 
 
TO:   Michael Liebler, PE 
  City of Springfield 
 
FROM:  Kelly Sandow P.E. 
   Sandow Engineering 
 
RE:        Scope of Work- TPR and TIA 
 
The following provides the trip generation estimate and proposed Scope of Work for the 
proposed zone change and development of tax lot 1000 and a portion of tax lots 800, 900, and 
1100 of Assessor’s Map 17-03-15-40, for a total of 5.0 acres. 

Development Proposal  

The site is currently zoned “Campus Industrial” (CI). The applicant is proposing a zone change 
to “Community Commercial” (CC).  

The development proposal is a 67,000 square foot inpatient rehabilitation facility with 50 beds.  
The rehabilitation facility provides physical and neurological rehabilitation for adults. Staffing is 
anticipated at: 

• Day Shift - 78 staff  
• Evenings - 56 staff 
• Nights - 22 staff 

The primary access will be via a new access connection to Game Farm Road approximately 250 
feet east of Maple Island Road. This access will serve the primary parking area and patient 
drop-off/pick-up area. This access will be right-out right-in with a curbed median on Game 
Farm to restrict movements. A second access is proposed via a driveway connection to the 
east side of the roundabout on Maple between Game Farm and International Way.  

Site Information  
The development site is comprised of tax lot 1000, and a portion of tax lots 800, 900, and 
1100. The site is located at the northeast corner of the intersection of Game Farm Road at 
Maple Island Road. The site is approximately 5.0 acres and is currently vacant. 

 

Attachment 3 Page 77 of 420 



Re: TPR and TIA Scope of Work 
Date: 5.16.23 
Page 1  

 

 
 

 

 SANDOW  
ENGINEERING 

 

Game Farm and Deadmond Ferry Rd are classified as Major Collectors along the site frontage 
and Maple Island Road is classified as a local street.  

 

Site Location and Access 
 

 

TRANSPORTATION PLANNING RULE ANALYSIS 
Existing Zoning Trip Generation 
The existing zoning is Campus Industrial-CI. Uses allowed in the CI zoning are: 

• Warehouse and wholesale sales 
• Corporate Office/Headquarters 
• Business Park 

 
Maximum building height is 45 feet 
 
Taking into consideration the typical building footprint layout of adjacent properties with C-I 
zoning, it is estimated that a reasonable maximum building footprint is approximately 25% 
percent of the total site. The remaining 75% is landscaping parking, drive aisles, and loading 
areas.  

Attachment 3 Page 78 of 420 



Re: TPR and TIA Scope of Work 
Date: 5.16.23 
Page 2  

 

 
 

 

 SANDOW  
ENGINEERING 

 

 
• Building footprint 25%= 54,450 sf 
• 2 Stories = 108,900 sf total 

 
The PM peak hour trip generation is estimated comparing the uses allowed within the zoning. 
The associated ITE Trip Generation Land Uses  with the higher PM peak hour rates are: 
 

• 140 Manufacturing: primary activity is manufacturing raw materials into finished 
products. Buildings typically contain offices, manufacturing areas, and storage areas.  

• 156 High-Cube Parcel Hub Warehouse: buildings primarily devoted to the storage of 
materials. Land use codes 150 Warehousing, 154 High-Cube Transload and Short-Term 
Storage, 155 High-Cube Fulfillment Center Warehouse,  and 157 High-Cube Storage 
Warehouse were all evaluated. 156 High-Cube Parcel Hub Warehouse has the highest 
PM peak hour rates. 

• 714 Corporate Headquarters Building: single tenant office buildings that houses the 
corporate or headquarters of a company. 

• 750 Office Park: planned unit development that contains general office buildings and 
support services arranges in a park or campus like setting.  

• 760 Research and Development Center: facility devoted to research and development. 
Buildings contain offices and light fabrication areas 

• 770 Business Park: group of flex-type or incubator buildings. The space contains a mix 
of office, manufacturing, retail and wholesale stores.   

 

TABLE 1: PM PEAK HOUR TRIP GENERATION COMPARISON-EXISTING ZONING  

ITE Code Rate Trips 

140 Manufacturing  T=0.87(X)-17.5 77 

156 High-Cube Parcel Hub Warehouse 0.64 70 

714 Corporate Headquarters Building Ln(T)=0.94Ln(x)+0.58 147 

750 Office Park T=1.26(X)+20.98 158 

760 Research and Development Center T=0.84(x)+25.08 117 

770 Business Park  Ln(T)=0.88Ln(x)+0.93 157 
 

 
The highest PM peak hour generator is 750 Office park at 158 PM peak hour trips.  

 
Potential Zoning 
The proposed zoning is Community Commercial-CC. The allowed uses within CC for this size of 
lot and the uses with the higher trip generators are: 

• Offices and clinics 

Attachment 3 Page 79 of 420 



Re: TPR and TIA Scope of Work 
Date: 5.16.23 
Page 3  

 

 
 

 

 SANDOW  
ENGINEERING 

 

• Retail Sales and Service (non-auto dependent) 
• Hospital  

 
For office and medical uses, the building footprint is estimated considering the parking 
requirements, a minimum landscaping at 25%, and building heights. The office and clinic use 
would likely be 2 stories. The building would have a total square footage of approximately 
72,000 sf. 
 
The retail use would likely be single story and would be a shopping center style. The building 
square footage would be approximately 27% of the site area at 58,800 square feet. At this 
large of a site, the retail will likely include loading docks and circulating roadways reducing the 
overall building square footage.  
 
The trip generation for each development scenario is illustrated in Table 2.  

TABLE 2: PM PEAK HOUR TRIP GENERATION-PROPOSED NC ZONING 

Development Poten�al  ITE Code Rate Trips 

72,000 sf office  710 General Office  Ln(T)=0.83Ln(x)+1.29 126 

714 Corporate 
Headquarters Building 

Ln(T)=0.94Ln(x)+0.58 99 

72,000 sf medical 
office building 

720 Medical Office 
Building  

T=4.07(X)-3.17 290 

72,000 sf clinic 630 Clinic T=3.53(X)+2.98 257 

58,800 sf retail plaza  821 Shopping Plaza (40-
150 ksf) 

5.19  trips/ksf 305 

72,000 sf hospital 610-Hospital  Ln(T)=0.64Ln(x)+2.27 122 
  
The proposed zoning will generate 305 PM peak hour trips.  
 
The entering and exiting splits are illustrated in Table 3 below. As demonstrated, the increase 
in trips from the zone change will increase the total trips by 147 with a majority of them 
entering the site.  
 
 Total In Out 
Existing Zoning   158 22 136 
Proposed Zoning  305 150 155 
Increase  147 128 19 

 
 

Attachment 3 Page 80 of 420 



Re: TPR and TIA Scope of Work 
Date: 5.16.23 
Page 4  

 

 
 

 

 SANDOW  
ENGINEERING 

 

The trip distribution follows the existing travel patterns based on recent traffic counts taken at 
Maple Island Road at Game Farm, Game Farm at Deadmond Ferry, and Maple at the entrance.  
 
The trip distribution is shown in the image below. 
 
 

 
 

Trip Distribution TPR Analysis 
(Trip Differential) 

 
 
 
 
 

 

24 

Attachment 3 Page 81 of 420 



Re: TPR and TIA Scope of Work 
Date: 5.16.23 
Page 5  

 

 
 

 

 SANDOW  
ENGINEERING 

 

The following intersections have 20 or more trips added: 
• Maple at Site Access 
• Maple at Game Farm Road 
• Game Farm Road at Deadmond Ferry  
• Game Farm at MLK JR Parkway 
• Game Farm at Gateway St 
• Gateway Street at Beltline  

 

TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS 
 
The development proposal is a 67,000 square foot inpatient rehabilitation facility with 50 beds. 
The rehabilitation facility provides physical and neurological rehabilitation for adults. The 
facility will primarily serve inpatient care 
 
 The ITE Trip Generation Manuals does not have a Land Use that is an exact match to the 
proposed use. The closest land uses are: 

• 610-Hospital: This land use is defined as “any institution where medical or surgical care 
and overnight accommodations are provided to non-ambulatory and ambulatory 
patients.”  

• 630-Clinic: This land use is defined as “a facility that provides limited diagnostic and 
outpatient care but is unable to provide prolonged in-house medical and surgical care”.  

• 720-Medical- Dental Office Building: This land use is defined as “a facility that provides 
diagnoses and outpatient care on a routine basis but is unable to provide prolonged in-
house medical and surgical care.” 
 

The most closely matched land use is 610-Hospital as the other land uses are specific to 
outpatient care, and the proposed use will be primarily inpatient care. 
 
610-Hospital provides trip rates based on the number of beds, square feet, and employees.  
The independent variable of beds was chosen as the most appropriate independent variable as 
it’s the driving factor for the number of patients, employees, etc. Additionally, the trip rates for 
using beds as an independent variable provides the highest trip generation estimate providing 
a more conservative analysis  The trip generation is illustrated in Table 4.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment 3 Page 82 of 420 



Re: TPR and TIA Scope of Work 
Date: 5.16.23 
Page 6  

 

 
 

 

 SANDOW  
ENGINEERING 

 

TABLE 1: TRIP GENERATION-DEVELOPMENT PROPOSAL   

Time Period 
Size 

(Beds) Rate Trips In Out 

610-Hospital     

Daily 50 22.32 1116 (50%) 
558 

(50%) 
558 

AM Peak Hour 50 1.79 90 (72%) 
64 

(28%) 
26 

PM Peak Hour 50 1.69 85 (33%) 
28 

(67%) 
57 

 
The site will generate more than 1000 ADT, meeting the requirement for a TIA as per SDC 
4.2.105.  
 
The trips are distributed on the system based on the existing travel patterns in the area and 
the reasonable origins and destinations. The trip distribution is illustrated in the image below. 
As demonstrated, the following intersections have 25 or more trips added during the AM and 
PM peak hours.  
 

• Maple at Site Access 
• Maple at Game Farm Road 
• Game Farm Road at Deadmond Ferry  
• Game Farm at MLK JR Parkway 
• Game Farm at Gateway St 
• Gateway Street at Beltline  

 
 
 
 
 

Attachment 3 Page 83 of 420 



Re: TPR and TIA Scope of Work 
Date: 5.16.23 
Page 7  

 

 
 

 

 SANDOW  
ENGINEERING 

 

 
AM Peak Hour Trip Distribution- Development Proposal 

 
 
 
 

Attachment 3 Page 84 of 420 



Re: TPR and TIA Scope of Work 
Date: 5.16.23 
Page 8  

 

 
 

 

 SANDOW  
ENGINEERING 

 

 
 

PM Peak Hour Trip Distribution- Development Proposal 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment 3 Page 85 of 420 



Re: TPR and TIA Scope of Work 
Date: 5.16.23 
Page 9  

 

 
 

 

 SANDOW  
ENGINEERING 

 

ANALYSIS PARAMETERS 
 
TPR Analysis 

• Years  
⋅ 2023- Existing 
⋅ 2035- TSP Horizon 

• PM Peak Period 4-6 PM  
• Intersections to be studied 

⋅ Maple at Access 
⋅ Maple at Game Farm 
⋅ Game Farm at Deadmond Ferry 
⋅ Game Farm at Beltline/MLK  
⋅ Gateway at Game Farm 
⋅ Beltline at Gateway 

 
TIA Analysis 

• Years  
⋅ 2023- Existing 
⋅ 2025- Year of Opening 

 

• PM Peak Period 4-6 PM 
• AM Peak Hour 7-9 AM 
• Intersections to be studied 

⋅ Maple at Access 
⋅ Maple at Game Farm 
⋅ Game Farm at Deadmond Ferry 
⋅ Game Farm at Beltline/MLK  
⋅ Gateway at Game Farm 
⋅ Gateway at Beltline 

 
• Crash analysis 
• Queuing analysis 
• LOS analysis 

Attachment 3 Page 86 of 420 



SANDOW ENGINEERING 

PEACEHEALTH REHABILITATION HOSPITAL

A
P
P
E
N

D
IX

 C
:

C
R

A
SH

 D
A

T
A

Attachment 3 Page 87 of 420 



CRASH DATA SUMMARY

476 5 4760 1737400.000 200000.0 0.12
CHECK

2017 0 OK
2018 0 OK BIKE
2019 1 1 1 OK REAR S-N /S-N 
2020 0 OK
2021 0 OK

0 OK
TOTALS: 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1

423 5 4230 1543950.000 200000.0 0.13
CHECK

2017 0 OK OTHER N-E 
2018 1 1 1 OK BIKE
2019 0 OK REAR
2020 0 OK SIDE
2021 0 OK

0 OK
TOTALS: 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1

1811 5 18110 6610150.000 1200000.0 0.18
CHECK

2017 1 1 2 2 OK OTHER W-E/N-S SS E-W/E-W
2018 1 1 1 OK BIKE
2019 1 1 1 OK TURN N-E/E-W N-W/E-W E-W/W-N
2020 2 1 1 2 OK SIDE
2021 0 OK REAR E-W / E-W 

0 OK
TOTALS: 1 5 0 0 1 0 3 2 0 0 6

139 5 1390 507350.000 0.0 0.00
CHECK

2017 0 OK OTHER N-S 
2018 0 OK BIKE
2019 0 OK TURN
2020 0 OK SIDE
2021 0 OK REAR

0 OK
TOTALS: 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1706 5 17060 6226900.000 600000.0 0.10
CHECK

2017 1 1 1 OK OTHER FIX W-S
2018 1 1 1 OK BIKE
2019 0 OK TURN S-N/N-E
2020 1 1 1 OK SIDE
2021 0 OK REAR N-S

0 OK
TOTALS: 0 3 0 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 3

4297 5 42970 15684050.000 12400000.0 0.79
CHECK

2017 3 13 4 7 4 1 16 OK OTHER
2018 4 7 6 2 3 11 OK BIKE
2019 6 7 4 9 0 13 OK TURN
2020 4 5 3 4 2 9 OK SIDE
2021 2 11 5 2 6 13 OK REAR

0 OK
TOTALS: 19 43 0 0 22 0 24 15 1 0 62

YEAR PDO INJURY FATAL HEAD

TOTAL

Maple Island @ Game Farm P.M. PEAK 
HOUR Number of Years, n

REAR SIDE TURN OTHER PED

REAR SIDE TURN OTHER

BIKE

6035 Peace Health rehab Zone Change 

Deadmond Ferry @ Game Farm P.M. PEAK 
HOUR Number of Years, n ADT AVG. ANNUAL MILES 

(MILLIONS)
AVG. YEARLY 

CRASHES
CRASH RATE/ 

MILLION MILES

PED BIKE TOTAL

AVG. YEARLY 
CRASHES

CRASH RATE/ 
MILLION MILESADT AVG. ANNUAL MILES 

(MILLIONS)

BIKE TOTAL

YEAR PDO INJURY FATAL HEAD

CRASH RATE/ 
MILLION MILESADT AVG. ANNUAL MILES 

(MILLIONS)

AVG. YEARLY 
CRASHES

CRASH RATE/ 
MILLION MILES

YEAR PDO INJURY FATAL HEAD

Game Farm @ beltline P.M. PEAK 
HOUR Number of Years, n

REAR SIDE TURN OTHER PED

YEAR PDO INJURY FATAL HEAD

Number of Years, n ADT AVG. ANNUAL MILES 
(MILLIONS)

AVG. YEARLY 
CRASHES

CRASH RATE/ 
MILLION MILES

BIKE TOTAL

Maple Island @ Business Access P.M. PEAK 
HOUR

Game Farm at Gateway P.M. PEAK 
HOUR

REAR SIDE TURN OTHER PED

YEAR PDO INJURY FATAL HEAD

Number of Years, n ADT AVG. ANNUAL MILES 
(MILLIONS)

AVG. YEARLY 
CRASHES

BIKE TOTAL

Gateway at Beltline P.M. PEAK 
HOUR Number of Years, n

REAR SIDE TURN OTHER PED

ADT AVG. ANNUAL MILES 
(MILLIONS)

AVG. YEARLY 
CRASHES

CRASH RATE/ 
MILLION MILES

YEAR PDO INJURY FATAL HEAD REAR SIDE TURN OTHER PED BIKE TOTAL

Attachment 3 Page 88 of 420 



# Crashes ADT MEV Crash Rate Critical Crash Rate
1 Deadmond Ferry @ Game Farm Stop 1 4760 8.69 0.12 0.34 under
2 Maple Island @ Game Farm Stop 1 4230 7.72 0.13 0.36 under
3 Game Farm @ beltline Signal 6 18110 33.05 0.18 0.71 under
4 Maple Island @ Business Access Stop 0 1390 2.54 0.00 0.64 under
5 Game Farm at Gateway Signal 3 17060 31.13 0.10 0.72 under
6 Gateway at Beltline Signal 62 42970 78.42 0.79 0.64 over

Weighted Average

Stop 2 19 0.105577111
Signal 71 142.61 0.49787701

Attachment 3 Page 89 of 420 



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE

01706 N N N N 07/22/2020 16 MARTIN L KING JR PKY  
      

INTER   3-LEG  N N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  STRGHT 29

NONE  WE 0 BELTLINE RD           
      

E TRF SIGNAL N DRY REAR    PRVTE E -W 000 00

N 2P 06 0 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 23 M OR-Y 026 000 29

N 44 5 2.63 -123 1 
58.2

OR>25

02 NONE  STOP  

PRVTE E -W 011 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 30 M OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

BELTLINE RD at MARTIN L KING JR PKY (2), City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 1

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

1 - 1 of   1 Crash records shown.

Attachment 3 Page 90 of 420 



Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

BELTLINE RD at MARTIN L KING JR PKY (2), City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 2

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

Attachment 3 Page 91 of 420 



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE

01481 N Y N N N N 05/23/2018 16 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   3-LEG  N N CLR BIKE      01 NONE  0 STRGHT 087 04,33

CITY  WE 0 E GAME FARM RD        
      

W TRF SIGNAL N DRY ANGL    PRVTE W -E 000 00

N 7P 06 1 N DAY INJ TRUCK     01 DRVR NONE 36 M OR-Y 000 000 00

N 44 5 2.63 -123 1 
58.2

OR<25

-

STRGHT 01 BIKE INJC 61 M I XWLK 
  

020,051 035 04,33

N S 

00759 N N N N N N 03/04/2017 16 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   3-LEG  N N RAIN ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  0 TURN-L 04

CITY  SA 0 E GAME FARM RD        
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N WET TURN    PRVTE N -E 000 00

N 7P 01 0 N DLIT INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 76 F OR-Y 000 000 00

N 44 5 2.63 -123 1 
58.2

OR<25

02 NONE  0 STRGHT

PRVTE E -W 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 66 F OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

00552 N N N N N N 02/14/2017 16 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   3-LEG  N N CLR ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  9 TURN-R 02

NO RPT TU 0 E GAME FARM RD        
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N DRY TURN    N/A  N -W 088 00

N 7A 01 1 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 5 2.63 -123 1 
58.2

UNK  

02 NONE  9 STRGHT

N/A  E -W 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

UNK  

02472 N N N N N N 08/14/2019 16 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   3-LEG  N N CLR O-1 L-TURN 01 NONE  STRGHT 02

CITY  WE 0 E GAME FARM RD        
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N DRY TURN    PRVTE SE-NW 000 00

N 6A 02 1 N DAWN INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 31 M OTH-Y 000 000 00

N 44 5 2.63 -123 1 
58.2

OR<25

02 NONE  TURN-L

PRVTE NW-N 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 63 F OR-Y 028,004 000 02

OR<25

02250 N N N N 09/18/2020 16 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   3-LEG  N N RAIN S-STRGHT  01 NONE  STRGHT 29

NONE  FR 0 E GAME FARM RD        
      

CN UNKNOWN   N WET SS-O    PRVTE E -W 000 00

N 12P 01 0 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 21 F OR-Y 026 000 29

N 44 5 2.63 -123 1 
58.22

OR<25

02 NONE  STOP  

PRVTE E -W 011 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 59 F OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

E GAME FARM RD at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 1

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

1 - 5 of   5 Crash records shown.

Attachment 3 Page 92 of 420 



Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

E GAME FARM RD at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 2

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

Attachment 3 Page 93 of 420 



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

E GAME FARM RD at DEADMOND FERRY RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 1

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

Attachment 3 Page 94 of 420 



Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

E GAME FARM RD at DEADMOND FERRY RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 2

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

Attachment 3 Page 95 of 420 



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE

03220 Y N N N N N 12/29/2020 16 GATEWAY ST            
      

INTER   CROSS  N Y CLD FIX OBJ   01 NONE  TURN-R 124,062 01

STATE TU 0 E GAME FARM RD        
      

S TRF SIGNAL N ICE FIX     PRVTE W -SE 000 124,062 00

N 8A 05 1 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 29 M OR-Y 047,081 000 01

N 44 5 8.69 -123 2 
32.05

OR<25

03697 N N N N 10/13/2017 16 GATEWAY ST            
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 29

NO RPT FR 0 E GAME FARM RD        
      

NW TRF SIGNAL N WET REAR    PRVTE NW-SE 000 00

N 1P 06 1 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 34 M OR-Y 026 000 29

N 44 5 8.7 -123 2 
31.93

OR<25

02 NONE  1 STOP  

PRVTE NW-SE 011 00

SEMI TOW  01 DRVR NONE 62 M OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

03403 N N N N N N 10/22/2018 16 GATEWAY ST            
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR O-1 L-TURN 01 NONE  0 STRGHT 087 04

CITY  MO 0 E GAME FARM RD        
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N DRY TURN    PRVTE SE-NW 000 087 00

N 5P 04 1 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 27 F OR-Y 020 000 04

N 44 5 8.69 -123 2 
32.04

OR<25

02 NONE  0 TURN-L

PRVTE NW-E 000 087 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 80 F OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

E GAME FARM RD at GATEWAY ST, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 1

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

1 - 3 of   3 Crash records shown.

Attachment 3 Page 96 of 420 



Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

E GAME FARM RD at GATEWAY ST, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 2

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

Attachment 3 Page 97 of 420 



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE

03003 N N N N 07/18/2018 18 S GAME FARM RD        
      

INTER   3-LEG  N N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  9 STRGHT 29

NONE  WE 0 E GAME FARM RD        
      

S STOP SIGN N DRY REAR    N/A  S -N 000 00

N 1P 06 0 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 5 8.64 -123 2 
1.48

UNK  

02 NONE  9 STOP  

N/A  S -N 011 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

UNK  

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

E GAME FARM RD at S GAME FARM RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 1

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

1 - 1 of   1 Crash records shown.

Attachment 3 Page 98 of 420 



Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

E GAME FARM RD at S GAME FARM RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 2

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

Attachment 3 Page 99 of 420 



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GAME FARM RD at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 1

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

Attachment 3 Page 100 of 420 



Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GAME FARM RD at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 2

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

Attachment 3 Page 101 of 420 



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GAME FARM RD at E GAME FARM RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 1

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

Attachment 3 Page 102 of 420 



Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GAME FARM RD at E GAME FARM RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 2

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

Attachment 3 Page 103 of 420 



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE

03714 N N N N 11/27/2019 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLD S-1STOP   01 NONE  STRGHT 29

CITY  WE GATEWAY ST            
      

N TRF SIGNAL N DRY REAR    PRVTE N -S 000 00

N 12P 06 1 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 58 M OR-Y 026 000 29

N 44 5 2.97 -123 2 
29.72

006900100S00 OR<25

02 NONE  STOP  

PRVTE N -S 011 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 50 F OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

01389 N N N N N N 04/24/2017 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N RAIN PED       01 NONE  0 STRGHT 18,19,04

CITY  MO GATEWAY ST            
      

E TRF SIGNAL N WET PED     PRVTE W -E 000 00

N 6A 05 0 N DAWN INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 58 F OR-Y 000 000 00

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

006900200S00 OR<25

-

STRGHT 01 PED INJA 26 M I XWLK 
  

020 035 04,18,19

S N 

02204 N N N N N N 07/25/2018 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 29

STATE WE GATEWAY ST            
      

E TRF SIGNAL N DRY REAR    PRVTE E -W 000 00

N 6P 06 1 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 25 F OR-Y 026 000 29

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

006900200S00 OR<25

02 NONE  0 STOP  

PRVTE E -W 011 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 36 F OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

00219 Y N N N 01/18/2019 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N RAIN S-1STOP   01 NONE  STRGHT 124 01,29

NO RPT FR GATEWAY ST            
      

E TRF SIGNAL N WET REAR    PRVTE E -W 001 124 00

N 3P 06 1 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 19 F OR-Y 047,026 017 01,29

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.7

006900100S00 OR<25

02 NONE  STOP  

PRVTE E -W 011 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 60 M OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

02 NONE  STOP  

PRVTE E -W 011 00

PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJC 60 F 000 000 00

02187 N N N N 07/22/2019 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  STRGHT 29

NONE  MO GATEWAY ST            
      

E TRF SIGNAL N DRY REAR    PRVTE E -W 000 00

N 10A 06 1 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 73 M OTH-Y 026 000 29

N 44 5 2.97 -123 2 
29.7

006900200S00 N-RES

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GATEWAY ST at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 1

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

1 - 4 of   62 Crash records shown.

Attachment 3 Page 104 of 420 



Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GATEWAY ST at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 2

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

Attachment 3 Page 105 of 420 



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE
02 NONE  STOP  

PRVTE E -W 011 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 63 F OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

02821 N N N N 09/12/2019 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  9 STRGHT 29

NONE  TH GATEWAY ST            
      

E TRF SIGNAL N DRY REAR    N/A  E -W 000 00

N 1P 06 1 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 5 2.98 -123 2 
29.7

006900100S00 UNK  

02 NONE  9 STOP  

N/A  E -W 011 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

UNK  

04174 N N N N 11/13/2017 16 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N RAIN S-1STOP   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 29

NO RPT MO 0 GATEWAY ST            
      

E TRF SIGNAL N WET REAR    PRVTE E -W 000 00

N 11A 06 1 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 32 M OR-Y 026 000 29

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

OR<25

02 NONE  0 STOP  

PRVTE E -W 011 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 53 F OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

01855 N N N N N N 06/27/2018 16 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 27,29

STATE WE 0 GATEWAY ST            
      

E UNKNOWN   N DRY REAR    PRVTE E -W 000 00

N 2P 06 1 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 29 M OR-Y 016,026 038 27,29

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

OR>25

01 NONE  0 STRGHT

PRVTE E -W 000 00

PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJC 50 M 000 000 00

02 NONE  0 STOP  

PRVTE E -W 011 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 39 F OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

00976 Y N N N Y Y 04/08/2018 16 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N Y RAIN FIX OBJ   01 NONE  9 STRGHT 058,044 30,08

STATE SU 0 GATEWAY ST            
      

E TRF SIGNAL N WET FIX     N/A  S -N 000 00

N 12A 05 1 N DLIT PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 5 2.75 -123 2 
29.68

UNK  

00730 N N N N N N 03/08/2019 16 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  STRGHT 04

STATE FR 0 GATEWAY ST            
      

E TRF SIGNAL N DRY TURN    PRVTE W -E 000 00

N 11A 05 1 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 81 M OTH-Y 020 000 04

N 44 5 2.75 -123 2 
29.68

N-RES

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GATEWAY ST at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 3

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

5 - 9 of   62 Crash records shown.

Attachment 3 Page 106 of 420 



Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GATEWAY ST at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 4

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

Attachment 3 Page 107 of 420 



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE
02 NONE  TURN-L

PRVTE N -E 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 28 M OR-Y 000 000 00

OR>25

02347 N N N N 08/22/2021 16 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 29

NONE  SU 0 GATEWAY ST            
      

E TRF SIGNAL N DRY REAR    PRVTE E -W 000 00

N 8P 06 1 N DUSK INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 56 F OR-Y 026 000 29

N 44 5 2.75 -123 2 
29.69

OR<25

02 NONE  0 STOP  

PRVTE E -W 011 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 17 F OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

02 NONE  0 STOP  

PRVTE E -W 011 00

PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJC 17 F 000 000 00

02792 N N N N N N 10/05/2021 16 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 27,07

CITY  TU 0 GATEWAY ST            
      

E TRF SIGNAL N DRY REAR    PRVTE E -W 000 00

N 12A 06 0 N DLIT INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 19 F OR-Y 016,043 038 27,07

N 44 5 2.75 -123 2 
29.69

OR>25

02 NONE  0 STOP  

PRVTE E -W 012 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 28 F OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

04322 N N N N N N 11/22/2017 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N RAIN ANGL-STP  01 NONE  9 TURN-L 08

CITY  WE GATEWAY ST            
      

S TRF SIGNAL N WET TURN    N/A  E -S 000 00

N 5P 06 1 N DLIT PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

006900100S00 UNK  

02 NONE  9 STOP  

N/A  S -N 012 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

UNK  

02275 N N N N 09/20/2020 11 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   N N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  STRGHT 29

NONE  SU GATEWAY ST            
      

S TRF SIGNAL N DRY REAR    RENTL S -N 000 00

N 3P 06 2 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 46 F OR-Y 026 000 29

N 44 5 2.35 -123 2 
29.69

0001XK100S00 OR>25

02 NONE  STOP  

PRVTE S -N 011 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 46 F OR-Y 000 000 00

OR>25

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GATEWAY ST at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 5

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

10 - 13 of   62 Crash records shown.

Attachment 3 Page 108 of 420 



Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GATEWAY ST at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 6

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

Attachment 3 Page 109 of 420 



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE
02 NONE  STOP  

PRVTE S -N 011 00

PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJC 10 M 000 000 00

02 NONE  STOP  

PRVTE S -N 011 00

PSNGR CAR 03 PSNG INJC 06 F 000 000 00

00902 N N N N N N 03/16/2017 16 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 27,07

CITY  TH 0 GATEWAY ST            
      

S TRF SIGNAL N DRY REAR    PRVTE S -N 000 00

N 7P 06 0 N DUSK INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 30 F SUSP 016,043,026 000 27,07

N 44 5 2.35 -123 2 
29.67

OR<25

02 NONE  0 STOP  

PRVTE S -N 011 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 68 F OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

02160 N N N N 06/22/2017 16 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 013 29

NO RPT TH 0 GATEWAY ST            
      

S TRF SIGNAL N DRY REAR    PRVTE S -N 000 00

N 1P 06 1 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 22 M OR-Y 026 000 29

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

OR<25

02 NONE  0 STOP  

PRVTE S -N 011 013 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 19 F OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

03 NONE  0 STOP  

PRVTE S -N 022 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 63 F OR-Y 000 000 00

OR>25

03 NONE  0 STOP  

PRVTE S -N 022 00

PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJC 68 M 000 000 00

00229 N N N N 01/20/2020 16 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  9 STRGHT 013 29

NONE  MO 0 GATEWAY ST            
      

S TRF SIGNAL N DRY REAR    N/A  S -N 000 00

N 12P 06 0 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 5 2.35 -123 2 
29.67

UNK  

02 NONE  9 STOP  

N/A  S -N 011 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

UNK  

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GATEWAY ST at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 7

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

14 - 17 of   62 Crash records shown.

Attachment 3 Page 110 of 420 



Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GATEWAY ST at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 8

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

Attachment 3 Page 111 of 420 



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE

02038 N N N N N N 08/25/2020 16 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  9 STRGHT 17,29

CITY  TU 0 GATEWAY ST            
      

S TRF SIGNAL N DRY REAR    N/A  S -N 000 00

N 2P 06 0 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 5 2.75 -123 2 
29.69

UNK  

02 NONE  9 STOP  

N/A  S -N 011 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

UNK  

00630 N N N N 03/16/2021 16 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 29

NO RPT TU 0 GATEWAY ST            
      

S TRF SIGNAL N DRY REAR    PRVTE S -N 000 00

N 5P 06 0 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 M UNK  026 000 29

N 44 5 2.38 -123 2 
29.68

UNK  

02 NONE  0 STOP  

PRVTE S -N 011 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 56 F OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

03219 N N N N N N 11/11/2021 16 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 013 10

CITY  TH 0 GATEWAY ST            
      

S TRF SIGNAL N DRY REAR    PRVTE S -N 022 00

N 6P 06 0 N DUSK INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  026 000 10

N 44 5 2.09 -123 2 
29.67

UNK  

02 NONE  0 STOP  

PRVTE S -N 022 013 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 59 F OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

03 NONE  0 STOP  

PRVTE S -N 011 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 49 F OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

00124 N N N N N N 01/15/2021 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N Y FOG FIX OBJ   01 NONE  9 TURN-R 054 05

CITY  FR GATEWAY ST            
      

SW TRF SIGNAL N WET FIX     N/A  W -S 000 00

N 11P 09 1 N DARK PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

006900100S00 UNK  

00715 N N N N N N 02/28/2017 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLD S-1STOP   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 07

CITY  TU GATEWAY ST            
      

W TRF SIGNAL N WET REAR    PRVTE W -E 000 00

N 6A 06 1 N DAWN INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 29 M OR-Y 043,026 000 07

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

006900200S00 OR<25

02 NONE  0 STOP  

PRVTE W -E 011 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 46 F OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GATEWAY ST at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 9

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

18 - 22 of   62 Crash records shown.

Attachment 3 Page 112 of 420 



Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GATEWAY ST at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 10

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

Attachment 3 Page 113 of 420 



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE

00500 N N N N N N 02/21/2018 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 27

STATE WE GATEWAY ST            
      

W TRF SIGNAL N DRY REAR    PRVTE W -E 000 00

N 7P 06 1 N DLIT INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 29 F OTH-Y 016,026 038 27,29

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

006900100S00 OR<25

01 NONE  0 STRGHT

PRVTE W -E 000 00

PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJB 01 M 000 000 00

02 NONE  0 STOP  

PRVTE W -E 011 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 56 M OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

01908 N N N N 06/29/2018 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 29

NONE  FR GATEWAY ST            
      

W TRF SIGNAL N DRY REAR    PRVTE W -E 000 00

N 7A 06 1 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 40 M OR-Y 026 000 29

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

006900100S00 OR<25

02 NONE  0 STOP  

PRVTE W -E 012 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 47 M OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

02798 N N N N 09/03/2018 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 29

NONE  MO GATEWAY ST            
      

W TRF SIGNAL N DRY REAR    UNKN W -E 000 00

N 8A 06 1 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 F UNK  026 000 29

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

006900100S00 UNK  

02 NONE  0 STOP  

PRVTE W -E 011 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 30 F OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

01170 N Y Y N N N 04/21/2019 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR S-1TURN   01 NONE  STRGHT 32,08

CITY  SU GATEWAY ST            
      

W TRF SIGNAL N DRY TURN    PRVTE W -E 000 00

N 5P 06 1 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 37 F OR-Y 000 000 00

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.7

006900100S00 OR<25

01 NONE  STRGHT

PRVTE W -E 000 00

PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJB 26 F 000 000 00

01 NONE  STRGHT

PRVTE W -E 000 00

PSNGR CAR 03 PSNG INJB 03 M 000 000 00

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GATEWAY ST at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 11

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

23 - 25 of   62 Crash records shown.

Attachment 3 Page 114 of 420 



Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GATEWAY ST at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 12

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

Attachment 3 Page 115 of 420 



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE
02 NONE  U-TURN

PRVTE W -W 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 27 M OR-Y 051,008 000 32,08

OR<25

00069 N N N N 01/09/2021 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N FOG S-1STOP   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 27,07

CITY  SA GATEWAY ST            
      

W TRF SIGNAL N DRY REAR    PRVTE W -E 000 00

N 6P 06 1 N DLIT INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 50 M OTH-Y 016,043 038 27,07

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

006900200S00 N-RES

02 NONE  0 STOP  

PRVTE W -E 011 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 29 M OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

02 NONE  0 STOP  

PRVTE W -E 011 00

PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJB 31 M 000 000 00

02 NONE  0 STOP  

PRVTE W -E 011 00

PSNGR CAR 03 PSNG INJB 31 M 000 000 00

00022 N N N N N N 01/03/2017 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N RAIN ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  0 STRGHT 013 04

CITY  TU GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N WET ANGL    PRVTE W -E 000 00

N 5A 03 1 N DLIT INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 55 F OR-Y 016,020 000 04

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

006900200S00 OR<25

02 NONE  0 STRGHT

PRVTE N -S 000 013 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 24 M OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

03 NONE  0 STOP  

PRVTE S -N 012 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 49 F OR-Y 000 000 00

OR>25

00442 N N N N N N 02/06/2017 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N RAIN ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  0 STRGHT 04

CITY  MO GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N WET ANGL    PRVTE W -E 000 00

N 7P 03 0 N DLIT INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 26 M SUSP 000 000 00

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

006900100S00 N-RES

01 NONE  0 STRGHT

PRVTE W -E 000 00

PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJC 27 F 000 000 00

02 NONE  0 STRGHT

PRVTE N -S 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 64 M OR-Y 020 000 04

OR<25

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GATEWAY ST at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 13

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

26 - 29 of   62 Crash records shown.

Attachment 3 Page 116 of 420 



Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GATEWAY ST at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 14

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

Attachment 3 Page 117 of 420 



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE

00976 N N N N N N 03/22/2017 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR O-1 L-TURN 01 NONE  0 TURN-L 04

CITY  WE GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N DRY TURN    PRVTE N -E 000 00

N 11A 04 1 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 88 M OR-Y 016,020 000 04

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

006900200S00 OR<25

02 NONE  0 STRGHT

PRVTE S -N 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 52 F SUSP 000 000 00

OR<25

02903 N N N N 08/14/2017 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  0 STRGHT 04

CITY  MO GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N DRY ANGL    PRVTE N -S 000 00

N 8P 03 1 N DUSK INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 35 M OR-Y 020 000 04

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

006900200S00 OR<25

01 NONE  0 STRGHT

PRVTE N -S 000 00

PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJC 09 M 000 000 00

02 NONE  0 STRGHT

PRVTE W -E 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 58 F OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

03906 N N N N Y 10/25/2017 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N FOG ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  0 STRGHT 04

NO RPT WE GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N DRY TURN    PRVTE W -E 000 00

N 9A 03 1 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 61 F OR-Y 000 000 00

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

006900100S00 OR>25

02 NONE  0 TURN-L

PRVTE N -E 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 43 F OR-Y 020 000 04

OR<25

02 NONE  0 TURN-L

PRVTE N -E 000 00

PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJC 63 F 000 000 00

02943 N N N N N N 08/17/2017 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR O-1 L-TURN 01 NONE  0 TURN-L 02

CITY  TH GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N DRY TURN    PRVTE E -S 000 00

N 11P 03 0 N DLIT INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 77 M OR-Y 004,028 000 02

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

006900100S00 OR<25

02 NONE  0 STRGHT

PRVTE W -E 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 16 M OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GATEWAY ST at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 15

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

30 - 33 of   62 Crash records shown.

Attachment 3 Page 118 of 420 



Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GATEWAY ST at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 16

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

Attachment 3 Page 119 of 420 



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE

03449 N N Y N N N 09/27/2017 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  0 STRGHT 04

CITY  WE GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N DRY ANGL    PRVTE N -S 000 00

N 9P 03 1 N DLIT INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 32 F OR-Y 020 000 04

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

006900100S00 OR<25

02 NONE  0 STRGHT

PRVTE W -E 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 40 M NONE 000 000 00

OR<25

02 NONE  0 STRGHT

PRVTE W -E 000 00

PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJC 38 F 000 000 00

02 NONE  0 STRGHT

PRVTE W -E 000 00

PSNGR CAR 03 PSNG NO<5 01 F 000 000 00

03120 N N N N 08/30/2017 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  9 STRGHT 04

NONE  WE GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N DRY TURN    N/A  W -E 000 00

N 9A 04 1 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

006900100S00 UNK  

02 NONE  9 TURN-R

N/A  S -E 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

UNK  

03094 N N N N N N 08/28/2017 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N SMOK S-OTHER   01 NONE  9 TURN-L 08

CITY  MO GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N DRY TURN    N/A  S -W 000 00

N 12P 01 1 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

006900200S00 UNK  

02 NONE  9 TURN-L

N/A  S -W 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

UNK  

00233 N N N N N N 01/25/2018 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR O-1 L-TURN 01 NONE  0 STRGHT 02

CITY  TH GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N WET TURN    PRVTE S -N 000 00

N 7A 04 1 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 33 F OR-Y 000 000 00

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

006900100S00 OR<25

02 NONE  0 TURN-L

PRVTE N -E 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 72 M OR-Y 028,004 000 02

OR>25

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GATEWAY ST at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 17

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

34 - 36 of   62 Crash records shown.

Attachment 3 Page 120 of 420 



Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GATEWAY ST at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 18

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

Attachment 3 Page 121 of 420 



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE
02 NONE  0 TURN-L

PRVTE N -E 000 00

PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJC 71 F 000 000 00

00882 N N N N N N 03/29/2018 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR O-1 L-TURN 01 NONE  0 STRGHT 02

CITY  TH GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N DRY TURN    PRVTE S -N 000 00

N 2P 04 1 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 68 M OR-Y 000 000 00

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

006900200S00 OR<25

02 NONE  0 TURN-L

PRVTE N -E 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 98 M OR-Y 028,004 000 02

OR<25

00084 N N N N 01/09/2018 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N RAIN S-1STOP   01 NONE  9 TURN-R 092 26,29

NONE  TU GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N WET REAR    N/A  N -W 000 00

N 1P 01 1 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 5 2.97 -123 2 
29.67

006900200S00 UNK  

02 NONE  9 TURN-R

N/A  N -W 013 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

UNK  

01765 N N N N 06/16/2018 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N UNK ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  9 STRGHT 02

NO RPT SA GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N UNK ANGL    N/A  E -W 000 00

N 11A 02 1 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 5 2.97 -123 2 
29.68

006900200S00 UNK  

02 NONE  9 STRGHT

N/A  S -N 000 00

SEMI TOW  01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

UNK  

03520 N N N N N N 10/31/2018 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N Y FOG FIX OBJ   01 NONE  9 TURN-L 055 08

CITY  WE GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N DRY FIX     N/A  E -S 000 00

N 6A 03 0 N DLIT PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

006900100S00 UNK  

00313 N N N N 01/21/2019 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  9 TURN-R 04

NONE  MO GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N DRY TURN    N/A  E -N 016 00

N 11A 02 0 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

006900200S00 UNK  

02 NONE  9 STRGHT

N/A  S -N 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

UNK  

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GATEWAY ST at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 19

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

37 - 42 of   62 Crash records shown.

Attachment 3 Page 122 of 420 



Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GATEWAY ST at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 20

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

Attachment 3 Page 123 of 420 



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE

01138 N N N N 04/19/2019 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR O-1 L-TURN 01 NONE  9 STRGHT 02

NO RPT FR GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N DRY TURN    N/A  S -N 000 00

N 10A 04 0 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 5 2.99 -123 2 
29.71

006900100S00 UNK  

02 NONE  9 TURN-L

N/A  N -E 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

UNK  

03247 N N N N N N 10/19/2019 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N RAIN O-1 L-TURN 01 NONE  9 STRGHT 02

CITY  SA GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N WET TURN    N/A  S -N 000 00

N 7P 04 0 N DLIT PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 5 2.97 -123 2 
29.68

006900100S00 UNK  

02 NONE  9 TURN-L

N/A  N -E 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

UNK  

03730 N N N N N N 11/27/2019 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N FOG O-1 L-TURN 01 NONE  9 STRGHT 02

CITY  WE GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N WET TURN    N/A  W -E 000 00

N 9P 03 1 N DLIT PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 5 2.95 -123 2 
29.72

006900100S00 UNK  

02 NONE  9 TURN-L

N/A  E -S 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

UNK  

04141 N N N N 12/31/2019 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N RAIN O-1 L-TURN 01 NONE  9 STRGHT 02

CITY  TU GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N WET TURN    N/A  W -E 000 00

N 6P 03 1 N DLIT PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

006900100S00 UNK  

02 NONE  9 TURN-L

N/A  E -S 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

UNK  

00064 N N N N N N 01/07/2020 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N RAIN O-1 L-TURN 01 NONE  STRGHT 02

CITY  TU GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N WET TURN    PRVTE S -N 000 00

N 6P 04 1 N DLIT INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 39 F OR-Y 000 000 00

N 44 5 2.97 -123 2 
29.71

006900200S00 OR<25

02 NONE  TURN-L

PRVTE N -E 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 72 F OR-Y 004,028 000 02

OR<25

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GATEWAY ST at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 21

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

43 - 47 of   62 Crash records shown.

Attachment 3 Page 124 of 420 



Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GATEWAY ST at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 22

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

Attachment 3 Page 125 of 420 



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE

01266 Y N N N N N 05/30/2020 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N Y RAIN FIX OBJ   01 NONE  STRGHT 054 16,01

CITY  SA GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N WET FIX     PRVTE UN-UN 000 054 00

N 10P 01 1 N DLIT INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 49 M SUSP 047,081 025 16,01

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

006900100S00 UNK  

02009 N N N N N N 08/22/2020 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR ANGL-OTH  01 AMBLN STRGHT 40,02

CITY  SA GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N DRY ANGL    PRVTE W -E 000 00

N 12P 04 1 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 45 M OR-Y 000 000 00

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

006900200S00 OR<25

01 AMBLN STRGHT

PRVTE W -E 000 00

PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJC 22 M 000 000 00

02 NONE  STRGHT

PRVTE S -N 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 43 M OR-Y 028 000 40,02

OR<25

02453 N N N N N N 10/10/2020 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N RAIN O-1 L-TURN 01 NONE  TURN-L 02

CITY  SA GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N WET TURN    PRVTE N -E 000 00

N 11A 04 0 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 79 F OR-Y 028 000 02

N 44 5 2.95 -123 2 
29.7

006900200S00 OR<25

02 NONE  STRGHT

PRVTE S -N 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 40 F OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

00946 N N N N N N 04/07/2020 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLD ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  9 TURN-L 04

CITY  TU GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N DRY TURN    N/A  W -N 000 00

N 1A 03 0 N DLIT PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 5 2.97 -123 2 
29.7

006900100S00 UNK  

02 NONE  9 STRGHT

N/A  N -S 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

UNK  

00023 N N N N N N 12/04/2021 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N RAIN ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  0 STRGHT 22,04

CITY  SA GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N WET ANGL    PRVTE S -N 000 22

N 5A 02 1 N DLIT INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 50 M OR-Y 020 000 04

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

006900100S00 OR<25

02 NONE  0 STRGHT

PRVTE E -W 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 44 M OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GATEWAY ST at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 23

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

48 - 52 of   62 Crash records shown.

Attachment 3 Page 126 of 420 



Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GATEWAY ST at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 24

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

Attachment 3 Page 127 of 420 



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE

00279 N N N N N N 02/05/2021 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N RAIN O-1 L-TURN 01 NONE  0 STRGHT 02,04

STATE FR GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N WET TURN    PRVTE S -N 000 00

N 6A 04 0 N DAWN INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 33 M OR-Y 000 000 00

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

006900100S00 OR<25

02 NONE  0 TURN-L

PRVTE N -E 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 49 F OR-Y 020,028,004 000 02,04

OR<25

01064 Y N N N N N 04/28/2021 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  0 STRGHT 010,087 04,01

CITY  WE GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N DRY ANGL    PRVTE E -W 000 010,087 00

N 7P 02 0 N DUSK INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 21 M OR-Y 020,047 000 04,01

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

006900100S00 OR<25

02 NONE  0 STRGHT

PRVTE S -N 000 087 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 21 M OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

02 NONE  0 STRGHT

PRVTE S -N 000 087 00

PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJB 28 F 000 000 00

00847 Y N N N N N 04/06/2021 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  0 STRGHT 32,30,04

CITY  TU GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N DRY ANGL    PRVTE E -W 000 00

N 6P 02 0 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 27 M OTH-Y 050,020 026 32,30,04

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.71

006900200S00 OR<25

02 NONE  0 STRGHT

PRVTE S -N 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 44 M OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

02777 N Y Y N N N 10/03/2021 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  0 STRGHT 33,04,17

CITY  SU GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N DRY ANGL    PRVTE W -E 000 00

N 6P 04 1 N DLIT INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 27 F SUSP 051,020 028 33,04,17

N 44 5 2.95 -123 2 
29.71

006900100S00 OR<25

02 NONE  0 TURN-L

PRVTE S -W 000 013 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJA 41 F OR-Y 000 022 00

OR>25

02 NONE  0 TURN-L

PRVTE S -W 000 013 00

PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJC 13 M 000 000 00

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GATEWAY ST at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 25

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

53 - 55 of   62 Crash records shown.

Attachment 3 Page 128 of 420 



Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GATEWAY ST at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 26

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

Attachment 3 Page 129 of 420 



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE
02 NONE  0 TURN-L

PRVTE S -W 000 013 00

PSNGR CAR 03 PSNG INJC 11 M 000 000 00

03 NONE  0 TURN-L

PRVTE S -W 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 37 F OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

00582 N N N N N N 03/11/2021 12 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  9 STRGHT 04

CITY  TH GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N DRY ANGL    N/A  N -S 000 00

N 10P 03 0 N DLIT PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

006900100S00 UNK  

02 NONE  9 STRGHT

N/A  W -E 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

UNK  

04155 N N N N N N 11/11/2017 16 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLD O-1 L-TURN 01 NONE  0 TURN-L 087 02

CITY  SA 0 GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N DRY TURN    PRVTE N -E 000 00

N 2P 04 1 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 26 F OR-Y 004,028 000 02

N 44 5 2.96 -123 2 
29.69

OR<25

02 NONE  0 STRGHT

PRVTE S -N 000 087 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 92 M OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

01632 N Y Y N N N 06/04/2019 16 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR O-1 L-TURN 01 NONE  STRGHT 04

CITY  TU 0 GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N DRY TURN    PRVTE S -N 000 00

N 6P 04 1 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 23 F OR-Y 020 000 04

N 44 5 2.75 -123 2 
29.69

OR<25

02 NONE  TURN-L

PRVTE N -E 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 38 F OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

02118 N N N N N N 07/16/2019 16 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR O-1 L-TURN 01 NONE  TURN-L 32,02

CITY  TU 0 GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N DRY TURN    PRVTE N -E 000 00

N 11A 04 1 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 54 M OR-Y 052,028 000 32,02

N 44 5 2.75 -123 2 
29.69

OR<25

02 NONE  STRGHT

PRVTE S -N 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 70 M OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GATEWAY ST at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 27

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

56 - 60 of   62 Crash records shown.

Attachment 3 Page 130 of 420 



Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GATEWAY ST at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 28

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

Attachment 3 Page 131 of 420 



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE

00488 N N N N 02/12/2020 16 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N FOG O-1 L-TURN 01 NONE  9 STRGHT 02

NO RPT WE 0 GATEWAY ST            
      

CN L-GRN-SIG N DRY TURN    N/A  S -N 000 00

N 6A 04 1 N DAWN PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 5 2.75 -123 2 
29.69

UNK  

02 NONE  9 TURN-L

N/A  N -E 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

UNK  

03282 N N N N N N 11/16/2021 16 BELTLINE RD           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLD ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  0 TURN-L 010 04,27

CITY  TU 0 GATEWAY ST            
      

CN TRF SIGNAL N DRY TURN    RENTL S -W 000 00

N 10P 02 0 N DLIT INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 63 M OTH-Y 020,016 038 04,27

N 44 5 2.75 -123 2 
29.68

N-RES

02 NONE  0 TURN-L

PRVTE W -N 000 010 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 24 F OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GATEWAY ST at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 29

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

61 - 62 of   62 Crash records shown.

Attachment 3 Page 132 of 420 



Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

GATEWAY ST at BELTLINE RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 30

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

Attachment 3 Page 133 of 420 



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE

00075 Y N N N N N 01/04/2017 17 MAPLE ISLAND RD       
      

INTER   3-LEG  N Y SNOW FIX OBJ   01 NONE  9 TURN-L 124,050 01

NONE  WE 0 E GAME FARM RD        
      

CN YIELD     Y ICE FIX     N/A  N -E 001 00

N 11A 03 4 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 5 9.51 -123 2 
6.88

UNK  

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

MAPLE ISLAND RD at E GAME FARM RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 1

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

1 - 1 of   1 Crash records shown.

Attachment 3 Page 134 of 420 



Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

MAPLE ISLAND RD at E GAME FARM RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 2

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

Attachment 3 Page 135 of 420 



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE

00075 Y N N N N N 01/04/2017 17 MAPLE ISLAND RD       
      

INTER   3-LEG  N Y SNOW FIX OBJ   01 NONE  9 TURN-L 124,050 01

NONE  WE 0 E GAME FARM RD        
      

CN YIELD     Y ICE FIX     N/A  N -E 001 00

N 11A 03 4 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 5 9.51 -123 2 
6.88

UNK  

03425 N N N N 09/25/2017 17 MAPLE ISLAND RD       
      

INTER   3-LEG  N N CLR ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  0 STRGHT 02

NONE  MO 0 INTERNATIONAL WAY     
      

CN YIELD     Y DRY ANGL    PRVTE W -E 000 00

N 5P 03 3 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 65 M OR-Y 028 000 02

N 44 5 17.85 -123 2 
6.47

OR<25

02 NONE  0 STRGHT

PRVTE N -S 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 23 F OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

00470 N N N N N N 02/25/2021 17 MAPLE ISLAND RD       
      

INTER   3-LEG  N N RAIN ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  9 STRGHT 02

CITY  TH 0 INTERNATIONAL WAY     
      

CN YIELD     Y WET ANGL    N/A  E -W 000 00

N 9A 02 0 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 5 17.85 -123 2 5.8 UNK  

02 NONE  9 STRGHT

N/A  S -N 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

UNK  

00752 N N N N N N 03/03/2017 17 MAPLE ISLAND RD       
      

STRGHT  N Y UNK FIX OBJ   01 NONE  9 STRGHT 040,079 16

NO RPT FR 100 INTERNATIONAL WAY     
      

S (NONE) NONE      N UNK FIX     N/A  S -N 088 00

Y 8P 07 N DUSK PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 5 16.59 -123 2 
6.43

(02) UNK  

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

MAPLE ISLAND RD and Intersectional Crashes at MAPLE ISLAND RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 1

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

1 - 4 of   4 Crash records shown.

Attachment 3 Page 136 of 420 



Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

MAPLE ISLAND RD and Intersectional Crashes at MAPLE ISLAND RD, City of Springfield, Lane County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

06/07/2023

CDS380 Page: 2

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, LANE COUNTY

Attachment 3 Page 137 of 420 



SANDOW ENGINEERING 

PEACEHEALTH REHABILITATION HOSPITAL

A
P
P
E
N

D
IX

 D
T

R
A

FF
IC

 V
O

LU
M

ES

Attachment 3 Page 138 of 420 



1 City:
Date:

Total of All Vehicles

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

SB WB NB EB

7:00 7:15 0 0 0 0 0 4 11 15 16 0 19 35 9 7 0 16 66 0 0 0 0
7:15 7:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 7 19 0 25 44 11 5 0 16 67 0 0 0 0
7:30 7:45 0 0 0 0 0 3 2 5 17 0 30 47 14 7 0 21 73 0 0 0 0
7:45 8:00 0 0 0 0 0 2 7 9 27 0 45 72 13 8 0 21 102 308 0 0 0 0
8:00 8:15 0 0 0 0 0 2 9 11 25 0 33 58 23 8 0 31 100 342 0 0 0 0
8:15 8:30 0 0 0 0 0 2 14 16 29 0 23 52 15 8 0 23 91 366 0 0 1 0
8:30 8:45 0 0 0 0 0 1 10 11 13 0 18 31 20 12 0 32 74 367 1 0 0 1
8:45 9:00 0 0 0 0 0 4 9 13 14 0 31 45 7 10 0 17 75 340 0 0 0 0
9:00 9:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:15 9:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:30 9:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:45 10:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 18 69 160 0 224 112 65 0 648 1 0 1 1

Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach SB WB NB EB
0 0 0 0 0 9 32 41 98 0 131 229 65 31 0 96 366 0 0 1 0

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.75 0.57 0.64 0.84 0.00 0.73 0.80 0.71 0.97 0.00 0.77 0.90
0 0 0 0 0 4 2 0 0 0 1 0

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 13% 2% 0% 0% 0% 3% 0%

Count Period Total

% Trucks
Trucks

PM Peak Hour Count Summary
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound Pedestrians

Peak Volumes
PHF

Hourly 
Volume

Pedestrians15 
Minute 
Volume

Intersection: 1: Game Farm @ Deadmond Ferry Springfield 
Counter: Sandow Engineering Thursday, March 23, 2023

Time Period
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound 

Attachment 3 Page 139 of 420 



#DIV/0! #DIV/0! #DIV/0! %
R T L PED

1 0 0 0 0
% Ped 0 0 R 0.00%

0.00% L 0 9 T 21.95%
32.29% T 31 32 L 78.05%
67.71% R 65 0 Ped %

1 131 0 98
Ped L T R

Adjustment Factor % 57.2% 0.0% 42.8%

SAF 1.000

366326

Northbound

97 229

170

96 129

41

0

0 0

Seasonally Adjusted Peak Hour
Southbound

140 Eastbound

1: Game Farm @ Deadmond Ferry 

W
estboun

d236

Attachment 3 Page 140 of 420 



1: Game Farm @ Deadmond Ferry 
Pedestrians and Cars

Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left
7:00 AM 4 11 16 19 9 7 66

7:15 AM 7 19 25 11 5 67

7:30 AM 3 2 17 30 14 7 73
7:45 AM 2 7 27 45 13 7 101 307
8:00 AM 2 8 24 33 23 8 98 339
8:15 AM 2 11 1 28 23 15 8 87 359
8:30 AM 1 1 9 12 18 20 11 71 357
8:45 AM 4 9 14 30 5 10 72 328
9:00 AM 0 230
9:15 AM 0 143
9:30 AM 0 72
9:45 AM 0 0

Total 1 0 0 0 0 0 18 64 1 157 0 223 0 110 63 0
Peak Hour 1 0 0 0 0 0 9 28 1 96 0 131 0 65 30 0 359 1362

Trucks

Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left
7:00 AM 0
7:15 AM 0
7:30 AM 0
7:45 AM 1 1 1
8:00 AM 1 1 2 3
8:15 AM 3 1 4 7
8:30 AM 1 1 1 3 10
8:45 AM 1 2 3 12
9:00 AM 0 10
9:15 AM 0 6
9:30 AM 0 3
9:45 AM 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 0 5 3 0 1 2 2 0
Peak Hour 0 0 0 0 0 4 2 0 0 0 1 0 7 11

Bikes

Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left
7:00 AM 0 0 0 0
7:15 AM 0 0 0 0
7:30 AM 0 0 0 0
7:45 AM 0 0 0 0
8:00 AM 0 0 0 0
8:15 AM 0 0 0 0
8:30 AM 1 0 0 0 1
8:45 AM 0 0 0 0
9:00 AM 0 0 0 0
9:15 AM 0 0 0 0
9:30 AM 0 0 0 0
9:45 AM 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0
Peak Hour 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Left Right Total Left Right Total Left Right Total Left Right Total
7:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Peak Hour 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

EB

Hourly 
Volume

Time Period Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound SB WB NB

Time Period Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound 15 Minute 
Volume

Time Period
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound 15 Minute 

Volume
Hourly 

Volume

Pedestrians

Time Period NE NW SW SE SB WB NB EB

Attachment 3 Page 141 of 420 



Attachment 3 Page 142 of 420 



City:
Date:

Total of All Vehicles

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

SB WB NB EB

7:00 7:15 1 0 3 4 8 11 0 19 0 0 0 0 0 17 1 18 41 0 0 0 3
7:15 7:30 0 0 2 2 8 8 0 16 0 0 0 0 0 11 5 16 34 0 0 0 0
7:30 7:45 1 0 3 4 14 20 0 34 0 0 0 0 0 23 2 25 63 0 0 0 0
7:45 8:00 2 0 3 5 27 26 0 53 0 0 0 0 0 18 3 21 79 217 0 0 0 0
8:00 8:15 0 0 1 1 13 11 1 25 0 0 0 0 0 29 4 33 59 235 0 0 0 0
8:15 8:30 3 0 6 9 16 15 0 31 0 0 0 0 0 26 7 33 73 274 0 0 0 0
8:30 8:45 0 0 3 3 10 18 1 29 0 0 0 0 0 27 4 31 63 274 0 0 0 2
8:45 9:00 3 0 3 6 4 9 1 14 0 0 0 0 0 18 3 21 41 236 0 0 0 0
9:00 9:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:15 9:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:30 9:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:45 10:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

10 0 24 100 118 3 0 0 0 0 169 29 453 0 0 0 5

Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach SB WB NB EB
6 0 13 19 70 72 1 143 0 0 0 0 0 96 16 112 274 0 0 0 0

0.50 0.00 0.54 0.53 0.65 0.69 0.25 0.67 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.83 0.57 0.85 0.87
0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0% 0% 0% 1% 1% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Trucks

% Trucks

Peak Volumes
PHF

Count Period Total

PM Peak Hour Count Summary
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound Pedestrians

Hourly 
Volume

Pedestrians15 
Minute 
Volume

Intersection: 2: Maple  @ Game Farm Rd Springfield 
Counter: Sandow Engineering Wednesday, March 22, 2023

Time Period
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound 

Attachment 3 Page 143 of 420 



7% 31%

31.58% 0.00% 68.42% %
R T L PED

2 6 0 13 0
28% % Ped 0 70 R 48.95% 52%

14.29% L 16 72 T 50.35%
85.71% T 96 1 L 0.70%

41% 0.00% R 0 0 Ped % 40%
0 0 0 0

Ped L T R

Adjustment Factor % #DIV/0! #DIV/0! #DIV/0!

SAF 1.000 274

0% 0%

1 0

190 252

1

Northbound

112 109

86

Seasonally Adjusted Peak Hour
Southbound

78 Eastbound

2: Maple  @ Game Farm Rd

W
estboun

d

143

105

19

Attachment 3 Page 144 of 420 



2: Maple  @ Game Farm Rd
Pedestrians and Cars

Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru U-Turn Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left
7:00 AM 1 3 8 10 17 1 40

7:15 AM 2 8 7 11 5 33

7:30 AM 1 3 14 20 23 2 63
7:45 AM 2 3 27 26 18 3 79 215
8:00 AM 1 12 11 1 29 4 58 233
8:15 AM 3 6 16 15 26 7 73 273
8:30 AM 3 10 17 1 25 4 60 270
8:45 AM 3 3 4 9 1 17 2 39 230
9:00 AM 0 172
9:15 AM 0 99
9:30 AM 0 39
9:45 AM 0 0

Total 0 10 0 24 0 99 115 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 166 28
Peak Hour 0 6 0 13 0 69 72 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 96 16 273 721

Trucks

Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left
7:00 AM 1 1
7:15 AM 1 1
7:30 AM 0
7:45 AM 0 2
8:00 AM 1 1 2
8:15 AM 0 1
8:30 AM 1 2 3 4
8:45 AM 1 1 2 6
9:00 AM 0 5
9:15 AM 0 5
9:30 AM 0 2
9:45 AM 0 0

Total 0 0 0 1 3 0 0 0 0 0 3 1
Peak Hour 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 5

Bikes

Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left
7:00 AM 3 0 0 0 3
7:15 AM 0 0 0 0
7:30 AM 0 0 0 0
7:45 AM 0 0 0 0
8:00 AM 0 0 0 0
8:15 AM 0 0 0 0
8:30 AM 2 0 0 0 2
8:45 AM 0 0 0 0
9:00 AM 0 0 0 0
9:15 AM 0 0 0 0
9:30 AM 0 0 0 0
9:45 AM 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0
Peak Hour 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0

Left Right Total Left Right Total Left Right Total Left Right Total
7:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Peak Hour 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB NB EB

WB NB EB

Pedestrians

Time Period NE NW SW SE SB

Time Period Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound SB

Eastbound 15 Minute 
Volume

Hourly 
Volume

Time Period Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound 15 Minute 
Volume

Hourly 
Volume

Northbound 
Time Period

Southbound Westbound 

Attachment 3 Page 145 of 420 



City:
Date:

Total of All Vehicles

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

SB WB NB EB

7:00 7:15 1 3 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 7 1 8 1 0 0 1 13 0 0 0 1
7:15 7:30 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 9 11 20 0 0 0 0 22 0 0 0 0
7:30 7:45 0 5 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 9 7 16 0 0 0 0 21 0 0 0 0
7:45 8:00 1 2 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 22 8 30 2 0 1 3 36 92 0 0 0 0
8:00 8:15 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 14 2 16 0 0 0 0 17 96 0 0 0 0
8:15 8:30 0 9 0 9 0 0 0 0 0 19 3 22 0 0 0 0 31 105 0 0 0 0
8:30 8:45 1 5 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 13 1 14 0 0 0 0 20 104 0 0 0 0
8:45 9:00 0 6 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 6 0 0 0 0 12 80 0 0 0 0
9:00 9:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 63 0 0 0 0
9:15 9:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 32 0 0 0 0
9:30 9:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 0 0 0 0
9:45 10:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

3 33 0 0 0 0 0 99 33 3 0 1 172 0 0 0 1

Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach SB WB NB EB
1 17 0 18 0 0 0 0 0 64 20 84 2 0 1 3 105 0 0 0 0

0.25 0.47 0.00 0.50 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.73 0.63 0.70 0.25 0.00 0.25 0.25 0.73
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Trucks

% Trucks

Peak Volumes
PHF

Count Period Total

PM Peak Hour Count Summary
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound Pedestrians

Hourly 
Volume

Pedestrians15 
Minute 
Volume

Intersection: 3: Maple  @  Site Access Springfield 
Counter: Sandow Engineering Wednesday, March 22, 2023

Time Period
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound 

Attachment 3 Page 146 of 420 



17% 62%

5.56% 94.44% 0.00% %
R T L PED

3 1 17 0 0
20% % Ped 0 0 R #DIV/0! 0%

33.33% L 1 0 T #DIV/0!
0.00% T 0 0 L #DIV/0!

3% 66.67% R 2 0 Ped % 0%
0 20 64 0

Ped L T R

Adjustment Factor % 23.8% 76.2% 0.0%

SAF 1.000 105

18% 80%

19 84

24 0

103

Northbound

3 0

65

Seasonally Adjusted Peak Hour
Southbound

21 Eastbound

3: Maple  @  Site Access

W
estboun

d

0

83

18

Attachment 3 Page 147 of 420 



3: Maple  @  Site Access
Pedestrians and Cars

Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left
7:00 AM 1 3 7 1 1 1 13

7:15 AM 2 9 11 22

7:30 AM 5 9 7 21
7:45 AM 1 2 22 8 2 1 36 92
8:00 AM 1 14 2 17 96
8:15 AM 9 19 3 31 105
8:30 AM 1 5 13 1 20 104
8:45 AM 6 6 12 80
9:00 AM 0 63
9:15 AM 0 32
9:30 AM 0 12
9:45 AM 0 0

Total 0 3 33 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 99 33 1 3 0 1
Peak Hour 0 1 17 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 64 20 0 2 0 1 105 293

Trucks

Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left
7:00 AM 0
7:15 AM 0
7:30 AM 0
7:45 AM 0 0
8:00 AM 0 0
8:15 AM 0 0
8:30 AM 0 0
8:45 AM 0 0
9:00 AM 0 0
9:15 AM 0 0
9:30 AM 0 0
9:45 AM 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Peak Hour 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Bikes

Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left
7:00 AM 0 0 0 0
7:15 AM 0 0 0 0
7:30 AM 0 0 0 0
7:45 AM 0 0 0 0
8:00 AM 0 0 0 0
8:15 AM 0 0 0 0
8:30 AM 0 0 0 0
8:45 AM 0 0 0 0
9:00 AM 0 0 0 0
9:15 AM 0 0 0 0
9:30 AM 0 0 0 0
9:45 AM 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Peak Hour 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Left Right Total Left Right Total Left Right Total Left Right Total
7:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Peak Hour 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB NB EB

WB NB EB

Pedestrians

Time Period NE NW SW SE SB

Time Period Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound SB

Eastbound 15 Minute 
Volume

Hourly 
Volume

Time Period Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound 15 Minute 
Volume

Hourly 
Volume

Northbound 
Time Period

Southbound Westbound 

Attachment 3 Page 148 of 420 



City:
Date:

Total of All Vehicles

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

SB WB NB EB

7:00 7:15 6 0 18 24 32 66 0 98 0 0 0 0 0 121 8 129 251 0 0 0 0
7:15 7:30 2 0 16 18 26 109 0 135 0 0 0 0 0 155 10 165 318 1 1 0 0
7:30 7:45 6 0 21 27 37 164 0 201 0 0 0 0 0 184 13 197 425 0 0 0 0
7:45 8:00 6 0 31 37 62 119 0 181 0 0 0 0 0 220 13 233 451 1445 0 0 0 0
8:00 8:15 5 0 30 35 37 86 0 123 0 0 0 0 0 167 14 181 339 1533 1 0 0 0
8:15 8:30 8 0 31 39 50 91 0 141 0 0 0 0 0 192 18 210 390 1605 0 0 0 0
8:30 8:45 8 0 14 22 28 80 0 108 0 0 0 0 0 158 5 163 293 1473 0 0 0 0
8:45 9:00 3 0 16 19 28 91 0 119 0 0 0 0 0 190 15 205 343 1365 1 0 0 0
9:00 9:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1026 0 0 0 0
9:15 9:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 636 0 0 0 0
9:30 9:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 343 0 0 0 0
9:45 10:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

44 0 177 300 806 0 0 0 0 0 1387 96 2810 3 1 0 0

Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach SB WB NB EB
25 0 113 138 186 460 0 646 0 0 0 0 0 763 58 821 1605 1 0 0 0

0.78 0.00 0.91 0.88 0.75 0.70 0.00 0.80 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.87 0.81 0.88 0.89
1 0 4 2 6 0 0 0 0 0 5 3

4% 0% 4% 1% 1% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 1% 5%

15 
Minute 
Volume

Intersection: 4: Game Farm  @ MLK Springfield 
Counter: Sandow Engineering Tuesday, April 18, 2023

Time Period
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound Hourly 

Volume

Pedestrians

PHF

Count Period Total

PM Peak Hour Count Summary
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound Pedestrians

Peak Volumes

Trucks
% Trucks

Attachment 3 Page 149 of 420 



9% 15%

18.12% 0.00% 81.88% %
R T L PED

4 25 0 113 1
30% % Ped 0 186 R 28.79% 40%

7.06% L 58 460 T 71.21%
92.94% T 763 0 L 0.00%

51% 0.00% R 0 0 Ped % 55%
0 0 0 0

Ped L T R

Adjustment Factor % #DIV/0! #DIV/0! #DIV/0!

SAF 1.000 1605

0% 0%

382

138

821 876

244

Seasonally Adjusted Peak Hour
Southbound

485 Eastbound

4: Game Farm  @ MLK

W
estboun

d

646

1306 1522

0

Northbound

0 0

Attachment 3 Page 150 of 420 



4: Game Farm  @ MLK
Pedestrians and Cars

Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left
7:00 AM 6 18 32 65 121 8 250

7:15 AM 1 2 16 1 25 107 155 9 314

7:30 AM 5 21 37 161 184 13 421
7:45 AM 6 30 61 118 220 13 448 1433
8:00 AM 1 5 29 37 84 164 13 332 1515
8:15 AM 8 29 49 91 190 16 383 1584
8:30 AM 8 14 28 78 156 4 288 1451
8:45 AM 1 3 15 28 91 187 14 338 1341
9:00 AM 0 1009
9:15 AM 0 626
9:30 AM 0 338
9:45 AM 0 0

Total 3 43 0 172 1 297 795 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1377 90
Peak Hour 1 24 0 109 0 184 454 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 758 55 0 1584 4532

Trucks

Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left
7:00 AM 1 1
7:15 AM 1 2 1 4
7:30 AM 1 3 4
7:45 AM 1 1 1 3 12
8:00 AM 1 2 3 1 7 18
8:15 AM 2 1 2 2 7 21
8:30 AM 2 2 1 5 22
8:45 AM 1 3 1 5 24
9:00 AM 0 17
9:15 AM 0 10
9:30 AM 0 5
9:45 AM 0 0

Total 1 0 5 3 11 0 0 0 0 0 10 6
Peak Hour 1 0 4 2 6 0 0 0 0 0 5 3 21 51

Bikes

Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left
7:00 AM 0 0 0 0
7:15 AM 0 0 0 0
7:30 AM 0 0 0 0
7:45 AM 0 0 0 0
8:00 AM 0 0 0 0
8:15 AM 0 0 0 0
8:30 AM 0 0 0 0
8:45 AM 0 0 0 0
9:00 AM 0 0 0 0
9:15 AM 0 0 0 0
9:30 AM 0 0 0 0
9:45 AM 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Peak Hour 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Left Right Total Left Right Total Left Right Total Left Right Total
7:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Peak Hour 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Time Period
Southbound Westbound Hourly 

Volume

Time Period Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound 15 Minute 
Volume

Hourly 
Volume

Northbound 

Northbound Eastbound SB

Eastbound 15 Minute 
Volume

WB NB EB

WB NB EB

Pedestrians

Time Period NE NW SW SE SB

Time Period Southbound Westbound

Attachment 3 Page 151 of 420 



City:
Date:

Total of All Vehicles

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

SB WB NB EB

7:00 7:15 0 37 8 45 1 1 3 5 23 75 5 103 3 0 1 4 157 1 0 0 0
7:15 7:30 0 77 15 92 4 0 3 7 34 92 4 130 6 1 1 8 237 0 0 0 0
7:30 7:45 0 94 14 108 13 1 8 22 54 120 8 182 5 0 0 5 317 0 0 1 0
7:45 8:00 0 76 16 92 10 0 7 17 61 162 9 232 4 0 0 4 345 1056 0 1 0 0
8:00 8:15 3 86 14 103 16 1 8 25 31 132 7 170 3 1 0 4 302 1201 1 1 1 0
8:15 8:30 3 90 18 111 14 0 6 20 31 135 7 173 5 2 0 7 311 1275 0 0 1 0
8:30 8:45 1 76 16 93 10 1 7 18 23 110 5 138 8 0 3 11 260 1218 1 0 0 0
8:45 9:00 0 89 13 102 9 1 11 21 16 113 4 133 4 1 1 6 262 1135 0 1 1 0
9:00 9:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 833 0 0 0 0
9:15 9:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 522 0 0 0 0
9:30 9:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 262 0 0 0 0
9:45 10:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

7 625 114 77 5 53 273 939 49 38 5 6 2191 3 3 4 0

Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach SB WB NB EB
6 346 62 414 53 2 29 84 177 549 31 757 17 3 0 20 1275 1 2 3 0

0.50 0.92 0.86 0.93 0.83 0.50 0.91 0.84 0.73 0.85 0.86 0.82 0.85 0.38 0.00 0.71 0.92
1 17 0 1 0 1 0 16 1 2 0 0

17% 5% 0% 2% 0% 3% 0% 3% 3% 12% 0% 0%

15 
Minute 
Volume

Intersection: 5: Gateway  @ Game Farm Rd Springfield 
Counter: Sandow Engineering Thursday, April 27, 2023

Time Period
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound Hourly 

Volume

Pedestrians

PHF

Count Period Total

PM Peak Hour Count Summary
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound Pedestrians

Peak Volumes

Trucks
% Trucks

Attachment 3 Page 152 of 420 



32% 47%

1.45% 83.57% 14.98% %
R T L PED

5 6 346 62 1
3% % Ped 0 53 R 63.10% 7%

0.00% L 0 2 T 2.38%
15.00% T 3 29 L 34.52%

2% 85.00% R 17 2 Ped % 19%
3 31 549 177

Ped L T R

Adjustment Factor % 4.1% 72.5% 23.4%

SAF 1.000 1275

31% 59%

1016

414

20 242

602

Seasonally Adjusted Peak Hour
Southbound

39 Eastbound

5: Gateway  @ Game Farm Rd

W
estboun

d

84

59 326

1149

Northbound

392 757

Attachment 3 Page 153 of 420 



5: Gateway  @ Game Farm Rd
Pedestrians and Cars

Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left
7:00 AM 36 8 1 1 3 23 74 5 2 1 154

7:15 AM 72 15 4 3 34 92 4 6 1 1 232

7:30 AM 93 14 13 1 7 54 114 8 4 308
7:45 AM 73 16 1 10 7 61 160 9 3 339 1033
8:00 AM 1 2 81 14 1 16 1 8 1 31 128 7 3 1 292 1171
8:15 AM 3 82 18 13 6 1 31 130 6 5 2 296 1235
8:30 AM 1 74 15 10 1 7 23 107 5 8 3 254 1181
8:45 AM 86 13 9 11 15 107 4 4 1 1 251 1093
9:00 AM 0 801
9:15 AM 0 505
9:30 AM 0 251
9:45 AM 0 0

Total 1 6 597 113 2 76 4 52 2 272 912 48 0 35 5 6
Peak Hour 1 5 329 62 2 52 2 28 2 177 532 30 0 15 3 0 0 1235 3439

Trucks

Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left
7:00 AM 1 1 2
7:15 AM 5 5
7:30 AM 1 1 5 1 8
7:45 AM 3 2 1 6 21
8:00 AM 1 5 4 10 29
8:15 AM 8 1 5 1 15 39
8:30 AM 2 3 5 36
8:45 AM 3 1 5 9 39
9:00 AM 0 29
9:15 AM 0 14
9:30 AM 0 9
9:45 AM 0 0

Total 1 27 0 1 0 1 1 25 1 3 0 0
Peak Hour 1 17 0 1 0 1 0 16 1 2 0 0 39 89

Bikes

Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left
7:00 AM 1 1 0 0 0
7:15 AM 0 0 0 0
7:30 AM 1 0 0 1 0
7:45 AM 0 0 0 0
8:00 AM 0 0 0 0
8:15 AM 0 0 0 0
8:30 AM 1 1 0 0 0
8:45 AM 1 1 0 1 1 0
9:00 AM 0 0 0 0
9:15 AM 0 0 0 0
9:30 AM 0 0 0 0
9:45 AM 0 0 0 0

Total 0 1 1 0 1 0 0 2 0 0 0 0
Peak Hour 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0

Left Right Total Left Right Total Left Right Total Left Right Total
7:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Peak Hour 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Time Period
Southbound Westbound Hourly 

Volume

Time Period Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound 15 Minute 
Volume

Hourly 
Volume

Northbound 

Northbound Eastbound SB

Eastbound 15 Minute 
Volume

WB NB EB

WB NB EB

Pedestrians

Time Period NE NW SW SE SB

Time Period Southbound Westbound

Attachment 3 Page 154 of 420 



City:
Date:

Total of All Vehicles

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

SB WB NB EB

7:00 7:15 31 19 15 65 20 52 11 83 19 36 75 130 85 122 54 261 539 1 0 2 0
7:15 7:30 32 26 26 84 22 71 12 105 19 35 54 108 91 165 126 382 679 0 0 0 0
7:30 7:45 41 34 27 102 51 125 8 184 15 50 89 154 105 179 111 395 835 0 0 0 0
7:45 8:00 60 30 31 121 20 102 12 134 16 66 89 171 126 187 150 463 889 2942 0 2 0 0
8:00 8:15 50 31 16 97 23 81 9 113 11 50 98 159 152 156 102 410 779 3182 0 0 1 0
8:15 8:30 52 55 47 154 23 64 8 95 10 43 65 118 119 234 79 432 799 3302 0 0 1 0
8:30 8:45 43 28 19 90 16 69 18 103 22 40 84 146 150 154 111 415 754 3221 0 0 0 0
8:45 9:00 45 37 17 99 19 71 18 108 13 34 62 109 132 138 80 350 666 2998 0 0 0 0
9:00 9:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2219 0 0 0 0
9:15 9:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1420 0 0 0 0
9:30 9:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 666 0 0 0 0
9:45 10:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

354 260 198 194 635 96 125 354 616 960 1335 813 5940 1 2 4 0

Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach SB WB NB EB
203 150 121 474 117 372 37 526 52 209 341 602 502 756 442 1700 3302 0 2 2 0
0.85 0.68 0.64 0.77 0.57 0.74 0.77 0.71 0.81 0.79 0.87 0.88 0.83 0.81 0.74 0.92 0.93
10 5 0 2 5 0 1 2 7 9 7 3
5% 3% 0% 2% 1% 0% 2% 1% 2% 2% 1% 1%

15 
Minute 
Volume

Intersection: 6: Gateway  @ Beltline Springfield 
Counter: Sandow Engineering Saturday, January 0, 1900

Time Period
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound Hourly 

Volume

Pedestrians

PHF

Count Period Total

PM Peak Hour Count Summary
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound Pedestrians

Peak Volumes

Trucks
% Trucks

Attachment 3 Page 155 of 420 



14% 23%

42.83% 31.65% 25.53% %
R T L PED

6 203 150 121 0
28% % Ped 0 117 R 22.24% 16%

26.00% L 442 372 T 70.72%
44.47% T 756 37 L 7.03%

51% 29.53% R 502 2 Ped % 28%
2 341 209 52

Ped L T R

Adjustment Factor % 56.6% 34.7% 8.6%

SAF 1.000 3302

21% 18%

1242

474

1700 929

768

Seasonally Adjusted Peak Hour
Southbound

916 Eastbound

6: Gateway  @ Beltline

W
estboun

d

526

2616 1455

1291

Northbound

689 602

Attachment 3 Page 156 of 420 



6: Gateway  @ Beltline
Pedestrians and Cars

Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left
7:00 AM 1 29 19 15 18 52 11 1 19 34 72 83 121 54 527

7:15 AM 29 25 26 21 70 12 18 34 54 90 163 125 667

7:30 AM 39 33 27 51 124 8 15 49 86 104 177 109 822
7:45 AM 59 30 31 18 98 12 16 66 86 122 185 150 873 2889
8:00 AM 46 29 16 23 80 9 10 48 97 149 154 102 763 3125
8:15 AM 49 53 47 23 63 8 10 42 65 118 233 78 789 3247
8:30 AM 40 27 19 16 68 18 21 38 83 148 153 111 742 3167
8:45 AM 45 36 17 19 69 18 13 33 61 128 137 74 650 2944
9:00 AM 0 2181
9:15 AM 0 1392
9:30 AM 0 650
9:45 AM 0 0

Total 1 336 252 198 0 189 624 96 1 122 344 604 0 942 1323 803
Peak Hour 0 193 145 121 0 115 365 37 0 51 205 334 0 493 749 439 0 3247 9261

Trucks

Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left
7:00 AM 2 2 1 3 2 1 11
7:15 AM 3 1 1 1 1 1 1 2 1 12
7:30 AM 2 1 1 1 3 1 2 2 13
7:45 AM 1 2 2 3 4 2 14 50
8:00 AM 4 2 1 1 1 1 3 2 15 54
8:15 AM 3 2 1 1 1 1 9 51
8:30 AM 3 1 1 1 2 1 2 1 12 50
8:45 AM 1 2 1 1 4 1 6 16 52
9:00 AM 0 37
9:15 AM 0 28
9:30 AM 0 16
9:45 AM 0 0

Total 18 8 0 5 9 0 3 7 12 18 12 10
Peak Hour 10 5 0 2 5 0 1 2 7 9 7 3 51 155

Bikes

Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left
7:00 AM 1 0 0 1 0
7:15 AM 0 0 0 0
7:30 AM 0 0 0 0
7:45 AM 2 0 2 0 0
8:00 AM 1 0 0 1 0
8:15 AM 1 0 0 1 0
8:30 AM 0 0 0 0
8:45 AM 0 0 0 0
9:00 AM 0 0 0 0
9:15 AM 0 0 0 0
9:30 AM 0 0 0 0
9:45 AM 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 3 0 0 0 0
Peak Hour 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 0

Left Right Total Left Right Total Left Right Total Left Right Total
7:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Peak Hour 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Time Period
Southbound Westbound Hourly 

Volume

Time Period Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound 15 Minute 
Volume

Hourly 
Volume

Northbound 

Northbound Eastbound SB

Eastbound 15 Minute 
Volume

WB NB EB

WB NB EB

Pedestrians

Time Period NE NW SW SE SB

Time Period Southbound Westbound

Attachment 3 Page 157 of 420 



Global Peak Hour

1: Game Farm @ 
Deadmond Ferry 

2: Maple  @ Game 
Farm Rd

3: Maple  @  Site 
Access

4: Game Farm  @ 
MLK

5: Gateway  @ Game 
Farm Rd 6: Gateway  @ Beltline

7:00 AM 8:00 AM 308                    217                  92                    1,445                1,056                2,942                       6060
7:15 AM 8:15 AM 342                    235                  96                    1,533                1,201                3,182                       6589
7:30 AM 8:30 AM 366                    274                  105                  1,605                1,275                3,302                       6927
7:45 AM 8:45 AM 367                    274                  104                  1,473                1,218                3,221                       6657

367 274 105 1605 1275 3302 6927

Peak Hour 7:30 AM
7:45 AM
8:00 AM
8:15 AM

Intersections

Total Time Period Volume Volume VolumeVolume Volume Volume

Attachment 3 Page 158 of 420 



2023 Base 

18 67
R T L PED

1 1 17 0 0
Ped 0 0 R 0

21 L 1 0 T
T 0 0 L 0

3 R 2 0 Ped
0 20 66 0

Ped L T R
19 86

485 88 602 19 86 0 0
R T L PED R T L PED R T L PED

1 6 417 62 1 1 6 0 13 0 1 0 0 0 0
Ped 0 53 R 90 Ped 0 70 R 143 Ped 0 0 R 41

39 L 0 2 T 78 L 16 72 T 143 L 0 9 T
T 3 35 L 242 T 96 1 U turn 109 T 31 32 L 129

23 R 20 2 Ped 112 R 0 0 Ped 110 110 R 79 0 Ped
2 31 549 177 0 0 0 0 1 134 0 98

U Turn L T R Ped L T R Ped L T R
474 472 757 1 0 111 232
474 768 138 244

R T L PED R T L PED
1 203 150 121 0 1 25 0 113 1

Ped 0 117 R 526 Ped 0 186 R 646
916 L 442 372 T 485 L 58 460 T

T 756 37 L 929 T 763 0 L 876
1700 R 502 2 U Turn 931 821 R 0 0 Ped

2 341 209 52 0 0 0 0
Ped L T R Ped L T R

689 602 0 0

`

3: Maple  @  Site Access

1: Game Farm @ Deadmond 
Ferry 2: Maple  @ Game Farm Rd

6: Gateway  @ Beltline

5: Gateway  @ Game Farm 
Rd

4: Game Farm  @ MLK

Attachment 3 Page 159 of 420 



2025 Background

19 70 EDIT Highlighted 
R T L PED

1 1 18 0 0 Base Year 2023
Ped 0 0 R 0 Target Year 2025

21.84 L 1 0 T Years of Growth 2
T 0 0 L 0 Growth  Rate  Per  Year 0 020

3.12 R 2 0 Ped Growth Factor 1.04
0 21 69 0

Ped L T R
20 89

504 626 20 89 0 0
R T L PED R T L PED R T L PED

1 6 434 64 1 1 6 0 14 0 1 0 0 0 0
Ped 0 55 R 94 Ped 0 73 R 149 Ped 0 0 R 43

40.56 L 0 2 T 81 L 17 75 T 148.7 L 0 9 T
T 3 36 L 252 T 100 1 U turn 113 T 32 33 L 134

23.92 R 21 2 Ped 116 R 0 0 Ped 114 114.4 R 82 0 Ped
2 32 571 184 0 0 0 0 1 139 0 102

U Turn L T R Ped L T R Ped L T R
493 491 787 1 0 115 241
493 799 144 254

R T L PED R T L PED
1 211 156 126 0 1 26 0 118 1

Ped 0 122 R 547 Ped 0 193 R 672
953 L 460 387 T 504.4 L 60 478 T

T 786 38 L 966 T 794 0 L 911
1768 R 522 2 U Turn 968 853 8 R 0 0 Ped

2 355 217 54 0 0 0 0
Ped L T R Ped L T R

717 626 0 0

1: Game Farm @ Deadmond 
Ferry 2: Maple  @ Game Farm Rd

3: Maple  @  Site Access

5: Gateway  @ Game Farm 
Rd

6: Gateway  @ Beltline 4: Game Farm  @ MLK

Attachment 3 Page 160 of 420 



2030 Background

21 76
R T L PED EDIT Highlighted 

1 1 19 0 0
Ped 0 0 R 0 Base Year 2023

23.94 L 1 0 T Target Year 2030
T 0 0 L 0 Years of Growth 7

3.42 R 2 0 Ped Growth  Rate  Per  Year 0.020
0 23 75 0 Growth Factor 1.14

Ped L T R
22 98

553 686 22 98 0 0
R T L PED R T L PED R T L PED

1 7 475 71 1 1 7 0 15 0 1 0 0 0 0
Ped 0 60 R 103 Ped 0 80 R 163 Ped 0 0 R 47

44.46 L 0 2 T 89 L 18 82 T 163 L 0 10 T
T 3 40 L 276 T 109 1 U turn 124 T 35 36 L 147

26.22 R 23 2 Ped 128 R 0 0 Ped 125 125.4 R 90 0 Ped
2 35 626 202 0 0 0 0 1 153 0 112

U Turn L T R Ped L T R Ped L T R
540 538 863 1 0 127 264
540 876 157 278

R T L PED R T L PED
1 231 171 138 0 1 29 0 129 1

Ped 0 133 R 600 Ped 0 212 R 736
1044 L 504 424 T 552.9 L 66 524 T

T 862 42 L 1059 T 870 0 L 999
1938 R 572 2 U Turn 1845 935 9 R 0 0 Ped

2 389 238 59 0 0 0 0
Ped L T R Ped L T R

785 686 0 0

4: Game Farm  @ MLK

1: Game Farm @ Deadmond 
Ferry 2: Maple  @ Game Farm Rd

3: Maple  @  Site Access

5: Gateway  @ Game Farm 
Rd

6: Gateway  @ Beltline

Attachment 3 Page 161 of 420 



1 City:
Date:

Total of All Vehicles

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

SB WB NB EB

16:00 16:15 0 0 0 0 0 9 12 21 2 0 35 37 49 3 0 52 110 0 0 0 0
16:15 16:30 0 0 0 0 0 5 16 21 11 0 18 29 39 1 0 40 90 0 0 0 0
16:30 16:45 0 0 0 0 0 6 27 33 6 0 28 34 42 9 0 51 118 0 0 0 0
16:45 17:00 0 0 0 0 0 1 15 16 7 0 25 32 46 5 0 51 99 417 0 0 0 0
17:00 17:15 0 0 0 0 0 6 27 33 7 0 30 37 73 4 0 77 147 454 0 0 0 0
17:15 17:30 0 0 0 0 0 6 14 20 12 0 29 41 46 5 0 51 112 476 0 0 0 0
17:30 17:45 0 0 0 0 0 5 32 37 4 0 18 22 28 3 0 31 90 448 0 1 0 1
17:45 18:00 0 0 0 0 0 4 14 18 4 0 13 17 33 0 0 33 68 417 0 0 0 0
18:00 18:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 270 0 0 0 0
18:15 18:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 158 0 0 0 0
18:30 18:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 68 0 0 0 0
18:45 19:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 42 157 53 0 196 356 30 0 834 0 1 0 1

Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach SB WB NB EB
0 0 0 0 0 19 83 102 32 0 112 144 207 23 0 230 476 0 0 0 0

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.79 0.77 0.77 0.67 0.00 0.93 0.88 0.71 0.64 0.00 0.75 0.81
0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 1% 0% 0% 1% 0% 0% 0%

Count Period Total

% Trucks
Trucks

PM Peak Hour Count Summary
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound Pedestrians

Peak Volumes
PHF

Hourly 
Volume

Pedestrians15 
Minute 
Volume

Intersection: 1: Game Farm @ Deadmond Ferry Springfield 
Counter: Sandow Engineering Wednesday, March 22, 2023

Time Period
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound 

Attachment 3 Page 162 of 420 



#DIV/0! #DIV/0! #DIV/0! %
R T L PED

1 0 0 0 0
% Ped 0 0 R 0.00%

0.00% L 0 19 T 18.63%
10.00% T 23 83 L 81.37%
90.00% R 207 0 Ped %

0 112 0 32
Ped L T R

Adjustment Factor % 77.8% 0.0% 22.2%

SAF 1.000

476434

Northbound

290 144

157

230 55

102

0

0 0

Seasonally Adjusted Peak Hour
Southbound

131 Eastbound

1: Game Farm @ Deadmond Ferry 

W
estboun

d361

Attachment 3 Page 163 of 420 



1: Game Farm @ Deadmond Ferry 
Pedestrians and Cars

Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left
4:00 PM 8 12 2 35 49 3 109

4:15 PM 5 16 11 18 39 1 90

4:30 PM 6 26 6 28 42 9 117
4:45 PM 1 15 7 25 46 5 99 415
5:00 PM 6 27 7 30 73 4 147 453
5:15 PM 6 14 12 28 46 5 111 474
5:30 PM 5 32 4 18 28 2 89 446
5:45 PM 4 14 4 13 33 68 415
6:00 PM 0 268
6:15 PM 0 157
6:30 PM 0 68
6:45 PM 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 41 156 0 53 0 195 0 356 29 0
Peak Hour 0 0 0 0 0 0 19 82 0 32 0 111 0 207 23 0 474 1788

Trucks

Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left
4:00 PM 1 1
4:15 PM 0
4:30 PM 1 1
4:45 PM 0 2
5:00 PM 0 1
5:15 PM 1 1 2
5:30 PM 1 1 2
5:45 PM 0 2
6:00 PM 0 2
6:15 PM 0 1
6:30 PM 0 0
6:45 PM 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 1 0
Peak Hour 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 2 5

Bikes

Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left
4:00 PM 0 0 0 0
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0
4:45 PM 0 0 0 0
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0
5:15 PM 0 0 0 0
5:30 PM 1 1 0 1 0 1
5:45 PM 0 0 0 0
6:00 PM 0 0 0 0
6:15 PM 0 0 0 0
6:30 PM 0 0 0 0
6:45 PM 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0
Peak Hour 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Left Right Total Left Right Total Left Right Total Left Right Total
4:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Peak Hour 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

EB

Hourly 
Volume

Time Period Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound SB WB NB

Time Period Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound 15 Minute 
Volume

Time Period
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound 15 Minute 

Volume
Hourly 

Volume

Pedestrians

Time Period NE NW SW SE SB WB NB EB

Attachment 3 Page 164 of 420 



Attachment 3 Page 165 of 420 



City:
Date:

Total of All Vehicles

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

SB WB NB EB

16:00 16:15 5 0 14 19 5 22 0 27 0 0 0 0 0 40 1 41 87 0 0 0 0
16:15 16:30 1 0 14 15 10 21 0 31 0 0 0 0 0 23 1 24 70 0 0 0 0
16:30 16:45 5 0 13 18 4 25 1 30 0 0 0 0 0 35 1 36 84 0 0 0 0
16:45 17:00 4 0 12 16 7 33 0 40 0 0 0 0 0 44 1 45 101 342 0 1 0 0
17:00 17:15 13 0 40 53 7 33 0 40 0 0 0 0 0 54 1 55 148 403 0 1 0 0
17:15 17:30 5 0 12 17 5 30 0 35 0 0 0 0 0 36 2 38 90 423 0 2 0 0
17:30 17:45 6 0 7 13 7 18 0 25 0 0 0 0 0 15 0 15 53 392 0 0 0 1
17:45 18:00 2 0 4 6 9 12 0 21 0 0 1 1 0 23 2 25 53 344 0 0 0 0
18:00 18:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 196 0 0 0 0
18:15 18:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 106 0 0 0 0
18:30 18:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 53 0 0 0 0
18:45 19:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

41 0 116 54 194 1 0 0 1 0 270 9 686 0 4 0 1

Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach SB WB NB EB
27 0 77 104 23 121 1 145 0 0 0 0 0 169 5 174 423 0 4 0 0

0.52 0.00 0.48 0.49 0.82 0.92 0.25 0.91 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.78 0.63 0.79 0.71
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Trucks

% Trucks

Peak Volumes
PHF

Count Period Total

PM Peak Hour Count Summary
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound Pedestrians

Hourly 
Volume

Pedestrians15 
Minute 
Volume

Intersection: 2: Maple  @ Game Farm Springfield 
Counter: Sandow Engineering Tuesday, March 21, 2023

Time Period
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound 

Attachment 3 Page 166 of 420 



25% 7%

25.96% 0.00% 74.04% %
R T L PED

2 27 0 77 0
35% % Ped 0 23 R 15.86% 34%

2.87% L 5 121 T 83.45%
97.13% T 169 1 L 0.69%

41% 0.00% R 0 4 Ped % 58%
0 0 0 0

Ped L T R

Adjustment Factor % #DIV/0! #DIV/0! #DIV/0!

SAF 1.000 423

0% 0%

1 0

322 391

1

Northbound

174 246

28

Seasonally Adjusted Peak Hour
Southbound

148 Eastbound

2: Maple  @ Game Farm 

W
estboun

d

145

132

104

Attachment 3 Page 167 of 420 



2: Maple  @ Game Farm 
Pedestrians and Cars

Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru U-Turn Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left
4:00 PM 5 14 5 21 40 1 86

4:15 PM 1 14 10 21 23 1 70

4:30 PM 5 13 4 25 1 35 1 84
4:45 PM 4 12 7 32 44 1 100 340
5:00 PM 13 40 6 33 54 1 147 401
5:15 PM 5 12 1 5 29 36 2 89 420
5:30 PM 6 7 7 18 1 15 53 389
5:45 PM 2 4 9 12 1 23 2 53 342
6:00 PM 0 195
6:15 PM 0 106
6:30 PM 0 53
6:45 PM 0 0

Total 0 41 0 116 1 53 191 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 270 9
Peak Hour 0 27 0 77 1 22 119 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 169 5 420 1161

Trucks

Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left
4:00 PM 1 1
4:15 PM 0
4:30 PM 0
4:45 PM 0 1
5:00 PM 0 0
5:15 PM 0 0
5:30 PM 0 0
5:45 PM 0 0
6:00 PM 0 0
6:15 PM 0 0
6:30 PM 0 0
6:45 PM 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Peak Hour 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Bikes

Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left
4:00 PM 0 0 0 0
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0
4:45 PM 1 0 1 0 0
5:00 PM 1 0 1 0 0
5:15 PM 1 0 1 0 0
5:30 PM 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 0 0 0 0
6:00 PM 0 0 0 0
6:15 PM 0 0 0 0
6:30 PM 0 0 0 0
6:45 PM 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Peak Hour 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0

Left Right Total Left Right Total Left Right Total Left Right Total
4:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Peak Hour 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB NB EB

WB NB EB

Pedestrians

Time Period NE NW SW SE SB

Time Period Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound SB

Eastbound 15 Minute 
Volume

Hourly 
Volume

Time Period Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound 15 Minute 
Volume

Hourly 
Volume

Northbound 
Time Period

Southbound Westbound 

Attachment 3 Page 168 of 420 



City:
Date:

Total of All Vehicles

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

SB WB NB EB

16:00 16:15 0 14 0 14 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 6 6 0 1 7 27 0 0 0 0
16:15 16:30 0 14 0 14 0 0 0 0 0 10 1 11 1 0 0 1 26 0 0 0 0
16:30 16:45 0 15 0 15 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 5 4 0 3 7 27 0 0 1 0
16:45 17:00 0 11 0 11 0 0 0 0 0 9 0 9 5 0 1 6 26 106 0 0 0 1
17:00 17:15 0 32 0 32 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 6 20 0 1 21 59 138 1 0 1 0
17:15 17:30 1 16 0 17 0 0 0 0 0 9 0 9 1 0 0 1 27 139 0 0 1 0
17:30 17:45 0 12 0 12 0 0 0 0 0 7 0 7 1 0 1 2 21 133 0 0 0 0
17:45 18:00 0 4 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 9 0 9 2 0 0 2 15 122 0 0 1 0
18:00 18:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 63 0 0 0 0
18:15 18:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 36 0 0 0 0
18:30 18:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 15 0 0 0 0
18:45 19:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1 118 0 0 0 0 0 61 1 40 0 7 228 1 0 4 1

Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach SB WB NB EB
1 74 0 75 0 0 0 0 0 29 0 29 30 0 5 35 139 1 0 3 1

0.25 0.58 0.00 0.59 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.81 0.00 0.81 0.38 0.00 0.42 0.42 0.59
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Trucks

% Trucks

Peak Volumes
PHF

Count Period Total

PM Peak Hour Count Summary
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound Pedestrians

Hourly 
Volume

Pedestrians15 
Minute 
Volume

Intersection: 3: Maple  @  Site Access Springfield 
Counter: Sandow Engineering Tuesday, March 21, 2023

Time Period
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound 

Attachment 3 Page 169 of 420 



54% 24%

1.33% 98.67% 0.00% %
R T L PED

3 1 74 0 1
1% % Ped 1 0 R #DIV/0! 0%

14.29% L 5 0 T #DIV/0!
0.00% T 0 0 L #DIV/0!

25% 85.71% R 30 0 Ped % 0%
3 0 29 0

Ped L T R

Adjustment Factor % 0.0% 100.0% 0.0%

SAF 1.000 139

75% 21%

104 29

36 0

133

Northbound

35 0

34

Seasonally Adjusted Peak Hour
Southbound

1 Eastbound

3: Maple  @  Site Access

W
estboun

d

0

109

75

Attachment 3 Page 170 of 420 



3: Maple  @  Site Access
Pedestrians and Cars

Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left
4:00 PM 14 6 6 1 27

4:15 PM 14 10 1 1 26

4:30 PM 15 1 5 4 3 27
4:45 PM 11 9 1 5 1 26 106
5:00 PM 1 32 5 20 1 58 137
5:15 PM 1 16 1 9 1 27 138
5:30 PM 12 7 1 1 21 132
5:45 PM 4 1 9 2 15 121
6:00 PM 0 63
6:15 PM 0 36
6:30 PM 0 15
6:45 PM 0 0

Total 1 1 118 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 60 1 1 40 0 7
Peak Hour 1 1 74 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 28 0 1 30 0 5 138 381

Trucks

Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left
4:00 PM 0
4:15 PM 0
4:30 PM 0
4:45 PM 0 0
5:00 PM 0 0
5:15 PM 0 0
5:30 PM 0 0
5:45 PM 0 0
6:00 PM 0 0
6:15 PM 0 0
6:30 PM 0 0
6:45 PM 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Peak Hour 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Bikes

Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left
4:00 PM 0 0 0 0
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0
4:45 PM 0 0 0 0
5:00 PM 1 0 0 1 0
5:15 PM 0 0 0 0
5:30 PM 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 0 0 0 0
6:00 PM 0 0 0 0
6:15 PM 0 0 0 0
6:30 PM 0 0 0 0
6:45 PM 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0
Peak Hour 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0

Left Right Total Left Right Total Left Right Total Left Right Total
4:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Peak Hour 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB NB EB

WB NB EB

Pedestrians

Time Period NE NW SW SE SB

Time Period Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound SB

Eastbound 15 Minute 
Volume

Hourly 
Volume

Time Period Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound 15 Minute 
Volume

Hourly 
Volume

Northbound 
Time Period

Southbound Westbound 

Attachment 3 Page 171 of 420 



City:
Date:

Total of All Vehicles

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

SB WB NB EB

16:00 16:15 8 0 58 66 60 200 0 260 0 0 0 0 0 177 7 184 510 0 0 0 0
16:15 16:30 6 0 40 46 33 178 0 211 0 0 0 0 0 156 3 159 416 1 0 0 0
16:30 16:45 13 0 52 65 23 184 0 207 0 0 0 0 0 152 6 158 430 0 0 0 0
16:45 17:00 12 0 52 64 26 155 0 181 0 0 0 0 0 153 7 160 405 1761 1 0 0 0
17:00 17:15 13 0 78 91 37 215 0 252 0 0 0 0 0 179 5 184 527 1778 0 0 0 0
17:15 17:30 13 0 51 64 23 157 0 180 0 0 0 0 0 197 8 205 449 1811 0 0 0 0
17:30 17:45 10 0 50 60 15 135 0 150 0 0 0 0 0 145 4 149 359 1740 0 0 1 0
17:45 18:00 8 0 33 41 18 118 0 136 0 0 0 0 0 132 8 140 317 1652 0 0 1 0
18:00 18:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1125 0 0 0 0
18:15 18:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 676 0 0 0 0
18:30 18:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 317 0 0 0 0
18:45 19:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

83 0 414 235 1342 0 0 0 0 0 1291 48 3413 2 0 2 0

Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach SB WB NB EB
51 0 233 284 109 711 0 820 0 0 0 0 0 681 26 707 1811 1 0 0 0

0.98 0.00 0.75 0.78 0.74 0.83 0.00 0.81 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.86 0.81 0.86 0.86
0 0 5 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 3 2

0% 0% 2% 1% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 8%
Trucks

% Trucks

Peak Volumes
PHF

Count Period Total

PM Peak Hour Count Summary
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound Pedestrians

Hourly 
Volume

Pedestrians15 
Minute 
Volume

Intersection: 4: Game Farm @ MLK Springfield 
Counter: Sandow Engineering Tuesday, April 18, 2023

Time Period
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound 

Attachment 3 Page 172 of 420 



16% 7%

17.96% 0.00% 82.04% %
R T L PED

4 51 0 233 1
42% % Ped 0 109 R 13.29% 45%

3.68% L 26 711 T 86.71%
96.32% T 681 0 L 0.00%

39% 0.00% R 0 0 Ped % 50%
0 0 0 0

Ped L T R

Adjustment Factor % #DIV/0! #DIV/0! #DIV/0!

SAF 1.000 1811

0% 0%

0 0

1469 1734

0

Northbound

707 914

135

Seasonally Adjusted Peak Hour
Southbound

762 Eastbound

4: Game Farm @ MLK

W
estboun

d

820

419

284

Attachment 3 Page 173 of 420 



4: Game Farm @ MLK
Pedestrians and Cars

Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left
4:00 PM 8 58 60 198 174 7 505

4:15 PM 1 6 39 33 178 152 3 411

4:30 PM 13 52 23 184 152 5 429
4:45 PM 1 12 52 26 155 153 6 404 1749
5:00 PM 13 73 36 214 176 5 517 1761
5:15 PM 13 51 23 156 197 8 448 1798
5:30 PM 10 50 15 135 1 145 4 359 1728
5:45 PM 8 33 18 118 1 132 7 316 1640
6:00 PM 0 1123
6:15 PM 0 675
6:30 PM 0 316
6:45 PM 0 0

Total 2 83 0 408 0 234 1338 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 1281 45
Peak Hour 1 51 0 228 0 108 709 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 678 24 1798 5308

Trucks

Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left
4:00 PM 2 3 5
4:15 PM 1 4 5
4:30 PM 1 1
4:45 PM 1 1 12
5:00 PM 5 1 1 3 10 17
5:15 PM 1 1 13
5:30 PM 0 12
5:45 PM 1 1 12
6:00 PM 0 2
6:15 PM 0 1
6:30 PM 0 1
6:45 PM 0 0

Total 0 0 6 1 4 0 0 0 0 0 10 3
Peak Hour 0 0 5 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 3 2 13 42

Bikes

Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left
4:00 PM 0 0 0 0
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0
4:45 PM 0 0 0 0
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0
5:15 PM 0 0 0 0
5:30 PM 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 0 0 0 0
6:00 PM 0 0 0 0
6:15 PM 0 0 0 0
6:30 PM 0 0 0 0
6:45 PM 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Peak Hour 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Left Right Total Left Right Total Left Right Total Left Right Total
4:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Peak Hour 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB NB EB

WB NB EB

Pedestrians

Time Period NE NW SW SE SB

Time Period Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound SB

Eastbound 15 Minute 
Volume

Hourly 
Volume

Time Period Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound 15 Minute 
Volume

Hourly 
Volume

Northbound 
Time Period

Southbound Westbound 

Attachment 3 Page 174 of 420 



City:
Date:

Total of All Vehicles

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

SB WB NB EB

16:00 16:15 1 187 39 227 16 0 30 46 10 108 10 128 3 1 1 5 406 1 1 0 3
16:15 16:30 1 155 21 177 17 3 20 40 19 121 17 157 5 0 1 6 380 0 2 1 0
16:30 16:45 2 183 33 218 15 0 36 51 13 107 16 136 6 0 0 6 411 0 1 0 0
16:45 17:00 0 149 31 180 14 0 30 44 13 110 21 144 9 0 2 11 379 1576 1 0 0 1
17:00 17:15 0 201 29 230 33 2 76 111 6 110 5 121 6 1 0 7 469 1639 1 0 0 0
17:15 17:30 3 200 25 228 20 1 30 51 15 137 11 163 3 1 1 5 447 1706 0 1 0 0
17:30 17:45 1 163 18 182 16 3 25 44 12 105 11 128 4 1 1 6 360 1655 0 0 0 1
17:45 18:00 2 120 16 138 9 1 10 20 8 104 8 120 5 0 2 7 285 1561 0 1 0 1
18:00 18:15 0 5 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 1097 0 0 0 0
18:15 18:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 650 0 0 0 0
18:30 18:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 290 0 0 0 0
18:45 19:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0

10 1363 212 140 10 257 96 902 99 41 4 8 3142 3 6 1 6

Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach SB WB NB EB
5 733 118 856 82 3 172 257 47 464 53 564 24 2 3 29 1706 2 2 0 1

0.42 0.91 0.89 0.93 0.62 0.38 0.57 0.58 0.78 0.85 0.63 0.87 0.67 0.50 0.38 0.66 0.91
0 15 0 0 0 1 0 6 0 0 0 0

0% 2% 0% 0% 0% 1% 0% 1% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Trucks

% Trucks

Peak Volumes
PHF

Count Period Total

PM Peak Hour Count Summary
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound Pedestrians

Hourly 
Volume

Pedestrians15 
Minute 
Volume

Intersection: 5: Gateway @ Game Farm Springfield 
Counter: Sandow Engineering Wednesday, April 26, 2023

Time Period
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound 

Attachment 3 Page 175 of 420 



50% 32%

0.58% 85.63% 13.79% %
R T L PED

5 5 733 118 2
4% % Ped 1 82 R 31.91% 15%

10.34% L 3 3 T 1.17%
6.90% T 2 172 L 66.93%

2% 82.76% R 24 2 Ped % 10%
0 53 464 47

Ped L T R

Adjustment Factor % 9.4% 82.3% 8.3%

SAF 1.000 1706

54% 33%

929 564

90 424

1493

Northbound

29 167

549

Seasonally Adjusted Peak Hour
Southbound

61 Eastbound

5: Gateway @ Game Farm 

W
estboun

d

257

1405

856

Attachment 3 Page 176 of 420 



5: Gateway @ Game Farm 
Pedestrians and Cars

Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left
4:00 PM 1 1 182 39 1 16 30 1 10 106 10 3 3 1 1 399

4:15 PM 1 152 21 1 17 3 19 1 19 119 17 5 1 374

4:30 PM 2 179 33 1 15 36 13 106 16 6 406
4:45 PM 147 31 14 29 13 106 21 1 9 2 372 1551
5:00 PM 1 194 29 33 2 76 6 110 5 6 1 462 1614
5:15 PM 3 199 25 1 20 1 30 15 136 11 3 1 1 445 1685
5:30 PM 1 160 18 16 3 25 12 105 11 1 4 1 1 357 1636
5:45 PM 2 115 16 8 1 10 8 100 8 1 5 2 275 1539
6:00 PM 0 1077
6:15 PM 0 632
6:30 PM 0 275
6:45 PM 0 0

Total 2 10 1328 212 4 139 10 255 1 96 888 99 6 41 4 8
Peak Hour 1 5 719 118 2 82 3 171 0 47 458 53 1 24 2 3 1685 4850

Trucks

Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left
4:00 PM 5 2 7
4:15 PM 3 2 5
4:30 PM 4 1 5
4:45 PM 1 1 4 6 23
5:00 PM 7 7 23
5:15 PM 1 1 2 20
5:30 PM 3 3 18
5:45 PM 5 4 9 21
6:00 PM 0 14
6:15 PM 0 12
6:30 PM 0 9
6:45 PM 0 0

Total 0 29 0 0 0 1 0 14 0 0 0 0
Peak Hour 0 15 0 0 0 1 0 6 0 0 0 0 20 66

Bikes

Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left
4:00 PM 0 0 0 0
4:15 PM 1 0 1 0 0
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0
4:45 PM 1 1 0 0 0
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0
5:15 PM 0 0 0 0
5:30 PM 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 1 0 1 0 0
6:00 PM 0 0 0 0
6:15 PM 0 0 0 0
6:30 PM 0 0 0 0
6:45 PM 0 0 0 0

Total 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0
Peak Hour 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0

Left Right Total Left Right Total Left Right Total Left Right Total
4:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Peak Hour 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB NB EB

WB NB EB

Pedestrians

Time Period NE NW SW SE SB

Time Period Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound SB

Eastbound 15 Minute 
Volume

Hourly 
Volume

Time Period Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound 15 Minute 
Volume

Hourly 
Volume

Northbound 
Time Period

Southbound Westbound 

Attachment 3 Page 177 of 420 



City:
Date:

Total of All Vehicles

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

Right Thru Left Approach 
Total

SB WB NB EB

16:00 16:15 156 63 32 251 28 133 28 189 18 57 129 204 186 114 64 364 1008 0 0 0 0
16:15 16:30 113 87 44 244 26 160 39 225 14 54 165 233 222 125 52 399 1101 0 0 0 0
16:30 16:45 110 54 47 211 27 160 27 214 13 26 125 164 219 157 77 453 1042 0 0 0 0
16:45 17:00 202 66 50 318 27 142 30 199 19 65 151 235 179 127 65 371 1123 4274 0 0 0 0
17:00 17:15 163 79 29 271 21 159 25 205 16 56 170 242 179 98 65 342 1060 4326 0 0 0 0
17:15 17:30 136 73 28 237 22 151 35 208 27 53 159 239 201 114 73 388 1072 4297 0 0 0 0
17:30 17:45 86 51 30 167 28 114 26 168 7 60 149 216 223 156 47 426 977 4232 0 0 0 0
17:45 18:00 66 53 32 151 25 109 43 177 14 61 126 201 203 117 30 350 879 3988 0 0 0 0
18:00 18:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2928 0 0 0 0
18:15 18:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1856 0 0 0 0
18:30 18:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 879 0 0 0 0
18:45 19:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1032 526 292 204 1128 253 128 432 1174 1612 1008 473 8262 0 0 0 0

Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach Right Thru Left Approach SB WB NB EB
611 272 154 1037 97 612 117 826 75 200 605 880 778 496 280 1554 4297 0 0 0 0
0.76 0.86 0.77 0.82 0.90 0.96 0.84 0.96 0.69 0.77 0.89 0.91 0.89 0.79 0.91 0.86 0.96

3 4 1 1 5 0 1 1 10 16 10 7
0% 1% 1% 1% 1% 0% 1% 1% 2% 2% 2% 3%

Trucks
% Trucks

Peak Volumes
PHF

Count Period Total

PM Peak Hour Count Summary
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound Pedestrians

Hourly 
Volume

Pedestrians15 
Minute 
Volume

Intersection: 6: Gateway  @ Beltline Springfield 
Counter: Sandow Engineering Saturday, January 0, 1900

Time Period
Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound 

Attachment 3 Page 178 of 420 



24% 13%

58.92% 26.23% 14.85% %
R T L PED

6 611 272 154 0
43% % Ped 0 97 R 11.74% 19%

18.02% L 280 612 T 74.09%
31.92% T 496 117 L 14.16%

36% 50.06% R 778 0 Ped % 17%
0 605 200 75

Ped L T R

Adjustment Factor % 68.8% 22.7% 8.5%

SAF 1.000 4297

27% 20%

1167 880

3382 1551

2047

Northbound

1554 725

577

Seasonally Adjusted Peak Hour
Southbound

1828 Eastbound

6: Gateway  @ Beltline

W
estboun

d

826

1614

1037

Attachment 3 Page 179 of 420 



6: Gateway  @ Beltline
Pedestrians and Cars

Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left
4:00 PM 155 61 32 28 133 28 18 57 128 183 113 61 997

4:15 PM 112 87 44 26 160 38 14 53 161 218 123 52 1088

4:30 PM 108 53 47 27 156 27 13 26 122 215 155 75 1024
4:45 PM 202 65 50 26 142 30 19 65 149 173 123 64 1108 4217
5:00 PM 163 77 29 21 158 25 16 56 167 175 97 65 1049 4269
5:15 PM 135 72 27 22 151 35 26 52 157 199 111 69 1056 4237
5:30 PM 84 50 30 28 114 26 7 59 145 220 155 47 965 4178
5:45 PM 64 53 32 25 109 43 14 59 125 197 116 29 866 3936
6:00 PM 0 2887
6:15 PM 0 1831
6:30 PM 0 866
6:45 PM 0 0

Total 0 1023 518 291 0 203 1123 252 0 127 427 1154 0 1580 993 462
Peak Hour 0 608 267 153 0 96 607 117 0 74 199 595 0 762 486 273 4237 12723

Trucks

Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left
4:00 PM 1 2 1 3 1 3 11
4:15 PM 1 1 1 4 4 2 13
4:30 PM 2 1 4 3 4 2 2 18
4:45 PM 1 1 2 6 4 1 15 57
5:00 PM 2 1 3 4 1 11 57
5:15 PM 1 1 1 1 1 2 2 3 4 16 60
5:30 PM 2 1 1 4 3 1 12 54
5:45 PM 2 2 1 6 1 1 13 52
6:00 PM 0 41
6:15 PM 0 25
6:30 PM 0 13
6:45 PM 0 0

Total 9 8 1 1 5 1 1 5 20 32 15 11
Peak Hour 3 4 1 1 5 0 1 1 10 16 10 7 60 174

Bikes

Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left
4:00 PM 0 0 0 0
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0
4:45 PM 0 0 0 0
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0
5:15 PM 0 0 0 0
5:30 PM 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 0 0 0 0
6:00 PM 0 0 0 0
6:15 PM 0 0 0 0
6:30 PM 0 0 0 0
6:45 PM 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Peak Hour 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Left Right Total Left Right Total Left Right Total Left Right Total
4:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Peak Hour 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

WB NB EB

WB NB EB

Pedestrians

Time Period NE NW SW SE SB

Time Period Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound SB

Eastbound 15 Minute 
Volume

Hourly 
Volume

Time Period Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound 15 Minute 
Volume

Hourly 
Volume

Northbound 
Time Period

Southbound Westbound 

Attachment 3 Page 180 of 420 



Global Peak Hour

1: Game Farm @ 
Deadmond Ferry 

2: Maple  @ Game 
Farm 

3: Maple  @  Site 
Access

4: Game Farm @ 
MLK

5: Gateway @ Game 
Farm 6: Gateway  @ Beltline

4:00 PM 5:00 PM 417                    342                  106                  1,761                1,576                4,274                       8476
4:15 PM 5:15 PM 454                    403                  138                  1,778                1,639                4,326                       8738
4:30 PM 5:30 PM 476                    423                  139                  1,811                1,706                4,297                       8852
4:45 PM 5:45 PM 448                    392                  133                  1,740                1,655                4,232                       8600

476 423 139 1811 1706 4326 8852

Peak Hour 4:30 PM
4:45 PM
5:00 PM
5:15 PM

Intersections

Total Time Period Volume Volume VolumeVolume Volume Volume

Attachment 3 Page 181 of 420 



2023 Base 

75 34
R T L PED

1 1 74 0 1
Ped 1 0 R 0

1 L 5 0 T
T 0 0 L 0

35 R 30 0 Ped
3 0 29 0

Ped L T R
104 29

932 549 104 29 0 0
R T L PED R T L PED R T L PED

1 5 809 118 2 1 27 0 77 0 1 0 0 0 0
Ped 1 82 R 275 Ped 0 24 R 146 Ped 0 0 R 117

61 L 3 3 T 148 L 5 121 T 146 L 0 34 T
T 2 190 L 167 T 169 1 U turn 246 T 40 83 L 72

32 R 27 2 Ped 174 R 0 0 Ped 247 247 R 207 0 Ped
11 53 464 47 0 0 0 0 0 112 0 32

U Turn L T R Ped L T R Ped L T R
1037 1026 564 1 0 290 144
1037 577 579 284 135

R T L U turn R T L PED
1 611 272 154 2 1 51 0 233 1

Ped 0 97 R 826 Ped 0 109 R 820
1828 L 280 612 T 762 L 26 711 T

T 496 117 L 725 T 681 0 L 914
1554 R 778 2 UTURN 727 707 R 0 0 Ped

0 605 200 75 0 0 0 0
Ped L T R Ped L T R

1167 880 0 0

5: Gateway @ Game Farm 

6: Gateway  @ Beltline

3: Maple  @  Site Access

1: Game Farm @ Deadmond 
Ferry 2: Maple  @ Game Farm 

4: Game Farm @ MLK

Attachment 3 Page 182 of 420 



2025 Background 2030 Background

78 35 EDIT Highlighted 86 39
R T L PED R T L PED EDIT Highlighted 

1 1 77 0 1 Base Year 2023 1 1 84 0 1
Ped 1 0 R 0 Target Year 2025 Ped 1 0 R 0 Base Year 2023

1 04 L 5 0 T Years of Growth 2 1 14 L 6 0 T Target Year 2030
T 0 0 L 0 Growth  Rate  Per  Year 0 020 T 0 0 L 0 Years of Growth 7

36.4 R 31 0 Ped Growth Factor 1.04 39.9 R 34 0 Ped Growth  Rate  Per  Year 0.020
3 0 30 0 3 0 33 0 Growth Factor 1.14

Ped L T R Ped L T R
108 30 119 33

969 571 108 30 0 0 1062 626 119 33 0 0
R T L PED R T L PED R T L PED R T L PED R T L PED R T L PED

1 5 841 123 2 1 28 0 80 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 6 922 135 2 1 31 0 88 0 1 0 0 0 0
Ped 1 85 R 286 Ped 0 25 R 152 Ped 0 0 R 122 Ped 1 93 R 314 Ped 0 27 R 166 Ped 0 0 R 133

63 44 L 3 3 T 154 L 5 126 T 151 8 L 0 35 T 69 54 L 3 3 T 169 L 6 138 T 166 4 L 0 39 T
T 2 198 L 174 T 176 1 U turn 256 T 42 86 L 75 T 2 217 L 190 T 193 1 U turn 280 T 46 95 L 82

33 28 R 28 2 Ped 181 R 0 0 Ped 257 257 R 215 0 Ped 36 48 R 31 2 Ped 198 R 0 0 Ped 282 282 R 236 0 Ped
11 55 483 49 0 0 0 0 0 116 0 33 13 60 529 54 0 0 0 0 0 128 0 36

U Turn L T R Ped L T R Ped L T R U Turn L T R Ped L T R Ped L T R
1078 1067 587 1 0 302 150 1182 1170 643 1 0 331 164
1078 600 602 295 140 141 1182 658 660 324 154

R T L U turn R T L PED R T L U turn R T L PED
1 635 283 160 2 1 53 0 242 1 1 697 310 176 2 1 58 0 266 1

Ped 0 101 R 859 Ped 0 113 R 853 Ped 0 111 R 942 Ped 0 124 R 935
1901 L 291 636 T 792 5 L 27 739 T 2084 L 319 698 T 868 7 L 30 811 T

T 516 122 L 754 T 708 0 L 951 T 565 133 L 827 T 776 0 L 1042
1616 R 809 2 U turn 756 735 3 R 0 0 Ped 951 1772 R 887 2 U turn 829 806 R 0 0 Ped

0 629 208 78 0 0 0 0 0 690 228 86 0 0 0 0
Ped L T R Ped L T R Ped L T R Ped L T R

1214 915 0 0 1330 1003 0 0

5: Gateway @ Game Farm 

6: Gateway  @ Beltline

5: Gateway @ Game Farm 

6: Gateway  @ Beltline

1: Game Farm @ Deadmond 
Ferry 

1: Game Farm @ Deadmond 
Ferry 2: Maple  @ Game Farm 

3: Maple  @  Site Access

2: Maple  @ Game Farm 

3: Maple  @  Site Access

4: Game Farm @ MLK 4: Game Farm @ MLK

Attachment 3 Page 183 of 420 



2035 Background

93 42
R T L PED EDIT Highlighted 

1 1 92 0 1
Ped 1 0 R 0 Base Year 2023

1 24 L 6 0 T Target Year 2035
T 0 0 L 0 Years of Growth 12

43.4 R 37 0 Ped Growth  Rate  Per  Year 0.020
4 0 36 0 Growth Factor 1.24

Ped L T R
129 36

1156 681 129 36 0 0
R T L PED R T L PED R T L PED

1 6 1003 146 2 1 33 0 95 0 1 0 0 0 0
Ped 1 102 R 341 Ped 0 30 R 181 Ped 0 0 R 145

75 64 L 4 4 T 184 L 6 150 T 181 L 0 42 T
T 2 236 L 207 T 210 1 U turn 305 T 50 103 L 89

39 68 R 33 2 Ped 216 R 0 0 Ped 306 306 3 R 257 0 Ped
14 66 575 58 0 0 0 0 0 139 0 40

U Turn L T R Ped L T R Ped L T R
1286 1272 699 1 0 360 179
1286 715 718 352 167

R T L U Turn R T L PED
1 758 337 191 2 1 63 0 289 1

Ped 0 120 R 1024 Ped 0 135 R 1017
2267 L 347 759 T 944 9 L 32 882 T

T 615 145 L 899 T 844 0 L 1133
1927 R 965 2 U turn 901 876 7 R 0 0 Ped

0 750 248 93 0 0 0 0
Ped L T R Ped L T R

1447 1091 0 0

3: Maple  @  Site Access

2: Maple  @ Game Farm 1: Game Farm @ Deadmond 
Ferry 

4: Game Farm @ MLK

5: Gateway @ Game Farm 

6: Gateway  @ Beltline

Attachment 3 Page 184 of 420 



SANDOW ENGINEERING 

PEACEHEALTH REHABILITATION HOSPITAL

A
P
P
E
N

D
IX

 E
:

SY
N

C
H

R
O

 O
U

T
PU

T
S

Attachment 3 Page 185 of 420 



2023 Background AM
Intersection 

Left Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right
Volume 1 0 2 0 0 0 20 66 0 0 17 1
% HV 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Demand Volume 1 0 2 0 0 0 20 66 0 0 17 1

Entry Volume 3 0 86 18
Entry Lane Volume (adj) 3 0 86 18

Exiting Flow Rates 21 0 19 67

Conflicting Flow 17 87 1 20

Entry Capacity 1316 1247 1332 1313
v/c ratio 0.00 0.00 0.06 0.01

Delay 7.7 2.9 7.9 7.8
LOS

95th Percentile Queue (veh) 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0

Intersection Delay 6.6
Intersection v/c 0.05

Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Maple @ Site Acces 

Attachment 3 Page 186 of 420 



2023 Background PM
Intersection 

Left Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right
Volume 5 0 30 0 0 0 0 29 0 0 74 1
% HV 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Demand Volume 5 0 30 0 0 0 0 29 0 0 74 1

Entry Volume 35 0 29 75
Entry Lane Volume (adj) 35 0 29 75

Exiting Flow Rates 1 0 104 34

Conflicting Flow 74 34 5 0

Entry Capacity 1260 1299 1328 1333
v/c ratio 0.03 0.00 0.02 0.06

Delay 7.9 2.8 7.8 7.9
LOS

95th Percentile Queue (veh) 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.2

Intersection Delay 6.6
Intersection v/c 0.04

Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Maple @ Site Acces 

Attachment 3 Page 187 of 420 



2023 Background AM
Intersection 

Left Through Right U Turn Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right
Volume 16 96 0 1 72 70 0 0 0 13 0 6
% HV 0% 0% 0% 1% 1% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Demand Volume 16 96 0 1 73 70 0 0 0 13 0 6

Entry Volume 112 143 0 19
Entry Lane Volume (adj) 112 144 0 19

Exiting Flow Rates 79 109 1 86

Conflicting Flow 14 16 125 74

Entry Capacity 1319 1317 1212 1260
v/c ratio 0.08 0.11 0.00 0.02

Delay 8.0 3.1 8.0 7.9
LOS

95th Percentile Queue (veh) 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.0

Intersection Delay 6.7
Intersection v/c 0.09

Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Maple @ Game Farm

Attachment 3 Page 188 of 420 



2023 Background PM
Intersection 

Left Through Right U turn Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right
Volume 5 169 0 1 121 24 0 0 0 77 0 27
% HV 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Demand Volume 5 169 0 1 121 24 0 0 0 77 0 27

Entry Volume 174 146 0 104
Entry Lane Volume (adj) 174 146 0 104

Exiting Flow Rates 148 246 1 29

Conflicting Flow 78 5 251 122

Entry Capacity 1256 1328 1100 1214
v/c ratio 0.14 0.11 0.00 0.09

Delay 8.3 3.0 8.3 8.2
LOS

95th Percentile Queue (veh) 0.5 0.4 0.0 0.3

Intersection Delay 7.0
Intersection v/c 0.12

Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Maple @ Game Farm

Attachment 3 Page 189 of 420 



2025 Background AM
Intersection 

Left Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right
Volume 1 0 2 0 0 0 21 69 0 0 18 1
% HV 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Demand Volume 1 0 2 0 0 0 21 69 0 0 18 1

Entry Volume 3 0 90 19
Entry Lane Volume (adj) 3 0 90 19

Exiting Flow Rates 22 0 20 70

Conflicting Flow 18 91 1 21

Entry Capacity 1315 1243 1332 1312
v/c ratio 0.00  0.00 0.07 0.01

Delay 7.7 2.9 7.9 7.8
LOS

95th Percentile Queue (veh) 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0

Intersection Delay 6.6
Intersection v/c 0.06

Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Maple @ Site Acces 

Attachment 3 Page 190 of 420 



2025 Background PM
Intersection 

Left Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right
Volume 5 0 31 0 0 0 0 30 0 0 77 1
% HV 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Demand Volume 5 0 31 0 0 0 0 30 0 0 77 1

Entry Volume 36 0 30 78
Entry Lane Volume (adj) 36 0 30 78

Exiting Flow Rates 1 0 108 35

Conflicting Flow 77 35 5 0

Entry Capacity 1257 1298 1328 1333
v/c ratio 0.03  0.00 0.02 0.06

Delay 7.9 2.8 7.8 7.9
LOS

95th Percentile Queue (veh) 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.2

Intersection Delay 6.6
Intersection v/c 0.04

Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Maple @ Site Acces 

Attachment 3 Page 191 of 420 



2025 Background AM
Intersection 

Left Through Right U Turn Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right
Volume 17 100 0 1 75 73 0 0 0 14 0 6
% HV 0% 0% 0% 1% 1% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Demand Volume 17 100 0 1 76 73 0 0 0 14 0 6

Entry Volume 117 149 0 20
Entry Lane Volume (adj) 117 150 0 20

Exiting Flow Rates 82 114 1 90

Conflicting Flow 15 17 131 77

Entry Capacity 1318 1316 1206 1257
v/c ratio 0.09  0.11 0.00 0.02

Delay 8.0 3.1 8.0 7.9
LOS

95th Percentile Queue (veh) 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.0

Intersection Delay 6.7
Intersection v/c 0.10

Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Maple @ Game Farm

Attachment 3 Page 192 of 420 



2025 Background PM
Intersection 

Left Through Right U turn Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right
Volume 5 176 0 1 126 25 0 0 0 80 0 28
% HV 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Demand Volume 5 176 0 1 126 25 0 0 0 80 0 28

Entry Volume 181 152 0 108
Entry Lane Volume (adj) 181 152 0 108

Exiting Flow Rates 154 256 1 30

Conflicting Flow 81 5 261 127

Entry Capacity 1253 1328 1092 1210
v/c ratio 0.14  0.11 0.00 0.09

Delay 8.4 3.1 8.3 8.3
LOS

95th Percentile Queue (veh) 0.5 0.4 0.0 0.3

Intersection Delay 7.0
Intersection v/c 0.12

Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Maple @ Game Farm

Attachment 3 Page 193 of 420 



2025 Build AM
Intersection 

Left Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right
Volume 1 0 2 4 0 2 21 69 24 3 18 1
% HV 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Demand Volume 1 0 2 4 0 2 21 69 24 3 18 1

Entry Volume 3 6 114 22
Entry Lane Volume (adj) 3 6 114 22

Exiting Flow Rates 22 27 24 72

Conflicting Flow 25 91 4 25

Entry Capacity 1308 1243 1329 1308
v/c ratio 0.00  0.00 0.09 0.02

Delay 7.8 2.9 8.0 7.8
LOS

95th Percentile Queue (veh) 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.1

Intersection Delay 6.6
Intersection v/c 0.07

Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Maple @ Site Acces 

Attachment 3 Page 194 of 420 



2025 Build PM
Intersection 

Left Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right
Volume 5 0 31 6 0 4 0 30 9 4 77 1
% HV 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Demand Volume 5 0 31 6 0 4 0 30 9 4 77 1

Entry Volume 36 10 39 82
Entry Lane Volume (adj) 36 10 39 82

Exiting Flow Rates 1 13 114 39

Conflicting Flow 87 35 9 6

Entry Capacity 1247 1298 1324 1327
v/c ratio 0.03  0.01 0.03 0.06

Delay 8.0 2.8 7.8 7.9
LOS

95th Percentile Queue (veh) 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.2

Intersection Delay 6.6
Intersection v/c 0.04

Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Maple @ Site Acces 

Attachment 3 Page 195 of 420 



2025 Build AM
Intersection 

Left Through Right U Turn Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right
Volume 41 100 0 15 81 73 0 0 0 16 0 8
% HV 0% 0% 0% 1% 1% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Demand Volume 41 100 0 15 82 73 0 0 0 16 0 8

Entry Volume 141 169 0 24
Entry Lane Volume (adj) 141 170 0 24

Exiting Flow Rates 90 116 15 114

Conflicting Flow 31 41 157 97

Entry Capacity 1302 1292 1182 1238
v/c ratio 0.11  0.13 0.00 0.02

Delay 8.1 3.2 8.0 8.0
LOS

95th Percentile Queue (veh) 0.4 0.5 0.0 0.1

Intersection Delay 6.8
Intersection v/c 0.11

Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Maple @ Game Farm

Attachment 3 Page 196 of 420 



2025 Build PM
Intersection 

Left Through Right U turn Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right
Volume 14 176 0 22 152 25 0 0 0 82 0 32
% HV 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Demand Volume 14 176 0 22 152 25 0 0 0 82 0 32

Entry Volume 190 199 0 114
Entry Lane Volume (adj) 190 199 0 114

Exiting Flow Rates 184 258 22 39

Conflicting Flow 104 14 272 174

Entry Capacity 1231 1319 1083 1167
v/c ratio 0.15  0.15 0.00 0.10

Delay 8.5 3.2 8.3 8.4
LOS

95th Percentile Queue (veh) 0.5 0.5 0.0 0.3

Intersection Delay 7.1
Intersection v/c 0.14

Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Maple @ Game Farm

Attachment 3 Page 197 of 420 



2030 Background AM
Intersection 

Left Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right
Volume 1 0 2 0 0 0 23 75 0 0 19 1
% HV 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Demand Volume 1 0 2 0 0 0 23 75 0 0 19 1

Entry Volume 3 0 98 20
Entry Lane Volume (adj) 3 0 98 20

Exiting Flow Rates 24 0 21 76

Conflicting Flow 19 99 1 23

Entry Capacity 1314 1236 1332 1310
v/c ratio 0.00  0.00 0.07 0.02

Delay 7.7 2.9 7.9 7.8
LOS

95th Percentile Queue (veh) 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0

Intersection Delay 6.6
Intersection v/c 0.06

Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Maple @ Site Acces 

Attachment 3 Page 198 of 420 



2030 Background PM
Intersection 

Left Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right
Volume 6 0 34 0 0 0 0 33 0 0 84 1
% HV 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Demand Volume 6 0 34 0 0 0 0 33 0 0 84 1

Entry Volume 40 0 33 85
Entry Lane Volume (adj) 40 0 33 85

Exiting Flow Rates 1 0 118 39

Conflicting Flow 84 39 6 0

Entry Capacity 1250 1294 1327 1333
v/c ratio 0.03  0.00 0.02 0.06

Delay 8.0 2.8 7.8 7.9
LOS

95th Percentile Queue (veh) 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.2

Intersection Delay 6.6
Intersection v/c 0.05

Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Maple @ Site Acces 

Attachment 3 Page 199 of 420 



2030 Background AM
Intersection 

Left Through Right U Turn Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right
Volume 18 109 0 1 82 80 0 0 0 15 0 7
% HV 0% 0% 0% 1% 1% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Demand Volume 18 109 0 1 83 80 0 0 0 15 0 7

Entry Volume 127 163 0 22
Entry Lane Volume (adj) 127 164 0 22

Exiting Flow Rates 90 124 1 98

Conflicting Flow 16 18 142 84

Entry Capacity 1317 1315 1196 1250
v/c ratio 0.10  0.12 0.00 0.02

Delay 8.0 3.1 8.0 7.9
LOS

95th Percentile Queue (veh) 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.1

Intersection Delay 6.8
Intersection v/c 0.11

Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Maple @ Game Farm

Attachment 3 Page 200 of 420 



2030 Background PM
Intersection 

Left Through Right U turn Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right
Volume 6 193 0 1 138 27 0 0 0 88 0 31
% HV 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Demand Volume 6 193 0 1 138 27 0 0 0 88 0 31

Entry Volume 199 166 0 119
Entry Lane Volume (adj) 199 166 0 119

Exiting Flow Rates 169 281 1 33

Conflicting Flow 89 6 287 139

Entry Capacity 1245 1327 1071 1199
v/c ratio 0.16  0.13 0.00 0.10

Delay 8.4 3.1 8.4 8.3
LOS

95th Percentile Queue (veh) 0.6 0.4 0.0 0.3

Intersection Delay 7.1
Intersection v/c 0.13

Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Maple @ Game Farm

Attachment 3 Page 201 of 420 



2030 Build AM
Intersection 

Left Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right
Volume 1 0 2 4 0 2 23 75 24 3 19 1
% HV 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Demand Volume 1 0 2 4 0 2 23 75 24 3 19 1

Entry Volume 3 6 122 23
Entry Lane Volume (adj) 3 6 122 23

Exiting Flow Rates 24 27 25 78

Conflicting Flow 26 99 4 27

Entry Capacity 1307 1236 1329 1306
v/c ratio 0.00  0.00 0.09 0.02

Delay 7.8 2.9 8.0 7.8
LOS

95th Percentile Queue (veh) 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.1

Intersection Delay 6.6
Intersection v/c 0.08

Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Maple @ Site Acces 

Attachment 3 Page 202 of 420 



2030 Build PM
Intersection 

Left Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right
Volume 6 0 34 6 0 4 0 33 9 4 84 1
% HV 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Demand Volume 6 0 34 6 0 4 0 33 9 4 84 1

Entry Volume 40 10 42 89
Entry Lane Volume (adj) 40 10 42 89

Exiting Flow Rates 1 13 124 43

Conflicting Flow 94 39 10 6

Entry Capacity 1241 1294 1323 1327
v/c ratio 0.03  0.01 0.03 0.07

Delay 8.0 2.8 7.8 7.9
LOS

95th Percentile Queue (veh) 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.2

Intersection Delay 6.6
Intersection v/c 0.05

Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Maple @ Site Acces 

Attachment 3 Page 203 of 420 



2030 Build AM
Intersection 

Left Through Right U Turn Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right
Volume 42 109 0 15 88 80 0 0 0 17 0 9
% HV 0% 0% 0% 1% 1% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Demand Volume 42 109 0 15 89 80 0 0 0 17 0 9

Entry Volume 151 183 0 26
Entry Lane Volume (adj) 151 184 0 26

Exiting Flow Rates 98 126 15 122

Conflicting Flow 32 42 168 104

Entry Capacity 1301 1291 1172 1231
v/c ratio 0.12  0.14 0.00 0.02

Delay 8.1 3.2 8.1 8.0
LOS

95th Percentile Queue (veh) 0.4 0.5 0.0 0.1

Intersection Delay 6.9
Intersection v/c 0.12

Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Maple @ Game Farm

Attachment 3 Page 204 of 420 



2030 Build PM
Intersection 

Left Through Right U turn Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right
Volume 15 193 0 22 164 27 0 0 0 90 0 35
% HV 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Demand Volume 15 193 0 22 164 27 0 0 0 90 0 35

Entry Volume 208 213 0 125
Entry Lane Volume (adj) 208 213 0 125

Exiting Flow Rates 199 283 22 42

Conflicting Flow 112 15 298 186

Entry Capacity 1224 1318 1062 1156
v/c ratio 0.17  0.16 0.00 0.11

Delay 8.5 3.3 8.4 8.5
LOS

95th Percentile Queue (veh) 0.6 0.6 0.0 0.4

Intersection Delay 7.2
Intersection v/c 0.15

Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Maple @ Game Farm

Attachment 3 Page 205 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd 05/30/2023

2023 Background Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 1

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 58 763 460 186 113 25
Future Volume (vph) 58 763 460 186 113 25
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 2.6 2.6
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1805 3610 3610 1615 1805 1615
Flt Permitted 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1805 3610 3610 1615 1805 1615
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89
Adj. Flow (vph) 65 857 517 209 127 28
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 129 0 21
Lane Group Flow (vph) 65 857 517 80 127 7
Turn Type Prot NA NA Perm Prot Perm
Protected Phases 7 4 8 6
Permitted Phases 8 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 8.3 31.3 17.6 17.6 9.1 9.1
Effective Green, g (s) 9.7 32.7 19.0 19.0 10.5 10.5
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.19 0.66 0.38 0.38 0.21 0.21
Clearance Time (s) 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 4.0 4.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 4.0 4.0 4.0 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 351 2370 1377 616 380 340
v/s Ratio Prot 0.04 c0.24 0.14 c0.07
v/s Ratio Perm 0.05 0.00
v/c Ratio 0.19 0.36 0.38 0.13 0.33 0.02
Uniform Delay, d1 16.7 3.8 11.1 10.0 16.7 15.6
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.2 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.4 0.0
Delay (s) 16.9 4.0 11.4 10.1 17.1 15.6
Level of Service B A B B B B
Approach Delay (s) 4.9 11.0 16.8
Approach LOS A B B

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 8.4 HCM 2000 Level of Service A
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.39
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 49.8 Sum of lost time (s) 10.6
Intersection Capacity Utilization 34.0% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 206 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd 05/30/2023

2023 Background Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 2

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 58 763 460 186 113 25
Future Volume (veh/h) 58 763 460 186 113 25
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 65 857 517 209 127 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89
Percent Heavy Veh, % 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cap, veh/h 175 2758 2157 962 219
Arrive On Green 0.10 0.76 0.60 0.60 0.12 0.00
Sat Flow, veh/h 1810 3705 3705 1610 1810 1610
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 65 857 517 209 127 0
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1810 1805 1805 1610 1810 1610
Q Serve(g_s), s 1.9 4.2 3.9 3.4 3.8 0.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 1.9 4.2 3.9 3.4 3.8 0.0
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 175 2758 2157 962 219
V/C Ratio(X) 0.37 0.31 0.24 0.22 0.58
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 2273 20975 16188 7220 3896
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 24.2 2.1 5.4 5.3 23.8 0.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 1.0 0.1 0.1 0.2 1.8 0.0
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 0.8 0.1 0.9 0.7 1.7 0.0
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 25.2 2.2 5.5 5.5 25.6 0.0
LnGrp LOS C A A A C
Approach Vol, veh/h 922 726 127 A
Approach Delay, s/veh 3.8 5.5 25.6
Approach LOS A A C

Timer - Assigned Phs 4 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 47.8 9.5 9.5 38.2
Change Period (Y+Rc), s * 5.4 4.0 * 5.4 * 5.4
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s * 3.3E2 122.0 * 71 * 2.6E2
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 6.2 5.8 3.9 5.9
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 36.2 0.6 0.2 19.8

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 6.1
HCM 6th LOS A

Notes
* HCM 6th computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.
Unsignalized Delay for [SBR] is excluded from calculations of the approach delay and intersection delay.

Attachment 3 Page 207 of 420 



HCM 6th TWSC
2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd 05/30/2023

2023 Background Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 6.6

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 31 79 32 9 134 98
Future Vol, veh/h 31 79 32 9 134 98
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - 140 - 115 0
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 90 90 90 90
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 0 13 0 2 0
Mvmt Flow 34 88 36 10 149 109
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 122 0 160 78
          Stage 1 - - - - 78 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 82 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.23 - 6.42 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.317 - 3.518 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1400 - 831 988
          Stage 1 - - - - 945 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 941 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1400 - 809 988
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 809 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 945 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 917 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 6 9.9
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 NBLn2 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 809 988 - - 1400 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.184 0.11 - - 0.025 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 10.5 9.1 - - 7.6 -
HCM Lane LOS B A - - A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.7 0.4 - - 0.1 -

Attachment 3 Page 208 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
10: Beltline & Gateway 05/30/2023

2023 Background Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 4

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBU WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 442 756 502 2 37 372 117 341 209 52 121 150
Future Volume (vph) 442 756 502 2 37 372 117 341 209 52 121 150
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 3.8 3.8 3.8 3.8 3.8 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 0.97 0.91 0.88 1.00 0.91 0.97 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.96 1.00 0.97 1.00 1.00
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 3467 5136 2787 1805 4939 3433 1821 1805 1845
Flt Permitted 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.15 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 3467 5136 2787 276 4939 3433 1821 1805 1845
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.90 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93
Adj. Flow (vph) 475 813 540 2 40 400 126 367 225 56 130 161
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 401 0 0 49 0 0 8 0 0 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 475 813 139 0 42 477 0 367 273 0 130 161
Heavy Vehicles (%) 1% 1% 2% 0% 0% 1% 2% 2% 1% 2% 0% 3%
Turn Type Prot NA Perm custom Prot NA Prot NA Prot NA
Protected Phases 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Permitted Phases 4 3
Actuated Green, G (s) 17.9 24.3 24.3 26.1 32.5 14.2 19.3 10.7 15.8
Effective Green, g (s) 19.3 25.7 25.7 27.5 33.9 14.7 19.8 11.2 16.3
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.19 0.26 0.26 0.28 0.34 0.15 0.20 0.11 0.16
Clearance Time (s) 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 4.0 4.0 2.5 4.0 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 670 1322 717 76 1677 505 361 202 301
v/s Ratio Prot c0.14 c0.16 0.10 c0.11 c0.15 0.07 0.09
v/s Ratio Perm 0.05 c0.15
v/c Ratio 0.71 0.61 0.19 0.55 0.28 0.73 0.76 0.64 0.53
Uniform Delay, d1 37.6 32.7 29.0 30.9 24.1 40.6 37.7 42.4 38.3
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 3.2 1.0 0.2 6.8 0.1 4.9 8.3 6.1 1.4
Delay (s) 40.8 33.7 29.1 37.7 24.2 45.5 46.1 48.5 39.7
Level of Service D C C D C D D D D
Approach Delay (s) 34.2 25.2 45.7 40.1
Approach LOS C C D D

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 35.7 HCM 2000 Level of Service D
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.68
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 99.8 Sum of lost time (s) 15.6
Intersection Capacity Utilization 56.6% ICU Level of Service B
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 209 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
10: Beltline & Gateway 05/30/2023

2023 Background Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 5

Movement SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 203
Future Volume (vph) 203
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 0.88
Frt 0.85
Flt Protected 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 2707
Flt Permitted 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 2707
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.93
Adj. Flow (vph) 218
RTOR Reduction (vph) 182
Lane Group Flow (vph) 36
Heavy Vehicles (%) 5%
Turn Type Perm
Protected Phases
Permitted Phases 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 15.8
Effective Green, g (s) 16.3
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.16
Clearance Time (s) 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 442
v/s Ratio Prot
v/s Ratio Perm 0.01
v/c Ratio 0.08
Uniform Delay, d1 35.4
Progression Factor 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.1
Delay (s) 35.5
Level of Service D
Approach Delay (s)
Approach LOS

Intersection Summary

Attachment 3 Page 210 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
10: Beltline & Gateway 05/30/2023

2023 Background Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 6

HCM 6th Edition cannot analyze u-turn movements.

Attachment 3 Page 211 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
17: Gateway & Game Farm 05/30/2023

2023 Background Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 7

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBU NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 0 3 20 35 2 53 2 31 549 177 62 417
Future Volume (vph) 0 3 20 35 2 53 2 31 549 177 62 417
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95
Frt 0.88 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.96 1.00 1.00
Flt Protected 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1514 1787 1594 1755 3401 1805 3424
Flt Permitted 1.00 0.66 1.00 0.49 1.00 0.29 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1514 1234 1594 900 3401 556 3424
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.90 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92
Adj. Flow (vph) 0 3 22 38 2 58 2 34 597 192 67 453
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 21 0 0 48 0 0 0 27 0 0 1
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 4 0 38 12 0 0 36 762 0 67 459
Heavy Vehicles (%) 0% 0% 12% 1% 0% 2% 0% 3% 3% 0% 0% 5%
Turn Type NA pm+pt NA custom pm+pt NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Permitted Phases 4 8 5 2 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 2.1 8.1 8.1 26.9 25.0 29.5 26.3
Effective Green, g (s) 2.1 8.6 8.6 27.9 25.5 30.5 26.8
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.04 0.17 0.17 0.56 0.51 0.61 0.54
Clearance Time (s) 4.0 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 4.0 2.5 4.0
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 63 240 275 545 1741 433 1842
v/s Ratio Prot 0.00 c0.01 0.01 0.00 c0.22 c0.01 0.13
v/s Ratio Perm c0.02 0.03 0.08
v/c Ratio 0.06 0.16 0.04 0.07 0.44 0.15 0.25
Uniform Delay, d1 22.9 17.5 17.2 4.9 7.6 4.1 6.1
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.3 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.1 0.1
Delay (s) 23.2 17.7 17.2 5.0 7.9 4.2 6.2
Level of Service C B B A A A A
Approach Delay (s) 23.2 17.4 7.8 6.0
Approach LOS C B A A

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 8.0 HCM 2000 Level of Service A
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.39
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 49.8 Sum of lost time (s) 16.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 42.9% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 212 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
17: Gateway & Game Farm 05/30/2023

2023 Background Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 8

Movement SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 6
Future Volume (vph) 6
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900
Total Lost time (s)
Lane Util. Factor
Frt
Flt Protected
Satd. Flow (prot)
Flt Permitted
Satd. Flow (perm)
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.92
Adj. Flow (vph) 7
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0
Heavy Vehicles (%) 17%
Turn Type
Protected Phases
Permitted Phases
Actuated Green, G (s)
Effective Green, g (s)
Actuated g/C Ratio
Clearance Time (s)
Vehicle Extension (s)
Lane Grp Cap (vph)
v/s Ratio Prot
v/s Ratio Perm
v/c Ratio
Uniform Delay, d1
Progression Factor
Incremental Delay, d2
Delay (s)
Level of Service
Approach Delay (s)
Approach LOS

Intersection Summary

Attachment 3 Page 213 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
17: Gateway & Game Farm 05/30/2023

2023 Background Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 9

HCM 6th Edition cannot analyze u-turn movements.

Attachment 3 Page 214 of 420 



Attachment 3 Page 215 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd 05/30/2023

2025 Background Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 1

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 60 794 478 193 118 26
Future Volume (vph) 60 794 478 193 118 26
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 2.6 2.6
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1805 3610 3610 1615 1805 1615
Flt Permitted 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1805 3610 3610 1615 1805 1615
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89
Adj. Flow (vph) 67 892 537 217 133 29
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 133 0 20
Lane Group Flow (vph) 67 892 537 84 133 9
Turn Type Prot NA NA Perm Prot Perm
Protected Phases 7 4 8 6
Permitted Phases 8 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 8.5 32.5 18.6 18.6 9.6 9.6
Effective Green, g (s) 9.9 33.9 20.0 20.0 11.0 11.0
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.19 0.66 0.39 0.39 0.21 0.21
Clearance Time (s) 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 4.0 4.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 4.0 4.0 4.0 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 346 2376 1401 627 385 344
v/s Ratio Prot 0.04 c0.25 0.15 c0.07
v/s Ratio Perm 0.05 0.01
v/c Ratio 0.19 0.38 0.38 0.13 0.35 0.03
Uniform Delay, d1 17.5 4.0 11.3 10.2 17.2 16.0
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.2 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.4 0.0
Delay (s) 17.7 4.1 11.6 10.3 17.6 16.0
Level of Service B A B B B B
Approach Delay (s) 5.1 11.2 17.3
Approach LOS A B B

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 8.6 HCM 2000 Level of Service A
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.40
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 51.5 Sum of lost time (s) 10.6
Intersection Capacity Utilization 35.2% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 216 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd 05/30/2023

2025 Background Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 2

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 60 794 478 193 118 26
Future Volume (veh/h) 60 794 478 193 118 26
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 67 892 537 217 133 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89
Percent Heavy Veh, % 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cap, veh/h 170 2779 2206 984 222
Arrive On Green 0.09 0.77 0.61 0.61 0.12 0.00
Sat Flow, veh/h 1810 3705 3705 1610 1810 1610
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 67 892 537 217 133 0
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1810 1805 1805 1610 1810 1610
Q Serve(g_s), s 2.1 4.6 4.2 3.7 4.3 0.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 2.1 4.6 4.2 3.7 4.3 0.0
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 170 2779 2206 984 222
V/C Ratio(X) 0.39 0.32 0.24 0.22 0.60
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 2146 19529 15013 6696 3627
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 26.2 2.2 5.5 5.4 25.6 0.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 1.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 1.9 0.0
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 0.9 0.2 1.0 0.8 1.9 0.0
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 27.4 2.3 5.5 5.5 27.5 0.0
LnGrp LOS C A A A C
Approach Vol, veh/h 959 754 133 A
Approach Delay, s/veh 4.0 5.5 27.5
Approach LOS A A C

Timer - Assigned Phs 4 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 51.4 10.2 9.8 41.6
Change Period (Y+Rc), s * 5.4 4.0 * 5.4 * 5.4
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s * 3.3E2 122.0 * 72 * 2.5E2
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 6.6 6.3 4.1 6.2
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 39.3 0.6 0.2 21.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 6.3
HCM 6th LOS A

Notes
* HCM 6th computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.
Unsignalized Delay for [SBR] is excluded from calculations of the approach delay and intersection delay.

Attachment 3 Page 217 of 420 



HCM 6th TWSC
2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd 05/30/2023

2025 Background Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 6.7

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 32 82 33 9 139 102
Future Vol, veh/h 32 82 33 9 139 102
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - 140 - 115 0
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 90 90 90 90
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 0 13 0 2 0
Mvmt Flow 36 91 37 10 154 113
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 127 0 166 82
          Stage 1 - - - - 82 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 84 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.23 - 6.42 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.317 - 3.518 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1394 - 824 983
          Stage 1 - - - - 941 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 939 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1394 - 802 983
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 802 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 941 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 914 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 6 10
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 NBLn2 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 802 983 - - 1394 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.193 0.115 - - 0.026 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 10.6 9.1 - - 7.7 -
HCM Lane LOS B A - - A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.7 0.4 - - 0.1 -

Attachment 3 Page 218 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
10: Beltline & Gateway 05/30/2023

2025 Background Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 4

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBU WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 460 786 522 2 38 387 122 355 217 54 126 156
Future Volume (vph) 460 786 522 2 38 387 122 355 217 54 126 156
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 3.8 3.8 3.8 3.8 3.8 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 0.97 0.91 0.88 1.00 0.91 0.97 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.96 1.00 0.97 1.00 1.00
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 3467 5136 2787 1805 4939 3433 1821 1805 1845
Flt Permitted 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.15 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 3467 5136 2787 286 4939 3433 1821 1805 1845
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.90 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93
Adj. Flow (vph) 495 845 561 2 41 416 131 382 233 58 135 168
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 413 0 0 48 0 0 8 0 0 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 495 845 148 0 43 499 0 382 283 0 135 168
Heavy Vehicles (%) 1% 1% 2% 0% 0% 1% 2% 2% 1% 2% 0% 3%
Turn Type Prot NA Perm custom Prot NA Prot NA Prot NA
Protected Phases 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Permitted Phases 4 3
Actuated Green, G (s) 18.7 25.1 25.1 25.2 31.6 14.5 20.0 10.9 16.4
Effective Green, g (s) 20.1 26.5 26.5 26.6 33.0 15.0 20.5 11.4 16.9
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.20 0.26 0.26 0.26 0.33 0.15 0.20 0.11 0.17
Clearance Time (s) 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 4.0 4.0 2.5 4.0 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 692 1352 734 75 1620 511 371 204 309
v/s Ratio Prot c0.14 c0.16 0.10 c0.11 c0.16 0.07 0.09
v/s Ratio Perm 0.05 c0.15
v/c Ratio 0.72 0.62 0.20 0.57 0.31 0.75 0.76 0.66 0.54
Uniform Delay, d1 37.6 32.7 28.8 32.1 25.3 41.0 37.8 42.8 38.3
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 3.3 1.0 0.2 8.4 0.1 5.6 8.6 7.1 1.5
Delay (s) 40.9 33.7 29.0 40.5 25.4 46.6 46.4 49.8 39.9
Level of Service D C C D C D D D D
Approach Delay (s) 34.2 26.5 46.5 40.5
Approach LOS C C D D

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 36.1 HCM 2000 Level of Service D
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.70
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 100.6 Sum of lost time (s) 15.6
Intersection Capacity Utilization 58.3% ICU Level of Service B
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 219 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
10: Beltline & Gateway 05/30/2023

2025 Background Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 5

Movement SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 211
Future Volume (vph) 211
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 0.88
Frt 0.85
Flt Protected 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 2707
Flt Permitted 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 2707
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.93
Adj. Flow (vph) 227
RTOR Reduction (vph) 189
Lane Group Flow (vph) 38
Heavy Vehicles (%) 5%
Turn Type Perm
Protected Phases
Permitted Phases 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 16.4
Effective Green, g (s) 16.9
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.17
Clearance Time (s) 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 454
v/s Ratio Prot
v/s Ratio Perm 0.01
v/c Ratio 0.08
Uniform Delay, d1 35.3
Progression Factor 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.1
Delay (s) 35.4
Level of Service D
Approach Delay (s)
Approach LOS

Intersection Summary

Attachment 3 Page 220 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
10: Beltline & Gateway 05/30/2023

2025 Background Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 6

HCM 6th Edition cannot analyze u-turn movements.

Attachment 3 Page 221 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
17: Gateway & Game Farm 05/30/2023

2025 Background Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 7

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBU NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 0 3 21 36 2 55 2 32 571 184 64 434
Future Volume (vph) 0 3 21 36 2 55 2 32 571 184 64 434
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95
Frt 0.88 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.96 1.00 1.00
Flt Protected 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1513 1752 1593 1755 3401 1805 3425
Flt Permitted 1.00 0.66 1.00 0.48 1.00 0.28 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1513 1210 1593 884 3401 531 3425
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.90 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92
Adj. Flow (vph) 0 3 23 39 2 60 2 35 621 200 70 472
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 22 0 0 50 0 0 0 27 0 0 1
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 4 0 39 12 0 0 37 794 0 70 478
Heavy Vehicles (%) 0% 0% 12% 3% 0% 2% 0% 3% 3% 0% 0% 5%
Turn Type NA pm+pt NA custom pm+pt NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Permitted Phases 4 8 5 2 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 2.1 8.2 8.2 27.4 25.5 30.0 26.8
Effective Green, g (s) 2.1 8.7 8.7 28.4 26.0 31.0 27.3
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.04 0.17 0.17 0.56 0.52 0.62 0.54
Clearance Time (s) 4.0 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 4.0 2.5 4.0
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 63 236 274 539 1754 420 1855
v/s Ratio Prot 0.00 c0.01 0.01 0.00 c0.23 c0.01 0.14
v/s Ratio Perm c0.02 0.04 0.09
v/c Ratio 0.06 0.17 0.05 0.07 0.45 0.17 0.26
Uniform Delay, d1 23.2 17.7 17.4 4.9 7.7 4.2 6.2
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.3 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.1 0.1
Delay (s) 23.5 17.9 17.4 4.9 8.0 4.3 6.3
Level of Service C B B A A A A
Approach Delay (s) 23.5 17.6 7.8 6.0
Approach LOS C B A A

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 8.1 HCM 2000 Level of Service A
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.40
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 50.4 Sum of lost time (s) 16.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 43.9% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 222 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
17: Gateway & Game Farm 05/30/2023

2025 Background Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 8

Movement SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 6
Future Volume (vph) 6
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900
Total Lost time (s)
Lane Util. Factor
Frt
Flt Protected
Satd. Flow (prot)
Flt Permitted
Satd. Flow (perm)
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.92
Adj. Flow (vph) 7
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0
Heavy Vehicles (%) 17%
Turn Type
Protected Phases
Permitted Phases
Actuated Green, G (s)
Effective Green, g (s)
Actuated g/C Ratio
Clearance Time (s)
Vehicle Extension (s)
Lane Grp Cap (vph)
v/s Ratio Prot
v/s Ratio Perm
v/c Ratio
Uniform Delay, d1
Progression Factor
Incremental Delay, d2
Delay (s)
Level of Service
Approach Delay (s)
Approach LOS

Intersection Summary

Attachment 3 Page 223 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
17: Gateway & Game Farm 05/30/2023

2025 Background Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 9

HCM 6th Edition cannot analyze u-turn movements.

Attachment 3 Page 224 of 420 



Attachment 3 Page 225 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd 05/30/2023

2025 Buid Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 1

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 80 794 478 208 121 31
Future Volume (vph) 80 794 478 208 121 31
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 2.6 2.6
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1805 3610 3610 1615 1805 1615
Flt Permitted 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1805 3610 3610 1615 1805 1615
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89
Adj. Flow (vph) 90 892 537 234 136 35
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 139 0 24
Lane Group Flow (vph) 90 892 537 95 136 11
Turn Type Prot NA NA Perm Prot Perm
Protected Phases 7 4 8 6
Permitted Phases 8 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 10.1 34.9 19.4 19.4 10.4 10.4
Effective Green, g (s) 11.5 36.3 20.8 20.8 11.8 11.8
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.21 0.66 0.38 0.38 0.22 0.22
Clearance Time (s) 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 4.0 4.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 4.0 4.0 4.0 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 379 2395 1372 614 389 348
v/s Ratio Prot 0.05 c0.25 0.15 c0.08
v/s Ratio Perm 0.06 0.01
v/c Ratio 0.24 0.37 0.39 0.16 0.35 0.03
Uniform Delay, d1 18.0 4.1 12.3 11.2 18.2 16.9
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.2 0.1 0.3 0.2 0.4 0.0
Delay (s) 18.2 4.2 12.6 11.3 18.6 17.0
Level of Service B A B B B B
Approach Delay (s) 5.5 12.2 18.3
Approach LOS A B B

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 9.3 HCM 2000 Level of Service A
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.40
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 54.7 Sum of lost time (s) 10.6
Intersection Capacity Utilization 35.3% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 226 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd 05/30/2023

2025 Buid Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 2

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 80 794 478 208 121 31
Future Volume (veh/h) 80 794 478 208 121 31
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 90 892 537 234 136 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89
Percent Heavy Veh, % 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cap, veh/h 194 2773 2153 960 226
Arrive On Green 0.11 0.77 0.60 0.60 0.12 0.00
Sat Flow, veh/h 1810 3705 3705 1610 1810 1610
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 90 892 537 234 136 0
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1810 1805 1805 1610 1810 1610
Q Serve(g_s), s 2.9 4.7 4.4 4.2 4.4 0.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 2.9 4.7 4.4 4.2 4.4 0.0
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 194 2773 2153 960 226
V/C Ratio(X) 0.47 0.32 0.25 0.24 0.60
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 2666 19407 13854 6179 3645
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 25.9 2.2 5.9 5.9 25.6 0.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 1.3 0.1 0.1 0.2 1.9 0.0
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 1.2 0.3 1.1 1.0 1.9 0.0
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 27.2 2.3 6.0 6.1 27.5 0.0
LnGrp LOS C A A A C
Approach Vol, veh/h 982 771 136 A
Approach Delay, s/veh 4.6 6.0 27.5
Approach LOS A A C

Timer - Assigned Phs 4 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 51.4 10.3 10.6 40.8
Change Period (Y+Rc), s * 5.4 4.0 * 5.4 * 5.4
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s * 3.3E2 123.0 * 90 * 2.4E2
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 6.7 6.4 4.9 6.4
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 39.3 0.6 0.3 21.5

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 6.8
HCM 6th LOS A

Notes
* HCM 6th computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.
Unsignalized Delay for [SBR] is excluded from calculations of the approach delay and intersection delay.

Attachment 3 Page 227 of 420 



HCM 6th TWSC
2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd 05/30/2023

2025 Buid Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 6.9

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 40 90 33 11 174 102
Future Vol, veh/h 40 90 33 11 174 102
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - 140 - 115 0
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 90 90 90 90
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 0 13 0 0 2
Mvmt Flow 44 100 37 12 193 113
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 144 0 180 94
          Stage 1 - - - - 94 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 86 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.23 - 6.4 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.4 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.4 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.317 - 3.5 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1374 - 814 963
          Stage 1 - - - - 935 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 942 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1374 - 792 963
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 792 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 935 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 917 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 5.8 10.3
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 NBLn2 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 792 963 - - 1374 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.244 0.118 - - 0.027 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 11 9.2 - - 7.7 -
HCM Lane LOS B A - - A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 1 0.4 - - 0.1 -

Attachment 3 Page 228 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
10: Beltline & Gateway 05/30/2023

2025 Buid Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 4

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 467 796 522 40 390 122 355 224 64 126 158 214
Future Volume (vph) 467 796 522 40 390 122 355 224 64 126 158 214
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 3.8 3.8 3.8 3.8 3.8 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 0.97 0.91 0.88 1.00 0.91 0.97 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.88
Frt 1.00 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.96 1.00 0.97 1.00 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 3467 5136 2787 1805 4941 3433 1814 1805 1845 2707
Flt Permitted 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 3467 5136 2787 1805 4941 3433 1814 1805 1845 2707
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93
Adj. Flow (vph) 502 856 561 43 419 131 382 241 69 135 170 230
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 346 0 44 0 0 10 0 0 0 185
Lane Group Flow (vph) 502 856 215 43 506 0 382 300 0 135 170 45
Heavy Vehicles (%) 1% 1% 2% 0% 1% 2% 2% 1% 2% 0% 3% 5%
Turn Type Prot NA Perm Prot NA Prot NA Prot NA Perm
Protected Phases 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Permitted Phases 4 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 17.8 31.9 31.9 3.9 18.0 15.0 19.8 11.8 16.6 16.6
Effective Green, g (s) 19.2 33.3 33.3 5.3 19.4 15.5 20.3 12.3 17.1 17.1
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.22 0.38 0.38 0.06 0.22 0.18 0.23 0.14 0.20 0.20
Clearance Time (s) 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 4.0 4.0 2.5 4.0 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 766 1970 1069 110 1104 613 424 255 363 533
v/s Ratio Prot c0.14 c0.17 0.02 0.10 c0.11 c0.17 0.07 0.09
v/s Ratio Perm 0.08 0.02
v/c Ratio 0.66 0.43 0.20 0.39 0.46 0.62 0.71 0.53 0.47 0.09
Uniform Delay, d1 30.8 19.8 17.9 39.2 29.2 33.0 30.5 34.6 30.8 28.5
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 1.8 0.2 0.1 1.7 0.4 1.7 5.0 1.5 0.7 0.1
Delay (s) 32.6 20.0 18.0 40.9 29.6 34.7 35.5 36.1 31.5 28.5
Level of Service C B B D C C D D C C
Approach Delay (s) 22.7 30.4 35.0 31.4
Approach LOS C C D C

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 27.4 HCM 2000 Level of Service C
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.63
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 86.8 Sum of lost time (s) 15.6
Intersection Capacity Utilization 59.6% ICU Level of Service B
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 229 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
10: Beltline & Gateway 05/30/2023

2025 Buid Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 5

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 467 796 522 40 390 122 355 224 64 126 158 214
Future Volume (veh/h) 467 796 522 40 390 122 355 224 64 126 158 214
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1885 1885 1870 1900 1885 1870 1870 1885 1870 1900 1856 1826
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 502 856 561 43 419 131 382 241 69 135 170 230
Peak Hour Factor 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93
Percent Heavy Veh, % 1 1 2 0 1 2 2 1 2 0 3 5
Cap, veh/h 704 2243 1216 89 1110 334 534 297 85 186 295 433
Arrive On Green 0.20 0.44 0.44 0.05 0.28 0.26 0.15 0.21 0.20 0.10 0.16 0.16
Sat Flow, veh/h 3483 5147 2790 1810 3924 1180 3456 1409 403 1810 1856 2723
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 502 856 561 43 364 186 382 0 310 135 170 230
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1742 1716 1395 1810 1716 1673 1728 0 1813 1810 1856 1362
Q Serve(g_s), s 10.4 8.7 11.0 1.8 6.6 7.0 8.1 0.0 12.6 5.6 6.6 6.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 10.4 8.7 11.0 1.8 6.6 7.0 8.1 0.0 12.6 5.6 6.6 6.0
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.71 1.00 0.22 1.00 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 704 2243 1216 89 971 473 534 0 382 186 295 433
V/C Ratio(X) 0.71 0.38 0.46 0.48 0.38 0.39 0.72 0.00 0.81 0.72 0.58 0.53
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 1224 2539 1376 215 971 473 982 0 890 444 839 1231
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 28.8 14.8 15.4 35.8 22.3 22.8 31.1 0.0 29.2 33.7 30.1 29.9
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 1.0 0.2 0.4 3.0 0.3 0.8 1.3 0.0 3.2 4.0 1.3 0.8
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 4.1 3.0 3.1 0.8 2.5 2.6 3.3 0.0 5.5 2.6 2.9 1.9
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 29.8 14.9 15.8 38.8 22.6 23.6 32.5 0.0 32.3 37.6 31.5 30.7
LnGrp LOS C B B D C C C A C D C C
Approach Vol, veh/h 1919 593 692 535
Approach Delay, s/veh 19.1 24.1 32.4 32.7
Approach LOS B C C C

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 12.0 20.3 7.6 37.5 16.0 16.3 19.4 25.7
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.5 4.5 * 5.2 * 5.2 4.5 4.5 * 5.2 * 5.2
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 18.5 37.5 * 7.8 * 37 21.5 34.5 * 26 * 19
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 7.6 14.6 3.8 13.0 10.1 8.6 12.4 9.0
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.3 1.2 0.0 19.3 1.3 2.4 1.8 5.4

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 24.3
HCM 6th LOS C

Notes
User approved pedestrian interval to be less than phase max green.
* HCM 6th computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.

Attachment 3 Page 230 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
17: Gateway & Game Farm 05/30/2023

2025 Buid Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 6

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBU NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 0 3 21 41 2 58 2 32 571 198 74 434
Future Volume (vph) 0 3 21 41 2 58 2 32 571 198 74 434
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95
Frt 0.88 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.96 1.00 1.00
Flt Protected 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1513 1752 1593 1755 3395 1805 3425
Flt Permitted 1.00 0.69 1.00 0.48 1.00 0.27 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1513 1272 1593 884 3395 515 3425
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.90 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92
Adj. Flow (vph) 0 3 23 45 2 63 2 35 621 215 80 472
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 22 0 0 52 0 0 0 30 0 0 1
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 4 0 45 13 0 0 37 806 0 80 478
Heavy Vehicles (%) 0% 0% 12% 3% 0% 2% 0% 3% 3% 0% 0% 5%
Turn Type NA pm+pt NA custom pm+pt NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Permitted Phases 4 8 5 2 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 1.8 9.0 9.0 28.3 26.5 31.1 27.9
Effective Green, g (s) 1.8 9.5 9.5 29.3 27.0 32.1 28.4
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.03 0.18 0.18 0.56 0.52 0.61 0.54
Clearance Time (s) 4.0 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 4.0 2.5 4.0
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 52 265 289 534 1756 408 1863
v/s Ratio Prot 0.00 c0.01 0.01 0.00 c0.24 c0.01 0.14
v/s Ratio Perm c0.02 0.04 0.11
v/c Ratio 0.07 0.17 0.05 0.07 0.46 0.20 0.26
Uniform Delay, d1 24.4 18.0 17.6 5.1 8.0 4.4 6.3
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.4 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.2 0.1
Delay (s) 24.8 18.2 17.7 5.2 8.2 4.6 6.4
Level of Service C B B A A A A
Approach Delay (s) 24.8 17.9 8.1 6.1
Approach LOS C B A A

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 8.4 HCM 2000 Level of Service A
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.40
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 52.2 Sum of lost time (s) 16.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 45.1% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 231 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
17: Gateway & Game Farm 05/30/2023

2025 Buid Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 7

Movement SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 6
Future Volume (vph) 6
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900
Total Lost time (s)
Lane Util. Factor
Frt
Flt Protected
Satd. Flow (prot)
Flt Permitted
Satd. Flow (perm)
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.92
Adj. Flow (vph) 7
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0
Heavy Vehicles (%) 17%
Turn Type
Protected Phases
Permitted Phases
Actuated Green, G (s)
Effective Green, g (s)
Actuated g/C Ratio
Clearance Time (s)
Vehicle Extension (s)
Lane Grp Cap (vph)
v/s Ratio Prot
v/s Ratio Perm
v/c Ratio
Uniform Delay, d1
Progression Factor
Incremental Delay, d2
Delay (s)
Level of Service
Approach Delay (s)
Approach LOS

Intersection Summary

Attachment 3 Page 232 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
17: Gateway & Game Farm 05/30/2023

2025 Buid Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 8

HCM 6th Edition cannot analyze u-turn movements.

Attachment 3 Page 233 of 420 



HCM 6th TWSC
20: E Game Farm Rd & South Site Access 05/30/2023

2025 Buid Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 9

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.6

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 130 149 37 0 20
Future Vol, veh/h 0 130 149 37 0 20
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - - 0
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 90 90 90 90
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 0 0 0
Mvmt Flow 0 144 166 41 0 22
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All - 0 - 0 - 187
          Stage 1 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy - - - - - 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy - - - - - 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 0 - - - 0 860
          Stage 1 0 - - - 0 -
          Stage 2 0 - - - 0 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - - - - 860
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - -
          Stage 1 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0 9.3
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBT WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) - - - 860
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - 0.026
HCM Control Delay (s) - - - 9.3
HCM Lane LOS - - - A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - - 0.1

Attachment 3 Page 234 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd 05/31/2023

2030 Background Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 1

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 66 870 524 212 129 29
Future Volume (vph) 66 870 524 212 129 29
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 2.6 2.6
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1805 3610 3610 1615 1805 1615
Flt Permitted 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1805 3610 3610 1615 1805 1615
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89
Adj. Flow (vph) 74 978 589 238 145 33
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 137 0 20
Lane Group Flow (vph) 74 978 589 101 145 13
Turn Type Prot NA NA Perm Prot Perm
Protected Phases 7 4 8 6
Permitted Phases 8 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 9.3 35.9 21.2 21.2 10.8 10.8
Effective Green, g (s) 10.7 37.3 22.6 22.6 12.2 12.2
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.19 0.66 0.40 0.40 0.22 0.22
Clearance Time (s) 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 4.0 4.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 4.0 4.0 4.0 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 344 2400 1454 650 392 351
v/s Ratio Prot 0.04 c0.27 0.16 c0.08
v/s Ratio Perm 0.06 0.01
v/c Ratio 0.22 0.41 0.41 0.16 0.37 0.04
Uniform Delay, d1 19.2 4.3 12.0 10.7 18.7 17.3
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.4 0.0
Delay (s) 19.4 4.5 12.2 10.8 19.1 17.3
Level of Service B A B B B B
Approach Delay (s) 5.5 11.8 18.8
Approach LOS A B B

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 9.2 HCM 2000 Level of Service A
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.43
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 56.1 Sum of lost time (s) 10.6
Intersection Capacity Utilization 37.9% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 235 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd 05/31/2023

2030 Background Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 2

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 66 870 524 212 129 29
Future Volume (veh/h) 66 870 524 212 129 29
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 74 978 589 238 145 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89
Percent Heavy Veh, % 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cap, veh/h 160 2833 2316 1033 227
Arrive On Green 0.09 0.78 0.64 0.64 0.13 0.00
Sat Flow, veh/h 1810 3705 3705 1610 1810 1610
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 74 978 589 238 145 0
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1810 1805 1805 1610 1810 1610
Q Serve(g_s), s 2.9 5.9 5.1 4.6 5.6 0.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 2.9 5.9 5.1 4.6 5.6 0.0
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 160 2833 2316 1033 227
V/C Ratio(X) 0.46 0.35 0.25 0.23 0.64
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 1775 16424 12687 5659 3017
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 31.8 2.3 5.6 5.5 30.5 0.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 1.5 0.1 0.1 0.2 2.2 0.0
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 1.2 0.6 1.3 1.1 2.5 0.0
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 33.3 2.4 5.7 5.7 32.7 0.0
LnGrp LOS C A A A C
Approach Vol, veh/h 1052 827 145 A
Approach Delay, s/veh 4.6 5.7 32.7
Approach LOS A A C

Timer - Assigned Phs 4 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 61.6 11.8 10.5 51.1
Change Period (Y+Rc), s * 5.4 4.0 * 5.4 * 5.4
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s * 3.3E2 121.0 * 71 * 2.6E2
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 7.9 7.6 4.9 7.1
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 48.3 0.6 0.3 24.6

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 7.1
HCM 6th LOS A

Notes
* HCM 6th computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.
Unsignalized Delay for [SBR] is excluded from calculations of the approach delay and intersection delay.

Attachment 3 Page 236 of 420 



HCM 6th TWSC
2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd 05/31/2023

2030 Background Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 6.8

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 35 90 36 10 153 112
Future Vol, veh/h 35 90 36 10 153 112
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - 140 - 115 0
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 90 90 90 90
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 0 13 0 0 2
Mvmt Flow 39 100 40 11 170 124
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 139 0 180 89
          Stage 1 - - - - 89 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 91 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.23 - 6.4 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.4 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.4 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.317 - 3.5 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1380 - 814 969
          Stage 1 - - - - 940 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 938 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1380 - 790 969
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 790 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 940 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 911 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 6 10.2
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 NBLn2 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 790 969 - - 1380 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.215 0.128 - - 0.029 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 10.8 9.3 - - 7.7 -
HCM Lane LOS B A - - A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.8 0.4 - - 0.1 -

Attachment 3 Page 237 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
10: Beltline & Gateway 05/31/2023

2030 Background Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 4

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBU WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 504 862 572 2 42 424 133 389 238 59 138 171
Future Volume (vph) 504 862 572 2 42 424 133 389 238 59 138 171
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 3.8 3.8 3.8 3.8 3.8 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 0.97 0.91 0.88 1.00 0.91 0.97 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.96 1.00 0.97 1.00 1.00
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 3502 5187 2842 1805 5001 3502 1843 1805 1900
Flt Permitted 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.14 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 3502 5187 2842 259 5001 3502 1843 1805 1900
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90
Adj. Flow (vph) 560 958 636 2 47 471 148 432 264 66 153 190
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 473 0 0 48 0 0 8 0 0 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 560 958 163 0 49 571 0 432 322 0 153 190
Turn Type Prot NA Perm custom Prot NA Prot NA Prot NA
Protected Phases 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Permitted Phases 4 3
Actuated Green, G (s) 21.3 25.9 25.9 27.9 32.5 16.2 22.3 11.1 17.2
Effective Green, g (s) 22.7 27.3 27.3 29.3 33.9 16.7 22.8 11.6 17.7
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.21 0.26 0.26 0.27 0.32 0.16 0.21 0.11 0.17
Clearance Time (s) 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 4.0 4.0 2.5 4.0 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 745 1328 727 71 1590 548 394 196 315
v/s Ratio Prot c0.16 c0.18 0.11 c0.12 c0.17 0.08 0.10
v/s Ratio Perm 0.06 c0.19
v/c Ratio 0.75 0.72 0.22 0.69 0.36 0.79 0.82 0.78 0.60
Uniform Delay, d1 39.3 36.2 31.3 34.6 28.0 43.2 39.9 46.3 41.2
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 4.1 2.1 0.2 23.3 0.2 7.1 12.1 17.4 2.7
Delay (s) 43.4 38.3 31.5 57.9 28.2 50.4 52.0 63.7 43.9
Level of Service D D C E C D D E D
Approach Delay (s) 37.6 30.4 51.1 46.3
Approach LOS D C D D

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 40.2 HCM 2000 Level of Service D
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.77
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 106.6 Sum of lost time (s) 15.6
Intersection Capacity Utilization 62.6% ICU Level of Service B
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 238 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
10: Beltline & Gateway 05/31/2023

2030 Background Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 5

Movement SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 231
Future Volume (vph) 231
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 0.88
Frt 0.85
Flt Protected 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 2842
Flt Permitted 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 2842
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.90
Adj. Flow (vph) 257
RTOR Reduction (vph) 214
Lane Group Flow (vph) 43
Turn Type Perm
Protected Phases
Permitted Phases 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 17.2
Effective Green, g (s) 17.7
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.17
Clearance Time (s) 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 471
v/s Ratio Prot
v/s Ratio Perm 0.02
v/c Ratio 0.09
Uniform Delay, d1 37.6
Progression Factor 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.1
Delay (s) 37.7
Level of Service D
Approach Delay (s)
Approach LOS

Intersection Summary

Attachment 3 Page 239 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
10: Beltline & Gateway 05/31/2023

2030 Background Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 6

HCM 6th Edition cannot analyze u-turn movements.

Attachment 3 Page 240 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
17: Gateway & Game Farm 05/31/2023

2030 Background Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 7

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBU NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 0 3 23 40 2 60 2 35 626 202 71 475
Future Volume (vph) 0 3 23 40 2 60 2 35 626 202 71 475
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95
Frt 0.88 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.96 1.00 1.00
Flt Protected 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1670 1805 1623 1805 3478 1805 3602
Flt Permitted 1.00 0.69 1.00 0.45 1.00 0.24 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1670 1310 1623 860 3478 458 3602
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90
Adj. Flow (vph) 0 3 26 44 2 67 2 39 696 224 79 528
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 25 0 0 55 0 0 0 26 0 0 1
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 4 0 44 14 0 0 41 894 0 79 535
Turn Type NA pm+pt NA custom pm+pt NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Permitted Phases 4 8 5 2 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 1.8 9.0 9.0 29.7 27.9 32.5 29.3
Effective Green, g (s) 1.8 9.5 9.5 30.7 28.4 33.5 29.8
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.03 0.18 0.18 0.57 0.53 0.62 0.56
Clearance Time (s) 4.0 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 4.0 2.5 4.0
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 56 266 287 533 1842 379 2002
v/s Ratio Prot 0.00 c0.01 0.01 0.00 c0.26 c0.01 0.15
v/s Ratio Perm c0.02 0.04 0.12
v/c Ratio 0.07 0.17 0.05 0.08 0.49 0.21 0.27
Uniform Delay, d1 25.1 18.6 18.3 5.0 8.0 4.4 6.2
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.4 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.3 0.2 0.1
Delay (s) 25.5 18.8 18.3 5.1 8.2 4.6 6.3
Level of Service C B B A A A A
Approach Delay (s) 25.5 18.5 8.1 6.1
Approach LOS C B A A

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 8.4 HCM 2000 Level of Service A
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.43
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 53.6 Sum of lost time (s) 16.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 46.6% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 241 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
17: Gateway & Game Farm 05/31/2023

2030 Background Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 8

Movement SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 7
Future Volume (vph) 7
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900
Total Lost time (s)
Lane Util. Factor
Frt
Flt Protected
Satd. Flow (prot)
Flt Permitted
Satd. Flow (perm)
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.90
Adj. Flow (vph) 8
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0
Turn Type
Protected Phases
Permitted Phases
Actuated Green, G (s)
Effective Green, g (s)
Actuated g/C Ratio
Clearance Time (s)
Vehicle Extension (s)
Lane Grp Cap (vph)
v/s Ratio Prot
v/s Ratio Perm
v/c Ratio
Uniform Delay, d1
Progression Factor
Incremental Delay, d2
Delay (s)
Level of Service
Approach Delay (s)
Approach LOS

Intersection Summary

Attachment 3 Page 242 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
17: Gateway & Game Farm 05/31/2023

2030 Background Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 9

HCM 6th Edition cannot analyze u-turn movements.

Attachment 3 Page 243 of 420 



Attachment 3 Page 244 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd 05/31/2023

2030 Buid Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 1

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 86 870 524 227 132 34
Future Volume (vph) 86 870 524 227 132 34
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 2.6 2.6
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1805 3610 3610 1615 1805 1615
Flt Permitted 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1805 3610 3610 1615 1805 1615
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89
Adj. Flow (vph) 97 978 589 255 148 38
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 137 0 23
Lane Group Flow (vph) 97 978 589 118 148 15
Turn Type Prot NA NA Perm Prot Perm
Protected Phases 7 4 8 6
Permitted Phases 8 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 10.9 38.6 22.3 22.3 11.7 11.7
Effective Green, g (s) 12.3 40.0 23.7 23.7 13.1 13.1
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.21 0.67 0.40 0.40 0.22 0.22
Clearance Time (s) 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 4.0 4.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 4.0 4.0 4.0 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 371 2418 1433 641 396 354
v/s Ratio Prot 0.05 c0.27 0.16 c0.08
v/s Ratio Perm 0.07 0.01
v/c Ratio 0.26 0.40 0.41 0.18 0.37 0.04
Uniform Delay, d1 19.9 4.5 13.0 11.7 19.8 18.4
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.3 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.4 0.0
Delay (s) 20.2 4.6 13.2 11.9 20.2 18.4
Level of Service C A B B C B
Approach Delay (s) 6.0 12.8 19.9
Approach LOS A B B

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 10.0 HCM 2000 Level of Service A
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.43
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 59.7 Sum of lost time (s) 10.6
Intersection Capacity Utilization 38.0% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 245 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd 05/31/2023

2030 Buid Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 2

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 86 870 524 227 132 34
Future Volume (veh/h) 86 870 524 227 132 34
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 97 978 589 255 148 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89
Percent Heavy Veh, % 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cap, veh/h 184 2827 2263 1010 230
Arrive On Green 0.10 0.78 0.63 0.63 0.13 0.00
Sat Flow, veh/h 1810 3705 3705 1610 1810 1610
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 97 978 589 255 148 0
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1810 1805 1805 1610 1810 1610
Q Serve(g_s), s 3.7 5.9 5.4 5.2 5.7 0.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 3.7 5.9 5.4 5.2 5.7 0.0
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 184 2827 2263 1010 230
V/C Ratio(X) 0.53 0.35 0.26 0.25 0.64
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 2162 16324 11814 5270 3032
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 31.4 2.4 6.1 6.1 30.5 0.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 1.7 0.1 0.1 0.2 2.2 0.0
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 1.6 0.6 1.5 1.3 2.6 0.0
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 33.1 2.5 6.2 6.3 32.8 0.0
LnGrp LOS C A A A C
Approach Vol, veh/h 1075 844 148 A
Approach Delay, s/veh 5.2 6.2 32.8
Approach LOS A A C

Timer - Assigned Phs 4 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 61.7 12.0 11.5 50.2
Change Period (Y+Rc), s * 5.4 4.0 * 5.4 * 5.4
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s * 3.3E2 122.0 * 87 * 2.4E2
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 7.9 7.7 5.7 7.4
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 48.3 0.7 0.3 25.1

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 7.6
HCM 6th LOS A

Notes
* HCM 6th computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.
Unsignalized Delay for [SBR] is excluded from calculations of the approach delay and intersection delay.

Attachment 3 Page 246 of 420 



HCM 6th TWSC
2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd 05/31/2023

2030 Buid Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 7.1

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 43 98 36 12 188 112
Future Vol, veh/h 43 98 36 12 188 112
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - 140 - 115 0
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 90 90 90 90
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 0 13 0 0 2
Mvmt Flow 48 109 40 13 209 124
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 157 0 196 103
          Stage 1 - - - - 103 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 93 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.23 - 6.4 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.4 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.4 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.317 - 3.5 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1358 - 797 952
          Stage 1 - - - - 926 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 936 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1358 - 774 952
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 774 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 926 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 909 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 5.8 10.6
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 NBLn2 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 774 952 - - 1358 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.27 0.131 - - 0.029 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 11.4 9.3 - - 7.7 -
HCM Lane LOS B A - - A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 1.1 0.4 - - 0.1 -

Attachment 3 Page 247 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
10: Beltline & Gateway 05/31/2023

2030 Buid Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 4

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBU WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 511 872 572 2 44 427 133 389 245 69 138 173
Future Volume (vph) 511 872 572 2 44 427 133 389 245 69 138 173
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 3.8 3.8 3.8 3.8 3.8 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 0.97 0.91 0.88 1.00 0.91 0.97 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.96 1.00 0.97 1.00 1.00
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 3502 5187 2842 1805 5002 3502 1837 1805 1900
Flt Permitted 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.14 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 3502 5187 2842 259 5002 3502 1837 1805 1900
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90
Adj. Flow (vph) 568 969 636 2 49 474 148 432 272 77 153 192
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 475 0 0 48 0 0 9 0 0 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 568 969 161 0 51 574 0 432 340 0 153 192
Turn Type Prot NA Perm custom Prot NA Prot NA Prot NA
Protected Phases 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Permitted Phases 4 3
Actuated Green, G (s) 21.7 25.9 25.9 28.0 32.2 16.3 23.6 11.0 18.3
Effective Green, g (s) 23.1 27.3 27.3 29.4 33.6 16.8 24.1 11.5 18.8
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.21 0.25 0.25 0.27 0.31 0.16 0.22 0.11 0.17
Clearance Time (s) 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 4.0 4.0 2.5 4.0 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 749 1312 719 70 1557 545 410 192 331
v/s Ratio Prot 0.16 c0.19 0.11 c0.12 c0.19 0.08 0.10
v/s Ratio Perm 0.06 c0.20
v/c Ratio 0.76 0.74 0.22 0.73 0.37 0.79 0.83 0.80 0.58
Uniform Delay, d1 39.8 37.0 31.9 35.6 28.9 43.9 40.0 47.1 40.9
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 4.2 2.4 0.2 29.6 0.2 7.5 13.1 19.5 2.1
Delay (s) 44.0 39.4 32.1 65.2 29.1 51.4 53.0 66.6 43.1
Level of Service D D C E C D D E D
Approach Delay (s) 38.5 31.8 52.1 46.6
Approach LOS D C D D

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 41.1 HCM 2000 Level of Service D
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.78
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 107.9 Sum of lost time (s) 15.6
Intersection Capacity Utilization 63.9% ICU Level of Service B
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 248 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
10: Beltline & Gateway 05/31/2023

2030 Buid Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 5

Movement SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 234
Future Volume (vph) 234
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 0.88
Frt 0.85
Flt Protected 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 2842
Flt Permitted 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 2842
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.90
Adj. Flow (vph) 260
RTOR Reduction (vph) 215
Lane Group Flow (vph) 45
Turn Type Perm
Protected Phases
Permitted Phases 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 18.3
Effective Green, g (s) 18.8
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.17
Clearance Time (s) 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 495
v/s Ratio Prot
v/s Ratio Perm 0.02
v/c Ratio 0.09
Uniform Delay, d1 37.4
Progression Factor 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.1
Delay (s) 37.4
Level of Service D
Approach Delay (s)
Approach LOS

Intersection Summary

Attachment 3 Page 249 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
10: Beltline & Gateway 05/31/2023

2030 Buid Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 6

HCM 6th Edition cannot analyze u-turn movements.

Attachment 3 Page 250 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
17: Gateway & Game Farm 05/31/2023

2030 Buid Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 7

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBU NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 0 3 23 45 2 63 2 35 626 216 81 475
Future Volume (vph) 0 3 23 45 2 63 2 35 626 216 81 475
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95
Frt 0.88 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.96 1.00 1.00
Flt Protected 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1670 1805 1623 1805 3471 1805 3602
Flt Permitted 1.00 0.68 1.00 0.45 1.00 0.21 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1670 1288 1623 860 3471 406 3602
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90
Adj. Flow (vph) 0 3 26 50 2 70 2 39 696 240 90 528
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 25 0 0 58 0 0 0 31 0 0 1
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 4 0 50 14 0 0 41 905 0 90 535
Turn Type NA pm+pt NA custom pm+pt NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Permitted Phases 4 8 5 2 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 1.9 9.3 9.3 29.9 28.0 36.3 31.2
Effective Green, g (s) 1.9 9.8 9.8 30.9 28.5 37.3 31.7
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.03 0.18 0.18 0.55 0.51 0.67 0.57
Clearance Time (s) 4.0 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 4.0 2.5 4.0
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 56 261 284 515 1769 411 2042
v/s Ratio Prot 0.00 c0.01 0.01 0.00 c0.26 c0.02 0.15
v/s Ratio Perm c0.02 0.04 0.12
v/c Ratio 0.07 0.19 0.05 0.08 0.51 0.22 0.26
Uniform Delay, d1 26.1 19.6 19.2 5.7 9.1 4.2 6.2
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.4 0.3 0.1 0.0 0.3 0.2 0.1
Delay (s) 26.5 19.8 19.2 5.8 9.4 4.4 6.2
Level of Service C B B A A A A
Approach Delay (s) 26.5 19.5 9.3 6.0
Approach LOS C B A A

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 9.1 HCM 2000 Level of Service A
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.44
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 55.9 Sum of lost time (s) 16.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 47.9% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 251 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
17: Gateway & Game Farm 05/31/2023

2030 Buid Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 8

Movement SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 7
Future Volume (vph) 7
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900
Total Lost time (s)
Lane Util. Factor
Frt
Flt Protected
Satd. Flow (prot)
Flt Permitted
Satd. Flow (perm)
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.90
Adj. Flow (vph) 8
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0
Turn Type
Protected Phases
Permitted Phases
Actuated Green, G (s)
Effective Green, g (s)
Actuated g/C Ratio
Clearance Time (s)
Vehicle Extension (s)
Lane Grp Cap (vph)
v/s Ratio Prot
v/s Ratio Perm
v/c Ratio
Uniform Delay, d1
Progression Factor
Incremental Delay, d2
Delay (s)
Level of Service
Approach Delay (s)
Approach LOS

Intersection Summary

Attachment 3 Page 252 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
17: Gateway & Game Farm 05/31/2023

2030 Buid Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 9

HCM 6th Edition cannot analyze u-turn movements.

Attachment 3 Page 253 of 420 



HCM 6th TWSC
20: E Game Farm Rd & South Site Access 05/31/2023

2030 Buid Am  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 10

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.5

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 141 163 37 0 20
Future Vol, veh/h 0 141 163 37 0 20
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - - 0
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 90 90 90 90
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 0 0 0
Mvmt Flow 0 157 181 41 0 22
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All - 0 - 0 - 202
          Stage 1 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy - - - - - 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy - - - - - 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 0 - - - 0 844
          Stage 1 0 - - - 0 -
          Stage 2 0 - - - 0 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - - - - 844
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - -
          Stage 1 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0 9.4
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBT WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) - - - 844
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - 0.026
HCM Control Delay (s) - - - 9.4
HCM Lane LOS - - - A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - - 0.1

Attachment 3 Page 254 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd 05/31/2023

2023 Background Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 1

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 26 681 711 109 233 51
Future Volume (vph) 26 681 711 109 233 51
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 2.6 2.6
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1671 3610 3610 1599 1770 1615
Flt Permitted 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1671 3610 3610 1599 1770 1615
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86
Adj. Flow (vph) 30 792 827 127 271 59
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 46 0 18
Lane Group Flow (vph) 30 792 827 81 271 41
Heavy Vehicles (%) 8% 0% 0% 1% 2% 0%
Turn Type Prot NA NA Perm Prot Perm
Protected Phases 7 4 8 6
Permitted Phases 8 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 7.9 49.9 36.6 36.6 21.5 21.5
Effective Green, g (s) 9.3 51.3 38.0 38.0 22.9 22.9
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.12 0.63 0.47 0.47 0.28 0.28
Clearance Time (s) 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 4.0 4.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 4.0 4.0 4.0 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 192 2291 1697 752 501 457
v/s Ratio Prot 0.02 c0.22 c0.23 c0.15
v/s Ratio Perm 0.05 0.03
v/c Ratio 0.16 0.35 0.49 0.11 0.54 0.09
Uniform Delay, d1 32.2 6.9 14.7 11.9 24.5 21.3
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.3 0.1 0.3 0.1 0.9 0.1
Delay (s) 32.5 7.0 15.0 12.0 25.4 21.3
Level of Service C A B B C C
Approach Delay (s) 8.0 14.6 24.7
Approach LOS A B C

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 13.6 HCM 2000 Level of Service B
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.49
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 80.8 Sum of lost time (s) 10.6
Intersection Capacity Utilization 41.2% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 255 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd 05/31/2023

2023 Background Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 2

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 26 681 711 109 233 51
Future Volume (veh/h) 26 681 711 109 233 51
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1781 1900 1900 1885 1870 1900
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 30 792 827 127 271 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86
Percent Heavy Veh, % 8 0 0 1 2 0
Cap, veh/h 109 2609 2205 976 354
Arrive On Green 0.06 0.72 0.61 0.61 0.20 0.00
Sat Flow, veh/h 1697 3705 3705 1598 1781 1610
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 30 792 827 127 271 0
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1697 1805 1805 1598 1781 1610
Q Serve(g_s), s 1.4 6.6 9.7 2.8 12.1 0.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 1.4 6.6 9.7 2.8 12.1 0.0
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 109 2609 2205 976 354
V/C Ratio(X) 0.28 0.30 0.37 0.13 0.76
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 1492 14288 10941 4842 2613
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 37.5 4.1 8.3 6.9 31.8 0.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 1.0 0.1 0.2 0.1 2.6 0.0
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 0.6 1.5 3.0 0.8 5.4 0.0
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 38.5 4.2 8.4 7.0 34.4 0.0
LnGrp LOS D A A A C
Approach Vol, veh/h 822 954 271 A
Approach Delay, s/veh 5.5 8.2 34.4
Approach LOS A A C

Timer - Assigned Phs 4 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 64.8 19.3 9.4 55.4
Change Period (Y+Rc), s * 5.4 4.0 * 5.4 * 5.4
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s * 3.3E2 122.0 * 73 * 2.5E2
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 8.6 14.1 3.4 11.7
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 31.0 1.3 0.1 38.3

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 10.6
HCM 6th LOS B

Notes
* HCM 6th computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.
Unsignalized Delay for [SBR] is excluded from calculations of the approach delay and intersection delay.

Attachment 3 Page 256 of 420 



HCM 6th TWSC
2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd 05/31/2023

2023 Background Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 5

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 40 207 83 34 112 32
Future Vol, veh/h 40 207 83 34 112 32
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - 140 - 115 0
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 81 81 81 81 81 81
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 1 0 1 0
Mvmt Flow 49 256 102 42 138 40
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 305 0 423 177
          Stage 1 - - - - 177 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 246 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.11 - 6.41 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.41 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.41 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.209 - 3.509 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1262 - 589 871
          Stage 1 - - - - 856 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 797 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1262 - 541 871
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 541 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 856 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 732 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 5.7 12.9
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 NBLn2 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 541 871 - - 1262 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.256 0.045 - - 0.081 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 13.9 9.3 - - 8.1 -
HCM Lane LOS B A - - A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 1 0.1 - - 0.3 -

Attachment 3 Page 257 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
10: Beltline & Gateway 05/31/2023

2023 Background Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 4

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBU WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBU SBL
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 280 496 778 2 117 612 97 605 200 75 2 154
Future Volume (vph) 280 496 778 2 117 612 97 605 200 75 2 154
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 3.8 3.8 3.8 3.8 3.8 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 0.97 0.91 0.88 1.00 0.91 0.97 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.98 1.00 0.96 1.00
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95
Satd. Flow (prot) 3400 5085 2787 1805 5030 3433 1804 1787
Flt Permitted 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.13 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.08
Satd. Flow (perm) 3400 5085 2787 252 5030 3433 1804 157
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.71 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.71 0.96
Adj. Flow (vph) 292 517 810 3 122 638 101 630 208 78 3 160
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 733 0 0 18 0 0 11 0 0 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 292 517 77 0 125 721 0 630 275 0 0 163
Heavy Vehicles (%) 3% 2% 2% 0% 0% 1% 1% 2% 1% 1% 0% 1%
Turn Type Prot NA Perm custom Prot NA Prot NA custom Prot
Protected Phases 7 4 3 8 5 2 1
Permitted Phases 4 3 1
Actuated Green, G (s) 11.7 10.0 10.0 28.8 27.1 25.7 14.3 47.5
Effective Green, g (s) 13.1 11.4 11.4 30.2 28.5 26.2 14.8 48.0
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.11 0.10 0.10 0.25 0.24 0.22 0.12 0.40
Clearance Time (s) 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 4.5 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 4.0 4.0 2.5 4.0 2.5 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 371 483 264 63 1194 749 222 62
v/s Ratio Prot 0.09 c0.10 0.14 0.18 c0.15
v/s Ratio Perm 0.03 c0.50 c1.04
v/c Ratio 0.79 1.07 0.29 1.98 0.60 0.84 1.24 2.63
Uniform Delay, d1 52.1 54.3 50.5 44.9 40.7 44.9 52.6 36.0
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 10.2 61.1 0.8 494.5 1.0 8.3 139.1 777.3
Delay (s) 62.3 115.4 51.4 539.4 41.7 53.2 191.7 813.3
Level of Service E F D F D D F F
Approach Delay (s) 73.8 113.7 96.5
Approach LOS E F F

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 104.8 HCM 2000 Level of Service F
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 2.06
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 120.0 Sum of lost time (s) 15.6
Intersection Capacity Utilization 66.9% ICU Level of Service C
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 258 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
10: Beltline & Gateway 05/31/2023

2023 Background Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 5

Movement SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 272 611
Future Volume (vph) 272 611
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.88
Frt 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1881 2842
Flt Permitted 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1881 2842
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.96 0.96
Adj. Flow (vph) 283 636
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 284
Lane Group Flow (vph) 283 352
Heavy Vehicles (%) 1% 0%
Turn Type NA Perm
Protected Phases 6
Permitted Phases 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 36.1 36.1
Effective Green, g (s) 36.6 36.6
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.31 0.31
Clearance Time (s) 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 573 866
v/s Ratio Prot 0.15
v/s Ratio Perm 0.12
v/c Ratio 0.49 0.41
Uniform Delay, d1 34.1 33.1
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.5 0.2
Delay (s) 34.6 33.3
Level of Service C C
Approach Delay (s) 151.2
Approach LOS F

Intersection Summary

Attachment 3 Page 259 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
10: Beltline & Gateway 05/31/2023

2023 Background Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 6

HCM 6th Edition cannot analyze u-turn movements.

Attachment 3 Page 260 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
17: Gateway & Game Farm 05/31/2023

2023 Background Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 7

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBU NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 3 2 27 190 3 82 11 53 464 47 118 809
Future Volume (vph) 3 2 27 190 3 82 11 53 464 47 118 809
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95
Frt 0.88 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.99 1.00 1.00
Flt Protected 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1673 1787 1624 1805 3528 1805 3537
Flt Permitted 1.00 0.68 1.00 0.23 1.00 0.35 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1680 1275 1624 445 3528 667 3537
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.71 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91
Adj. Flow (vph) 3 2 30 209 3 90 15 58 510 52 130 889
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 29 0 0 63 0 0 0 7 0 0 1
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 6 0 209 30 0 0 73 555 0 130 893
Heavy Vehicles (%) 0% 0% 0% 1% 0% 0% 0% 0% 1% 0% 0% 2%
Turn Type Perm NA pm+pt NA custom pm+pt NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Permitted Phases 4 8 5 2 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 1.9 17.0 17.0 25.9 22.1 29.9 24.1
Effective Green, g (s) 1.9 17.5 17.5 26.9 22.6 30.9 24.6
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.03 0.30 0.30 0.46 0.39 0.53 0.42
Clearance Time (s) 4.0 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 4.0 2.5 4.0
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 54 483 486 305 1365 475 1489
v/s Ratio Prot c0.09 0.02 0.02 0.16 c0.03 c0.25
v/s Ratio Perm 0.00 c0.04 0.09 0.12
v/c Ratio 0.11 0.43 0.06 0.24 0.41 0.27 0.60
Uniform Delay, d1 27.4 16.3 14.6 9.2 13.0 7.2 13.1
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.7 0.5 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.8
Delay (s) 28.1 16.7 14.6 9.5 13.3 7.5 13.9
Level of Service C B B A B A B
Approach Delay (s) 28.1 16.1 12.9 13.1
Approach LOS C B B B

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 13.7 HCM 2000 Level of Service B
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.56
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 58.4 Sum of lost time (s) 16.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 53.3% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 261 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
17: Gateway & Game Farm 05/31/2023

2023 Background Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 8

Movement SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 5
Future Volume (vph) 5
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900
Total Lost time (s)
Lane Util. Factor
Frt
Flt Protected
Satd. Flow (prot)
Flt Permitted
Satd. Flow (perm)
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.91
Adj. Flow (vph) 5
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0
Heavy Vehicles (%) 0%
Turn Type
Protected Phases
Permitted Phases
Actuated Green, G (s)
Effective Green, g (s)
Actuated g/C Ratio
Clearance Time (s)
Vehicle Extension (s)
Lane Grp Cap (vph)
v/s Ratio Prot
v/s Ratio Perm
v/c Ratio
Uniform Delay, d1
Progression Factor
Incremental Delay, d2
Delay (s)
Level of Service
Approach Delay (s)
Approach LOS

Intersection Summary

Attachment 3 Page 262 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
17: Gateway & Game Farm 05/31/2023

2023 Background Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 9

HCM 6th Edition cannot analyze u-turn movements.

Attachment 3 Page 263 of 420 



Attachment 3 Page 264 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd 05/30/2023

2025 Background Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 1

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 27 708 739 113 242 53
Future Volume (vph) 27 708 739 113 242 53
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 2.6 2.6
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1671 3610 3610 1599 1770 1615
Flt Permitted 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1671 3610 3610 1599 1770 1615
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86
Adj. Flow (vph) 31 823 859 131 281 62
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 45 0 21
Lane Group Flow (vph) 31 823 859 86 281 41
Heavy Vehicles (%) 8% 0% 0% 1% 2% 0%
Turn Type Prot NA NA Perm Prot Perm
Protected Phases 7 4 8 6
Permitted Phases 8 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 8.8 52.2 38.0 38.0 29.2 29.2
Effective Green, g (s) 10.2 53.6 39.4 39.4 30.6 30.6
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.11 0.59 0.43 0.43 0.34 0.34
Clearance Time (s) 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 4.0 4.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 4.0 4.0 4.0 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 187 2131 1566 693 596 544
v/s Ratio Prot 0.02 c0.23 c0.24 c0.16
v/s Ratio Perm 0.05 0.03
v/c Ratio 0.17 0.39 0.55 0.12 0.47 0.08
Uniform Delay, d1 36.5 9.9 19.1 15.4 23.7 20.5
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.3 0.2 0.5 0.1 0.4 0.0
Delay (s) 36.8 10.0 19.6 15.5 24.2 20.5
Level of Service D B B B C C
Approach Delay (s) 11.0 19.0 23.5
Approach LOS B B C

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 16.6 HCM 2000 Level of Service B
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.51
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 90.8 Sum of lost time (s) 10.6
Intersection Capacity Utilization 42.5% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 265 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd 05/30/2023

2025 Background Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 2

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 27 708 739 113 242 53
Future Volume (veh/h) 27 708 739 113 242 53
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1781 1900 1900 1885 1870 1900
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 31 823 859 131 281 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86
Percent Heavy Veh, % 8 0 0 1 2 0
Cap, veh/h 102 2614 2235 989 360
Arrive On Green 0.06 0.72 0.62 0.62 0.20 0.00
Sat Flow, veh/h 1697 3705 3705 1598 1781 1610
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 31 823 859 131 281 0
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1697 1805 1805 1598 1781 1610
Q Serve(g_s), s 1.6 7.3 10.6 3.0 13.4 0.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 1.6 7.3 10.6 3.0 13.4 0.0
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 102 2614 2235 989 360
V/C Ratio(X) 0.30 0.31 0.38 0.13 0.78
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 607 11174 9722 4302 3571
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 40.2 4.4 8.5 7.1 33.8 0.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 1.2 0.1 0.2 0.1 2.8 0.0
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 0.7 1.8 3.4 0.9 6.0 0.0
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 41.5 4.5 8.7 7.2 36.6 0.0
LnGrp LOS D A A A D
Approach Vol, veh/h 854 990 281 A
Approach Delay, s/veh 5.8 8.5 36.6
Approach LOS A A D

Timer - Assigned Phs 4 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 68.8 20.7 9.4 59.4
Change Period (Y+Rc), s * 5.4 4.0 * 5.4 * 5.4
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s * 2.8E2 178.0 * 31 * 2.4E2
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 9.3 15.4 3.6 12.6
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 33.3 1.3 0.1 41.4

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 11.1
HCM 6th LOS B

Notes
* HCM 6th computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.
Unsignalized Delay for [SBR] is excluded from calculations of the approach delay and intersection delay.

Attachment 3 Page 266 of 420 



HCM 6th TWSC
2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd 05/30/2023

2025 Background Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 5.1

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 42 215 86 35 116 33
Future Vol, veh/h 42 215 86 35 116 33
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - 140 - 115 0
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 81 81 81 81 81 81
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 1 0 1 0
Mvmt Flow 52 265 106 43 143 41
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 317 0 440 185
          Stage 1 - - - - 185 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 255 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.11 - 6.41 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.41 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.41 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.209 - 3.509 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1249 - 576 862
          Stage 1 - - - - 849 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 790 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1249 - 527 862
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 527 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 849 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 723 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 5.8 13.3
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 NBLn2 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 527 862 - - 1249 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.272 0.047 - - 0.085 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 14.4 9.4 - - 8.2 -
HCM Lane LOS B A - - A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 1.1 0.1 - - 0.3 -

Attachment 3 Page 267 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
10: Beltline & Gateway 05/30/2023

2025 Background Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 4

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBU WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBU SBL
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 291 516 809 2 122 636 101 629 208 78 2 160
Future Volume (vph) 291 516 809 2 122 636 101 629 208 78 2 160
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 3.8 3.8 3.8 3.8 3.8 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 0.97 0.91 0.88 1.00 0.91 0.97 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.98 1.00 0.96 1.00
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95
Satd. Flow (prot) 3400 5085 2787 1805 5030 3433 1804 1787
Flt Permitted 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.13 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.08
Satd. Flow (perm) 3400 5085 2787 252 5030 3433 1804 154
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.71 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.71 0.96
Adj. Flow (vph) 303 538 843 3 127 662 105 655 217 81 3 167
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 763 0 0 18 0 0 12 0 0 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 303 538 80 0 130 750 0 655 286 0 0 170
Heavy Vehicles (%) 3% 2% 2% 0% 0% 1% 1% 2% 1% 1% 0% 1%
Turn Type Prot NA Perm custom Prot NA Prot NA custom Prot
Protected Phases 7 4 3 8 5 2 1
Permitted Phases 4 3 1
Actuated Green, G (s) 12.5 10.0 10.0 28.8 26.3 26.6 13.3 48.5
Effective Green, g (s) 13.9 11.4 11.4 30.2 27.7 27.1 13.8 49.0
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.12 0.10 0.10 0.25 0.23 0.23 0.12 0.41
Clearance Time (s) 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 4.5 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 4.0 4.0 2.5 4.0 2.5 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 393 483 264 63 1161 775 207 62
v/s Ratio Prot 0.09 c0.11 0.15 0.19 c0.16
v/s Ratio Perm 0.03 c0.52 c1.11
v/c Ratio 0.77 1.11 0.30 2.06 0.65 0.85 1.38 2.74
Uniform Delay, d1 51.5 54.3 50.6 44.9 41.7 44.4 53.1 35.5
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 8.7 75.9 0.9 528.7 1.4 8.3 199.9 827.2
Delay (s) 60.2 130.2 51.5 573.6 43.1 52.7 253.0 862.7
Level of Service E F D F D D F F
Approach Delay (s) 78.2 119.9 115.4
Approach LOS E F F

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 113.5 HCM 2000 Level of Service F
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 2.17
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 120.0 Sum of lost time (s) 15.6
Intersection Capacity Utilization 69.0% ICU Level of Service C
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 268 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
10: Beltline & Gateway 05/30/2023

2025 Background Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 5

Movement SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 283 635
Future Volume (vph) 283 635
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.88
Frt 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1881 2842
Flt Permitted 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1881 2842
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.96 0.96
Adj. Flow (vph) 295 661
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 301
Lane Group Flow (vph) 295 360
Heavy Vehicles (%) 1% 0%
Turn Type NA Perm
Protected Phases 6
Permitted Phases 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 35.2 35.2
Effective Green, g (s) 35.7 35.7
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.30 0.30
Clearance Time (s) 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 559 845
v/s Ratio Prot 0.16
v/s Ratio Perm 0.13
v/c Ratio 0.53 0.43
Uniform Delay, d1 35.1 33.9
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.7 0.3
Delay (s) 35.8 34.2
Level of Service D C
Approach Delay (s) 159.7
Approach LOS F

Intersection Summary

Attachment 3 Page 269 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
10: Beltline & Gateway 05/30/2023

2025 Background Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 6

HCM 6th Edition cannot analyze u-turn movements.

Attachment 3 Page 270 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
17: Gateway & Game Farm 05/30/2023

2025 Background Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 7

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBU NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 3 2 28 198 3 85 11 55 483 49 123 841
Future Volume (vph) 3 2 28 198 3 85 11 55 483 49 123 841
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95
Frt 0.88 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.99 1.00 1.00
Flt Protected 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1672 1608 1624 1805 3528 1805 3537
Flt Permitted 0.96 0.61 1.00 0.18 1.00 0.36 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1609 1040 1624 346 3528 679 3537
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.71 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91
Adj. Flow (vph) 3 2 31 218 3 93 15 60 531 54 135 924
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 29 0 0 63 0 0 0 7 0 0 1
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 7 0 218 33 0 0 75 578 0 135 928
Heavy Vehicles (%) 0% 0% 0% 1% 0% 0% 0% 0% 1% 0% 0% 2%
Parking  (#/hr) 0
Turn Type Perm NA pm+pt NA custom pm+pt NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Permitted Phases 4 8 5 2 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 3.1 19.7 19.7 29.4 23.9 30.0 24.2
Effective Green, g (s) 3.1 20.2 20.2 30.4 24.4 31.0 24.7
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.05 0.32 0.32 0.48 0.39 0.49 0.39
Clearance Time (s) 4.0 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 4.0 2.5 4.0
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 79 452 521 306 1368 447 1388
v/s Ratio Prot c0.10 0.02 0.02 0.16 c0.03 c0.26
v/s Ratio Perm 0.00 c0.05 0.09 0.12
v/c Ratio 0.08 0.48 0.06 0.25 0.42 0.30 0.67
Uniform Delay, d1 28.5 16.9 14.8 9.7 14.1 8.9 15.7
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.3 0.6 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.3 1.4
Delay (s) 28.9 17.4 14.8 10.0 14.4 9.2 17.1
Level of Service C B B A B A B
Approach Delay (s) 28.9 16.6 13.9 16.1
Approach LOS C B B B

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 15.7 HCM 2000 Level of Service B
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.59
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 62.9 Sum of lost time (s) 16.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 54.7% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 271 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
17: Gateway & Game Farm 05/30/2023

2025 Background Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 8

Movement SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 5
Future Volume (vph) 5
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900
Total Lost time (s)
Lane Util. Factor
Frt
Flt Protected
Satd. Flow (prot)
Flt Permitted
Satd. Flow (perm)
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.91
Adj. Flow (vph) 5
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0
Heavy Vehicles (%) 0%
Parking  (#/hr)
Turn Type
Protected Phases
Permitted Phases
Actuated Green, G (s)
Effective Green, g (s)
Actuated g/C Ratio
Clearance Time (s)
Vehicle Extension (s)
Lane Grp Cap (vph)
v/s Ratio Prot
v/s Ratio Perm
v/c Ratio
Uniform Delay, d1
Progression Factor
Incremental Delay, d2
Delay (s)
Level of Service
Approach Delay (s)
Approach LOS

Intersection Summary

Attachment 3 Page 272 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
17: Gateway & Game Farm 05/30/2023

2025 Background Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 9

HCM 6th Edition cannot analyze u-turn movements.

Attachment 3 Page 273 of 420 



Attachment 3 Page 274 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd 05/31/2023

2025 Build Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 1

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 33 708 739 116 255 58
Future Volume (vph) 33 708 739 116 255 58
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 2.6 2.6
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1671 3610 3610 1599 1770 1615
Flt Permitted 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1671 3610 3610 1599 1770 1615
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86
Adj. Flow (vph) 38 823 859 135 297 67
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 46 0 21
Lane Group Flow (vph) 38 823 859 89 297 46
Heavy Vehicles (%) 8% 0% 0% 1% 2% 0%
Turn Type Prot NA NA Perm Prot Perm
Protected Phases 7 4 8 6
Permitted Phases 8 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 9.7 54.7 39.6 39.6 31.5 31.5
Effective Green, g (s) 11.1 56.1 41.0 41.0 32.9 32.9
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.12 0.59 0.43 0.43 0.34 0.34
Clearance Time (s) 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 4.0 4.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 4.0 4.0 4.0 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 194 2118 1548 685 609 555
v/s Ratio Prot 0.02 c0.23 c0.24 c0.17
v/s Ratio Perm 0.06 0.03
v/c Ratio 0.20 0.39 0.55 0.13 0.49 0.08
Uniform Delay, d1 38.2 10.6 20.5 16.5 24.7 21.2
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.4 0.2 0.5 0.1 0.4 0.0
Delay (s) 38.6 10.7 21.0 16.6 25.2 21.2
Level of Service D B C B C C
Approach Delay (s) 12.0 20.4 24.4
Approach LOS B C C

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 17.8 HCM 2000 Level of Service B
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.51
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 95.6 Sum of lost time (s) 10.6
Intersection Capacity Utilization 47.9% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 275 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd 05/31/2023

2025 Build Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 2

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 33 708 739 116 255 58
Future Volume (veh/h) 33 708 739 116 255 58
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1781 1900 1900 1885 1870 1900
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 38 823 859 135 297 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86
Percent Heavy Veh, % 8 0 0 1 2 0
Cap, veh/h 102 2588 2214 980 375
Arrive On Green 0.06 0.72 0.61 0.61 0.21 0.00
Sat Flow, veh/h 1697 3705 3705 1598 1781 1610
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 38 823 859 135 297 0
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1697 1805 1805 1598 1781 1610
Q Serve(g_s), s 2.0 7.6 11.0 3.3 14.4 0.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 2.0 7.6 11.0 3.3 14.4 0.0
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 102 2588 2214 980 375
V/C Ratio(X) 0.37 0.32 0.39 0.14 0.79
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 689 10892 9268 4102 3545
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 41.2 4.7 8.9 7.4 34.1 0.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 1.7 0.1 0.2 0.1 2.8 0.0
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 0.8 1.9 3.6 0.9 6.5 0.0
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 42.9 4.8 9.1 7.5 36.9 0.0
LnGrp LOS D A A A D
Approach Vol, veh/h 861 994 297 A
Approach Delay, s/veh 6.5 8.9 36.9
Approach LOS A A D

Timer - Assigned Phs 4 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 69.3 21.8 9.5 59.9
Change Period (Y+Rc), s * 5.4 4.0 * 5.4 * 5.4
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s * 2.7E2 180.0 * 36 * 2.3E2
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 9.6 16.4 4.0 13.0
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 33.3 1.4 0.1 41.5

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 11.8
HCM 6th LOS B

Notes
* HCM 6th computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.
Unsignalized Delay for [SBR] is excluded from calculations of the approach delay and intersection delay.

Attachment 3 Page 276 of 420 



HCM 6th TWSC
2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd 05/31/2023

2025 Build Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 5.1

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 47 233 86 41 125 33
Future Vol, veh/h 47 233 86 41 125 33
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - 140 - 115 0
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 81 81 81 81 81 81
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 1 0 1 0
Mvmt Flow 58 288 106 51 154 41
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 346 0 465 202
          Stage 1 - - - - 202 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 263 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.11 - 6.41 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.41 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.41 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.209 - 3.509 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1219 - 558 844
          Stage 1 - - - - 834 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 783 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1219 - 509 844
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 509 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 834 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 715 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 5.6 13.9
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 NBLn2 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 509 844 - - 1219 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.303 0.048 - - 0.087 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 15.1 9.5 - - 8.2 -
HCM Lane LOS C A - - A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 1.3 0.2 - - 0.3 -

Attachment 3 Page 277 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
10: Beltline & Gateway 05/31/2023

2025 Build Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 4

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBU WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBU SBL
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 294 519 809 2 124 693 101 629 210 81 2 160
Future Volume (vph) 294 519 809 2 124 693 101 629 210 81 2 160
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 3.8 3.8 3.8 3.8 3.8 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 0.97 0.91 0.88 1.00 0.91 0.97 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.98 1.00 0.96 1.00
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95
Satd. Flow (prot) 3400 5085 2787 1805 5038 3433 1803 1787
Flt Permitted 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.13 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.08
Satd. Flow (perm) 3400 5085 2787 252 5038 3433 1803 157
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96
Adj. Flow (vph) 306 541 843 2 129 722 105 655 219 84 2 167
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 763 0 0 16 0 0 11 0 0 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 306 541 80 0 131 811 0 655 292 0 0 169
Heavy Vehicles (%) 3% 2% 2% 0% 0% 1% 1% 2% 1% 1% 0% 1%
Turn Type Prot NA Perm custom Prot NA Prot NA custom Prot
Protected Phases 7 4 3 8 5 2 1
Permitted Phases 4 3 1
Actuated Green, G (s) 11.8 10.0 10.0 28.8 27.0 25.9 14.3 47.5
Effective Green, g (s) 13.2 11.4 11.4 30.2 28.4 26.4 14.8 48.0
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.11 0.10 0.10 0.25 0.24 0.22 0.12 0.40
Clearance Time (s) 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 4.5 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 4.0 4.0 2.5 4.0 2.5 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 374 483 264 63 1192 755 222 62
v/s Ratio Prot 0.09 c0.11 0.16 0.19 c0.16
v/s Ratio Perm 0.03 c0.52 c1.08
v/c Ratio 0.82 1.12 0.30 2.08 0.68 0.87 1.31 2.73
Uniform Delay, d1 52.2 54.3 50.6 44.9 41.7 45.1 52.6 36.0
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 12.7 78.1 0.9 535.6 1.8 10.2 169.4 820.0
Delay (s) 64.9 132.4 51.5 580.5 43.4 55.3 222.0 856.0
Level of Service E F D F D E F F
Approach Delay (s) 79.8 116.9 108.1
Approach LOS E F F

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 111.2 HCM 2000 Level of Service F
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 2.14
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 120.0 Sum of lost time (s) 15.6
Intersection Capacity Utilization 70.8% ICU Level of Service C
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 278 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
10: Beltline & Gateway 05/31/2023

2025 Build Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 5

Movement SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 294 648
Future Volume (vph) 294 648
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.88
Frt 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1881 2842
Flt Permitted 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1881 2842
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.96 0.96
Adj. Flow (vph) 306 675
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 279
Lane Group Flow (vph) 306 396
Heavy Vehicles (%) 1% 0%
Turn Type NA Perm
Protected Phases 6
Permitted Phases 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 35.9 35.9
Effective Green, g (s) 36.4 36.4
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.30 0.30
Clearance Time (s) 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 570 862
v/s Ratio Prot 0.16
v/s Ratio Perm 0.14
v/c Ratio 0.54 0.46
Uniform Delay, d1 34.8 33.8
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.8 0.3
Delay (s) 35.5 34.1
Level of Service D C
Approach Delay (s) 155.3
Approach LOS F

Intersection Summary

Attachment 3 Page 279 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
10: Beltline & Gateway 05/31/2023

2025 Build Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 6

HCM 6th Edition cannot analyze u-turn movements.

Attachment 3 Page 280 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
17: Gateway & Game Farm 05/31/2023

2025 Build Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 7

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBU NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 3 2 28 22 3 91 11 55 483 54 127 841
Future Volume (vph) 3 2 28 22 3 91 11 55 483 54 127 841
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95
Frt 0.88 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.98 1.00 1.00
Flt Protected 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1672 1787 1623 1805 3524 1805 3537
Flt Permitted 0.96 0.64 1.00 0.26 1.00 0.37 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1615 1205 1623 486 3524 700 3537
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91
Adj. Flow (vph) 3 2 31 24 3 100 12 60 531 59 140 924
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 28 0 0 80 0 0 0 8 0 0 1
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 8 0 24 23 0 0 72 582 0 140 928
Heavy Vehicles (%) 0% 0% 0% 1% 0% 0% 0% 0% 1% 0% 0% 2%
Turn Type Perm NA pm+pt NA custom pm+pt NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Permitted Phases 4 8 5 2 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 5.1 10.0 10.0 27.8 24.1 31.4 25.9
Effective Green, g (s) 5.1 10.5 10.5 28.8 24.6 32.4 26.4
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.10 0.20 0.20 0.54 0.46 0.61 0.50
Clearance Time (s) 4.0 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 4.0 2.5 4.0
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 155 253 320 367 1632 551 1758
v/s Ratio Prot c0.00 0.01 0.02 0.17 c0.03 c0.26
v/s Ratio Perm 0.00 c0.02 0.09 0.13
v/c Ratio 0.05 0.09 0.07 0.20 0.36 0.25 0.53
Uniform Delay, d1 21.8 17.5 17.3 6.0 9.2 4.5 9.1
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.4
Delay (s) 21.9 17.6 17.4 6.2 9.3 4.7 9.5
Level of Service C B B A A A A
Approach Delay (s) 21.9 17.4 9.0 8.9
Approach LOS C B A A

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 9.7 HCM 2000 Level of Service A
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.44
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 53.1 Sum of lost time (s) 16.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 44.8% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 281 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
17: Gateway & Game Farm 05/31/2023

2025 Build Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 8

Movement SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 5
Future Volume (vph) 5
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900
Total Lost time (s)
Lane Util. Factor
Frt
Flt Protected
Satd. Flow (prot)
Flt Permitted
Satd. Flow (perm)
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.91
Adj. Flow (vph) 5
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0
Heavy Vehicles (%) 0%
Turn Type
Protected Phases
Permitted Phases
Actuated Green, G (s)
Effective Green, g (s)
Actuated g/C Ratio
Clearance Time (s)
Vehicle Extension (s)
Lane Grp Cap (vph)
v/s Ratio Prot
v/s Ratio Perm
v/c Ratio
Uniform Delay, d1
Progression Factor
Incremental Delay, d2
Delay (s)
Level of Service
Approach Delay (s)
Approach LOS

Intersection Summary

Attachment 3 Page 282 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
17: Gateway & Game Farm 05/31/2023

2025 Build Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 9

HCM 6th Edition cannot analyze u-turn movements.

Attachment 3 Page 283 of 420 



HCM 6th TWSC
21: E Game Farm Rd & South Site Access 05/31/2023

2025 Build Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 10

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.9

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 280 152 15 0 47
Future Vol, veh/h 0 280 152 15 0 47
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - - 0
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 90 90 90 90
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 0 0 0
Mvmt Flow 0 311 169 17 0 52
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All - 0 - 0 - 178
          Stage 1 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy - - - - - 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy - - - - - 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 0 - - - 0 870
          Stage 1 0 - - - 0 -
          Stage 2 0 - - - 0 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - - - - 870
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - -
          Stage 1 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0 9.4
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBT WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) - - - 870
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - 0.06
HCM Control Delay (s) - - - 9.4
HCM Lane LOS - - - A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - - 0.2

Attachment 3 Page 284 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd 05/31/2023

2030 Background Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 1

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 30 776 811 124 266 58
Future Volume (vph) 30 776 811 124 266 58
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 2.6 2.6
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1671 3610 3610 1599 1770 1615
Flt Permitted 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1671 3610 3610 1599 1770 1615
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86
Adj. Flow (vph) 35 902 943 144 309 67
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 46 0 19
Lane Group Flow (vph) 35 902 943 98 309 48
Heavy Vehicles (%) 8% 0% 0% 1% 2% 0%
Turn Type Prot NA NA Perm Prot Perm
Protected Phases 7 4 8 6
Permitted Phases 8 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 10.4 62.0 46.2 46.2 40.3 40.3
Effective Green, g (s) 11.8 63.4 47.6 47.6 41.7 41.7
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.11 0.57 0.43 0.43 0.37 0.37
Clearance Time (s) 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 4.0 4.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 4.0 4.0 4.0 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 176 2049 1538 681 660 602
v/s Ratio Prot 0.02 c0.25 c0.26 c0.17
v/s Ratio Perm 0.06 0.03
v/c Ratio 0.20 0.44 0.61 0.14 0.47 0.08
Uniform Delay, d1 45.6 13.9 24.9 19.6 26.6 22.6
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.4 0.2 0.8 0.1 0.4 0.0
Delay (s) 46.0 14.1 25.7 19.7 27.0 22.7
Level of Service D B C B C C
Approach Delay (s) 15.3 24.9 26.2
Approach LOS B C C

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 21.4 HCM 2000 Level of Service C
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.54
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 111.7 Sum of lost time (s) 10.6
Intersection Capacity Utilization 46.3% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 285 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd 05/31/2023

2030 Background Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 2

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 30 776 811 124 266 58
Future Volume (veh/h) 30 776 811 124 266 58
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1781 1900 1900 1885 1870 1900
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 35 902 943 144 309 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86
Percent Heavy Veh, % 8 0 0 1 2 0
Cap, veh/h 89 2624 2300 1018 376
Arrive On Green 0.05 0.73 0.64 0.64 0.21 0.00
Sat Flow, veh/h 1697 3705 3705 1598 1781 1610
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 35 902 943 144 309 0
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1697 1805 1805 1598 1781 1610
Q Serve(g_s), s 2.1 9.7 13.7 3.8 17.7 0.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 2.1 9.7 13.7 3.8 17.7 0.0
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 89 2624 2300 1018 376
V/C Ratio(X) 0.39 0.34 0.41 0.14 0.82
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 509 9402 8185 3622 2977
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 48.9 5.3 9.5 7.7 40.2 0.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 2.1 0.1 0.2 0.1 3.4 0.0
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 0.9 2.8 4.6 1.2 8.1 0.0
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 51.0 5.4 9.7 7.8 43.6 0.0
LnGrp LOS D A A A D
Approach Vol, veh/h 937 1087 309 A
Approach Delay, s/veh 7.1 9.4 43.6
Approach LOS A A D

Timer - Assigned Phs 4 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 81.6 25.1 9.6 72.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s * 5.4 4.0 * 5.4 * 5.4
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s * 2.8E2 177.0 * 31 * 2.4E2
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 11.7 19.7 4.1 15.7
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 40.2 1.5 0.1 50.9

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 13.0
HCM 6th LOS B

Notes
* HCM 6th computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.
Unsignalized Delay for [SBR] is excluded from calculations of the approach delay and intersection delay.

Attachment 3 Page 286 of 420 



HCM 6th TWSC
2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd 05/31/2023

2030 Background Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 5.4

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 46 236 95 39 128 36
Future Vol, veh/h 46 236 95 39 128 36
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - 140 - 115 0
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 81 81 81 81 81 81
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 1 0 1 0
Mvmt Flow 57 291 117 48 158 44
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 348 0 485 203
          Stage 1 - - - - 203 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 282 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.11 - 6.41 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.41 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.41 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.209 - 3.509 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1216 - 543 843
          Stage 1 - - - - 833 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 768 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1216 - 491 843
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 491 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 833 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 694 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 5.9 14.4
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 NBLn2 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 491 843 - - 1216 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.322 0.053 - - 0.096 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 15.8 9.5 - - 8.3 -
HCM Lane LOS C A - - A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 1.4 0.2 - - 0.3 -

Attachment 3 Page 287 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
10: Beltline & Gateway 05/31/2023

2030 Background Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 4

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBU WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBU SBL
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 319 565 887 2 133 698 111 690 228 86 2 176
Future Volume (vph) 319 565 887 2 133 698 111 690 228 86 2 176
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 3.8 3.8 3.8 3.8 3.8 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 0.97 0.91 0.88 1.00 0.91 0.97 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.98 1.00 0.96 1.00
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95
Satd. Flow (prot) 3502 5187 2842 1805 5080 3502 1822 1805
Flt Permitted 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.11 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.10
Satd. Flow (perm) 3502 5187 2842 210 5080 3502 1822 190
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71
Adj. Flow (vph) 449 796 1249 3 187 983 156 972 321 121 3 248
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 737 0 0 18 0 0 11 0 0 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 449 796 512 0 190 1121 0 972 431 0 0 251
Turn Type Prot NA Perm custom Prot NA Prot NA custom Prot
Protected Phases 7 4 3 8 5 2 1
Permitted Phases 4 3 1
Actuated Green, G (s) 16.6 11.8 11.8 34.8 30.0 14.5 14.5 39.5
Effective Green, g (s) 18.0 13.2 13.2 36.2 31.4 15.0 15.0 40.0
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.15 0.11 0.11 0.30 0.26 0.12 0.12 0.33
Clearance Time (s) 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 4.5 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 4.0 4.0 2.5 4.0 2.5 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 525 570 312 63 1329 437 227 63
v/s Ratio Prot 0.13 0.15 0.22 0.28 c0.24
v/s Ratio Perm c0.18 c0.91 c1.32
v/c Ratio 0.86 1.40 1.64 3.02 0.84 2.22 1.90 3.98
Uniform Delay, d1 49.7 53.4 53.4 41.9 42.0 52.5 52.5 40.0
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 12.7 188.9 302.7 948.0 5.3 558.3 419.8 1380.0
Delay (s) 62.4 242.3 356.1 989.9 47.3 610.8 472.3 1420.0
Level of Service E F F F D F F F
Approach Delay (s) 266.9 182.0 567.5
Approach LOS F F F

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 306.5 HCM 2000 Level of Service F
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 3.04
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 120.0 Sum of lost time (s) 15.6
Intersection Capacity Utilization 74.4% ICU Level of Service D
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 288 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
10: Beltline & Gateway 05/31/2023

2030 Background Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 5

Movement SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 310 697
Future Volume (vph) 310 697
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.88
Frt 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1900 2842
Flt Permitted 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1900 2842
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.71 0.71
Adj. Flow (vph) 437 982
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 388
Lane Group Flow (vph) 437 594
Turn Type NA Perm
Protected Phases 6
Permitted Phases 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 39.5 39.5
Effective Green, g (s) 40.0 40.0
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.33 0.33
Clearance Time (s) 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 633 947
v/s Ratio Prot 0.23
v/s Ratio Perm 0.21
v/c Ratio 0.69 0.63
Uniform Delay, d1 34.6 33.7
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 3.0 1.1
Delay (s) 37.6 34.8
Level of Service D C
Approach Delay (s) 243.8
Approach LOS F

Intersection Summary

Attachment 3 Page 289 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
10: Beltline & Gateway 05/31/2023

2030 Background Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 6

HCM 6th Edition cannot analyze u-turn movements.

Attachment 3 Page 290 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
17: Gateway & Game Farm 05/31/2023

2030 Background Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 7

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBU NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 3 2 31 217 3 93 13 60 529 54 135 922
Future Volume (vph) 3 2 31 217 3 93 13 60 529 54 135 922
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95
Frt 0.88 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.99 1.00 1.00
Flt Protected 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1672 1805 1623 1805 3560 1805 3607
Flt Permitted 0.96 0.51 1.00 0.10 1.00 0.22 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1605 975 1623 194 3560 421 3607
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71
Adj. Flow (vph) 4 3 44 306 4 131 18 85 745 76 190 1299
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 42 0 0 91 0 0 0 7 0 0 1
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 9 0 306 44 0 0 103 814 0 190 1306
Turn Type Perm NA pm+pt NA custom pm+pt NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Permitted Phases 4 8 5 2 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 4.9 26.4 26.4 45.4 39.2 52.8 42.9
Effective Green, g (s) 4.9 26.9 26.9 46.4 39.7 53.8 43.4
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.06 0.30 0.30 0.52 0.45 0.60 0.49
Clearance Time (s) 4.0 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 4.0 2.5 4.0
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 88 462 490 222 1588 416 1758
v/s Ratio Prot c0.13 0.03 0.03 0.23 c0.05 c0.36
v/s Ratio Perm 0.01 c0.07 0.21 0.22
v/c Ratio 0.11 0.66 0.09 0.46 0.51 0.46 0.74
Uniform Delay, d1 40.0 26.2 22.3 14.0 17.7 9.6 18.3
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.4 3.2 0.1 1.1 0.4 0.6 1.9
Delay (s) 40.4 29.4 22.3 15.1 18.1 10.2 20.2
Level of Service D C C B B B C
Approach Delay (s) 40.4 27.3 17.7 18.9
Approach LOS D C B B

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 20.2 HCM 2000 Level of Service C
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.73
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 89.0 Sum of lost time (s) 16.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 58.4% ICU Level of Service B
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 291 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
17: Gateway & Game Farm 05/31/2023

2030 Background Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 8

Movement SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 6
Future Volume (vph) 6
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900
Total Lost time (s)
Lane Util. Factor
Frt
Flt Protected
Satd. Flow (prot)
Flt Permitted
Satd. Flow (perm)
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.71
Adj. Flow (vph) 8
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0
Turn Type
Protected Phases
Permitted Phases
Actuated Green, G (s)
Effective Green, g (s)
Actuated g/C Ratio
Clearance Time (s)
Vehicle Extension (s)
Lane Grp Cap (vph)
v/s Ratio Prot
v/s Ratio Perm
v/c Ratio
Uniform Delay, d1
Progression Factor
Incremental Delay, d2
Delay (s)
Level of Service
Approach Delay (s)
Approach LOS

Intersection Summary

Attachment 3 Page 292 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
17: Gateway & Game Farm 05/31/2023

2030 Background Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 9

HCM 6th Edition cannot analyze u-turn movements.

Attachment 3 Page 293 of 420 



Attachment 3 Page 294 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd 05/31/2023

2030 Build Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 1

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 36 776 811 127 279 63
Future Volume (vph) 36 776 811 127 279 63
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 2.6 2.6
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1671 3610 3610 1599 1770 1615
Flt Permitted 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1671 3610 3610 1599 1770 1615
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86
Adj. Flow (vph) 42 902 943 148 324 73
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 42 0 20
Lane Group Flow (vph) 42 902 943 106 324 53
Heavy Vehicles (%) 8% 0% 0% 1% 2% 0%
Turn Type Prot NA NA Perm Prot Perm
Protected Phases 7 4 8 6
Permitted Phases 8 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 14.2 92.3 72.7 72.7 55.8 55.8
Effective Green, g (s) 15.6 93.7 74.1 74.1 57.2 57.2
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.10 0.59 0.47 0.47 0.36 0.36
Clearance Time (s) 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 4.0 4.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 4.0 4.0 4.0 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 165 2147 1698 752 642 586
v/s Ratio Prot 0.03 c0.25 c0.26 c0.18
v/s Ratio Perm 0.07 0.03
v/c Ratio 0.25 0.42 0.56 0.14 0.50 0.09
Uniform Delay, d1 65.6 17.2 29.9 23.6 39.1 33.0
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.6 0.2 0.5 0.1 0.5 0.0
Delay (s) 66.2 17.4 30.4 23.8 39.6 33.1
Level of Service E B C C D C
Approach Delay (s) 19.6 29.5 38.4
Approach LOS B C D

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 27.1 HCM 2000 Level of Service C
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.53
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 157.5 Sum of lost time (s) 10.6
Intersection Capacity Utilization 51.2% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 295 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd 05/31/2023

2030 Build Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 2

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 36 776 811 127 279 63
Future Volume (veh/h) 36 776 811 127 279 63
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1781 1900 1900 1885 1870 1900
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 42 902 943 148 324 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86
Percent Heavy Veh, % 8 0 0 1 2 0
Cap, veh/h 95 2602 2268 1004 390
Arrive On Green 0.06 0.72 0.63 0.63 0.22 0.00
Sat Flow, veh/h 1697 3705 3705 1598 1781 1610
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 42 902 943 148 324 0
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1697 1805 1805 1598 1781 1610
Q Serve(g_s), s 2.6 10.2 14.4 4.2 19.0 0.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 2.6 10.2 14.4 4.2 19.0 0.0
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 95 2602 2268 1004 390
V/C Ratio(X) 0.44 0.35 0.42 0.15 0.83
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 558 9103 7783 3445 2936
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 50.0 5.7 10.2 8.3 40.8 0.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 2.4 0.1 0.2 0.1 3.5 0.0
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 1.1 3.0 5.0 1.3 8.7 0.0
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 52.4 5.8 10.4 8.4 44.3 0.0
LnGrp LOS D A B A D
Approach Vol, veh/h 944 1091 324 A
Approach Delay, s/veh 7.9 10.1 44.3
Approach LOS A B D

Timer - Assigned Phs 4 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 82.9 26.6 10.1 72.8
Change Period (Y+Rc), s * 5.4 4.0 * 5.4 * 5.4
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s * 2.7E2 179.0 * 35 * 2.3E2
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 12.2 21.0 4.6 16.4
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 40.2 1.6 0.1 51.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 13.9
HCM 6th LOS B

Notes
* HCM 6th computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.
Unsignalized Delay for [SBR] is excluded from calculations of the approach delay and intersection delay.

Attachment 3 Page 296 of 420 



HCM 6th TWSC
2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd 05/31/2023

2030 Build Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 5.6

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 51 254 95 45 137 36
Future Vol, veh/h 51 254 95 45 137 36
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - 140 - 115 0
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 81 81 81 81 81 81
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 1 0 1 0
Mvmt Flow 63 314 117 56 169 44
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 377 0 510 220
          Stage 1 - - - - 220 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 290 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.11 - 6.41 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.41 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.41 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.209 - 3.509 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1187 - 525 825
          Stage 1 - - - - 819 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 762 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1187 - 473 825
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 473 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 819 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 687 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 5.7 15.3
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 NBLn2 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 473 825 - - 1187 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.358 0.054 - - 0.099 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 16.8 9.6 - - 8.4 -
HCM Lane LOS C A - - A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 1.6 0.2 - - 0.3 -

Attachment 3 Page 297 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
10: Beltline & Gateway 05/31/2023

2030 Build Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 4

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBU WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBU SBL
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 322 568 887 2 135 701 111 690 230 89 2 176
Future Volume (vph) 322 568 887 2 135 701 111 690 230 89 2 176
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 3.8 3.8 3.8 3.8 3.8 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 0.97 0.91 0.88 1.00 0.91 0.97 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.98 1.00 0.96 1.00
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95
Satd. Flow (prot) 3502 5187 2842 1805 5081 3502 1821 1805
Flt Permitted 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.11 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.10
Satd. Flow (perm) 3502 5187 2842 210 5081 3502 1821 190
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71
Adj. Flow (vph) 454 800 1249 3 190 987 156 972 324 125 3 248
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 733 0 0 18 0 0 11 0 0 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 454 800 516 0 193 1125 0 972 438 0 0 251
Turn Type Prot NA Perm custom Prot NA Prot NA custom Prot
Protected Phases 7 4 3 8 5 2 1
Permitted Phases 4 3 1
Actuated Green, G (s) 15.8 10.8 10.8 34.8 29.8 14.5 15.5 39.5
Effective Green, g (s) 17.2 12.2 12.2 36.2 31.2 15.0 16.0 40.0
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.14 0.10 0.10 0.30 0.26 0.12 0.13 0.33
Clearance Time (s) 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 4.5 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 4.0 4.0 2.5 4.0 2.5 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 501 527 288 63 1321 437 242 63
v/s Ratio Prot 0.13 0.15 0.22 0.28 c0.24
v/s Ratio Perm c0.18 c0.92 c1.32
v/c Ratio 0.91 1.52 1.79 3.06 0.85 2.22 1.81 3.98
Uniform Delay, d1 50.6 53.9 53.9 41.9 42.2 52.5 52.0 40.0
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 19.8 242.7 369.8 969.2 5.7 558.3 379.9 1380.0
Delay (s) 70.4 296.6 423.7 1011.1 47.9 610.8 431.9 1420.0
Level of Service E F F F D F F F
Approach Delay (s) 319.0 187.0 554.3
Approach LOS F F F

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 322.3 HCM 2000 Level of Service F
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 3.06
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 120.0 Sum of lost time (s) 15.6
Intersection Capacity Utilization 75.1% ICU Level of Service D
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 298 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
10: Beltline & Gateway 05/31/2023

2030 Build Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 5

Movement SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 321 710
Future Volume (vph) 321 710
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.88
Frt 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1900 2842
Flt Permitted 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1900 2842
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.71 0.71
Adj. Flow (vph) 452 1000
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 367
Lane Group Flow (vph) 452 633
Turn Type NA Perm
Protected Phases 6
Permitted Phases 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 40.5 40.5
Effective Green, g (s) 41.0 41.0
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.34 0.34
Clearance Time (s) 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 649 971
v/s Ratio Prot 0.24
v/s Ratio Perm 0.22
v/c Ratio 0.70 0.65
Uniform Delay, d1 34.1 33.5
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 3.0 1.4
Delay (s) 37.1 34.9
Level of Service D C
Approach Delay (s) 239.6
Approach LOS F

Intersection Summary

Attachment 3 Page 299 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
10: Beltline & Gateway 05/31/2023

2030 Build Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 6

HCM 6th Edition cannot analyze u-turn movements.

Attachment 3 Page 300 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
17: Gateway & Game Farm 05/31/2023

2030 Build Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 7

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBU NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 3 2 31 241 3 99 13 60 529 59 139 922
Future Volume (vph) 3 2 31 241 3 99 13 60 529 59 139 922
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95
Frt 0.88 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.98 1.00 1.00
Flt Protected 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1672 1805 1623 1805 3556 1805 3607
Flt Permitted 0.96 0.50 1.00 0.10 1.00 0.21 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1603 957 1623 190 3556 406 3607
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71 0.71
Adj. Flow (vph) 4 3 44 339 4 139 18 85 745 83 196 1299
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 42 0 0 95 0 0 0 7 0 0 1
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 9 0 339 48 0 0 103 821 0 196 1306
Turn Type Perm NA pm+pt NA custom pm+pt NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Permitted Phases 4 8 5 2 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 4.9 28.2 28.2 45.9 39.6 53.7 43.5
Effective Green, g (s) 4.9 28.7 28.7 46.9 40.1 54.7 44.0
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.05 0.31 0.31 0.51 0.44 0.60 0.48
Clearance Time (s) 4.0 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 4.0 2.5 4.0
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 85 483 509 217 1558 406 1734
v/s Ratio Prot c0.15 0.03 0.04 0.23 c0.06 c0.36
v/s Ratio Perm 0.01 c0.07 0.21 0.23
v/c Ratio 0.11 0.70 0.09 0.47 0.53 0.48 0.75
Uniform Delay, d1 41.2 26.7 22.2 14.9 18.8 10.4 19.3
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.4 4.3 0.1 1.2 0.4 0.7 2.0
Delay (s) 41.6 30.9 22.3 16.1 19.2 11.1 21.4
Level of Service D C C B B B C
Approach Delay (s) 41.6 28.4 18.8 20.0
Approach LOS D C B C

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 21.4 HCM 2000 Level of Service C
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.76
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 91.5 Sum of lost time (s) 16.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 59.7% ICU Level of Service B
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 301 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
17: Gateway & Game Farm 05/31/2023

2030 Build Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 8

Movement SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 6
Future Volume (vph) 6
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900
Total Lost time (s)
Lane Util. Factor
Frt
Flt Protected
Satd. Flow (prot)
Flt Permitted
Satd. Flow (perm)
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.71
Adj. Flow (vph) 8
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0
Turn Type
Protected Phases
Permitted Phases
Actuated Green, G (s)
Effective Green, g (s)
Actuated g/C Ratio
Clearance Time (s)
Vehicle Extension (s)
Lane Grp Cap (vph)
v/s Ratio Prot
v/s Ratio Perm
v/c Ratio
Uniform Delay, d1
Progression Factor
Incremental Delay, d2
Delay (s)
Level of Service
Approach Delay (s)
Approach LOS

Intersection Summary

Attachment 3 Page 302 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
17: Gateway & Game Farm 05/31/2023

2030 Build Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 9

HCM 6th Edition cannot analyze u-turn movements.

Attachment 3 Page 303 of 420 



HCM 6th TWSC
21: E Game Farm Rd & South Site Access 05/31/2023

2030 Build Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 10

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.8

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 305 166 15 0 47
Future Vol, veh/h 0 305 166 15 0 47
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - - 0
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 90 90 90 90
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 0 0 0
Mvmt Flow 0 339 184 17 0 52
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All - 0 - 0 - 193
          Stage 1 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy - - - - - 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy - - - - - 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 0 - - - 0 854
          Stage 1 0 - - - 0 -
          Stage 2 0 - - - 0 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - - - - 854
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - -
          Stage 1 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0 9.5
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBT WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) - - - 854
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - 0.061
HCM Control Delay (s) - - - 9.5
HCM Lane LOS - - - A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - - 0.2

Attachment 3 Page 304 of 420 



SANDOW ENGINEERING 

PEACEHEALTH REHABILITATION HOSPITAL

A
P
P
E
N

D
IX

 F
:

Q
U

EU
IN

G
 O

U
T

PU
T

S

Attachment 3 Page 305 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2023 Background Am SimTraffic Report
Page 1

Intersection: 1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd, Interval #1

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB SB
Directions Served L T T T T R L
Maximum Queue (ft) 69 87 70 108 48 58 88
Average Queue (ft) 39 51 32 67 22 32 47
95th Queue (ft) 78 97 78 114 53 57 87
Link Distance (ft) 1139 1139 703 703
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 400 150
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd, Interval #2

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB SB
Directions Served L T T T T R L
Maximum Queue (ft) 74 88 58 112 70 58 92
Average Queue (ft) 30 38 23 60 18 32 43
95th Queue (ft) 64 79 55 101 53 51 82
Link Distance (ft) 1139 1139 703 703
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 400 150
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd, All Intervals

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB SB
Directions Served L T T T T R L
Maximum Queue (ft) 82 96 75 118 70 63 96
Average Queue (ft) 32 41 25 62 19 32 44
95th Queue (ft) 68 84 61 104 53 53 83
Link Distance (ft) 1139 1139 703 703
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 400 150
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 306 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2023 Background Am SimTraffic Report
Page 2

Intersection: 2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd, Interval #1

Movement WB NB NB
Directions Served L L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 18 52 34
Average Queue (ft) 3 34 26
95th Queue (ft) 19 52 39
Link Distance (ft) 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 140 115
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd, Interval #2

Movement WB NB NB
Directions Served L L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 35 62 48
Average Queue (ft) 3 33 26
95th Queue (ft) 23 52 39
Link Distance (ft) 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 140 115
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd, All Intervals

Movement WB NB NB
Directions Served L L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 42 62 48
Average Queue (ft) 3 33 26
95th Queue (ft) 22 52 39
Link Distance (ft) 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 140 115
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 307 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2023 Background Am SimTraffic Report
Page 3

Intersection: 7: Driveway/Maple Island Rd  & E Game Farm Rd, Interval #1

Movement EB WB SB
Directions Served LTR ULTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 6 18 5
Average Queue (ft) 1 3 1
95th Queue (ft) 8 16 8
Link Distance (ft) 563 316 370
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 7: Driveway/Maple Island Rd  & E Game Farm Rd, Interval #2

Movement EB WB SB
Directions Served LTR ULTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 24 12 24
Average Queue (ft) 1 1 1
95th Queue (ft) 11 7 12
Link Distance (ft) 563 316 370
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 7: Driveway/Maple Island Rd  & E Game Farm Rd, All Intervals

Movement EB WB SB
Directions Served LTR ULTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 24 18 24
Average Queue (ft) 1 1 1
95th Queue (ft) 11 10 11
Link Distance (ft) 563 316 370
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 308 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2023 Background Am SimTraffic Report
Page 4

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #1

Movement EB EB EB EB EB EB EB WB WB WB WB NB
Directions Served L L T T T R R UL T T TR L
Maximum Queue (ft) 220 256 168 152 87 101 8 72 190 165 87 153
Average Queue (ft) 105 171 102 95 23 46 1 32 132 82 46 75
95th Queue (ft) 219 252 175 161 83 105 13 71 198 173 83 162
Link Distance (ft) 977 977 977 860 860 860
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 480 480 640 640 360 300
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #1

Movement NB NB SB SB SB SB
Directions Served L TR L T R R
Maximum Queue (ft) 200 231 95 151 79 64
Average Queue (ft) 141 148 63 86 49 30
95th Queue (ft) 205 239 103 163 80 66
Link Distance (ft) 969 969 473 473
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 335 190
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 309 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2023 Background Am SimTraffic Report
Page 5

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #2

Movement EB EB EB EB EB EB EB WB WB WB WB NB
Directions Served L L T T T R R UL T T TR L
Maximum Queue (ft) 213 267 174 151 111 130 20 68 178 149 89 170
Average Queue (ft) 102 158 96 78 26 33 1 28 117 61 41 77
95th Queue (ft) 202 234 158 140 78 88 12 59 178 132 75 160
Link Distance (ft) 977 977 977 860 860 860
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 480 480 640 640 360 300
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #2

Movement NB NB SB SB SB SB
Directions Served L TR L T R R
Maximum Queue (ft) 204 226 132 164 107 69
Average Queue (ft) 131 119 63 76 46 23
95th Queue (ft) 191 203 118 143 86 56
Link Distance (ft) 969 969 473 473
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 335 190
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 310 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2023 Background Am SimTraffic Report
Page 6

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, All Intervals

Movement EB EB EB EB EB EB EB WB WB WB WB NB
Directions Served L L T T T R R UL T T TR L
Maximum Queue (ft) 229 280 180 162 133 132 28 76 194 166 98 170
Average Queue (ft) 103 161 98 82 25 36 1 29 120 66 42 76
95th Queue (ft) 206 239 162 146 79 93 12 62 184 144 77 161
Link Distance (ft) 977 977 977 860 860 860
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 480 480 640 640 360 300
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, All Intervals

Movement NB NB SB SB SB SB
Directions Served L TR L T R R
Maximum Queue (ft) 211 236 132 177 107 81
Average Queue (ft) 133 126 63 78 47 24
95th Queue (ft) 194 214 115 148 85 58
Link Distance (ft) 969 969 473 473
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 335 190
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 12: Maple Island Rd /Maple Island Rd & Business Center Parking Lot, Interval #1

Movement SB
Directions Served TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 6
Average Queue (ft) 1
95th Queue (ft) 9
Link Distance (ft) 293
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 311 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2023 Background Am SimTraffic Report
Page 7

Intersection: 12: Maple Island Rd /Maple Island Rd & Business Center Parking Lot, Interval #2

Movement
Directions Served
Maximum Queue (ft)
Average Queue (ft)
95th Queue (ft)
Link Distance (ft)
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 12: Maple Island Rd /Maple Island Rd & Business Center Parking Lot, All Intervals

Movement SB
Directions Served TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 6
Average Queue (ft) 0
95th Queue (ft) 4
Link Distance (ft) 293
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 17: Gateway & Game Farm, Interval #1

Movement EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR UL T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 19 36 35 31 73 81 31 49 70
Average Queue (ft) 4 19 14 11 34 50 8 18 20
95th Queue (ft) 19 42 34 36 76 91 28 49 70
Link Distance (ft) 250 924 473 473 384 384
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150 115 224
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 312 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2023 Background Am SimTraffic Report
Page 8

Intersection: 17: Gateway & Game Farm, Interval #2

Movement EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR UL T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 23 56 45 40 94 116 19 84 72
Average Queue (ft) 2 18 15 9 29 48 3 17 21
95th Queue (ft) 15 43 37 30 74 99 12 56 58
Link Distance (ft) 250 924 473 473 384 384
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150 115 224
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Intersection: 17: Gateway & Game Farm, All Intervals

Movement EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR UL T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 29 56 50 49 97 117 31 88 89
Average Queue (ft) 3 18 15 9 30 49 4 17 21
95th Queue (ft) 16 43 36 31 74 97 17 55 61
Link Distance (ft) 250 924 473 473 384 384
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150 115 224
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Network Summary
Network wide Queuing Penalty, Interval #1: 0
Network wide Queuing Penalty, Interval #2: 0
Network wide Queuing Penalty, All Intervals: 0

Attachment 3 Page 313 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2023 Background Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 1

Intersection: 1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd, Interval #1

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB SB SB
Directions Served L T T T T R L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 51 142 127 190 167 40 156 95
Average Queue (ft) 26 76 57 138 91 29 99 14
95th Queue (ft) 60 141 127 205 170 49 168 105
Link Distance (ft) 1139 1139 703 703 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 400 150
Storage Blk Time (%) 3
Queuing Penalty (veh) 2

Intersection: 1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd, Interval #2

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB SB SB
Directions Served L T T T T R L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 74 132 104 183 158 48 148 8
Average Queue (ft) 20 64 33 102 53 25 85 0
95th Queue (ft) 57 113 82 165 117 45 139 7
Link Distance (ft) 1139 1139 703 703 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 400 150
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Intersection: 1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd, All Intervals

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB SB SB
Directions Served L T T T T R L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 74 154 139 196 170 48 162 95
Average Queue (ft) 22 67 39 111 62 26 89 4
95th Queue (ft) 58 121 96 180 135 46 147 50
Link Distance (ft) 1139 1139 703 703 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 400 150
Storage Blk Time (%) 1
Queuing Penalty (veh) 1

Attachment 3 Page 314 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2023 Background Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 2

Intersection: 2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd, Interval #1

Movement EB WB NB NB
Directions Served TR L L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 15 57 81 34
Average Queue (ft) 5 30 45 20
95th Queue (ft) 20 59 80 38
Link Distance (ft) 316 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 140 115
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Intersection: 2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd, Interval #2

Movement EB WB NB NB
Directions Served TR L L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 27 48 61 25
Average Queue (ft) 2 18 34 15
95th Queue (ft) 15 46 53 34
Link Distance (ft) 316 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 140 115
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd, All Intervals

Movement EB WB NB NB
Directions Served TR L L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 33 61 85 34
Average Queue (ft) 3 21 36 16
95th Queue (ft) 16 50 62 36
Link Distance (ft) 316 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 140 115
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Attachment 3 Page 315 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2023 Background Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 3

Intersection: 7: Driveway/Maple Island Rd  & E Game Farm Rd, Interval #1

Movement EB WB SB
Directions Served LTR ULTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 36 16 36
Average Queue (ft) 14 2 13
95th Queue (ft) 43 13 40
Link Distance (ft) 563 316 370
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 7: Driveway/Maple Island Rd  & E Game Farm Rd, Interval #2

Movement EB SB
Directions Served LTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 31 31
Average Queue (ft) 4 5
95th Queue (ft) 22 24
Link Distance (ft) 563 370
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 7: Driveway/Maple Island Rd  & E Game Farm Rd, All Intervals

Movement EB WB SB
Directions Served LTR ULTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 36 16 36
Average Queue (ft) 7 0 7
95th Queue (ft) 29 6 29
Link Distance (ft) 563 316 370
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 316 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2023 Background Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 4

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #1

Movement EB EB EB EB EB EB EB WB WB WB WB NB
Directions Served L L T T T R R UL T T TR L
Maximum Queue (ft) 182 228 175 142 97 235 226 154 277 227 188 263
Average Queue (ft) 108 149 123 93 24 156 88 94 219 172 108 205
95th Queue (ft) 225 243 189 150 92 243 232 155 297 255 210 294
Link Distance (ft) 977 977 977 860 860 860
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 480 480 640 640 360 300
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #1

Movement NB NB SB SB SB SB
Directions Served L TR UL T R R
Maximum Queue (ft) 316 222 159 216 178 165
Average Queue (ft) 243 135 107 148 122 108
95th Queue (ft) 344 226 173 224 185 174
Link Distance (ft) 969 969 473 473
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 205
Storage Blk Time (%) 2 0 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 6 1 0

Attachment 3 Page 317 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2023 Background Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 5

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #2

Movement EB EB EB EB EB EB EB WB WB WB WB NB
Directions Served L L T T T R R UL T T TR L
Maximum Queue (ft) 220 242 207 161 115 257 232 155 304 266 195 283
Average Queue (ft) 98 141 111 86 22 149 82 85 210 170 69 169
95th Queue (ft) 201 229 180 153 80 244 220 146 288 255 160 270
Link Distance (ft) 977 977 977 860 860 860
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 480 480 640 640 360 300
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #2

Movement NB NB SB SB SB SB
Directions Served L TR UL T R R
Maximum Queue (ft) 315 278 188 256 202 186
Average Queue (ft) 214 124 94 142 115 95
95th Queue (ft) 300 217 168 235 179 160
Link Distance (ft) 969 969 473 473
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 205
Storage Blk Time (%) 0 0 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 1 0 0

Attachment 3 Page 318 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2023 Background Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 6

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, All Intervals

Movement EB EB EB EB EB EB EB WB WB WB WB NB
Directions Served L L T T T R R UL T T TR L
Maximum Queue (ft) 240 260 209 161 131 267 245 167 320 272 219 296
Average Queue (ft) 101 143 114 88 22 151 84 87 212 170 78 178
95th Queue (ft) 207 233 183 152 83 244 223 149 291 255 176 279
Link Distance (ft) 977 977 977 860 860 860
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 480 480 640 640 360 300
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, All Intervals

Movement NB NB SB SB SB SB
Directions Served L TR UL T R R
Maximum Queue (ft) 344 279 188 256 207 204
Average Queue (ft) 221 126 97 143 116 98
95th Queue (ft) 313 220 170 233 181 164
Link Distance (ft) 969 969 473 473
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 205
Storage Blk Time (%) 1 0 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 2 0 0

Intersection: 12: Maple Island Rd /Maple Island Rd & Business Center Parking Lot, Interval #1

Movement EB NB
Directions Served LR LT
Maximum Queue (ft) 18 6
Average Queue (ft) 6 1
95th Queue (ft) 25 9
Link Distance (ft) 282 370
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 319 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2023 Background Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 7

Intersection: 12: Maple Island Rd /Maple Island Rd & Business Center Parking Lot, Interval #2

Movement EB
Directions Served LR
Maximum Queue (ft) 18
Average Queue (ft) 1
95th Queue (ft) 10
Link Distance (ft) 282
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 12: Maple Island Rd /Maple Island Rd & Business Center Parking Lot, All Intervals

Movement EB NB
Directions Served LR LT
Maximum Queue (ft) 30 6
Average Queue (ft) 2 0
95th Queue (ft) 15 4
Link Distance (ft) 282 370
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 17: Gateway & Game Farm, Interval #1

Movement EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR UL T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 14 125 35 71 114 123 65 143 197
Average Queue (ft) 3 77 21 32 52 66 19 71 107
95th Queue (ft) 13 132 38 73 109 128 58 178 204
Link Distance (ft) 250 924 473 473 384 384
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150 98 224
Storage Blk Time (%) 0 1 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 1 0

Attachment 3 Page 320 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2023 Background Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 8

Intersection: 17: Gateway & Game Farm, Interval #2

Movement EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR UL T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 29 141 49 69 126 119 56 155 143
Average Queue (ft) 3 69 19 20 45 59 15 54 73
95th Queue (ft) 16 121 41 46 102 115 43 118 134
Link Distance (ft) 250 924 473 473 384 384
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150 98 224
Storage Blk Time (%) 1 1 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 1 0

Intersection: 17: Gateway & Game Farm, All Intervals

Movement EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR UL T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 29 152 49 88 126 124 72 172 197
Average Queue (ft) 3 71 19 23 47 61 16 58 81
95th Queue (ft) 15 124 40 54 104 118 48 135 156
Link Distance (ft) 250 924 473 473 384 384
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150 98 224
Storage Blk Time (%) 0 1 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 1 0

Network Summary
Network wide Queuing Penalty, Interval #1: 10
Network wide Queuing Penalty, Interval #2: 3
Network wide Queuing Penalty, All Intervals: 5

Attachment 3 Page 321 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2025 Background Am SimTraffic Report
Page 1

Intersection: 1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd, Interval #1

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB SB
Directions Served L T T T T R L
Maximum Queue (ft) 77 74 48 123 79 58 81
Average Queue (ft) 32 48 22 76 32 36 50
95th Queue (ft) 72 88 54 124 84 56 90
Link Distance (ft) 1139 1139 703 703
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 400 150
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd, Interval #2

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB SB
Directions Served L T T T T R L
Maximum Queue (ft) 66 100 62 116 63 59 101
Average Queue (ft) 27 38 20 58 20 30 47
95th Queue (ft) 59 79 55 98 52 52 82
Link Distance (ft) 1139 1139 703 703
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 400 150
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd, All Intervals

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB SB
Directions Served L T T T T R L
Maximum Queue (ft) 81 100 66 125 88 64 109
Average Queue (ft) 28 40 21 62 23 32 48
95th Queue (ft) 62 82 55 106 62 53 84
Link Distance (ft) 1139 1139 703 703
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 400 150
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 322 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2025 Background Am SimTraffic Report
Page 2

Intersection: 2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd, Interval #1

Movement WB NB NB
Directions Served L L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 39 62 44
Average Queue (ft) 5 36 28
95th Queue (ft) 25 60 45
Link Distance (ft) 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 140 115
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd, Interval #2

Movement EB WB NB NB
Directions Served TR L L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 4 44 67 49
Average Queue (ft) 0 4 32 26
95th Queue (ft) 4 22 52 39
Link Distance (ft) 316 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 140 115
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd, All Intervals

Movement EB WB NB NB
Directions Served TR L L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 4 50 68 49
Average Queue (ft) 0 4 33 27
95th Queue (ft) 3 23 54 41
Link Distance (ft) 316 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 140 115
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 323 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2025 Background Am SimTraffic Report
Page 3

Intersection: 7: Driveway/Maple Island Rd  & E Game Farm Rd, Interval #1

Movement EB WB SB
Directions Served LTR ULTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 18 5 12
Average Queue (ft) 3 1 2
95th Queue (ft) 17 8 14
Link Distance (ft) 563 316 370
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 7: Driveway/Maple Island Rd  & E Game Farm Rd, Interval #2

Movement EB WB SB
Directions Served LTR ULTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 11 25 19
Average Queue (ft) 0 2 1
95th Queue (ft) 7 13 11
Link Distance (ft) 563 316 370
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 7: Driveway/Maple Island Rd  & E Game Farm Rd, All Intervals

Movement EB WB SB
Directions Served LTR ULTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 29 25 19
Average Queue (ft) 1 2 1
95th Queue (ft) 10 12 11
Link Distance (ft) 563 316 370
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 324 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2025 Background Am SimTraffic Report
Page 4

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #1

Movement EB EB EB EB EB EB EB WB WB WB WB NB
Directions Served L L T T T R R UL T T TR L
Maximum Queue (ft) 213 235 160 146 100 111 25 64 173 138 89 191
Average Queue (ft) 125 175 103 90 35 54 4 35 141 86 46 110
95th Queue (ft) 231 245 169 153 101 131 38 71 182 167 86 219
Link Distance (ft) 977 977 977 860 860 860
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 480 480 640 640 360 300
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #1

Movement NB NB SB SB SB SB
Directions Served L TR L T R R
Maximum Queue (ft) 211 222 114 153 71 57
Average Queue (ft) 163 142 78 98 47 26
95th Queue (ft) 238 233 131 160 79 61
Link Distance (ft) 969 969 473 473
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 205
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 325 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2025 Background Am SimTraffic Report
Page 5

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #2

Movement EB EB EB EB EB EB EB WB WB WB WB NB
Directions Served L L T T T R R UL T T TR L
Maximum Queue (ft) 210 246 168 157 110 124 65 89 199 162 82 194
Average Queue (ft) 104 156 102 93 32 43 3 33 124 75 42 98
95th Queue (ft) 202 229 162 148 85 102 36 73 183 155 74 193
Link Distance (ft) 977 977 977 860 860 860
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 480 480 640 640 360 300
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #2

Movement NB NB SB SB SB SB
Directions Served L TR L T R R
Maximum Queue (ft) 216 224 150 184 91 72
Average Queue (ft) 148 126 79 89 48 24
95th Queue (ft) 216 203 138 155 81 56
Link Distance (ft) 969 969 473 473
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 205
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Attachment 3 Page 326 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2025 Background Am SimTraffic Report
Page 6

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, All Intervals

Movement EB EB EB EB EB EB EB WB WB WB WB NB
Directions Served L L T T T R R UL T T TR L
Maximum Queue (ft) 235 258 174 158 125 135 66 89 199 167 93 207
Average Queue (ft) 109 161 102 92 32 46 3 34 128 78 43 101
95th Queue (ft) 210 234 164 149 90 110 37 72 185 158 77 200
Link Distance (ft) 977 977 977 860 860 860
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 480 480 640 640 360 300
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, All Intervals

Movement NB NB SB SB SB SB
Directions Served L TR L T R R
Maximum Queue (ft) 229 238 150 189 96 75
Average Queue (ft) 152 130 79 91 48 25
95th Queue (ft) 222 211 136 157 80 57
Link Distance (ft) 969 969 473 473
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 205
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Intersection: 12: Maple Island Rd /Maple Island Rd & Business Center Parking Lot, Interval #1

Movement SB
Directions Served TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 6
Average Queue (ft) 1
95th Queue (ft) 9
Link Distance (ft) 293
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 327 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2025 Background Am SimTraffic Report
Page 7

Intersection: 12: Maple Island Rd /Maple Island Rd & Business Center Parking Lot, Interval #2

Movement SB
Directions Served TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 5
Average Queue (ft) 0
95th Queue (ft) 4
Link Distance (ft) 293
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 12: Maple Island Rd /Maple Island Rd & Business Center Parking Lot, All Intervals

Movement SB
Directions Served TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 6
Average Queue (ft) 0
95th Queue (ft) 5
Link Distance (ft) 293
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 17: Gateway & Game Farm, Interval #1

Movement EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR UL T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 18 36 34 50 101 114 25 62 63
Average Queue (ft) 3 19 18 14 42 65 9 15 24
95th Queue (ft) 18 38 42 52 109 139 28 43 64
Link Distance (ft) 250 924 473 473 384 384
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150 98 224
Storage Blk Time (%) 1
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Attachment 3 Page 328 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2025 Background Am SimTraffic Report
Page 8

Intersection: 17: Gateway & Game Farm, Interval #2

Movement EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR UL T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 22 59 50 49 89 131 33 78 88
Average Queue (ft) 3 21 17 12 28 45 4 21 23
95th Queue (ft) 15 50 38 34 70 98 18 60 59
Link Distance (ft) 250 924 473 473 384 384
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150 98 224
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Intersection: 17: Gateway & Game Farm, All Intervals

Movement EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR UL T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 27 59 50 66 117 159 40 87 99
Average Queue (ft) 3 21 17 12 31 50 5 20 23
95th Queue (ft) 16 47 39 39 82 111 21 56 61
Link Distance (ft) 250 924 473 473 384 384
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150 98 224
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Network Summary
Network wide Queuing Penalty, Interval #1: 0
Network wide Queuing Penalty, Interval #2: 0
Network wide Queuing Penalty, All Intervals: 0

Attachment 3 Page 329 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2025 Background Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 1

Intersection: 1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd, Interval #1

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB SB SB
Directions Served L T T T T R L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 62 120 102 218 153 40 147 11
Average Queue (ft) 30 71 44 137 77 26 102 2
95th Queue (ft) 66 118 100 221 147 48 164 17
Link Distance (ft) 1139 1139 703 703 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 400 150
Storage Blk Time (%) 3
Queuing Penalty (veh) 2

Intersection: 1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd, Interval #2

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB SB SB
Directions Served L T T T T R L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 57 138 105 175 148 52 162 83
Average Queue (ft) 20 61 33 98 47 23 84 4
95th Queue (ft) 50 110 84 152 102 44 143 50
Link Distance (ft) 1139 1139 703 703 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 400 150
Storage Blk Time (%) 1
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Intersection: 1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd, All Intervals

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB SB SB
Directions Served L T T T T R L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 68 151 129 221 158 52 173 83
Average Queue (ft) 22 64 36 107 54 24 88 3
95th Queue (ft) 54 113 88 176 117 45 149 44
Link Distance (ft) 1139 1139 703 703 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 400 150
Storage Blk Time (%) 2
Queuing Penalty (veh) 1

Attachment 3 Page 330 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2025 Background Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 2

Intersection: 2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd, Interval #1

Movement EB WB NB NB
Directions Served TR L L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 21 44 56 30
Average Queue (ft) 5 23 34 21
95th Queue (ft) 22 53 57 38
Link Distance (ft) 316 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 140 115
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd, Interval #2

Movement EB WB NB NB
Directions Served TR L L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 24 48 66 29
Average Queue (ft) 2 18 32 15
95th Queue (ft) 14 46 51 35
Link Distance (ft) 316 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 140 115
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd, All Intervals

Movement EB WB NB NB
Directions Served TR L L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 36 53 69 34
Average Queue (ft) 2 19 32 17
95th Queue (ft) 16 48 53 37
Link Distance (ft) 316 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 140 115
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 331 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2025 Background Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 3

Intersection: 7: Driveway/Maple Island Rd  & E Game Farm Rd, Interval #1

Movement EB WB SB
Directions Served LTR ULTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 31 6 36
Average Queue (ft) 10 1 11
95th Queue (ft) 33 9 35
Link Distance (ft) 563 316 370
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 7: Driveway/Maple Island Rd  & E Game Farm Rd, Interval #2

Movement EB SB
Directions Served LTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 39 36
Average Queue (ft) 4 6
95th Queue (ft) 24 26
Link Distance (ft) 563 370
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 7: Driveway/Maple Island Rd  & E Game Farm Rd, All Intervals

Movement EB WB SB
Directions Served LTR ULTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 41 6 40
Average Queue (ft) 6 0 7
95th Queue (ft) 27 4 29
Link Distance (ft) 563 316 370
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 332 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2025 Background Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 4

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #1

Movement EB EB EB EB EB EB EB WB WB WB WB NB
Directions Served L L T T T R R UL T T TR L
Maximum Queue (ft) 159 196 206 162 117 274 250 132 282 244 171 294
Average Queue (ft) 111 153 137 108 40 198 143 84 224 189 93 203
95th Queue (ft) 174 213 225 182 119 285 277 141 287 250 191 307
Link Distance (ft) 977 977 977 860 860 860
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 480 480 640 640 360 300
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #1

Movement NB NB SB SB SB SB
Directions Served L TR UL T R R
Maximum Queue (ft) 335 264 187 259 199 188
Average Queue (ft) 248 142 103 175 140 117
95th Queue (ft) 343 261 184 286 205 189
Link Distance (ft) 969 969 473 473
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 205
Storage Blk Time (%) 2 0 0 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 7 1 1 0

Attachment 3 Page 333 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2025 Background Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 5

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #2

Movement EB EB EB EB EB EB EB WB WB WB WB NB
Directions Served L L T T T R R UL T T TR L
Maximum Queue (ft) 203 232 207 188 122 285 254 148 300 271 194 294
Average Queue (ft) 86 131 130 105 36 160 103 88 207 167 76 189
95th Queue (ft) 185 205 200 172 108 266 239 143 282 253 169 305
Link Distance (ft) 977 977 977 860 860 860
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 480 480 640 640 360 300
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #2

Movement NB NB SB SB SB SB
Directions Served L TR UL T R R
Maximum Queue (ft) 345 232 221 260 217 194
Average Queue (ft) 233 127 112 162 122 104
95th Queue (ft) 338 205 191 251 198 171
Link Distance (ft) 969 969 473 473
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 205
Storage Blk Time (%) 1 0 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 5 1 0

Attachment 3 Page 334 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2025 Background Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 6

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, All Intervals

Movement EB EB EB EB EB EB EB WB WB WB WB NB
Directions Served L L T T T R R UL T T TR L
Maximum Queue (ft) 203 236 226 196 131 300 269 151 305 271 199 307
Average Queue (ft) 92 137 132 106 37 169 113 87 211 172 80 192
95th Queue (ft) 185 209 207 175 111 274 251 143 284 255 175 306
Link Distance (ft) 977 977 977 860 860 860
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 480 480 640 640 360 300
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, All Intervals

Movement NB NB SB SB SB SB
Directions Served L TR UL T R R
Maximum Queue (ft) 365 292 228 288 222 200
Average Queue (ft) 237 130 110 165 126 107
95th Queue (ft) 339 221 189 261 201 176
Link Distance (ft) 969 969 473 473
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 205
Storage Blk Time (%) 2 0 0 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 5 0 1 0

Intersection: 12: Maple Island Rd /Maple Island Rd & Business Center Parking Lot, Interval #1

Movement EB
Directions Served LR
Maximum Queue (ft) 18
Average Queue (ft) 3
95th Queue (ft) 16
Link Distance (ft) 282
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 335 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2025 Background Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 7

Intersection: 12: Maple Island Rd /Maple Island Rd & Business Center Parking Lot, Interval #2

Movement EB
Directions Served LR
Maximum Queue (ft) 18
Average Queue (ft) 1
95th Queue (ft) 10
Link Distance (ft) 282
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 12: Maple Island Rd /Maple Island Rd & Business Center Parking Lot, All Intervals

Movement EB
Directions Served LR
Maximum Queue (ft) 30
Average Queue (ft) 1
95th Queue (ft) 12
Link Distance (ft) 282
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 17: Gateway & Game Farm, Interval #1

Movement EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR UL T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 20 124 48 43 123 136 33 160 180
Average Queue (ft) 5 80 21 21 55 68 14 81 99
95th Queue (ft) 26 130 46 45 120 132 37 171 174
Link Distance (ft) 250 924 473 473 384 384
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150 98 224
Storage Blk Time (%) 0 2 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 1 0

Attachment 3 Page 336 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2025 Background Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 8

Intersection: 17: Gateway & Game Farm, Interval #2

Movement EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR UL T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 37 140 49 61 124 155 58 169 174
Average Queue (ft) 4 75 19 23 43 64 16 62 80
95th Queue (ft) 23 128 39 50 103 127 44 137 150
Link Distance (ft) 250 924 473 473 384 384
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150 98 224
Storage Blk Time (%) 1 1 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 1 1 0

Intersection: 17: Gateway & Game Farm, All Intervals

Movement EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR UL T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 37 147 53 61 136 160 58 175 190
Average Queue (ft) 4 76 19 23 46 65 15 66 85
95th Queue (ft) 23 128 41 49 108 128 42 146 157
Link Distance (ft) 250 924 473 473 384 384
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150 98 224
Storage Blk Time (%) 1 1 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 1 1 0

Network Summary
Network wide Queuing Penalty, Interval #1: 13
Network wide Queuing Penalty, Interval #2: 7
Network wide Queuing Penalty, All Intervals: 9

Attachment 3 Page 337 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2025 Buid Am SimTraffic Report
Page 1

Intersection: 1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd, Interval #1

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB SB
Directions Served L T T T T R L
Maximum Queue (ft) 69 86 68 118 54 58 87
Average Queue (ft) 44 58 34 72 28 38 53
95th Queue (ft) 74 96 75 115 57 66 91
Link Distance (ft) 1139 1139 703 703
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 400 150
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd, Interval #2

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB SB
Directions Served L T T T T R L
Maximum Queue (ft) 74 103 101 128 84 57 111
Average Queue (ft) 37 46 30 65 24 31 46
95th Queue (ft) 74 89 79 111 66 49 80
Link Distance (ft) 1139 1139 703 703
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 400 150
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd, All Intervals

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB SB
Directions Served L T T T T R L
Maximum Queue (ft) 82 111 110 140 86 66 119
Average Queue (ft) 39 49 31 67 25 33 48
95th Queue (ft) 75 92 78 112 64 54 83
Link Distance (ft) 1139 1139 703 703
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 400 150
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 338 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2025 Buid Am SimTraffic Report
Page 2

Intersection: 2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd, Interval #1

Movement WB NB NB
Directions Served L L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 45 72 43
Average Queue (ft) 8 40 28
95th Queue (ft) 41 72 44
Link Distance (ft) 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 140 115
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Intersection: 2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd, Interval #2

Movement EB WB NB NB
Directions Served TR L L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 4 29 63 57
Average Queue (ft) 0 4 35 28
95th Queue (ft) 4 22 55 45
Link Distance (ft) 130 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 140 115
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd, All Intervals

Movement EB WB NB NB
Directions Served TR L L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 4 51 78 60
Average Queue (ft) 0 5 36 28
95th Queue (ft) 3 28 60 45
Link Distance (ft) 130 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 140 115
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Attachment 3 Page 339 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2025 Buid Am SimTraffic Report
Page 3

Intersection: 7: Driveway/Maple Island Rd  & E Game Farm Rd, Interval #1

Movement EB WB SB
Directions Served LTR ULTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 24 12 18
Average Queue (ft) 4 3 3
95th Queue (ft) 24 17 19
Link Distance (ft) 563 129 370
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 7: Driveway/Maple Island Rd  & E Game Farm Rd, Interval #2

Movement EB WB SB
Directions Served LTR ULTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 22 35 12
Average Queue (ft) 2 4 1
95th Queue (ft) 15 22 7
Link Distance (ft) 563 129 370
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 7: Driveway/Maple Island Rd  & E Game Farm Rd, All Intervals

Movement EB WB SB
Directions Served LTR ULTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 33 36 24
Average Queue (ft) 2 4 1
95th Queue (ft) 17 21 11
Link Distance (ft) 563 129 370
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 340 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2025 Buid Am SimTraffic Report
Page 4

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #1

Movement EB EB EB EB EB EB WB WB WB WB NB NB
Directions Served L L T T T R L T T TR L L
Maximum Queue (ft) 228 253 171 144 98 108 66 184 168 84 174 211
Average Queue (ft) 130 178 110 99 42 59 34 137 88 44 124 172
95th Queue (ft) 246 263 182 156 108 119 74 196 171 86 200 232
Link Distance (ft) 977 977 977 860 860 860 969
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 480 480 640 360 300
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #1

Movement NB SB SB SB SB
Directions Served TR L T R R
Maximum Queue (ft) 208 132 137 92 38
Average Queue (ft) 150 75 81 55 18
95th Queue (ft) 226 133 149 96 42
Link Distance (ft) 969 473 473
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 205
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 341 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2025 Buid Am SimTraffic Report
Page 5

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #2

Movement EB EB EB EB EB EB EB WB WB WB WB NB
Directions Served L L T T T R R L T T TR L
Maximum Queue (ft) 194 243 180 159 128 141 69 86 209 182 136 191
Average Queue (ft) 105 167 109 94 34 48 5 35 140 92 47 92
95th Queue (ft) 200 236 178 155 95 120 41 74 206 185 102 185
Link Distance (ft) 977 977 977 860 860 860
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 480 480 640 640 360 300
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #2

Movement NB NB SB SB SB SB
Directions Served L TR L T R R
Maximum Queue (ft) 224 254 150 174 90 71
Average Queue (ft) 144 137 72 83 47 23
95th Queue (ft) 210 228 127 141 83 58
Link Distance (ft) 969 969 473 473
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 205
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 342 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2025 Buid Am SimTraffic Report
Page 6

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, All Intervals

Movement EB EB EB EB EB EB EB WB WB WB WB NB
Directions Served L L T T T R R L T T TR L
Maximum Queue (ft) 230 274 185 161 131 141 69 90 213 185 137 201
Average Queue (ft) 111 170 109 95 36 51 4 35 140 91 47 100
95th Queue (ft) 213 244 179 156 98 120 35 74 203 182 98 192
Link Distance (ft) 977 977 977 860 860 860
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 480 480 640 640 360 300
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, All Intervals

Movement NB NB SB SB SB SB
Directions Served L TR L T R R
Maximum Queue (ft) 228 254 150 174 104 71
Average Queue (ft) 150 140 73 82 49 22
95th Queue (ft) 218 228 129 143 87 54
Link Distance (ft) 969 969 473 473
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 205
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 12: Maple Island Rd /Maple Island Rd & Business Center Parking Lot/North Site Access, Inte

Movement WB SB
Directions Served LTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 6 6
Average Queue (ft) 1 1
95th Queue (ft) 9 9
Link Distance (ft) 199 293
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 343 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2025 Buid Am SimTraffic Report
Page 7

Intersection: 12: Maple Island Rd /Maple Island Rd & Business Center Parking Lot/North Site Access, Inte

Movement WB NB SB
Directions Served LTR LTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 6 17 18
Average Queue (ft) 0 1 1
95th Queue (ft) 5 11 9
Link Distance (ft) 199 370 293
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 12: Maple Island Rd /Maple Island Rd & Business Center Parking Lot/North Site Access, All 

Movement WB NB SB
Directions Served LTR LTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 12 17 24
Average Queue (ft) 0 1 1
95th Queue (ft) 6 9 9
Link Distance (ft) 199 370 293
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 17: Gateway & Game Farm , Interval #1

Movement EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR UL T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 11 36 36 21 83 125 28 54 43
Average Queue (ft) 2 17 19 7 35 58 6 21 20
95th Queue (ft) 14 40 37 22 81 122 27 56 51
Link Distance (ft) 250 924 473 473 384 384
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150 98 224
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Attachment 3 Page 344 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2025 Buid Am SimTraffic Report
Page 8

Intersection: 17: Gateway & Game Farm , Interval #2

Movement EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR UL T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 10 52 43 39 95 110 29 74 73
Average Queue (ft) 1 19 16 9 29 48 7 17 24
95th Queue (ft) 6 44 33 28 72 95 23 49 62
Link Distance (ft) 250 924 473 473 384 384
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150 98 224
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Intersection: 17: Gateway & Game Farm , All Intervals

Movement EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR UL T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 12 56 46 39 100 131 37 78 73
Average Queue (ft) 1 18 16 9 31 50 7 18 23
95th Queue (ft) 8 43 34 27 75 103 24 51 59
Link Distance (ft) 250 924 473 473 384 384
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150 98 224
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Intersection: 20: E Game Farm Rd & South Site Access, Interval #1

Movement SB
Directions Served R
Maximum Queue (ft) 31
Average Queue (ft) 15
95th Queue (ft) 39
Link Distance (ft) 344
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 345 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/30/2023

2025 Buid Am SimTraffic Report
Page 9

Intersection: 20: E Game Farm Rd & South Site Access, Interval #2

Movement SB
Directions Served R
Maximum Queue (ft) 31
Average Queue (ft) 13
95th Queue (ft) 38
Link Distance (ft) 344
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 20: E Game Farm Rd & South Site Access, All Intervals

Movement SB
Directions Served R
Maximum Queue (ft) 31
Average Queue (ft) 13
95th Queue (ft) 38
Link Distance (ft) 344
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Network Summary
Network wide Queuing Penalty, Interval #1: 0
Network wide Queuing Penalty, Interval #2: 0
Network wide Queuing Penalty, All Intervals: 0

Attachment 3 Page 346 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2025 Build Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 1

Intersection: 1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd, Interval #1

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB SB SB
Directions Served L T T T T R L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 60 142 117 204 168 44 159 138
Average Queue (ft) 26 85 52 140 91 28 118 26
95th Queue (ft) 73 147 120 214 176 44 181 145
Link Distance (ft) 1139 1139 703 703 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 400 150
Storage Blk Time (%) 4
Queuing Penalty (veh) 3

Intersection: 1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd, Interval #2

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB SB SB
Directions Served L T T T T R L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 61 124 109 198 162 62 168 160
Average Queue (ft) 21 64 39 117 64 28 86 10
95th Queue (ft) 52 112 89 187 141 49 151 92
Link Distance (ft) 1139 1139 703 703 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 400 150
Storage Blk Time (%) 1
Queuing Penalty (veh) 1

Intersection: 1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd, All Intervals

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB SB SB
Directions Served L T T T T R L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 70 145 127 205 173 62 171 200
Average Queue (ft) 23 69 42 123 70 28 94 14
95th Queue (ft) 58 123 98 196 152 48 162 107
Link Distance (ft) 1139 1139 703 703 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 400 150
Storage Blk Time (%) 2
Queuing Penalty (veh) 1

Attachment 3 Page 347 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2025 Build Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 2

Intersection: 2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd, Interval #1

Movement EB WB NB NB
Directions Served TR L L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 15 39 70 31
Average Queue (ft) 3 27 40 19
95th Queue (ft) 19 49 67 40
Link Distance (ft) 121 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 140 115
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd, Interval #2

Movement EB WB NB NB
Directions Served TR L L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 19 52 63 26
Average Queue (ft) 2 19 33 17
95th Queue (ft) 13 47 51 37
Link Distance (ft) 121 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 140 115
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd, All Intervals

Movement EB WB NB NB
Directions Served TR L L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 23 56 71 31
Average Queue (ft) 2 21 34 18
95th Queue (ft) 15 48 56 38
Link Distance (ft) 121 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 140 115
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 348 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2025 Build Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 3

Intersection: 7: Driveway/Maple Island Rd  & E Game Farm Rd, Interval #1

Movement EB WB SB
Directions Served LTR ULTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 35 18 40
Average Queue (ft) 19 3 18
95th Queue (ft) 45 16 46
Link Distance (ft) 563 139 370
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 7: Driveway/Maple Island Rd  & E Game Farm Rd, Interval #2

Movement EB WB SB
Directions Served LTR ULTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 45 24 36
Average Queue (ft) 10 1 7
95th Queue (ft) 35 9 28
Link Distance (ft) 563 139 370
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 7: Driveway/Maple Island Rd  & E Game Farm Rd, All Intervals

Movement EB WB SB
Directions Served LTR ULTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 45 30 41
Average Queue (ft) 12 1 9
95th Queue (ft) 38 11 34
Link Distance (ft) 563 139 370
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 349 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2025 Build Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 4

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #1

Movement EB EB EB EB EB EB EB WB WB WB WB NB
Directions Served L L T T T R R UL T T TR L
Maximum Queue (ft) 184 216 195 160 124 271 241 161 284 246 168 307
Average Queue (ft) 139 171 137 108 40 195 123 96 234 194 103 224
95th Queue (ft) 203 227 198 169 123 264 252 170 307 265 203 337
Link Distance (ft) 977 977 977 860 860 860
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 480 480 640 640 360 300
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 1

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #1

Movement NB NB SB SB SB SB
Directions Served L TR UL T R R
Maximum Queue (ft) 407 203 227 294 234 194
Average Queue (ft) 273 132 116 184 167 125
95th Queue (ft) 412 225 231 319 234 203
Link Distance (ft) 969 969 473 473
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 205
Storage Blk Time (%) 6 1 2 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 18 2 8 0

Attachment 3 Page 350 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2025 Build Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 5

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #2

Movement EB EB EB EB EB EB EB WB WB WB WB NB
Directions Served L L T T T R R UL T T TR L
Maximum Queue (ft) 186 223 201 173 136 285 245 149 316 267 192 314
Average Queue (ft) 101 142 134 109 35 177 122 82 225 182 81 197
95th Queue (ft) 189 214 195 172 112 280 261 135 304 263 177 307
Link Distance (ft) 977 977 977 860 860 860
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 480 480 640 640 360 300
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #2

Movement NB NB SB SB SB SB
Directions Served L TR UL T R R
Maximum Queue (ft) 363 276 222 271 257 226
Average Queue (ft) 243 141 105 161 162 121
95th Queue (ft) 343 238 182 248 245 208
Link Distance (ft) 969 969 473 473
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 205
Storage Blk Time (%) 2 0 2 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 6 0 6 0

Attachment 3 Page 351 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2025 Build Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 6

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, All Intervals

Movement EB EB EB EB EB EB EB WB WB WB WB NB
Directions Served L L T T T R R UL T T TR L
Maximum Queue (ft) 210 236 208 177 148 292 264 176 320 269 196 324
Average Queue (ft) 111 149 135 109 36 181 122 85 227 185 86 203
95th Queue (ft) 197 220 196 171 115 278 259 145 305 264 184 316
Link Distance (ft) 977 977 977 860 860 860
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 480 480 640 640 360 300
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, All Intervals

Movement NB NB SB SB SB SB
Directions Served L TR UL T R R
Maximum Queue (ft) 424 276 255 325 271 226
Average Queue (ft) 250 139 108 166 163 122
95th Queue (ft) 363 235 196 268 243 207
Link Distance (ft) 969 969 473 473
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 205
Storage Blk Time (%) 3 0 2 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 9 1 7 0

Intersection: 12: Maple Island Rd /Maple Island Rd & Business Center Parking Lot/North Site Access, Inte

Movement EB NB SB
Directions Served LTR LTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 25 6 6
Average Queue (ft) 8 1 1
95th Queue (ft) 30 10 10
Link Distance (ft) 284 370 293
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 352 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2025 Build Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 7

Intersection: 12: Maple Island Rd /Maple Island Rd & Business Center Parking Lot/North Site Access, Inte

Movement EB WB SB
Directions Served LTR LTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 6 6 6
Average Queue (ft) 0 0 0
95th Queue (ft) 5 5 5
Link Distance (ft) 284 268 293
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 12: Maple Island Rd /Maple Island Rd & Business Center Parking Lot/North Site Access, All 

Movement EB WB NB SB
Directions Served LTR LTR LTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 25 6 6 12
Average Queue (ft) 2 0 0 0
95th Queue (ft) 15 4 5 6
Link Distance (ft) 284 268 370 293
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 17: Gateway & Game Farm, Interval #1

Movement EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR UL T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 11 43 53 41 95 112 46 103 108
Average Queue (ft) 2 15 25 21 37 53 16 37 60
95th Queue (ft) 11 43 54 41 93 115 44 95 124
Link Distance (ft) 250 924 473 473 384 384
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150 98 224
Storage Blk Time (%) 1
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Attachment 3 Page 353 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2025 Build Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 8

Intersection: 17: Gateway & Game Farm, Interval #2

Movement EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR UL T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 24 43 43 57 99 133 62 113 138
Average Queue (ft) 2 14 19 22 31 46 14 34 53
95th Queue (ft) 11 36 37 48 78 103 43 91 111
Link Distance (ft) 250 924 473 473 384 384
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150 98 224
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Intersection: 17: Gateway & Game Farm, All Intervals

Movement EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR UL T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 25 52 61 57 102 139 62 128 152
Average Queue (ft) 2 14 21 22 33 48 14 35 55
95th Queue (ft) 11 38 42 47 82 106 43 92 114
Link Distance (ft) 250 924 473 473 384 384
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150 98 224
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Intersection: 21: E Game Farm Rd & South Site Access, Interval #1

Movement SB
Directions Served R
Maximum Queue (ft) 31
Average Queue (ft) 26
95th Queue (ft) 45
Link Distance (ft) 332
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 354 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2025 Build Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 9

Intersection: 21: E Game Farm Rd & South Site Access, Interval #2

Movement SB
Directions Served R
Maximum Queue (ft) 45
Average Queue (ft) 25
95th Queue (ft) 49
Link Distance (ft) 332
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 21: E Game Farm Rd & South Site Access, All Intervals

Movement SB
Directions Served R
Maximum Queue (ft) 45
Average Queue (ft) 25
95th Queue (ft) 48
Link Distance (ft) 332
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Network Summary
Network wide Queuing Penalty, Interval #1: 32
Network wide Queuing Penalty, Interval #2: 14
Network wide Queuing Penalty, All Intervals: 18

Attachment 3 Page 355 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Background Am SimTraffic Report
Page 1

Intersection: 1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd, Interval #1

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB SB SB
Directions Served L T T T T R L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 61 90 74 151 92 54 105 9
Average Queue (ft) 40 56 39 81 37 38 55 1
95th Queue (ft) 70 99 80 134 90 60 103 13
Link Distance (ft) 1139 1139 703 703 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 400 150
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Intersection: 1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd, Interval #2

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB SB
Directions Served L T T T T R L
Maximum Queue (ft) 77 97 90 150 110 58 99
Average Queue (ft) 35 49 32 70 26 34 52
95th Queue (ft) 67 95 73 124 75 55 91
Link Distance (ft) 1139 1139 703 703
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 400 150
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd, All Intervals

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB SB SB
Directions Served L T T T T R L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 78 104 99 171 135 63 117 9
Average Queue (ft) 36 50 34 73 29 35 53 0
95th Queue (ft) 68 96 75 127 79 56 94 6
Link Distance (ft) 1139 1139 703 703 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 400 150
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Attachment 3 Page 356 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Background Am SimTraffic Report
Page 2

Intersection: 2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd, Interval #1

Movement WB NB NB
Directions Served L L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 16 66 39
Average Queue (ft) 2 36 25
95th Queue (ft) 13 64 43
Link Distance (ft) 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 140 115
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd, Interval #2

Movement EB WB NB NB
Directions Served TR L L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 4 46 67 48
Average Queue (ft) 0 4 34 26
95th Queue (ft) 4 25 55 39
Link Distance (ft) 316 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 140 115
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Intersection: 2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd, All Intervals

Movement EB WB NB NB
Directions Served TR L L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 4 46 75 53
Average Queue (ft) 0 4 34 26
95th Queue (ft) 3 23 58 40
Link Distance (ft) 316 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 140 115
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Attachment 3 Page 357 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Background Am SimTraffic Report
Page 3

Intersection: 7: Driveway/Maple Island Rd  & E Game Farm Rd, Interval #1

Movement EB WB SB
Directions Served LTR ULTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 24 12 6
Average Queue (ft) 3 1 2
95th Queue (ft) 19 9 14
Link Distance (ft) 563 316 370
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 7: Driveway/Maple Island Rd  & E Game Farm Rd, Interval #2

Movement EB WB SB
Directions Served LTR ULTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 23 31 25
Average Queue (ft) 1 2 1
95th Queue (ft) 13 15 11
Link Distance (ft) 563 316 370
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 7: Driveway/Maple Island Rd  & E Game Farm Rd, All Intervals

Movement EB WB SB
Directions Served LTR ULTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 29 31 25
Average Queue (ft) 2 2 1
95th Queue (ft) 14 14 11
Link Distance (ft) 563 316 370
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 358 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Background Am SimTraffic Report
Page 4

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #1

Movement EB EB EB EB EB EB EB WB WB WB WB NB
Directions Served L L T T T R R UL T T TR L
Maximum Queue (ft) 244 265 208 204 157 151 73 81 206 172 106 199
Average Queue (ft) 160 204 137 126 61 71 19 46 155 110 49 127
95th Queue (ft) 267 289 221 209 145 156 87 87 210 196 105 225
Link Distance (ft) 977 977 977 860 860 860
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 480 480 640 640 360 300
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #1

Movement NB NB SB SB SB SB
Directions Served L TR L T R R
Maximum Queue (ft) 228 294 162 158 89 62
Average Queue (ft) 173 183 98 100 56 26
95th Queue (ft) 256 310 174 169 92 64
Link Distance (ft) 969 969 473 473
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 205
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Attachment 3 Page 359 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Background Am SimTraffic Report
Page 5

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #2

Movement EB EB EB EB EB EB EB WB WB WB WB NB
Directions Served L L T T T R R UL T T TR L
Maximum Queue (ft) 201 240 214 176 135 170 158 82 217 177 99 189
Average Queue (ft) 105 159 117 99 40 50 10 33 140 84 44 104
95th Queue (ft) 203 233 187 163 110 123 68 69 205 165 81 202
Link Distance (ft) 977 977 977 860 860 860
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 480 480 640 640 360 300
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #2

Movement NB NB SB SB SB SB
Directions Served L TR L T R R
Maximum Queue (ft) 222 278 156 184 84 58
Average Queue (ft) 157 143 80 93 44 23
95th Queue (ft) 230 237 142 160 74 51
Link Distance (ft) 969 969 473 473
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 205
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 360 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Background Am SimTraffic Report
Page 6

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, All Intervals

Movement EB EB EB EB EB EB EB WB WB WB WB NB
Directions Served L L T T T R R UL T T TR L
Maximum Queue (ft) 254 269 227 206 163 177 159 90 223 190 122 207
Average Queue (ft) 118 170 122 106 45 55 12 36 143 90 45 109
95th Queue (ft) 226 253 197 177 120 133 73 75 207 174 88 209
Link Distance (ft) 977 977 977 860 860 860
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 480 480 640 640 360 300
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, All Intervals

Movement NB NB SB SB SB SB
Directions Served L TR L T R R
Maximum Queue (ft) 238 298 173 184 89 67
Average Queue (ft) 161 153 84 95 47 23
95th Queue (ft) 238 259 151 162 80 55
Link Distance (ft) 969 969 473 473
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 205
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Intersection: 12: Maple Island Rd /Maple Island Rd & Business Center Parking Lot, Interval #1

Movement
Directions Served
Maximum Queue (ft)
Average Queue (ft)
95th Queue (ft)
Link Distance (ft)
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 361 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Background Am SimTraffic Report
Page 7

Intersection: 12: Maple Island Rd /Maple Island Rd & Business Center Parking Lot, Interval #2

Movement SB
Directions Served TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 19
Average Queue (ft) 1
95th Queue (ft) 12
Link Distance (ft) 293
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 12: Maple Island Rd /Maple Island Rd & Business Center Parking Lot, All Intervals

Movement SB
Directions Served TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 19
Average Queue (ft) 1
95th Queue (ft) 10
Link Distance (ft) 293
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 17: Gateway & Game Farm , Interval #1

Movement EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR UL T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 5 40 43 22 85 128 36 64 78
Average Queue (ft) 1 20 18 11 36 63 14 31 30
95th Queue (ft) 7 43 42 26 92 128 42 70 78
Link Distance (ft) 250 924 473 473 384 384
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150 98 224
Storage Blk Time (%) 1
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Attachment 3 Page 362 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Background Am SimTraffic Report
Page 8

Intersection: 17: Gateway & Game Farm , Interval #2

Movement EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR UL T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 14 59 52 39 93 141 41 49 66
Average Queue (ft) 1 18 16 11 33 52 8 17 22
95th Queue (ft) 8 43 38 31 78 105 27 46 55
Link Distance (ft) 250 924 473 473 384 384
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150 98 224
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Intersection: 17: Gateway & Game Farm , All Intervals

Movement EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR UL T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 14 59 60 39 110 154 57 64 79
Average Queue (ft) 1 19 17 11 33 54 9 21 24
95th Queue (ft) 8 43 39 30 82 112 31 53 62
Link Distance (ft) 250 924 473 473 384 384
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150 98 224
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Network Summary
Network wide Queuing Penalty, Interval #1: 1
Network wide Queuing Penalty, Interval #2: 0
Network wide Queuing Penalty, All Intervals: 0

Attachment 3 Page 363 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Background Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 1

Intersection: 1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd, Interval #1

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB SB SB
Directions Served L T T T T R L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 51 157 154 273 263 52 168 140
Average Queue (ft) 32 99 68 166 120 32 125 20
95th Queue (ft) 58 171 148 283 254 56 182 129
Link Distance (ft) 1139 1139 703 703 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 400 150
Storage Blk Time (%) 6
Queuing Penalty (veh) 4

Intersection: 1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd, Interval #2

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB SB SB
Directions Served L T T T T R L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 64 139 114 198 166 44 165 128
Average Queue (ft) 20 68 43 121 63 22 96 7
95th Queue (ft) 54 121 94 183 130 44 153 65
Link Distance (ft) 1139 1139 703 703 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 400 150
Storage Blk Time (%) 1 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 1 0

Intersection: 1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd, All Intervals

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB SB SB
Directions Served L T T T T R L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 64 166 158 275 263 61 173 229
Average Queue (ft) 23 75 49 132 77 25 103 10
95th Queue (ft) 56 137 111 217 173 48 164 84
Link Distance (ft) 1139 1139 703 703 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 400 150
Storage Blk Time (%) 2 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 2 0

Attachment 3 Page 364 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Background Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 2

Intersection: 2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd, Interval #1

Movement EB WB NB NB
Directions Served TR L L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 24 64 66 25
Average Queue (ft) 6 27 44 18
95th Queue (ft) 24 67 74 36
Link Distance (ft) 316 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 140 115
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd, Interval #2

Movement EB WB NB NB
Directions Served TR L L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 28 39 63 25
Average Queue (ft) 2 18 34 16
95th Queue (ft) 15 43 54 35
Link Distance (ft) 316 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 140 115
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd, All Intervals

Movement EB WB NB NB
Directions Served TR L L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 35 68 68 25
Average Queue (ft) 3 20 36 17
95th Queue (ft) 18 50 60 36
Link Distance (ft) 316 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 140 115
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 365 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Background Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 3

Intersection: 7: Driveway/Maple Island Rd  & E Game Farm Rd, Interval #1

Movement EB WB SB
Directions Served LTR ULTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 45 6 30
Average Queue (ft) 8 2 16
95th Queue (ft) 35 14 41
Link Distance (ft) 563 316 370
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 7: Driveway/Maple Island Rd  & E Game Farm Rd, Interval #2

Movement EB SB
Directions Served LTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 35 35
Average Queue (ft) 5 6
95th Queue (ft) 25 26
Link Distance (ft) 563 370
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 7: Driveway/Maple Island Rd  & E Game Farm Rd, All Intervals

Movement EB WB SB
Directions Served LTR ULTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 50 6 36
Average Queue (ft) 6 0 8
95th Queue (ft) 28 6 31
Link Distance (ft) 563 316 370
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 366 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Background Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 4

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #1

Movement EB EB EB EB EB EB EB WB WB WB WB NB
Directions Served L L T T T R R UL T T TR L
Maximum Queue (ft) 243 269 250 200 337 517 498 202 385 331 256 325
Average Queue (ft) 167 203 183 150 114 365 329 124 302 265 177 324
95th Queue (ft) 288 312 254 215 379 545 506 212 401 365 280 327
Link Distance (ft) 977 977 977 860 860 860
Upstream Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 480 480 640 640 360 300
Storage Blk Time (%) 1 0 0 27
Queuing Penalty (veh) 4 0 0 131

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #1

Movement NB NB SB SB SB SB
Directions Served L TR UL T R R
Maximum Queue (ft) 984 984 278 380 308 220
Average Queue (ft) 966 925 171 252 187 163
95th Queue (ft) 1070 1225 304 433 317 242
Link Distance (ft) 969 969 473 473
Upstream Blk Time (%) 80 62 1
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 0 5
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 205
Storage Blk Time (%) 78 4 3 2
Queuing Penalty (veh) 378 10 13 8

Attachment 3 Page 367 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Background Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 5

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #2

Movement EB EB EB EB EB EB EB WB WB WB WB NB
Directions Served L L T T T R R UL T T TR L
Maximum Queue (ft) 232 274 218 174 284 419 380 159 327 280 160 325
Average Queue (ft) 66 115 98 67 25 167 104 76 182 139 49 324
95th Queue (ft) 165 208 171 136 167 312 272 139 262 236 114 327
Link Distance (ft) 977 977 977 860 860 860
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 480 480 640 640 360 300
Storage Blk Time (%) 0 20
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 61

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #2

Movement NB NB SB SB SB SB
Directions Served L TR UL T R R
Maximum Queue (ft) 984 985 202 258 198 182
Average Queue (ft) 984 981 91 135 107 86
95th Queue (ft) 987 1036 163 223 168 150
Link Distance (ft) 969 969 473 473
Upstream Blk Time (%) 88 69
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 0
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 205
Storage Blk Time (%) 74 0 0 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 222 0 0 0

Attachment 3 Page 368 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Background Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 6

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, All Intervals

Movement EB EB EB EB EB EB EB WB WB WB WB NB
Directions Served L L T T T R R UL T T TR L
Maximum Queue (ft) 255 288 250 211 337 517 508 211 385 335 256 325
Average Queue (ft) 91 136 118 87 46 215 158 88 211 170 80 324
95th Queue (ft) 217 251 213 177 237 423 392 165 331 302 198 327
Link Distance (ft) 977 977 977 860 860 860
Upstream Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 480 480 640 640 360 300
Storage Blk Time (%) 0 0 0 22
Queuing Penalty (veh) 1 0 0 79

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, All Intervals

Movement NB NB SB SB SB SB
Directions Served L TR UL T R R
Maximum Queue (ft) 984 985 278 380 311 226
Average Queue (ft) 980 967 111 164 126 105
95th Queue (ft) 1032 1127 217 307 227 192
Link Distance (ft) 969 969 473 473
Upstream Blk Time (%) 86 67 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 0 1
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 205
Storage Blk Time (%) 75 1 1 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 261 3 4 2

Intersection: 12: Maple Island Rd /Maple Island Rd & Business Center Parking Lot, Interval #1

Movement EB
Directions Served LR
Maximum Queue (ft) 18
Average Queue (ft) 4
95th Queue (ft) 20
Link Distance (ft) 282
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 369 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Background Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 7

Intersection: 12: Maple Island Rd /Maple Island Rd & Business Center Parking Lot, Interval #2

Movement EB
Directions Served LR
Maximum Queue (ft) 18
Average Queue (ft) 1
95th Queue (ft) 10
Link Distance (ft) 282
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 12: Maple Island Rd /Maple Island Rd & Business Center Parking Lot, All Intervals

Movement EB
Directions Served LR
Maximum Queue (ft) 24
Average Queue (ft) 2
95th Queue (ft) 13
Link Distance (ft) 282
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 17: Gateway & Game Farm, Interval #1

Movement EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR UL T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 54 174 292 102 203 209 157 399 399
Average Queue (ft) 11 135 112 51 99 116 62 234 264
95th Queue (ft) 46 202 299 113 213 216 148 452 453
Link Distance (ft) 250 924 473 473 384 384
Upstream Blk Time (%) 3 5
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 0
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150 98 224
Storage Blk Time (%) 13 1 9 1
Queuing Penalty (veh) 17 3 9 3

Attachment 3 Page 370 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Background Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 8

Intersection: 17: Gateway & Game Farm, Interval #2

Movement EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR UL T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 36 148 118 108 158 167 64 228 250
Average Queue (ft) 4 69 22 27 47 64 19 62 92
95th Queue (ft) 21 123 74 69 117 133 51 156 179
Link Distance (ft) 250 924 473 473 384 384
Upstream Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150 98 224
Storage Blk Time (%) 1 0 2 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 1 0 1 0

Intersection: 17: Gateway & Game Farm, All Intervals

Movement EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR UL T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 64 174 294 114 215 217 157 399 399
Average Queue (ft) 6 85 44 33 60 76 29 103 134
95th Queue (ft) 29 159 164 84 150 163 88 285 304
Link Distance (ft) 250 924 473 473 384 384
Upstream Blk Time (%) 1 1
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 0
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150 98 224
Storage Blk Time (%) 4 0 3 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 5 1 3 1

Network Summary
Network wide Queuing Penalty, Interval #1: 585
Network wide Queuing Penalty, Interval #2: 286
Network wide Queuing Penalty, All Intervals: 361

Attachment 3 Page 371 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Buid Am SimTraffic Report
Page 1

Intersection: 1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd, Interval #1

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB SB
Directions Served L T T T T R L
Maximum Queue (ft) 74 77 68 115 65 75 109
Average Queue (ft) 52 49 33 78 26 39 64
95th Queue (ft) 78 79 75 123 62 70 112
Link Distance (ft) 1139 1139 703 703
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 400 150
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd, Interval #2

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB SB
Directions Served L T T T T R L
Maximum Queue (ft) 86 96 86 153 107 64 120
Average Queue (ft) 41 48 32 76 28 36 52
95th Queue (ft) 78 89 71 129 77 59 99
Link Distance (ft) 1139 1139 703 703
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 400 150
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Intersection: 1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd, All Intervals

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB SB
Directions Served L T T T T R L
Maximum Queue (ft) 87 96 87 156 110 80 125
Average Queue (ft) 44 48 32 76 28 37 55
95th Queue (ft) 79 87 72 128 73 62 103
Link Distance (ft) 1139 1139 703 703
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 400 150
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Attachment 3 Page 372 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Buid Am SimTraffic Report
Page 2

Intersection: 2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd, Interval #1

Movement WB NB NB
Directions Served L L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 45 59 57
Average Queue (ft) 9 41 34
95th Queue (ft) 40 62 59
Link Distance (ft) 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 140 115
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd, Interval #2

Movement EB WB NB NB
Directions Served TR L L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 4 33 60 62
Average Queue (ft) 0 6 37 31
95th Queue (ft) 3 27 56 50
Link Distance (ft) 130 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 140 115
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd, All Intervals

Movement EB WB NB NB
Directions Served TR L L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 4 50 60 69
Average Queue (ft) 0 6 38 32
95th Queue (ft) 3 30 58 53
Link Distance (ft) 130 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 140 115
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 373 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Buid Am SimTraffic Report
Page 3

Intersection: 7: Driveway/Maple Island Rd  & E Game Farm Rd, Interval #1

Movement EB WB SB
Directions Served LTR ULTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 12 17 6
Average Queue (ft) 3 8 1
95th Queue (ft) 16 32 10
Link Distance (ft) 563 129 370
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 7: Driveway/Maple Island Rd  & E Game Farm Rd, Interval #2

Movement EB WB SB
Directions Served LTR ULTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 19 25 25
Average Queue (ft) 2 3 1
95th Queue (ft) 13 16 12
Link Distance (ft) 563 129 370
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 7: Driveway/Maple Island Rd  & E Game Farm Rd, All Intervals

Movement EB WB SB
Directions Served LTR ULTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 25 36 31
Average Queue (ft) 2 4 1
95th Queue (ft) 14 21 12
Link Distance (ft) 563 129 370
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 374 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Buid Am SimTraffic Report
Page 4

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #1

Movement EB EB EB EB EB EB EB WB WB WB WB NB
Directions Served L L T T T R R UL T T TR L
Maximum Queue (ft) 252 273 166 180 138 126 43 86 198 170 90 263
Average Queue (ft) 157 213 113 120 61 67 8 39 147 94 54 125
95th Queue (ft) 265 303 173 197 138 131 46 81 207 177 92 269
Link Distance (ft) 977 977 977 860 860 860
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 480 480 640 640 360 300
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #1

Movement NB NB SB SB SB SB
Directions Served L TR L T R R
Maximum Queue (ft) 290 227 156 158 83 52
Average Queue (ft) 180 173 84 113 46 27
95th Queue (ft) 305 255 162 178 78 58
Link Distance (ft) 969 969 473 473
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 205
Storage Blk Time (%) 1
Queuing Penalty (veh) 3

Attachment 3 Page 375 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Buid Am SimTraffic Report
Page 5

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #2

Movement EB EB EB EB EB EB EB WB WB WB WB NB
Directions Served L L T T T R R UL T T TR L
Maximum Queue (ft) 249 301 202 167 127 129 86 90 212 175 114 232
Average Queue (ft) 128 186 113 100 40 50 6 35 142 84 46 108
95th Queue (ft) 226 283 185 163 106 121 46 77 202 164 91 215
Link Distance (ft) 977 977 977 860 860 860
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 480 480 640 640 360 300
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #2

Movement NB NB SB SB SB SB
Directions Served L TR L T R R
Maximum Queue (ft) 266 298 178 168 71 57
Average Queue (ft) 158 147 87 86 43 24
95th Queue (ft) 236 253 158 145 69 55
Link Distance (ft) 969 969 473 473
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 205
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Attachment 3 Page 376 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Buid Am SimTraffic Report
Page 6

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, All Intervals

Movement EB EB EB EB EB EB EB WB WB WB WB NB
Directions Served L L T T T R R UL T T TR L
Maximum Queue (ft) 272 306 202 182 144 140 92 91 221 185 119 282
Average Queue (ft) 135 193 113 104 45 54 6 36 143 86 48 112
95th Queue (ft) 237 290 182 173 115 124 46 78 203 167 92 230
Link Distance (ft) 977 977 977 860 860 860
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 480 480 640 640 360 300
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, All Intervals

Movement NB NB SB SB SB SB
Directions Served L TR L T R R
Maximum Queue (ft) 315 301 187 177 88 67
Average Queue (ft) 163 153 86 92 44 25
95th Queue (ft) 256 255 159 156 72 56
Link Distance (ft) 969 969 473 473
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 205
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 1

Intersection: 12: Maple Island Rd /Maple Island Rd & Business Center Parking Lot/North Site Access, Inte

Movement WB NB SB
Directions Served LTR LTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 6 12 6
Average Queue (ft) 1 2 1
95th Queue (ft) 9 13 10
Link Distance (ft) 199 370 293
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 377 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Buid Am SimTraffic Report
Page 7

Intersection: 12: Maple Island Rd /Maple Island Rd & Business Center Parking Lot/North Site Access, Inte

Movement EB SB
Directions Served LTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 6 6
Average Queue (ft) 0 0
95th Queue (ft) 5 5
Link Distance (ft) 284 293
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 12: Maple Island Rd /Maple Island Rd & Business Center Parking Lot/North Site Access, All 

Movement EB WB NB SB
Directions Served LTR LTR LTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 6 6 12 12
Average Queue (ft) 0 0 0 0
95th Queue (ft) 4 4 6 6
Link Distance (ft) 284 199 370 293
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 17: Gateway & Game Farm, Interval #1

Movement EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR UL T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 6 31 40 26 126 141 28 54 55
Average Queue (ft) 1 22 19 13 49 71 7 22 25
95th Queue (ft) 8 37 41 33 126 143 25 53 62
Link Distance (ft) 250 924 473 473 384 384
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150 98 224
Storage Blk Time (%) 1
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Attachment 3 Page 378 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Buid Am SimTraffic Report
Page 8

Intersection: 17: Gateway & Game Farm, Interval #2

Movement EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR UL T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 16 48 40 54 83 143 58 62 71
Average Queue (ft) 1 20 16 11 33 56 12 18 20
95th Queue (ft) 8 43 33 36 77 116 39 48 54
Link Distance (ft) 250 924 473 473 384 384
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150 98 224
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Intersection: 17: Gateway & Game Farm, All Intervals

Movement EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR UL T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 20 48 45 54 126 165 58 62 80
Average Queue (ft) 1 20 17 12 37 60 11 19 21
95th Queue (ft) 8 42 35 36 92 123 36 49 56
Link Distance (ft) 250 924 473 473 384 384
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150 98 224
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Intersection: 20: E Game Farm Rd & South Site Access, Interval #1

Movement SB
Directions Served R
Maximum Queue (ft) 31
Average Queue (ft) 16
95th Queue (ft) 41
Link Distance (ft) 344
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 379 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Buid Am SimTraffic Report
Page 9

Intersection: 20: E Game Farm Rd & South Site Access, Interval #2

Movement SB
Directions Served R
Maximum Queue (ft) 31
Average Queue (ft) 14
95th Queue (ft) 39
Link Distance (ft) 344
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 20: E Game Farm Rd & South Site Access, All Intervals

Movement SB
Directions Served R
Maximum Queue (ft) 31
Average Queue (ft) 15
95th Queue (ft) 39
Link Distance (ft) 344
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Network Summary
Network wide Queuing Penalty, Interval #1: 3
Network wide Queuing Penalty, Interval #2: 0
Network wide Queuing Penalty, All Intervals: 1

Attachment 3 Page 380 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Build Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 1

Intersection: 1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd, Interval #1

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB SB SB
Directions Served L T T T T R L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 67 162 136 239 204 54 168 159
Average Queue (ft) 37 98 61 157 112 34 120 23
95th Queue (ft) 83 164 134 244 206 58 184 148
Link Distance (ft) 1139 1139 703 703 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 400 150
Storage Blk Time (%) 5
Queuing Penalty (veh) 4

Intersection: 1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd, Interval #2

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB SB SB
Directions Served L T T T T R L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 88 178 149 204 177 54 167 51
Average Queue (ft) 29 77 48 119 67 28 97 2
95th Queue (ft) 73 140 110 180 139 52 156 42
Link Distance (ft) 1139 1139 703 703 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 400 150
Storage Blk Time (%) 1
Queuing Penalty (veh) 1

Intersection: 1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd, All Intervals

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB SB SB
Directions Served L T T T T R L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 88 189 171 251 219 55 170 170
Average Queue (ft) 31 82 51 129 78 29 103 7
95th Queue (ft) 76 148 117 202 162 54 165 79
Link Distance (ft) 1139 1139 703 703 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 400 150
Storage Blk Time (%) 2
Queuing Penalty (veh) 2

Attachment 3 Page 381 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Build Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 2

Intersection: 2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd, Interval #1

Movement EB WB NB NB
Directions Served TR L L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 32 51 85 31
Average Queue (ft) 7 27 48 21
95th Queue (ft) 30 53 87 39
Link Distance (ft) 121 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 140 115
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Intersection: 2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd, Interval #2

Movement EB WB NB NB
Directions Served TR L L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 35 60 62 31
Average Queue (ft) 3 19 35 18
95th Queue (ft) 19 49 56 38
Link Distance (ft) 121 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 140 115
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd, All Intervals

Movement EB WB NB NB
Directions Served TR L L R
Maximum Queue (ft) 47 68 89 35
Average Queue (ft) 4 21 38 19
95th Queue (ft) 22 50 66 38
Link Distance (ft) 121 531
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 140 115
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Attachment 3 Page 382 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Build Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 3

Intersection: 7: Driveway/Maple Island Rd  & E Game Farm Rd, Interval #1

Movement EB WB SB
Directions Served LTR ULTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 54 45 40
Average Queue (ft) 19 10 17
95th Queue (ft) 54 45 45
Link Distance (ft) 563 139 370
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 7: Driveway/Maple Island Rd  & E Game Farm Rd, Interval #2

Movement EB WB SB
Directions Served LTR ULTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 35 6 31
Average Queue (ft) 6 1 8
95th Queue (ft) 27 8 30
Link Distance (ft) 563 139 370
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 7: Driveway/Maple Island Rd  & E Game Farm Rd, All Intervals

Movement EB WB SB
Directions Served LTR ULTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 54 45 40
Average Queue (ft) 9 3 10
95th Queue (ft) 36 22 35
Link Distance (ft) 563 139 370
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 383 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Build Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 4

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #1

Movement EB EB EB EB EB EB EB WB WB WB WB NB
Directions Served L L T T T R R UL T T TR L
Maximum Queue (ft) 322 349 268 235 174 530 484 241 352 301 227 325
Average Queue (ft) 223 254 192 166 119 373 325 153 286 229 152 324
95th Queue (ft) 345 375 284 243 188 583 538 257 360 302 234 328
Link Distance (ft) 977 977 977 860 860 860
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 480 480 640 640 360 300
Storage Blk Time (%) 0 22
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 107

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #1

Movement NB NB SB SB SB SB
Directions Served L TR UL T R R
Maximum Queue (ft) 984 984 300 330 263 208
Average Queue (ft) 972 952 171 240 173 156
95th Queue (ft) 1052 1166 309 371 268 235
Link Distance (ft) 969 969 473 473
Upstream Blk Time (%) 81 65 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 0 0
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 205
Storage Blk Time (%) 82 2 2 1
Queuing Penalty (veh) 397 4 10 6

Attachment 3 Page 384 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Build Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 5

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #2

Movement EB EB EB EB EB EB EB WB WB WB WB NB
Directions Served L L T T T R R UL T T TR L
Maximum Queue (ft) 223 255 196 178 110 352 316 150 302 271 219 325
Average Queue (ft) 76 128 104 74 16 165 95 83 189 150 57 324
95th Queue (ft) 170 203 175 142 67 295 267 142 271 245 150 327
Link Distance (ft) 977 977 977 860 860 860
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 480 480 640 640 360 300
Storage Blk Time (%) 0 0 0 20
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 0 0 60

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, Interval #2

Movement NB NB SB SB SB SB
Directions Served L TR UL T R R
Maximum Queue (ft) 984 984 210 231 239 206
Average Queue (ft) 984 984 93 145 108 85
95th Queue (ft) 987 987 170 221 190 158
Link Distance (ft) 969 969 473 473
Upstream Blk Time (%) 89 69
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 0
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 205
Storage Blk Time (%) 75 0 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 223 1 1

Attachment 3 Page 385 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Build Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 6

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, All Intervals

Movement EB EB EB EB EB EB EB WB WB WB WB NB
Directions Served L L T T T R R UL T T TR L
Maximum Queue (ft) 322 349 268 235 174 537 484 241 360 309 257 325
Average Queue (ft) 112 158 125 96 41 216 150 100 213 169 80 324
95th Queue (ft) 256 284 224 192 132 427 395 188 318 275 192 327
Link Distance (ft) 977 977 977 860 860 860
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 480 480 640 640 360 300
Storage Blk Time (%) 0 0 0 21
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 0 0 72

Intersection: 10: Beltline & Gateway, All Intervals

Movement NB NB SB SB SB SB
Directions Served L TR UL T R R
Maximum Queue (ft) 984 984 300 330 284 227
Average Queue (ft) 981 976 112 168 124 103
95th Queue (ft) 1021 1083 222 282 221 192
Link Distance (ft) 969 969 473 473
Upstream Blk Time (%) 87 68 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 0 0
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 330 205
Storage Blk Time (%) 77 0 1 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 267 1 3 2

Intersection: 12: Maple Island Rd /Maple Island Rd & Business Center Parking Lot/North Site Access, Inte

Movement EB WB NB SB
Directions Served LTR LTR LTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 18 6 6 6
Average Queue (ft) 5 1 1 1
95th Queue (ft) 21 9 9 10
Link Distance (ft) 284 268 370 293
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 386 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Build Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 7

Intersection: 12: Maple Island Rd /Maple Island Rd & Business Center Parking Lot/North Site Access, Inte

Movement EB WB SB
Directions Served LTR LTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 17 6 6
Average Queue (ft) 1 0 0
95th Queue (ft) 8 5 5
Link Distance (ft) 284 268 293
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 12: Maple Island Rd /Maple Island Rd & Business Center Parking Lot/North Site Access, All 

Movement EB WB NB SB
Directions Served LTR LTR LTR LTR
Maximum Queue (ft) 24 12 6 12
Average Queue (ft) 2 0 0 0
95th Queue (ft) 13 6 4 6
Link Distance (ft) 284 268 370 293
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 17: Gateway & Game Farm, Interval #1

Movement EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR UL T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 23 172 196 114 157 163 124 286 294
Average Queue (ft) 9 138 81 57 83 107 54 170 216
95th Queue (ft) 29 193 239 115 159 181 126 320 353
Link Distance (ft) 250 924 473 473 384 384
Upstream Blk Time (%) 0 1
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 0
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150 98 224
Storage Blk Time (%) 11 1 6 2
Queuing Penalty (veh) 16 5 6 3

Attachment 3 Page 387 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Build Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 8

Intersection: 17: Gateway & Game Farm, Interval #2

Movement EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR UL T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 20 146 130 85 151 173 91 163 206
Average Queue (ft) 4 78 24 27 51 71 22 55 95
95th Queue (ft) 16 135 78 61 117 138 63 125 180
Link Distance (ft) 250 924 473 473 384 384
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150 98 224
Storage Blk Time (%) 0 0 1
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 0 1

Intersection: 17: Gateway & Game Farm, All Intervals

Movement EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR UL T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 28 172 201 114 160 178 132 286 296
Average Queue (ft) 5 93 38 34 58 80 30 83 124
95th Queue (ft) 20 163 137 80 131 153 85 208 256
Link Distance (ft) 250 924 473 473 384 384
Upstream Blk Time (%) 0 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 0
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150 98 224
Storage Blk Time (%) 3 0 3 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 4 1 2 1

Intersection: 21: E Game Farm Rd & South Site Access, Interval #1

Movement SB
Directions Served R
Maximum Queue (ft) 44
Average Queue (ft) 30
95th Queue (ft) 50
Link Distance (ft) 332
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Attachment 3 Page 388 of 420 



Queuing and Blocking Report
6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change 05/31/2023

2030 Build Pm SimTraffic Report
Page 9

Intersection: 21: E Game Farm Rd & South Site Access, Interval #2

Movement SB
Directions Served R
Maximum Queue (ft) 40
Average Queue (ft) 26
95th Queue (ft) 46
Link Distance (ft) 332
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 21: E Game Farm Rd & South Site Access, All Intervals

Movement SB
Directions Served R
Maximum Queue (ft) 44
Average Queue (ft) 27
95th Queue (ft) 48
Link Distance (ft) 332
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Network Summary
Network wide Queuing Penalty, Interval #1: 557
Network wide Queuing Penalty, Interval #2: 287
Network wide Queuing Penalty, All Intervals: 355

Attachment 3 Page 389 of 420 



SANDOW ENGINEERING 

PEACEHEALTH REHABILITATION HOSPITAL

A
P
P
E
N

D
IX

 G
:

T
PR

 A
N

A
LY

SI
S

Attachment 3 Page 390 of 420 



2035 Background PM
Intersection 

Left Through Right U turn Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right
Volume 6 210 0 1 150 30 0 0 0 95 0 33
% HV 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Demand Volume 6 210 0 1 150 30 0 0 0 95 0 33

Entry Volume 216 181 0 128
Entry Lane Volume (adj) 216 181 0 128

Exiting Flow Rates 183 305 1 36

Conflicting Flow 96 6 311 151

Entry Capacity 1239 1327 1051 1188
v/c ratio 0.17  0.14 0.00 0.11

Delay 8.5 3.1 8.4 8.4
LOS

95th Percentile Queue (veh) 0.6 0.5 0.0 0.4

Intersection Delay 7.1
Intersection v/c 0.15

Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Maple @ Game Farm

Attachment 3 Page 391 of 420 



2035 Background PM
Intersection 

Left Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right
Volume 6 0 37 0 0 0 0 36 0 0 92 1
% HV 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Demand Volume 6 0 37 0 0 0 0 36 0 0 92 1

Entry Volume 43 0 36 93
Entry Lane Volume (adj) 43 0 36 93

Exiting Flow Rates 1 0 129 42

Conflicting Flow 92 42 6 0

Entry Capacity 1243 1291 1327 1333
v/c ratio 0.03  0.00 0.03 0.07

Delay 8.0 2.8 7.8 7.9
LOS

95th Percentile Queue (veh) 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.2

Intersection Delay 6.6
Intersection v/c 0.05

Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Maple @ Site Acces 

Attachment 3 Page 392 of 420 



2035 Build PM
Intersection 

Left Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right
Volume 6 0 37 45 0 18 0 36 16 13 92 1
% HV 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Demand Volume 6 0 37 45 0 18 0 36 16 13 92 1

Entry Volume 43 63 52 106
Entry Lane Volume (adj) 43 63 52 106

Exiting Flow Rates 1 29 174 60

Conflicting Flow 150 42 19 45

Entry Capacity 1189 1291 1314 1288
v/c ratio 0.04  0.05 0.04 0.08

Delay 8.1 2.9 7.9 8.0
LOS

95th Percentile Queue (veh) 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.3

Intersection Delay 6.7
Intersection v/c 0.06

Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Maple @ Site Acces 

Attachment 3 Page 393 of 420 



2035 Build PM
Intersection 

Left Through Right U turn Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right
Volume 22 210 0 46 245 30 0 0 0 118 0 55
% HV 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Demand Volume 22 210 0 46 245 30 0 0 0 118 0 55

Entry Volume 232 321 0 173
Entry Lane Volume (adj) 232 321 0 173

Exiting Flow Rates 300 328 46 52

Conflicting Flow 164 22 350 291

Entry Capacity 1176 1311 1020 1067
v/c ratio 0.20  0.24 0.00 0.16

Delay 8.8 3.6 8.5 9.0
LOS

95th Percentile Queue (veh) 0.7 1.0 0.0 0.6

Intersection Delay 7.5
Intersection v/c 0.21

Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Maple @ Game Farm

Attachment 3 Page 394 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd 10/18/2023

2035 Background gateway change  Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 1

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 32 844 882 135 289 63
Future Volume (vph) 32 844 882 135 289 63
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 2.6 2.6
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1671 3610 3610 1599 1770 1615
Flt Permitted 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1671 3610 3610 1599 1770 1615
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95
Adj. Flow (vph) 34 888 928 142 304 66
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 88 0 50
Lane Group Flow (vph) 34 888 928 54 304 16
Heavy Vehicles (%) 8% 0% 0% 1% 2% 0%
Turn Type Prot NA NA Perm Prot Perm
Protected Phases 7 4 8 6
Permitted Phases 8 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 6.1 28.6 17.1 17.1 10.7 10.7
Effective Green, g (s) 7.5 30.0 18.5 18.5 12.1 12.1
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.15 0.62 0.38 0.38 0.25 0.25
Clearance Time (s) 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 4.0 4.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 4.0 4.0 4.0 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 257 2223 1371 607 439 401
v/s Ratio Prot 0.02 c0.25 c0.26 c0.17
v/s Ratio Perm 0.03 0.01
v/c Ratio 0.13 0.40 0.68 0.09 0.69 0.04
Uniform Delay, d1 17.8 4.8 12.6 9.7 16.6 13.9
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.2 0.2 1.5 0.1 4.3 0.0
Delay (s) 18.0 4.9 14.1 9.8 20.9 13.9
Level of Service B A B A C B
Approach Delay (s) 5.4 13.5 19.7
Approach LOS A B B

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 11.3 HCM 2000 Level of Service B
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.64
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 48.7 Sum of lost time (s) 10.6
Intersection Capacity Utilization 49.3% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 395 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd 10/18/2023

2035 Background gateway change  Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 2

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 32 844 882 135 289 63
Future Volume (veh/h) 32 844 882 135 289 63
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1781 1900 1900 1885 1870 1900
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 34 888 928 142 304 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95
Percent Heavy Veh, % 8 0 0 1 2 0
Cap, veh/h 200 2229 1490 659 425
Arrive On Green 0.12 0.62 0.41 0.41 0.24 0.00
Sat Flow, veh/h 1697 3705 3705 1598 1781 1610
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 34 888 928 142 304 0
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1697 1805 1805 1598 1781 1610
Q Serve(g_s), s 0.8 5.7 9.3 2.6 7.2 0.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 0.8 5.7 9.3 2.6 7.2 0.0
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 200 2229 1490 659 425
V/C Ratio(X) 0.17 0.40 0.62 0.22 0.71
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 333 2596 1573 696 598
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 18.2 4.5 10.7 8.7 16.0 0.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.3 0.2 0.9 0.2 1.8 0.0
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 0.3 0.8 2.6 0.7 2.8 0.0
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 18.5 4.6 11.5 8.9 17.9 0.0
LnGrp LOS B A B A B
Approach Vol, veh/h 922 1070 304 A
Approach Delay, s/veh 5.1 11.2 17.9
Approach LOS A B B

Timer - Assigned Phs 4 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 32.3 13.6 9.4 22.9
Change Period (Y+Rc), s * 5.4 4.0 * 5.4 * 5.4
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s * 32 14.0 * 7.6 * 19
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 7.7 9.2 2.8 11.3
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 16.1 0.6 0.0 6.2

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 9.6
HCM 6th LOS A

Notes
User approved pedestrian interval to be less than phase max green.
* HCM 6th computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.
Unsignalized Delay for [SBR] is excluded from calculations of the approach delay and intersection delay.

Attachment 3 Page 396 of 420 



HCM 6th TWSC
2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd 10/18/2023

2035 Background gateway change  Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 5.1

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 50 257 103 42 139 40
Future Vol, veh/h 50 257 103 42 139 40
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - 140 - 115 0
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 95 95 95 95 95 95
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 1 0 1 0
Mvmt Flow 53 271 108 44 146 42
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 324 0 449 189
          Stage 1 - - - - 189 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 260 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.11 - 6.41 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.41 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.41 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.209 - 3.509 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1241 - 569 858
          Stage 1 - - - - 846 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 786 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1241 - 519 858
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 519 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 846 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 718 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 5.8 13.4
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 NBLn2 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 519 858 - - 1241 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.282 0.049 - - 0.087 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 14.6 9.4 - - 8.2 -
HCM Lane LOS B A - - A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 1.1 0.2 - - 0.3 -

Attachment 3 Page 397 of 420 



HCM 6th TWSC
9: E Game Farm Rd & Site access 10/18/2023

2035 Background gateway change  Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 4

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 306 181 0 0 0
Future Vol, veh/h 0 306 181 0 0 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - - 0
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 95 95 95 95 95 95
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 0 0 0
Mvmt Flow 0 322 191 0 0 0
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All - 0 - 0 - 191
          Stage 1 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy - - - - - 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy - - - - - 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 0 - - - 0 856
          Stage 1 0 - - - 0 -
          Stage 2 0 - - - 0 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - - - - 856
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - -
          Stage 1 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0 0
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBT WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) - - - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - - 0
HCM Lane LOS - - - A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - - -

Attachment 3 Page 398 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
10: Beltline & Gateway 10/18/2023

2035 Background gateway change  Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 5

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBU WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBU SBL
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 347 615 965 2 145 1509 368 0 0 0 2 191
Future Volume (vph) 347 615 965 2 145 1509 368 0 0 0 2 191
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 3.8 3.8 3.8 3.8 3.8 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 0.97 0.91 0.88 1.00 0.91 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.97 1.00
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95
Satd. Flow (prot) 3502 5187 2842 1805 5035 1805
Flt Permitted 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.39 1.00 0.95
Satd. Flow (perm) 3502 5187 2842 750 5035 1805
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95
Adj. Flow (vph) 365 647 1016 2 153 1588 387 0 0 0 2 201
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 868 0 0 31 0 0 0 0 0 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 365 647 148 0 155 1944 0 0 0 0 0 203
Turn Type Prot NA Perm custom Prot NA custom Prot
Protected Phases 7 4 3 8 1
Permitted Phases 4 3 1
Actuated Green, G (s) 19.8 20.5 20.5 80.0 80.7 34.6
Effective Green, g (s) 21.2 21.9 21.9 81.4 82.1 35.1
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.14 0.15 0.15 0.54 0.55 0.23
Clearance Time (s) 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 4.0 4.0 2.5 4.0 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 494 757 414 407 2755 422
v/s Ratio Prot 0.10 c0.12 c0.39
v/s Ratio Perm 0.05 0.21 0.11
v/c Ratio 0.74 0.85 0.36 0.38 0.71 0.48
Uniform Delay, d1 61.7 62.5 57.7 19.8 25.0 49.6
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.35 0.57 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 5.4 11.8 2.4 0.4 1.2 0.6
Delay (s) 67.1 74.3 60.1 27.0 15.4 50.2
Level of Service E E E C B D
Approach Delay (s) 65.9 16.3 0.0
Approach LOS E B A

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 44.8 HCM 2000 Level of Service D
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.76
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 150.0 Sum of lost time (s) 11.6
Intersection Capacity Utilization 75.0% ICU Level of Service D
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 399 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
10: Beltline & Gateway 10/18/2023

2035 Background gateway change  Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 6

Movement SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 337 758
Future Volume (vph) 337 758
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.88
Frt 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1900 2842
Flt Permitted 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1900 2842
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.95 0.95
Adj. Flow (vph) 355 798
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 302
Lane Group Flow (vph) 355 496
Turn Type NA Perm
Protected Phases 6
Permitted Phases 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 34.6 34.6
Effective Green, g (s) 35.1 35.1
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.23 0.23
Clearance Time (s) 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 444 665
v/s Ratio Prot c0.19
v/s Ratio Perm 0.17
v/c Ratio 0.80 0.75
Uniform Delay, d1 54.1 53.3
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 9.4 4.3
Delay (s) 63.6 57.6
Level of Service E E
Approach Delay (s) 58.1
Approach LOS E

Intersection Summary

Attachment 3 Page 400 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
10: Beltline & Gateway 10/18/2023

2035 Background gateway change  Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 7

HCM 6th Edition cannot analyze u-turn movements.

Attachment 3 Page 401 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
17: Gateway & Game Farm 10/18/2023

2035 Background gateway change  Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 8

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBU NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 4 2 33 236 4 102 14 66 575 58 146 1003
Future Volume (vph) 4 2 33 236 4 102 14 66 575 58 146 1003
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95
Frt 0.88 1.00 0.86 1.00 0.99 1.00 1.00
Flt Protected 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1673 1805 1625 1805 3560 1805 3607
Flt Permitted 0.95 0.62 1.00 0.16 1.00 0.32 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1596 1175 1625 303 3560 606 3607
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95
Adj. Flow (vph) 4 2 35 248 4 107 15 69 605 61 154 1056
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 33 0 0 76 0 0 0 9 0 0 1
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 8 0 248 35 0 0 84 657 0 154 1061
Turn Type Perm NA pm+pt NA custom pm+pt NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Permitted Phases 4 8 5 2 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 3.3 16.9 16.9 29.8 24.6 30.8 25.1
Effective Green, g (s) 3.3 17.4 17.4 30.8 25.1 31.8 25.6
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.05 0.29 0.29 0.51 0.41 0.52 0.42
Clearance Time (s) 4.0 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 4.0 2.5 4.0
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 86 441 465 294 1472 439 1521
v/s Ratio Prot c0.09 0.02 0.03 0.18 c0.04 c0.29
v/s Ratio Perm 0.00 c0.07 0.12 0.15
v/c Ratio 0.09 0.56 0.07 0.29 0.45 0.35 0.70
Uniform Delay, d1 27.3 18.0 15.8 9.0 12.8 7.8 14.4
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.3 1.3 0.0 0.4 0.3 0.4 1.5
Delay (s) 27.6 19.3 15.8 9.4 13.1 8.1 15.9
Level of Service C B B A B A B
Approach Delay (s) 27.6 18.3 12.7 14.9
Approach LOS C B B B

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 14.9 HCM 2000 Level of Service B
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.66
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 60.7 Sum of lost time (s) 16.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 62.1% ICU Level of Service B
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 402 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
17: Gateway & Game Farm 10/18/2023

2035 Background gateway change  Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 9

Movement SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 6
Future Volume (vph) 6
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900
Total Lost time (s)
Lane Util. Factor
Frt
Flt Protected
Satd. Flow (prot)
Flt Permitted
Satd. Flow (perm)
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.95
Adj. Flow (vph) 6
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0
Turn Type
Protected Phases
Permitted Phases
Actuated Green, G (s)
Effective Green, g (s)
Actuated g/C Ratio
Clearance Time (s)
Vehicle Extension (s)
Lane Grp Cap (vph)
v/s Ratio Prot
v/s Ratio Perm
v/c Ratio
Uniform Delay, d1
Progression Factor
Incremental Delay, d2
Delay (s)
Level of Service
Approach Delay (s)
Approach LOS

Intersection Summary

Attachment 3 Page 403 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
17: Gateway & Game Farm 10/18/2023

2035 Background gateway change  Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 10

HCM 6th Edition cannot analyze u-turn movements.

Attachment 3 Page 404 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
20: Hutton & Beltline 10/18/2023

2035 Background gateway change  Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 11

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 41 686 81 50 924 50 998 10 93 50 20 50
Future Volume (vph) 41 686 81 50 924 50 998 10 93 50 20 50
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.91 1.00 0.95 0.97 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 0.98 1.00 0.99 1.00 0.87 1.00 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1805 5105 1805 3582 3502 1644 1805 1900 1615
Flt Permitted 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1805 5105 1805 3582 3502 1644 1805 1900 1615
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95
Adj. Flow (vph) 43 722 85 53 973 53 1051 11 98 53 21 53
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 8 0 0 2 0 0 66 0 0 0 51
Lane Group Flow (vph) 43 799 0 53 1024 0 1051 43 0 53 21 2
Turn Type Prot NA Prot NA Prot NA Prot NA Perm
Protected Phases 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Permitted Phases 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 7.0 66.0 8.1 67.1 52.1 49.1 8.0 5.0 5.0
Effective Green, g (s) 8.4 67.4 9.5 68.5 52.1 49.1 8.0 5.0 5.0
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.06 0.45 0.06 0.46 0.35 0.33 0.05 0.03 0.03
Clearance Time (s) 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 4.0 2.5 4.0 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 101 2293 114 1635 1216 538 96 63 53
v/s Ratio Prot 0.02 0.16 c0.03 c0.29 c0.30 0.03 0.03 c0.01
v/s Ratio Perm 0.00
v/c Ratio 0.43 0.35 0.46 0.63 0.86 0.08 0.55 0.33 0.03
Uniform Delay, d1 68.5 27.0 67.8 31.0 45.7 34.8 69.3 70.9 70.2
Progression Factor 1.56 0.12 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 1.3 0.3 2.2 1.8 6.5 0.0 5.4 2.3 0.2
Delay (s) 107.8 3.6 70.0 32.8 52.2 34.9 74.7 73.1 70.3
Level of Service F A E C D C E E E
Approach Delay (s) 8.8 34.7 50.6 72.6
Approach LOS A C D E

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 35.1 HCM 2000 Level of Service D
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.70
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 150.0 Sum of lost time (s) 16.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 75.6% ICU Level of Service D
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 405 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
20: Hutton & Beltline 10/18/2023

2035 Background gateway change  Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 12

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 41 686 81 50 924 50 998 10 93 50 20 50
Future Volume (veh/h) 41 686 81 50 924 50 998 10 93 50 20 50
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 43 722 85 53 973 53 1051 11 98 53 21 53
Peak Hour Factor 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95
Percent Heavy Veh, % 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cap, veh/h 72 2201 257 85 1652 90 1169 56 501 69 88 74
Arrive On Green 0.08 0.93 0.92 0.05 0.47 0.47 0.33 0.34 0.34 0.04 0.05 0.05
Sat Flow, veh/h 1810 4709 550 1810 3481 190 3510 165 1470 1810 1900 1610
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 43 529 278 53 504 522 1051 0 109 53 21 53
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1810 1729 1801 1810 1805 1866 1755 0 1635 1810 1900 1610
Q Serve(g_s), s 3.4 2.2 2.4 4.3 30.6 30.6 42.8 0.0 7.1 4.4 1.6 4.9
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 3.4 2.2 2.4 4.3 30.6 30.6 42.8 0.0 7.1 4.4 1.6 4.9
Prop In Lane 1.00 0.31 1.00 0.10 1.00 0.90 1.00 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 72 1616 842 85 857 886 1169 0 558 69 88 74
V/C Ratio(X) 0.60 0.33 0.33 0.62 0.59 0.59 0.90 0.00 0.20 0.77 0.24 0.71
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 109 1616 842 145 857 886 1381 0 611 145 114 97
HCM Platoon Ratio 2.00 2.00 2.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 0.56 0.56 0.56 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 67.9 2.7 2.9 70.2 28.7 28.8 47.6 0.0 34.9 71.5 69.0 70.6
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 3.3 0.3 0.6 5.4 3.0 2.9 7.1 0.0 0.1 12.6 1.0 13.2
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 1.6 0.7 0.8 2.1 13.5 14.0 20.0 0.0 2.9 2.3 0.8 2.3
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 71.2 3.0 3.5 75.6 31.7 31.7 54.8 0.0 35.0 84.1 70.0 83.8
LnGrp LOS E A A E C C D A D F E F
Approach Vol, veh/h 850 1079 1160 127
Approach Delay, s/veh 6.6 33.8 52.9 81.6
Approach LOS A C D F

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 9.7 55.2 11.0 74.1 53.9 10.9 9.9 75.2
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.0 4.0 * 5.4 * 5.4 4.0 4.0 * 5.4 * 5.4
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 12.0 56.0 * 11 * 53 59.0 9.0 * 7.6 * 56
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 6.4 9.1 6.3 4.4 44.8 6.9 5.4 32.6
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 0.5 0.0 22.0 5.2 0.1 0.0 17.2

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 35.4
HCM 6th LOS D

Notes
User approved pedestrian interval to be less than phase max green.
* HCM 6th computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.

Attachment 3 Page 406 of 420 



Attachment 3 Page 407 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd 10/18/2023

2035 Build gateway change  Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 1

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 60 844 882 146 338 74
Future Volume (vph) 60 844 882 146 338 74
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 2.6 2.6
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1671 3610 3610 1599 1770 1615
Flt Permitted 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1671 3610 3610 1599 1770 1615
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95
Adj. Flow (vph) 63 888 928 154 356 78
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 99 0 57
Lane Group Flow (vph) 63 888 928 55 356 21
Heavy Vehicles (%) 8% 0% 0% 1% 2% 0%
Turn Type Prot NA NA Perm Prot Perm
Protected Phases 7 4 8 6
Permitted Phases 8 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 6.6 28.6 16.6 16.6 12.1 12.1
Effective Green, g (s) 8.0 30.0 18.0 18.0 13.5 13.5
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.16 0.60 0.36 0.36 0.27 0.27
Clearance Time (s) 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 4.0 4.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 4.0 4.0 4.0 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 266 2161 1297 574 476 435
v/s Ratio Prot 0.04 c0.25 c0.26 c0.20
v/s Ratio Perm 0.03 0.01
v/c Ratio 0.24 0.41 0.72 0.10 0.75 0.05
Uniform Delay, d1 18.4 5.3 13.8 10.7 16.7 13.5
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.3 0.2 2.0 0.1 6.0 0.0
Delay (s) 18.7 5.5 15.9 10.8 22.8 13.6
Level of Service B A B B C B
Approach Delay (s) 6.4 15.2 21.1
Approach LOS A B C

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 12.8 HCM 2000 Level of Service B
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.68
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 50.1 Sum of lost time (s) 10.6
Intersection Capacity Utilization 56.4% ICU Level of Service B
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 408 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
1: Beltline/MLK Pkwy & Game Farm Rd 10/18/2023

2035 Build gateway change  Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 2

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 60 844 882 146 338 74
Future Volume (veh/h) 60 844 882 146 338 74
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1781 1900 1900 1885 1870 1900
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 63 888 928 154 356 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95
Percent Heavy Veh, % 8 0 0 1 2 0
Cap, veh/h 196 2135 1409 623 476
Arrive On Green 0.12 0.59 0.39 0.39 0.27 0.00
Sat Flow, veh/h 1697 3705 3705 1598 1781 1610
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 63 888 928 154 356 0
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1697 1805 1805 1598 1781 1610
Q Serve(g_s), s 1.6 6.2 9.9 3.0 8.6 0.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 1.6 6.2 9.9 3.0 8.6 0.0
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 196 2135 1409 623 476
V/C Ratio(X) 0.32 0.42 0.66 0.25 0.75
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 327 2471 1467 649 625
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 19.0 5.2 11.7 9.6 15.7 0.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.7 0.2 1.2 0.3 3.0 0.0
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 0.6 1.1 3.0 0.8 3.4 0.0
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 19.7 5.4 12.9 9.9 18.7 0.0
LnGrp LOS B A B A B
Approach Vol, veh/h 951 1082 356 A
Approach Delay, s/veh 6.3 12.5 18.7
Approach LOS A B B

Timer - Assigned Phs 4 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 31.6 15.1 9.4 22.2
Change Period (Y+Rc), s * 5.4 4.0 * 5.4 * 5.4
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s * 31 15.0 * 7.6 * 18
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 8.2 10.6 3.6 11.9
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 15.4 0.7 0.0 5.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 10.9
HCM 6th LOS B

Notes
User approved pedestrian interval to be less than phase max green.
* HCM 6th computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.
Unsignalized Delay for [SBR] is excluded from calculations of the approach delay and intersection delay.

Attachment 3 Page 409 of 420 



HCM 6th TWSC
2: Game Farm Rd & E Game Farm Rd/Deadmond Ferry Rd 10/18/2023

2035 Build gateway change  Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 5.7

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 58 317 103 61 178 40
Future Vol, veh/h 58 317 103 61 178 40
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - 140 - 115 0
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 95 95 95 95 95 95
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 1 0 1 0
Mvmt Flow 61 334 108 64 187 42
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 395 0 508 228
          Stage 1 - - - - 228 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 280 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.11 - 6.41 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.41 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.41 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.209 - 3.509 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1169 - 526 816
          Stage 1 - - - - 812 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 770 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1169 - 478 816
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 478 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 812 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 699 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 5.3 15.9
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 NBLn2 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 478 816 - - 1169 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.392 0.052 - - 0.093 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 17.3 9.7 - - 8.4 -
HCM Lane LOS C A - - A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 1.8 0.2 - - 0.3 -

Attachment 3 Page 410 of 420 



HCM 6th TWSC
9: E Game Farm Rd & Site access 10/18/2023

2035 Build gateway change  Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 4

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.9

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 374 181 58 0 140
Future Vol, veh/h 0 374 181 58 0 140
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - - 0
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 95 95 95 95 95 95
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 0 0 0
Mvmt Flow 0 394 191 61 0 147
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All - 0 - 0 - 222
          Stage 1 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy - - - - - 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy - - - - - 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 0 - - - 0 823
          Stage 1 0 - - - 0 -
          Stage 2 0 - - - 0 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - - - - 823
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - -
          Stage 1 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0 10.3
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBT WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) - - - 823
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - 0.179
HCM Control Delay (s) - - - 10.3
HCM Lane LOS - - - B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - - 0.6

Attachment 3 Page 411 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
10: Beltline & Gateway 10/18/2023

2035 Build gateway change  Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 5

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBU WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBU SBL
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 358 623 965 2 151 1514 368 0 0 0 2 191
Future Volume (vph) 358 623 965 2 151 1514 368 0 0 0 2 191
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 3.8 3.8 3.8 3.8 3.8 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 0.97 0.91 0.88 1.00 0.91 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.97 1.00
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95
Satd. Flow (prot) 3502 5187 2842 1805 5035 1805
Flt Permitted 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.39 1.00 0.95
Satd. Flow (perm) 3502 5187 2842 743 5035 1805
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95
Adj. Flow (vph) 377 656 1016 2 159 1594 387 0 0 0 2 201
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 465 0 0 25 0 0 0 0 0 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 377 656 551 0 161 1956 0 0 0 0 0 203
Turn Type Prot NA Perm custom Prot NA custom Prot
Protected Phases 7 4 3 8 1
Permitted Phases 4 3 1
Actuated Green, G (s) 19.1 47.2 47.2 50.1 78.2 37.8
Effective Green, g (s) 20.5 48.6 48.6 51.5 79.6 38.3
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.14 0.32 0.32 0.34 0.53 0.26
Clearance Time (s) 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 4.0 4.0 2.5 4.0 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 478 1680 920 255 2671 460
v/s Ratio Prot c0.11 0.13 c0.39
v/s Ratio Perm 0.19 0.22 0.11
v/c Ratio 0.79 0.39 0.60 0.63 0.73 0.44
Uniform Delay, d1 62.7 39.2 42.5 41.3 27.0 46.9
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.04 0.65 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 8.1 0.7 2.9 3.7 1.4 0.5
Delay (s) 70.8 39.9 45.4 46.8 18.9 47.4
Level of Service E D D D B D
Approach Delay (s) 48.3 21.0 0.0
Approach LOS D C A

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 40.2 HCM 2000 Level of Service D
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.78
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 150.0 Sum of lost time (s) 11.6
Intersection Capacity Utilization 78.8% ICU Level of Service D
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 412 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
10: Beltline & Gateway 10/18/2023

2035 Build gateway change  Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 6

Movement SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 401 806
Future Volume (vph) 401 806
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.88
Frt 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1900 2842
Flt Permitted 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1900 2842
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.95 0.95
Adj. Flow (vph) 422 848
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 340
Lane Group Flow (vph) 422 508
Turn Type NA Perm
Protected Phases 6
Permitted Phases 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 37.8 37.8
Effective Green, g (s) 38.3 38.3
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.26 0.26
Clearance Time (s) 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 485 725
v/s Ratio Prot c0.22
v/s Ratio Perm 0.18
v/c Ratio 0.87 0.70
Uniform Delay, d1 53.5 50.6
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 15.5 2.8
Delay (s) 68.9 53.5
Level of Service E D
Approach Delay (s) 57.1
Approach LOS E

Intersection Summary

Attachment 3 Page 413 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
10: Beltline & Gateway 10/18/2023

2035 Build gateway change  Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 7

HCM 6th Edition cannot analyze u-turn movements.

Attachment 3 Page 414 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
17: Gateway & Game Farm 10/18/2023

2035 Build gateway change  Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 8

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBU NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 4 2 33 348 4 107 14 66 575 69 151 1003
Future Volume (vph) 4 2 33 348 4 107 14 66 575 69 151 1003
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95
Frt 0.88 1.00 0.86 1.00 0.98 1.00 1.00
Flt Protected 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1673 1805 1625 1805 3552 1805 3607
Flt Permitted 0.95 0.62 1.00 0.16 1.00 0.30 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1594 1175 1625 304 3552 564 3607
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95
Adj. Flow (vph) 4 2 35 366 4 113 15 69 605 73 159 1056
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 33 0 0 75 0 0 0 12 0 0 1
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 8 0 366 42 0 0 84 666 0 159 1061
Turn Type Perm NA pm+pt NA custom pm+pt NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Permitted Phases 4 8 5 2 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 3.3 21.1 21.1 29.8 24.5 30.6 24.9
Effective Green, g (s) 3.3 21.6 21.6 30.8 25.0 31.6 25.4
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.05 0.33 0.33 0.48 0.39 0.49 0.39
Clearance Time (s) 4.0 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 4.0 2.5 4.0
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 81 530 541 278 1370 393 1413
v/s Ratio Prot c0.15 0.03 0.03 0.19 c0.04 c0.29
v/s Ratio Perm 0.00 c0.08 0.12 0.16
v/c Ratio 0.10 0.69 0.08 0.30 0.49 0.40 0.75
Uniform Delay, d1 29.3 18.2 14.8 10.9 15.0 9.7 17.0
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.4 3.6 0.0 0.4 0.4 0.5 2.4
Delay (s) 29.7 21.7 14.8 11.4 15.4 10.2 19.4
Level of Service C C B B B B B
Approach Delay (s) 29.7 20.1 15.0 18.2
Approach LOS C C B B

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 17.8 HCM 2000 Level of Service B
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.74
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 64.8 Sum of lost time (s) 16.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 68.3% ICU Level of Service C
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 415 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
17: Gateway & Game Farm 10/18/2023

2035 Build gateway change  Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 9

Movement SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 6
Future Volume (vph) 6
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900
Total Lost time (s)
Lane Util. Factor
Frt
Flt Protected
Satd. Flow (prot)
Flt Permitted
Satd. Flow (perm)
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.95
Adj. Flow (vph) 6
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0
Turn Type
Protected Phases
Permitted Phases
Actuated Green, G (s)
Effective Green, g (s)
Actuated g/C Ratio
Clearance Time (s)
Vehicle Extension (s)
Lane Grp Cap (vph)
v/s Ratio Prot
v/s Ratio Perm
v/c Ratio
Uniform Delay, d1
Progression Factor
Incremental Delay, d2
Delay (s)
Level of Service
Approach Delay (s)
Approach LOS

Intersection Summary

Attachment 3 Page 416 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
17: Gateway & Game Farm 10/18/2023

2035 Build gateway change  Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 10

HCM 6th Edition cannot analyze u-turn movements.

Attachment 3 Page 417 of 420 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
20: Hutton & Beltline 10/18/2023

2035 Build gateway change  Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 11

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 41 694 81 50 935 50 998 10 113 50 20 50
Future Volume (vph) 41 694 81 50 935 50 998 10 113 50 20 50
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.91 1.00 0.95 0.97 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 0.98 1.00 0.99 1.00 0.86 1.00 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1805 5106 1805 3582 3502 1639 1805 1900 1615
Flt Permitted 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 1805 5106 1805 3582 3502 1639 1805 1900 1615
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95
Adj. Flow (vph) 43 731 85 53 984 53 1051 11 119 53 21 53
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 8 0 0 2 0 0 107 0 0 0 51
Lane Group Flow (vph) 43 808 0 53 1035 0 1051 23 0 53 21 2
Turn Type Prot NA Prot NA Prot NA Prot NA Perm
Protected Phases 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Permitted Phases 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 7.0 66.4 7.7 67.1 52.1 15.6 41.5 5.0 5.0
Effective Green, g (s) 8.4 67.8 9.1 68.5 52.1 15.6 41.5 5.0 5.0
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.06 0.45 0.06 0.46 0.35 0.10 0.28 0.03 0.03
Clearance Time (s) 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 4.0 2.5 4.0 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 101 2307 109 1635 1216 170 499 63 53
v/s Ratio Prot 0.02 0.16 c0.03 c0.29 c0.30 0.01 0.03 c0.01
v/s Ratio Perm 0.00
v/c Ratio 0.43 0.35 0.49 0.63 0.86 0.14 0.11 0.33 0.03
Uniform Delay, d1 68.5 26.8 68.2 31.1 45.7 61.1 40.4 70.9 70.2
Progression Factor 1.34 0.19 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 2.0 0.4 2.5 1.9 6.5 0.3 0.1 2.3 0.2
Delay (s) 93.6 5.5 70.7 33.0 52.2 61.4 40.5 73.1 70.3
Level of Service F A E C D E D E E
Approach Delay (s) 9.9 34.8 53.2 58.4
Approach LOS A C D E

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 35.8 HCM 2000 Level of Service D
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.70
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 150.0 Sum of lost time (s) 16.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 77.6% ICU Level of Service D
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 3 Page 418 of 420 



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
20: Hutton & Beltline 10/18/2023

2035 Build gateway change  Pm  02/16/2023 6035 Peace Health Rehab Zone Change Synchro 10 Report
Page 12

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 41 694 81 50 935 50 998 10 113 50 20 50
Future Volume (veh/h) 41 694 81 50 935 50 998 10 113 50 20 50
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 43 731 85 53 984 53 1051 11 119 53 21 53
Peak Hour Factor 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95
Percent Heavy Veh, % 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cap, veh/h 72 2204 254 85 1653 89 1169 13 143 513 88 74
Arrive On Green 0.08 0.93 0.92 0.05 0.47 0.47 0.33 0.10 0.10 0.28 0.05 0.05
Sat Flow, veh/h 1810 4716 544 1810 3484 188 3510 138 1493 1810 1900 1610
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 43 535 281 53 510 527 1051 0 130 53 21 53
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1810 1729 1802 1810 1805 1866 1755 0 1631 1810 1900 1610
Q Serve(g_s), s 3.4 2.2 2.4 4.3 31.0 31.1 42.8 0.0 11.7 3.2 1.6 4.9
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 3.4 2.2 2.4 4.3 31.0 31.1 42.8 0.0 11.7 3.2 1.6 4.9
Prop In Lane 1.00 0.30 1.00 0.10 1.00 0.92 1.00 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 72 1616 842 85 857 886 1169 0 156 513 88 74
V/C Ratio(X) 0.60 0.33 0.33 0.62 0.60 0.60 0.90 0.00 0.83 0.10 0.24 0.71
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 109 1616 842 121 857 886 1381 0 631 513 114 97
HCM Platoon Ratio 2.00 2.00 2.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 0.92 0.92 0.92 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 67.9 2.7 2.9 70.2 28.8 28.9 47.6 0.0 66.6 39.7 69.0 70.6
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 5.4 0.5 1.0 5.5 3.0 2.9 7.1 0.0 8.3 0.1 1.0 13.2
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 1.6 0.7 0.9 2.1 13.8 14.2 20.0 0.0 5.3 1.5 0.8 2.3
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 73.3 3.2 3.9 75.7 31.9 31.8 54.8 0.0 74.9 39.8 70.0 83.8
LnGrp LOS E A A E C C D A E D E F
Approach Vol, veh/h 859 1090 1181 127
Approach Delay, s/veh 6.9 34.0 57.0 63.1
Approach LOS A C E E

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 46.5 18.4 11.0 74.1 53.9 10.9 9.9 75.2
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.0 4.0 * 5.4 * 5.4 4.0 4.0 * 5.4 * 5.4
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 10.0 58.0 * 8.6 * 55 59.0 9.0 * 7.6 * 56
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 5.2 13.7 6.3 4.4 44.8 6.9 5.4 33.1
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 0.6 0.0 22.7 5.2 0.1 0.0 17.1

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 36.3
HCM 6th LOS D

Notes
User approved pedestrian interval to be less than phase max green.
* HCM 6th computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.

Attachment 3 Page 419 of 420 



 

SANDOW  

ENGINEERING 
160 Madison Street, Suite A 
Eugene, Oregon 97402 
541.513.3376 
sandowengineering.com 

 
Attachment 3 Page 420 of 420 



Attachment 4 Page 1 of 24 



Attachment 4 Page 2 of 24 



PeaceHealth – RiverBend Annex 

In-Patient Rehabilitation Facility 
Metro Plan Amendment 

& Zone Change Applications 
 
 

Submitted to: 
City of Springfield 

Development & Public Works 

225 Fifth Street 
Springfield, OR 97477 

 
Submitted for: Submitted by: 
PeaceHealth Mike Reeder 

1115 SE 164th Avenue Law Office of Mike Reeder 

Vancouver, WA 98683 345 West 4th Ave, Suite 205 

Eugene, OR 97401 

 

 

Submittal Date:      August 9, 2023 

Revised Submittal Date:  September 29, 2023

Attachment 4 Page 3 of 24 



 

PeaceHealth – RiverBend Annex 

In-Patient Rehabilitation Facility 
Metro Plan Amendment & Zone Change Applications 

I. SUMMARY .................................................................................................................... 3 

II. PROPOSAL .................................................................................................................... 4 

III. SITE AND PLANNING PROFILE ............................................................................ 4 

IV. PLAN AMENDMENT APPROVAL CRITERIA AND FINDINGS OF FACT 

Consistency with Applicable Statewide Planning Goals ........................................................ 9 

Consistency with Metro Plan ............................................................................................. 16 
Consistency with Springfield Comprehensive Plan ............................................................. 16 

V. ZONE CHANGE APPROVAL CRITERIA AND FINDINGS OF FACT 

Consistency with Metro Plan ............................................................................................ 19 

Consistency with the Gateway Refinement Plan… ............................................................ 19 
Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services ........................................................................ 20 
Compliance with OAR 660-012-0060 ................................................................................ 21 

VI. CONCLUSION ............................................................................................................ 210 

 

EXHIBITS 

Exhibit A - County Assessor’s Map 
Exhibit B - Public Notice Map 
Exhibit C - Aerial Photo 
Exhibit D - Existing and Proposed Plan Designation Map 
Exhibit E - Existing and Proposed Zoning Map 
Exhibit F - Legal Description 
Exhibit G - In-Patient Rehabilitation Hospital Facility – Conceptual Site Plan 
Exhibit H - Traffic Impact Analysis and Transportation Planning Rule Analysis, Sandow Engineering 

 

ITEMS SUBMITTED SEPARATELY 

 

Metro Plan Amendment Application Form, Type IV 
Zoning Map Amendment Application Form, Type III 

Attachment 4 Page 4 of 24 



PeaceHealth – RiverBend Annex IPF 

Plan Amendment/Zone Change Narrative 
September 29, 2023 - Page 3 of 21 

 

 

I. SUMMARY 
 

Project Name: RiverBend Annex In-Patient Rehabilitation Facility 

 

Applications: Plan Amendment & Zone Change – Request for 

Concurrent Processing as Type IV 
 

Project Address: Not Assigned to Subject Property 

East of the Subject Property the PeaceHealth RiverBend 
Annex building is addressed as 123 International Way. 

Assessor’s Map: 17-03-15-40 

Tax Lots: All of tax lot 1000 and portion of tax lots 800, 900, 1100 
 

Project Size: 4.99 Acres 

 

Existing Plan Designation: Campus Industrial 

Proposed Plan Designation: Commercial 

Existing Zoning: CI Campus Industrial 

 

Proposed Zoning: MS Medical Services 

 

Applicant/Owner: PeaceHealth 

1115 SE 164th Ave 
Vancouver, Washington 98683 

 

Applicant’s Representative: Micheal M. Reeder 

Law Office of Mike Reeder 
375 W. 4th Ave., Suite 205 

Eugene, Oregon 97401 

(541) 225-8777 

mreeder@oregonlanduse.com 

Attachment 4 Page 5 of 24 

mailto:mreeder@oregonlanduse.com


PeaceHealth – RiverBend Annex IPF 

Plan Amendment/Zone Change Narrative 
September 29, 2023 - Page 4 of 21 

 

 

II. PROPOSAL 
 

The property subject to this application (the “Subject Property”) is located at the northeast 
corner of Deadmond Ferry Road and Maple Island Road in Springfield, Oregon. The 
Subject Property is identified by Lane County Assessor’s Office as Map 17-03-15-40, Tax 
Lot 1000 and the southern portion of Tax Lots 800, 900, and 1100. Refer to Exhibit A- 
County Assessor’s Map and Exhibit B- Public Notice Map. 

 

This proposal is a request for approval of a Plan Amendment to the Metro Plan (“Plan”) to 
re-designate 4.99 acres from Campus Industrial to Community Commercial and a zone 
change from Campus Industrial (CI) to Medical Services (MS). Approval of this request 
will allow development of a new In-patient Rehabilitation Facility on the RiverBend Annex 
Campus. 

 

III. SITE AND PLANNING PROFILE 

a. Location 

 

The Subject Property is located northeast of the intersection at Maple Island Rd and 
Deadmond Ferry Rd. The Subject Property is currently part of a larger development site 
known as the PeaceHealth (RiverBend) Annex. Refer to Exhibit C - Aerial Photo. 

 

b. Land Use and Zoning 

 

The Subject Property has a plan designation of Campus Industrial and is zoned CI Campus 
Industrial. The Subject Property is undeveloped. Refer to Exhibit D- Existing and Proposed 
Plan Designation Map and Exhibit E- Existing and Proposed Zoning Map. 

 

c. Site Characteristics 

 

The Subject Property is undeveloped and a portion contains remnants of an old orchard. 
The perimeter of the Subject Property is approximately the same grade as the adjacent public 
right-of-way and slopes downward to the orchard. The soil on the Subject Property is 
Malabon Silty Clay Loam. 

 

d. Surrounding Area 

 

The Subject Property is situated in an area developed with a mix of residential, commercial, 
and industrial uses. 

 
• Deadmond Ferry Rd. borders the Subject Property along the South side. 

Attachment 4 Page 6 of 24 



PeaceHealth – RiverBend Annex IPF 

Plan Amendment/Zone Change Narrative 
September 29, 2023 - Page 5 of 21 

 

 

• Maple Island Road boarders the Subject Property along the West side. 

 
• Property to the southeast and across Deadmond Ferry Rd is a 1.38-acre 

parcel zoned High Density Residential and identified as Assessor’s Map 
17-03-15-40, Tax Lot 2500. The property is part of a larger development 
site being developed as a senior assisted living facility. The property 
address is 3535 Game Farm Rd. 

 

 

• Property to the south and across Deadmond Ferry is a 0.33-acre parcel 
zoned Low Density Residential and identified as Assessor’s Map 17-03-15- 
40, Tax Lot 2600. The property contains a multi-family home and is 
assigned an address of 3548 E Game Farm Rd. 

 
• Property to the south and across Deadmond Ferry is a 0.55-acre parcel 

zoned Low Density Residential and identified as Assessor’s Map 17-03-15- 
40, Tax Lot 2900. The property contains a single-family dwelling and is 
assigned an address of 3562 E Game Farm Rd. 

 
• Property to the south and across Deadmond Ferry is a 1.38-acre parcel 

zoned Low Density Residential and identified as Assessor’s Map 17-03-15- 
40, Tax Lot 3000. The property contains a multi-family dwelling and is 
assigned an address of 3580 E Game Farm Rd. 

 
• Property to the southwest and across Game Farm Rd is a 13.65-acre parcel 

zoned Mixed Use Commercial and identified as Assessor’s Map 17-03-15- 
40, Tax Lot 3100. The property contains a mobile home park and is 
assigned an address of 3530 Game Farm Rd. 

Attachment 4 Page 7 of 24 



PeaceHealth – RiverBend Annex IPF 

Plan Amendment/Zone Change Narrative 
September 29, 2023 - Page 6 of 21 

 

 

• Property to the west across Maple Island Road is a 13.55-acre parcel zoned 
Campus Industrial and identified as Assessor’s Map 17-03-15-40, Tax Lot 
0700. The property is developed commercial office headquarters and 
surface parking lots. The property address is 555 International Way. 

 

 
• Property to the north across Industrial Way is a 7.05-acre parcel zoned 

Campus Industrial and identified as Assessor’s Map 17-03-15-40, Tax Lot 
0500. The property is a developed multi-tenant commercial/retail 
complex. The property is assigned an address of 400 International Way. 

 

 
• Property to the north across Industrial Way is a 10.29-acre parcel zoned 

Campus Industrial and identified as Assessor’s Map 17-03-15-40, Tax Lot 
3201. The property is being developed for a religious building. The 
property is assigned an address of 300 International Way. 

Attachment 4 Page 8 of 24 



PeaceHealth – RiverBend Annex IPF 

Plan Amendment/Zone Change Narrative 
September 29, 2023 - Page 7 of 21 

 

 

• Property to the north across Industrial Way is a 2.38-acre parcel zoned 
Campus Industrial and identified as Assessor’s Map 17-03-15-40, Tax Lot 
3600. The property is undeveloped land. The property is assigned an 
address of 200 International Way. 

 
• Property to the east of the Subject Property is 25.11 acres zoned Campus 

Industrial and identified as Assessor’s Map 17-03-15-40, Tax Lot 1100 and 
1101. The property is developed with an Industrial Warehouse with 
Commercial Offices with an address of 123 International Way. This 
property is owned by the applicant and commonly known as The Annex. 

 

 

PeaceHealth 
RiverBend 
Annex Shipping 
and Receiving 
Entrance on 
Deadmond Ferry 
Road is east of 
the Subject 
Property. 
Employee 
parking is located 
northeast of the 
Subject Property. 

Attachment 4 Page 9 of 24 



PeaceHealth – RiverBend Annex IPF 

Plan Amendment/Zone Change Narrative 
September 29, 2023 - Page 8 of 21 

 

 

e. Services & Resources 

 

Fire Eugene Springfield Fire and Life Safety 

Police Springfield Police 

Water Springfield Utility District (SUB) 

Sewer City of Springfield Sewer 

Schools Holt Elementary, Monroe Middle, and Sheldon High. 

Power Emerald People’s Utility District 

Access Game Farm Rd and International Way 

Class I Stream None 

Floodplain The Subject Property is determined to be outside the 500- 
year flood plain as determined by Flood Insurance Rate 
Map (FIRM) Panel 41039C1133F effective June 2, 1999 

Historical None 

Archaeological None 

Sensitive 
Habitat 

None 

Water Quality Not located within a water quality limited area per Lane 
Manual 13.010 

Wetlands None 

Attachment 4 Page 10 of 24 



PeaceHealth – RiverBend Annex IPF 

Plan Amendment/Zone Change Narrative 
September 29, 2023 - Page 9 of 21 

 

 

IV. PLAN AMENDMENT APPROVAL CRITERIA & FINDINGS OF 

FACT 

 
On January 19, 2023 the applicant participated in an informal meeting with City staff to 
share PeaceHealth’s vision for a new In-Patient Rehabilitation Facility in the RiverBend 
campus and to discuss a proposed Plan Amendment and Zone Change for the Subject 
Property. 

 
Listed below are the Plan Amendment approval criteria in bold italics followed by the 
applicant’s findings of fact. 

 
SDC 5.14.135 Criteria. 

(A) The amendment shall be consistent with applicable Statewide Planning 
Goals; 

The Findings of Facts below demonstrate the amendment is consistent with applicable 
Statewide Planning Goals. 

 

The following applicable statewide planning goal statements have been summarized. The 
Oregon Land Conservation and Development Commission Goals and Guidelines are 
incorporated herein by reference, except as noted. 

 

GOAL 1: Citizen Involvement - To develop a citizen involvement program to 

insure the opportunity for citizens to be involved in all phases of the planning 

process. 
 

The City of Springfield has a citizen involvement program that is acknowledged by the State 

as in compliance with Goal 1. Citizens are provided the opportunity to be involved in all 

phases of the planning process. The proposal does not include any changes to the City’s 

citizen involvement program. The requirements under Goal 1 are met by adherence to the 

City’s provisions for citizen involvement as implemented by the Springfield Development 

Code (SDC). 
 

GOAL 2: Land Use Planning - To establish a land use planning process and 

policy framework as a basis for all decisions and actions related to use of land 

and to assure an adequate factual basis for such decisions and actions. 

 

Goal 2 requires local plans and regulatory measures to be consistent with statewide goals and 
land use decisions to be supported by an adequate factual basis. Goal 2 also requires that 
comprehensive plan amendments be adopted after a public hearing by the governing body 
that provides citizens an opportunity to comment on the proposed amendment. 

Attachment 4 Page 11 of 24 



PeaceHealth – RiverBend Annex IPF 

Plan Amendment/Zone Change Narrative 
September 29, 2023 - Page 10 of 21 

 

 

Goal 2 establishes a land use planning process and policy framework as a basis for all land 
use decisions and requires the development of an adequate factual base to support these 
decisions. A minor change is one that does not have significant effect beyond its immediate 
area and is based on special studies or information. The justification for the particular 
change must be established. 

 

The City of Springfield has adopted a comprehensive land use Plan amendment process, 
including specific standards that must be addressed to justify the change. In addition, 
Oregon Administrative Rules have been promulgated for the Exception Process. Substantial 
compliance with SDC 5.14.100 and the OAR provisions is addressed above and below in 
this written statement in compliance with the applicable provisions of Goal 2. 

 

The SDC implements Goal 2 by providing state-acknowledged procedures and criteria 
governing land use decisions. This Plan amendment and related zone change application 
will be considered by the Planning Commission and City Council following two public 
hearings. This application is being processed in compliance with the requirements of SDC 
and thus complies with Goal 2. 

 

GOAL 3: Agricultural Lands 

 

The amendment is for property in the Springfield urban growth boundary and does not 
affect any land designated for agricultural use. Goal 3 is not applicable. 

 

GOAL 4: Forest Lands 

 

The amendment is for property in the Springfield urban growth boundary and does not 
affect any land designated for forest use. Goal 4 is not applicable. 

 

GOAL 5: Open Spaces, Scenic and Historic Areas, and Natural Resources- To 

protect natural resources and conserve scenic and historic areas and open 

spaces. 
 

Goal 5 requires the conservation of open space and the protection of numerous natural, 
cultural, historic and scenic resources. The goal applies to the following resources: riparian 
corridors, water and riparian areas and fish habitat, wetlands, wildlife habitat, mineral and 
aggregate resources, energy sources, natural areas, scenic views and sites, open space, 
groundwater resources, wilderness areas, historic resources, cultural areas, Oregon 
recreational trails, federal wild and scenic waterways and state scenic waterways. OAR 660- 
023-0010 and 0020 includes definitions, standards and specific rules applicable to each Goal 
5 resource inventoried for conservation under the goal. 

Attachment 4 Page 12 of 24 



PeaceHealth – RiverBend Annex IPF 

Plan Amendment/Zone Change Narrative 
September 29, 2023 - Page 11 of 21 

 

 

The Goal 5 resources listed above have been appropriately considered by the City of 
Springfield in the Plan. The property does not contain any inventoried Statewide Goal 5 
resources. There are no known significant natural assets or historic resources on the 
property. The amendment does not propose a change to the City’s list of Goal 5 resources 
or propose a change to any regulatory measures related to Goal 5. The proposed request 
will not allow new uses that could be in conflict with a significant Goal 5 resource site. Goal 
5 is not applicable. 

 

GOAL 6: Air, Water and Land Resource Quality- To maintain and improve 

the quality of the air, water, and land resources of the state. 

 

Goal 6 is generally implemented during the comprehensive planning process and local 
regulations. 

 

The City of Springfield’s Environmental Services Division (ESD) coordinates the City’s 
compliance with applicable state and federal environmental quality statues. ESD manages 
multiple programs to maintain compliance with Goal 6 including 1) Water Resources 
Programs, such as implementing the City’s National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 
(NPDES) stormwater discharge permit, 2) Industrial Pretreatment Program such as 
administering the Pollution Management Practice programs, and 3) Wastewater & 
Stormwater Programs. The proposed Plan amendment does not alter the City’s 
acknowledged compliance with Goal 6. 

 

As Goal 6 pertains to site-specific development, it requires that adequate protective 

measures are taken to ensure the maintenance of air, water and land quality. This Plan 
amendment will encourage development of land inside the city for medical services. All new 
development must comply with applicable local, state and federal air and water quality 
standards. 

 

The general vicinity of the Subject Property is served by adequate on-site water and 
sanitation facilities. The proposed use of the Subject Property is not expected to produce or 
discharge any product or by-product that would degrade the quality of the air, water and land 
resources. 

 

GOAL 7: Areas Subject to Natural Disasters or Hazards- To protect people 

and property from natural hazards. 

 

The Metro Plan and the SDC are acknowledged to be in compliance with all applicable 
statewide land use goals, including Goal 7. The City of Springfield has existing programs, 
policies, zoning overlays, and development standards to regulate development in areas 
subject to natural disasters and hazards. 

Attachment 4 Page 13 of 24 



PeaceHealth – RiverBend Annex IPF 

Plan Amendment/Zone Change Narrative 
September 29, 2023 - Page 12 of 21 

 

 

The Subject Property included is not in the City’s Floodplain Overlay District or the Hillside 
Development Overlay District. The proposed Plan amendment does not affect any City 
regulations or alter mitigation requirements for any properties in areas subject to natural 
disasters and hazards. Goal 7 is not applicable. 

 

There are no known areas subject to natural disasters or hazards on the Subject Property. 
The Subject Property is not located within the 100-year flood hazard area as determined by 
Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) Panel 41039C1133F effective June 2, 1999. FEMA has 
updated flood maps to better show the risk of flooding in Central Lane County. The revised 
pending maps continue to show the Subject Property in Zone X. The western and southern 
edge of the Subject Property are in an area with 0.2% annual chance of flood and the 
remaining portion is considered an area of minimal flood hazard. 

 

GOAL 8: Recreational Needs- To satisfy the recreational needs of the citizens 
of the state and visitors and, where appropriate, to provide for the siting of 

necessary recreational facilities including destination resorts. 

Goal 8 addresses the recreational needs of Oregon residents and visitors. Provisions of this 
goal are appropriately implemented by a legislative process as part of periodic review of the 
Plan. The City of Springfield evaluated projected population growth, changes in community 
demographics, and the recreational needs of citizens and visitors. In compliance with Goal 
8, the Metro Plan Diagram designates areas needed for Parks and Open Space. The subject 
property does not contain any land identified as needed to meet recreational needs or to 
satisfy the demand for recreational facilities. 

 

The proposed Plan amendment and zone change will not affect the City’s supply of land 
available for recreation areas or recreational facilities. The proposed change from Campus 
Industrial to Commercial has no direct impact on recreational needs. Goal 8 is not 
applicable. 

 

GOAL 9: Economy of the State- To provide adequate opportunities 

throughout the state for a variety of economic activities vital to the health, 

welfare, and prosperity of Oregon’s citizens. 

 

The purpose of Goal 9 is to diversify and improve the economy of the State and is primarily 
applicable to commercial and industrial development. In 2007 the Oregon legislature 
adopted House Bill 3337 establishing land use planning requirements for the Eugene- 
Springfield Metro area. ORS 197.304 established a mandate that Springfield and Eugene 
separately determine the projected 20-year need for housing and establish separate urban 
growth boundaries to meet housing needs. Although ORS 197.304 only required separate 
UGBs for housing, it was implicit that the two cities independently plan for other land use 
needs including employment growth, as defined by Goal 9. 

Attachment 4 Page 14 of 24 



PeaceHealth – RiverBend Annex IPF 

Plan Amendment/Zone Change Narrative 
September 29, 2023 - Page 13 of 21 

 

 

 

Pursuant to Goal 9, in 2010, Lane County and the cities and Springfield and Eugene 
approved the Regional Prosperity Economic Development Plan providing a framework to 
better align regional economic growth the area’s assets and values. 

 

Given the complexity involved with addressing ORS 197.304, the City of Springfield chose 

to phase adoption of various amendments to the Plan. To address OAR 660-009-0015(1) 
and (4), the City of Springfield prepared an Economic Opportunities Analysis (EOA) to 
review “the types and amounts of industrial and other employment uses likely to occur in the planning 
area”. The EOA identified “Medical Services” as a Target Industry and typically located in 
Plan Designations Commercial, Commercial Mixed Use, High Density Residentiial Mixed 
Use, Light Medium Industrial Mixed use or Medium Density Mixed use, or Mixed Use. 

 

The City of Springfield inventory of Commercial Industrial Buildable Land (CIBL) identified 
the Subject Property as vacant Campus Industrial Land. The CIBL also concluded there 
were not enough large vacant sites within the City of Springfield UGB to accommodate the 
projected economic growth. Relevant City of Springfield economic development strategies1 

include: 

 

Provide sites with a variety of site characteristics to meet both commercial and industrial economic 
opportunities, including sites that are available for relatively fast development. This includes large 
sites for major employers. 

 

Support and assist existing businesses within Springfield by assessing what kind of assistance 
businesses need and developing programs to meet that need. 

 

Attract and develop new businesses, especially those related to regional business clusters. The City 
would like to build on the developing health care cluster, promote development of high-tech businesses, 
and attract sustainable businesses. 

 

Maintain flexibility in planning through providing efficient planning services and developing planning 
policies to respond to the changing needs of businesses. 

 

On December 5, 2016, the City of Springfield adopted Ordinance No. 6361 amending the 
Springfield urban growth boundary and adopting the Springfield 2030 Comprehensive Plan 
(2030 Plan) Economic and Urbanization Policy Elements. The 2030 Economic Element 
provides policy direction to address the community’s commercial, industrial, and other 
employment development needs and supplants the Economic Element in the Metro Plan. 
The new In-Patient Rehabilitation Facility requires a site approximately 4.99 acres in size. 
Based on data provided by LCOG on June 1, 2023, inside the City of Springfield there are 
no vacant lots between 4.0 to 8.0 acres in size currently zoned Community Commercial or 

 

1 CIBL – EOA Summary, August 2015. 

Attachment 4 Page 15 of 24 



PeaceHealth – RiverBend Annex IPF 

Plan Amendment/Zone Change Narrative 
September 29, 2023 - Page 14 of 21 

 

 

Medical Services. There are two vacant lots zoned Mixed Use Commercial that fall within 
this size range located on the PeaceHealth RiverBend campus across from the hospital. 
Although the MUC zone would allow an In-Patient Rehabilitation Facility, it is vital that the 
two properties remain available for uses that require proximity to the hospital. 

 

The Plan amendment will allow the Subject Property to be designated Commercial and fulfill 
a key economic goal to support the health care cluster. The new In-Patient Rehabilitation 
Facility will provide a medical service offering patients a transition between services 
provided in a hospital and those typically available in an assisted care facility. The Subject 
Property is located close to other major medical facilities including the PeaceHealth 
RiverBend and McKenzie Willamette hospitals. The Subject Property is within a block of 
frequent transit service and bike routes. 

 

The Plan amendment will not have an adverse impact availability of suitable sites for a 
variety of economic activities. The Plan amendment will provide the following economic 
benefits: 

 

1. The change in plan designation will stimulate development of an underutilized 
portion of the RiverBend Campus and result in a more efficient land use 
pattern. 

2. Strengthen the medical services sector in the City of Springfield helping to 
address a “target industry”. 

3. Development of the site for the planned In-Patient Rehabilitation Facility is 
expected to add approximately 150 jobs and result in direct and indirect 
benefits to the local economy. 

 

For further information regarding the Plan amendment’s compliance with the City of 
Springfield 2030 Economic Element, please refer to the analysis below regarding SDC 
5.14.135(B). 

 

GOAL 10: Housing- To provide for the housing needs of citizens of the state. 
 

Goal 10 is intended to provide for the housing needs of the citizens of the State. This Goal 
is primarily implemented through the provisions of the Plan. The proposed Plan 
Amendment does not impact the buildable land supply for housing. The new expanded IPF 
will initially provide 50 beds for those needing 24-hour medical care exceeding what is 
typically offered in an assisted care facility or nursing home. The size of the site will allow 
the facility to add 10 more beds in the future. The facility will not provide the complete 
services of a hospital so being close to the two hospitals in Springfield will be beneficial. 

Attachment 4 Page 16 of 24 



PeaceHealth – RiverBend Annex IPF 

Plan Amendment/Zone Change Narrative 
September 29, 2023 - Page 15 of 21 

 

 

GOAL 11: Public Facilities and Services- to plan and develop a timely, orderly 

and efficient arrangement of public facilities and services to serve as a 

framework for urban and rural development. 

 

The Subject Property is located in the City of Springfield and a full range of urban services 
are available to serve the site and the anticipated development. The Plan amendment will 
not affect the City or other service providers’ ability to provide public services. 

 

GOAL 12: Transportation- To provide and encourage a safe, convenient and 

economic transportation system. 
 

The intent of Goal 12 is implemented through the provisions of the State Transportation 
Planning Rule (TPR) (OAR 660, Division 12) which was adopted by LCDC in 1991. 
OAR 660-012-0060(1) requires that amendments to functional plans, acknowledged 
comprehensive plans, and land use regulations which significantly affect a transportation 
facility shall assure that allowed land uses are consistent with the identified function, 
capacity, and level of service of the facility. 

 

To determine whether the proposed amendments will significantly affect a transportation 
facility, the TPR lists specific criteria against which the proposed amendments are to be 
evaluated. The TPR provides that a plan or land use regulation amendment significantly 
affects a transportation facility if it: 

(a) Changes the functional classification of an existing or planned transportation 
facility; 

(b) Changes standards implementing a functional classification system; 

(c) Allows types or levels of land uses which would result in levels of travel or 
access which are inconsistent with the functional classification of a 
transportation facility; or, 

(d) Would reduce the level of service of the facility below the minimum 
acceptable level identified in the TSP (Transportation System Plan). 

 

For a complete analysis of how the application meets Goal 12 and the Transportation 
Planning Rule, please see Exhibit H - Traffic Impact Analysis and Transportation Planning 
Rule Analysis prepared by Sandow Engineering. 

 

GOAL 13: Energy Conservation- To conserve energy. 
 

The Subject Property does not contain any non-renewable energy resources on the property. 
The proposed Plan amendment will not amend or affect any land use regulations enacted to 
implement Goal 13. All new development will be required to comply with local, state and 
federal codes related to energy conservation. Goal 13 is not applicable. 

Attachment 4 Page 17 of 24 



PeaceHealth – RiverBend Annex IPF 

Plan Amendment/Zone Change Narrative 
September 29, 2023 - Page 16 of 21 

 

 

GOAL 14: Urbanization- To provide an orderly and efficient transition from 

rural to urban land use, to accommodate urban population and urban 

employment inside urban growth boundaries, to ensure efficient use of land, 

and to provide for livable communities. 

 

The Subject Property is in the Springfield Urban Growth Boundary and inside the city limits. 
This Plan amendment does not propose to expand the Urban Growth Boundary thus does 
not require a review of the transition of rural to urban land uses. Therefore, the provisions 
of Goal 14 and OAR Chapter 660, Division 24 (Urban Growth Boundaries) are not 
applicable. 

 

GOALS 15-19 
 

Goals 15 through 18 are inapplicable to this application as they are geographically oriented 
and only apply to the Willamette River Greenway and coastal resources. 

 
(B) Plan inconsistency: 

 
(1) In those cases where the Metro Plan applies, adoption of the 

amendment shall not make the Metro Plan internally 

inconsistent. 

The Plan amendment is a request to change the Plan designation for a specific site and does 

not include any proposed changes to the Plan text. Adoption of the Plan amendment will 
not cause any internal inconsistencies in the Metro Plan. 

 
(2) In cases where Springfield Comprehensive Plan applies, the 

amendment shall be consistent with the Springfield 
Comprehensive Plan. (6331) 

 
The Plan amendment is consistent with the Springfield Comprehensive Plan including the 

policies listed below in bold italics: 

 

Policy E.3 Work with property owners and their representatives to ensure 
that prime development and redevelopment sites throughout 
Springfield and its Urban Growth Boundary that are designated 
for employment use are preserved for future employment needs 

and are not subdivided or used for non-employment uses. 

Attachment 4 Page 18 of 24 



PeaceHealth – RiverBend Annex IPF 

Plan Amendment/Zone Change Narrative 
September 29, 2023 - Page 17 of 21 

 

 

The Plan amendment will facilitate development of an underutilized land and allow an in- 
patient rehabilitation facility to be developed on the site bringing about 150 new jobs to the 
City of Springfield at about 30 employees per acre. 

 
Policy E.6 Facilitate short term and long term redevelopment activity and 

increased efficiency of land use through the urban renewal 
program, updates to refinement plans and the development 
review process. 

 
The Plan amendment will facilitate efficient land use by increasing the overall intensity and 
density of the uses on the PeaceHealth RiverBend Annex campus. 

 
Policy E.7  Where possible, concentrate development on sites with existing 

infrastructure or on sites where infrastructure can be provided 

relatively easily and at a comparatively low cost. 
 
The Plan amendment concentrates development within the city limits on a site with available 
infrastructure for public facilities and services. 

 
Policy E.16  Consider the economic opportunities provided by transportation 

corridors and seek to maximize economic uses in corridors that 

provide the most optimal locations and best exposure for existing 
and future commercial and industrial uses. 

 
The Plan amendment will stimulate development on a multi-modal transportation corridor. 
The new employees will increase ridership on the Lane County Transit District’s Emerald 
Express (EmX) bus rapid transit system as well as the use of the bike routes. 

 
Policy E.28  Increase the potential for employment in the regional industry 

clusters, including: Health Care, Communication Equipment, 
Information Technology (Software), Metals (Wholesalers), Local 

Food and Beverage Production and Distribution, Specialty 
Agriculture, Wood & Forest Products, and Transportation 
Equipment. 

 
The Plan amendment will facilitate development of a new in-patient rehabilitation facility 
increasing employment in the Health Care industry. This Plan amendment will increase the 
Health Care cluster in the Gateway area of the City. 

Attachment 4 Page 19 of 24 



PeaceHealth – RiverBend Annex IPF 

Plan Amendment/Zone Change Narrative 
September 29, 2023 - Page 18 of 21 

 

 

Policy E.40 Provide the services, infrastructure, and land needed to attract 

the identified industry clusters, especially where they can increase 

economic connectivity among businesses. 
 
The Plan amendment will increase the amount of land available for community commercial 
uses including the proposed in-patient rehabilitation facility. 

Attachment 4 Page 20 of 24 



PeaceHealth – RiverBend Annex IPF 

Plan Amendment/Zone Change Narrative 
September 29, 2023 - Page 19 of 21 

 

 

V. ZONE CHANGE APPROVAL CRITERIA & FINDINGS OF FACT 
 

SDC 5.22.115 (C) Zoning Map Amendment Criteria of Approval 

 
(1) Consistency with applicable Metro Plan policies and the Metro 

Plan Diagram; 

 
Following approval of the amendment to change the Plan Diagram designation from 
Campus Industrial to Commercial, the zoning map amendment will be consistent. 

 

There are no mandatory Metro Plan policies related to the proposed zoning. 

 
(2) Consistency with applicable Refinement Plans, Plan District 

maps, Conceptual Development Plans and functional plans; 

The Subject Property is within the boundary of the Gateway Refinement Plan adopted on 
November 9, 1992. In 1992, the Subject Property was shown on the land use diagram as 
part of the McKenzie-Gateway Special Light Industrial site. 

 
Below are applicable Gateway Refinement Plan policies in bold italics followed by the 
applicant’s findings. 

 
8.0 Provide for an efficient and flexible transportation system for the 

McKenzie-Gateway SLI Site. 

 
9.0 Improve the appearance and effectiveness of the main approaches to the 

McKenzie-Gateway SLI Site. . . . 

Through substantial public and private investments, significant capital improvements have 
improved the transportation system serving the McKenzie-Gateway SLI Site. 

 

The proposed Zone Change will not have an adverse impact on the transportation system. 

The planned development will increase potential transit riders using the nearby EmX 
stations. 

 
10.0 Mitigate the impacts of incremental (SLI) development on existing on- 

site (non-SLI) uses occupying the McKenzie-Gateway SLI Site. 
 
Policy 10.0 recognized that full development of the McKenzie-Gateway SLI Site would likely 

occur incrementally. The Subject Property is located at the southwest corner of the 
RiverBend Annex campus. The impetus for the proposed Zone Change is the proposed use 

Attachment 4 Page 21 of 24 



PeaceHealth – RiverBend Annex IPF 

Plan Amendment/Zone Change Narrative 
September 29, 2023 - Page 20 of 21 

 

 

of the Subject Property for a new expanded PeaceHealth RiverBend In-Patient 
Rehabilitation Facility. Through the site plan review process, any development will be 
required to comply with SDC standards including requirements for landscaping, building 
setbacks, parking, etc. Development of the Subject Property will be compatible with 
surrounding land uses including the remaining portion of the RiverBend Annex campus. 

 
11.0 Ensure that development plans adequately consider the site’s natural 

landscape features and amenities, and provide for the development 

needs of future developers. 

The proposed Zone Change to Medical Services will allow different uses than the existing 
CI Campus Industrial zone but many of the development standards, such as landscape 
requirements for parking areas and stormwater management will remain the same. The site 
plan review process requires that developers adequately consider existing site conditions. 

 
12.0 Encourage the preservation and/or enhancement of reminders of the 

area’s rich agricultural heritage, which are found in the McKenzie- 

Gateway SLI area. 
 
The policy above is directed towards the City of Springfield encouraging historic 
preservation but is not a mandatory policy for reviewing a zone change request. The Subject 
Property contains a small remnant of a significantly larger filbert orchard to the west of the 
site. The applicant will consider ways to provide a reminder of the area’s rich agricultural 
heritage such as a commemorative plaque or display of historic photos in the building. 
Regardless of zoning, any new development will require changes in grade making it 
impracticable to retain the orchard. 

 
13.0 Ensure adequate storm drainage management planning emphasizing the 

minimization of negative impacts on water quality and quantity 
resulting from McKenzie-Gateway SLI Site development. 

 
Any development of the Subject Property will require compliance with City, state and federal 
water quality standards and to review of proposed storm drainage for the site. 

 
(3) The property is presently provided with adequate public 

facilities, services and transportation networks to support the use, 
or these facilities, services and transportation networks are 
planned to be provided concurrently with the development of the 

property; 

Attachment 4 Page 22 of 24 



PeaceHealth – RiverBend Annex IPF 

Plan Amendment/Zone Change Narrative 
September 29, 2023 - Page 21 of 21 

 

 

The Subject Property is within the City limits and is presently provided with adequate public 
facilities, services and transportation networks to support the planned use.  

 
(4) Meet the approval criteria specified in SDC 5.14.100 when 

involving a Metro Plan Diagram amendment; and 

The findings provided above related to SDC 5.14.100 are hereby incorporated by reference. 

 
(5) Compliance with Oregon Administrative Rule (OAR) 660-012- 

0060, where applicable. (6443) 

The applicant retained a licensed traffic engineer (Sandow Engineering) to prepare a Traffic 
Impact Analysis and Transportation Planning Rule Analysis. The report contains the 
following findings: 

 
• The addition of development trips does not trigger any intersections to not meet the 

LOS standards. 

• The intersection of Gateway Street at Beltline Road currently operates at LOS F 
during the PM peak hour. The zone change and proposed use will add less than a 
3% increase in trips. This trip increase is insignificant in terms of impact on the 
intersection. Therefore, no mitigation is recommended. 

• The addition of development traffic does not substantially increase queuing 
conditions. 

• There is no off-site mitigation needed for this development. 

• TPR findings are demonstrated to be met. 
 

Based upon the findings above, the zone change complies with the Transportation Planning 
Rule (TPR). For further information, refer to Exhibit I – Traffic Impact Analysis and 
Transportation Planning Rule Analysis. 

 

VI. CONCLUSION 

 

The proposed amendments to the Metro Plan Diagram and the Springfield Zoning Map will 
stimulate development of the Subject Property and help strengthen the local economy. 

 

This written narrative, exhibits, and technical reports provide substantial evidence to support 
approval of the Plan Amendment and Zone Change applications. 

Attachment 4 Page 23 of 24 



( ( (

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(
(

(

(((((

(
(

(
(
(

((

(
(
(
(
(
(
(

(
(
(

(
((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((

( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( (

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(

( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( (

(
(
(
(
(
((
(
(

(( (

(( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ((

(
(
(
(

((

(
(

(
(

(
(

( ( ( ( ( ((

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(((((

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

((

( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ((

(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(

( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ((
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( (

(( ( ( ( (

((

(
(

((
(

(
(( ( ( ((

(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(

(((((
(
(
(
(
(

( ( (

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(
(
(

(((((

(
(
(
(
(
(
(

( ( ( ( (

(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(

( ( ( (

( ( (( ( ( ( ( ((
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( (

( ( (

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(

(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
((

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(

( ( ( ( ( ((
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(
(

(

( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( (

((
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
((

(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(

(
(

(( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( (

R

R

R

R

( (

(

(

(

(

(
(

(
(
(

(
(

(

( (

(

(

(

(
(

(

(

(

(

(

(

(

(

(
( (

(

(

(

(

(

(

(

(

(

(

(

(

( (

(

(

(

(
(

(

(

(

R

R

S0
0°

00
'3

9"
E

S0
0°

00
'3

9"
E

15
4.

16
'

28
9.

28
'

S89°59'21"W
26.21'

S59°59'21"W
3.46'

APPROX
1/4 COR

5 '
LC= 4 6 0 . 8 1

'

68
'

68
'

N89°46'52"W

34' 34'

377.16'

44
.9

1

R= 3 2

S
4 4%

3
7

' 5
6

" E

55
'

25
'

36
'

36
'

36
'

34
'

34
'

36
'

7'

7'

34
'

N89°46'52"W

34
'

50'

N 89°56'00" E  1651.35'

(CO. RD. 209)

(CO. RD. 90)
DEADMOND FERRY ROAD

INTERNATIONAL WAY

GAME FARM ROAD EAST

(CO. RD. 209)

BALDY VIEW
 DRIVE

DEADMOND FE
RRY R

OAD

M
AP

LE ISLAN
D

 R
O

AD

GAM
E FARM

 RD. NORTH

COUGAR - STATION "S" NO. 1
BONNEVILLE POWER ADMINISTRATION

2308+16.3

 =32°34'20" R
T

W. RHEA
DLC 44

ESE COR
A.C. STEVENS

DLC 45

NE COR
W. STEVENS

DLC 46

SE COR

DLC 45
A.C. STEVENS

NE COR

S 89°59'20" E  1624.26'

N81°41'47"W

R=290.83'

LC=290.83'

'66

S 47°24'22" E

599.68'

S 60°46'21" E

569.53'

S 67°33'50" E376.94'

91
.8

7'

N 89°56'00" E  3498.13'

52.84'

358.38'

71
3.

97
'

S 
00

°0
0'

39
" E

975.37'

S 00°00'39" E

265.46'
S 89°56'00" W

N
 00°00'39" W

  975.55'

34.96'

35.23'

27.01'

N81°50'17"
LC=276.44'

R=966'

9=R'17.172=CL

N
 0

0°
00

'3
9"

 W
  7

95
.4

8'

N 89°57'19" E  623.70'

N
 00°00'39" W

  893.46'

N89°59'50"E - 737.88'

N89°46'52"W  376.98'

S 
00

°3
1'

00
" W

  8
03

.9
6'

N
0°

31
'E

 - 
64

0.
19

'

65
9.

85
'

115'
N89°59'E

20
5'

N89°59'E

973.55'

N89°47'06"W - 1038.5'

N4
4°

56
'1

2"
W

28
.2

2'

N
0°

12
'0

7"
E

 - 
86

4.
25

'

N45°12'31"E

28.28'

S89°47'06"E 963.16'

S0
°3

0'
45

"W
 - 

89
9.

31
'

N67°52'28"W
LC=71.11'

LC=20.38'

R=41.5'

R=30'

23
6.

23
'

55
.4

1'

S85°06'32"E
649.86'

EAST

400.21'

21
8.

98
'

50'
50'

S89°13'30"W (B.P.A.)

N 89°56'00" E

S6°15'E
 - 488.6' (D

E
E

D
)

S89°55'E - 879.8'

S6°15'E
 - 238.3'

S89°44'E - 614.4'

S33°34'E

N89°44'W - 1605'

S33°44'24"E

64
.2

6'

123.28'
S89°55'E

N
11

°2
5'

50
"E

-1
76

.7
5'

S1
°4

5'
20

"W
15

4'

19.36'

S89°55'E
7.0'

160'
268.21'

242'

34.05'

178.31'

162.54'
N89°44'W

15
0.

86
'

96.31'

231.95'

81
.5

4'

65
.7

6'

22
5.

5'

SO
U

TH

S 89°56'16" W - 231.53'

55
.4

'

S89°56'W - 275.81'
175'

175'

25
0'

SO
U

TH

60'

60'

SO
U

TH
25

0'

(169.8')

EAST

(N
O

R
TH

 2
74

.2
') 

 
169.8'

(2
74

.2
')

81.6'

81.6'

SO
U

TH
27

4.
2'

85'

85'

26
9.

2'

26
9.

2'

26
9.

2'
80'

80'

N26°38'W
        306.6'

N89°55'W

159'

N26°38'W
 - 306.7'

S26°38'E - 306.7'

159'

512'

N26°38'W
 - 512'

119.56'

119.56'

S26°38'E - 388.4'

188.4'

200'

EAST - 191'

WEST - 251'

60'

109.5'

60'

315.53'

254.01'

N
0°

00
'3

9"
W

38
9.

95
'

S 89°56'00" W  686.62'

975.54'

N
 00°00'39" W

21
6.

94
'

23
3.

35
'

N
0°

12
'2

8"
E

 - 
18

26
.6

1'

79
6.

96
'

89
1.

65
'

17
7.

88
'

N
0°

09
'2

8"
E

N89°56'E
125.12'

237.55'

85.24'

283.61'

N89°59'06"E

27
' N
0°

00
'5

4"
W

S77°07'54"E
290.93'

227.65'

365.55'

S 06°24'00" E
  481.07'

40'

286.9'

440.2'

N
0°

08
'0

4"
E

36
2.

17
'

N
O

R
TH

 - 
27

.6
4 

C
H

S
 =

 1
82

4.
24

' (
G

.L
.O

.)

NORTH LINE DLC NO. 45     WEST - 91.74 CHS = 6054.84' (G.L.O.)

S 59° E  651'

S 65° E  203'

S 55° E  388'

N 83° E  496'
S 74° E  317' N 78° E  527'

S 63° E  662'

13
2'

S 73° E  585'

N 80° E  1425'

S 66° E  726'

S 61° E  462'

N 80° E  383'
S 83° E  528'

N 67° E  218'

SO
U

TH
  3

10
'

SO
U

TH
13

3.
4'

85
'

S 31° E  304'
N 76° E  1405'

N 55° W  785'

S 72° E  1020'

SO
U

TH

S 89°46'52" E  377.34'

S 
00

°3
1'

00
" W

  5
80

.5
3'

35.53'
S 45°13'30" W

S 89°56'00" W  532.90'

LC = 412.61'
N 44°37'56" W
  = 90°17'52"
R = 291.00'
L = 458.61'

49.94'
N 01°46'00" W

51.54'
N 13°59'00" E

50.39'
N 07°27'00" W

N
 0

0°
31

'0
0"

 E
  7

51
.3

9'

12
1.0

8'

N 47°2
8'15

" E

111.32'

22.30'

14.00'M/L

R
=60.00'

S 05°17'29" W
LC

=78.07'

R=100.00'
S 29°26'33" W

LC=41.45'

R=100.00'
S 43°19'13" W

LC=38.49'

R=35.00'
S 30°47'35" W

LC=20.83'

R=112.00'
N 67°52'51" E

LC=41.01' R=65.00'
S 72°02'55" E

LC=52.25'

R=45.00'
S 61°22'39" E

LC=22.06'

N
 00°00'39" W

  326.40'

N
 1

1°
39

'2
1"

 E
  2

27
.4

8'

240.08'

360.71'

C/L BY DEED
VOL 412 PG 413

C/L BY S.20782 (1977)

53
2.

08
'

N 87°26'00" E

362.71'
619.00'

S 
00

°3
1'

00
" W

21
5.

00
'

N 89°46'52" W
328.50'

284.50'

N 44°47'12" W
28.29'

32
4.

01
'

13
6.

00
'

N
 0

0°
13

'0
8"

 E

21
3.

92
'

614.99'
330.49'

N 89°58'03" W
284.50'

N 89°59'35" E
379.08'

20
4.

28
'

34
5.

50
'

21
3.

00
'

N
 0

0°
00

'5
8"

 E
33

6.
78

'

973.43'

57
9.

87
'

981.71'

S0
1°

41
'3

6"
W

  
27

7.
23

'

S0
1°

46
'4

3"
W

  
27

7.
06

'

170.78'

N
12°41'22"W

152.52'

S89°56'00"W
122.62'S26° 39'56"E

166.45'

N89°56'E
81.42'

45'55.15'

S49°42'26"W
84.78'

94-P
0500

94-P
0501

93-P
0421

2008-
P2297

15 14

22 23

279.24'

11
.53

'
31.83' 61.88'35.43' 7.01' 137.00' 3.

20
'

6.
0'

48.42'
N84°44'43"E

LC=106.20'

N77°07'52"E

R=600' R=5
0'

LC
=4

8.5
1'R=20'

N36
°2

6'3
0"

E
15

.13
'

LC
=15.5

1' 
 N

37
°2

9'4
0"E

  R
=30

'

LC= 13.83  S
36°51'18"E  R

=26'LC=34.91'
N68°08'34"W

R=40'

N
0°

0'
39

"W
44

.2
4'

 N83°48'24"E
14.15'

LC=22.08'
N59°30'14"E

R=27.00'

LC=37.77'
N26°33'59"E

R=145.00'

37
.6

2'

LC=41.58'
N38°13'52"W

R=50.00'

18.77'
N84°44'56"W

102.51'

18.76'
35.25'LC=44.02'

S41°58'54"E
R=70'

LC=35.37'
S16°48'48"E

R=270'

26.12'

12.18'

PCL 1

PCL 2

PCL 1

(PCL 2)

PCL 3

PCL 1

PCL 2

PCL 1

PCL 2

1

2

3

4 5

MCKENZIE RIVER

MAPLE ISLAND SLOUGH

80.60 ACS

12.04 ACS

1500

2200

300

61.92'

R=1034'

LC=295.89'

S.32484

S.36978

360.87'

36
0.

87
'

42.70'

S 
0°

7'
16

" W

9.49'
27.0'

0.33'

11.27'

N15°35'15"ELC=34.20'N20°03'56"E

SO
U

TH

40'

S26°47'00"E - 311.05'

202.04'

27
4.

2'

18.26'

26
4.

87
'

(360.44')

N
 0

0°
12

'2
8"

 E

LIBERTY

PROFESSIO
NAL

CENTER

94-P
0502

S89°58'03"E 331.42'

10
0'

10
0'

22.60'

S89°56'00"W

EAST
83.33'

65.33'1800

2022-

P3057

I.P.

3200
3400

3500

3300

981.71'

45
9.

96
'

644.93'
N 89°46'52" W

PCL 1

INITIAL
POINT

2022-

P3092

S 45866

0.18 AC 0.36 AC

1.18 AC

0.31 AC0.21 AC

1.17 AC1 AC0.53 AC0.49 AC
0.51 AC1.1 AC0.

35
 A

C

0.9 AC
0.33 AC

0.55 AC
1.38 AC

0.3 AC

0.39 AC

13.01 AC
22.1 AC

0.41 AC

6.31 AC

13.82 AC
6.19 AC7.05 AC

14.09 AC

92.64 AC

1.38 AC

13.17 AC

13.55 AC

0.14 AC

0.72 AC

2.38 AC

10.29 AC

0.13 AC2800 2700

1300

14001502

160017001900200021003700

23
0024002600

2900
3000

1200

1000

1101
1100

900

800

100
200500

600
400

2500

3100

700

3600

1501

1802

3201

1801

004-90

019-00

004-01

004-04

004-78

004-62

004-22 004-22
004-78

004-38

004-78

SEE MAP
17031530

SEE MAP
17031500

SEE MAP
17031400

SEE MAP
17032200SEE MAP

17032220
SEE MAP
17032212

FOR ASSESSMENT AND
TAXATION ONLY S.E.1/4 SEC. 15 T.17S. R.3W. W.M.

Lane County
1" = 200'

CANCELLED
300
1500
2200
1800
3500
3300
3400
3200

17031540
SPRINGFIELD

SPRINGFIELD
17031540

LCATJCG - 2023-01-03 16:58

REVISIONS
06/03/2011 - LCAT113 - CONVERT MAP TO GIS
05/14/2012 - LCAT174 - CORRECTION TO TAX CODE
09/16/2014 - LCAT115 - CANC TL 1800 INTO 2014-P2614
02/26/2015 - LCAT115 - CODE CHANGE TL 2500
06/15/2015 - LCAT155 - LLA BETWEEN 2500 & 1703220000400
11/06/2018 - LCAT148 - CODE CHANGE TL 2300 & TL 2400
01/18/2019 - LCAT148 - CODE CHANGE TL 01700
04/08/2020 - LCAT148 - CODE CHANGE TL 1800
04/09/2020 - LCAT148 - CODE CHANGE TL 600
06/21/2021 - LCAT174 - LLA BETWEEN TL 3400 & TL 3600
05/25/2022 - LCAT174 - CANC TL 1800 INTO 2022-P3057
01/03/2023 - LCAT174 - CANC 3200,3300,3400,3500 INTO 2022-P3092

  

PeaceHealth
EXHIBIT A - Assessor’s Map

Subject 
Property

6/22/23

2001000 400
Feet

scale  1” = 400’

NMap 17-03-15-40 Tax Lot 1000
Map 17-03-15-40 Tax Lots 800, 900, 1100 (portions)

±

6/22/23

PeaceHealth
EXHIBIT C - Aerial Photo
Map 17-03-15-40 Tax Lot 1000

Map 17-03-15-40 Tax Lots 800, 900, 1100 (portions)
150750 300

Feet

scale  1” = 300’
N

Subject 
Property

± Cintas - Eugene Plant
EXHIBIT A - Vicinity Map

Subject Property

4/24/23 N

EXISTING ZONING - Campus Industrial

PROPOSED ZONING - Medical Services
5002500 1000

Feet

scale  1” = 1000’
PeaceHealth

EXHIBIT E - Zoning Map

Subject 
Property

Subject 
Property

9/27/23E ST

58
T

H 
S

T

48
T

H 
S

T

CROW 
RD 42

N
D 

S
T

O
A

K
W

AY 
R

D

R
IV

E
R 

R
D

HW
Y 

99 
N

S
E

N
E

C
A 

R
D

R
IV

E
R 

R
D

JASPER RD

G
A

TE
W

AY 
S

T

C
H

A
M

B
E

R
S 

S
T

I- 5

I -
5

B
E

R
T E

LS
E

N 
R

D

I- 5

P
A

R
K 

A V
E 

N

I-
5

TE
R

R
Y

G
AM

E 
FAR

M 
R

D 
N

E
C

H
O

 H
O

LL
O

W
 R

D

D
A

N
E

B
O

3 5
T H 

S
T

W 11TH AVE

RD

A
G

A T
E

W 5TH AVE

BELTLINE RD

CHAD

W 1ST AVE

W 7TH AVE

W 11TH AVE THURSTON RD

E 
A

M
A

ZO
N 

D
R

H
E

N
D

E
R

S
O

N

W
IL

LA
M

E
T

T E 
S

T

MAXWELL RD

ROYAL AVE

SPRIN
G

5T
H 

S
T

D
EL

TA 
H

W
Y

G
O

N
Y

E
A

CREST DR

ISLAND

PARK

31
S

T 
S

T

1 9
T

H 
S

T
W D ST

E 40TH

G
A

R
D

E
N 

W
A Y

BELTLINE RD

32
N

D 
S

T

D
O

N
A

LD 
S

T

28
T

H 
S

T

E 30TH AVE

E 33RD AVE

JE
F

FE
R

S
O

N 
S

T

HARLOW RD

W 28TH AVE

31ST ST

E 18TH AVE

E 43RD AVE

E 24TH AVE

COBURG 
RD

W 18TH AVE

AIRPORT RD

C
IT

Y 
V

IE
W 

S
T

H
IL

YA
R

D 
S

T

W 6TH AVE

G
R

E
E

N 
H

IL
L 

R
D

GREEN ACRES

MAIN ST
MAIN ST

IRVINGTON DR

DILLARD 
RD

W 7TH AVE

B
A

I L
E

Y 
H

IL
L 

R
D

G
O

O
DP

ASTURE

G
R

E
E

N 
H

IL
L 

R
D

M
AR

C
O

LA 
R

D

G
A

M
E 

FA
R

M 
R

D

COMMERCIAL ST
A

G
AT

E 
S

T

N
O

R
K

E
N

Z
I E 

R
D

M
O

HA
W

K 
BL

VD

G
A

R
F I

E
L D 

S
T

A
M

A
ZO

N
 PKW

Y

H
W

Y 
99 

N

SPENCER CREEK RD

P
R

A
IR

IE 
R

D

PA
T T

E
R

S
O

N 
S

T

FR
A

N
K

L IN 
B

LV
D

BARGER AVE

McKENZIE HWY

CAMP CREEK RD

W
IL

L A
G

IL
LE

S
P

IE

W 
A

M
A

ZO
N 

D
R

CAL YOUNG RD

HAYDEN  BRIDGE RD

P
IO

N
E

E
R

 P
K

W
Y

EUG-SPR HWY

AWBREY LN

FRANKLIN BLVD

N. 
D

EL
TA 

H
W

Y
FO

X 
H

O
LL

O
W

 R
D

LORANE HW
Y

C
O

BU
R

G 
R

D

HAYDEN BRIDGE RD

BEACON DR E

B
E

LT
LI

N
E

   
R

D

CLEAR LAKE RD

N
O

R
TH

W
E

S
T 

E
X

P
R

E
S

S
W

AY

W
IL

LA
M

ET
TE 

ST

E 30TH AVE

RO OSE VELT BLVD

WILLOW CREEK RD

B
A

IL
E

Y
 H

IL
L 

R
D

CENTENNIAL BLVD

NORTHW
EST EXPRESSWAY

C
O

B
U

R
G 

R
D

HWY 58

SPR
IN

G
FIELD 

- CR
ESW

ELL 
H

W
Y

G
IM

PL 

HILL RD

MCKENZIE VIEW DRIVE

IRVING RD

ROYAL AVE

CREST DR

CRESCENT DR

I-105

HORN

BEACON DR W

W 13TH AVE

W 11TH AVE

W 29TH AVE

ND

ND

ND
ND

ND
ND

ND
ND

ND

ND NDNDND

0 7,000
Feet

±
The information on this map was derived from digital
databases on Lane Council of Governments' regional
geographic information system.  Care was taken in
the creation of this map, but it is provided "as is".
LCOG cannot accept any responsibility for errors,
omissions, or positional accuracy in the digital data
or the underlying records.  Current plan designation,
zoning, etc., for specific parcels should be confirmed
with the appropriate governmental entity - Eugene,
Springfield, or Lane County - with responsibility for
planning and development of the parcel.  There are no
warranties, express or implied, accompanying this product.
However, notification of any errors will be appreciated.

Eugene-Springfield
Metropolitan Area

General Plan
Plan Diagram

(The interpretation and purpose of the Plan Diagram, and descriptions
   of the land uses and symbols shown, are contained in Chapter II-G.)

Urban Growth Boundary

Metro Plan Boundary

Railroads

Rivers and Ponds

Overlays:

Mixed Use Areas

Nodal Development Area

Willamette Greenway

Low Density Residential

Medium Density Residential

High Density Residential

Nodal Development

Commercial

Major Retail Center

Heavy Industrial

Special Heavy Industrial

Light Medium Industrial

Campus Industrial

University Research

Government & Education

Parks and Open Space

Natural Resource

Sand and Gravel

Agriculture

Forest Land

Rural Residential

Rural Commercial

Rural Industrial

Airport Reserve

12/31/2010

ND

VALID AT 11x17 SCALE ONLY

E ST

58
T

H 
S

T

48
T

H 
S

T

CROW 
RD 42

N
D 

S
T

O
A

K
W

AY 
R

D

R
IV

E
R 

R
D

HW
Y 

99 
N

S
E

N
E

C
A 

R
D

R
IV

E
R 

R
D

JASPER RD

G
A

TE
W

AY 
S

T

C
H

A
M

B
E

R
S 

S
T

I- 5

I -
5

B
E

R
T E

LS
E

N 
R

D

I- 5

P
A

R
K 

A V
E 

N

I-
5

TE
R

R
Y

G
AM

E 
FAR

M 
R

D 
N

E
C

H
O

 H
O

LL
O

W
 R

D

D
A

N
E

B
O

3 5
T H 

S
T

W 11TH AVE

RD

A
G

A T
E

W 5TH AVE

BELTLINE RD

CHAD

W 1ST AVE

W 7TH AVE

W 11TH AVE THURSTON RD

E 
A

M
A

ZO
N 

D
R

H
E

N
D

E
R

S
O

N

W
IL

LA
M

E
T

T E 
S

T

MAXWELL RD

ROYAL AVE

SPRIN
G

5T
H 

S
T

D
EL

TA 
H

W
Y

G
O

N
Y

E
A

CREST DR

ISLAND

PARK

31
S

T 
S

T

1 9
T

H 
S

T

W D ST

E 40TH

G
A

R
D

E
N 

W
A Y

BELTLINE RD

32
N

D 
S

T

D
O

N
A

LD 
S

T

28
T

H 
S

T

E 30TH AVE

E 33RD AVE

JE
F

FE
R

S
O

N 
S

T

HARLOW RD

W 28TH AVE

31ST ST

E 18TH AVE

E 43RD AVE

E 24TH AVE

COBURG 
RD

W 18TH AVE

AIRPORT RD

C
IT

Y 
V

IE
W 

S
T

H
IL

YA
R

D 
S

T

W 6TH AVE

G
R

E
E

N 
H

IL
L 

R
D

GREEN ACRES

MAIN ST
MAIN ST

IRVINGTON DR

DILLARD 
RD

W 7TH AVE

B
A

I L
E

Y 
H

IL
L 

R
D

G
O

O
DP

ASTURE

G
R

E
E

N 
H

IL
L 

R
D

M
AR

C
O

LA 
R

D

G
A

M
E 

FA
R

M 
R

D

COMMERCIAL ST
A

G
AT

E 
S

T

N
O

R
K

E
N

Z
I E 

R
D

M
O

HA
W

K 
BL

VD

G
A

R
F I

E
L D 

S
T

A
M

A
ZO

N
 PKW

Y

H
W

Y 
99 

N

SPENCER CREEK RD

P
R

A
IR

IE 
R

D

PA
T T

E
R

S
O

N 
S

T

FR
A

N
K

L IN 
B

LV
D

BARGER AVE

McKENZIE HWY

CAMP CREEK RD

W
IL

L A
G

IL
LE

S
P

IE

W 
A

M
A

ZO
N 

D
R

CAL YOUNG RD

HAYDEN  BRIDGE RD

P
IO

N
E

E
R

 P
K

W
Y

EUG-SPR HWY

AWBREY LN

FRANKLIN BLVD

N. 
D

EL
TA 

H
W

Y
FO

X 
H

O
LL

O
W

 R
D

LORANE HW
Y

C
O

BU
R

G 
R

D

HAYDEN BRIDGE RD

BEACON DR E

B
E

LT
LI

N
E

   
R

D

CLEAR LAKE RD

N
O

R
TH

W
E

S
T 

E
X

P
R

E
S

S
W

AY

W
IL

LA
M

ET
TE 

ST

E 30TH AVE

RO OSE VELT BLVD

WILLOW CREEK RD

B
A

IL
E

Y
 H

IL
L 

R
D

CENTENNIAL BLVD

NORTHW
EST EXPRESSWAY

C
O

B
U

R
G 

R
D

HWY 58

SPR
IN

G
FIELD 

- CR
ESW

ELL 
H

W
Y

G
IM

PL 

HILL RD

MCKENZIE VIEW DRIVE

IRVING RD

ROYAL AVE

CREST DR

CRESCENT DR

I-105

HORN

BEACON DR W

W 13TH AVE

W 11TH AVE

W 29TH AVE

ND

ND

ND
ND

ND
ND

ND
ND

ND

ND NDNDND

0 7,000
Feet

±
The information on this map was derived from digital
databases on Lane Council of Governments' regional
geographic information system.  Care was taken in
the creation of this map, but it is provided "as is".
LCOG cannot accept any responsibility for errors,
omissions, or positional accuracy in the digital data
or the underlying records.  Current plan designation,
zoning, etc., for specific parcels should be confirmed
with the appropriate governmental entity - Eugene,
Springfield, or Lane County - with responsibility for
planning and development of the parcel.  There are no
warranties, express or implied, accompanying this product.
However, notification of any errors will be appreciated.

Eugene-Springfield
Metropolitan Area

General Plan
Plan Diagram

(The interpretation and purpose of the Plan Diagram, and descriptions
   of the land uses and symbols shown, are contained in Chapter II-G.)

Urban Growth Boundary

Metro Plan Boundary

Railroads

Rivers and Ponds

Overlays:

Mixed Use Areas

Nodal Development Area

Willamette Greenway

Low Density Residential

Medium Density Residential

High Density Residential

Nodal Development

Commercial

Major Retail Center

Heavy Industrial

Special Heavy Industrial

Light Medium Industrial

Campus Industrial

University Research

Government & Education

Parks and Open Space

Natural Resource

Sand and Gravel

Agriculture

Forest Land

Rural Residential

Rural Commercial

Rural Industrial

Airport Reserve

12/31/2010

ND

VALID AT 11x17 SCALE ONLY

PeaceHealth
EXHIBIT D - Plan Map

6/22/23
N

EXISTING PLAN DESIGNATION - Campus Industrial

PROPOSED PLAN DESIGNATION - Commercial 10005000 2000
Feet

scale  1” = 2000’

E ST
58

TH 
ST

48
TH 

S
T

CROW 
RD 42

N
D 

S T

O
A

KW
AY 

R
D

R
IVER 

R
D

HW
Y 

99 
N

S
EN

E C
A 

R
D

R
IVER 

R
D

JASPER RD

G
AT

EW
AY 

ST

C
H

A
M

B
ER

S 
ST

I- 5

I -5

BE
R

T E
LS

EN 
R

D

I- 5

PA
R

K 
A V

E 
N

I- 5

TE
R

R
Y

G
AM

E 
FAR

M 
R

D 
N

EC
H

O
 H

O
LL

O
W

 R
D

D
A

N
E

BO

3 5
T H 

S
T

W 11TH AVE

RD

AG
A T

E

W 5TH AVE

BELTLINE RD

CHAD

W 1ST AVE

W 7TH AVE

W 11TH AVE THURSTON RD

E 
AM

AZO
N 

D
R

H
E

N
D

ER
S O

N

W
IL

LA
M

E T
T E 

S
T

MAXWELL RD

ROYAL AVE

SPRIN
G

5T
H 

S
T

D
EL

TA 
H

W
Y

GO
N

YE
A

CREST DR

ISLAND

PARK

31
S

T 
S

T

1 9
TH 

S
T

W D ST

E 40TH

G
AR

D
E

N 
W

A Y

BELTLINE RD

32
N

D 
S

T

D
O

N
A L

D 
ST

28
T H 

S
T

E 30TH AVE

E 33RD AVE

JE
FF

ER
SO

N 
S T

HARLOW RD

W 28TH AVE

31ST ST

E 18TH AVE

E 43RD AVE

E 24TH AVE

COBURG 
RD

W 18TH AVE

AIRPORT RD

C
IT

Y 
V

IE
W 

ST

H
IL

YA
R

D 
ST

W 6TH AVE

G
R

E
E N 

H
IL

L 
R

D

GREEN ACRES

MAIN ST
MAIN ST

IRVINGTON DR

DILLARD 

RD

W 7TH AVE

B
AI

LE
Y 

H
IL

L 
R

D

G
O

O
DP

ASTURE

G
R

EE
N 

H
IL

L 
R

D

M
AR

CO
LA 

RDG
AM

E 
FA

R
M 

R
D

COMMERCIAL ST

AG
AT

E 
S

T

N
O

R
K E

N
ZI

E 
R

D

M
OHA

W
K 

BL
VD

G
AR

F I
E

L D 
S

T

AM
A

ZO
N PKWY

HW
Y 

99 
N

SPENCER CREEK RD

P
R

AIR
IE 

R
D

PA
T T

ER
SO

N 
ST

FR
AN

KL IN 
BLV

D

BARGER AVE

McKENZIE HWY

CAMP CREEK RD

W
IL

L A
G

IL
LE

SP
IE

W 
AM

AZO
N 

D
R

CAL YOUNG RD

HAYDEN  BRIDGE RD

PIO
N

E
ER

 PK
W

Y

EUG-SPR HWY

AWBREY LN

FRANKLIN BLVD

N. 
DE

LT
A 

HW
Y

FO
X 

H
O

LL
O

W
 R

D

LORANE HW
Y

CO
BUR

G 
RD

HAYDEN BRIDGE RD

BEACON DR E

BE
LT

LI
N

E
   

R
D

CLEAR LAKE RD

N
O

RTH
W

EST 
EXPR

ESSW
AY

W
IL

LA
M

ET
TE 

ST

E 30TH AVE

RO OSE VELT BLVD

WILLOW CREEK RD

BA
IL

E
Y 

H
IL

L 
R

D

CENTENNIAL BLVD

NORTHWEST EXPRESSWAY

C
O

BU
RG 

RD

HWY 58

SPRING
FIELD 

- CRESW
ELL 

HW
Y

G
IM

PL 

HILL RD

MCKENZIE VIEW DRIVE

IRVING RD

ROYAL AVE

CREST DR

CRESCENT DR

I-105

HORN

BEACON DR W

W 13TH AVE

W 11TH AVE

W 29TH AVE

ND

ND

ND
ND

ND
ND

ND
ND

ND

ND NDNDND

0 7,000
Feet

±
The information on this map was derived from digital
databases on Lane Council of Governments' regional
geographic information system.  Care was taken in
the creation of this map, but it is provided "as is".
LCOG cannot accept any responsibility for errors,
omissions, or positional accuracy in the digital data
or the underlying records.  Current plan designation,
zoning, etc., for specific parcels should be confirmed
with the appropriate governmental entity - Eugene,
Springfield, or Lane County - with responsibility for
planning and development of the parcel.  There are no
warranties, express or implied, accompanying this product.
However, notification of any errors will be appreciated.

Eugene-Springfield
Metropolitan Area

General Plan
Plan Diagram

(The interpretation and purpose of the Plan Diagram, and descriptions
   of the land uses and symbols shown, are contained in Chapter II-G.)

Urban Growth Boundary

Metro Plan Boundary

Railroads

Rivers and Ponds

Overlays:

Mixed Use Areas

Nodal Development Area

Willamette Greenway

Low Density Residential

Medium Density Residential

High Density Residential

Nodal Development

Commercial

Major Retail Center

Heavy Industrial

Special Heavy Industrial

Light Medium Industrial

Campus Industrial

University Research

Government & Education

Parks and Open Space

Natural Resource

Sand and Gravel

Agriculture

Forest Land

Rural Residential

Rural Commercial

Rural Industrial

Airport Reserve

12/31/2010

ND

VALID AT 11x17 SCALE ONLY

Subject 
Property

E ST

58
T

H 
S

T

48
T

H 
S

T

CROW 
RD 42

N
D 

S
T

O
A

K
W

AY 
R

D

R
IV

E
R 

R
D

HW
Y 

99 
N

S
E

N
E

C
A 

R
D

R
IV

E
R 

R
D

JASPER RD

G
A

TE
W

AY 
S

T

C
H

A
M

B
E

R
S 

S
T

I- 5

I -
5

B
E

R
T E

LS
E

N 
R

D

I- 5

P
A

R
K 

A V
E 

N

I-
5

TE
R

R
Y

G
AM

E 
FAR

M 
R

D 
N

E
C

H
O

 H
O

LL
O

W
 R

D

D
A

N
E

B
O

3 5
T H 

S
T

W 11TH AVE

RD

A
G

A T
E

W 5TH AVE

BELTLINE RD

CHAD

W 1ST AVE

W 7TH AVE

W 11TH AVE THURSTON RD

E 
A

M
A

ZO
N 

D
R

H
E

N
D

E
R

S
O

N

W
IL

LA
M

E
T

T E 
S

T

MAXWELL RD

ROYAL AVE

SPRIN
G

5T
H 

S
T

D
EL

TA 
H

W
Y

G
O

N
Y

E
A

CREST DR

ISLAND

PARK

31
S

T 
S

T

1 9
T

H 
S

T
W D ST

E 40TH

G
A

R
D

E
N 

W
A Y

BELTLINE RD

32
N

D 
S

T

D
O

N
A

LD 
S

T

28
T

H 
S

T

E 30TH AVE

E 33RD AVE

JE
F

FE
R

S
O

N 
S

T

HARLOW RD

W 28TH AVE

31ST ST

E 18TH AVE

E 43RD AVE

E 24TH AVE

COBURG 
RD

W 18TH AVE

AIRPORT RD

C
IT

Y 
V

IE
W 

S
T

H
IL

YA
R

D 
S

T

W 6TH AVE

G
R

E
E

N 
H

IL
L 

R
D

GREEN ACRES

MAIN ST
MAIN ST

IRVINGTON DR

DILLARD 
RD

W 7TH AVE

B
A

I L
E

Y 
H

IL
L 

R
D

G
O

O
DP

ASTURE

G
R

E
E

N 
H

IL
L 

R
D

M
AR

C
O

LA 
R

D

G
A

M
E 

FA
R

M 
R

D

COMMERCIAL ST

A
G

AT
E 

S
T

N
O

R
K

E
N

Z
I E 

R
D

M
O

HA
W

K 
BL

VD

G
A

R
F I

E
L D 

S
T

A
M

A
ZO

N
 PKW

Y

H
W

Y 
99 

N

SPENCER CREEK RD

P
R

A
IR

IE 
R

D

PA
T T

E
R

S
O

N 
S

T

FR
A

N
K

L IN 
B

LV
D

BARGER AVE

McKENZIE HWY

CAMP CREEK RD

W
IL

L A
G

IL
LE

S
P

IE

W 
A

M
A

ZO
N 

D
R

CAL YOUNG RD

HAYDEN  BRIDGE RD

P
IO

N
E

E
R

 P
K

W
Y

EUG-SPR HWY

AWBREY LN

FRANKLIN BLVD

N. 
D

EL
TA 

H
W

Y
FO

X 
H

O
LL

O
W

 R
D

LORANE HW
Y

C
O

BU
R

G 
R

D

HAYDEN BRIDGE RD

BEACON DR E

B
E

LT
LI

N
E

   
R

D

CLEAR LAKE RD

N
O

R
TH

W
E

S
T 

E
X

P
R

E
S

S
W

AY

W
IL

LA
M

ET
TE 

ST

E 30TH AVE

RO OSE VELT BLVD

WILLOW CREEK RD

B
A

IL
E

Y
 H

IL
L 

R
D

CENTENNIAL BLVD

NORTHW
EST EXPRESSWAY

C
O

B
U

R
G 

R
D

HWY 58

SPR
IN

G
FIELD 

- CR
ESW

ELL 
H

W
Y

G
IM

PL 

HILL RD

MCKENZIE VIEW DRIVE

IRVING RD

ROYAL AVE

CREST DR

CRESCENT DR

I-105

HORN

BEACON DR W

W 13TH AVE

W 11TH AVE

W 29TH AVE

ND

ND

ND
ND

ND
ND

ND
ND

ND

ND NDNDND

0 7,000
Feet

±
The information on this map was derived from digital
databases on Lane Council of Governments' regional
geographic information system.  Care was taken in
the creation of this map, but it is provided "as is".
LCOG cannot accept any responsibility for errors,
omissions, or positional accuracy in the digital data
or the underlying records.  Current plan designation,
zoning, etc., for specific parcels should be confirmed
with the appropriate governmental entity - Eugene,
Springfield, or Lane County - with responsibility for
planning and development of the parcel.  There are no
warranties, express or implied, accompanying this product.
However, notification of any errors will be appreciated.

Eugene-Springfield
Metropolitan Area

General Plan
Plan Diagram

(The interpretation and purpose of the Plan Diagram, and descriptions
   of the land uses and symbols shown, are contained in Chapter II-G.)

Urban Growth Boundary

Metro Plan Boundary

Railroads

Rivers and Ponds

Overlays:

Mixed Use Areas

Nodal Development Area

Willamette Greenway

Low Density Residential

Medium Density Residential

High Density Residential

Nodal Development

Commercial

Major Retail Center

Heavy Industrial

Special Heavy Industrial

Light Medium Industrial

Campus Industrial

University Research

Government & Education

Parks and Open Space

Natural Resource

Sand and Gravel

Agriculture

Forest Land

Rural Residential

Rural Commercial

Rural Industrial

Airport Reserve

12/31/2010

ND

VALID AT 11x17 SCALE ONLY

E ST

58
T

H 
S

T

48
T

H 
S

T

CROW 
RD 42

N
D 

S
T

O
A

K
W

AY 
R

D

R
IV

E
R 

R
D

HW
Y 

99 
N

S
E

N
E

C
A 

R
D

R
IV

E
R 

R
D

JASPER RD

G
A

TE
W

AY 
S

T

C
H

A
M

B
E

R
S 

S
T

I- 5

I -
5

B
E

R
T E

LS
E

N 
R

D

I- 5

P
A

R
K 

A V
E 

N

I-
5

TE
R

R
Y

G
AM

E 
FAR

M 
R

D 
N

E
C

H
O

 H
O

LL
O

W
 R

D

D
A

N
E

B
O

3 5
T H 

S
T

W 11TH AVE

RD

A
G

A T
E

W 5TH AVE

BELTLINE RD

CHAD

W 1ST AVE

W 7TH AVE

W 11TH AVE THURSTON RD

E 
A

M
A

ZO
N 

D
R

H
E

N
D

E
R

S
O

N

W
IL

LA
M

E
T

T E 
S

T

MAXWELL RD

ROYAL AVE

SPRIN
G

5T
H 

S
T

D
EL

TA 
H

W
Y

G
O

N
Y

E
A

CREST DR

ISLAND

PARK

31
S

T 
S

T

1 9
T

H 
S

T

W D ST

E 40TH

G
A

R
D

E
N 

W
A Y

BELTLINE RD

32
N

D 
S

T

D
O

N
A

LD 
S

T

28
T

H 
S

T

E 30TH AVE

E 33RD AVE

JE
F

FE
R

S
O

N 
S

T

HARLOW RD

W 28TH AVE

31ST ST

E 18TH AVE

E 43RD AVE

E 24TH AVE

COBURG 
RD

W 18TH AVE

AIRPORT RD

C
IT

Y 
V

IE
W 

S
T

H
IL

YA
R

D 
S

T

W 6TH AVE

G
R

E
E

N 
H

IL
L 

R
D

GREEN ACRES

MAIN ST
MAIN ST

IRVINGTON DR

DILLARD 
RD

W 7TH AVE

B
A

I L
E

Y 
H

IL
L 

R
D

G
O

O
DP

ASTURE

G
R

E
E

N 
H

IL
L 

R
D

M
AR

C
O

LA 
R

D

G
A

M
E 

FA
R

M 
R

D

COMMERCIAL ST

A
G

AT
E 

S
T

N
O

R
K

E
N

Z
I E 

R
D

M
O

HA
W

K 
BL

VD

G
A

R
F I

E
L D 

S
T

A
M

A
ZO

N
 PKW

Y

H
W

Y 
99 

N

SPENCER CREEK RD

P
R

A
IR

IE 
R

D

PA
T T

E
R

S
O

N 
S

T

FR
A

N
K

L IN 
B

LV
D

BARGER AVE

McKENZIE HWY

CAMP CREEK RD

W
IL

L A
G

IL
LE

S
P

IE

W 
A

M
A

ZO
N 

D
R

CAL YOUNG RD

HAYDEN  BRIDGE RD

P
IO

N
E

E
R

 P
K

W
Y

EUG-SPR HWY

AWBREY LN

FRANKLIN BLVD

N. 
D

EL
TA 

H
W

Y
FO

X 
H

O
LL

O
W

 R
D

LORANE HW
Y

C
O

BU
R

G 
R

D

HAYDEN BRIDGE RD

BEACON DR E

B
E

LT
LI

N
E

   
R

D

CLEAR LAKE RD

N
O

R
TH

W
E

S
T 

E
X

P
R

E
S

S
W

AY

W
IL

LA
M

ET
TE 

ST

E 30TH AVE

RO OSE VELT BLVD

WILLOW CREEK RD

B
A

IL
E

Y
 H

IL
L 

R
D

CENTENNIAL BLVD

NORTHW
EST EXPRESSWAY

C
O

B
U

R
G 

R
D

HWY 58

SPR
IN

G
FIELD 

- CR
ESW

ELL 
H

W
Y

G
IM

PL 

HILL RD

MCKENZIE VIEW DRIVE

IRVING RD

ROYAL AVE

CREST DR

CRESCENT DR

I-105

HORN

BEACON DR W

W 13TH AVE

W 11TH AVE

W 29TH AVE

ND

ND

ND
ND

ND
ND

ND
ND

ND

ND NDNDND

0 7,000
Feet

±
The information on this map was derived from digital
databases on Lane Council of Governments' regional
geographic information system.  Care was taken in
the creation of this map, but it is provided "as is".
LCOG cannot accept any responsibility for errors,
omissions, or positional accuracy in the digital data
or the underlying records.  Current plan designation,
zoning, etc., for specific parcels should be confirmed
with the appropriate governmental entity - Eugene,
Springfield, or Lane County - with responsibility for
planning and development of the parcel.  There are no
warranties, express or implied, accompanying this product.
However, notification of any errors will be appreciated.

Eugene-Springfield
Metropolitan Area

General Plan
Plan Diagram

(The interpretation and purpose of the Plan Diagram, and descriptions
   of the land uses and symbols shown, are contained in Chapter II-G.)

Urban Growth Boundary

Metro Plan Boundary

Railroads

Rivers and Ponds

Overlays:

Mixed Use Areas

Nodal Development Area

Willamette Greenway

Low Density Residential

Medium Density Residential

High Density Residential

Nodal Development

Commercial

Major Retail Center

Heavy Industrial

Special Heavy Industrial

Light Medium Industrial

Campus Industrial

University Research

Government & Education

Parks and Open Space

Natural Resource

Sand and Gravel

Agriculture

Forest Land

Rural Residential

Rural Commercial

Rural Industrial

Airport Reserve

12/31/2010

ND

VALID AT 11x17 SCALE ONLY

E ST

58
T

H 
S

T

48
T

H 
S

T

CROW 
RD 42

N
D 

S
T

O
A

K
W

AY 
R

D

R
IV

E
R 

R
D

HW
Y 

99 
N

S
E

N
E

C
A 

R
D

R
IV

E
R 

R
D

JASPER RD

G
A

TE
W

AY 
S

T

C
H

A
M

B
E

R
S 

S
T

I- 5

I -
5

B
E

R
T E

LS
E

N 
R

D

I- 5

P
A

R
K 

A V
E 

N

I-
5

TE
R

R
Y

G
AM

E 
FAR

M 
R

D 
N

E
C

H
O

 H
O

LL
O

W
 R

D

D
A

N
E

B
O

3 5
T H 

S
T

W 11TH AVE

RD

A
G

A T
E

W 5TH AVE

BELTLINE RD

CHAD

W 1ST AVE

W 7TH AVE

W 11TH AVE THURSTON RD

E 
A

M
A

ZO
N 

D
R

H
E

N
D

E
R

S
O

N

W
IL

LA
M

E
T

T E 
S

T

MAXWELL RD

ROYAL AVE

SPRIN
G

5T
H 

S
T

D
EL

TA 
H

W
Y

G
O

N
Y

E
A

CREST DR

ISLAND

PARK

31
S

T 
S

T

1 9
T

H 
S

T

W D ST

E 40TH

G
A

R
D

E
N 

W
A Y

BELTLINE RD

32
N

D 
S

T

D
O

N
A

LD 
S

T

28
T

H 
S

T

E 30TH AVE

E 33RD AVE

JE
F

FE
R

S
O

N 
S

T

HARLOW RD

W 28TH AVE

31ST ST

E 18TH AVE

E 43RD AVE

E 24TH AVE

COBURG 
RD

W 18TH AVE

AIRPORT RD

C
IT

Y 
V

IE
W 

S
T

H
IL

YA
R

D 
S

T

W 6TH AVE

G
R

E
E

N 
H

IL
L 

R
D

GREEN ACRES

MAIN ST
MAIN ST

IRVINGTON DR

DILLARD 
RD

W 7TH AVE

B
A

I L
E

Y 
H

IL
L 

R
D

G
O

O
DP

ASTURE

G
R

E
E

N 
H

IL
L 

R
D

M
AR

C
O

LA 
R

D

G
A

M
E 

FA
R

M 
R

D

COMMERCIAL ST

A
G

AT
E 

S
T

N
O

R
K

E
N

Z
I E 

R
D

M
O

HA
W

K 
BL

VD

G
A

R
F I

E
L D 

S
T

A
M

A
ZO

N
 PKW

Y

H
W

Y 
99 

N

SPENCER CREEK RD

P
R

A
IR

IE 
R

D

PA
T T

E
R

S
O

N 
S

T

FR
A

N
K

L IN 
B

LV
D

BARGER AVE

McKENZIE HWY

CAMP CREEK RD

W
IL

L A
G

IL
LE

S
P

IE

W 
A

M
A

ZO
N 

D
R

CAL YOUNG RD

HAYDEN  BRIDGE RD

P
IO

N
E

E
R

 P
K

W
Y

EUG-SPR HWY

AWBREY LN

FRANKLIN BLVD

N. 
D

EL
TA 

H
W

Y
FO

X 
H

O
LL

O
W

 R
D

LORANE HW
Y

C
O

BU
R

G 
R

D

HAYDEN BRIDGE RD

BEACON DR E

B
E

LT
LI

N
E

   
R

D

CLEAR LAKE RD

N
O

R
TH

W
E

S
T 

E
X

P
R

E
S

S
W

AY

W
IL

LA
M

ET
TE 

ST

E 30TH AVE

RO OSE VELT BLVD

WILLOW CREEK RD

B
A

IL
E

Y
 H

IL
L 

R
D

CENTENNIAL BLVD

NORTHW
EST EXPRESSWAY

C
O

B
U

R
G 

R
D

HWY 58

SPR
IN

G
FIELD 

- CR
ESW

ELL 
H

W
Y

G
IM

PL 

HILL RD

MCKENZIE VIEW DRIVE

IRVING RD

ROYAL AVE

CREST DR

CRESCENT DR

I-105

HORN

BEACON DR W

W 13TH AVE

W 11TH AVE

W 29TH AVE

ND

ND

ND
ND

ND
ND

ND
ND

ND

ND NDNDND

0 7,000
Feet

±
The information on this map was derived from digital
databases on Lane Council of Governments' regional
geographic information system.  Care was taken in
the creation of this map, but it is provided "as is".
LCOG cannot accept any responsibility for errors,
omissions, or positional accuracy in the digital data
or the underlying records.  Current plan designation,
zoning, etc., for specific parcels should be confirmed
with the appropriate governmental entity - Eugene,
Springfield, or Lane County - with responsibility for
planning and development of the parcel.  There are no
warranties, express or implied, accompanying this product.
However, notification of any errors will be appreciated.

Eugene-Springfield
Metropolitan Area

General Plan
Plan Diagram

(The interpretation and purpose of the Plan Diagram, and descriptions
   of the land uses and symbols shown, are contained in Chapter II-G.)

Urban Growth Boundary

Metro Plan Boundary

Railroads

Rivers and Ponds

Overlays:

Mixed Use Areas

Nodal Development Area

Willamette Greenway

Low Density Residential

Medium Density Residential

High Density Residential

Nodal Development

Commercial

Major Retail Center

Heavy Industrial

Special Heavy Industrial

Light Medium Industrial

Campus Industrial

University Research

Government & Education

Parks and Open Space

Natural Resource

Sand and Gravel

Agriculture

Forest Land

Rural Residential

Rural Commercial

Rural Industrial

Airport Reserve

12/31/2010

ND

VALID AT 11x17 SCALE ONLYSubject 
Property

Attachment 4 Page 24 of 24 



 
BEFORE THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF SPRINGFIELD, OREGON 

ORDER AND RECOMMENDATION FOR: 
 
TYPE I AMENDMENT TO THE EUGENE-SPRINGFIELD METROPOLITAN AREA GENERAL PLAN    ] 811-23-000182-TYP4 
(METRO PLAN) DIAGRAM AND GATEWAY REFINEMENT PLAN TO REDESIGNATE   ] 
APPROXIMATELY 4.99 ACRES OF LAND IDENTIFIED AS ASSESSOR’S MAP 17-03-15-40,   ] 
TAX LOT 1000 AND PORTIONS OF TAX LOTS 800, 900 AND 1100 FROM CAMPUS INDUSTRIAL (CI)  ] 
TO COMMUNITY COMMERCIAL (CC)   ] 
 
NATURE OF THE PROPOSAL 
Type I amendment to the Metro Plan diagram:   
 
▪ Redesignate approximately 4.99 acres of property located at the northeast corner of the intersection of Game Farm 

Road and Maple Island Road (Map 17-03-15-40, Tax Lot 1000 and portions of Tax Lots 800, 900 and 1100) from 
Campus Industrial to Commercial (C).  The subject property is generally depicted and more particularly described in 
Exhibit A to this Order. 

▪ Concurrently amend the Gateway Refinement Plan to redesignate the same approximately 4.99 acres of property 
from Campus Industrial to Community Commercial (CC).  The subject property is generally depicted and more 
particularly described in Exhibit A to this Order. 
 

Timely and sufficient notice of the public hearing has been provided, pursuant to Springfield Development Code  
5.1.425–5.1.440.  Notice was sent to the Department of Land Conservation and Development on October 2, 2023, not 
less than 35 days prior to the first evidentiary hearing in compliance with OAR 660-018-0020. 
 
On November 7, 2023, the Springfield Planning Commission held a public hearing on the proposed Metro Plan diagram 
and concurrent Gateway Refinement Plan diagram amendments which are being processed as a Type 3 Application per 
SDC 5.1.420.  The staff report, written comments, and testimony of those who spoke at the public hearing were entered 
into the record.  
 
CONCLUSION 
On the basis of this record, the Commission finds that the proposed Type I Metro Plan diagram amendment and 
concurrent Refinement Plan diagram amendment is consistent with the criteria of approval in SDC 5.14.135.  This 
general finding is supported by the specific findings of fact and conclusions as stated in the staff report and 
recommendations attached hereto as Exhibit B to this Order. 
     
ORDER/RECOMMENDATION 
The Springfield Planning Commission orders a RECOMMENDATION for approval of file number 811-23-000182-TYP4 be 
forwarded to the Springfield City Council for consideration at an upcoming public hearing. 
 
 
 

        
         

 
 

    
   

  
 

 
 
 
 

____________________
Date  11/7/23

____________________________
Planning Commission Chairperson

ATTEST
AYES: 4
NOES:  0
ABSENT: 2
ABSTAIN:

DigiSign Verified - 97049f73-40c5-4414-bf2d-7058f768a360

Isaac Rhoads-Dey 12/04/2023

Attachment 5, Page 1 of 3



EXHIBIT A 
PROPERTY REDESIGNATED FROM CAMPUS INDUSTRIAL TO COMMUNITY COMMERCIAL 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Deadmond Ferry Road Game Farm Road 

International Way 

M
ap

le
 Is

la
nd

 R
oa

d 

SITE 

DigiSign Verified - 97049f73-40c5-4414-bf2d-7058f768a360

Attachment 5, Page 2 of 3



LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
BEGINNING AT A 5/8-INCH REBAR FOUND; THENCE NORTH 88 DEGREES 16 MINUTES 33 SECONDS 
WEST, A DISTANCE OF 237.55 FEET, MORE OR LESS TO A 5/8-INCH REBAR WITH YELLOW PLASTIC 
CAP INSCRIBED " LS2609" FOUND; THENCE NORTH 88 DEGREES 16 MINUTES 19 SECONDS WEST, A 
DISTANCE OF 22.10 FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE NORTH 63 DEGREES 55 MINUTES 41 SECONDS 
WEST, A DISTANCE OF 18.74 FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE NORTH 60 DEGREES 32 MINUTES 51 
SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 35.25 FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE WITH A CURVE TO THE 
RIGHT, HAVING AN ARC LENGTH OF 45.62 FEET, WITH A RADIUS OF 70.00 FEET, HAVING A CHORD 
BEARING OF NORTH 40 DEGREES 11 MINUTES 6 SECONDS WEST, AND WITH A CHORD LENGTH OF 
44.82 FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE WITH A COMPOUND CURVE TO THE RIGHT, HAVING AN ARC 
LENGTH OF 35.40 FEET, WITH A RADIUS OF 270.00 FEET, HAVING A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 15 
DEGREES 1 MINUTE 0 SECONDS WEST, AND WITH A CHORD LENGTH OF 35.37 FEET, MORE OR 
LESS TO A BENT 1/2-INCH REBAR FOUND; THENCE NORTH 1 DEGREE 47 MINUTES 9 SECONDS 
EAST, A DISTANCE OF 311.51 FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE WITH A CURVE TO THE RIGHT, 
HAVING AN ARC LENGTH OF 41.75 FEET, WITH A RADIUS OF 100.00 FEET, HAVING A CHORD 
BEARING OF NORTH 31 DEGREES 14 MINUTES 21 SECONDS EAST, AND WITH A CHORD LENGTH OF 
41.45 FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE WITH A REVERSE CURVE TO THE LEFT, HAVING AN ARC 
LENGTH OF 74.47 FEET, WITH A RADIUS OF 60.00 FEET, HAVING A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 1 
DEGREE 32 MINUTES 5 SECONDS EAST, AND WITH A CHORD LENGTH OF 69.78 FEET, MORE OR 
LESS; THENCE SOUTH 88 DEGREES 12 MINUTES 51 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 414.32 FEET, 
MORE OR LESS; THENCE SOUTH 1 DEGREE 47 MINUTES 10 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 523.27 
FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE NORTH 88 DEGREES 16 MINUTES 33 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE 
OF 66.30 FEET, MORE OR LESS TO A 5/8-INCH REBAR WITH YELLOW PLASTIC CAP INSCRIBED 
"LS2609" FOUND; THENCE NORTH 51 DEGREES 18 MINUTES 18 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 
24.94 FEET, MORE OR LESS TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, AND CONTAINING AN AREA OF 217,364 
SQUARE FEET, OR 4.99 ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 
 
BEARINGS IN THE DESCRIPTIONS ABOVE ARE BASED ON OREGON STATE PLANE COORDINATES, 
SOUTH ZONE, NAD - 83, INTERNATIONAL FOOT. 

DigiSign Verified - 97049f73-40c5-4414-bf2d-7058f768a360

Attachment 5, Page 3 of 3



BEFORE THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF SPRINGFIELD, OREGON 
ORDER AND RECOMMENDATION FOR: 

 
AMENDMENT TO THE SPRINGFIELD ZONING MAP TO REZONE APPROXIMATELY 4.99 ACRES    ] 811-23-000181-TYP3 
OF LAND IDENTIFIED AS ASSESSOR’S MAP 17-03-15-40, TAX LOT 1000 AND PORTIONS OF   ] 
TAX LOTS 800, 900 AND 1100 FROM CAMPUS INDUSTRIAL (CI) TO MEDICAL SERVICES (MS)   ] 
 
NATURE OF THE PROPOSAL 
Proposed amendments to the Springfield Zoning Map:   
 
▪ Rezone approximately 4.99 acres of property located at the northeast corner of the intersection of Game Farm Road 

and Maple Island Road (Map 17-03-15-40, Tax Lot 1000 and portions of Tax Lots 800, 900, and 1100) and the 
abutting public rights-of-way including the full width of Game Farm Road and the eastern one-half of Maple Island 
Road as measured from centerline from Campus Industrial to Medical Services.  The subject property and public 
rights-of-way are generally depicted and more particularly described in Exhibit A to this Order. 

▪ The subject Zoning Map amendment is being processed concurrently with a Metro Plan diagram and concurrent 
Gateway Refinement Plan amendment initiated by Planning Case 811-23-000182-TYP4. 
 

The zone change request was initiated in accordance with provisions of the City’s Development Code.  Timely and 
sufficient notice of the public hearing has been provided, pursuant to SDC 5.1.425–5.1.440.  Notice was sent to the 
Department of Land Conservation and Development on October 2, 2023, not less than 35 days prior to the first 
evidentiary hearing in compliance with OAR 660-018-0020. 
 
On November 7, 2023, the Springfield Planning Commission held a public hearing on the proposed Metro Plan diagram 
amendment, concurrent Gateway Refinement Plan diagram amendment and Zoning Map amendment.  The staff report, 
recommended conditions of approval, written comments, and testimony of those who spoke at the public hearing were 
entered into the record.  
 
CONCLUSION 
On the basis of this record, as conditioned herein the proposed Zoning Map amendment is consistent with the criteria of 
approval in SDC 5.22.115.  This general finding is supported by the specific findings of fact and conclusions as stated in 
the staff report, recommendations and conditions of approval attached hereto as Exhibit B to this Order. 
         
ORDER/RECOMMENDATION 
The Springfield Planning Commission orders a RECOMMENDATION for approval of file number 811-23-000181-TYP3 be 
forwarded to the Springfield City Council for consideration at an upcoming public hearing. 
 
 
 

        
         

 
 

    
   

  
  

____________________
Date   11/7/23

____________________________
Planning Commission Chairperson

ATTEST
AYES: 4
NOES:  0
ABSENT: 2
ABSTAIN:

DigiSign Verified - 97049f73-40c5-4414-bf2d-7058f768a360

12/04/2023Isaac Rhoads-Dey

Attachment 6, Page 1 of 6



EXHIBIT A 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC RIGHTS-OF-WAY REZONED FROM CAMPUS INDUSTRIAL TO MEDICAL SERVICES 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Deadmond Ferry Road Game Farm Road 

International Way 

SITE 

DigiSign Verified - 97049f73-40c5-4414-bf2d-7058f768a360

Attachment 6, Page 2 of 6



LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
BEGINNING AT A 5/8-INCH REBAR FOUND; THENCE NORTH 88 DEGREES 16 MINUTES 33 SECONDS 
WEST, A DISTANCE OF 237.55 FEET, MORE OR LESS TO A 5/8-INCH REBAR WITH YELLOW PLASTIC 
CAP INSCRIBED " LS2609" FOUND; THENCE NORTH 88 DEGREES 16 MINUTES 19 SECONDS WEST, A 
DISTANCE OF 22.10 FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE NORTH 63 DEGREES 55 MINUTES 41 SECONDS 
WEST, A DISTANCE OF 18.74 FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE NORTH 60 DEGREES 32 MINUTES 51 
SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 35.25 FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE WITH A CURVE TO THE 
RIGHT, HAVING AN ARC LENGTH OF 45.62 FEET, WITH A RADIUS OF 70.00 FEET, HAVING A CHORD 
BEARING OF NORTH 40 DEGREES 11 MINUTES 6 SECONDS WEST, AND WITH A CHORD LENGTH OF 
44.82 FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE WITH A COMPOUND CURVE TO THE RIGHT, HAVING AN ARC 
LENGTH OF 35.40 FEET, WITH A RADIUS OF 270.00 FEET, HAVING A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 15 
DEGREES 1 MINUTE 0 SECONDS WEST, AND WITH A CHORD LENGTH OF 35.37 FEET, MORE OR 
LESS TO A BENT 1/2-INCH REBAR FOUND; THENCE NORTH 1 DEGREE 47 MINUTES 9 SECONDS 
EAST, A DISTANCE OF 311.51 FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE WITH A CURVE TO THE RIGHT, 
HAVING AN ARC LENGTH OF 41.75 FEET, WITH A RADIUS OF 100.00 FEET, HAVING A CHORD 
BEARING OF NORTH 31 DEGREES 14 MINUTES 21 SECONDS EAST, AND WITH A CHORD LENGTH OF 
41.45 FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE WITH A REVERSE CURVE TO THE LEFT, HAVING AN ARC 
LENGTH OF 74.47 FEET, WITH A RADIUS OF 60.00 FEET, HAVING A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 1 
DEGREE 32 MINUTES 5 SECONDS EAST, AND WITH A CHORD LENGTH OF 69.78 FEET, MORE OR 
LESS; THENCE SOUTH 88 DEGREES 12 MINUTES 51 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 414.32 FEET, 
MORE OR LESS; THENCE SOUTH 1 DEGREE 47 MINUTES 10 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 523.27 
FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE NORTH 88 DEGREES 16 MINUTES 33 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE 
OF 66.30 FEET, MORE OR LESS TO A 5/8-INCH REBAR WITH YELLOW PLASTIC CAP INSCRIBED 
"LS2609" FOUND; THENCE NORTH 51 DEGREES 18 MINUTES 18 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 
24.94 FEET, MORE OR LESS TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, AND CONTAINING AN AREA OF 217,364 
SQUARE FEET, OR 4.99 ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 
 
BEARINGS IN THE DESCRIPTIONS ABOVE ARE BASED ON OREGON STATE PLANE COORDINATES, 
SOUTH ZONE, NAD - 83, INTERNATIONAL FOOT. 
 
ALSO INCLUDING:  THE PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY FOR GAME FARM ROAD BETWEEN THE EASTERN 
BOUNDARY OF THE SUBJECT SITE AND EXTENDING TO THE CENTERLINE OF THE INTERSECTION 
WITH MAPLE ISLAND ROAD; AND 
 
ALSO INCLUDING:  THE EASTERN HALF OF MAPLE ISLAND ROAD PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY AS 
MEASURED FROM CENTERLINE BETWEEN THE INTERSECTION WITH GAME FARM ROAD AND 
EXTENDING TO THE NORTHERN BOUNDARY OF THE SUBJECT SITE. 

 

DigiSign Verified - 97049f73-40c5-4414-bf2d-7058f768a360

Attachment 6, Page 3 of 6



 
BEFORE THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF SPRINGFIELD, OREGON 

ORDER AND RECOMMENDATION FOR: 
 
TYPE I AMENDMENT TO THE EUGENE-SPRINGFIELD METROPOLITAN AREA GENERAL PLAN    ] 811-23-000182-TYP4 
(METRO PLAN) DIAGRAM AND GATEWAY REFINEMENT PLAN TO REDESIGNATE   ] 
APPROXIMATELY 4.99 ACRES OF LAND IDENTIFIED AS ASSESSOR’S MAP 17-03-15-40,   ] 
TAX LOT 1000 AND PORTIONS OF TAX LOTS 800, 900 AND 1100 FROM CAMPUS INDUSTRIAL (CI)  ] 
TO COMMUNITY COMMERCIAL (CC)   ] 
 
NATURE OF THE PROPOSAL 
Type I amendment to the Metro Plan diagram:   
 
▪ Redesignate approximately 4.99 acres of property located at the northeast corner of the intersection of Game Farm 

Road and Maple Island Road (Map 17-03-15-40, Tax Lot 1000 and portions of Tax Lots 800, 900 and 1100) from 
Campus Industrial to Commercial (C).  The subject property is generally depicted and more particularly described in 
Exhibit A to this Order. 

▪ Concurrently amend the Gateway Refinement Plan to redesignate the same approximately 4.99 acres of property 
from Campus Industrial to Community Commercial (CC).  The subject property is generally depicted and more 
particularly described in Exhibit A to this Order. 
 

Timely and sufficient notice of the public hearing has been provided, pursuant to Springfield Development Code  
5.1.425–5.1.440.  Notice was sent to the Department of Land Conservation and Development on October 2, 2023, not 
less than 35 days prior to the first evidentiary hearing in compliance with OAR 660-018-0020. 
 
On November 7, 2023, the Springfield Planning Commission held a public hearing on the proposed Metro Plan diagram 
and concurrent Gateway Refinement Plan diagram amendments which are being processed as a Type 3 Application per 
SDC 5.1.420.  The staff report, written comments, and testimony of those who spoke at the public hearing were entered 
into the record.  
 
CONCLUSION 
On the basis of this record, the Commission finds that the proposed Type I Metro Plan diagram amendment and 
concurrent Refinement Plan diagram amendment is consistent with the criteria of approval in SDC 5.14.135.  This 
general finding is supported by the specific findings of fact and conclusions as stated in the staff report and 
recommendations attached hereto as Exhibit B to this Order. 
     
ORDER/RECOMMENDATION 
The Springfield Planning Commission orders a RECOMMENDATION for approval of file number 811-23-000182-TYP4 be 
forwarded to the Springfield City Council for consideration at an upcoming public hearing. 
 
 
 

        
         

 
 

    
   

  
 

 
 
 
 

____________________
Date  11/7/23

____________________________
Planning Commission Chairperson

ATTEST
AYES: 4
NOES:  0
ABSENT: 2
ABSTAIN:

DigiSign Verified - 97049f73-40c5-4414-bf2d-7058f768a360

Isaac Rhoads-Dey 12/04/2023

Attachment 6, Page 4 of 6



EXHIBIT A 
PROPERTY REDESIGNATED FROM CAMPUS INDUSTRIAL TO COMMUNITY COMMERCIAL 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Deadmond Ferry Road Game Farm Road 

International Way 

M
ap

le
 Is

la
nd

 R
oa

d 

SITE 

DigiSign Verified - 97049f73-40c5-4414-bf2d-7058f768a360

Attachment 6, Page 5 of 6



LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
BEGINNING AT A 5/8-INCH REBAR FOUND; THENCE NORTH 88 DEGREES 16 MINUTES 33 SECONDS 
WEST, A DISTANCE OF 237.55 FEET, MORE OR LESS TO A 5/8-INCH REBAR WITH YELLOW PLASTIC 
CAP INSCRIBED " LS2609" FOUND; THENCE NORTH 88 DEGREES 16 MINUTES 19 SECONDS WEST, A 
DISTANCE OF 22.10 FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE NORTH 63 DEGREES 55 MINUTES 41 SECONDS 
WEST, A DISTANCE OF 18.74 FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE NORTH 60 DEGREES 32 MINUTES 51 
SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 35.25 FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE WITH A CURVE TO THE 
RIGHT, HAVING AN ARC LENGTH OF 45.62 FEET, WITH A RADIUS OF 70.00 FEET, HAVING A CHORD 
BEARING OF NORTH 40 DEGREES 11 MINUTES 6 SECONDS WEST, AND WITH A CHORD LENGTH OF 
44.82 FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE WITH A COMPOUND CURVE TO THE RIGHT, HAVING AN ARC 
LENGTH OF 35.40 FEET, WITH A RADIUS OF 270.00 FEET, HAVING A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 15 
DEGREES 1 MINUTE 0 SECONDS WEST, AND WITH A CHORD LENGTH OF 35.37 FEET, MORE OR 
LESS TO A BENT 1/2-INCH REBAR FOUND; THENCE NORTH 1 DEGREE 47 MINUTES 9 SECONDS 
EAST, A DISTANCE OF 311.51 FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE WITH A CURVE TO THE RIGHT, 
HAVING AN ARC LENGTH OF 41.75 FEET, WITH A RADIUS OF 100.00 FEET, HAVING A CHORD 
BEARING OF NORTH 31 DEGREES 14 MINUTES 21 SECONDS EAST, AND WITH A CHORD LENGTH OF 
41.45 FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE WITH A REVERSE CURVE TO THE LEFT, HAVING AN ARC 
LENGTH OF 74.47 FEET, WITH A RADIUS OF 60.00 FEET, HAVING A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 1 
DEGREE 32 MINUTES 5 SECONDS EAST, AND WITH A CHORD LENGTH OF 69.78 FEET, MORE OR 
LESS; THENCE SOUTH 88 DEGREES 12 MINUTES 51 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 414.32 FEET, 
MORE OR LESS; THENCE SOUTH 1 DEGREE 47 MINUTES 10 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 523.27 
FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE NORTH 88 DEGREES 16 MINUTES 33 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE 
OF 66.30 FEET, MORE OR LESS TO A 5/8-INCH REBAR WITH YELLOW PLASTIC CAP INSCRIBED 
"LS2609" FOUND; THENCE NORTH 51 DEGREES 18 MINUTES 18 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 
24.94 FEET, MORE OR LESS TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, AND CONTAINING AN AREA OF 217,364 
SQUARE FEET, OR 4.99 ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 
 
BEARINGS IN THE DESCRIPTIONS ABOVE ARE BASED ON OREGON STATE PLANE COORDINATES, 
SOUTH ZONE, NAD - 83, INTERNATIONAL FOOT. 

DigiSign Verified - 97049f73-40c5-4414-bf2d-7058f768a360

Attachment 6, Page 6 of 6



I want to comment on the Proposed Comprehensive Plan 
Amendment and Zone Change For 4.99 Acre Vacant Property 
northeast corner of Game Farm Rd and Maple Island Rd (map 17-03-
15-40, Tax Lots 800-110) site context map. 

Planning Files 811-23-000181-TY3 &811-23-000182-TYP 4 

I am a resident of Filbert Grove and live very close to the open 
driveway of the Co-op, where the new plan will affect my home. 

First the provided “context map” is out of date.  
1. South of Deadmond Ferry Road - bottom right on the map – is 

now a very large assisting living building. Which, by the time the 
proposed property is developed, will hold many hundreds of 
residents. And more traffic. 

2. South of Game Farm Road is Filbert Grove Co-operative.  Where 
there are over 70 individual homes.  

So, what does that mean –  
The Game Farm Road will be over crowed with cars backing up 

out to Deadmond Ferry Road, which even today happens making it 
hard to turn left into Filbert Grove.   

And there will be even more disruptive sirens coming to/from 
both this new development and Riverbend Hospital. 

The traffic for the current residents with this development will 
be disruptive and bring more noise pollution to both Filbert Grove 
and the new Assisted Living complex. 

Meaning - Do not make this planned amendment and zone change. It 
will bring much more traffic and the noise will go up exponentially.  

  

Nancy E Fuhrman 

3530 E Game Farm Rd #58 

Springfield, OR 97477 

 

Attachment 7 Page 1 of 1 



 AGENDA  ITEM  SUMMARY Meeting Date:  
 Meeting Type: Regular Meeting 
 Staff Contact/Dept.: Jim Polston/CMO 
 Staff Phone No: 541-726-3781 
 Estimated Time: Consent Calendar 
S P R I N G F I E L D 
C I T Y   C O U N C I L 

Council Goals: Maintain and Improve 
Infrastructure and 
Facilities 

ITEM TITLE: CONTRACT AWARD FOR THE LIBRARY/CITY MANAGER OFFICE 
REMODEL CONTRACT   
 

ACTION 
REQUESTED: 

Authorize the City Manager to sign contract C3541 with Bridgeway Contracting for 
$1,278,206 
 

ISSUE 
STATEMENT: 

Four Bids were received for the remodeling of the Library and City Manager’s 

Office spaces in City Hall. The low bidder withdrew their bid and as a result 
Bridgeway Contracting, the second lowest responsible bid became our low bidder. 
Contract award to Bridgeway Contracting is now necessary to enable work to 
proceed. The work should be completed using the American Rescue Plan Act 
(ARPA) funds received from the Federal government. 
 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 1. Bid Summary 
2. Contract  
 

DISCUSSION/ 
FINANCIAL 
IMPACT: 

There is a need for modernized and more accessible meeting and programming 
space in the library for the teen and children’s area which have reached capacity for 
collections. As part of the ARPA project prioritization Staff recommended 
relocating the City Manager’s office to the currently vacant and former Fire and 
Life Safety admin space to allow the Library to expand into the then vacated CMO 
space. Staff from both the library and CMO have worked with Pivot Architecture 
on the space redesigns and the work was competitively bid.  
 
There are sufficient funds budgeted in Fund 204 01100 7000 650183 and Staff 
recommends Council authorize the City Manager to sign contract C3541 with 
Bridgeway Contracting for 1,278,206, 
 

 

1/29/2024



  

Lowest Responsive Bidder:

PROJECT NO.:  P11017

PROJECT:  City Manager's Office & Library Remodel

1 Base Bid 1  $     1,279,417.00 1,279,417.00$                        $   1,185,475.00 1,185,475.00$        $            870,911.00 870,911.00$                  $     1,260,595.00 1,260,595.00$             

2 Alternate No. 1 1  $         18,327.00 18,327.00$                             $         20,643.00 20,643.00$             $               19,500.00 19,500.00$                     $         18,000.00 18,000.00$                  

3 Alternate No. 2 1  $         24,387.00 Not selected  $         39,144.00 Not selected  $               35,000.00 Not selected  $         17,000.00 Not selected

4 Alternate No. 3 1  $         64,554.00 64,554.00$                             $         72,088.00 72,088.00$             $               45,000.00 45,000.00$                     $         24,000.00 24,000.00$                  

5 Alertnate No. 4 1  $         19,403.00 Not selected  $         17,222.00 Not selected  $               15,000.00 Not selected  $           4,290.00 Not selected

Project Bid Item - Total 1,362,298.00$              1,278,206.00$    935,411.00$       1,302,595.00$      

ITEM NO. Unit Price
Approx. 
Quantity

REVISED - City's Notice of Intent to Award                                                       

as required by ORS 279C.375

 Extended Price 

It is the policy of the City of Springfield to award Contracts to the Responsible Bidder submitting the 

lowest Responsive Bid.  The City of Springfield reserves its right to reject any or all bids not in 

compliance with all prescribed public bidding procedures and requirements, waive minor irregularities 

not affecting substantial rights, and may reject for good cause any or all bids upon a finding of the 

City of Springfield that it is in the best public interest to do so, and accept such bids that in the 

opinion of the Springfield City Council are in the best interest of the City of Springfield.  Please be 

informed that the City intends to award a contract to the Bidder so designated.                                                                                                                                                                                                      

Richards Remodeling Bridgeway Contracting

Unit Price
 Extended 

Price 

Ryan Thomas Construction -     

Bid Withdrawn by Bidder Creative Contracting

SUMMARY OF BIDS RECEIVED:  

 Extended Price Unit Price  Extended Price 

Bridgeway Contracting

Description Unit Price

Attachment 1 Page 1 of 1 



Attachment 2 Page 1 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 2 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 3 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 4 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 5 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 6 of 51 

kskraaz
Typewriter
1/8/2024



Attachment 2 Page 7 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 8 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 9 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 10 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 11 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 12 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 13 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 14 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 15 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 16 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 17 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 18 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 19 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 20 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 21 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 22 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 23 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 24 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 25 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 26 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 27 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 28 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 29 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 30 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 31 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 32 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 33 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 34 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 35 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 36 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 37 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 38 of 51 



SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

INSURER F :

INSURER E :

INSURER D :

INSURER C :

INSURER B :

INSURER A :

NAIC #

NAME:
CONTACT

(A/C, No):
FAX

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

PRODUCER

(A/C, No, Ext):
PHONE

INSURED

REVISION NUMBER:CERTIFICATE NUMBER:COVERAGES

IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

OTHER:

(Per accident)

(Ea accident)

$

$

N / A

SUBR
WVD

ADDL
INSD

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

$

$

$

$PROPERTY DAMAGE

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

AUTOS ONLY

AUTOSAUTOS ONLY
NON-OWNED

SCHEDULEDOWNED

ANY AUTO

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

Y / N

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory in NH)

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below
If yes, describe under

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE

$

$

$

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

ER
OTH-

STATUTE
PER

LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EXP

(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EFF

POLICY NUMBERTYPE OF INSURANCELTR
INSR

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

EXCESS LIAB

UMBRELLA LIAB $EACH OCCURRENCE

$AGGREGATE

$

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

DED RETENTION $

$PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

$GENERAL AGGREGATE

$PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

$MED EXP (Any one person)

$EACH OCCURRENCE
DAMAGE TO RENTED

$PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

POLICY
PRO-
JECT LOC

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

CANCELLATION

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03)

© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

HIRED
AUTOS ONLY

1/4/2024

HUB International Northwest, LLC
PO Box 10167
Eugene OR 97440

Kim Schnetzky
541-687-1117 541-342-8280

kim.schnetzky@hubinternational.com

Cincinnati Insurance Company 10677
BRIDCON-01

Bridgeway Contracting LLC
PO Box 246
Lowell OR 97452

1101125794

A X 1,000,000
X 500,000

10,000

Occurrence 1,000,000

2,000,000
X

Y Y ENP 0382072 4/15/2023 4/15/2024

2,000,000

A 1,000,000

X

X X

Y Y ENP 0382072 4/15/2023 4/15/2024

A X X 10,000,000Y ENP 0382072 4/15/2023Y 4/15/2024

10,000,000

A Installation Floater
Leased & Rented Equipment
Scheduled Equipment

ENP 0382072 4/15/2023 4/15/2024 Limit: $100,000
Limit: $100,000
Limit: See Below

Ded: $500
Ded: $500
Ded: $500

Certificate holder is named as additional insured on a primary and non-contributory basis including waiver of subrogation and completed operations per the
attached endorsement. Auto additional insured applies per the attached endorsement with waiver. All when required by written contract. All is subject to policy
limits, terms, conditions and exclusions. Umbrella limit goes over General Liability, Auto Liability, and Employers Liability. Following Form.
RE: City Managers Office & Library Remodel project. #P11017
Certificate Holder includes: City of Springfield A Municipal Corporation of the State of Oregon

City of Springfield
225 5th Street
Springfield OR 97477

Attachment 2 Page 39 of 51 



Includes copyrighted material of Insurance
GA 472 05 20 Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 1 of 3

THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY. PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

CONTRACTORS ADDITIONAL INSURED - AUTOMATIC STATUS
AND AUTOMATIC WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

WHEN REQUIRED IN WRITTEN CONTRACT, AGREEMENT,
PERMIT OR AUTHORIZATION

This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following:

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE PART

A. Additional Insured - Owners, Lessees Or
Contractors - Automatic Status For Other
Parties When Required In Written Contract 
Or Agreement With You

1. Section II - Who Is An Insured is
amended to include as an additional in-
sured any person or organization you
have agreed in writing in a contract or 
agreement to add as an additional in-
sured on this Coverage Part. Such per-
son(s) or organization(s) is an additional 
insured only with respect to liability for:

a. "Bodily injury", "property damage" or
"personal and advertising injury"
caused, in whole or in part, by the
performance of your ongoing opera-
tions by you or on your behalf, under 
that written contract or written 
agreement. Ongoing operations does 
not apply to "bodily injury" or "proper-
ty damage" occurring after:

(1) All work, including materials,
parts or equipment furnished in
connection with such work, on 
the project (other than service,
maintenance or repairs) to be
performed by or on behalf of the
additional insured(s) at the loca-
tion of the covered operations
has been completed; or

(2) That portion of "your work" out of 
which the injury or damage aris-
es has been put to its intended
use by any person or organiza-
tion other than another contrac-
tor or subcontractor engaged in
performing operations for a prin-
cipal as a part of the same pro-
ject; and

b. "Bodily injury" or "property damage"
caused, in whole or in part, by "your 
work" performed under that written 
contract or written agreement and in-

cluded in the "products-completed
operations hazard", but only if:

(1) The Coverage Part to which this
endorsement is attached pro-
vides coverage for "bodily injury"
or "property damage" included
within the "products-completed
operations hazard"; and

(2) The written contract or written
agreement requires you to pro-
vide additional insured coverage
included within the "products-
completed operations hazard"
for that person or organization.

If the written contract or written
agreement requires you to provide
additional insured coverage included
within the "products-completed oper-
ations hazard" for a specified length
of time for that person or organiza-
tion, the "bodily injury" or "property 
damage" must occur prior to the ex-
piration of that period of time in order 
for this insurance to apply.

If the written contract or written
agreement requires you to provide
additional insured coverage for a
person or organization per only ISO
additional insured endorsement form
number CG 20 10, without specifying 
an edition date, and without specifi-
cally requiring additional insured
coverage included within the “prod-
ucts-completed operations hazard”,
this Paragraph b. does not apply to
that person or organization.

2. If the written contract or written agree-
ment described in Paragraph 1. above 
specifically requires you to provide addi-
tional insured coverage to that person or 
organization:

a. Arising out of your ongoing opera-
tions or arising out of "your work"; or

Includes copyrighted material of Insurance
GA 472 05 20 Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 2 of 3

b. By way of an edition of an ISO addi-
tional insured endorsement that in-
cludes arising out of your ongoing 
operations or arising out of "your 
work";

then the phrase caused, in whole or in
part, by in Paragraph A.1.a. and/or Para-
graph A.1.b. above, whichever applies, is
replaced by the phrase arising out of.

3. With respect to the insurance afforded to 
the additional insureds described in Para-
graph A.1., the following additional exclu-
sion applies:

This insurance does not apply to "bodily
injury", "property damage" or "personal
and advertising injury" arising out of the 
rendering of, or the failure to render, any 
professional architectural, engineering or 
surveying services, including:

a. The preparing, approving or failing to
prepare or approve, maps, shop
drawings, opinions, reports, surveys,
field orders, change orders or draw-
ings and specifications; or

b. Supervisory, inspection, architectural 
or engineering activities.

This exclusion applies even if the claims 
against any insured allege negligence or 
other wrongdoing in the supervision, hir-
ing, employment, training or monitoring of
others by that insured, if the "occurrence"
which caused the "bodily injury" or "prop-
erty damage", or the offense which
caused the "personal and advertising inju-
ry", involved the rendering of, or the fail-
ure to render, any professional architec-
tural, engineering or surveying services.

4. This Paragraph A. does not apply to addi-
tional insureds described in Paragraph B.

B. Additional Insured - State Or Governmental 
Agency Or Subdivision Or Political Subdi-
vision - Automatic Status When Required
In Written Permits Or Authorizations

1. Section II - Who Is An Insured is
amended to include as an additional in-
sured any state or governmental agency 
or subdivision or political subdivision you 
have agreed in writing in a permit or au-
thorization to add as an additional insured
on this Coverage Part. Such state or gov-
ernmental agency or subdivision or politi-
cal subdivision is an additional insured 
only with respect to operations performed 
by you or on your behalf for which the 
state or governmental agency or subdivi-
sion or political subdivision has issued, in
writing, a permit or authorization.

2. With respect to the insurance afforded to 
the additional insureds described in Para-
graph B.1., the following additional exclu-
sions apply:

This insurance does not apply to:

a. "Bodily injury", "property damage" or
"personal and advertising injury" aris-
ing out of operations performed for 
the federal government, state or mu-
nicipality; or

b. "Bodily injury" or "property damage"
included within the "products-
completed operations hazard."

C. The insurance afforded to additional insureds
described in Paragraphs A. and B.:

1. Only applies to the extent permitted by 
law; and

2. Will not be broader than that which you
are required by the written contract, writ-
ten agreement, written permit or written
authorization to provide for such addition-
al insured; and

3. Does not apply to any person, organiza-
tion, state, governmental agency or sub-
division or political subdivision specifically 
named as an additional insured for the
same project in the schedule of an en-
dorsement added to this Coverage Part.

D. With respect to the insurance afforded to the 
additional insureds described in Paragraphs 
A. and B., the following is added to Section III
- Limits Of Insurance:

The most we will pay on behalf of the addi-
tional insured is the amount of insurance:

1. Required by the written contract, written 
agreement, written permit or written au-
thorization described in Paragraphs A.
and B. For the purpose of determining the
required amount of insurance only, we will
include the minimum amount of any Um-
brella Liability or Excess Liability cover-
age required for that additional insured in
that written contract, written agreement, 
written permit or written authorization; or

2. Available under the applicable limits of in-
surance;

whichever is less.

This endorsement shall not increase the appli-
cable limits of insurance.

E. Section IV - Commercial General Liability
Conditions is amended to add the following:

Automatic Additional Insured Provision

Attachment 2 Page 40 of 51 



Includes copyrighted material of Insurance
GA 472 05 20 Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 3 of 3

This insurance applies only if the "bodily inju-
ry" or "property damage" occurs, or the "per-
sonal and advertising injury" offense is com-
mitted:

1. During the policy period; and

2. Subsequent to your execution of the writ-
ten contract or written agreement, or the
issuance of a written permit or written au-
thorization, described in Paragraphs A.
and B.

F. Except when G. below applies, the following is
added to Section IV - Commercial General
Liability Conditions, Other Insurance, and
supersedes any provision to the contrary:

When Other Additional Insured Coverage 
Applies On An Excess Basis

This insurance is primary to other insurance 
available to the additional insured described in 
Paragraphs A. and B. except:

1. As otherwise provided in Section IV -
Commercial General Liability Condi-
tions, Other Insurance, b. Excess In-
surance; or

2. For any other valid and collectible insur-
ance available to the additional insured as
an additional insured on another insur-
ance policy that is written on an excess
basis. In such case, this insurance is also
excess.

G. The following is added to Section IV - Com-
mercial General Liability Conditions, Other 
Insurance, and supersedes any provision to
the contrary:

Primary Insurance When Required By Writ-
ten Contract, Agreement, Permit Or Au-
thorization

Except when wrap-up insurance applies to the
claim or "suit" on behalf of the additional in-
sured, this insurance is primary to any other 
insurance available to the additional insured
described in Paragraphs A. and B. provided
that:

1. The additional insured is a Named In-
sured under such other insurance; and

2. You have agreed in writing in a contract, 
agreement, permit or authorization de-

scribed in Paragraph A. or B. that this in-
surance would be primary to any other in-
surance available to the additional in-
sured.

As used in this endorsement, wrap-up insur-
ance means a centralized insurance program
under which one party has secured either in-
surance or self-insurance covering some or all 
of the contractors or subcontractors perform-
ing work on one or more specific project(s).

Primary And Noncontributory Insurance
When Required By Written Contract, 
Agreement, Permit Or Authorization

Except when wrap-up insurance applies to the
claim or "suit" on behalf of the additional in-
sured, this insurance is primary to and will not
seek contribution from any other insurance
available to the additional insured described in 
Paragraphs A. and B. provided that:

1. The additional insured is a Named In-
sured under such other insurance; and

2. You have agreed in writing in a contract,
agreement, permit or authorization de-
scribed in Paragraph A. or B. that this in-
surance would be primary and would not 
seek contribution from any other insur-
ance available to the additional insured.

As used in this endorsement, wrap-up insur-
ance means a centralized insurance program
under which one party has secured either in-
surance or self-insurance covering some or all 
of the contractors or subcontractors perform-
ing work on one or more specific project(s).

H. Section IV - Commercial General Liability 
Conditions, Transfer Of Rights Of Recov-
ery Against Others To Us is amended by the
addition of the following:

Waiver of Subrogation

We waive any right of recovery against any 
additional insured under this endorsement, 
because of any payment we make under this
endorsement, to whom the insured has
waived its right of recovery in a written con-
tract, written agreement, written permit or writ-
ten authorization. Such waiver by us applies
only to the extent that the insured has waived 
its right of recovery against such additional in-
sured prior to loss.

Attachment 2 Page 41 of 51 



Policy_OLCA_CertificateOfInsurance

www.saif.com

400 High Street SE
Salem, OR  97312
P: 800.285.8525
F: 503.584.9812

Certificate holder:

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD
A MUNICIPAL CORPORATION IN THE STATE OF OREGON
225 FIFTH STREET
SPRINGFIELD, OR 97477

The policy of insurance listed below has been issued to the insured named below for the policy period
indicated. The insurance afforded by this policy is subject to all the terms, exclusions and conditions of
such policy; this policy is subject to change or cancellation at any time.

Insured
Bridgeway Contracting LLC
PO Box 246
Lowell, Or 97452-0246

Producer/contact
Hub International Northwest LLC-Eugene
Mike Godfrey
541.650.6772   mike.godfrey@hubinternational.com

Issued
Policy
Period

01/04/2024
998898
09/01/2023 to 09/01/2024

Limits of liability
Bodily Injury by Accident
Bodily Injury by Disease
Body Injury by Disease

$1,000,000 each accident
$1,000,000 each employee
$1,000,000 policy limit

Description of operations/locations/special items
Contract C3541

Waiver of subrogation is endorsed for persons and/or organizations with whom the insured-employer is required by
written contract to waive subrogation rights.

Important
This certificate is issued as a matter of information only and confers no rights to the certificate holder. This certificate
does not amend, extend or alter the coverage afforded by the policies above. This
certificate does not constitute a contract between the issuing insurer, authorized representative or producer and the
certificate holder.

CANCELLATION:
SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE THE EXPIRATION DATE
THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED TO THE POLICYHOLDER AND CERTIFICATE HOLDER IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS AND OREGON LAW. SAIF WILL ENDEAVOR TO PROVIDE
WRITTEN NOTICE WITHIN 30 DAYS WHENEVER POSSIBLE.

Authorized representative

Chip Terhune
President and CEO

Oregon Workers’ Compensation
Certificate of Insurance

Attachment 2 Page 42 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 43 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 44 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 45 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 46 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 47 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 48 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 49 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 50 of 51 



Attachment 2 Page 51 of 51 



 AGENDA  ITEM  SUMMARY Meeting Date:  

 Meeting Type:  
 Staff Contact/Dept.:    

 Staff Phone No:  

 Estimated Time:  

S P R I N G F I E L D 

C I T Y   C O U N C I L 

Council Goals: Mandate 

 

ITEM TITLE:   LIQUOR LICENSE APPLICATION FOR A NEW OUTLET FOR MADE BY 

YOU, LLC, DBA: MADE BY YOU.   

 

ACTION 

REQUESTED: 

Endorsement of OLCC Liquor License Application for Made By You, located at 

715 Main St. Springfield, OR 97477. 

 

ISSUE 

STATEMENT: 

The owner of Made By You, LLC has requested the City Council to endorse its 

OLCC Liquor License Application.   

 

ATTACHMENTS: 1: OLCC Liquor License Application.  

 

DISCUSSION/ 

FINANCIAL 

IMPACT: 

The license endorsement for Made By You, LLC, DBA: Made By You is for a New 

Outlet with Limited On-Premises Sales.  The license application has been reviewed 

and approved by the appropriate City Departments.  

  

 

1/29/2024

Regular Meeting

Robin Holman  -  DPW

541-726-3662

Consent Calendar



OLCC Liquor License Application (Rev. 10.25.23) 

LIQUOR LICENSE APPLICATION
Page 1 of 4 
Check the appropriate license request option: 

☐ New Outlet | ☐ Change of Ownership | ☐ Greater Privilege | ☐ Additional Privilege

Select the license type you are applying for. 

More information about all license types is available online. 

Full On-Premises 

☐ Commercial

☐ Caterer

☐ Public Passenger Carrier

☐ Other Public Location
☐ For Profit Private Club

☐ Nonprofit Private Club
Winery 

☐ Primary location

Additional locations: ☐2nd ☐3rd ☐4th ☐5th
Brewery 

☐ Primary location

Additional locations: ☐2nd ☐3rd
Brewery-Public House 

☐ Primary location

Additional locations: ☐2nd ☐3rd
Grower Sales Privilege 

☐ Primary location

Additional locations: ☐2nd ☐3rd

Distillery 
Primary location 

Additional tasting locations: (Use the DISTT form HERE) 

☐ Limited On-Premises

☐ Off Premises

☐ Warehouse

☐ Wholesale Malt Beverage and Wine

LOCAL GOVERNMENT USE ONLY 

Name of City  OR  County 

Date application received: 

Optional: Date Stamp Received Below

☐ Recommend this license be granted
☐ Recommend this license be denied
☐ No Recommendation/Neutral

Date Printed Name 

Trade Name 

Please make sure the name of the Local Government is printed legibly or stamped below 

Signature

LOCAL GOVERNMENT
After providing your recommendation, return this 
form to the applicant WITH the recommendation 

marked below 

(not both)

Attachment 1, Page 1 of 4

https://www.oregon.gov/olcc/lic/Pages/license_types.aspx
https://www.oregon.gov/olcc/docs/liquor_license_and_license_process/distillery_tasting_privilege.pdf
Susan.Rudberg
Line

Susan.Rudberg
Rectangle

Susan.Rudberg
Rectangle

Susan.Rudberg
Rectangle

Susan.Rudberg
Rectangle

Susan.Rudberg
Rectangle

rholman
Typewritten Text
City of Springfield

rholman
Typewritten Text
1/4/2024



LIQUOR LICENSE APPLICATION
Page 2 of 4  

Please note: liquor license applications are public records. OLCC Liquor License Application (Rev. 10.25.23) 

APPLICANT INFORMATION 

Identify the applicants applying for the license. This is the entity (example: corporation or LLC) 
or individual(s) applying for the license. Please add an additional page if more space is needed. 

Name of entity or individual applicant #1: Name of entity or individual applicant #2: 

Name of entity or individual applicant #3: Name of entity or individual applicant #4: 

BUSINESS INFORMATION 

Trade Name of the Business (name customers will see):

Premises street address (The physical location of the business and where the liquor license will be posted):

City: Zip Code: County: 

Business phone number: Business email: 

Business mailing address (where we will send any items by mail as described in OAR 845‐004‐0065[1].): 

City: State: Zip Code: 

Does the business address currently have an OLCC 
liquor license?    Yes   No 

Does the business address currently have an OLCC 
marijuana license?    Yes    No 

APPLICATION CONTACT INFORMATON – Provide the point of contact for this application. If this individual is not 
an applicant or licensee, the Authorized Representative Form must be completed and submitted with this application.  

Application Contact Name: 

Phone number: Email: 

Attachment 1, Page 2 of 4

https://secure.sos.state.or.us/oard/viewSingleRule.action?ruleVrsnRsn=212075


LIQUOR LICENSE APPLICATION
Page 3 of 4  

OLCC Liquor License Application (Rev. 10.25.23) 

• “Real property” means the real estate (land) and generally whatever is erected or affixed to the land
(for example, the building) at the business address.

• “Common area” is a privately owned area where two or more parties (property tenants) have
permission to use the area in common. Examples include the walking areas between stores at a
shopping center, lobbies, hallways, patios, parking lots, etc. An area’s designation as a “common area”
is typically identified in the lease or rental agreement.

ATTESTATION – OWNERSHIP AND CONTROL OF THE BUSINESS AND PREMISES 
• Each applicant listed in the “Application Information” section of this form has read and understands

OAR 845-005-0311 and attests that:
1. At least one applicant listed in the “Application Information” section of this form has the legal right to

occupy and control the real property proposed to be licensed as shown by a property deed, lease,
rental agreement, or similar document.

2. No person not listed as an applicant in the “Application Information” section of this form has an
ownership interest in the business proposed to be licensed, unless the person qualifies to have that
ownership interest waived under OAR 845-005-0311.

3. The licensed premises at the premises street address proposed to be licensed either:
a. Does not include any common areas; or
b. Does include one or more common areas; however, only the applicant(s) have the exclusive right

to engage in alcohol sales and service in the area to be included as part of the licensed premises.
• In this circumstance, the applicant(s) acknowledges responsibility for ensuring compliance

with liquor laws within and in the immediate vicinity of the licensed premises, including in
portions of the premises that are situated in “common areas” and that this requirement
applies at all times, even when the business is closed.

4. The licensed premises at the premises street address either:
a. Has no area on property controlled by a public entity (like a city, county, or state); or
b. Has one or more areas on property controlled by a public entity (like a city, county, or state) and

the public entity has given at least one of the applicant(s) permission to exercise the privileges of
the license in the area.

TERMS 

Attachment 1, Page 3 of 4

https://secure.sos.state.or.us/oard/viewSingleRule.action?ruleVrsnRsn=264914


LIQUOR LICENSE APPLICATION
 Page 4 of 4

OLCC Liquor License Application (Rev. 10.25.23) 

• Each applicant listed in the “Application Information” section of this form has read and understands
OAR 845-006-0362 and attests that:

1. Upon licensure, each licensee is responsible for the conduct of others on the licensed premises,
including in outdoor areas.

2. The licensed premises will be controlled to promote public safety and prevent problems and
violations, with particular emphasis on preventing minors from obtaining or consuming alcoholic
beverages, preventing over-service of alcoholic beverages, preventing open containers of alcoholic
beverages from leaving the licensed premises unless allowed by OLCC rules, and preventing noisy,
disorderly, and unlawful activity on the licensed premises.

I attest that all answers on all forms and documents, and all information provided to the OLCC as a part 
of this application, are true and complete. 

Applicant name Signature 

Applicant name Signature Date 

Applilcant name Signature Date 

Applicant name Signature Date 

Date 

Applicant/Licensee Representative(s): If you would like to designate a person/entity to act on your 
behalf you must complete the Authorized Representative Form. You may submit the form with the 
application or anytime thereafter. The form must be received by the OLCC before the representative 
can receive or submit information for the applicant. 

Applicant Signature(s): Each individual listed in the applicant information box on page 2 (entity or 
individuals applying for the license) must sign the application.  

If an applicant listed in the applicant information box on page 2 is an entity (such as a corporation or 
limited liability company), at least one member or officer of the entity must sign the application. 

Please note that applicants/licensees are responsible for all information provided, 
even if an authorized representative submits additional forms on behalf of the applicant.

Attachment 1, Page 4 of 4

https://secure.sos.state.or.us/oard/viewSingleRule.action;JSESSIONID_OARD=C-xGhAoH0Ib1comkOsnLH-Ec0n6QV4z38G6Zgd2E6cTE4wU4m0iH!846163716?ruleVrsnRsn=212417
https://www.oregon.gov/olcc/Docs/liquor_license_and_license_process/license-representative-authorization.pdf


AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY Meeting Date:  
 Meeting Type:  
 Staff Contact/Dept.:  
 Staff Phone No:  
 Estimated Time:  
S P R I N G F I E L D 
C I T Y   C O U N C I L 

Council Goals: 
 

 
ITEM TITLE: Employee Health, Vision, and Prescription contract renewal. 

 
ACTION 
REQUESTED: 

Authorize City Manager to execute 2024 renewal contract for self-funded medical, 
prescription, vision, stop-loss, and third-party administrative services.  
 

ISSUE 
STATEMENT: 

Existing contract with PacificSource Health Plans for third-party administration 
and stop-loss coverage expired on December 31, 2023.  The contract exceeds 
$100,000 and requires Council approval. 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 1: Pacific Source Agreement 
 

DISCUSSION/ 
FINANCIAL 
IMPACT: 

The City provides a comprehensive self-funded health, prescription, and vision 
insurance plan for eligible employees, dependents, and retirees. 

PacificSource is the City’s third-party administrator (TPA) for self-funded 
medical benefits. The TPA fees are increasing by $24 per employee annually. 

PacificSource also provides the City’s stop-loss insurance and for many years 
the City paid all claims valued less than $150,000 and purchased stop-loss 
insurance to cover claims in excess of $150,000. Due to favorable claims 
experience the decision was made to increase the stop-loss insurance to 
$175,000 resulting in a savings of $120 per employee annually. 

Overall renewal rates are favorable and staff recommends Council authorize the 
City Manager to sign the benefit renewal contract with PacificSource. 

 

1/29/2024
Regular Meeting
Jamie Iboa
541-726-3724
Consent Calendar
Financially Responsible and Stable
Government Services



1                                                              Third Party Administrative Services Agreement _ City of Springfield_0124 

 

THIRD PARTY ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES AGREEMENT 

No. G0020720 

In consideration of City of Springfield’s Acceptance and in consideration of payment of 

Administrative Services Fees in the amounts and at the time required, PacificSource Health 

Plans, an Oregon not-for-profit corporation, will provide administrative services for the City of 

Springfield Employee Benefit Plan for each enrolled person in accordance with the provisions and 

subject to the conditions of this Agreement. 

This Agreement, including all attachments, addendums, exhibits, PacificSource Stop Loss 

Policy (if applicable), or amendments affixed hereto, shall be the entire contract between the 

Parties.  

Payment of the monthly service charges will constitute acceptance of this Administrative Services 

Agreement and the changes contained within. 

 

 

PacificSource Health Plans 

PO Box 7068, Springfield, OR 97475-0068 

 

Attachment 1 Page 1 of 36 



2                                                              Third Party Administrative Services Agreement _ City of Springfield_0124 

 

Table of Contents 
I. RECITALS ........................................................................................................................................ 4 

II. INTRODUCTION............................................................................................................................... 4 

2.1 Effective Date and Term ........................................................................................................ 4 

2.2 Scope of Relationship ............................................................................................................ 4 

2.3 Definitions ................................................................................................................................ 5 

III. RESPONSIBILITIES OF SPONSOR................................................................................................ 6 

3.1 Role of Sponsor ...................................................................................................................... 6 

3.2 Funding and Services Charges ............................................................................................ 6 

3.3 Information to PacificSource ................................................................................................. 6 

3.4 Plan Documents ..................................................................................................................... 7 

3.5 Financial Responsibility for Claims ...................................................................................... 7 

3.6 Medical Records ..................................................................................................................... 7 

3.7 HIPAA Privacy and Security ................................................................................................. 7 

IV. RESPONSIBILITIES OF PACIFICSOURCE .................................................................................... 8 

4.1 Limited Scope of Responsibilities ........................................................................................ 8 

4.2 Customer Service ................................................................................................................... 8 

4.3 Benefit Process and Payment .............................................................................................. 8 

4.4 Bonding and Insurance Coverage ....................................................................................... 9 

4.5 Reporting ................................................................................................................................. 9 

4.6 Claims Appeals ....................................................................................................................... 9 

4.7 Recordkeeping ........................................................................................................................ 9 

4.8 Standard of Care; Erroneous Payments ........................................................................... 10 

4.9 Notices to Sponsor ............................................................................................................... 10 

4.10 Non-Discretionary Duties; Additional Duties .................................................................... 10 

4.11 Subcontractors ...................................................................................................................... 10 

V. PAYMENTS FOR BENEFITS; SPONSOR’S FUNDING RESPONSIBILITY ................................ 10 

5.1 Payment of Benefits ............................................................................................................. 10 

5.2 Prompt Payment ................................................................................................................... 11 

5.3 Funding of Benefits .............................................................................................................. 11 

5.4 Claims Pre Fund ................................................................................................................... 11 

5.5 Subrogation, Reimbursement, and Recovery .................................................................. 11 

VI. PACIFICSOURCE COMPENSATION ............................................................................................ 12 

Attachment 1 Page 2 of 36 



3                                                              Third Party Administrative Services Agreement _ City of Springfield_0124 

6.1 Service Charges ................................................................................................................... 12 

6.2 Billing of Charges ................................................................................................................. 12 

6.3 Payment of Charges ............................................................................................................ 12 

6.4 Compensation Disclosures ................................................................................................. 12 

VII. INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS .............................................................................. 12 

7.1 Indemnification by Sponsor ................................................................................................. 12 

7.2 Indemnification by PacificSource ....................................................................................... 13 

7.3 Termination of this Agreement shall not relieve either Party of its indemnification obligations

 13 

VIII. TERMINATION ............................................................................................................................... 13 

8.1 Automatic ............................................................................................................................... 13 

8.2 Discretionary ......................................................................................................................... 13 

8.3 Limited Continuation Following Termination .................................................................... 14 

8.4 Survival of Certain Provisions ............................................................................................. 14 

IX. GENERAL PROVISIONS ............................................................................................................... 14 

9.1 Severability ............................................................................................................................ 14 

9.2 Headings ................................................................................................................................ 14 

9.3 Compliance and Non-Waiver .............................................................................................. 14 

9.4 Amendment ........................................................................................................................... 14 

9.5 Assignment ............................................................................................................................ 14 

9.6 Audits ...................................................................................................................................... 15 

9.7 Non-Disclosure of Proprietary Information ....................................................................... 15 

9.8 Governing Law; Venue; Attorneys’ Fees .......................................................................... 15 

9.9 Notices and Communications ............................................................................................. 16 

9.10 Force Majeure ....................................................................................................................... 16 

9.11 Participation with Health Improvement Entities ............................................................... 16 

9.12 Sponsor Vendor(s) ............................................................................................................... 17 

9.13 Complete Agreement ........................................................................................................... 17 

9.14 Opt-Out of Quality Improvement Measures ...................................................................... 17 

X. SIGNATURE ................................................................................................................................... 17 

 

 

 

 

Attachment 1 Page 3 of 36 



4                                                              Third Party Administrative Services Agreement _ City of Springfield_0124 

This Agreement is made by and between PacificSource Health Plans (“PacificSource”) as a 
Third Party Administrator providing administrative services only, and City of Springfield, as Plan 
Sponsor (“Sponsor”) of the City of Springfield Employee Benefit Plan (the “Plan”). PacificSource 
and Sponsor shall be collectively referred to as the “Parties.” 

I. RECITALS 

 1.1 Sponsor has established certain Programs for the benefit of its Employees, which 
may be subject to the laws codified in ERISA, Health Care Reform, and in various other state 
and federal statutory schemes. 
 
 1.2 PacificSource is in the business of assisting companies like Sponsor with the 
administration of certain ministerial functions for benefit plans. 
 
 1.3 Sponsor has requested PacificSource assist it, and act on its behalf, with respect 
to a variety of administrative and ministerial functions, including processing payment of certain 
benefits, providing recordkeeping and other administrative services as described in this 
Agreement. 
 
 1.4 PacificSource is a business associate under HIPAA with regards to the services it 
will provide herein and, to that extent, has executed the Business Associate Addendum 
attached hereto as Exhibit I. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises contained in this Agreement, 
Sponsor and PacificSource agree as follows: 

II. INTRODUCTION 

 2.1 Effective Date and Term 

The Effective Date of this Agreement is the 1st day of January, 2024.  The initial term of this 
Agreement shall be a twelve (12) month period commencing on the Effective Date, unless 
terminated earlier in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. After the initial term, this 
Agreement may be renewed for successive one-year periods by the mutual, written agreement 
of the Parties.  

 2.2 Scope of Relationship 

Sponsor has the sole and final authority to establish, maintain, control, and manage the 
operation of the Plan. PacificSource is and shall remain an independent contractor with respect 
to the services being performed hereunder and shall not for any purpose be deemed an 
employee of Sponsor. Nor shall PacificSource and Sponsor be deemed partners, engaged in a 
joint venture, or governed by any legal relationship other than that of independent contractor. 
PacificSource does not assume any responsibility for the policy design of the Plan, the 
adequacy of its funding, or any act or omission or breach of duty by Sponsor. Nor is 
PacificSource in any way to be deemed an insurer, underwriter, or guarantor with respect to any 
benefits payable under the Plan. With respect to payment of benefits, PacificSource generally 
provides reimbursement services only and does not assume any financial risk or obligation with 
respect to claims for benefits payable by Sponsor under the Plan. PacificSource does not intend 
to be the “Named Fiduciary,” “plan sponsor,” or “Plan Administrator” (as such terms are 
described in ERISA, other applicable law, or the Plan documentation) or assume any of the 
administrative duties or responsibilities commensurate with those designations.  
 

Attachment 1 Page 4 of 36 



5                                                              Third Party Administrative Services Agreement _ City of Springfield_0124 

Unless required by applicable law, nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to (1) render the 
PacificSource a party to the Plan; (2) confer upon PacificSource any authority or control 
respecting management of the Plan, authority or responsibility in connection with administration 
of the Plan, or responsibility for the terms or validity of the Plan; or (3) impose upon 
PacificSource any obligation to any Employee of Sponsor or any person who is participating in 
the Plan (“Participant”) or otherwise entitled to benefits through the Plan. 

 2.3 Definitions 

“Agreement” means this Third Party Administrative Services Agreement, including all 
appendices, attachments, exhibits, and amendments affixed hereto. 

“Business Associate Addendum” means the separate agreement entered into between 
Sponsor and the PacificSource (as business associate) to document compliance with HIPAA's 
privacy, security, and electronic data interchange (EDI) requirements. 

“COBRA” means the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended, 
including regulations promulgated thereunder. 

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, including 
regulations thereunder. 

“Effective Date” has the meaning given in Section 2.1. 

“Electronic PHI” or “ePHI” is a type of PHI and has the meaning assigned to such term under 
HIPAA. 

“Employee” means any Participant employed or formerly employed by Sponsor. When a family 
that does not include a current or former Employee is covered under the Plan, the oldest 
Participant is considered the Employee for the purposes of this Agreement. 

“Exhibits” means one or more documents added to this Agreement, and marked as exhibits, 
which are incorporated by reference into and form part of this Agreement. 

“Health Care Reform” means the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, (PPACA), as 
amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, (HCERA), and as 
further amended from time to time, including regulations thereunder. 

“HIPAA” means the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, as amended, 
including regulations thereunder. 

“Named Fiduciary” means the named fiduciary as defined in ERISA §402(a)(1). 

“Participant” has the meaning given in Section 2.2. 

“Plan” means collectively and individually, each portion of the Program through which benefits 
are provided, as identified in this Agreement. 

“Plan Administrator” means the administrator as defined in ERISA §3(16)(A). 

“Program” has the meaning given in the Recitals and refers to the Plans collectively. 

Attachment 1 Page 5 of 36 



6                                                              Third Party Administrative Services Agreement _ City of Springfield_0124 

“Protected Health Information” or “PHI” has the meaning assigned to such term under 
HIPAA. 

“Sponsor” means City of Springfield. 

III. RESPONSIBILITIES OF SPONSOR 

 3.1 Role of Sponsor 

  (a) General. Sponsor has the sole authority and responsibility for the Plan and its 
operation, including the authority and responsibility for establishing, administering, construing, 
and interpreting the provisions of the Plan and making all determinations thereunder. Sponsor 
gives PacificSource the authority to act on behalf of Sponsor in connection with the Plan, but 
only as expressly stated in this Agreement or as mutually agreed in writing by Sponsor and 
PacificSource. Sponsor is considered the Plan Administrator and Named Fiduciary of the Plan 
benefits for purposes of ERISA.  
 
  (b) Responsibilities. Without limiting Sponsor's responsibilities described herein, it 
shall be Sponsor's sole responsibility (as Plan Administrator) and duty to: ensure compliance 
with ERISA, state law, federal law, COBRA, or any other regulation; perform required 
nondiscrimination testing; amend the Plans as necessary to ensure ongoing compliance with 
applicable law; file any required tax or governmental returns relating to the Plan(s); collect and 
forward any fees related to the Plans; determine if and when a valid election change has 
occurred; administer Participant claim appeals as detailed herein; execute and retain required 
Plan and claims documentation; and take all other steps necessary to maintain and operate the 
Plans in compliance with applicable provisions of the Plans, ERISA, state law, federal law, 
COBRA, or any other regulation. If Sponsor has elected to utilize PacificSource's subcontracted 
pharmacy benefit manager and/or to have PacificSource process the Plan’s pharmacy benefits, 
then Sponsor hereby agrees and confirms that it will not negotiate, contract, or work with a third 
party regarding pharmacy rebates. To the extent that the Plan, as designed by Sponsor, does 
not comply with any state or federal law or regulation or is judged lacking or deficient in some 
way by a regulatory body or court, then Sponsor shall defend, indemnify and hold PacificSource 
harmless as described in Section 7.1 below.  Sponsor acknowledges that it is solely responsible 
for all legal and regulatory obligations as it relates to the development, design and 
administration of the Plan; provided, however, that PacificSource is responsible to meet its 
obligations in this Agreement as to the Plan developed, designed and administered by Sponsor. 
 

 3.2 Funding and Services Charges   

Sponsor shall pay PacificSource the service charges set forth in the Exhibits hereto, and as 
further described in Sections 5.1 and 5.2.  Sponsor shall promptly make any funds necessary 
available for payment of benefits under the Plan. It is the Sponsor’s intent that the Plan be 
operated to fall within an exception or non-enforcement policy with respect to ERISA’s trust 
requirement for plan assets. To the extent PacificSource administers the remittance of fees or 
expenses for which Sponsor is responsible, such as certain fees which may apply under Health 
Care Reform, Sponsor shall promptly make those funds available to PacificSource for any 
required remittance. 

 3.3 Information to PacificSource 

Sponsor shall furnish the information requested by PacificSource as determined necessary to 
perform PacificSource’s functions hereunder, including information concerning the Plan and the 

Attachment 1 Page 6 of 36 



7                                                              Third Party Administrative Services Agreement _ City of Springfield_0124 

eligibility of individuals to participate in and receive Plan benefits. Such information shall be 
provided to PacificSource in the time and in the manner agreed to by Sponsor and 
PacificSource. PacificSource shall have no responsibility with regard to benefits paid (or not 
paid) in error, or with regard to failure to timely provide required notices or other 
communications, due to Sponsor's failure to timely update such information. From time to time 
thereafter, at least as frequently as necessary to enable Sponsor and PacificSource to 
discharge their respective responsibilities under applicable law, PacificSource shall provide 
Sponsor with updated reports summarizing the eligibility data provided by Sponsor by electronic 
medium (the “Reports”) unless otherwise agreed by the parties. The Reports shall specify the 
effective date for each Participant who is added to or terminated from participation in the Plan. 
Sponsor shall be responsible for ensuring the accuracy of its Reports, and bears the burden of 
proof in any dispute with PacificSource relating to the accuracy of any Report. PacificSource 
shall have no liability to Sponsor or any Participant as a consequence of an inaccurate Report, 
and PacificSource shall not have any obligation to credit Sponsor for any claims expenses or 
administrative fees incurred or paid to PacificSource as a consequence of Sponsor failing to 
review Reports for accuracy. PacificSource shall assume that all such information is complete 
and accurate, and is under no duty to question the completeness or accuracy of such 
information. With respect to any Plan subject to the HIPAA privacy rule, such Reports shall be 
considered PHI, and when transmitted by or maintained in electronic media shall be considered 
ePHI, subject to the privacy and security rules under HIPAA and the applicable separate 
Business Associate Addendum. 

 3.4 Plan Documents 

Sponsor is responsible for the Plan’s compliance with all applicable federal and state laws and 
regulations, including amending Plan documents as necessary to comply with applicable law 
changes and reflect changes to the benefit arrangements. Sponsor shall provide PacificSource 
with all relevant documentation, including but not limited to, the Plan documents and any Plan 
amendments. To the best of its ability, Sponsor will notify PacificSource of any changes to the 
Plan at least 30 days before the effective date of such changes. Sponsor acknowledges that 
PacificSource is not providing tax or legal advice and that Sponsor shall be solely responsible 
for determining the legal and tax status of the Program. 

 3.5 Financial Responsibility for Claims 

Sponsor is responsible for payment of claims made pursuant to, and the benefits to be provided 
by, the Plan. PacificSource does not insure or underwrite the liability of Sponsor under the Plan. 
Except for (a) expenses required for PacificSource to be in the business of providing services 
under this Agreement; and (b) expenses specifically assumed by PacificSource in this 
Agreement, Sponsor is solely responsible for all expenses incident to the Plan. 

 3.6 Medical Records 

Sponsor shall, if required by law or regulation, (a) notify each Participant and provide each 
Participant with an opportunity to opt out (if required); or (b) obtain from each Participant such 
written authorization for release of any financial records and medical records which may be 
required in accordance with any and all applicable state and federal laws (including HIPAA, 
HiTECH, ARRA, and the Gram-Leach-Bailey Act) to permit Sponsor and/or PacificSource to 
perform their respective obligations under the terms of this Agreement. 

 3.7 HIPAA Privacy and Security 

With respect to any arrangement under the Plan that is subject to the HIPAA privacy rule, 
Sponsor shall provide PacificSource with the applicable notice of privacy practices (prepared by 

Attachment 1 Page 7 of 36 



8                                                              Third Party Administrative Services Agreement _ City of Springfield_0124 

the Plan; not prepared by PacificSource), as well as any subsequent changes to such notices. 
Sponsor shall provide PacificSource with certification that the applicable Plan document has 
been amended as required by the privacy rule to permit disclosures of PHI to Sponsor for plan 
administration purposes and that Sponsor agrees to the conditions set forth in applicable Plan 
documentation. Upon request, Sponsor will provide a copy of any applicable Plan amendments 
to PacificSource. Other aspects of the HIPAA privacy rule are reflected in the separate 
applicable Business Associate Addendum. Sponsor shall not request PacificSource to use or 
disclose PHI in any manner that would not be permissible under the privacy rule if done by 
Sponsor, except that PacificSource may use or disclose PHI for purposes of data aggregation 
and the management and administrative activities of PacificSource, as provided in the separate 
applicable Business Associate Addendum. 

IV. RESPONSIBILITIES OF PACIFICSOURCE 

 4.1 Limited Scope of Responsibilities 

PacificSource’s sole responsibilities shall be as described and enumerated in this Agreement, 
and shall include any obligations listed in the Exhibits attached hereto. PacificSource generally 
provides certain administrative and ministerial services for Sponsor, as more fully described in 
this Agreement.  PacificSource does not – under any circumstances – interpret the Plan or Plan 
documents or provide legal advice.  

 4.2 Customer Service 

PacificSource shall provide customer service personnel by telephone and e-mail during the 
hours of 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. Pacific standard time and Mountain standard time, Monday 
through Friday, excepting federally recognized holidays. PacificSource shall not be deemed in 
default of this Agreement as a result of, nor held responsible for, any cessation, interruption or 
delay in the performance of its obligations hereunder due to causes beyond its reasonable 
control, including, but not limited to, natural disaster, act of God, labor controversy, civil 
disturbance, disruption of the public markets, war or armed conflict, or the inability to obtain 
sufficient materials or services required in the conduct of its business, including Internet access, 
or any change in or the adoption of any law, judgment, or decree. 

 4.3 Benefit Process and Payment 

PacificSource shall, on behalf of Sponsor, operate under the express terms of this Agreement 
and the Plan. PacificSource shall accept and process claims of Participants received by 
PacificSource for benefits under the Plan in accordance with the terms and conditions, including 
timeframes, of the applicable Plan (as set forth in the Plan document) and applicable law. 
PacificSource shall initially determine if persons covered by the Plan (as described in the 
Reports) are entitled to benefits under the Plan, and shall adjudicate and pay Plan benefits to or 
on behalf of Participants, as set forth in this Section IV and Section V, in accordance with Plan 
terms and in its usual and customary manner.  PacificSource shall not interpret any Plan 
document or provision, but shall process claims in accordance with the Plan, written terms of the 
Plan document(s). Where a claim is not paid in full, PacificSource shall provide written denial 
notices in accordance with the terms and conditions, including timeframes, of the applicable 
Plan (as set forth in the Plan document) and applicable law.  
 
PacificSource shall have no duty or obligation with respect to claims incurred prior to the 
Effective Date, if any, or Plan administration (or other) services arising prior to the Effective Date 
(“Prior Administration”), if any, regardless of whether such services were/are to be performed 
prior to or after the Effective Date. Sponsor agrees that: (a) PacificSource has no responsibility 

Attachment 1 Page 8 of 36 



9                                                              Third Party Administrative Services Agreement _ City of Springfield_0124 

or obligation with respect to claims incurred prior to the Effective Date and/or Prior 
Administration; (b) Sponsor will be responsible for processing claims incurred prior to the 
Effective Date (including any run-out claims submitted after the Effective Date) and maintaining 
legally required records of all claims incurred prior to the Effective Date and Prior Administration 
sufficient to comply with applicable legal (e.g., IRS substantiation) requirements; and (c) 
Sponsor shall indemnify and hold PacificSource harmless for any liability relating to claims 
incurred prior to the Effective Date and/or Prior Administration. 

 4.4 Bonding and Insurance Coverage 

PacificSource has, and will maintain, an appropriate bond to act as a third party administrator 
pursuant to this Agreement. This bond covers the handling of Sponsor’s and Participants' 
money and must protect such money from losses by dishonesty, theft, forgery or alteration, and 
unexplained disappearance. Such bond shall be in an amount sufficient to at least satisfy the 
fidelity bonding requirement under ERISA §412 and any other applicable bonding 
requirement(s). PacificSource shall also maintain business liability coverage in the amount of at 
least $1 million. PacificSource shall provide proof of such bonding and business liability 
coverage upon Sponsor’s request and shall notify Sponsor of any material changes, including 
change of carrier, change in amount of coverage, or any other condition of coverage. 

 4.5 Reporting 

PacificSource shall make available to Sponsor, representatives, and business associates as 
identified and provided on the Authorized Recipient List (ARL). Sponsor will immediately notify 
PacificSource of any changes to the ARL. PacificSource will provide reporting as outlined in the 
Reporting Addendum.. Complex or ad-hoc reporting will be available as agreed upon subject to 
any additional fees and size requirements as outlined in Exhibit II. 

 4.6 Claims Appeals 

PacificSource will provide two levels of internal appeal review for Sponsor, and shall conduct 
such reviews in accordance with its internal written procedures. PacificSource shall review any 
appeals to ensure the subject matter of the appeal was handled appropriately and in 
accordance with the plain, written language of the Plan Document(s). PacificSource shall accept 
and forward any request for external review by a Participant to an appropriate Independent 
Review Organization (“IRO”) as required. PacificSource shall coordinate the review of the 
appeal by the IRO, and shall inform the Participant of the outcome of the same. PacificSource 
shall handle any such requests in accordance with its internal policies and procedures.  Any 
fees associated with such a review shall be passed through to Sponsor. 
 

 4.7 Recordkeeping 

PacificSource shall maintain, for the duration of this Agreement, the usual and customary books, 
records and documents, including electronic records, that relate to the Program and its 
Participants that PacificSource has prepared or that have otherwise come within its possession. 
These books, records, and documents, including electronic records, are the property of 
Sponsor, and Sponsor has the right of continuing access to them during normal business hours 
at PacificSource’s offices with reasonable prior notice. If this Agreement terminates, 
PacificSource shall deliver all such books, records, and documents to Sponsor, subject to 
PacificSource’s right to retain copies of any records it deems appropriate. Sponsor shall be 
required to pay PacificSource reasonable charges for transportation of such records. 
 

Attachment 1 Page 9 of 36 



10                                                              Third Party Administrative Services Agreement _ City of Springfield_0124 

Provided, however, that upon termination of this Agreement, PacificSource must comply with 
the terms of the applicable separate Business Associate Addendum with respect to the 
destruction or return of all PHI, including PHI that is in the possession of subcontractors or 
agents of PacificSource. 

 4.8 Standard of Care; Erroneous Payments 

PacificSource shall use reasonable care and due diligence in the exercise of its powers and the 
performance of its duties under this Agreement, provided that a higher standard of care will be 
exercised where required by applicable law. If PacificSource makes any payment under this 
Agreement to an ineligible person, on a claim that is later determined to be fraudulent, or if more 
than the correct amount is paid, PacificSource shall promptly notify Sponsor and make diligent 
efforts to recover any payment made to or on behalf of an ineligible person, fraudulent claim, or 
any overpayment. To the extent electronic payment cards are used, PacificSource shall follow 
the Plan language and applicable legal requirements regarding the efforts to be made. 
PacificSource will follow its established policies and procedures in pursuit of any such erroneous 
payment, but will not be financially responsible for such erroneous payment even if it fails to 
recover the amounts paid in error. PacificSource shall not be required to pursue any erroneous 
payment that is for an amount of fifteen ($15) U.S. dollars or less. 

 4.9 Notices to Sponsor  

PacificSource shall provide Sponsor with any and all notices, including those relating to privacy 
policies and practices, as may be required by any applicable state and/or federal law addressed 
to the representative designated in paragraph 9.9 (b). 

 4.10 Non-Discretionary Duties; Additional Duties 

PacificSource and Sponsor agree that the duties to be performed by PacificSource under this 
Agreement are non-discretionary. To the extent a question may arise regarding any Plan 
document or provision thereof, PacificSource shall be entitled to rely on Sponsor’s direction or 
interpretation. Any additional duties agreed upon by PacificSource and Sponsor will not be 
effective unless specified in writing and signed by both Parties. 

 4.11 Subcontractors 

PacificSource may engage subcontractors to assist PacificSource in the performance of its 
obligations under this Agreement. Subcontractors may include, among others, vendors of debit 
card services. PacificSource guarantees the subcontractor’s performance to the same degree 
as if the PacificSource provided the services directly. PacificSource will ensure that, if 
necessary, a Business Associate Addendum is in place with respect to applicable services 
provided by a subcontractor. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, 
Sponsor hereby authorizes PacificSource to act as its agent, on a limited basis, to contract with 
a subcontractor to act as a pharmacy rebate aggregator in an effort to enhance pharmacy 
rebates, and to take such action as reasonably necessary to enhance such pharmacy rebates.    

V. PAYMENTS FOR BENEFITS; SPONSOR’S FUNDING RESPONSIBILITY 

 5.1 Payment of Benefits 

Sponsor authorizes PacificSource to pay Plan benefits from a bank account established by 
PacificSource for the payment of Plan benefits. PacificSource issues payment weekly. The 
Sponsor shall be invoiced for reimbursement twice per month or at such other interval as may 
be agreed upon. Sponsor will reimburse PacificSource upon receipt but no later than five days 
or as otherwise agreed upon. In the event Sponsor fails to remit reimbursement as required 

Attachment 1 Page 10 of 36 



11                                                              Third Party Administrative Services Agreement _ City of Springfield_0124 

herein (“Reimbursement Default”), PacificSource shall have no duty or obligation to pay benefits 
under this Agreement for the period of time in which Sponsor remains in Reimbursement 
Default. 

 5.2 Prompt Payment 

Payments for benefits under the terms of this Agreement may fall under the ‘Prompt Pay’ 
statute(s) of the State of Oregon. PacificSource shall comply with any and all such Prompt Pay 
statute(s), including any interest payments that may be required under those statute(s), unless 
Sponsor is exempt as an ERISA group, has received an exemption from such statute(s), or can 
show that it is exempt under the explicit terms of the statute(s). Sponsor shall provide 
PacificSource with any information reasonably requested by PacificSource detailing any claimed 
exemption. In the absence of such evidence of exemption, PacificSource shall comply with any 
Prompt Pay statute(s). 

 5.3 Funding of Benefits 

Funding for any benefit payment to (or on behalf of) the Participants under the Plan, including 
but not limited to, all benefits to Participants in accordance with the Plan, is the sole 
responsibility of Sponsor. Sponsor agrees to accept liability for, and provide sufficient funds to 
satisfy, all payments to Participants or on their behalf under the Plan, including claims for 
reimbursement for covered expenses as described in the applicable Plan documents, if such 
expenses are incurred and the claim is presented for payment during the term of this 
Agreement. 

5.4 Claims Pre Fund 

Sponsor may be required to pay a claim pre fund upon the Effective Date of this Agreement. 
This claim pre fund may be modified by written agreement of the Parties upon each renewal 
date based on expected paid claim changes to the Plan and covered Participants. This claim 
pre fund will be held in an interest bearing account by PacificSource until the termination date, 
including the run out period if applicable, of this Agreement. The claim pre fund will be paid with 
interest to the Sponsor 30 days following the end of the first 12 months of run-out administration. 

5.5 Subrogation, Reimbursement, and Recovery 

If a Participant incurs expenses for sickness or injury that occurred due to the negligence of a 
third party and benefits are provided as described in the Plan, then: (1) PacificSource, on behalf 
of the Sponsor, has the right to establish subrogation rights and to request reimbursement, 
recovery, or subrogation for all benefits the Plan has paid that are related to any and all 
damages collected from the third party for those same expenses whether by action at law, 
settlement, or compromise, from the Participant, the Participant’s parents if the Participant is a 
minor, or the Participant’s legal representative, in an amount as provided under the Plan 
documents; and (2) PacificSource, on behalf of the Sponsor, has the right to request 
reimbursement, recovery, or subrogation of the same from the third party or his or her insurer, in 
an amount as provided under the Plan documents. 

PacificSource is required to remit any collected reimbursement, recovery, or subrogation 
amounts directly back to the Sponsor. This provision applies regardless of whether the third 
party admits liability. Reimbursement, recovery, and subrogation activities shall be conducted in 
accordance with applicable state and federal law, the terms of the Plan documents and in 
accordance notification requirements as may be customary and required by applicable state and 
federal laws. 

Attachment 1 Page 11 of 36 



12                                                              Third Party Administrative Services Agreement _ City of Springfield_0124 

PacificSource has been authorized by the Sponsor to continue claims payments for any injury or 
sickness that involves reimbursement, recovery, or subrogation, provided however that 
PacificSource shall additionally pursue any rights under this Section at the same time. If a 
specific injury or sickness reaches an amount equal to the Sponsor’s stop loss deductible, then 
PacificSource may temporarily place all claims payments in pending status for such injury or 
sickness while PacificSource pursues any rights under this Section. 

VI. PACIFICSOURCE COMPENSATION 

6.1 Service Charges  

The monthly service charges of PacificSource are described in Exhibit II. Sponsor shall be 
invoiced once per month. Sponsor will remit payment to PacificSource upon receipt but no later 
than ten business days.  
 
PacificSource may change the amount of such charges by providing at least 60 days written or 
electronic notice to Sponsor. PacificSource may also change the monthly service charges as of 
the date of any Plan change, upon a change of 10% or more in the number of Employees. In no 
event will PacificSource allow any proration of service charges due as outlined in Exhibit II or 
the PacificSource Stop Loss Policy (if applicable). 
 

 6.2 Billing of Charges 

All service charges of PacificSource, whether provided for in this or any other Section of this 
Agreement, shall be billed separately from statements for payment of claims so that a proper 
accounting can be made by Sponsor as to the respective amounts paid for claims and for 
administrative expenses. 

 6.3 Payment of Charges 

All charges under this Section VI shall be determined by PacificSource and billed to Sponsor on 
a monthly basis.  Sponsor shall make payment to PacificSource within ten business days of 
receipt of notice of the amount due. 

 6.4 Compensation Disclosures 

PacificSource shall disclose direct and indirect sources of compensation received by 
PacificSource, other than the items discussed above, attributable to this Agreement as required 
by law. Total compensation received by PacificSource for the performance of services under 
this Agreement, including direct and indirect sources of compensation, may not exceed what is 
considered “reasonable” for purposes of ERISA’s prohibited transaction exemption for services 
to a plan. 

VII. INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS 

 7.1 Indemnification by Sponsor 

Subject to the limitations of the Oregon Governmental Tort Claims Act, ORS 30.260 et seq., the 
Sponsor will indemnify, defend, save, and hold PacificSource (and its employees, officers, 
directors, agents and affiliates) harmless from and against any and all claims, suits, actions, 
liabilities, losses, penalties, or damages including court costs and reasonable attorney’s fees, 
which result from or arise out of any responsibility, duty, or obligation of the Sponsor, the 
Administrator, the Plan, or any other party with respect to the Plan, relating to the services to be 

Attachment 1 Page 12 of 36 



13                                                              Third Party Administrative Services Agreement _ City of Springfield_0124 

provided under this Agreement or any addenda to this Agreement, except to the extent such 
claims, suits, actions, liabilities, losses, penalties, or damages arise out of the negligent acts or 
omissions or misconduct of PacificSource or its employees, provided such acts or omissions 
done by PacificSource were not done at the direction of the Sponsor or the Administrator when 
established by clear and convincing evidence. In addition, Sponsor shall indemnify 
PacificSource and hold it harmless from and against any liability, expense, demand, or other 
obligation resulting from or arising out of any premium charge, tax, or similar assessment 
(federal or state), for which the Plan or Sponsor is liable. For purposes of clarity, Sponsor’s 
obligations in this Section 7.1 include any actions against PacificSource that arise from 
Sponsor’s Plan design, direction or instructions to PacificSource, or program administration 
where PacificSource administers Sponsor’s Program as designed, directed or instructed, or 
planned by Sponsor. Sponsor shall also have the indemnification obligation described in Section 
4.3. 
 

 7.2 Indemnification by PacificSource 

PacificSource shall defend and indemnify Sponsor and hold it (and its Employees, officers, 
directors, agents and affiliates) harmless from and against all loss, liability, damage, expense, 
attorney's fees or other obligations resulting from, or arising out of, any act or omission of 
PacificSource in connection with the Plan, or claim, demand, or lawsuit by Plan Participants and 
beneficiaries against Sponsor in connection with benefit payments or services performed (or not 
performed) by PacificSource hereunder. In addition, PacificSource shall indemnify Sponsor and 
hold it harmless from and against any liability, expense, demand, or other obligation resulting 
from or arising out of any premium charge, tax, or similar assessment (federal or state), for 
which the PacificSource is liable.  

7.3 Termination of this Agreement shall not relieve either Party of its indemnification 

obligations 

VIII. TERMINATION 

 8.1 Automatic 

Unless specifically agreed to otherwise in a written amendment to this Agreement, this 
Agreement shall terminate with 20 days written notice as of the earliest occurrence of any one of 
the following: (1) the end of the term specified in Section 2.1, or any subsequent renewal 
thereof; (2) the effective date of any legislation which makes the Plan and/or this Agreement 
illegal; (3) the date either Party becomes insolvent, or bankrupt, or subject to liquidation, 
receivership, or conservatorship; or (4) the termination date of the Plan, subject to any 
agreement between Sponsor and PacificSource regarding payment of benefits after the Plan is 
terminated.  

 8.2 Discretionary 

This Agreement may be terminated with 20 days written notice as of the earliest occurrence of 
any one of the following: (1) by PacificSource upon failure of the Sponsor to replenish the funds 
of the account referenced in Section 5.1 within ten  business days following notice of the same; 
(2) by PacificSource upon the failure of Sponsor to pay any charges within ten business days 
after they are due and payable as provided in Section VI; (3) by PacificSource upon the failure 
of Sponsor to perform its obligations in accordance with this Agreement; (4) by Sponsor upon 
the failure of PacificSource to perform its obligations in accordance with this Agreement or upon 
termination of the Business Associate Addendum; (5) by Sponsor if it is unable to agree to any 
adjustment of price in accordance with section 6.1, Exhibit II and the PacificSource Stop Loss 

Attachment 1 Page 13 of 36 



14                                                              Third Party Administrative Services Agreement _ City of Springfield_0124 

Policy (if applicable); or (6) by Sponsor upon a 30 business day written notice of termination to 
PacificSource. 

 8.3 Limited Continuation Following Termination 

If the Plan is terminated, Sponsor and PacificSource may mutually agree in writing as an 
amendment to this Agreement that this Agreement shall continue for the purpose of payment of 
any Plan benefit, expense, or claims incurred prior to the date of Plan termination. In addition, if 
this Agreement is terminated while the Plan continues in effect, Sponsor and PacificSource may 
mutually agree in writing as an amendment to this Agreement that this Agreement shall continue 
for the purpose of payment of any claims for which requests for reimbursements have been 
received by PacificSource before the date of such termination. If this Agreement is continued in 
accordance with this Section 8.3, Sponsor shall pay the required invoiced run-out claims and 
any run-out claims processing fees, as set forth in Exhibit II, upon receipt but no later than ten 
business days.  

 8.4 Survival of Certain Provisions 

Termination of this Agreement shall not terminate: (1) the rights or obligations of either Party 
arising out of a period prior to such termination; (2) the indemnity, confidentiality, privacy, and 
security provisions of this Agreement; (3) the duties and obligations imposed on PacificSource 
by the Business Associate Addendum attached hereto as Exhibit I to the extent they survive this 
Agreement; and (4) any provision in this Agreement or any Addendum which specifically 
provides for termination of this Agreement. 

IX. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 9.1 Severability 

If any term of this Agreement is declared invalid by a court, the same will not affect the validity of 
any other provision, provided that the basic purposes of this Agreement are achieved through 
the remaining valid provisions.  

 9.2 Headings 

The headings of Sections and subsections contained in this Agreement are for reference 
purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. 

 9.3 Compliance and Non-Waiver 

Failure by Sponsor or PacificSource to insist upon strict performance of any provision of this 
Agreement will not modify such provision, render it unenforceable, or waive any subsequent 
breach. No waiver or modification of any of the terms or provisions of this Agreement shall be 
valid unless in each instance the waiver or modification is made pursuant to the amendment 
provisions of Section 9.4, infra. 

 9.4 Amendment 

This Agreement may only be amended by written agreement of the Parties. 

 9.5 Assignment 

Neither Party can assign this Agreement without the other Party’s written consent, which shall 
not be unreasonably withheld.  

Attachment 1 Page 14 of 36 



15                                                              Third Party Administrative Services Agreement _ City of Springfield_0124 

 9.6 Audits 

Each Party shall be authorized to perform audits of the records of payment to all Participants 
and other data specifically related to performance of the Parties under this Agreement upon 
reasonable prior written notice to the other. Audits shall be performed during normal working 
hours. Audits may be performed by an agent of either Party, provided such agent signs an 
acceptable confidentiality agreement, and Business Associate Addendum, as applicable. Each 
Party agrees to provide reasonable assistance and information to the auditors. Sponsor 
acknowledges and agrees that if it requests an audit, it shall reimburse PacificSource for 
PacificSource’s reasonable expenses, including copying and labor costs, in assisting Sponsor to 
perform the audit.  

 9.7 Non-Disclosure of Proprietary Information 

  (a) General. Sponsor and PacificSource each acknowledge that in contemplation 
of entering into this Agreement (and as a result of the contractual relationship created hereby), 
each Party has revealed and disclosed, and shall continue to reveal and disclose to the other, 
information which is proprietary and/or confidential information of such Party. Sponsor and 
PacificSource agree that each Party shall: (1) keep such proprietary and/or confidential 
information of the other Party in strict confidence; (2) not disclose confidential information of the 
other Party to any third parties or to any of its employees not having a legitimate need to know 
such information; and (3) shall not use confidential information of the other Party for any 
purpose not directly related to and necessary for the performance of its obligations under this 
Agreement (unless required to do so by a court of competent jurisdiction or a regulatory body 
having authority to require such disclosure).  
 
  (b) Confidential Information Defined. Information revealed or disclosed by a Party 
for any purpose not directly related to and necessary for the performance of such Party's 
obligations under this Agreement shall not be considered confidential information for purposes 
hereof: (1) if, when, and to the extent such information is or becomes generally available to the 
public without the fault or negligence of the Party receiving or disclosing the information; (2) if 
the unrestricted use of such information by the Party receiving or disclosing the information has 
been expressly authorized in writing and in advance by an authorized representative of the other 
Party; or (3) if required by applicable law. For purposes of this Section, confidential information 
is any information in written, human-readable, machine-readable, or electronically recorded form 
(and marked as confidential and/or proprietary, or words of similar import) and information 
disclosed orally in connection with this Agreement and identified as confidential and/or 
proprietary (or words of similar import); and programs, policies, practices, procedures, files, 
records, and correspondence concerning the Parties' respective businesses or finances. The 
terms and conditions of this Section 9.7(b) shall survive the termination of this Agreement.  

 9.8 Governing Law; Venue; Attorneys’ Fees 

This Agreement is made and entered into and is to be governed by the laws of the State of 
Oregon applicable to agreements made within such State, without regard to the conflicts of law 
principles of such State. The venue for all purposes in connection with this Agreement shall be 
the County of Lane, State of Oregon. In the event any suit or action is instituted under or in 
relation to this Agreement, including without limitation to enforce any provision of this 
Agreement, the prevailing party in such dispute shall be entitled to recover from the non-
prevailing party all fees, costs, and expenses of enforcing any right of such prevailing party 
under this Agreement, including without limitation, such reasonable fees and expenses of 
attorneys which shall include, without limitation, all fees, costs, and expenses of appeals. 

Attachment 1 Page 15 of 36 



16                                                              Third Party Administrative Services Agreement _ City of Springfield_0124 

 9.9 Notices and Communications 

  (a) Notices. All notices provided for herein shall be sent by confirmed facsimile, or 
guaranteed overnight mail, with tracing capability, or by first class United States mail, with 
postage prepaid, addressed to the other Party at their respective addresses set forth below or 
such other addresses as either party may designate in writing to the other from time to time for 
such purposes. All notices provided for herein shall be deemed given or made when received.  
 
  (b) Addresses.  
 
Sponsor’s address for notices is:   PacificSource’s address for notices is: 
 
City of Springfield    PacificSource Health Plans 
Attn: Chaim Hertz    Attn: Sales 
225 5th St    PO Box 7068 
Springfield, OR 97477   Springfield, OR 97475-0068 
 
  (c) Communications. Sponsor agrees that PacificSource may communicate 
confidential, protected, privileged or otherwise sensitive information to Sponsor through the 
named contact noted above (“Named Contact”) designated by Sponsor and specifically agrees 
to indemnify PacificSource and hold it harmless: (1) for any such communications directed to 
Sponsor through the Named Contact attempted via telefax, mail, telephone, email, or any other 
media, acknowledging the possibility that such communications may be inadvertently misrouted 
or intercepted; and (2) from any claim for the improper use or disclosure of any PHI by 
PacificSource if such information is used or disclosed in a manner consistent with its duties and 
responsibilities hereunder or under the separate applicable Business Associate Addendum. 

 9.10 Force Majeure 

All obligations of both Parties shall be suspended while, but only as long as, a Party is 
prevented by matters beyond its reasonable control from complying with such obligations in 
whole or in part as by strikes, lockouts, acts of God, explosion, flood, epidemics, unavoidable 
accidents, inability to obtain permits, licenses, or any necessary governmental or private 
authorization, any local, state or federal law, regulation or order or any other matters beyond the 
reasonable control of a Party, whether similar to the matters herein specifically enumerated or 
not and whether foreseeable or unforeseeable; provided, however, that the Party shall have, 
and continue to, in a timely and diligent manner to remedy such cause; and provided, however, 
that performance shall be resumed within a reasonable time after such cause has been 
removed; and provided further that neither Party shall be required, unwillingly, to adjust any 
labor disputes or to question the validity or to refrain from judicially testing the validity of any 
local, state or federal order, regulation or law. 

 9.11 Participation with Health Improvement Entities 

PacificSource is a participating member with various entities that are devoted to improving 
public health.  From time to time, PacificSource may release any data in its possession to these 
entities, or to any third party vendor employed by such an entity.  PacificSource shall take all 
reasonable steps to ensure that any such data is protected by data use and/or business 
associate agreements, as may be appropriate.  Execution of this Agreement by Sponsor shall 
serve as specific authorization for the release of such data in accordance with this provision. 

Attachment 1 Page 16 of 36 



17                                                              Third Party Administrative Services Agreement _ City of Springfield_0124 

 9.12 Sponsor Vendor(s) 

If the Sponsor elects to utilize a third party vendor(s) for any part of its health Plan, including 
without limitation an enrollment vendor, pharmacy benefit manager, or care management 
vendor, then the Sponsor hereby affirms that it has entered into a valid business associate 
agreement with said vendor(s) and that both the Sponsor and vendor(s) are in compliance with 
HIPAA, as amended. The Sponsor hereby requests and authorizes PacificSource to exchange 
Protected Health Information with said vendor(s) for the purpose of administering the eligibility, 
benefits, and services provided in this Plan. 

 9.13 Complete Agreement 

This Agreement, which includes the following, constitute the full Agreement of the Parties with 
respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements 
and representations between the Parties.  Included and incorporated are: 

• Exhibit I: Business Associate Addendum; 

• Exhibit II: Coverage Services Addendum; 

• Confidentiality Agreement with CVS/Caremark; 

• PacificSource Stop Loss Policy if applicable; and 

• Any applicable appendices, attachments, exhibits, and amendments affixed hereto. 

 9.14 Opt-Out of Quality Improvement Measures 

Sponsor will not be included in any quality improvement measures conducted by PacificSource, 
including without limitation Health Effectiveness and Data Information Set, Consumer 
Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems, and all National Committee for Quality 
Assurance accreditation activities. As such, PacificSource will have no contact with Participants 
for any purpose under this section. 
 

X. SIGNATURE  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Sponsor and PacificSource have caused this Agreement to be 
executed in their names by their undersigned officers, who are duly authorized to do so. 
 
 

“Sponsor”      “PacificSource”  

City of Springfield     PacificSource Health Plans 

 

By:________________________   By:  

Print:______________________   Print:  John Espinola, MD 

Title:______________________   Title:  President and Chief Executive Officer  

Date:______________________   Date:  12/18/2024 

 
 

 

Attachment 1 Page 17 of 36 

kskraaz
Typewriter
Kristina Kraaz

kskraaz
Typewriter
1/9/2024



1                                                             Exhibit I: Business Associate Addendum_City of Springfield_0124 

 
 

EXHIBIT I: BUSINESS ASSOCIATE ADDENDUM 

Between 

City of Springfield 

and 

PacificSource Health Plans  
 
 

 
Sponsor and PacificSource intend to protect the privacy and provide for the security of 
PHI disclosed to PacificSource pursuant to the Agreement in compliance with the Health 
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, as amended (“HIPAA”), and 
regulations promulgated thereunder (the “HIPAA Regulations”), the American Recovery 
and Reinvestment Act of 2009, and regulations promulgated thereunder, and other 
applicable laws, as further described below. 
 

 
1. Definitions.  Capitalized terms used herein without definition shall have the meanings 

assigned to such terms in 45 CFR Parts 160 and 164. 
 
2. Obligations of PacificSource 
 

(a) Permitted Uses and Disclosures.  PacificSource may use and/or disclose PHI only 
as required to satisfy its obligations under the Agreement, as permitted herein, or 
required by law, but shall not otherwise use or disclose PHI.   

 
(b) Safeguards.  PacificSource shall use commercially reasonable safeguards to 

prevent use or disclosure of Plan Sponsor PHI other than as provided for by this 
Addendum, including encryption of electronic PHI outside of a secured data center.  
PacificSource shall maintain a comprehensive written information privacy and 
security program that includes administrative, technical and physical safeguards 
that reasonably and appropriately protect the confidentiality, integrity and 
availability of electronic PHI that it creates, receives, maintains, or transmits on 
behalf of Plan Sponsor, as required by 45 CFR 164.314(a)(2)(i)(A).   

 
(c) Reporting of Disclosures.  PacificSource shall report to Plan Sponsor any use or 

disclosure of Plan Sponsor PHI otherwise than as provided for by this Addendum 
of which PacificSource becomes aware.  PacificSource shall also report to Plan 
Sponsor any Security Incident related to PHI of which PacificSource becomes 
aware. 

 

Attachment 1 Page 18 of 36 



2                                                             Exhibit I: Business Associate Addendum_City of Springfield_0124 

(d) Mitigation.  PacificSource agrees to mitigate, to the extent practicable, any harmful 
effect that is known to PacificSource of a use or disclosure of PHI by PacificSource 
in violation of this Addendum. 

 
(e) PacificSource’s Agents.  PacificSource shall ensure that any agents, including 

subcontractors, to whom it provides PHI received from (or created or received by 
PacificSource on behalf of) Plan Sponsor, agree to the same restrictions and 
conditions that apply to PacificSource with respect to such PHI.   

 
(f) Availability of Information to Plan Sponsor.  PacificSource shall make available to 

Plan Sponsor such information as Plan Sponsor may require to fulfill the 
obligations of Plan Sponsor to provide access to, provide a copy of, and account 
for disclosures with respect to PHI pursuant to HIPAA and the HIPAA Regulations, 
including, but not limited to, 45 CFR Section 164.524 and 164.528. 

 
(g) Amendment of PHI.  PacificSource shall make Plan Sponsor PHI available to Plan 

Sponsor as Plan Sponsor may require to fulfill Plan Sponsor obligations to amend 
PHI pursuant to HIPAA and the HIPAA Regulations, including, but not limited to, 
45 CFR Section 164.526 and PacificSource shall, as directed by Plan Sponsor, 
incorporate any amendments to Plan Sponsor PHI into copies of such PHI 
maintained by PacificSource.   

 
(h) Internal Practices.  PacificSource shall make its internal practices, books, and 

records relating to the use and disclosure of PHI received from (or created or 
received by PacificSource on behalf of) Plan Sponsor available to the Secretary 
for purposes of determining the compliance of Plan Sponsor with HIPAA and the 
HIPAA Regulations. 

 
(i) Documentation and Accounting of Disclosures.  PacificSource shall document 

disclosures of PHI, and provide such information, as would be required for Plan 
Sponsor to respond to a request by an Individual for an accounting of disclosures 
of PHI in accordance with 45 CFR Section 164.528. 

 
(j) Notification of Breach.  During the term of this Addendum, PacificSource shall 

notify Plan Sponsor as soon as reasonably practical of any suspected act or actual 
breach of security, intrusion or unauthorized use or disclosure of PHI and/or any 
actual or suspected use or disclosure of data in violation of any applicable federal 
or state laws or regulations, and shall provide such information as required under 
HIPAA.  PacificSource shall take (i) prompt corrective action to cure any such 
deficiencies and (ii) any action pertaining to such unauthorized disclosure required 
by applicable federal and state laws and regulations. 

 
3. Obligations of Plan Sponsor.   
 

(a) Safeguards.  Plan Sponsor shall be responsible for using appropriate safeguards 
to maintain and ensure the confidentiality, privacy and security of PHI transmitted 
to PacificSource pursuant to this Addendum, and in accordance with the standards 
and requirements of HIPAA and the HIPAA Regulations until such PHI is received 
by PacificSource; at a minimum, Plan Sponsor shall ensure that all electronic PHI 

Attachment 1 Page 19 of 36 



3                                                             Exhibit I: Business Associate Addendum_City of Springfield_0124 

is encrypted.  Plan Sponsor shall be responsible to send any and all notifications 
required under HIPAA. 

 
(b) Notification of Limitations.  Plan Sponsor shall notify PacificSource of any 

limitations in its notice of privacy practices of Plan Sponsor in accordance with 45 
CFR Section 164.520, to the extent that such limitations may affect PacificSource’s 
use or disclosure of PHI. 

 
(c) Notice of Changes.  Plan Sponsor shall notify PacificSource of any changes in, or 

revocation of, permission by Individual to use or disclose PHI, to the extent that 
such changes may affect PacificSource’s use or disclosure of PHI. 

 
(d) Notification of Restrictions.  Plan Sponsor shall notify PacificSource of any 

restriction to the use or disclosure of PHI that Plan Sponsor has agreed to in 
accordance with 45 CFR Section 164.522, after consultation with PacificSource, 
to the extent such restriction may affect PacificSource’s use or disclosure of PHI. 

 
(e) Compliance.  Plan Sponsor shall not act or fail to act in a manner that would cause 

PacificSource to violate or not be in compliance with this Addendum, applicable 
state and federal laws, including HIPAA.  Employer acknowledges that it is not 
PacificSource’s responsibility or obligation to ensure that Plan Sponsor comply 
with any applicable state and/or federal laws. 

 
4. Audits, Inspections and Enforcement.  From time to time upon reasonable notice, 

upon reasonable determination by Plan Sponsor that PacificSource has breached this 
Addendum; Plan Sponsor may inspect the facilities, systems, books and records of 
PacificSource that pertain to the Plan Sponsor to monitor compliance with this 
addendum.   PacificSource shall promptly remedy any violation of any term of this 
addendum and shall certify the same to Plan Sponsor in writing.   

 
5. Termination. 
 

(a) Reasonable Steps to Cure Breach.  If Plan Sponsor knows of a pattern of activity 
or practice of PacificSource that constitutes a material breach or violation of the 
PacificSource’s obligations under the provision of this Addendum or another 
arrangement and does not terminate the Agreement pursuant to the termination 
provisions of the Agreement, then PacificSource shall take reasonable steps to 
cure such breach or end such violation as applicable.  If PacificSource’s efforts to 
cure such breach or end such violation are unsuccessful, Plan Sponsor shall either 
(i) terminate the Agreement, if feasible, or (ii) if termination of this Addendum is not 
feasible, Plan Sponsor shall report PacificSource’s breach or violation to the 
Secretary.   

 
(b) Judicial or Administrative Proceedings.  Either party may terminate the Agreement 

effective immediately, if (i) the other party is named as a defendant in a criminal 
proceeding for a violation of HIPAA or (ii) a finding or stipulation that the other party 
has violated any standard or requirement of HIPAA or other security or privacy 
laws is made in any administrative or civil proceeding in which the party has been 
joined.   

 
Attachment 1 Page 20 of 36 



4                                                             Exhibit I: Business Associate Addendum_City of Springfield_0124 

(c) Effect of Termination.  Upon termination of this Addendum for any reason, 
PacificSource shall return or destroy all PHI received from (or created or received 
by PacificSource on behalf of) Plan Sponsor that PacificSource still maintains in 
any form and shall retain no copies of such PHI or, if the return or destruction is 
not feasible, it shall continue to extend the protections of this Addendum to such 
information. 

 
6. Amendment to Comply With Law.  The parties acknowledge that state and federal 

laws relating to Electronic Data Security and privacy may be evolving and that the 
amendment of this Addendum may be required to provide for procedures to ensure 
compliance with such developments.  The parties specifically agree to take such 
action as is necessary to implement the standards and requirements of HIPAA, the 
HIPAA Regulations, and other applicable laws relating to the security and 
confidentiality of PHI.   

 
7. No Third Party Beneficiaries.  Nothing expressed or implied in this Addendum is 

intended to confer, nor shall anything herein confer, upon any person other than Plan 
Sponsor, PacificSource and their respective successors or assigns, any rights, 
remedies, obligations or liabilities whatsoever. 

 
8. Effect on Agreement.  Except as specifically required to implement the purposes of 

this Addendum, or to the extent inconsistent with this Addendum, all other terms of 
the Agreement shall remain in force and effect. 

 
9. Interpretation.  This Addendum and the Agreement shall be interpreted as broadly as 

necessary to implement and comply with HIPAA, HIPAA Regulations, and applicable 
state laws.  The parties agree that any ambiguity in this Addendum shall be resolved 
in favor of a meaning that complies and is consistent with HIPAA and the HIPAA 
Regulations. 

 
 
 

Attachment 1 Page 21 of 36 



1                                                                           Exhibit II: Coverage Services Addendum_City of Springfield_0124 

 
 

EXHIBIT II: COVERAGE SERVICES ADDENDUM 

Between 
City of Springfield 

and 
PacificSource Health Plans 

 
Agreement Period:           01/01/2024 through 12/31/2024 
 
I. INTRODUCTION 

This Exhibit II: Coverage Services is effective as of the date noted in Section 2.1 of the Third 
Party Administrative Services Agreement entered into by and between City of Springfield 
(“Sponsor”) and PacificSource Health Plans (“PacificSource”), and to which this Exhibit is 
attached. In the event of any discrepancy or contradiction between the terms of the Agreement 
and this Exhibit, the terms of this Exhibit shall control. 

II. FEES 

The fees and costs payable for the services provided under this Exhibit II shall be as follows: 

Number of Employees on Effective Date    420 

Required Claim Fund Deposit Received in 2013    $200,000 

Administrative Fees 

Broker Fees 
 

 

 
 

Network Fees 
 

 

 
 
 

Claims Administration  PEPM 
Medical / RX $48.35 
Vision Included in Medical/RX Fee 

Coverage PEPM 
Medical/RX $0 

Network  Fee 
Medical Access Fee $4.75 PEPM 

Travel Wrap Network Fee 
First Choice of Washington 12.75% of Savings 
Aetna Signature Administrators 16.75% of Savings 

Attachment 1 Page 22 of 36 



2                                                                           Exhibit II: Coverage Services Addendum_City of Springfield_0124 

Travel Wrap programs are available for coverage when members travel outside of your 
chosen network(s). Travel Wrap Network Fees are per PacificSource agreement with 
the Travel Wrap Network, and are subject to change. The Fees noted above are pass 
through costs.  
Aetna Signature Administrators percent of savings fee applies to all services received 
outside of PacificSource’s four state service area and billed in addition to medical 
network access fee as a pass through cost in the Register of Paid Claims. 

Optional Programs 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Other 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

III. PHARMACY  
 
 

 

IV. INCLUDED SERVICES FOR COVERAGES ADMINISTERED BY PACIFICSOURCE 

Programs  Accept 
/Decline 

ACS Quit for Life – Tobacco Cessation $ PEPM Declined 
Assist America – Global Emergency Services $0.41 PEPM Accepted 
Biometric Screening Pass through Declined 
Health Education Programs Pass through Accepted 
Medicare Part B Premium Reimbursement - 
(dialysis program) Pass through Accepted 

Teladoc $ PEPM Declined 
Weight Watchers Pass through Accepted 

Coordination of Benefits -  True 1/1/24– 7/31/24 8/1/24– 
12/31/24 

Assessment 
Basis 

Comprehensive COB –  
One time fee per identified member 

$35.00 $36.05 Per Validation 
Fee 

Renewal Notification -  Days 
Advanced Renewal Notification 120 days 

Pharmacy Benefit Manager (PBM) - Caremark 
Pharmacy Rebates 100% of rebates shared with Sponsor 

Services 
24 Hour Nurseline 
Condition Support and AccordantCare – Rare Disease Management 
Prenatal Management 
Standard Documents: 

Attachment 1 Page 23 of 36 



3                                                                           Exhibit II: Coverage Services Addendum_City of Springfield_0124 

 

 
 
 
 
 
V. STANDARD ADDITIONAL FEES 
 

*Custom Programming available to groups with 500 or more enrolled Employees. This 
is defined as programming beyond implementation that 1) is specific to Customer’s 
operations or benefits; or 2) results in the need for system enhancements. 

VI.         PACIFICSOURCE CONTACT INFORMATION 

 Any correspondence mailed to 
PacificSource will be mailed to: 

PacificSource Health Plans 
Attn: Sales 
PO Box 7068 
Springfield, OR 97475-0068 
Phone: 541-686-1242 
Fax: 541-485-0915 

 Any Enrollment Information, billing 
information, and payments mailed 
to PacificSource will be mailed to: 

PacificSource Health Plans 
Attn: Membership Services 
PO Box 7068 
Springfield, OR 97475-0068 
Phone: 866-999-5583 
Fax: 541-225-3642 
E-mail: Membership@PacificSource.com 

 

 Plan Documents 
 Plan Amendments  
 Summary of Benefits and Coverage (SBC) 

Standard Identification Cards 
Utilization Review & Large Case Management 
Wellness Programs Level I 

Other Fee 
Applicable taxes, surcharges and assessments Pass through cost to Sponsor 
Claim audits, vendor set-up and similar charges Pass through cost to Sponsor 
Custom Ad Hoc Reporting $175 per hour 
Custom Programming* $150 per hour 
Independent Medical Review (IMR) Pass through cost to Sponsor 
Federal No Surprises Act Independent Dispute 
Resolution Fees Pass through cost to Sponsor 

Independent Review Organization (IRO) Pass through cost to Sponsor 
Run-In Claims Processing Not Available 

Run-Out Claims Processing 
Two months claims administration 
fees for 12 months of run-out 
services 

SBC & SPD Printing and Shipping Pass through cost to Sponsor 
State Surprise Billing Program/Arbitration Fees Pass through cost to Sponsor 

Attachment 1 Page 24 of 36 



 

1                            Reporting Services Addendum_Medical_0124 

 
 

 
 

REPORTING SERVICES ADDENDUM 

 
 
This addendum outlines reporting services performed by PacificSource on behalf of the 
Sponsor. Reporting services are limited to coverages administered by PacificSource and where 
applicable by federal and state regulations. Please refer to Exhibit II for any applicable Standard 
Additional Fees.  

The following list is not exhaustive and is subject to change. 

- Air Ambulance Claims Report 

- Annual Gag Clause Attestation (when authorized by Sponsor) 

- Annual Prescription Drug Data Collection (RxDC) Reporting  

- Idaho Immunization Assessment (program eligible participants) 

- Machine Readable Files (In-network (INN) Rate, Out-of-network (OON) Allowed Amount, 

Prescription Drugs) 

- Non-Quantitative Treatment Limitations (NQTL) Comparative Analysis 

- Pricing Information for 500 items and services available on-line 

- Qualifying Payment Amount (QPA) Independent Dispute Resolution 

- Section 6055 and 6056 reporting requirements (Forms 1094/1095)  

- Standard Client Reporting 

- State Surcharge Reporting  

- Washington State Partnership Access Line (WAPAL) Fund  

 

 

 

 
 

Attachment 1 Page 25 of 36 



PSGSL.OR.0115 Page 1 City of Springfield_0124 

 

 

STOP LOSS POLICY 

Between 

City of Springfield 

and 

PacificSource Health Plans 

 
WITNESSETH: 

 
In consideration of the Policyholder’s payment of monthly premium in the amounts and at the time 
required, PacificSource will provide stop loss insurance for each Covered Participant in accordance 
with the provisions and subject to the conditions of this Stop Loss Policy. 
 
This Stop Loss Policy, including all certificates of coverage, application, endorsements, schedules, 
or amendments affixed hereto, shall be the entire policy of stop loss insurance fully as if recited over 
the signature affixed hereto.  
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, PacificSource has caused this Self-Funded Group Health Plan Policy  
(the “Plan”) to be executed as of 12:00:01 a.m. this 1st day of January, 2024. 
 
PacificSource Health Plans 
 
                                                     
 
 Johns Espinola, MD   
 President Chief Executive Officer   
 
 

POLICYHOLDER’S ACCEPTANCE 
 

Payment of premium will constitute acceptance of this policy and the changes contained 
within. 

 
 
 

PacificSource Health Plans 
PO Box 7068, Springfield OR 97475-0068 

 

Attachment 1 Page 26 of 36 



PSGSL.OR.0115 Page 2 City of Springfield_0124 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

I. INTRODUCTION…………………………………………………………………………..  3  

II.  DEFINITIONS………………………………………………………………………………  3 

III.  FEE SCHEDULE ……………………………………………………………………….…  5 

IV.  STOP LOSS PROVISIONS ……………………………………………………………...  6 

V.  GENERAL EXCLUSIONS AND LIMITATIONS ………………………………………. 8  

VI. TERMINATION……………………………………………………………………………. 10 

VII.        CONTACT INFORMATION ……………………………………………………………...10  

  

Attachment 1 Page 27 of 36 



PSGSL.OR.0115 Page 3 City of Springfield_0124 

 
STOP LOSS POLICY  

 
 
I. INTRODUCTION 

This Stop Loss Policy is entered into by and between the City of Springfield (the “Plan Sponsor”) and 
PacificSource Health Plans (“PacificSource). 

WHEREAS, Plan Sponsor has established the City of Springfield Employee Benefit Plan, a self-
funded group health plan (“SFGHP”) for its Covered Participants (as defined below); 
 
WHEREAS, Plan Sponsor has retained Claim Administrator to provide claim processing and other 
administrative services for the SFGHP during the Term (defined below) as set forth in an agreement 
entitled “Administrative Services Agreement” (“ASA”); 
 
WHEREAS, Plan Sponsor assumes liability for and funds all benefits under the SFGHP, except as 
otherwise provided in this Stop Loss Policy; 
 
THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreements and covenants contained herein and other 
good and valuable consideration, the Parties agree as set forth herein. 

 
Policy Period:       01/01/2024 through 12/31/2024 

II. DEFINITIONS  

Aggregate Attachment Point means the sum of the Monthly Aggregate Claims Factors that is 
multiplied by the number of monthly Covered Participants each month during the Policy Period. 

Aggregate Reimbursement Maximum means the limit of PacificSource liability in excess of the 
Aggregate Stop Loss Attachment Point per Policy Period under the Stop Loss Provision of this 
Policy. The Aggregate Stop Loss Limit of Liability is shown in Stop loss Fee Schedule. Expenses 
that are the responsibility of the Covered Participant, such as deductibles and coinsurance, do not 
count toward this maximum. Covered services in excess of the Aggregate Reimbursement 
Maximums are the responsibility of the Plan Sponsor. 

Aggregating Specific means an additional deductible applied to the Individual Specific Deductible. 
Claims in excess of the Specific Deducible, during the term of the contract, will be added until the 
cumulative total exceeds the Aggregating Specific amount. The Aggregating Specific must be 
satisfied prior to reimbursements on any Individual Specific Deductible.   
 
Aggregate Stop Loss means the stop loss provided by PacificSource under the Stop Loss 
Provision of this Policy. Additionally, it is a form of stop loss coverage that provides protection for the 
employer against the accumulation of total claims for the group as a whole exceeding a stated level. 

Aggregate Stop Loss Attachment Point is the total amount of Paid Claims for which the Plan 
Sponsor shall be liable while this Policy and the Third Party Administrative Services Agreement 
remain in effect. The Aggregate Stop Loss Attachment Point must be met in each Policy Period 
and will be determined at the end of each Policy Period. 
 
Claim Administrator means PacificSource Health Plans. The term “Claim Administrator” as used 
in this Policy does not refer to the Plan Administrator used in the Employee Retirement Income 
Security Act (ERISA) of 1974.  
 

Attachment 1 Page 28 of 36 



PSGSL.OR.0115 Page 4 City of Springfield_0124 

Covered Expenses means the eligible charges payable under the terms of the Plan. Covered 
Expenses do not include the following: 

1. Amounts in excess of Plan benefits, or services not covered by the Plan; or 
2. Amounts or Services specifically excluded or limited by this Policy, the Stop Loss and 

Aggregate Monthly Premiums, any endorsements, or any amendments to the Plan. 
 
Covered Participant means an eligible individual and that individual’s dependents that become 
covered for benefits under the terms of the Plan. 
 
Disclosure Statement means the signed statement outlying any and all potential Large Claims 
from the Plan Sponsor. This is provided to and accepted by PacificSource that proves certain 
Underwriting information regarding Covered Participants which include disabled persons.  
 
Domestic Expenses means any hospital Inpatient, hospital outpatient, clinic or staff physician 
charges Incurred in a facility that is a parent, subsidiary or affiliate of the Plan Sponsor. Domestic 
reimbursement percentages are applied to existing contracted rates. 
 
Domestic Partnership means individuals of any gender ages 18 or older who are joined in a 
domestic partnership and share jointly the same permanent residence; have an exclusive domestic 
partnership; and are not in a legally binding marriage.  
 
Expected Claim means an estimate of the dollar value of claims to be paid during a policy period. 
Incurred means the date on which services for Covered Expenses were rendered for a Covered 
Participant according to the terms of the Plan Sponsor’s Plan. 
 
Incurred and Paid period means the period of time specified in the Schedule benefit plan in which a 
Covered Expense must be Incurred by a Covered Participant and paid by the Plan to be eligible 
for reimbursement under this Policy. This period does not alter the Effective Date, Policy Period, or 
waive this Policy's eligibility requirements. 
 
Individual Specific Stop Loss Deductible means the amount shown on the Stop Loss Fee 
Schedule for which the Plan Sponsor is responsible to pay. The Individual Specific Stop Loss 
Deductible applies separately to each Covered Participant for each Policy Period. 
 
Large Claim means paid or pending Covered Expenses greater than or equal to 50% of the 
Individual Specific Stop Loss Deductible. 
 
Lasering means a situation where a higher Individual Specific Stop Loss Deductible is assigned 
to a Covered Participant (“Lasered Deductible”). Lasered Participants will be identified in the Stop 
loss Fee Schedule. 
 
Minimum Aggregate Margin Attachment Point means the minimum claims level (deductible) at 
which the Aggregate Stop Loss insurance policy applies. This level is determined by multiplying the 
enrollment in the first month of the policy times 12 months the Aggregate Claim Factors. 
 
Paid Claims means that: 

1. The Covered Expense is adjudicated according to the terms of the Plan; 
2. A check is written and mailed or electronically deposited directly to the payee within the 

Policy Period; and 
3. Funds are available to honor the check. To be sure those funds are available; they must 

be on deposit no later than the first working day following the end of the Policy Period. 
 

Attachment 1 Page 29 of 36 



PSGSL.OR.0115 Page 5 City of Springfield_0124 

Reimbursement Percentage means the rate at which PacificSource will reimburse the Plan 
Sponsor. 
 
Specific Stop Loss shall mean the stop loss provided by PacificSource under the Fees section of 
this Policy. 

Specific Stop Loss Attachment Point is the total amount of Paid Claims per covered individual 
that is not subject to reimbursement or credit by PacificSource under the Specific Stop Loss 
provision during the period when the Third Party Administrative Services Agreement and this Policy 
remain in effect, for each covered insured of the Plan Sponsor. 

Spouse means any individuals who are lawfully married under any state law, including individuals 
married to a person of the same sex who were legally married in a state that recognizes such 
marriages, but who are domiciled in your policy’s state of issuance. Similarly, the term ‘marriage’ will 
be read to include a same-sex marriage that is legally recognized as a marriage under any state law. 
The terms ‘spouse’ and ‘marriage,’ however, do not include individuals in a domestic partnership. 
(See definition for Domestic Partnership.)  

Stop Loss Benefit means the excess risk coverage that provides protection for the Plan Sponsor 
against a high claim on any one Covered Participant.  
Stop Loss Premium means the fees due to PacificSource each month for the specific and 
Aggregate Stop Loss insurance provided under the Stop Loss Provision section of this Policy. The 
Stop Loss Premium shall be computed and paid in accordance with the Payment section of this 
Policy. 

Underwriting means the review of prospective and renewing cases for appropriate pricing, risk 
assessment and administrative feasibility.   
 
III. FEES SCHEDULE   

The fees and costs payable for the services provided under this Policy shall be as follows: 

Number Covered Participants on Effective Date  420 

Specific Stop Loss Coverage: Yes  

 Policy Period 24/12 
 
 Claims must be Incurred and Paid within the following dates: 

Claims Incurred from January 1st, 2023 through December 31st, 2024 
Claims Paid from January 1st, 2024 through December 31st, 2024  
 

 Covered Expenses eligible for Specific Stop Loss Coverage include:  
 

Medical    Yes 
Prescription Drug Card  Yes 
Dental     No 
Vision     No 
  

 Specific Stop-loss Deductible per Covered Participant: $175,000 
 
 Aggregating Specific Stop-loss Deductible: Not applicable 

 
 

Attachment 1 Page 30 of 36 



PSGSL.OR.0115 Page 6 City of Springfield_0124 

 
 Plan expenses Incurred prior to the effective date of the Policy Period are limited to:  

Not applicable 
 
 Specific Stop Loss Reimbursement Percentage in excess of Stop Loss deductible: 100%  
 
 Specific Stop Loss Monthly Premiums: Per employee per month  
 

Composite $158.44 
 

 Specific Stop Loss Agent Commission: Not applicable     
         

 Are any Covered Participants lasered and assigned a higher Specific Stop-loss Deductible? 
Not applicable 

 
 Specific Terminal Liability: Not applicable     

 
Aggregate Stop Loss Coverage: Not Applicable 

 
 

IV. STOP LOSS PROVISIONS 
 
Individual Specific Stop Loss Deductible. Upon acceptance of proof of loss, PacificSource will 
reimburse the Plan Sponsor for payments made by the Plan Sponsor that PacificSource determines 
are Covered Expenses; provided that such payments exceed the Individual Specific Stop Loss 
Deducible as shown in this Policy and are: 
 

1. Incurred while the Plan is in force; 
2. Paid for Covered Participants according to the terms of the Plan; and 
3. Incurred during the Policy Period or during the Incurred Period and paid during the Policy 

Period or during the Paid Period as shown in this Policy. 
 
Payments for Covered Expenses that are eligible for more than one Policy Period will apply toward 
the Policy Period in which Covered Expenses were actually Incurred. 
 
The benefit reimbursed by PacificSource will be at the Reimbursement Percentage shown in this 
Policy. 
 
Individual Specific Stop Loss Deductible Exclusion and Limitations. The following exclusions 
and limitations apply to all Individual Specific Stop Loss Deductible provisions. 
 
PacificSource will not reimburse the Plan Sponsor for Paid Claims that: 
 

1. Have been reimbursed by another insurance company or reinsurance company; 
2. Are Incurred after the Individual Specific Stop Loss Benefit terminates; 

 
Disclosure Statement. For new business, PacificSource Underwriting procedures requires the 
Plan Sponsor to complete and sign a Disclosure Statement. Upon receipt of the initial individual 
request for reimbursement, PacificSource will review the Disclosure Statement to determine if the 
claimant is listed. When listed, PacificSource will continue with our normal pricing process. When the 
claimant is not listed, PacificSource may review the documentation received with the claim 
submission or request additional information to determine coverage and pricing. This form may also 
be required at the time of reinstatement for terminated groups.   

Attachment 1 Page 31 of 36 



PSGSL.OR.0115 Page 7 City of Springfield_0124 

 
Aggregate Reimbursement Maximum. This benefit applies only if indicated in this Policy. 
 
Aggregate Reimbursement Maximum Benefit. Upon acceptance of proof of loss, PacificSource 
will reimburse the Plan Sponsor for payments made by the Plan Sponsor that PacificSource 
determines are Covered Expenses; provided that such payments exceed the Aggregate Stop 
Loss Attachment Point for Paid Claims and are: 
 

1. Incurred while the Plan is in force; 
2. Paid for Covered Participants according to the terms of the Plan; and 
3. Incurred during the Policy Period or during the Incurred Period and paid during the Policy 

Period or during the Paid Period shown in this Policy. 
 
Payments for Covered Expenses that are eligible for more than one Policy Period will apply toward 
the Policy Period in which Covered Expenses are actually Incurred. 
 
Reimbursement will be subject to the Incurred Limit or Paid Limit shown in this Policy. 
 
The benefit reimbursement by PacificSource will be at the Reimbursement Percentage shown in 
this Policy and will not exceed the Aggregated Liability Reimbursement Maximum shown in this 
Policy. 
 
Aggregate Stop Loss Attachment Point. The Aggregated Stop Loss Attachment Point is equal to 
or the greater of: 
 

1. The sum of the Aggregate Stop Loss Attachment Points for the Policy Period shown in 
this Policy; or 

2. The Aggregate Minimum Attachment Point shown in this Policy. 
 
If the Aggregate Stop Loss Benefit terminates before the end of the Policy Period, the Minimum 
Aggregate Margin Attachment Point is equal to or the greater of: 
 

1. The sum of the Aggregate Stop Loss Attachment Points to the date of termination; or 
2. The Minimum Aggregate Margin Attachment Point as shown in this Policy. 

 
Calculation of the Monthly Aggregate Stop Loss Attachment Point. Aggregate Stop Loss 
Attachment Point is calculated by multiplying the number of Covered Participants for that month 
by the Aggregate Attachment Rates as shown in this Policy. 
 
If any of the Covered Participants are absent from work due to strike, lock out, or work stoppage, 
the number of Covered Participants will remain at the same level as the month before such 
Covered Participants interruption began. 
 
Aggregate Stop Loss Attachment Point Exclusions and Limitations. The following exclusions 
and limitations apply to all Aggregate Stop Loss Attachment Point provisions. 
 
PacificSource will not reimburse the Plan Sponsor for Paid Claims that: 
 

1. Have been reimbursed by another insurance company or reinsurance company; 
2. Are Incurred after the Aggregate Stop Loss Benefit terminates; 
3. Have been reimbursed by under the Individual Stop Loss Deducible benefit; 
4. Exceed the Aggregate Reimbursement Maximum Per Plan Year as shown in this Policy. 

 
  

Attachment 1 Page 32 of 36 



PSGSL.OR.0115 Page 8 City of Springfield_0124 

 
 
V.  GENERAL EXCLUSIONS AND LIMITATIONS.   
 
PacificSource will not reimburse the Plan Sponsor for Covered Expenses Incurred by Covered 
Participants that qualify as potential Large Claims, unless disclosed prior to policy issuance and 
accepted by PacificSource. 
 
In the event of nondisclosure by the Plan Sponsor, PacificSource reserves the right to: 
 

1. Change or modify any all Stop Loss or Aggregate Premiums, Aggregate Claim Factors, or 
Individual Specific Stop Loss Deductible level(s);  

2. Adjust the terms of the Aggregate and Individual Specific Stop Loss Benefits; or 
3. Adjust the Individual Specific Stop Loss Deductible of non-disclosed Covered 

Participant(s). 
 
PacificSource will not reimburse any loss or expense caused by, or resulting from, any of the 
following; 
 

1. Have been reimbursed by another insurance company or reinsurance company;  
2. Payment for treatment or services which are considered experimental or investigational as 

defined by the Plan; 
3. Payment for treatment or services which are excluded as defined by the Plan; or 
4. Deductibles, co-payment amounts, or any other charges which are not payable under the 

terms of the Plan or charges which are payable to the Plan Sponsor from any other source. 
5. Exceed PacificSource’s Aggregate Reimbursement Maximum Per Plan Year as shown in 

this Policy. 
 
Covered Participant Benefit Plan Changes or Amendments. PacificSource must be notified of 
any change to the Plan. Notices of changes must be in writing and provided to PacificSource prior to 
the effective date of the changes. PacificSource must approve changes in writing before the benefits 
provided by the changes will be included as Covered Expenses and the Plan Sponsor has agreed 
to pay any additional premium to accept a higher Aggregate Claim Attachment Rate(s) as a result of 
the benefit change. 
 
If notice is not received prior to the effective date of the change, PacificSource will determine the 
date, if any, that the benefits approved by this change will be considered Covered Expenses. 
 
If PacificSource does not approve a submitted change, PacificSource will not consider the benefits 
provided by the change as Covered Expenses. 
 
Only those Covered Expenses for benefits provided under the most current PacificSource approved 
Plan will be considered for reimbursement. 
 
Changes in Fees and Monthly Aggregate Stop Loss Claims Factor(s). PacificSource has the 
right to establish new Stop Loss or Aggregate Monthly Premiums, and Monthly Aggregate Stop 
Loss Claims Factor(s) each Policy Period. 
 
PacificSource reserves the right to change the Stop Loss and Policy Fees and/or Monthly Aggregate 
Attachment Factors for a Policy Period if the average Paid Claims for the last two Policy Months of 
the immediately preceding Policy Period exceeds 125% of the average Paid Claims for all prior 
Policy Months in that preceding Policy Period. 
 

Attachment 1 Page 33 of 36 



PSGSL.OR.0115 Page 9 City of Springfield_0124 

PacificSource has the right to establish new Stop Loss and Aggregate Monthly Premiums, and 
Monthly Aggregate Claims Factor(s) at any time during a Policy Period if: 
 

1. The number of enrolled in Covered Participant changes by more than 10% from the 
enrollment at beginning of Policy Period as shown in this Policy; 

2. PacificSource discovers a Covered Participant who was not disclosed and whom 
PacificSource determines to be an unacceptable risk; or 

3. Any amendment is made to the Plan. 
 
Adjudication of Claims. PacificSource will provide payment for benefits under the Policy, and the 
direction of the Plan Sponsor, if the Plan Sponsor directs PacificSource to:  

1. Pay a Claim, which in the opinion of PacificSource is not for a Covered Service according to 
the Plan Document; or 

2. Pay a Claim on behalf of an individual who, in the opinion of PacificSource, would otherwise 
not be eligible for participation in the Plan. 

PacificSource agrees to pay such Claims provided, however, that such Claim will not be included in 
the accumulation of the Claims expense toward the Individual Stop Loss or Aggregate Stop Loss 
Attachment Point. These claims will be a separate and additional liability of the Plan Sponsor, and 
PacificSource will have no liability, either directly or indirectly, for such claims. 

Should a dispute arise with respect to Claims paid under the paragraphs above, and should either 
the Individual Stop Loss or Aggregate Stop Loss Attachment Point be reached by the inclusion of 
the disputed Claims in the accumulation of the Claims expense, the Plan Sponsor and PacificSource 
will meet and agree upon a procedure for submission of the dispute for decision by a neutral third 
party, including the criteria upon which the third party’s decision shall be based, whereby the third 
party will determine whether the disputed Claims should not be included in the accumulation of the 
Claims expense. The cost of the neutral third party used in this procedure will be split equally 
between the parties. 

Third-Party Recovery. It is understood that the Plan, or the Plan Sponsor, may become entitled to 
partial or full recovery from a third party with respect to a Claim paid under the Plan, whether directly 
through subrogation or indirectly through reimbursement from the Covered Participant or otherwise 
(“Recovery”), and that any Recovery by the Plan, and/or the Plan Sponsor, for Claims paid during 
the Term of this Policy may occur during or after the Term of this Policy. Unless PacificSource has 
agreed to perform such services as outlined in this Policy or a separate agreement, the Plan 
Sponsor shall promptly undertake to prosecute any and all valid claims for such Recoveries that the 
Plan may have against Covered Participants and/or third parties. It is agreed that the net amount of 
such recoveries, whether recovered by the Plan Sponsor, PacificSource, or other third party, 
remaining after deduction of the reasonable cost of prosecuting the recoveries, shall be treated as a 
reduction of the Plan’s Claim expense as hereinafter provided. Such amounts, recovered during the 
same Term or renewal Term of this Policy in which the related Claims were paid, shall be applied to 
reduce the amount of Paid Claims applied toward the Specific Stop Loss and Aggregate Stop 
Loss. Should this Policy have been terminated at the time one or more such recoveries occur, or if 
the recovery or recoveries occur in a renewal Term after a Term in which (1) the related Claims were 
paid and (2) PacificSource has reimbursed the Plan Sponsor for Claims reported in excess of the 
Specific Stop Loss or Aggregate Stop Loss, the Plan Sponsor agrees to reimburse PacificSource 
in the aggregate net amount recovered, up to the amount of such Claims paid by PacificSource. 

Liability and Indemnification. Except as specifically provided in any rider or endorsement, attached 
to and forming part of this Policy, PacificSource has no obligation to any third party.  Our liability 
under this Policy is limited to reimbursing the Plan Sponsor, pursuant to the terms of this Policy, for 

Attachment 1 Page 34 of 36 



PSGSL.OR.0115 Page 10 City of Springfield_0124 

payments the Plan Sponsor makes on behalf of Covered Participants for expenses covered under 
this Policy 
 
Fiduciary Responsibility. PacificSource is acting only as a provider of insurance to the Plan 
Sponsor. PacificSource is not and will not be considered to have any discretion in the administration 
or management of the SFGHP’s operation. PacificSource assumes no obligation required by the 
Employer Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA) of 1974, as amended. 
 
PacificSource has no responsibility or obligation to directly reimburse any Covered Participant. This 
Policy will not create any right or legal relationship between PacificSource and any Covered 
Participant. PacificSource’s sole obligation under this Policy is to the Plan Sponsor. 
 
VI. TERMINATION  
 
Automatic  
Unless specifically agreed to otherwise in a written amendment to this Stop Loss Policy, this Stop 
Loss Policy shall automatically terminate as of the earliest of the following:  

1. The end of the Policy period;  
2. The effective date of any legislation which makes the Plan and/or this Policy illegal;  
3. The date either party becomes insolvent, bankrupt, subject to liquidation, receivership, or 

conservatorship; or  
4. The termination date of the Plan, subject to any policy between the Plan Sponsor and 

PacificSource regarding payment of benefits after the Plan is terminated.  
 
Discretionary  
This Plan may be terminated as of the earliest of the following:  

1. By PacificSource upon the failure of the Plan Sponsor to pay any charges within ten (10) 
business days after they are due and payable;  

2. By PacificSource upon the failure of the Plan Sponsor to perform its obligations in 
accordance with this Policy;  

3. By the Plan Sponsor upon the failure of PacificSource to perform its obligations in 
accordance with this Policy; or  

4. By the Plan Sponsor in a written request  
 
The Plan shall not be liable to reimburse the Plan Sponsor under Section III for any claims not 
specifically defined in Section III. 
 
VII.  PLAN CONTACT INFORMATION 
 
1. Any correspondence mailed to the Plan 

Sponsor will be mailed to: 
City of Springfield 
Attn: Chaim Hertz 
225 5th St 
Springfield, OR 97477 
Phone: 541-726-3724 
E-Mail: CHertz@Springfield-OR.gov 

Attachment 1 Page 35 of 36 



PSGSL.OR.0115 Page 11 City of Springfield_0124 

2. Any copy of correspondence and invoices 
mailed to the Administrator will be mailed to: 

 City of Springfield 
Attn: Christina Aaron and Deedee Judd 
225 5th St 
Springfield, OR 97477 
Phone: 541-726-2242 
E-Mail: CCasey@Springfield-OR.gov 
            DJudd@Springfield-OR.gov 

3. Any correspondence mailed to PacificSource 
will be mailed to: 

PacificSource Health Plans 
Attn: Sales 
PO Box 7068 
Springfield, OR 97475-0068 
Phone: 541-686-1242 
Fax: 541-485-0915 

4. Any Enrollment Information, billing information, 
and payments mailed to PacificSource will be 
mailed to: 

PacificSource Health Plans 
Attn: Membership Services 
PO Box 7068 
Springfield, OR 97475-0068 
Phone: 866-999-5583 
Fax: 541-225-3642 
E-mail: Membership@PacificSource.com 

The Plan Sponsor agrees to notify PacificSource within twenty-four (24) hours of any changes to the 
Plan Contact Information contained in this Policy. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Plan Sponsor and PacificSource have caused this Stop Loss Policy to be 
executed in their names by their undersigned officers, who are duly authorized to do so. 
 
“Plan Sponsor”     “PacificSource” 
City of Springfield     PacificSource Health Plans 
 
By:________________________   By:  
 
Print:______________________   Print:  John Espinola, MD 
 
Title:______________________   Title:  President and Chief Executive Officer 
 
Date:______________________   Date:  12/18/2023 
 

Attachment 1 Page 36 of 36 

kskraaz
Typewriter
Kristina Kraaz

kskraaz
Typewriter
1/9/2024



 AGENDA  ITEM  SUMMARY Meeting Date:  
 Meeting Type: Regular Meeting 
 Staff Contact/Dept.: Todd Singleton/DPW 
 Staff Phone No: 541.726.5931 
 Estimated Time: 10 Minutes 
S P R I N G F I E L D 
C I T Y   C O U N C I L 

Council Goals: Provide Financially 
Responsible and 
Innovative Government 
Services 

 
ITEM TITLE: REPEALING MUNICIPAL CODE GRADING SECTION (8.300) AND 

UPDATING THE LAND AND DRAINAGE ALTERATION PROGRAM 
SECTION (8.400) 
 

ACTION 
REQUESTED 

Conduct a public hearing and first reading of the following ordinance: AN 
ORDINANCE REPEALING SPRINGFIELD MUNICIPAL CODE SECTIONS 
8.300-8.338 AND UPDATING 8.400-8.420. 

ISSUE 
STATEMENT: 

As part of the City’s Municipal separate storm sewer system (MS4) Implementation 
Plan as required by the Department of Environmental Quality the City’s existing 

stormwater management regulations must be updated to reflect new state laws. 
ATTACHMENTS: 1. Proposed Ordinance LDAP Code Amendments 

2. Existing LDAP Code to be Repealed 
 

DISCUSSION/ 
FINANCIAL 
IMPACT: 

The goal of the Land and Drainage Alteration Program (LDAP) is the protection of 

public and private property; the City’s infrastructure; and all Goal 5 Natural 

Resources inventory of significant sites from potential adverse effects from 

construction activities.  The exact provisions or conditions of a LDAP are based on 

the current circumstances present at the development site and as a result, the 

program allows the applicant and the City the flexibility to design and apply the 

most effective erosion prevention measures on a case-by-case basis. This flexibility 

extends to modifications of these conditions after the permit has been issued to 

situations where the City determines the initial measures are not achieving the 

intended results. 
 
The purpose of the proposed repeal of Section 8.300 (Grading) is to remove 

outdated and redundant code sections and consolidate into Section 8.400 the 

remaining sections that are still relevant. 
 
The purpose of the update to Section 8.400 is to add new numeric grading 
thresholds as required by the Department of Environmental Quality, to make 
clarifying edits, and to add sections from 8.300 to consolidate the two sections into 
a single ordinance that combines grading and erosion prevention. 
 

 

1/29/2024



{00031489:1}  

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, OREGON 
ORDINANCE NO. ___________ (GENERAL) 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING AND REPEALING VARIOUS SECTIONS OF THE SPRINGFIELD 
MUNICIPAL CODE CHAPTER 8 REGARDING LAND DRAINAGE AND ALTERATION PERMITS, 

ADOPTING A SAVINGS CLAUSE, AND ADOPTING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE 
 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Springfield is subject to the National Pollutant Discharge System (NPDES) 

Phase II permit regulations for Municipal Separate Storm Sewer Systems (MS4), administered by the 

Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) via the MS4 Modified General Permit (MS4 Permit), 

effective March 1, 2019, as modified March 21, 2021; 

 

WHEREAS, DEQ issued the City of Springfield MS4 Permit on June 1, 2021, and the permit expires 

February 28, 2024; 

 

WHEREAS, the MS4 Permit requires the City of Springfield to address six minimum control measures, 

including Construction Site Runoff Control; 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Springfield has existing regulations for construction site runoff control through 

the Springfield Municipal Code (SDC) chapter 8, Building Regulations, including overlapping regulations 

in section 8.300 Drainage and 8.400 Land Drainage and Alteration Permits; 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council held a public hearing on these amendments on January 3, 2023; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council finds it in the public interest to amend the Springfield Municipal Code 

chapter 8 to integrate sections 8.300 and 8.400 into one set of regulations for construction site runoff 

through the Land Drainage and Alteration Permit, consistent with the requirements of the MS4 Permit,   

 

 

  
 

    

 
 

   
 

 
 

 
 

    

 
 
 

Attachment 1 Page 1 of 23 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE  COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SPRINGFIELD  ORDAINS  AS FOLLOWS:

Section 1.  Springfield  Municipal  Code  sections 8.400, 8.404 through 8.406, 8.412 through
8.420, 8.306, 8.334, and 8.338  are hereby  amended as provided in Exhibit A, attached hereto and 
incorporated by reference.

Section 2.  Springfield  Municipal  Code  sections 8.306, 8.320, 8.322, 8.324, 8.330,  8.334,
and 8.338 are renumbered as provided in Exhibit A.

Section 3.  Springfield Municipal Code sections 8.300 through 8.304, 8.308 through 8.318,
8.326, 8.238, and 8.336 are hereby repealed.

Section  4.  Savings Clause.  Except as specifically amended herein, the Springfield  Municipal
Code will continue in full force and effect. The prior code and regulations repealed or amended by this 
Ordinance remain in full force and effect to authorize prosecution of persons in violation thereof prior 
to the effective date of this ordinance.



{00031489:1}  

Section 5.   Severability Clause.  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or 
portion of this Ordinance is, for any reason, held invalid or unconstitutional by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, such portion shall be deemed a separate, distinct and independent provision and such 
holding shall not affect the validity of the remaining portion hereof. 

 
 
ADOPTED by the Common Council of the City of Springfield this ___ day of _________, ____, 

by a vote of _____ for and ____ against. 
 
 
APPROVED by the Mayor of the City of Springfield this ______ day of __________, ____. 

 
 
 
_______________________ 

      Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________ 
City Recorder 

Attachment 1 Page 2 of 23 



{00028897:3}  

AMENDMENTS TO THE SPRINGFIELD MUNICIPAL CODE 
FOR CONSTRUCTION SITE RUNOFF CONTROL 

LEGISLATIVE FORMAT 

This exhibit is provided in legislative format: deleted text is shown in red strike-though text, and added 
text is shown in red underlined text.  Commentary is provided in a separate blue box; commentary is 
for legislative history purposes only and is not an adopted part of the code. 

LAND AND DRAINAGE ALTERATION PROGRAM 

8.400 General. 

            Sections 8.400 to 8.4208.436 establish regulations to: 

            (1)        Restrict the discharge of sediments and other construction related materials, including 
hazardous substances, into the public stormwater system in order to: 

(a)        Prevent or minimize, to the maximum extent practicable, negative impacts to adjacent 
properties, to water quality and to the City’s Goal 5 natural resources inventory sites resulting 
from construction activities, and 

(b)        Maintain the capacity of the public stormwater system by minimizing sedimentation; 

            (2)        Control excavating, grading, and earthwork construction, including fills and 
embankments regulated under section 8.300 et seq. to safeguard the public health, safety and general 
welfare, and individuals and property against hazards resulting from uncontrolled grading and 
excavating practice; 

            (3)        Establish the administrative procedure for issuance of Land and Drainage Alteration 
Permits including: approvals; conditions of approval; denial; designation of a site as a sensitive area; 
extension of the duration of a Land and Drainage Alteration Permit; 

            (4)        Establish procedures for determining violations of this code; the provisions of an 
issued Land and Drainage Alteration Permit; enforcement, including a Notice of Violation; and 

            (5)        Establish the appeals process for Land and Drainage Alteration Permits.  

8.402 Intent. 

            The goal of the Land and Drainage Alteration Program is the protection of: public and private 
property; the City’s infrastructure; and all Goal 5 Natural Resources inventory of significant sites from 
potential adverse effects of construction activities. The exact provisions or conditions of a Land and 
Drainage Alteration Permit are based on the circumstances present at the development site; as a 
result, the program allows the applicant and the City the flexibility to design and apply the most 
effective erosion prevention measures on a case-by-case basis. This flexibility extends to modifications 
of these conditions after the permit has been issued if the City determines the measures are not 
achieving the intended results.  

 

Attachment 1 Page 3 of 23 

Exhibit A Page 1 of 21 



{00028897:3}  

8.404 Applicability. 

            (1)        These regulations shall apply to all construction related activities in both the City and 
its urban transition area that result in any of the following: 

            (a)        Land disturbance, including, but not limited to, clearing, grading, grubbing, 
tree felling, excavating, filling, and storing of materials; 

            (b)        Structural development, including, but not limited to, buildings, bridges, 
streets, and other infrastructure including utilities and sewers; 

            (c)        Impervious surfaces, including, but not limited to, parking lots, driveways, off-
street bikeways and pedestrian trails, access ways, and patios; or 

            (d)       Dewatering. 

            (2)        All persons in control of property or engaged in construction related activities shall 
prevent and/or control erosion, sedimentation, and other construction related impacts to stormwater 
quality in a manner designed to meet the outcomes specified in section 8.408. This obligation shall be 
implemented through one of the following actions: 

            (a)        The issuance of a Land and Drainage Alteration Permit in accordance with 
section 8.412; or 

            (b)        For all other construction activities not subject to the Land and Drainage 
Alteration Permit requirements, as determined by the director, compliance by property owners 
with the standards for preventing and controlling erosion, sedimentation, and other impacts 
associated with construction site management practices. The director will make information 
about these requirements and prevention measures available through a variety of techniques, 
including public outreach programs, handout materials, and other educational efforts to assist 
property owners in meeting this obligation. 

            (3)        Regardless of subsection (l), the following activities shall be exempt from these 
regulations.             The agency or public utility performing the work shall take reasonable steps to 
minimize sediment, dirt, debris, or other contaminants from entering the city stormwater system. The 
exemption in this subsection shall terminate at the time the emergency condition is alleviated, utility 
service is restored, or a street is reopened to traffic.: 

            (a)        Actions by the City, a public utility, or any other governmental agency to 
remove or alleviate an emergency condition, restore utility service, or reopen a public street to 
traffic; or 

            (b)        Actions by any other person when the director determines, and documents in 
writing, that these actions are necessary to remove or alleviate an emergency condition, restore 
utility service, or reopen a public street to traffic. 

            The agency or public utility performing the work shall take reasonable steps to minimize 
sediment, dirt, debris, or other contaminants from entering the city stormwater system. 

            The exemption in this subsection shall terminate at the time the emergency condition is 
alleviated, utility service is restored, or a street is reopened to traffic.  

Attachment 1 Page 4 of 23 

Exhibit A Page 2 of 21 



{00028897:3}  

8.406 Definitions. 

            In addition to the definitions contained in Springfield Development Code, the applicable 
sections of the Engineering Design Standards and Procedures Manual, and applicable sections 
elsewhere in the SMC, as used in these regulations, the following words and phrases shall mean: 

            Annual Landscape Activities. Activities necessary to maintain the health and function of 
developed landscaped areas, including, but not limited to: tilling, sodding, mowing, aerating, pruning, 
and replacement of soil, gravel or addition of soil amendments. 

            Best Management Practices (BMPs). Physical, structural, and/or managerial practices employed 
to avoid or mitigate erosion, sedimentation, or contamination of the public stormwater system and 
related natural resources inventory sites, or to otherwise meet these regulations. All BMPs shall be in 
accordance with the City of Springfield’s Engineering Design Standards and Procedures Manual 
(EDSPM). 

            Certified Professional. A person with a background or training in erosion prevention techniques 
who holds a license or certification to practice in Oregon in one of the following professions: 
engineering, architecture, landscape architecture, geology, or is in a similar profession; or a person 
who is certified as a professional in erosion and sedimentation control by the International Erosion 
Control Association, or any other similar organization. 

            Construction Activity. An activity used in the process of developing, redeveloping, enhancing, 
or maintaining land, including, but not limited to: land disturbance, building construction, paving and 
surfacing, storage and disposal of construction related materials. 

            Construction Footprint. That area of a lot where disturbance to vegetation and land form is 
necessary for the construction of buildings, parking lots, walkways, landscaping, utilities, and for 
staging of construction equipment and other similar uses associated with construction activities. 

            Construction Related Materials. Potential water quality pollutants that are used or created 
during construction activities including, but not limited to: off-site deposits of sediments by vehicles 
(e.g., tracking, spilling); building material wastes (e.g., scrap metals, rubber, plastic, glass, masonry, 
wood; paints and thinners; packaging materials; insulation, plaster grout); hazardous substances (e.g., 
cleaning solvents; chemical additives; concrete curing compounds; acids; paints, thinners); pavement 
saw-cutting effluent; and concrete washout. 

            Designated Buffer. An area that separates a significant natural resources site, including a 
wetland or water feature, from a conflicting use; and any conservation zone or protected area 
established during the development review and approval process that is designed to protect significant 
natural resources sites or drainage ways. 

            Development Site. Property under common ownership or control, either undivided or consisting 
of one or more contiguous lots. Property under common ownership that is bisected by a public street 
or alley shall be considered one development site unless the land was legally divided. 

            Dewatering. The removal and disposal of surface water or groundwater for purposes of 
preparing a site for construction or facilitating construction. 

Attachment 1 Page 5 of 23 

Exhibit A Page 3 of 21 



{00028897:3}  

            Directly Drains. The conveyance and discharge of stormwater runoff, either on the surface or 
by an open channel or pipe, into a water feature that is located on or adjacent to the lot for which 
construction activities are planned, or onto/into its designated buffer area. 

            Director of Development and Public Works. The director of the Community Development 
Division within the Development and Public Works Department or their designee, or other official as 
designated by the Springfield City ManagerThe director of development and public works of Springfield, 
Oregon, or designee hereinafter referred to as director. 

            Disturbed Area. A lot or a portion of a lot where the vegetation, landform, or topography is 
altered due to tree felling, clearing, grubbing, grading, paving, stock piling, or building. 

            Emergency Condition. An immediate danger to life, property, or the environment due to 
circumstances beyond the control of the property owner, including, but not limited to, natural and 
human-caused disasters including, but not limited to, fires, floods, slides, earthquakes, sinkholes, and 
tree blow-down. 

            Enforcement Officer. The person designated by the director to enforce the provisions of these 
regulations. 

            Erosion Prevention. Measures to be taken for preventing and/or minimizing sedimentation and 
negative impacts to water quality in the public stormwater system and natural resource inventory sites 
due to erosive impacts on exposed soil from water and wind forces. Erosion prevention shall also 
include measures taken to prevent and/or minimize potential impacts to the public stormwater system 
and natural resources inventory sites associated with construction activities including handling and 
storage of construction related materials and disposal of building material wastes. 

            Highly Erodible Soils. Soils classified as having an erodibility index of 8 or larger by the Natural 
Resources Conservation Service, formerly the Soil Conservation Service. 

            Impacted Property. Property in proximity to a disturbed site, and subject to erosion, 
sedimentation, or construction material impacts resulting from the activity. 

            Improper Disposal. The disposal of any construction related material in a manner that causes, 
or has the potential to cause, the discharge of pollutants to the public stormwater system or natural 
resources inventory sites, the depletion of the capacity of the public stormwater system, or the 
contamination of soils. 

            Improper Storage. Handling or storing of any construction related materials in a manner that 
causes or has the potential to cause the discharge of pollutants to the public stormwater system or 
natural resources inventory sites, the depletion of the capacity of the public stormwater system, or the 
contamination of soils. 

            Jurisdictional Wetlands. Any lot, parcel or portion of a lot which meets the state or federal 
definition of wetlands under the jurisdiction of state or federal laws and also all significant wetlands 
identified on the City’s local wetland inventory (see also Wetlands). 

            Land and Drainage Alteration Permit. A permit required for work that is subject to the rules 
and regulations set forth in sections 8.300 to 8.338 and sections 8.400 to 8.4368.420, also referred to 
as a “grading permit” or “permit.” 

Attachment 1 Page 6 of 23 

Exhibit A Page 4 of 21 



{00028897:3}  

            Land and Drainage Alteration Plan. Information including, but not limited to, a set of maps, 
data, drawings, and a narrative that describes expected runoff from new construction sites and 
establishes measures to be taken for preventing erosion, sediments, and other pollutants from 
construction related activities. 

            Land Disturbance. Activities that can change the physical conditions of a landform, vegetation, 
and hydrology including, but not limited to, clearing, grading, grubbing, excavating, filling, tree felling, 
and storing of materials. 

            Lot. The word “lot” includes the words “parcel” or “tract of land.” 

            Maximum Extent Practicable. The greatest degree of pollutant reduction achievable through 
the application of technically feasible, cost effective best management practices, processes, siting 
criteria, operating methods, or other alternatives approved by the director. 

            Minor Recurring Activities. Repetitive construction or maintenance activities that are performed 
at different sites as part of an overall work plan or program when no individual disturbance exceeds 
more than 500 square feet of land area and 50 cubic yards of fill or excavated material. 

            Natural Resources Inventory Sites. Areas on the City’s adopted Goal 5 Natural Resources 
Inventory Maps and located within or adjacent to the public stormwater system, including, but not 
limited to, waterways, riparian areas shown on the Water Quality Limited Watercourses Map on file in 
the development and public works department, wetlands, and conservation zones or easements, which 
due to their location, topography, vegetation, or other factors provide one or more of the following 
stormwater functions: flood control, habitat, bank stabilization, and water quality treatment including 
pollutant removal, shading and temperature stabilization. 

            Notice of Violation (NOV). A written notice, specifying the violation and required compliance 
measures. 

            Permit Holder. The property owner or an agent hired by the property owner who has obtained 
a Land and Drainage Alteration Permit. 

            Person. An individual, trust, firm, joint stock company, joint venture, consortium, commercial 
entity, partnership, association, corporation, commission, state and any agency thereof, political 
subdivision of the state, interstate body or the federal government, including any agency thereof. 

            Public Stormwater System. Those stormwater facilities located on public property, public 
rights-of-way, public utility easements and/or any stormwater facility the City is contractually or legally 
obligated to operate, maintain, or protect, including, but not limited to: 

            (a)        An open drainage way, headwater stream, creek, wetland, spring, or pond, including 
those not maintained by the City which drain onto city-owned property or into city-maintained facilities; 

            (b)        A pipe or sewer and its related appurtenances that carry stormwater and have been 
designed and constructed expressly for use by the general public and accepted by the director; 

            (c)        Streets, curbs and gutters and other surfaces in the public way which are designed to 
carry stormwater, roadside drainage ditches along unimproved streets; and 

Attachment 1 Page 7 of 23 

Exhibit A Page 5 of 21 



{00028897:3}  

            (d)       Flood control and stormwater quality facilities (levees, dikes, overflow channels, 
swales, biofiltration facilities, infiltration facilities, detention basins, retention basins, dams, pump 
stations, groundwater recharging basins, sediment traps, wetlands, etc.) that have been designed and 
constructed expressly for use by the general public and accepted by the director. 

            Responsible Person or Responsible Party. A property owner, Land and Drainage Alteration 
Permit holder, or their agent or contractor, or other person who is responsible for meeting the 
outcomes, or responsible for violation of these regulations. 

            Routine Maintenance. The activities and practices necessary to maintain the operating 
capacity, functional integrity, or aesthetics of a site or facility. Routine maintenance includes, but is not 
limited to, landscaping, repair of recreation facilities (e.g., ball diamonds, play areas, fields), cleaning of 
stormwater facilities, and patching of streets. 

            Secondary Containment. On-site erosion prevention measures that include both a preventative 
measure (e.g., soil coverage, vegetative buffer) and a control measure (e.g., sediment fence, mulch 
berm, straw bales). 

            Sedimentation. The deposit of mud, sand, soil, sediment or construction materials exceeding 
one-half cubic foot in volume for every 1,000 square feet of lot size onto adjacent properties, into the 
public stormwater system, onto natural resources inventory sites located on-site, into public rights-of-
way or private streets, and/or into any private stormwater system that discharges into a city 
stormwater system located off-site by dropping, discharging, directly depositing, or resulting from the 
action of erosion. 

            Sensitive Area. Sites that meet the criteria contained in section 8.410(1). 

            Stabilization. The completion of all soil disturbance activities at the site and the establishment 
of a permanent vegetative cover, or equivalent permanent stabilization measures including, but not 
limited to, riprap, gabions, geotextiles, or bioengineering methods that will prevent erosion. 

            Untreated Runoff. Stormwater runoff due to construction activities that has not been filtered, 
screened, settled, or otherwise treated for the removal of pollutants, prior to discharge into the public 
stormwater system, designated buffers, or natural resources inventory sites. 

            Vegetative Buffer. A strip of protected land not less than 25 feet in width separating ground 
disturbed by construction activity from a water feature, natural resources inventory site, or a property 
line, whichever is nearest, containing vegetation at least one inch in height that covers at least 80 
percent of the buffer area. The buffer area shall be on the site covered by the Land and Drainage 
Alteration Permit. 

            Visible or Measurable Erosion. Evidence of concentrated flows of water over bare soils, turbid 
or sediment laden flows, or evidence of on-site erosion including rivulets on bare soil slopes where the 
flow of water is not filtered or captured on the site using the techniques recommended in the City’s 
Design Manual or an approved Land and Drainage Alteration Plan, or comparable techniques; and, 
earth slides, mud flows, earth sloughing, or other earth movement which leaves the property. 

            Water Features. Permanent or intermittent bodies of water, including creeks, streams, ponds, 
rivers, lakes, natural resources inventory sites, drainage channels and jurisdictional wetlands. 

Attachment 1 Page 8 of 23 

Exhibit A Page 6 of 21 



{00028897:3}  

            Wetlands. Any lot or portion of a lot which meets the state or federal definition of wetlands 
that is under the jurisdiction of state or federal laws and also all wetlands identified on the city’s Local 
Wetland Inventory. 

            Wet Weather Season. October 1 through April 30, unless otherwise designated by the director.  

8.408 Outcomes. 

            (1)        All persons conducting construction activities specified in section 8.404(1) shall 
employ, to the maximum extent practicable, erosion prevention and construction site management 
practices which will achieve during both the construction period and wet weather season the following 
outcomes: 

            (a)        Adjacent properties, water features, and natural resources inventory sites are 
kept free of deposits or discharges of soil, sediment or construction-related material from the 
site except those that would occur through natural processes from an undisturbed site. 

            (b)        Vegetation in water features, natural resources inventory sites, and associated 
bank and/or riparian areas adjacent to construction sites are preserved or protected from 
impacts that exceed those that occur through natural processes on an undisturbed site. 

            (c)        Public rights-of-way, the public stormwater system and natural resources 
inventory sites, private streets and private stormwater drainage systems that discharge to the 
public stormwater system are kept free of mud, soil, hazardous materials, concrete washout, 
trash, or other similar construction-related material. Direct deposit, dropping, dumping, erosion, 
tracking, or other discharge by construction vehicles of materials shall not occur in excess of 
those that occur through natural processes from an undisturbed site. Any discharges that occur 
shall be prevented from entering water features or the public stormwater system and removed 
not later than the end of the day in which the discharge occurred, or as directed by the 
director. During the wet weather season all other work shall cease until such time the discharge 
has been corrected. 

            (d)       Soils and stockpile areas shall not be exposed to precipitation or stormwater 
runoff without the provision of secondary containment, perimeter controls, and other approved 
BMPs. 

            (e)        Earth slides, mudflows, earth sloughing, or other earth movement that has the 
potential to leave the property shall not occur in excess of those that occur through natural 
processes on an undisturbed site. 

            (f)        No discharge into the public stormwater system or natural resources inventory 
sites of construction related contaminants resulting from activities including, but not limited to, 
cleaning or washing of equipment, tools, or vehicles, shall occur. 

            (g)        No hazardous substances, including paints, thinners, saw cutting slurry, fuels 
and other chemicals shall be released onto the site, onto adjacent properties, or into water 
features, the public stormwater system, or natural resources inventory sites. 

            (h)        Maintain, on the site, all materials and supplies to implement the Land and 
Drainage Alteration Plan. 

Attachment 1 Page 9 of 23 

Exhibit A Page 7 of 21 



{00028897:3}  

            (2)        When designing and implementing BMPs to meet the above outcomes, the applicant 
shall consider the seasonal variation of rainfall, temperature, and other climatic factors relative to the 
timing of land disturbance activities. All construction activity that will result in soil disturbance during 
the wet weather season shall, at a minimum, implement and maintain the following BMPs on-site: 

            (a)        Construction site entrances shall be graveled with crushed rock of sufficient 
size and grading as necessary to prevent any off-site tracking. 

            (b)        All stormwater facilities, water features, and natural resources inventory sites 
shall be protected. 

            (c)        All exposed soil and stockpile areas shall be covered. 

            (d)       Sediment, soil, or construction related material shall be removed immediately 
from the right-of-way, adjacent property, and the public stormwater system, including water 
features and natural resources inventory sites. 

            (3)        No Land and Drainage Alteration Permit or other approval issued in accordance with 
these regulations shall be considered to authorize any violation of the above outcomes or wet weather 
requirements.  

8.410 Designation of Sensitive Areas. 

            (1)        The City Manager shall publish, and from time to time maintain a map which shows: 

            (a)        All parcels where the slope of the lot is greater than 15 percent and/or is 
subject to the City’s Hillside Development Overlay district; 

            (b)        All drainage ways or swales; 

            (c)        All wetlands; 

            (d)       All floodways or floodplains. 

            The areas depicted on such map, and all parcels adjacent to drainage ways or swales, shall be 
sensitive areas for the purpose of this article. 

            (2)        An applicant may request an exception to the sensitive area requirement by 
submission of actual field or site information that demonstrates that the proposed work area will not 
adversely impact the relevant inventoried natural resource. 

            (3)        An applicant who disagrees with the director’s final determination about the 
designation of a sensitive area may appeal that decision to the City Manager or designee.  

8.412 Land and Drainage Alteration Permits. 

Commentary: Subsection (1)(c) is added to comply with new requirements in the MS4 Permit. Under 
the MS4 Permit Schedule A.3.d.ii, the City is required to implement construction site runoff control 
(accomplished through the LDAP permit) for all construction project sites that result in a land 
disturbance of 7,000 square feet or more. Conforming changes are proposed to (2)(a).  The proposed 
code retains the permit requirement for sites disturbing an acre or more, as required by MS4 Permit, 
Schedule A section 3(d)(v). 

Attachment 1 Page 10 of 23 

Exhibit A Page 8 of 21 



{00028897:3}  

Additionally, the changes to subsections (1) and (2) clarify that an LDAP is required for any cut and fill 
for inhabited structures.  Non-habitable structures that are less 200 square feet (the trigger for building 
permit review) would not require LDAP review. Other existing thresholds for LDAP review are not 
proposed to change.  

            (1)        Land and Drainage Alteration Permit Required. Unless otherwise provided in these 
regulations and section 8.300 et seq., no person shall commence any construction related activity 
without first obtaining from the City a Land and Drainage Alteration Permit, if the proposed 
construction related activity: 

            (a)        Exceeds 50 cubic yards or more of material on any one lot and/or adversely 
affects drainage from or onto adjoining properties; 

            (b)        Disturbs 500 square feet located in a sensitive area as specified in 
section 8.410; 

 (c) Disturbs 7000 square feet on any one lot or across contiguous lots under the 
same ownership;  

            (cd)        Disturbs one or more acres of land at any one time by one or more phases of 
development, and the disturbance is located on the same lot or on contiguous lots under the 
same ownership; or. 

 (e) Results in any amount of cut or fill for the placement of an inhabited structure. 

            (2)        Waiver of Land and Drainage Alteration Permit. Regardless of any other provisions of 
this section, the following activities shall not require a Land and Drainage Alteration Permit; however, 
under no circumstances shall this waiver be construed to mean that these activities are exempt from 
any of the Land And Drainage Alteration Program requirements of the SMCthis code and these 
regulations other than the requirement to obtain a Land and Drainage Alteration Permit. The following 
activities shall be subject to other provisions, including, but not limited to, the outcome requirements 
specified in section 8.408: 

            (a)        Construction activities involving the disturbance of less than 500 square feet of 
land surface area in a sensitive area, or activities which consist of the excavation and fill of less 
than 50 cubic yards of material or less than 7000 square feet in area, construction activities 
associated with building a nonhabitable one-story detached accessory structure such as a shed 
or garageor excavation or fill not intended to support a structure; 

            (b)        The issuance of Land and Drainage Alteration Permits and/or approvals for 
interior improvements to an existing structure, or other approvals for which there is no physical 
disturbance to the surface of the land;  

(c) Construction of external additions to existing single unit dwellings and duplexes, 
provided the area and volume of excavation and/or fill does not exceed the disturbance limits 
specified in section 8.412(1); and 

            (cd)        Landscape maintenance activities on fully developed properties, necessary to 
maintain the existing developed landscape. 

Attachment 1 Page 11 of 23 

Exhibit A Page 9 of 21 



{00028897:3}  

            (3)        Land and Drainage Alteration Permit Classifications. 

            (a)        Type I Land and Drainage Alteration Permit. This permit applies to a property 
owner or agent that obtains a permit for construction that is located within a sensitive area or is 
conducting commercial construction activity; 

            (b)        Type II Land and Drainage Alteration Permit. This permit applies to a property 
owner or agent that obtains a permit for residential construction of a single unit or a duplex and 
is not located within a sensitive area; 

            (c)        Pre-Approval Land and Drainage Alteration Permit. This permit may be issued prior to 
preliminary site plan review approval or tentative partition or subdivision approval and shall comply 
with section 8.318(7) of the Springfield Municipal Code. 

            (4)        Application. In addition to the payment of any required fees, an An application for a 
Land Alteration and Drainage permit must be submitted by the property owner or a person who has 
written authorization from the property owner to make the application, on the application form 
prescribed by the Director and complete with all information required on said form or otherwise 
specified in the provisions of this code. shall include a signed application form and, in In the case of a 
Type I Permit, the application must include a completed Land and Drainage Alteration Plan, prepared in 
accordance with subsection (6) of this section, and such other information as the City may require to 
act upon the application. 

            (5)        Interdependent Land and Drainage Alteration Permit Processing. The application and 
processing of other city permits, including, but not limited to, Encroachment Permits, Tree Felling 
Permits, Foundation and Building Permits, are interdependent with the Land and Drainage Alteration 
Permit process. The development and public works director shall not issue any of these other permits 
except as follows: 

            (a)        Until the director has conducted a site inspection, and approved a required 
Land and Drainage Alteration Permit, or has determined a permit is not required; or 

            (b)        If the property owner or applicant is in violation of a Land and Drainage 
Alteration Permit, or any conditions of approval. Regardless of the requirements in this 
subsection, the director may issue Land and Drainage Alteration Permits for construction of 
public improvement projects in accordance with provisions of the SMCthis code prior to the 
approval of the Land and Drainage Alteration Permit. No construction activities shall begin on 
the public improvements until the director approves the implemented erosion and sediment 
control measures. 

Commentary: SMC 8.412(6) meets the requirement in the MS4 Permit Schedule A.3.d.iv.A-B and 
A.3.d.v, requiring site-specific erosion and sediment control plan prior to construction or land 
disturbance, per a template provided by the City, which must include consideration of the potential 
water quality impacts. Subsection (6) also includes provisions from the Soils and Geology Report 
incorporated from SMC 8.314.   

             

 

Attachment 1 Page 12 of 23 

Exhibit A Page 10 of 21 



{00028897:3}  

(6)       Required Plans and Reports.  

(a) The Land and Drainage Alteration Plan. A Land and Drainage Alteration Plan shall be 
prepared by a certified professional and shall describe the techniques and methods to be used to 
achieve the required outcomes including specific BMPs for wet weather conditions, describe conditions 
before and after development, and the proposed methods to prevent and control water quality impacts 
during and after construction. The professional shall certify that implementation of the Plan ensures 
compliance with section 8.408(1). The director shall review the Plan prior to issuance of a Land and 
Drainage Alteration Permit and may monitor the development thereafter for continued compliance. The 
Land and Drainage Alteration Plan shall meet the minimum submittal requirements as listed on the 
City’s application materials approved by the director. 

(b) Soils and Geology Report.  A Soils and Geology report shall be prepared by a licensed 
engineer. The director may require that the engineer consult with a registered geologist or registered 
certified specialty geologist in preparation of the Soils and Geology Report.  The Soils and Geology 
Report may be waived when a preliminary report prepared by a licensed engineer demonstrates that 
the soils quality of the proposed development area does not require further soils and geology analysis.  
When not waived under this section, the Soils and Geology report must include: 

(i) A description of the surface and subsurface drainage facilities necessary to secure 
stability of native soil or compacted fill; 

(ii) The location of areas within the boundaries of the development which can justifiably 
and safely be used for building sites, with accompanying diagram; 

(iii) Guidelines to be used to adequately and properly develop and maintain the 
development area, such as the limits upon the height of cuts and fills and steepness 
of slopes, recommended erosion control measures, retaining wall locations, and any 
necessary corrective measures; 

(iv) An analysis of areas immediately adjacent to the proposed development which, after 
land and drainage alteration, might have an adverse effect upon the proposed 
development or might be adversely affected by the alteration; 

(v) Requirements for excavations and fills for any building or structure, including any 
requirements under the state building codes; and 

(i)(vi) The presence of critically expansive soils or other soil problems which, if not 
corrected, would lead to structural defects. If the Soils and Geology Report indicates 
any such areas, the report must address each lot or areas with said soil conditions 
and identify corrective action that is likely to prevent structural damage to the 
proposed structures.  

Commentary: Subsection (7) meets the requirement in Schedule A.3.d.iv.D for the required plans to be 
kept on site and available for inspection by relevant officials, such as the City or the Department of 
Environmental Quality.  Subsection (8) includes language from 8.336 regarding site inspections and 
rights of entry, with revisions for clarity and to align with constitutional requirements. 

            (7)        Availability. The approved Land and Drainage Alteration Plan and Soils and Geology 
Report, where required, shall be kept at the construction site and be available during on-site 
inspections.  

Attachment 1 Page 13 of 23 

Exhibit A Page 11 of 21 



{00028897:3}  

Commentary: Edits to this section are intended to align with the Development Code Update project 
that was adopted in 2022.  This section and the criteria in 8.416 also help meet the requirements in 
MS4 Permit Schedule A.3.d.iv-v for review and approval of erosion and sediment control plans. 

8.414 Review Criteria and Approval. 

(1) Review Criteria.  The director shall review the Land and Drainage Alteration Permit 
application, including the Land and Drainage Alteration Plan, and other documents as may be 
submitted, and the report or recommendation of the site inspector following the site inspection, prior to 
issuing the permit.  The Director must and approve, approve with special conditions, or deny the 
permit application as follows:.  

(a) Approval. The Director must approve and issue the permit if the Director finds 
that the construction related activities as proposed in the application comply with all applicable 
requirements of this code and with the layout of any approved or conditionally approved 
development permit under the Springfield Development Code, including a minimum 
development standards (MDS) permit, preliminary site plan review, or tentative land division.  
The Director may approve and issue a Land and Drainage Alteration Permit in absence of an 
approved development permit only if the Director finds that the Land and Drainage Alteration 
Permit complies with the criteria in section 8.416. 

(b) Conditional Approval or Denial.  The Director must deny the permit application if 
If the director finds that the construction related activities as proposed in the permit will result 
in sedimentation, visible or measurable erosion, or will otherwise violate the conditions specified 
in section 8.408 or any other applicable provision of this code.  Provided, however, the Director 
may approve the permit application and issue the permit with special conditions necessary to 
meet the requirements of this code, if the Director determines that such conditions are 
reasonably feasible. then the director shall either deny the permit, or approve the permit with 
special conditions.  
(2) Effective Date.  Permit approval shall notA Land and Drainage Alteration Permit is be 

effective until only upon approval or conditional approval by the Director, following a site inspection 
has occurred and the permit is endorsed with the approval of and endorsement of the permit by the 
site inspector, which may include additional conditions imposed as a result of the inspection.  

(1)(3) Appeal.  An applicant who is denied a permit Land and Drainage Alteration Permit may 
appeal to the City Manager or designee by providing written notice of the appeal within 30 calendar 
days of receiving the permit denial.  

Commentary: The existing code regarding Conditions has been integrated into SMC 8.414 above.  
Section 8.416 is proposed to be replaced with text being moved from 8.318(7) for pre-development 
LDAP review (with clarifying edits). 

8.416 ConditionsPre-Approval Permit Criteria. 

            Every Land and Drainage Alteration Permit shall include as conditions the outcomes set forth in 
section 8.408, and any special conditions imposed as a result of the Land and Drainage Alteration 
Permit review and/or the site inspection.  

The requirements of this section apply to a permit application submitted in advance of development 
approval under the Springfield Development Code: 

Attachment 1 Page 14 of 23 

Exhibit A Page 12 of 21 



{00028897:3}  

(1) The Permit must not result in the need to extend public storm systems to the site or to 
alter, reconstruct, or redirect any existing public or private stormwater facility. 

(2) The Permit application must contain the following information: 
(a) The name, location, dimensions, direction of flow and top of bank of all adjacent 

watercourses including those that are shown on the City’s Water Quality Limited Watercourse 
Map; 

(b) The 100-year floodplain and floodway boundaries and areas of special flood 
hazard designated by the City Engineer as susceptible to inundation of water from any source 
that may affect the site. If fill occurs in the flood plain, the director may require analysis of the 
effects of the fill on flooding of adjacent properties; 

(c) The Time of Travel Zones as delineated on the Springfield Wellhead Protection 
Areas Map that affect the site; and 

(d) Physical features including, but not limited to, riparian vegetation, trees over 5 
inches or greater DBH, open drainage ways, watercourses shown on the Water Quality Limited 
Watercourse Map and their riparian areas, identified archeological and/or historical sites, 
identified threatened or endangered species habitat, areas considered for inclusion in the City’s 
Goal 5 lands inventory, jurisdictional wetlands and rock outcroppings. 

(3) The features listed in subsection (2) above must be retained and protected until such features 
are fully considered through a site plan review preliminary plan, subdivision tentative plan application, 
partition tentative plan application, tree felling permit, or other applicable development approval. To 
ensure retention of trees over five inches or greater DBH, the director may require a tree protection 
plan. 

(4) Except for grading of less than 100 cubic yards associated with the construction of a 
single-family dwelling, an informational notification shall be provided to owners and residents of 
property within 100 feet of the property line where the construction activities proposed under the 
permit will take place. This notification must be mailed at least five days before the Permit is issued 
and must include the property address and an 8 1/2″ x 11″ map depicting the location of the 
construction related activities as proposed in the application, the amount of material to be graded and 
approximate dates the work is to take place. The applicant must pay a fee for this notification at the 
time of application. 

(5) A permit issued under this section must not authorize the placement or construction of 
public or private utilities or facilities, unless the Director finds that such utilities or facilities are 
necessary to ensure that the proposed land and drainage alteration is adequately protective of public 
health, safety, and general welfare. In this event, the applicant must obtain from the City the additional 
permits necessary to construct such utilities or facilities. 

(6) All work conducted within existing and/or proposed public rights-of-way shall be limited 
to the minimum necessary, in the opinion of the City Engineer, to ensure that the proposed land and 
drainage alteration is adequately protective of public health, safety, and general welfare. 

(7) Material from the demolition of existing impervious surface (concrete, asphalt, etc.) 
must be legally disposed of off-site not later than one month after its demolition. 

(1)(8) The applicant must secure other approvals necessary to proceed with the 
proposed grading, including such overlay district requirements for floodplain, hillside, historic district, 
the Willamette Greenway, tree felling or any regulated wetland, or any permits necessary from any 
other agency having jurisdiction over all or a portion of the work, before the Director issues a Pre-
Approval Land Drainage and Alteration Permit under this section.   

Attachment 1 Page 15 of 23 

Exhibit A Page 13 of 21 



{00028897:3}  

Commentary: This section adds language that the permit expires after 180 days, from SMC 8.328. 

8.418 Land and Drainage Alteration Permit Duration. 

            (1)  Permit Duration. An approved Land and Drainage Alteration Permit shall remain in effect 
for the full period of construction activity. The permit may be extended for a period of up to, but not to 
exceed, one year after completion of the construction activities, if the director determines the 
extension is necessary to ensure the construction activity has stabilized in accordance with the 
outcomes specified in section 8.408. Land and Drainage Alteration Plans proposing work between 
October 1 to April 30 shall include wet weather BMPs.  

(2)  Expiration. An approved Land and Drainage Alteration Permit becomes null and void if 
the construction authorized by such permit is not commenced within 180 days from the date of such 
permit, or if the construction authorized by such permit is suspended or abandoned at any time after 
the work is commenced for a period of 180 days.  

Commentary: This section adds language regarding site inspection and right of access by the City for 
permitted sites, from SMC 8.336.  

8.420 Construction Site Control Measures and Design Standards. 

            (1)        Construction Site Practices. In addition to compliance with specific requirements 
contained in an approved Land and Drainage Alteration Permit, all permit holders shall establish and 
implement Land and Drainage Alteration Plan practices that will prevent toxic materials and other 
debris from entering the City’s storm drainage and waterway systems. The following construction site 
practices shall be prohibited and constitute a violation of these regulations: 

            (a)        Improper storage of chemicals (e.g., pesticides, fertilizers, fuels, paints, 
plasters, thinners); 

            (b)        Improper disposal of construction waste material, garbage, rubbish, and 
sanitary waste, plaster, dry-wall, grout, gypsum; 

            (c)        Failure to immediately clean up spills of toxic materials; 

            (d)       Washing excess concrete material or other construction related material into a 
street, catch basin, or other public facility, the public stormwater system, private stormwater 
drainage systems that discharge to the public stormwater system, natural resources inventory 
sites, or other protected area identified on the approved Land and Drainage Alteration Plan; 

            (e)        Allowing construction vehicles to track or spill soil, oil or debris into or onto a 
street or public right-of-way; 

            (f)        Ground disturbing activities or destruction of vegetation in protected areas; 

            (g)        Beginning construction activities without a valid permit or prior to initial site 
inspection by director; and 

            (h)        Failure to maintain BMPs including, but not limited to, a sediment fence, inlet 
protection, or concrete wash out. 

Attachment 1 Page 16 of 23 

Exhibit A Page 14 of 21 



{00028897:3}  

            (2)        Prevention Measures and Design Standards. The City’s Engineering Design Standards 
and Procedures Manual may be utilized to obtain ideas as to how to achieve the outcomes mandated 
by section 8.408(1). Except as provided in section 8.408, it is not necessary to utilize any of the specific 
BMPs contained in the City’s Engineering Design Standards and Procedures Manual, nor is the use of 
one or more of those BMPs a guarantee that a permit will be issued. Each site and the proposed 
construction related activities need to be examined to determine what measures are required for that 
specific site.  

     (3)  Inspection of Work.  All work under an approved Land and Drainage Alteration Permit is subject 
to inspection by the Director.  The director or authorized representative may go upon the subject 
property for the purpose of making inspections and performing other duties pursuant to this code. No 
person shall interfere with a lawful inspection under this code. 

 

Commentary: This section was previously 8.306, and is renumbered here to 8.421 and revised as 
shown below, to directly reference the existing administrative abatement procedures in the Springfield 
Municipal Code, which is used to abate other hazardous property conditions as needed.  The 
Administrative Abatement procedures in 5.006 to 5.018 provide for a notice of abatement and 
opportunity for the responsible party to perform the abatement themselves, or else the City will 
perform the abatement and lien the property for the costs.  The code also provides for summary 
abatement without prior notice in the event of an imminent danger to public safety or other emergency 
condition. 

8.421306 Abatement of Hazards. 

            Whenever the director determines that any existing excavation, or embankment, or fill on 
private property has become a hazard to life and limb, or endangers property, or adversely affects the 
safety, use, or stability of a public way or drainage channel, the director may cause said condition or 
conditions to be abated pursuant to administrative abatement procedures in sections 5.006 through 
5.018 of this code the owner of the property upon which the excavation or fill is located, or other 
person or agent in control of said property, upon receipt of notice in writing from the director, shall 
within the period specified therein repair or eliminate such excavation or embankment so as to 
eliminate the hazard and be in conformance with the requirements of this code.  

Commentary: SMC 8.320 is renumbered here as 8.422 

8.422320 Excavations. 

            (1)        Unless otherwise permitted, the slope of any bank in an excavation shall not be 
steeper than one and one-half horizontal to one vertical, except that such slope may be required to be 
flatter if soil conditions are found to be unfavorable, or an adjacent foundation or structure may be 
endangered. 

            (2)        Terraces at least six feet in width shall be established at not more than 30-foot 
vertical intervals on all cut slopes to control surface drainage and debris except that where only one 
terrace is required, it shall be at mid-height.  For cut slopes greater than 60 feet and up to 120 feet in 
vertical height one terrace at approximately mid-height shall be 12 feet in width. Terrace widths and 

Attachment 1 Page 17 of 23 

Exhibit A Page 15 of 21 



{00028897:3}  

spacing for cut slopes greater than 120 feet in height shall be designed by an engineer and approved 
by the director. Terraces shall have a transverse slope of not less than five horizontal to one vertical 
sloping down towards the bank above the terrace and a longitudinal slope of not less than two percent. 
Suitable access shall be provided to permit proper cleaning and maintenance pursuant to this code. 
Swales or ditches on terraces shall have a minimum gradient of five percent and must be paved with 
concrete not less than three inches in thickness or an approved equal paving. They shall have a 
minimum depth at the deepest point of one foot and a minimum paved width of five feet. A single run 
of swales or ditch shall not collect runoff from a tributary area exceeding 13,500 square feet 
(projected) without discharging into a down drain. 

            (3)        Cut slopes shall be provided with subsurface drainage as necessary for stability.  

Commentary: SMC 8.322 is renumbered here as 8.424. 

8.424322 Ground Preparation for Embankments. 

            (1)        The area on which an embankment or fill is to be placed shall be cleared of all 
vegetation, such as trees, logs, stumps, and roots of trees, brush, heavy growth of grass and weeds, 
and any other objectionable material, such and debris, concrete foundations, metal, or non-earthen 
materials which cannot be properly consolidated or will not support the load of the embankment or 
structures. The cleared area shall extend to a width of two feet outside the area to be filled. All trees, 
existing stumps and large roots shall be removed, except that within the area where fills will be three 
feet or more in height, trees may be cut flush with the existing ground and grubbing of the remaining 
stumps will not be required except at locations where subdrainage, trenches, drain pipes, foundations 
or other structures are to constructed or where unsuitable materials is to be removed before 
construction of the embankment. 

            (2)        The existing ground shall be prepared to receive fill construction by: 

            (a)        The installation of subdrains to intercept and dispose of waters from springs, 
aquifers, or other underground sources of water; and storm drains to intercept and dispose of 
surface waters where required on approved plans. 

            (b)        Compacting the ground area upon which any embankment is to be constructed 
to a minimum relative compaction of 90 percent throughout the top six inches. 

            (3)        Embankment fills shall not be constructed upon natural ground slopes which are 
steeper than five horizontal to one vertical unless such embankments are keyed into the natural 
ground; and the native material together with the fill material shall be recompacted to a relative 
compaction of 90 percent. The width of the benches for keying new embankments to existing slopes 
shall not be less than 10 feet. The construction operation shall be such that a slip plane is not created 
between the original material and the newly compacted material.  

Attachment 1 Page 18 of 23 

Exhibit A Page 16 of 21 



{00028897:3}  

Commentary: SMC 8.324 is renumbered here as 8.426. 

8.426324 Embankment and Backfill. 

            (1)        The slopes of an embankment shall not be steeper than two horizontal to one vertical, 
except where the soils and geology report indicates that steeper slopes may be constructed and 
maintained safely without creating a potential sliding or erosion condition. 

            (2)        In fills over 20 feet in height, a terrace having a minimum width of six feet shall be 
constructed in the fill slopes, with a maximum vertical spacing of 20 feet between terraces or from the 
top or bottom of the fill slopes, except that the vertical spacing may be increased if slopes are 
commensurately flattened where such increase and flattening is recommended by an engineer and 
approved by the director. The terrace shall have a transverse slope of not less than five horizontal to 
one vertical sloping down towards the embankment, and a longitudinal slope of not less than two 
percent. Drainage along the terrace shall be provided as required by section 8.4248.322 of this code. 

            (3)        (a)        Except as noted below for rock fill, material for embankments and backfills 
for excavations, slides, walls and other structures shall be spread in layers not exceeding eight inches 
in loose thickness before compaction, and each layer shall be compacted to a relative compaction of 
not less than 90 percent. 

             (b)        The side slopes of all embankments shall be compacted by means of tampers or 
rollers to a minimum of 85 percent relative compaction. 

            (4)        (a)        When fill material includes rock, individual rock shall not be greater than 
three feet in greatest dimension, and no rock larger than six inches in greatest dimension will be 
permitted less than 18 inches below finished grade of the embankment. No large rocks will be 
permitted to nest, and all voids shall be filled with earth or other fine material and properly compacted. 

             (b)        Material used for backfilling within 18 inches of walls or other structures shall be 
free from stones or lumps of material exceeding four inches in greatest dimension. 

            (5)        At the time of compaction, the moisture content of the embankment material shall be 
such that the minimum relative compaction specified may be obtained with the compacting equipment 
being used. Water shall be added in the required amount to obtain the optimum moisture content for 
achieving maximum density. Compaction of embankment material which contains excessive moisture 
shall be delayed until the material has been allowed to dry to such an extent that the relative 
compaction specified may be produced with the compacting equipment being used. 

            (6)        Sufficient field and laboratory tests to determine the relative compaction of the 
ground and embankment material shall be taken and shall not be less frequent than necessary to 
obtain compaction tests in each two feet of vertical lift of the embankment. The results of such testing 
shall be included in the reports required by section 8.4368.338 of this code. 

            (7)        The absence of compaction test reports, or inaccuracies or inconsistencies in the test 
results shall be deemed sufficient to reject the completed construction or to delay issuance of a 
certification of completion until additional test reports are satisfactory and indicate compliance. The 
director may require a certificate by an approved soils testing agency based on the tests of the fill at 
selected elevations.  

Attachment 1 Page 19 of 23 

Exhibit A Page 17 of 21 



{00028897:3}  

Commentary: SMC 8.330 is being renumbered 8.430.  This section helps ensures that applicants 
proactively update or resubmit permit applications when conditions at a site change or do not match 
what was approved in the permit, or if another dangerous condition occurs.  If an applicant does not 
update their Permit (and associated plans) due to changed conditions, then the City may suspend or 
revoke the permit until the applicant corrects the conditions and/or submits a new permit application 
with corrected plan(s).  This section ensures compliance with MS4 Permit Schedule A.3.d.iv.C, which 
requires erosion and sediment control plans be maintained and updated as site conditions change, or 
as needed. 

8.430330 Permit Suspension or Revocation. 

            (1)        The director may, in writing, suspend or revoke a permit issued under the provisions 
of this code whenever it is found that: 

            (a)        The permit was issued in error or on the basis of incorrect information; 

            (b)        Conditions at the site vary appreciably from that stated in the application or 
shown on the grading plans; 

            (c)        Construction does not conform to the approved plans, grades, or other 
conditions of the grading permit; 

            (d)       Cessation of work before completion have, left the site in a condition hazardous 
to public or to the adjacent properties, and the applicant does not comply with reasonable 
requirements as to completion of the work within the time specified in the permit or an 
approved extension of time therefor; 

            (e)        The applicant does not comply with reasonable requirements to safeguard the 
workers, the public, or other persons acting in a lawful manner, during his or her construction 
operations; 

            (f)        The applicant, in transporting materials, or operating equipment in, around, to 
and from the site and in connection with the grading operations for which the permit was 
issued, fails to operate the equipment properly on or along public roads, or allows materials or 
litter to encroach, obstruct or be deposited on pavement, or in drainage channels, or otherwise 
within the road right-of-way, to the detriment of the public road, or creates a hazard on the 
public road, or causes unauthorized obstruction or diversion of drainage channels within the site 
areas; 

            (g)        Failure to have a qualified inspector, working under the supervision of a 
registered engineer, on the site during construction operations when so required under the 
permit. 

            (2)        Upon issuance of a notice to cease work, or the suspension of the grading permit, the 
applicant shall immediately cause all grading and hauling operations connected therewith to cease until 
permission is received from the director allowing the applicant to proceed after correcting the 
objectionable conditions or operations so as to eliminate the hazard or encroachment and to prevent 
recurrence of the situation. 

Attachment 1 Page 20 of 23 

Exhibit A Page 18 of 21 



{00028897:3}  

            (3)        Upon the order of the director, any grading permit so suspended may be either 
reinstated or revoked. Whenever a permit has been revoked, work on the site shall not again 
commence until a new application has been filed incorporating the necessary revisions in plans or 
methods of operation required to fulfill the intent of sections 8.400 to 8.436 8.300 to 8.338 and in 
accordance with the regulations herein, and approved by the director.  

Commentary: SMC 8.332 is being renumbered 8.432. 

8.432332 Fees. 

            (1)        Plan Checking Fee. For excavation and fill on the same site, the fee shall be based on 
the volume of the excavation or fill, whichever is greater. Before accepting a set of plans and 
specifications for checking, the director shall collect a plan-checking fee. Where not covered by the 
approved improvement plans for the development, separate permits and fees may apply to retaining 
walls or major drainage structures in accordance with the state building code. There shall be no 
separate charge for standard terrace drains and similar facilities. The amount of the plan checking fee 
for grading plans shall be based on the average actual costs as set forth by resolution of the City 
Council. The rates and charges herein provided are for incurred costs based upon the use or availability 
for use of the public right-of-way and/or the storm sewer system, as well as for meeting the routine 
obligations of ownership, which is necessary for the regulation of and provision for, the public health, 
safety and welfare. The charge is controlled by the user’s or potential user’s request and choice of the 
kind, nature and quantity of use. The plan-checking fee for a grading permit authorizing additional 
work to that under a valid permit shall be the difference between such fee paid for the original permit 
and the fee shown for the entire project. 

            (2)        Grading Permit Fees. A fee for each grading permit shall be paid to the director based 
on the average actual costs as set forth by resolution of the City Council. The rates and charges herein 
provided are for incurred costs based upon the use or availability for use of the public right-of-way 
and/or the storm sewer system, as well as for meeting the routine obligations of ownership, which is 
necessary for the regulation of, and provision for, the public health, safety and welfare. The charge is 
controlled by the user’s or potential user’s request and choice of the kind, nature and quantity of use. 
The fee for grading permit authorizing additional work to that under a valid permit shall be the 
difference between the fee paid for the original permit and the fee shown for the entire project.  

Commentary: SMC 8.334 is renumbered here as 8.434, with revisions as shown below. The changes 
include reorganizing the content for better clarity, and separating out the requirements for the form of 
financial security into a new subsection, and replacing detailed bond requirements with a general 
requirement that financial security be in a form approved by the City Attorney.  This change allows 
more flexibility for the types of security accepted by the City, depending on specific circumstances. In 
addition, the amount of financial security required is increased from 110% to 120% to be consistent 
with other financial security requirements for development-related activities in the City of Springfield. 

8.434334 BondsFinancial Security. 

(1)        When Bond Financial Security is Required. The director may require that the applicant 
file financial security if If the director determines that the nature of the work regulated permitted is 
such that, if left incomplete, it will result in any one or more of the following conditions: 

Attachment 1 Page 21 of 23 

Exhibit A Page 19 of 21 



{00028897:3}  

(a) endanger Endangering an adjoining property or street, ; or will  

(b) create Creating a hazard to human life or health on any property;, or will  

(c) nNegatively affecting any physical features including, but not limited to: riparian 
vegetation, ; trees over five inches or greater DBH, ; open drainage waysstormwater 
management facilities, ; watercourses shown on the Water Quality Limited Watercourse Map 
and their riparian areas, ; locally significant riparian areas; locally significant wetlands; identified 
archeological and/or historical sites, identified threatened or endangered species habitat, areas 
considered for inclusion in the City’s Goal 5 lands inventory, jurisdictional wetlands, or and rock 
outcroppings.,  

(2)        Amount of Required Security. Required security must equal to 120 percent of the cost 
of the design, materials, and labor of the work proposed by the permit, or 120 percent of the amount 
necessary to return the site to pre-alteration conditions, whichever amount is determined in the public’s 
best interest by the director.  Required security must consist of cash, certified check, time certificate or 
deposit, or lending agency certification to the City that funds are being held until completion. When the 
final permitted improvements are complete and certified by the Director, any portion of the remaining 
security deposited with the City, including any accrued interest, will be returned to the depositor. The 
financial security must be in a form approved by the City Attorney. Such bond or other security shall 
obligate the principal, his or her executors, administrators and assigns, jointly and severally, and the 
surety, to the city for the faithful performance of the work required. Such bond or other security shall 
further provide that it will not be challenged or terminated until at least 30 days’ notice thereof has 
been filed with the director. 

            (23)        Notice of Default. Whenever the director shall finds that a default has occurred in the 
performance of any term or condition of any permit, written notice thereof shall be given to the 
principal and to the surety on the bondfinancial security. Such notice shall state the work to be done to 
achieve a safe and satisfactory condition and the period of time in which the work must be completed, 
as deemed by the director to be reasonably determined necessary for the completion of such work by 
the director. 

            (34)        Duty of Surety. After receipt of such notice the surety shall, within the time therein 
specified, cause the required work to be performed. 

            (45)        Application of Financial Security by the City.  If the required work is not completed, 
or if the work is performed improperly and not remedied, within the time approved by the director, 
then the City may use the security to complete the work or restore the property to pre-alteration 
condition, as determined by the director. This remedy is in addition to, and not in lieu of, the City’s 
other enforcement authorities. Disposition of Cash Bond. If a cash bond has been postponed and the 
notice of default, as approved by the preceding paragraph, has been given to the principal, and 
compliance by the principal with the notice of default is not obtained within the time specified, the 
director may, upon suspending or revoking the grading permit pursuant to section 8.330 of the code, 
proceed without delay and without further notice or proceedings whatsoever to use the cash deposited 
to cause the required work to be done by contract or other means as may be determined at the 
discretion of the director. The balance, if any, of such deposit shall, upon completion of the work, be 
returned to the depositor after deducting the cost of the work plus 10 percent thereof. 

Attachment 1 Page 22 of 23 

Exhibit A Page 20 of 21 



{00028897:3}  

            (5)        Right of Entry. In the event of any default in the performance or any term or 
condition of the permit for the work, after providing reasonable notice, the surety or any person 
employed or engaged on its behalf or any authorized representative of the director shall , after 
providing reasonable notice have the right to go upon the premises to complete the required work or 
make it saferestore the property to pre-alteration conditions. 

            (6)        Interference Prohibited. No person shall interfere with or obstruct the ingress or 
egress to or from such premises by any authorized representative or agent of any surety or of the City 
engaging in completing the work required to perform under the permit or in complying with the terms 
and conditions thereof or in inspecting the grading operation pursuant to section 8.4368.338 of this 
code. 

            (7)        Term of Bond; Completion. The term of each bond posted shall begin under the date 
of the posting thereof and shall end upon the satisfactory completion of the terms and conditions 
stated in the permit. Such completion shall be evidenced by a certificate of completion as provided in 
section 8.338, a copy of which will be sent to any surety upon request. When a cash bond has been 
posted, it less any amounts deducted to pay for work performed on order of the director pursuant to 
any notice of default with said work being charged at a rate three times the wages, equipment fees 
and material costs, plus 40 percent overhead, or $200.00, which ever is greater, shall be returned to 
the depositor upon completion of the work.  

Commentary: SMC 8.338 is renumbered here as 8.436, with minor revisions for clarity. 

8.338 436 Completion of Work. 

            (1)        Final Reports. Upon completion of the rough grading work and at the final completion 
of the work, the director may require that the grading plan prepared by the engineer be supplemented 
or amended to show the final as-built conditions of the site, including the original ground surface 
elevations, the as-graded ground surface elevations lot drainage patterns and locations and elevations 
of all surface and subsurface drainage facilities. He or sheThe engineer who prepared the grading plan 
shall provide approval that the work was done in accordance with the final approved grading plan. 

            (2)        Notification of Completion. The applicant permittee or agent shall notify the director 
when the grading operation is ready for final inspection. The director will provide Ffinal approval shall 
not be given untilwhen all work has been completed under the permit,  including installation of all 
drainage facilities and their protective devices; and all erosion control measures have been completed 
in accordance with the final approved grading plan; and the all required reports and as-built plans have 
been submitted and approved by the director.  

 

Attachment 1 Page 23 of 23 

Exhibit A Page 21 of 21 



 

{00029004:1}  

GRADING 

Commentary: SMC 8.300 is duplicative to 8.400 and should be repealed, with key grading 

provisions to be integrated into 8.400 or renumbered. 

8.300 General. 

            Sections 8.300 to 8.338 sets forth specific rules and regulations to control excavating, 

grading, and earthwork construction, including fills and embankments; establishes the 

administrative procedure for issuance of permits; and of safeguarding persons and property 

against unreasonable hazards resulting from uncontrolled grading and excavating practices in 

the interest of protecting the public health, safety and general welfare. 

The permit issued by the city for this work is called the Land and Drainage Alteration Permit.  

Commentary: SMC 8.302 is duplicative to parts of 8.412 and what is not duplicative is 

inconsistent with the MS4 Permit, and should be repealed 

8.302 Permits Required, Exceptions. 

            (1)        Permits Required. Unless exempted herein, no person shall perform any 

grading work without first having obtained a permit as provided for herein. Grading work shall 

include: 

            (a)        The excavation or removal of earth or rock from the surface layers of the 

ground; 

            (b)        The movement or transportation of earth around, along, over, or on the 

surface of the ground other than transporting the material in trucks from one site to another 

over public or private roadways; or 

            (c)        The deposition, placement or compaction of earth materials for the 

construction of fills. 

            (2)        Exceptions. No grading permit will be required for the following work; 

however, all grading work exempted from permit requirements shall comply with all other 

regulations of the city and laws of the state of Oregon: 

            (a)        An excavation below finished grade for basements of a building, retaining wall, 

swimming pool or other  structure  authorized  by  a  valid building permit so long as the 

excavation conforms to an approved grading plan. Where there is no approved grading plan, 

the director of public works or designee, hereinafter referred to as director, may require 

submittal of such a plan for approval. This subsection shall not exempt any fill made with 

material from such excavation or exempt any excavation having an unsupported height greater 

than five feet after the completion of such structure. 

            (b)        Cemetery graves. 

            (c)        Refuse disposal sites controlled by other regulations. 

            (d)       Excavations for wells or tunnels or utilities. 

Attachment 2 Page 1 of 18 



 

{00029004:1}  

            (e)        Mining, quarrying, excavating, processing, stockpiling of rock, sand, gravel, 

aggregate or clay where established or provided for by law provided such operations do not 

affect the lateral support or increase the stress in or pressure upon any adjacent or contiguous 

property. 

            (f)        Exploratory excavations under the direction of an engineer, registered 

geologist, or registered certified specialty geologist. 

            (g)        An excavation which (a) is less than two feet in depth, or (b) which does not 

create a cut slope greater than five feet and steeper than one and one-half horizontal to one 

vertical, which does not extend to within two feet of adjoining property, and which does not 

adversely affect drainage from or onto adjoining properties. 

            (h)        A fill less than one foot in depth, and placed on natural terrain with a slope 

flatter than five horizontal to one vertical, or less than three feet in depth, not intended to 

support structures, which does not exceed 50 cubic yards on any one lot and does not 

adversely affect drainage from or onto adjoining properties. 

            (i)         All excavation and grading done under other valid permits is exempt.  

Commentary: The contents of SMC 8.304 is covered under SMC 8.412 (requiring a permit), SMC 

4.370-4.372 (prohibiting illicit discharges to the stormwater system), and SMC 3.208-3.222 

(regulating work on or under the surface of public rights of way and public utility easements).  

This section should be repealed. 

8.304 Actions Prohibited. 

            It shall be unlawful for any person to: 

            (1)        Perform any work within the scope of this code without first having obtained a 

permit from the director pursuant to this code unless specifically exempted from permit 

requirements. 

            (2)        Excavate, grade or place fill material on or within any property, whether or not 

a permit is required under the provisions of this code, so as to cause or allow dirt or debris to 

be washed, eroded or carried from said property by natural or artificial means onto other 

property or on to a public road or street. The depositing of earth, soil, rock, mud or litter upon 

the public roads either by grading operations or by hauling equipment is prohibited, except as 

otherwise provided for street improvements and/or stockpiling for which a permit has been 

issued. 

            (3)        Obstruct, divert or interfere with natural or artificial surface drainage way, 

except for such construction or operation that may be approved by the director. 

            (4)        Perform any work or construct any facility, including excavation or 

embankment, trenching, driveway construction or drainage facility, within the right-of-way for a 

public road or street, or easement under the jurisdiction of the city of Springfield without a 

permit from the director issued pursuant to sections 8.300 to 8.338 of this code.  

 

Attachment 2 Page 2 of 18 



 

{00029004:1}  

Commentary: This section should be renumbered to 8.421 and revised as shown below, to 

directly reference the existing administrative abatement procedures in the Springfield Municipal 

Code, which is used to abate other hazardous property conditions as needed.  The 

Administrative Abatement procedures in 5.006 to 5.018 provide for a notice of abatement and 

opportunity for the responsible party to perform the abatement themselves, or else the City will 

perform the abatement and lien the property for the costs.  The code also provides for 

summary abatement without prior notice in the event of an imminent danger to public safety or 

other emergency condition. 

8.306 Hazards. 

            Whenever the director determines that any existing excavation or embankment or fill 

on private property has become a hazard to life and limb, or endangers property, or adversely 

affects the safety, use or stability of a public way or drainage channel the owner of the property 

upon which the excavation or fill is located, or other person or agent in control of said property, 

upon receipt of notice in writing from the director, shall within the period specified therein 

repair or eliminate such excavation or embankment so as to eliminate the hazard and be in 

conformance with the requirements of this code.  

Commentary: SMC 8.308 is covered by SMC 8.412 and 8.414 and should be repealed. 

8.308 Grading Permit Conditions. 

            Approval of grading permits will be made subject to appropriate conditions or 

reservations as may be required to insure the protection of public health, safety, or general 

welfare including, but not limited to: 

            (1)        Execution of a “hold harmless” clause on the permit as follows: “The 

permittee, for him or herself, his or her contractors, and employees, agrees that the approval of 

the grading permit in no manner presumes or implies the approval or terms of approval of any 

other future permit required by the city for the site and indemnifies and holds approval and 

further agrees to save, indemnify and hold harmless the city of Springfield and its 

representatives from all liabilities, claims and judgments for damages by reason of injury or 

death to any person or persons, or damage to property from any cause whatsoever while in, 

upon, or in any way connected with the work covered by this grading permit, and does further 

agree to defend the city in any claim arising out of or as a result of the work done under this 

permit.”; 

            (2)        Completion of the work within the time period approved by the director; 

            (3)        Cleaning up area and planting in accordance with approved grading plans; 

            (4)        Designation of area in which work may be done; 

            (5)        Designation of the slope to which excavation may be made, and elevation of 

filling; 

            (6)        Reasonable provisions for controlling excessive dust; 

            (7)        Hours during which operations may proceed; 

Attachment 2 Page 3 of 18 



 

{00029004:1}  

            (8)        Safety precautions which must be taken to guide pedestrian and vehicular 

traffic movements in, around and by said operation, in accordance with Chapter 44 of the state 

building code; 

            (9)        Posting of a good and efficient bond as provided in section 8.334 to assure 

compliance with the conditions; 

            (10)      Other conditions which may be established as necessary by the director based 

upon accepted engineering practices; 

            (11)      Furnishing a survey or other positive evidence of property boundary lines at 

the site to be graded, if deemed necessary by the director; 

            (12)      Furnishing a qualified inspector working under the supervision of an engineer 

on the site during construction operations, if deemed necessary by the director.  

Commentary: SMC 8.308 is covered by SMC 8.412 and should be repealed. 

8.310 Permit Application Forms. 

            To obtain a permit the applicant shall first file an application therefor in writing on a 

form prescribed by the director for that purpose. Each application shall: 

            (1)        Identify and describe the work to be covered by the permit for which 

application is made; 

            (2)        Describe and furnish the proposed route to the location of the filling or 

disposal site for excavated material if other than on the site of the excavation.  

Commentary: SMC 8.312 is duplicative to SMC 8.412(4) and (6), which specifies that the 

application form requirements are to be specified by the Director.  SMC 8.312 should be 

repealed. 

8.312 Required Information for Grading Plans and Specifications. 

            Submittal Requirements: 

            (1)        Each application for a grading permit shall be accompanied by sets of plans 

and specifications, and supporting data consisting of a soils and geology report, unless waived 

by the director. 

            (2)        Site data, when required by the director, shall be furnished. This information 

shall include, but not be limited to, the following items; 

            (a)        Vicinity map showing location of site or sites involved; 

            (b)        Map showing property boundaries and dimensions or area covered by 

application for permit; 

            (c)        Map showing buildings, roads, utilities, or other improvements within the area, 

and adjacent thereto, that may be affected by the proposed work; 

Attachment 2 Page 4 of 18 



 

{00029004:1}  

            (d)       A map drawn to a convenient scale, showing the contours of the ground and 

details of terrain and drainage, for the conditions existing before and after the proposed 

work.  This map should show the locations of observed springs, swampy areas, areas subject to 

flooding, landslides and mud flows; 

            (e)        Cross section of the ground, if required by the director, showing both original 

and proposed ground surface with grades, slopes, and elevations noted; 

            (f)        A statement as to the general description of the earth materials involved in the 

work, including classification, bedding, or other geological features, results of test borings; and 

reports by an engineer as to slide conditions existing or anticipated, and as to the suitability of 

the material for construction of stable embankments with recommendations for construction 

procedure to obtain required stability and relative compaction. 

            (3)        Unless otherwise incorporated in site data, or waived by the director, the 

following data shall be furnished: 

            (a)        A plan showing dimensions and elevations within the limits of the area to be 

graded that will result upon completion of the work, and indicating proposed drainage channels 

and facilities; 

            (b)        The planned elevations, grades, and slopes of excavations and embankments; 

            (c)        Specifications controlling construction methods and materials in construction of 

the work including: 

            (i)         Provisions for control of grading operations within the construction area on 

public roads; 

            (ii)        Safety precautions to be observed, and facilities to be provided; 

            (iii)       Compliance with all pertinent laws and local regulations; 

            (iv)       Control of dust; 

            (v)        Hours during which work will be permitted; 

            (vi)       Other related matters. 

            (d)       Plans and details of walls, cribbing, slope protection, facilities and planting. 

Planting plans will be subject to the approval of the director. 

            (4)        Specifications for the removal and disposal of excess material.  

Commentary: SMC 8.314 will be integrated into the Land and Drainage Alteration Plan 

requirements in SMC 8.412(6). 

8.314 Soils and Geology Report. 

            (1)        Unless waived by the director, a soils and geology report, prepared by an 

engineer, shall be submitted by the developer or his or her representative. The director may 

Attachment 2 Page 5 of 18 



 

{00029004:1}  

require that the engineer consult with a registered geologist or registered certified specialty 

geologist in preparation of this report. 

            (2)        In order to provide the engineer with the information necessary for 

determining both the types of structures which can be placed on the land and the types of 

drainage facilities which will be necessary, the report shall contain adequate data and 

recommendations on the following matters: 

            (a)        A general indication of both surface and subsurface drainage facilities 

necessary to secure stability of native soil or compacted fill. 

            (b)        The location of areas within the boundaries of the development which can 

justifiably and safely be used for building sites, with accompanying diagram. 

            (c)        Guidelines to be used to adequately and properly develop and maintain the 

area under consideration, such as the desirable height of cuts and fills, desirable steepness of 

slopes, recommended erosion control measures, retaining wall locations, necessary corrective 

measures, etc. 

            (d)       An analysis of areas immediately adjacent to the proposed development which, 

after grading, might have an adverse effect upon the proposed development or might be 

adversely affected by the grading. 

            (3)        Requirements for excavations and fills for any building or structure, and for 

foundations and retaining structures shall be governed by Chapter 29 of the state building code. 

            (4)        When the soils and geology report indicates the presence of critically 

expansive soils or other soil problems which, if not corrected, would lead to structural defects, 

the developer or his or her representative shall submit a report which addresses each lot or 

areas with said soil conditions. This investigation shall recommend corrective action which is 

likely to prevent structural damage to the proposed structures. When these further studies are 

necessary, all buildings, structures, and public or private improvements shall be designed in 

accordance with the recommendations contained in these studies. 

            (5)        When a preliminary report backed by sufficient data and prepared by the 

engineer indicates that the soils quality of the proposed development does not require further 

analysis, the director may, based upon this information, determine that a complete soils and 

geology report is not required.  

Commentary: SMC 8.316 is covered by SMC 8.408 and should be repealed. 

8.316 Drainage Pollution and Erosion Control. 

            (1)        When required by the director, drainage facilities and pollution and erosion 

control devices shall be provided to convey storm waters to a natural channel or water course 

or to a storm drainage facility in an acceptable manner without causing pollution, erosion, or 

damage and such facilities shall be designed so as to provide the capacity deemed to be 

necessary by the director. 

Attachment 2 Page 6 of 18 



 

{00029004:1}  

            (2)        (a) When work done under a grading permit indicates the presence of 

subsurface waters which may contribute to sliding or settlement of the earth surface either in 

an undisturbed state, or that such subsurface waters are expected to result from the grading 

operations, the director may require the construction of, or installation of such subsurface and 

surface facilities as may be deemed necessary to collect anticipated slide or settlement 

conditions, and require its conveyance to an acceptable point of discharge. 

            (b)        Whenever during excavation there are uncovered or become apparent any 

unforeseen springs, aquifers, or sources of underground water, all grading operations in the 

immediate area may be stopped when deemed necessary by the director. If grading operations 

are so halted, they shall not be resumed until the drainage facilities recommended by an 

engineer for the remedy of the condition have been completed and approved. 

            (3)        Graded sites shall be sloped a minimum of two percent to provide adequate 

drainage. 

            (4)        (a) Whenever slope surfaces or excavations and embankments exist, or result 

from grading operations on the site, erosion control shall be installed by October 1st; if grading 

operations occur from October 1 through April 30, erosion control shall be installed within 14 

days from denuding. 

            (b)        Erosion control measures shall conform to the recommendation within the soil 

and geology report and shall be approved by the director. Such measures shall consist of 

surface roughening, interceptor and diversion practices, vegetative soil stabilization, and non-

vegetative soil stabilization. 

            (c)        Temporary or short-term stabilization shall be required in accordance with 

paragraph (a) above when necessitated by prolonged grading delays or by completion of final 

grading during seasons of the year when permanent vegetative soil stabilization cannot be 

performed. Temporary or short-term stabilization shall conform to the recommendation within 

the soil and geology report and shall be approved by the director.  

Commentary: SMC 8.318 is covered by other portions of the code or should be moved to 8.400. 

8.318 General Regulations. 

Commentary: Subsection (1) is covered the wet weather BMP requirements in SMC 8.408. 

            (1)        Excavation, grading or construction of fills may be prohibited by the director 

during the period in which rainfall precludes compliance with requirements herein set forth. 

Commentary: The noise ordinance in SMC 5.220 regulates use of mechanical devices operated 

by compressed air or steam that is not effectively muffled, and erecting, excavating, 

demolishing, altering or repairing buildings, between 6:00 pm and 7:00 am daily. This 

subsection (2) is duplicative of the noise ordinance, or overly restrictive, and should be 

repealed. 

            (2)        If operations under the grading permit are within 500 feet of residential or 

commercial occupancies, grading operations shall be limited to the hours of 6:00 a.m. to 8:00 

Attachment 2 Page 7 of 18 



 

{00029004:1}  

p.m. daily, with Sunday operations prohibited, excepting that maintenance and service work on 

equipment may be performed at any time subject to regulation by section 5.220. 

Commentary: Subsections (3)-(6) are covered by SMC 8.408 and should be repealed. 

            (3)        Encroachment of operations on public rights-of-way without a permit from the 

director is prohibited except for hauling of legal loads by vehicles permitted to operate on public 

roads by law. 

            (4)        Operations shall be controlled to prevent nuisances to public and private 

ownership because of dust, drainage, water pollution, soil erosion, removal of natural support 

of land and structures, encroachment, noise and vibration. 

            (5)        Blasting, or other uses of explosives shall be subject to regulation by 

applicable state laws and regulations of the Springfield Code. 

            (6)        Excavation, grading, and construction of embankments in, on, under, over or 

adjacent to old fills, and areas known to be, or believed to be, potential slide areas, shall not be 

permitted until a soils and geology report prepared by an engineer has been submitted to the 

director with the application for a grading permit, and such report certifies that the proposed 

construction will be stable within itself and will not be hazardous to any adjoining property or to 

any public road, utility or other facility. Recommendations presented in the soils and geology 

report as to materials, equipment or procedures to be incorporated in the construction area or 

operations to ensure adequate stability and safety in the construction area, or to the adjoining 

areas which may be affected by the proposed construction, together with other reasonable 

requirements, may be incorporated in the grading permit as a condition of approval of the 

application. 

Commentary: Subsection (7) is referenced in SMC 8.414 for pre-development LDAP review.  

This text is proposed to be moved (with clarifying edits) to SMC 8.416. 

            (7)        All grading done under sections 8.300 to 8.338 must substantially conform to 

the design and layout of any approved or conditionally approved preliminary or tentative plan 

and violation of this clause may be grounds for suspension or revocation of the grading permit 

as prescribed in section 8.330 of this code, as well as being subject to the penalty provisions of 

this code. Exception: If an applicant requests a grading permit in the absence of an approved or 

conditionally approved preliminary or tentative development plan, the following requirements 

shall apply: 

            (a)        The grading shall not result in the need to extend public storm systems to the 

site or to alter, reconstruct or redirect any existing public open-water stormwater facility. 

            (b)        The permit application shall contain the following additional information: 

            (i)         The name, location, dimensions, direction of flow and top of bank of all 

adjacent watercourses including those that are shown on the city’s Water Quality Limited 

Watercourse Map; 

Attachment 2 Page 8 of 18 



 

{00029004:1}  

            (ii)        The 100-year floodplain and floodway boundaries and areas of special flood 

hazard designated by the city engineer as susceptible to inundation of water from any source 

that may affect the site. If fill occurs in the flood plain, the director may require analysis of the 

effects of the fill on flooding of adjacent properties; 

            (iii)       The Time of Travel Zones as delineated on the Springfield Wellhead Protection 

Areas Map that affect the site; and 

            (iv)       Physical features including, but not limited to, riparian vegetation, trees over 5 

inches or greater DBH, open drainage ways, watercourses shown on the Water Quality Limited 

Watercourse Map and their riparian areas, identified archeological and/or historical sites, 

identified threatened or endangered species habitat, areas considered for inclusion in the City’s 

Goal 5 lands inventory, jurisdictional wetlands and rock outcroppings. 

            (c)        Unless specifically allowed by the director, the features listed in subsection 

(b)(iv) above shall be retained and protected until such features are fully considered through a 

site plan review preliminary plan, subdivision tentative plan application, partition tentative plan 

application, and/or tree felling permit. To ensure retention of trees over five inches or greater 

DBH, the director may require a tree protection plan. 

            (d)       Except for grading of less than 100 cubic yards associated with the construction 

of a single-family dwelling, an informational notification shall be provided to owners and 

residents of property within 100 feet of the property line where the grading will take place. This 

notification shall be mailed a minimum of five days prior to the date the grading will commence 

and shall include the property address, an 8 1/2″ x 11″ map of the location of the property 

including the area where the grading will take place, the amount of material to be graded and 

approximate dates the work is to take place. The permittee shall be required to provide a fee 

for this notification. 

            (e)        The proposed grading shall not permit or authorize the placement or 

construction of public or private utilities or facilities, unless, in the opinion of the public works 

director, such utilities or facilities are necessary to ensure that the proposed land and drainage 

alteration is adequately protective of public health, safety, and general welfare. In this event, 

the applicant shall obtain from the city the additional permits necessary to construct such 

utilities or facilities. 

            (f)        All work conducted within existing and/or proposed public rights-of-way shall 

be limited to the minimum necessary, in the opinion of the city engineer, to ensure that the 

proposed land and drainage alteration is adequately protective of public health, safety, and 

general welfare. 

            (g)        If the proposed grading includes the demolition of existing impervious surface 

(concrete, asphalt, etc.) such material shall be legally disposed of off-site not later than one 

month after its demolition. 

            (h)        All other approvals necessary to proceed with the proposed grading, including 

such overlay district requirements for floodplain, hillside, historic district, the Willamette 

Greenway, tree felling or any regulated wetland, or any permits necessary from any other 

Attachment 2 Page 9 of 18 



 

{00029004:1}  

agency having jurisdiction over all or a portion of the work, shall be secured by the applicant 

prior to issuance of the grading permit.  

Commentary: SMC 8.320 is being renumbered 8.422 

8.320 Excavations. 

            (1)        Unless otherwise permitted, the slope of any bank in an excavation shall not 

be steeper than one and one-half horizontal to one vertical, except that such slope may be 

required to be flatter if soil conditions are found to be unfavorable, or an adjacent foundation or 

structure may be endangered. 

            (2)        Terraces at least six feet in width shall be established at not more than 30-foot 

vertical intervals on all cut slopes to control surface drainage and debris except that where only 

one terrace is required, it shall be at mid-height.  For cut slopes greater than 60 feet and up to 

120 feet in vertical height one terrace at approximately mid-height shall be 12 feet in width. 

Terrace widths and spacing for cut slopes greater than 120 feet in height shall be designed by 

an engineer and approved by the director. Terraces shall have a transverse slope of not less 

than five horizontal to one vertical sloping down towards the bank above the terrace and a 

longitudinal slope of not less than two percent. Suitable access shall be provided to permit 

proper cleaning and maintenance pursuant to this code. Swales or ditches on terraces shall 

have a minimum gradient of five percent and must be paved with concrete not less than three 

inches in thickness or an approved equal paving. They shall have a minimum depth at the 

deepest point of one foot and a minimum paved width of five feet. A single run of swales or 

ditch shall not collect runoff from a tributary area exceeding 13,500 square feet (projected) 

without discharging into a down drain. 

            (3)        Cut slopes shall be provided with subsurface drainage as necessary for 

stability.  

Commentary: SMC 8.322 is being renumbered 8.424 

8.322 Ground Preparation for Embankments. 

            (1)        The area on which an embankment or fill is to be placed shall be cleared of all 

vegetation, such as trees, logs, stumps, and roots of trees, brush, heavy growth of grass and 

weeds, and any other objectionable material, such and debris, concrete foundations, metal, or 

non-earthen materials which cannot be properly consolidated or will not support the load of the 

embankment or structures. The cleared area shall extend to a width of two feet outside the 

area to be filled. All trees, existing stumps and large roots shall be removed, except that within 

the area where fills will be three feet or more in height, trees may be cut flush with the existing 

ground and grubbing of the remaining stumps will not be required except at locations where 

subdrainage, trenches, drain pipes, foundations or other structures are to constructed or where 

unsuitable materials is to be removed before construction of the embankment. 

            (2)        The existing ground shall be prepared to receive fill construction by: 

Attachment 2 Page 10 of 18 



 

{00029004:1}  

            (a)        The installation of subdrains to intercept and dispose of waters from springs, 

aquifers, or other underground sources of water; and storm drains to intercept and dispose of 

surface waters where required on approved plans. 

            (b)        Compacting the ground area upon which any embankment is to be constructed 

to a minimum relative compaction of 90 percent throughout the top six inches. 

            (3)        Embankment fills shall not be constructed upon natural ground slopes which 

are steeper than five horizontal to one vertical unless such embankments are keyed into the 

natural ground; and the native material together with the fill material shall be recompacted to a 

relative compaction of 90 percent. The width of the benches for keying new embankments to 

existing slopes shall not be less than 10 feet. The construction operation shall be such that a 

slip plane is not created between the original material and the newly compacted material. 

Commentary: SMC 8.324 is being renumbered 8.426. 

8.324 Embankment and Backfill. 

            (1)        The slopes of an embankment shall not be steeper than two horizontal to one 

vertical, except where the soils and geology report indicates that steeper slopes may be 

constructed and maintained safely without creating a potential sliding or erosion condition. 

            (2)        In fills over 20 feet in height, a terrace having a minimum width of six feet 

shall be constructed in the fill slopes, with a maximum vertical spacing of 20 feet between 

terraces or from the top or bottom of the fill slopes, except that the vertical spacing may be 

increased if slopes are commensurately flattened where such increase and flattening is 

recommended by an engineer and approved by the director. The terrace shall have a transverse 

slope of not less than five horizontal to one vertical sloping down towards the embankment, 

and a longitudinal slope of not less than two percent. Drainage along the terrace shall be 

provided as required by section 8.322 of this code. 

            (3)        (a)        Except as noted below for rock fill, material for embankments and 

backfills for excavations, slides, walls and other structures shall be spread in layers not 

exceeding eight inches in loose thickness before compaction, and each layer shall be compacted 

to a relative compaction of not less than 90 percent. 

            (b)        The side slopes of all embankments shall be compacted by means of tampers 

or rollers to a minimum of 85 percent relative compaction. 

            (4)        (a)        When fill material includes rock, individual rock shall not be greater 

than three feet in greatest dimension, and no rock larger than six inches in greatest dimension 

will be permitted less than 18 inches below finished grade of the embankment. No large rocks 

will be permitted to nest, and all voids shall be filled with earth or other fine material and 

properly compacted. 

            (b)        Material used for backfilling within 18 inches of walls or other structures shall 

be free from stones or lumps of material exceeding four inches in greatest dimension. 

Attachment 2 Page 11 of 18 



 

{00029004:1}  

            (5)        At the time of compaction, the moisture content of the embankment material 

shall be such that the minimum relative compaction specified may be obtained with the 

compacting equipment being used. Water shall be added in the required amount to obtain the 

optimum moisture content for achieving maximum density. Compaction of embankment 

material which contains excessive moisture shall be delayed until the material has been allowed 

to dry to such an extent that the relative compaction specified may be produced with the 

compacting equipment being used. 

            (6)        Sufficient field and laboratory tests to determine the relative compaction of the 

ground and embankment material shall be taken and shall not be less frequent than necessary 

to obtain compaction tests in each two feet of vertical lift of the embankment. The results of 

such testing shall be included in the reports required by section 8.338 of this code. 

            (7)        The absence of compaction test reports, or inaccuracies or inconsistencies in 

the test results shall be deemed sufficient to reject the completed construction or to delay 

issuance of a certification of completion until additional test reports are satisfactory and indicate 

compliance. The director may require a certificate by an approved soils testing agency based on 

the tests of the fill at selected elevations.  

Commentary: SMC 8.326 is covered by the state building codes and should be repealed. 

8.326 Setbacks. 

            (1)        General. The setbacks and other restrictions specified by this section are 

minimum and may be increased by the director or by recommendation of an engineer, if 

necessary, for safety and stability or to prevent damage of adjacent properties from deposition 

or erosion or to provide access for slope maintenance drainage. Retaining walls may be used to 

reduce the required setbacks where approved by the director. 

            (2)        Setbacks from Property Lines. The tops of cuts and toes of fill slopes shall be 

set back from the outer boundaries of the permit area and behind any easements, in 

accordance with Figure A-33-1 of the State Structural Specialty Code.  

Commentary: SMC 8.328 is duplicative of 8.412 and 8.414.  Language that the permit expires 

after 180 days has been added to 8.418. 

8.328 Permit Issuance. 

            (1)        Issuance. The application, plans and specifications and other data filed by an 

applicant for permit shall be reviewed by the director. Such plan may be reviewed by other 

departments and agencies to verify compliance with any applicable laws, ordinances, rules, and 

regulations. If the director finds that the work described in the application for permit and the 

plans, specifications, and other data filed therewith conform to the requirements as stipulated 

by the controlling agencies, and other pertinent laws and ordinances, and that the fees 

specified in section 8.332 of this code have been paid, he or she shall issue a permit to the 

applicant. 

            When the director issues the permit where plans are required, he or she shall endorse 

in writing or stamp the plans and specifications APPROVED. Such approved plans and 

Attachment 2 Page 12 of 18 



 

{00029004:1}  

specifications shall not be changed, modified or altered without authorization from the director, 

and all work shall be done in accordance with the approved plans. The director may issue a 

permit for the grading of a portion of a larger site if plans and specifications for the entire site 

have been submitted and approved. 

            (2)        Retention of Plans. One set of approved plans, specifications and computations 

shall be retained by the director indefinitely, or until superseded; and one set of approved plans 

and specifications shall be returned to the applicant, and said set shall be kept on the site of the 

grading at all times during which the work authorized thereby is in process. 

            (3)        Validity of Permit. The issuance of granting of a permit or approval of plans 

and specifications shall not be construed to be a permit for, or an approval of, any violation of 

any of the provisions of this code or of any other ordinance of the city. No permit presuming to 

give authority to violate or cancel the provisions of this code shall be valid. 

            The issuance of a permit based upon plans, specifications and other data shall not 

prevent the director from thereafter requiring the correction of errors in said plans, 

specifications and other data, or from preventing grading operations being carried on when in 

violation of this code or any other ordinance of this city. 

            (4)        Expiration. Every permit issued by the director under the provisions of this 

code shall expire by limitation and become null and void if the grading authorized by such 

permit is not commenced within 180 days from the date of such permit, or if the grading 

authorized by such permit is suspended or abandoned at any time after the work is commenced 

for a period of 180 days. Before such work can be recommenced, a new permit shall be first 

obtained, and the fee therefor shall be one-half the amount required for a new permit for such 

work provided no changes have been made or will be made in the original plans and 

specifications for such grading, and provided further that such suspension of abandonment has 

not exceeded one year. 

            Any permittee holding an unexpired permit may apply for an extension of the time 

within which he or she may commence work under that permit when he or she is unable to 

commence work within the time required by sections 8.300 to 8.338 for good and satisfactory 

reason. The director may extend the time for action by the permittee for a period not exceeding 

180 days upon written request by permittee showing that circumstances beyond the control of 

the permittee have prevented action from being taken. No permit shall be extended more than 

once. In order to renew action on a permit after expiration, the permittee shall pay a new full 

permit fee if he or she fails to reapply within one year of the expiration date.  

Commentary: SMC 8.330 is being renumbered 8.430. 

8.330 Permit Suspension or Revocation. 

            (1)        The director may, in writing, suspend or revoke a permit issued under the 

provisions of this code whenever it is found that: 

            (a)        The permit was issued in error or on the basis of incorrect information; 

Attachment 2 Page 13 of 18 



 

{00029004:1}  

            (b)        Conditions at the site vary appreciably from that stated in the application or 

shown on the grading plans; 

            (c)        Construction does not conform to the approved plans, grades, or other 

conditions of the grading permit; 

            (d)       Cessation of work before completion have, left the site in a condition hazardous 

to public or to the adjacent properties, and the applicant does not comply with reasonable 

requirements as to completion of the work within the time specified in the permit or an 

approved extension of time therefor; 

            (e)        The applicant does not comply with reasonable requirements to safeguard the 

workers, the public, or other persons acting in a lawful manner, during his or her construction 

operations; 

            (f)        The applicant, in transporting materials, or operating equipment in, around, to 

and from the site and in connection with the grading operations for which the permit was 

issued, fails to operate the equipment properly on or along public roads, or allows materials or 

litter to encroach, obstruct or be deposited on pavement, or in drainage channels, or otherwise 

within the road right-of-way, to the detriment of the public road, or creates a hazard on the 

public road, or causes unauthorized obstruction or diversion of drainage channels within the site 

areas; 

            (g)        Failure to have a qualified inspector, working under the supervision of a 

registered engineer, on the site during construction operations when so required under the 

permit. 

            (2)        Upon issuance of a notice to cease work, or the suspension of the grading 

permit, the applicant shall immediately cause all grading and hauling operations connected 

therewith to cease until permission is received from the director allowing the applicant to 

proceed after correcting the objectionable conditions or operations so as to eliminate the hazard 

or encroachment and to prevent recurrence of the situation. 

            (3)        Upon the order of the director, any grading permit so suspended may be 

either reinstated or revoked. Whenever a permit has been revoked, work on the site shall not 

again commence until a new application has been filed incorporating the necessary revisions in 

plans or methods of operation required to fulfill the intent of sections 8.300 to 8.338 and in 

accordance with the regulations herein, and approved by the director.  

Commentary: SMC 8.332 is being renumbered 8.432. 

8.332 Fees. 

            (1)        Plan Checking Fee. For excavation and fill on the same site, the fee shall be 

based on the volume of the excavation or fill, whichever is greater. Before accepting a set of 

plans and specifications for checking, the director shall collect a plan-checking fee. Where not 

covered by the approved improvement plans for the development, separate permits and fees 

may apply to retaining walls or major drainage structures in accordance with the state building 

code. There shall be no separate charge for standard terrace drains and similar facilities. The 

Attachment 2 Page 14 of 18 



 

{00029004:1}  

amount of the plan checking fee for grading plans shall be based on the average actual costs as 

set forth by resolution of the city council. The rates and charges herein provided are for 

incurred costs based upon the use or availability for use of the public right-of-way and/or the 

storm sewer system, as well as for meeting the routine obligations of ownership, which is 

necessary for the regulation of and provision for, the public health, safety and welfare. The 

charge is controlled by the user’s or potential user’s request and choice of the kind, nature and 

quantity of use. The plan-checking fee for a grading permit authorizing additional work to that 

under a valid permit shall be the difference between such fee paid for the original permit and 

the fee shown for the entire project. 

            (2)        Grading Permit Fees. A fee for each grading permit shall be paid to the 

director based on the average actual costs as set forth by resolution of the city council. The 

rates and charges herein provided are for incurred costs based upon the use or availability for 

use of the public right-of-way and/or the storm sewer system, as well as for meeting the 

routine obligations of ownership, which is necessary for the regulation of, and provision for, the 

public health, safety and welfare. The charge is controlled by the user’s or potential user’s 

request and choice of the kind, nature and quantity of use. The fee for grading permit 

authorizing additional work to that under a valid permit shall be the difference between the fee 

paid for the original permit and the fee shown for the entire project.  

Commentary: SMC 8.334 is being renumbered 8.434, with revisions shown in that . 

8.334 Bonds. 

            (1)        When Bond is Required. If the director determines that the nature of 

the work regulated is such that, if left incomplete, it will endanger adjoining property or street, 

or will create a hazard to human life on any property, or will negatively affect physical features 

including, but not limited to riparian vegetation, trees over five inches or greater DBH, open 

drainage ways, watercourses shown on the Water Quality Limited Watercourse Map and their 

riparian areas, identified archeological and/or historical sites, identified threatened or 

endangered species habitat, areas considered for inclusion in the City’s Goal 5 lands inventory, 

jurisdictional wetlands and rock outcroppings, the director may before issuing the permit 

require the applicant to furnish a bond, either cash or performance agreement (bond) or other 

security satisfactory to the city at the option of the applicant, in a form satisfactory to the 

director and approved by the city attorney in the sum of 110 percent of the cost to either return 

the site to pre-alteration conditions or perform the work required to mitigate the hazard, danger 

or negative effect as determined by the director, conditioned upon the faithful performance of 

the work within the time specified in the grading permit or within any extension thereof granted 

by the director. Such bond or other security shall obligate the principal, his or her executors, 

administrators and assigns, jointly and severally, and the surety, to the city for the faithful 

performance of the work required. Such bond or other security shall further provide that it will 

not be challenged or terminated until at least 30 days’ notice thereof has been filed with the 

director. 

            (2)        Notice of Default. Whenever the director shall find that a default has occurred 

in the performance of any term or condition of any permit, written notice thereof shall be given 

to the principal and to the surety on the bond. Such notice shall state the work to be done to 

Attachment 2 Page 15 of 18 



 

{00029004:1}  

achieve a safe and satisfactory condition and the period of time deemed by the director to be 

reasonably necessary for the completion of such work. 

            (3)        Duty of Surety. After receipt of such notice the surety shall, within the time 

therein specified, cause the required work to be performed. 

            (4)        Disposition of Cash Bond. If a cash bond has been postponed and the notice of 

default, as approved by the preceding paragraph, has been given to the principal, and 

compliance by the principal with the notice of default is not obtained within the time specified, 

the director may, upon suspending or revoking the grading permit pursuant to section 8.330 of 

the code, proceed without delay and without further notice or proceedings whatsoever to use 

the cash deposited to cause the required work to be done by contract or other means as may 

be determined at the discretion of the director. The balance, if any, of such deposit shall, upon 

completion of the work, be returned to the depositor after deducting the cost of the work plus 

10 percent thereof. 

            (5)        Right of Entry. In the event of any default in the performance or any term or 

condition of the permit for the work, the surety or any person employed or engaged on its 

behalf or any authorized representative of the director shall, after providing reasonable notice 

have the right to go upon the premises to complete the required work or make it safe. 

            (6)        Interference Prohibited. No person shall interfere with or obstruct the ingress 

or egress to or from such premises by any authorized representative or agent of any surety or 

of the city engaging in completing the work required to perform under the permit or in 

complying with the terms and conditions thereof or in inspecting the grading operation pursuant 

to section 8.338 of this code. 

            (7)        Term of Bond; Completion. The term of each bond posted shall begin under 

the date of the posting thereof and shall end upon the satisfactory completion of the terms and 

conditions stated in the permit. Such completion shall be evidenced by a certificate of 

completion as provided in section 8.338, a copy of which will be sent to any surety upon 

request. When a cash bond has been posted, it less any amounts deducted to pay for work 

performed on order of the director pursuant to any notice of default with said work being 

charged at a rate three times the wages, equipment fees and material costs, plus 40 percent 

overhead, or $200.00, which ever is greater, shall be returned to the depositor upon completion 

of the work.  

Commentary: SMC 8.336 is generally duplicative of SMC 8.314, 8.408, and 8.420 and should be 

repealed.  Language from subsection (1) and (2) regarding inspections and right of entry has 

been added to SMC 8.420(3), as shown in that section. 

8.336 Inspection. 

            (1)        General. All grading operations for which a permit is required shall be subject 

to inspection by the director. When required by the director, special inspection of grading 

operations and special testing shall be performed in accordance with provisions of the state 

building code. 

Attachment 2 Page 16 of 18 



 

{00029004:1}  

            (2)        Right of Entry. The director or authorized representative shall have the right to 

go upon the premises in order to make inspections and perform other duties pursuant to this 

code. It shall be unlawful for any person to interfere with said right of ingress and egress. 

            (3)        Grading Designation. Unless excepted by the director, all grading shall be 

performed in accordance with the approved grading plan prepared by an engineer, and shall be 

designated as “engineered grading.” Grading excepted by the director shall be designated 

“regular grading” unless the permittee chooses to have the grading performed as “engineered 

grading.” 

            (4)        Engineered Grading Requirements. For engineered grading, it shall be the 

responsibility of the engineer who prepares the approved grading plan to incorporate all 

recommendations from the Soils and Geology Report into the grading plan. He or she shall also 

be responsible for the professional inspection and approval of the grading within his or her area 

of technical specialty. This responsibility will include, but not be limited to, inspection and 

approval as to the establishment of line, grade and drainage of the developed area. The 

engineer shall act as the coordinating agent in the event the need arises for liaison between 

other professionals, the contractor, and the director of public works. The engineer shall also be 

responsible for the preparation of revised plans and the submission of as-graded grading plans 

upon completion of the work. The grading contractor shall submit, in a form prescribed by the 

director, a statement of compliance to said as-built plan. 

            Soils and geology reports shall be required as specified in section 8.314 of this code. 

During grading all necessary reports, compaction data and recommendations, including those of 

other professionals used in the operation, shall be submitted by the engineer to the director. 

The engineer’s area of responsibility shall also include, but not be limited to, the professional 

inspection and approval concerning the preparation of ground to receive fills testing for required 

compaction, stability of all fill slopes and the design of buttress fills, where required, 

incorporating data supplied by the registered geologist, or registered specialty geologist as 

required. His or her areas of responsibility shall also include, but not be limited to, professional 

inspection and approval of the adequacy of natural ground for receiving fills and the stability of 

cut slopes consistent with the soils and geology report and the need for subdrains or other 

water drainage devices. All findings and analyses shall be reported by the engineer. The 

director may inspect the project at the various stages of the work requiring approval and at any 

more frequent intervals necessary to determine that adequate control is being exercised by the 

professional consultants. 

            (5)        Regular Grading Requirements. The director may require inspection and 

testing by an approved agency. 

            The testing agency’s responsibility shall include, but not be limited to, approval 

concerning the inspection of cleared areas and areas benched to receive fill and the compaction 

of fills. When the director has cause to believe that geological factors may be involved, the 

grading operation will be required to conform to “engineered grading” requirements. 

Attachment 2 Page 17 of 18 



 

{00029004:1}  

            When areas of critically expansive soil or other soil problems are discovered only after 

the grading operation has commenced, the director may require that the grading operation 

conform to “engineered grading” requirements. 

            (6)        Notification of Compliance. If, in the course of fulfilling their responsibility 

under sections 8.300 to 8.338, the engineer, the registered geologist, the registered certified 

specialty geologist, or the testing agency finds that the work is not being done in conformance 

with sections 8.300 to 8.338, or the approved plans, the discrepancies shall be reported 

immediately in writing to the person in charge of the work and to the director. 

Recommendations for corrective measures, if necessary, shall be submitted. 

            (7)        Transfer of Responsibility for Approval. If the engineer, the registered 

geologist, or the registered certified specialty geologist, or the testing agency of record are 

changed during the course of work, the work shall be stopped until the replacement has agreed 

to accept the responsibility within the area of their technical competence for approval upon 

completion of the work.  

Commentary: SMC 8.338 is being renumbered 8.436. 

8.338 Completion of Work. 

            (1)        Final Reports. Upon completion of the rough grading work and at the final 

completion of the work the director may require that the grading plan prepared by the engineer 

be supplemented or amended to show the final as-built conditions of the site, including the 

original ground surface elevations, the as-graded ground surface elevations lot drainage 

patterns and locations and elevations of all surface and subsurface drainage facilities. He or she 

shall provide approval that the work was done in accordance with the final approved grading 

plan. 

            (2)        Notification of Completion. The permittee or agent shall notify the director 

when the grading operation is ready for final inspection. Final approval shall not be given until 

all work including installation of all drainage facilities and their protective devices and all erosion 

control measures have been completed in accordance with the final approved grading plan and 

the required reports have been submitted.  

 

Attachment 2 Page 18 of 18 



AGENDA  ITEM  SUMMARY Meeting Date:  
 Meeting Type: Regular Meeting 
 Staff Contact/Dept.: Stan Petroff, DPW 

Jeff Paschall, DPW 
 Staff Phone No: 541-726-1673 

541-726-1674 
 Estimated Time: 10 Minutes 
S P R I N G F I E L D 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

Council Goals: Maintain and Improve Infrastructure 
and Facilities  

ITEM TITLE:  2025-2029 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM, A COMMUNITY REINVESTMENT 
PLAN 

ACTION 
REQUESTED: 

Conduct a Public Hearing on the Capital Improvement Program (CIP). 
 
After Public Input, by Motion Adopt or Reject the 2025-2029 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT 
PROGRAM, A COMMUNITY REINVESTMENT PLAN. 

ISSUE 
STATEMENT: 

The City of Springfield’s 2025-2029 CIP – A Community Reinvestment Plan has been drafted by 
staff, reviewed by the Planning Commission (November 7th, 2023 and January 3rd, 2024), and 
reviewed by the City Council in work session (November 27th, 2023).  It is now ready for public 
hearing and adoption. 

ATTACHMENTS: 1. Communication Memorandum from November 27th, 2023 work session. 
2. 2025-2029 Capital Improvement Program – A Community Reinvestment Plan. 
3. Planning Commission Order 

DISCUSSION: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The City of Springfield’s Capital Improvement Program (CIP) is a five-year Community 
Reinvestment Plan that describes the near-term program for funding, evaluation, and construction 
of City owned and operated public facilities. A fundamental purpose of the CIP is to facilitate the 
efficient use of capital resources to maintain, improve, and expand City assets. The underlying 
concept is to strategically prioritize and program these resources to extend the useful life of 
existing assets, replace assets before failure, and to support growth with timely expansion of key 
infrastructure.  The first year of the adopted CIP will be used to program new projects in the FY24 
Capital Budget. 
 
As a reference, the Council Briefing Memorandum from the November 27th, 2023 work session is 
included as Attachment 1.  

After hearing public comments, Council is requested to adopt the 2025 – 2029 Capital 
Improvement Program by motion. 
 

 

1/29/2024



 

 M E M O R A N D U M                                                                    City of Springfield 

Date: 11/27/2023  

To: Nancy Newton COUNCIL 

From: Stan Petroff, City Engineer 

Jeff Paschall, Community Development Director 

 

BRIEFING 

Subject: 2025-2029 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT 

PROGRAM, A COMMUNITY 

REINVESTMENT PLAN 

 

MEMORANDUM 

ISSUE:   

Draft project lists have been prepared for the City of Springfield’s 2025-2029 CIP – A 

Community Reinvestment Plan. The lists have been reviewed by the Planning Commission and 

are now being brought to the City Council for review and comment prior to a Public Hearing 

scheduled for January 16th, 2024 
 

COUNCIL GOALS/ 

MANDATE: 

Maintain and Improve Infrastructure and Facilities 

Maintaining and adopting an annual CIP is integral to implementing several Council Goals, but 

it is critical to maintaining and improving City owned infrastructure and facilities, or identifying 

new infrastructure needs as the City grows.   

 

DISCUSSION:  

The City of Springfield’s Capital Improvement Program (CIP) is a five-year Community 

Reinvestment Plan that describes the near-term program for funding, evaluation, and 

construction of City owned and operated public facilities. A fundamental purpose of the CIP is 

to facilitate the efficient use of capital resources to maintain, improve, and expand City assets. 

The underlying concept is to strategically prioritize and program these resources to extend the 

useful life of existing assets, replace assets before failure, and to support growth with timely 

expansion of key infrastructure.  

 
The CIP is typically updated on a biennial basis and was last updated in the fall of 2021 and adopted 

by the City Council in early 2022.  The CIP update schedule is set to ensure that adoption of the 

plan occurs prior to preparation of the draft capital budget which typically begins the end of 

January each year.   

 
The CIP is an intermediate step in a process that originates with long term planning activities that 

anticipate the need for public facilities at least 20 years into the future and concludes with the 

adoption of the annual Capital Budget to appropriate funds to construction projects. Operation and 

maintenance cost of City owned assets is appropriated separately in the City’s budget.   

 
As the interim step in the process, the CIP identifies the facilities concepts that may reasonably be 

expected to be required in the next five years, refines those concepts, and provides a priority list of 

projects. Priority projects are selected from the long list of needed capital improvements identified in 
the various master plans and refinement plans.  The draft project lists are then presented to both the 

Planning Commission and the City Council for public review and comment prior to adoption by the 

City Council.   

 

 

Attachment 1 Page 1 of 3 



MEMORANDUM  Page 2 

 

Over the last decade, the City has seen the wastewater and stormwater funds stabilize, which has 

supported completion of several projects and funding to be programmed for the next suite of 

projects identified within the City’s adopted master plans.  The City is currently in the midst of a 

Wastewater Master Plan update that assesses capital needs for the next 20 years.  The draft 

project list from this effort has been used to inform the wastewater section for this CIP update 

and will be utilized for future updates. Street and Transportation funds have not seen growth to 

keep pace with operating costs and provide for robust capital spending.  The City relies on 

federal and state funding sources to support a majority of street and transportation projects and 

relies on street fund revenues and systems development charges to provide required match to 

outside funding sources. The City Council has directed staff to prepare a proposed project list 

and other materials to consider seeking voter approval of another street preservation bond next 

year.  

 

The project section of the 2025-2029 CIP is organized by asset system with three sections for 

each system.  The first section is a table that has details for the projects that are either in the 

current capital budget or have been completed since the last CIP update.  The next section is the 

project detail sheets for those projects proposed to be programmed over the next five-year 

cycle.  The last section is another table detailing the list of currently unfunded or partially funded 

projects.  As appropriate resources become available or potential grant opportunities are 

identified these lists will be used to match projects with those priorities.   

  

Stormwater – In review of the current capital budget and the previous CIP, a majority of the 

projects have been placed into a hold status.  This is due to anticipation of focusing limited 

capital delivery staffing resources to delivery of the potential 2024 GO Bond street preservation 

projects, as well as Phase 2 of the federal aid funded Franklin Blvd. Roundabout 

Project.  However, water quality initiatives are being advanced as many of the street projects 

incorporate improvements to treat runoff from street surfaces.   

 

Street and Transportation – Currently all of the street segments scheduled for preservation 

through the voter approved five-year general obligation bond are completed.  Several safety and 

pedestrian projects were also completed over the past two years such as the Aster St. ADA 

Ramp Project, Jasper Dondea RRFB, Meadow Park ADA Ramp Project, Virginia-Daisy 

Bikeway – Phase 1A, S. 32nd and Virginia RRFB, and Jasper Rd/Filbert Ln SRTS Project.  

Many others such as the Sidewalk Filling the Gaps, Franklin Blvd./OR22 Environmental Study, 

Franklin Blvd. Roundabouts Phase 2, 42nd St. Levee Study, S28th St. Paving, Virginia-Daisy 

Bikeway Phase 2, Mill St. Reconstruction, Laura St. Reconstruction, Signal Enhancements 

Project, S 42nd/Daisy Roundabout and 42nd St. Overlay are in the design phase with 

construction anticipated in 2024 or 2025. If the passage of a GO Bond project package is 

successful it is anticipated planning and design for preservation of several additional street 

segments will start in late 2024. 

   

Wastewater – Several sewer projects have been completed over the last couple of years 

including 42nd-48th Sanitary Sewer Rehab, S. 28th St. Sanitary Sewer Extension, and S. 37th/S. 

38th/Osage Sewer Replacement.  The Jasper Trunk Sewer – Phase 3 and 70th St and 72nd St. 

Wastewater Basin Rehab Projects are currently in the design phase with anticipated construction 

in either 2024 or 2025. Wastewater improvements are also planned for the Mill Street project 

which is currently in the design phase with construction planned in 2024. Additionally, the 

Wastewater Master Plan is being updated and certain portions of the Capacity, Management, 

Operations, and Maintenance (CMOM) program are proposed to be included as 

policy.  Adoption of the updated document is expected in 2024.  In anticipation of this update, 

some of the identified rehabilitation needs are considered with this CIP update.   

 

 

 

Buildings and Facilities – Available funding for building and facilities projects is very limited so 

Attachment 1 Page 2 of 3 



MEMORANDUM  Page 3 

there is a long list of identified unfunded projects or programs. However, upgrades to City Hall 

including security and Council Hall improvements and the Building G roof at Booth-Kelly were 

completed. Additional upgrades to at City Hall are planned for 2024 and 2025. Many of these 

projects have been funded through American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) funds.   

 

FUTURE CONSIDERATIONS: 

As stated earlier, many of the stormwater and wastewater projects have been on hold due to 

staffing resources.  The majority of capital staff workload has been focused on delivering street 

and transportation projects.  A change to this focus for current staff is not anticipated for the near 

or intermediate term as the City is seeking to pass another street preservation bond and several 

federal grant funded transportation projects are currently programmed.  

  

Given that the wastewater and stormwater funds are very stable with healthy reserves and a 

steady annual revenue stream, Community Development will be recommending an increase in 

capital staffing levels for FY25.  If approved, new staff would be dedicated to delivery of 

wastewater and stormwater priority projects.  
  

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 

The CIP does not carry budget authority. It is, however, a valuable planning tool used to guide 

staff, the Budget Committee, and the City Council in creating the annual budget to fund priority 

projects.  

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: The Council is requested to review and provide consensus for 

the recommended five-year CIP. The CIP, as modified by any Council input, will be brought 

back to the Council for public comment and adoption at their January 16, 2024, regular meeting. 

 

 

Attachment 1 Page 3 of 3 



�����������	
���������������������
��������� !�"#��$#% �#� �&'(�

Attachment 2 Page 1 of 61 



���������	
����������
����������������������������������� ��	��!����"��	#�$�����% ��&�
�� ��'��� ��	�� ������ �(� ���)� ��*�&����+,-.�+/012,3��*�45�����6�77��� 6��)�8�������*��� � 6��)���9����
�)��&� � 6��)�:�;��5�;��4<=����� 6��)�>�(�4��������&���� 6��)���?���	�'5�� ����� 6��)�@����� 4&���=�� �����&�*� �!����������%)�����$''�'�� �����&�*� �!���
Attachment 2 Page 2 of 61 



��

���������	�
��
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� !�"#$%&�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������'�� !�!(#)*+,�-*.*%#/0*1,�$12�3*.4*5�!(#+*&&�������������������������������������������������������������������'�67/*&�#8��$/4,$%�9**2&��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������:�!(#)*+,�;*%*+,4#1�3*&#<(+*&������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������:�=$+4%4,4*&�!%$1&�>$&,*5$,*(�?$&,*(�!%$1���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������:�;,#(05$,*(�=$+4%4,4*&�?$&,*(�!%$1�������������������������������������������������������������������������@�A<4%241B�$12�=$+4%4,4*&�!(*&*(.$,4#1�$12�?$41,*1$1+*�>#(C��������������������������������D�� E(F$1�3*1*5$%�!%$1&����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������G�H$12�E&*�!%$1&�!<F%4+�=$+4%4,4*&�$12�;*(.4+*&�!%$1��������������������������������������������������������������������������G�;/(41B84*%2�6($1&/#(,$,4#1�;7&,*0�!%$1���������������������������������������������������������������I�3*841*0*1,�!%$1&��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������I���������������J��K�����$/4,$%�!(#)*+,�=<1241B������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������L�;7&,*0&�-*.*%#/0*1,��M$(B*&�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������L�NO,*(1$%�3*.*1<*�;#<(+*&��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������P�Q,M*(�3*.*1<*&�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������P��4,7�R++#<1,41B�=<12&�E&*2�8#(��$/4,$%�3*&#<(+*&�����������������������������������������������������������S����������������J�������������������=41$1+4$%�;<00$(4*&TR%%�!(#B($0&����������������������������������������������������������������������������������G�������������������U�����!(#)*+,&�6$F%*�#8��#1,*1,&������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������L����� �
Attachment 2 Page 3 of 61 



����������	�

����������������������������� !�"#���$%&'��( ��($�)* !�+�*�"��,!�#!(*�-�),.��'�(���+�/��(!���**0"����1��"+�'�*�"��,$("���(���%�"�����'�2( ��($��"+�'�*�"�'�"�2�''(!���"�����"�3����+�/��(!���!�4�"����'0'�(�"5��* !�+�5�("%�#!�6������(''��'�("%��"�!('�!02�0!��'�'��*'7�8��0"%(*�"�($� 0! �'����������),��'���� !��!���4��("%�9($("2��2( ��($�"��%'�6����2( ��($��0"%�"#�!�'�0!2�'7�����0"%�!$��"#�2�"2� ���'���� !�#!(*�($$�!�('�"(9$��(+(�$(9$��'�0!2�'����!�+�"0����!��0�0!���3 �"%��0!�'7���"2�� !�:�2��%�!�+�"0��'�0!2�'�*(�� !�%02��'�#"���2("�$��$�''���("�����"��%'��%�"�����%��"���������&'��"�!('�!02�0!���(2�$����'� $("'�("%�(''���*("(#�*�"��'�'��*5������),��'�0'�%�('�����+���2$�����9($("2�� !��!����'�("%��0"%�"#�6��$��*(�"�(�"�"#�#��%�'��6(!%'�� ��+�!������(''��'7������),��'�0 %(��%��"�(�9��""�($�'2��%0$��("%��'�("��"��!*�%�(���'�� ��"�(� !�2�''���(���!�#�"(��'�6����$�"#���!*� $(""�"#�(2��+����'���(��("��2� (�������"��%���!� 09$�2��(2�$����'�(��$�('��;<���(!'��"��������0�0!��("%�2�"2$0%�'�6��������(%� ���"��������(""0($��( ��($�=0%#��7�=('�%��"�(+(�$(9$���"��!*(���"�%0!�"#��(2��0 %(���2�2$�5� !�:�2�'�(!��'�$�2��%�("%� !��!���4�%��!�*�����$�"#�$�'�����"��%�%�2( ��($��* !�+�*�"�'��%�"�����%���!�0#����������&'�(''���*("(#�*�"�� !�#!(*�("%��!�*�����+(!��0'�*('��!� $("'�("%�!���"�*�"�� $("'�(%� ��%�9�������������0"2�$7��!(%����"($$�5����� !�"2� ($�2�"'�!(�"�'��"�%�+�$� �"#������),�(!������!�($�'��2�(+(�$(9�$�������'�(���("%���"("2�($�!�'�0!2�'����'0  �!��������*�$��2�* $����"�����(2��2�2$�&'� !�:�2�� �!���$��7�������!'���6����(!'���������),�6�$$�9������9('�'���!�%�+�$� �"#���������&'��( ��($�=0%#�����!�>?;@�("%�>?;A�6����'02��*�%���2(���"'�('�(!��"�2�''(!���!� !0%�"�����!�' �"%�����**�%�(���2�"2�!"'�("%���������"/�$0�%�"(�0!������0"%�"#��  �!�0"����'7�)"� !� (!(���"��������2( ��($�90%#��5�����'��* �!�("�����2�"'�%�!�"����"$�������**�%�(���(+(�$(9�$���������"("2�($�!�'�0!2�'5�90��($'������(+(�$(9�$�������!�'�0!2�'����*("(#�� $(""�"#5�%�'�#"5�("%�2�"'�!02���"�(2��+����'7����'�*(��*�("�'�(���!�'�0!2�'����2�"%02�����'��(2��+����'��"���0'�5��!����*("(#��2�"'0$�("�'�6����(B���"�!�' �"'�9�$������!�%�'�#"�("%�2�"'�!02���"�*("(#�*�"�7�8�'022�''�0$�2( ��($�90%#���*0'��9��*�"%�0$����90%#���"#��"$�����'�� !�:�2�'��!� !�:�2�� �('�'���(������������('�����2( (2�������%�$�+�!7�����C�+�$� *�"��("%�,09$�2�D�!B'�C� (!�*�"��*(�"�(�"'��6��2( ��($� !�:�2��%�$�+�!��#!�0 '5��"����!�����%�$�+�!�����$�2($� !�:�2�'� !�'�"��%��"����'�%�20*�"�5�("%�����'�2�"%���!�%�$�+�!�����!�#��"($� !�:�2�'���!�����E��!� �$��("�D('��6(��!�E("(#�*�"����**�''��"�2( ��($��* !�+�*�"�� !�#!(*7��,!�:�2�'���(��(!��20!!�"�$���"��( ��($�=0%#���("%��"�+(!��0'�'�(#�'���� $(""�"#5�%�'�#"5�("%�2�"'�!02���"�(!��'��6"��"�(��(9$��(������9�#�""�"#�����(2��' �2���2��"�!('�!02�0!�� !�#!(*�'�2���"7�8�������"%�����(2�� !�#!(*�'�2���"������),��"2$0%�'�(�$�'����� !�:�2�'���(���(+��9��"��%�"�����%���!�0#��+(!��0'��(2�$����'� $(""�"#�����!�'�90��(!��20!!�"�$��0"�0"%�%��!�"��� !�#!(**�%�%0�����'�(���!�'�0!2��$�*��(���"'7����'�� !�:�2�'�(!��(�*�%�(���* !�+�"#�"��#�9�!���%'5� !�+�%�"#���!��2�"�*�2�#!�6��5��* !�+�"#��!(���2�'(����5�*�9�$���5�("%�(22�''5�2�* $��"#�6�����"+�!�"*�"�($�'�("%(!%'5�("%�*(�"�(�"�"#������3�'��"#�2�����"�!('�!02�0!�7��
Attachment 2 Page 4 of 61 



� �

�����������	
�������	
�	��������
��������	��������������������������������������� !"��#���$��#���%�����&��#�������#�$�����'�%����(��������)���*���%$��)$�����*�$�+� ��#���$���$���$�,�+������%%�������-��������������+��$������������ !".�����"�$����%� �//�������$�+����� ��#� ��������������&��(�����+�$��� !"�$�+�$����������$���%�������+���������� �������$+������.��0�'�%���1� !"����-������&��(�����������$����0�2����/���1� $���$�����-������3������%�����"������$�+� ��#�4��$��/�����0�2����/���1���������!�����$��+�$��� !"�0�5������67�&�/���1�"�$����%� �//���������&��(��4�$��� !"�0�4���/���68$��$�#1� ��#� �������(��,�����������&��(�$�+�"������9�$���%����4�$��� !"�0�8$��$�#6:����$�#1�4�$��� $���$��;�+%���"���$��+��0�'����6<$#1�� $���$��;�+%�����������+����;�+%��� �//����������� ��#=�����$����//��/�����������+�����������+��������������%������$���$�� ��#���+%����������.�'�����%������ !"����������$����%���������������$���$�� $���$��;�+%��*��������-�������+%���+��$���#�$���$��&$�#���/�(�$�����/��������������+�������� !".��	
>���������
	�?���
�"��-������������ !"�$���%�����+��#�����&$�������$�������������%�$/�$��$��@����/($���*���������$�+���$������$����*�($���($���*�$�+�����+��%��$�+��$��������A.����������������������-���������$������%�$/�$��$�$�����������$���$&��������$+����+�����%�$//�+�������&����� !"��$�+�$�������������������$���$����+%��.�������B������������-�����$�����������$��$����������+��������%�$//��%�$�+���+%����%��&���������B����&�C#�$�������+�$�+�$���+�������+����+��$���+����-�����������.��������$�������������-���������$������%�$/�$��$�$�����%���������#����+����$��$�����������+���+����������%�$//�+��&���������B����&�C#�$�������+�+�������$�,�������+��%������$����%����������.�2����+�$&$��$������������������+�������+*����������-�����/$#������+%���+��������������B�� !"���+$��.����������(��%�$���+������������������� ��#=��/������%�����$������-������������ !"1�:�$�,����;����&$�+�"�$���D�E�����:�$�,����;����&$�+�F��������������"��-����(��������������/�+�������$����$�+$�+���/���&�/��������������+�9(#�GG�$��%�/�������H���(��+��$���+�:�$�,����;����&$�+����(��������:�$�,���6H���(��+��������������$�+�����:�$�,���6<�I$#�������������������������H���(��+���+�&����/����$�+���%���$���$���#�$�+�/������#�������$����*����#����6��+�����$��*�$�+�$����.��"�$���J��$���������/�����+�(��������������������������������+$������$������:�$�,���6<�I$#��������������$�+��/���&�/������B���+��%�-����(������� �����+�2�����.��4���%������/���&�/��������/�<�����������'&��������K�B��%����'&����������������#���+��($#�(�������+�������&�+����DLDL.�!��7�&�/����DLDJ���$�� ��#���$���+���$��$�M.2.�4��$��/���������$������$�����F�����+��%�'/����$*�!���$����������(����2���$��$�����#�$�+�N3���#�@F'!2NA�H�$���($��$($�+�+�����������-�������$�-�����$�����$�����(����N�%���.�������%�$���$($�+�(�������+�����������������������������+$�����$��<�����������'&����.������ ��#�����������������,����+��%���������������������������$+&$����%������������&������$�+��/���&�/���������:�$�,����;����&$�+.��2$���$�#�2�(���F��$�����$�����"��-�����E�5����������,�#�%�$���������� $�$���#*�<$�$%�/���*�5���$�����*�$�+�<$�����$����"��%�$/����������/��$��������(�$�+��������$�����@!6!A����%����+($��������������$���$�#�
Attachment 2 Page 5 of 61 



������������	�
������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�������������������� !���"���������� #���"�����$������������������������������������������������%�&	����'#���"������(������������"�����������)���������������������*�
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������(+�,#-�./���������0�������+���������(+�,#-1�)����"�	�
�����������
&�����������������������������������������&����������������������������������������������������������������������(+�,#-����������������������������������������������232�����������������������������(�������"�	����������������2��	��������)�4�����5�����&��������������������������'#���"�	���������������2������������������������������������������������(+�,#-����������������(�������"����������������������������&��������������	� ���6����������7�"�����./��������*��������8����������������/��������,�99!:��������������)�����;������+��������������/������������������������7�����������������������������������	������&��8����������������������������1�����"�+���	��./������������������������������������/���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	��<=>?>@=>A����������������������������������������������������������	��������������������������������������������������������������������������/�������������������/��$������������������7�����������	�1��%�����������������������������������������������������������������������/���������������������	��������������8�������������"�������3�����������%��������"3%$�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������/�����������������������������������������������������������	�2�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�(��������������������"3%������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������/���������������������	�2���������8���������������������������������/�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�(��������������������������������������������/����������������������������%���:�������������������������������B������������3�������$����������������������������������������������������������������	�����������������������������������8������������������5�����C��������������3��������"3%���������������������������������������������������������������������8����	����������8���������������������������������������������������������������������������������8����������������������������������������������������������������������������D���������	�����%�������������������������������������������#!!E�������������������������������������#!,!	�C����������1��������������������������������������������D������������������������8�����������������/��������������������������������������������������������������
�����B������1��������������������������������	�"�������������������������������������������������������������8��������������������������������������������������8��������������������%���:�����������������������������������D����������������������������������������������	,���,�0�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�
Attachment 2 Page 6 of 61 



� �

���������	
�������������������������	�����
�	���	���������
���
	�
���
��������
�	��	�����������
�����������	����
	��
���
����	�
�����
����������
�	��
������	���
�����	 ���
����!�����
���������	�
�!�
�	����	�����
��
������������������
	������
���	
�������������������	�����
�	���	���
	��	
���������"�������	����	!������	���	���������
�	��	����	
������	!��	��
���
����	��
�#������������
�������
���	!�������������
�	�$����	�
�	��	����������������!��
	�
���
���
��!�����	 �
������%�&
�
�������	�
�
�	��'����()'����%*���������
���
	�
����!����������	��� ����	������	����������	����������
����
���
�
	��������+�������������������
��!����
	������������
	�������������������
����,�
����!���������!����
������!����	���
�	����������	���	�� �������!�����	��� �
	������������� ���
�����	��������������
����
���
�
	�����!��������
�����-��	��
�����,
����������������.���
�	�����$�
���./.�
����
�	����	��� ����������� ����������������!���������������������!������	��
�	��
	��	�
��!��
	���������!�������
	���������
��������
�����
	��	 ����������
���!����
�
�������� ��	����������
	�����!����)	�����$��
� !
�����	
���
��
��!����
������!����	���
�	���	��	
�!��	�
���������
����
���
��������
�	����	��� �����&�
� �/����	� ��
��������(&/�*������!������� ������
�������
��� ��	�� ��
�&/��
��� ��	��
��	���!��������������� ��	�� ��
�&/�������!�� ���	���������	���  ������!��	�
�	����	���
�
��
��,�����������
����������	��
�����	�
���&/����	���
���
���&/��������������	
�!�������
�
	�!��	�
�������	���
�	��
�����
���������
���������!
���#���
	�����������,
�������!������	!����!�����������������
�
������
���0,
������	!���$�!�������
���	���� ��
�������
$�	�������	����	��������

�����	���
��	������	�
���!
�	�$��������� �	�
��
$��!
���������	��
�����!������	!�����1��������$�
�����	��	
��	� �
��������	���	���!���������	���
���������!����$��!
���
���������!����!������	!���������	�$����������
�������
	���������
������	��
��	������	���
��2����
��$�
�����
���������	 ��!������������	������,
�������!�������	���	��
�����	���
$�!�����
���3����&
���
�2��	�
�!�
�	�$�4���+����'	!������$�����
���&	!
����
��&
���
����������	���
��4!
!���!���������������������
�!�	��
������������� 	��
�����	������	��	
����������	���	���� ��
���567589:;67���������
���� ��	�� ��
�-�	��� �����������!�����	��
�����
�<�������������
�!�
!���� ��	�� ��
���
��������������
�#������!
$�
�����
���	���	�����!�� ��
�	��
��������	!
�����,���
$������
� �
��	��
�����
�<���	���
���������������	!�����������-���!����
�
	��������������������������	������������
�	����	���������
����	�! ��
������
�����
��	��&�����������
����
��
���	!����
	�����
���� ��	�� ��
���������
������
��������	��
�����
�#���	��&�������������� �
Attachment 2 Page 7 of 61 



����������� �	
��	����
��������
��	����������������������� �!���"#$�%&'�()�*�+,�$-�.%)%&����/���&'�)�0-��-�1� �-�'�0%!���%10-�.�1�&!���%.�&�-����&�/�2��&!%'%0�!�)� (&)%&���&)��!�  �-���(-'����.�-��� %.�32��-��-��-��!�-�0��&&%&��0�-%�)��&)�%)�&!% 2%&��!����4!�&!�!��5�%'��-���(-'���'�&�1��!�'�0%!���&��)�6�7,�#10-�.%&��&�%��/�-���)�6��8,�$-�.%)%&�� �-��'�&�1%'��&)�'�11(&%!2��-�5!�6��9,�#10-�.%&���� �!2:��''���:��&)�1�/%�%!2��'-��������!-�&�0�-!�!%�&�1�)��6��;,�"�10�2%&��5%!���&.%-�&1�&!����!�&)�-)���&)�%10-�.%&���&.%-�&1�&!���<(��%!26��=,�>�%&!�%&%&��!����4%�!%&��"%!2�%& -��!-('!(-�6��&)���?,�$-�!�'!%&��0(/�%'�����!���&)��� �!2@������A�BC�D�ECFC���GCHD��HE�ACF�CI��A��C���"�0%!���%10-�.�1�&!��1(�!�/��'�&�%�!�&!�5%!��!���>�!-�0��%!�&�J-���K�&�-���"�10-���&�%.��$��&:�!���$(/�%'�L�'%�%!%����&)�M�-.%'���$��&�N$LM$,:�!���M0-%&� %��)�7O8O�"�10-���&�%.��$��&:�����M0-%&� %��)��-�&�0�-!�!%�&�M2�!�1�$��&:��&)������!��-�"�(&'%���)�0!�)�0��&���&)�0��%'%��@�����-���.�&!�0��&���-���%�!�)�%&����(/��<(�&!���'!%�&�� �!�%��-�0�-!@���#&���&�-��:�����"�0%!���$-�P�'!��%&'�()�)�%&�!���"#$�1��!��&���-�1�-��� �!��� ����5%&��'-%!�-%�*�+,�$-�P�'!��))-������M!�!���-�L�)�-�����5���-�-��(��!%�&��!����%1%&�!���-�-�)('��!���0�!�&!%��� �-��&.%-�&1�&!���)��-�)�!%�&��-�����!����Q�-)���-�!���))-����%��(���!��!��  �'!�!����� �!2��&)���&�-���5�� �-��� �!���'�11(&%!2@�7,�$-�P�'!�1�%&!�%&���4%�!%&������!�:��4!�&)��!���(�� (���% ��� �����!�:��-�%10-�.����-��40�&)��%& -��!-('!(-��!�� �'%�%!�!��'�11(&%!2�)�.���01�&!��&)R�-�%10-�.���0�-�!%�&�@�8,�$-�P�'!�-��0�&)��!��-�<(��!�� -�1�'%!%Q�&�:�&�%��/�-���)��-�(0�:��).%��-2�'�11%!!���:��-���.�-&1�&!�/�)%��:��&)�0-�.%)�����0(/�%'�/�&� %!@�9,�$-�P�'!�%��%&'�()�)�%&���'����&)R�-�-��%�&���%& -��!-('!(-��0��&�@�#&�!����)�0!�)�"#$��&�2�!�����'�0%!���%10-�.�1�&!��5�%'���-�� (&)�)�5%!�%&�!���'(--�&!�0-�P�'!%�&�� �-�!����00-�0-%�!��-�.�&(���!-��1���-��'�&�%)�-�)@�$-�P�'!�� �-�5�%'��!��� (&)%&��%��&�!�%)�&!% %�)��-�0-��-�11�)��-�����5&�%&�!���(& (&)�)�0-%�-%!2�0-�P�'!��%�!��!-%'!�2� �-�%& �-1�!%�&���0(-0����@�S%�!�-%'���2:�!���"#$�����&�!��!!�10!�)�!��'�&�%)�-�5��!��-��-�&�!�!���"%!2�����!����0�-�!%&��-���(-'���N�%!��-��!�  ��-� (&)%&�� �-�'�&�(�!�&!��!��1�&����0-�P�'!�,:�&�'����-2�!���).�&'����0�-!%'(��-�0-�P�'!@�
Attachment 2 Page 8 of 61 



� �

���������	
���
��������������������������������������������������	� �����
�������!"#�$%&�'#()#*+,�+"#�-'./0�01'#*+1.2�.(�+"#�$1+3�$.42*1)�+.�5'#,#'6#�#71,+128�*/51+/)�/,,#+,�-#(.'#�+"#3�(/))�12+.�01,'#5/1'�/20�'#941'#�#75#2,16#�'#"/-1)1+/+1.2�.'�'#5)/*#:#2+;�&'#,#'6/+1.2�1,�/2�1:5.'+/2+�+..)�4,#0�+.�5'.+#*+�.'�#7+#20�+"#�/,,#+<,�4,#(4)�)1(#;�%(�5'#,#'6/+1.2�1,�2.+�*.:5)#+#0�.2�/�'#84)/'�/20�+1:#)3�-/,1,=�+"#�/,,#+�>1))�0#+#'1.'/+#�5'#:/+4'#)3�/20�1+,�-#2#(1+�+.�+"#�*.::421+3�>1))�-#�).,+;�%2�+"/+�#6#2+�'#*.2,+'4*+1.2�:/3�-#�'#941'#0;�?#*.2,+'4*+1.2�*.,+,�/'#�('#94#2+)3�:4)+15)#�+1:#,�+"#�*.,+�.(�5'#,#'6/+1.2�/20�:/12+#2/2*#=�5/'+1*4)/')3�(.'�,+'##+�,4'(/*#,;��@))�*/51+/)�/,,#+,�'#941'#�5'#,#'6/+1.2�.'�'#"/-1)1+/+1.2�/*+161+1#,�04'128�+"#1'�4,#(4)�)1(#�/20�+"#�$1+3�:4,+�0#:.2,+'/+#�(1,*/)�'#,5.2,1-1)1+3�-3�5)/22128�(.'�+"1,�2##0;�%2*)4,1.2�.(�+"#,#�5'.A#*+,�12�+"#�$%&�1,�/�2#*#,,/'3�,+#5�+.�5)/2�(.'�+"/+�5'#,#'6/+1.2�/20�'#"/-1)1+/+1.2;��B�	� �������C����������D�	� �C��E������C�F�����@,�+"#�$1+3�'#/*"#,�.4+>/'0�12+.�+"#�G'-/2�H'.>+"�I.420/'3�.'�/2+1*15/+#,�12(1))�.'�12*'#/,#0�0#2,1+3�.(�0#6#).5:#2+�12�+"#�*1+3�)1:1+,=�+"#�2##0�+.�5)/2�(.'�#75/2,1.2�.(�*/51+/)�/,,#+,�/20�5'.610#�,/(#�/20�#((1*1#2+�*/51+/)�(/*1)1+1#,�12*'#/,#,;�J#>�,+'##+,�/'#�2#*#,,/'3�+.�5'.610#�(.'�+"#�:.6#:#2+�.(�8..0,�/20�5#.5)#�/20�/**#,,�+.�5'.5#'+3�12�0#6#).5128�/'#/,;�%2�/001+1.2=�>/,+#>/+#'�/20�,+.':>/+#'�,3,+#:,�/'#�2#*#,,/'3�+.�5'.+#*+�>/+#'�94/)1+3=�5#.5)#�/20�+"#�#261'.2:#2+�12�.'0#'�+.�5'#,#'6#�+"#�"#/)+"=�>#)(/'#=�/20�,/(#+3�.(�+"#�*.::421+3;����K�	������	��������L�	���!"#�(.)).>128�1,�/�)1,+�.(�6/'1.4,�5)/2,�>1+"�0#,*'15+16#�,4::/'1#,�+"/+�8410#�+"#�0#*1,1.2,�:/0#�/-.4+�$%&�5'.A#*+�*".1*#;�!"#�$1+3�0'/>,�/�01,+12*+1.2�-#+>##2�(/*1)1+1#,�5)/2,=�>"1*"�(.*4,�.2�(/*1)1+3�2##0,�/20�".>�,3,+#:,�(42*+1.2=�/20�)/20�4,#�5)/2,=�>"1*"�5'.610#�:.'#�8#2#'/)�8410/2*#;�H#2#'/)�8410/2*#�*/2�12(.':�+"#�0#6#).5:#2+�.(�(/*1)1+1#,�5)/2,�/20�*/2�*.2,+'/12�(/*1)1+3�0#6#).5:#2+�+.�*.2(.':�+.�+"#�5.)1*3�,#+�.(�+"#�)/20�4,#�5)/22128�0.*4:#2+;�M!"#�N5'128(1#)0�!'/2,5.'+/+1.2�N3,+#:�&)/2�1,�,.:#>"/+�.(�/2�#7*#5+1.2�+.�+"#,#�01,+12*+1.2,=�,12*#�1+�1,�/�)/20�4,#�5)/2�+"/+�/),.�,#'6#,�/,�/�(/*1)1+1#,�5)/2�/20�0.#,�*.2+/12�,5#*1(1*�5'.A#*+�8410/2*#;O��
	����������
��P����B�����Q�����������RSTTUV�!"#�$1+3�.(�N5'128(1#)0�5'.610#,�>/,+#>/+#'�*.))#*+1.2�/20�*.26#3/2*#�,#'61*#,�-3�>/3�.(�/�,3,+#:�.(�515#)12#,�/20�54:5�,+/+1.2,�+"/+�1+�.>2,�/20�.5#'/+#,;�@).28�>1+"�+"#�$1+3�.(�W48#2#=�N5'128(1#)0�01,*"/'8#,�+.�/�'#81.2/)�*.))#*+1.2�/20�+'#/+:#2+�,3,+#:�.>2#0�-3�+"#�X#+'.5.)1+/2�Y/,+#>/+#'�X/2/8#:#2+�$.::1,,1.2�MXYX$O;��N5'128(1#)0<,�Y/,+#>/+#'�X/,+#'�&)/2�5'.610#,�/2�/,,#,,:#2+�.(�#71,+128�/20�(4+4'#�2##0,�(.'�+"#�$1+3<,�*.))#*+1.2�,3,+#:;��I#*/4,#�+"#�$1+3<,�,3,+#:�*.22#*+,�+.�+"#�'#81.2/)�,3,+#:=�+"#�X/,+#'�&)/2�:4,+�*.2,10#'�/20�'#()#*+�'#,4)+,�.(�+"#�XYX$<,�N12*#�*.:5)#+1.2�.(�+"#�Y#+�Y#/+"#'�Z).>�X/2/8#:#2+�&)/2�MYYZX&O�12�[\]\=�!"#�$1+3�/).28�>1+"�1+,�'#81.2/)�5/'+2#',�MW48#2#�/20�XYX$O�"/6#�>'1++#2�/20�1:5)#:#2+#0�/�$/5/*1+3=�X/2/8#:#2+=�̂5#'/+1.2,�/20�
Attachment 2 Page 9 of 61 



������������	
��
���������������������������������������������	������������
����������	�������������	�
������������������������������������������
���������������������
������������������	������������	���������	�������������	
�������������������
����	��������������������������������������������������������������������������
��	
� �������!�����������	����������������
���������	�����������������������
�����	������������"��������
������
�����������������

����������
�����!�����

���������
�������������������������������#���������������
����	�����������
�����������
������	������
�$��
��������������������������	
���������������
��������������������	
� ������	�	�������������	��������
�������
���������%&%'�	�����������
���!���(�	�
��������)���
��������*��������������������+������������������(�����
���)����������,�����-+�(),.�	�
���-/0&%123.���
�,	
����������)�����������"����������������������������������
��������
���������������
�����4��������
�����������"���������5���
������������������������������������
�$��
����������,	
����������)�����������"����������	������������������
�����������������
�����������	������������,�������6����
���,�����
���������	
���4�������
�
����������
�������!���������
��������������������
���������������
�����4��������
���������������
���������,������
�7,���#��	������
�������������������������8���
��������
����
����������������

������
�����%19���
���
�������0����'9���
������
�����0����0&9���
����
����
����,�4��$������������������	����������	��������������""����������
�����(�	�
��������)���
��������*�����������
��	������������4 ��������
������)���
���������
���������:������-)�:.�������������
�	�
����������������������#��	��������
����
���������������
�������
�������	
�������4������,�������6����
���,�����
���()*������

������	���������	
���4����������������
�������
�����������
����������������������������������	�	�����������!����
�������
���������	�����������������4�
�����������������������������	�
�����������������������������������������������
9
����������
��������!���+�(),�	�
�����
�����
�����������������
��
�������	���������
����������������
���$��
��
����%&%%������������������	
���4����������������
�������4�����������������	�������
��)�:���;<=>?@A<B>�CADEFE<EBG�HAG<B>�IFAJ�KLMMNO����%&&2����������������������	��������	
���������,��
����
�����������������
������-,"���.���!���	�
	��������������������������	
�����������������	������
��
����	
�����������������������������9�4 ���������������������������������
����
��������!���� �
���������������������
����
�
�������
�������
�������������
����������
�����	�	��������	�������������������
����������
���
���������������������"����������
���P��Q���5���
���
���
��������������������
�4���
����������
����������
���
�����
��
��������,"����������������	�������������������������
�������������������
��
������������������������
����
�
�����������������������������	�����
�����94�9�����4���������������������������	�������
����
������������������������������������
����
������������������������������������������
��������������������4��������������������4 �������������
������������������������������������� �
�	�
�����������������������
����
��
����������������
���
����
����
��4�������
��������0R3&���������������	�������
���������������������
��
��������������#������������������������������������������������������������������	��Q������������������������
��������������������������������������4������������
Attachment 2 Page 10 of 61 



� �

���������	
����	��	������
�	�������������	�����	�	��������
	�����������	�
��������	
�����
������	������
�����	�����	����������	��������	�����	
����	����	�	��������������������	���������������
�����������	����	�������������������������������� �������
	�������������	���	����!����������"��	����������#�!��������	
�$	
����%"#$&�	���	�������������	����	����	�	���������������������������	���������	���������� �'��(������)*)+��	�����	���!��	
���	�����������"#$����������������	����	������	���''�,	����	
���

�����"����	����#
����	������������%,�"#�&�-����	
�������	���������� ��������!����������������	����������������������
	�����������������	�����	��	������	�������������

�����.�����������������������������)*)/ �0�������	

�������1�

	������2�!���	�����3��4���2�!���%	������	����������1�

	������2�!��&�	���
���������������	�����5*5%�&�
���������	�������	���	�����	
������	��	�������������������

�	�����������������	���	���������
��������������� ��������������	����������	
��	.����"	�
��6�	��%��"6&�
����	�������������
�!�
��������	�����

�	����%������	������	�����	��	���������&�����������
�����	������������������	�����	�	��������
	��	���������"6�'��
�����	������
	� ���������
	���	������������������	��������	����	��������������	���	
������������	��	������������������	�	���������	��� �789:;9<=�>�?@A9:9B9CD�EFCDCFG@B9H<�@<;�I@9<BC<@<AC�JHFK�E:@<�������
	�������������	���	����������	���	
������!������������	���������������
����������
����L������M	

�����������
��(�����������������������
��������N�����3�

�����������������	�������"�!�
�������	�����
���1��O������	��������
�������	�������"���� �������
	����	�O��	������!�����	���	������������	����	���	�����������!	����������!���������	��	���������	��
���!�������	����������	!��������������������!	�������	�����������������������������	�����	����������	���������	������
	������������
��������������.������������	�����������������������
�
��� �����������������������	�����!��	
�������	
���
����P�	��
����������	��������	�����	�����	���������!	���������� �'������	�	������������QR)/��	���	
��������	�STU���

����
���������������P�	�O
����	��
���������	���������������������	
���������	�S5**O�	��	
������������������	�����	��� �������	����

�	����������	��	
��	�����	���P������!	���������� �'��QR*U��������������
��������	��'�����	
�N�
�����������!	�������	������������������������	��S5**O�	��	

��������������������!	���� ����������������������'�����	
�N�
�����������!	�������	�������	!��	����	�������	���������!���S)V*O�������	�������	������������������������QR)/ ���	����	����!�
��������������N�
�����PQ	��
������1��O��
	�����
��!�����	

������Q������	������������M	

�����������
��(��������������"�!�
�������	�����
���1��O������	�������	��
����������������
��"������	��������	�����N�
���� �Q����.	��
�������N�
������	���Q	��
���������������������
�������
�������������'��	�����������������������
	������������M	

�MW0���������	��	�������	������������S+ X���

��� �����
	����	������	���������
	����������������������	����	�
��)*���	���	���	�������������������	�����	�����������������������!���	�
��
��� ��0�������	

���������	������������������	�	�����������������
��������
	���������
�����
������	����	��
�������	�����	����	���������!	��������	���	!����������������������������!���
��	��������'����������������	��������!	��������������	������"�����	���N�����3�

��	�������
��������������	�������������	�������	����	��N�����3�

� �0����������
���������������	�������������	���������������������������	
�����
��������������	�����N�
�������

����	���������������������'��������� ��
Attachment 2 Page 11 of 61 



���������	�

�������������������������
�����������������������������������������������������������������
�������������� �!�����
�����	�

�����������������
�����������������������"���������������#�����������
����"���������
�����������
��������������������� ����������������������	�

���
���������������	����������������������������������������������	��������	�

����� �$�%!&��'&'(!)��)!&��*+,-.+,-�/012-�34-4,25�652-�7899:;����������������
��������<�	���	��$���������	�
��
�����������������������������
�=����������������������
��������������
��������������	���	������ ������<�	���	��$���������	�
��
����������>�����
�������������������������
� ���?54-,++@�/012-�34-4,25�652-�7ABBBC�DE@2.4@�899F;����������������
���������
��	����$���������	�
��
����������
���������
�����������
����������������������	�
�!��� �������
��	����$���������	�
��
������>����
�������
���G�H���������������������
�����������������
������I�H�������
��������
���������JI�H�K����������������������"�����	�
J�"���J�	���"�����	���"�������������"����J�"����������������I�H�$��
����������������I�H����J���I�H���
�������
�����I�H�L�����I�H���
����������������������������	������������������������ �MNOP�QRS�TMNOR�UVWXY�TZ[\�����]������
�������������������
���������
�
���̂���������������������
���_��
�����
�����������̀�����������
�����)����������������������������'������������������
� ��!�����������
������'����������������������
��������������a���bcd e���	�������f����������
������������������������	������������"���������������������
������������J�����
�������������̂��������������"������������̂����������
��������������������>���������� ������]������
������������������
����������������������
�
��������
�����������������

���������
���������������)���������"�'������������������
� ������]������
���������������������

������	��J������
���������������"����
����������
�������������
����������������������
"������������"�
���̂��������������������������������������������������������������������
����������������������������������������
��������� �RgXh\ijhVZk�lYmgXVnV\ohpV�TZ[\��������������
�����������������
��������
�������������������
����������	����������������������
��������������������������
�̂����������
������"����
�����'��������<���
������"�����������
�)����$���q�L�����"�����$�����=����� �����������������'
�������������(�

���
�������J�������������������������������
��"������������������������'
����������������������
�������������������������
�� ��
Attachment 2 Page 12 of 61 



� �

��������	
����

�������	���������	��������������	���	���	���������	
�������	�	����	��
���������	�����	
��
	��������	��	�����
�������������	������
�������� !�"#! � $ %&�#'(�)%*+ !%&���#'�,�	���-
��.��
���	�������	���	���
���/�.��0�������	
	�	��������	�1��	�	���������	
���	�����
�����2�	��3	�	��
��
���/�	�����
��0��4�������	��	�����
���1
	�	����������	�����	����������������
���	������	�	��
��	�������������������������	����
���	����	�������	����������	��
���������
��	���	�����������	��	�����
����,�	����5	�����	�����	�������	��.�����	��	�	��

������-�	�������	����5	���������	�������	������������
���	���
�����,�	��.�����	��������	������������������������5	��6��������	���	�	�������	���������	
��,������������������	���
��6�-�����	����	����������	���	��������������	�����5	��6����������	����,�	��.�����	�����6���������
����6���	������	�	������5	�7������
��	����
������	����5	�����	�����	���������������������	�-���������	�����������	�������������	��.����)8* '9: %�(�;*#'&8<*$#$ <'�)=&$%>���#'�?@ABCD�,�	���������	
��EFGH�,������������������	���
���/,��0�������	����EF��	���-
�	����������������	����������
���������������������	���	�����������������	����I�����		����������	���������������������	
�J��K�-���3������L��������/K3L0��,�	�EFGH�,���	����	����	�����J���������������	��������������������	���		�������������		��6���������	����	�����J�������������6��������������������	������	�����
���
��	����M%: '%>%'$���#'&�NOPQROPQ�STUVQTWTQR�XYZQ�[\]̂_̀�abcZRTc�deefg�,�	������������
������	���������	
��h��������i	���	�	����
���������������	����
��������
��	��������������������������������	
������-	��	������	�����
�������������	��
�	��������6�������-����	��6������	�	��	���3��
����
��	��	���������	�	����������	��
����������6��	�������������	������������	������
������	�6���	j���	����I���6��������������	���	����������h�����������kZlR�mTYYn�oaRRT�pTVqrsOtrOOc�XYZQ�[\]]dg�u�,�	������������
������	�1����v	

��L���	�w	���-��������
�������������	�����	���	���������	����x	���
���������������	�1����v	

��L���	�w	���-��������������
������	6��������6���������������6���-
�����
���	�������	���-������������	����kZlR�yZVQ�STUVQTWTQR�XYZQ�[\]̂ ĝ�;�	������������
������	�1���������i	���	�	����
�������������	�����	���	���������	����x	���
���������������	�1���������i	���	�	����
���w	���-���������������������������������������6�����z����
������	�6����	���
�	��	��6�������-
	����������
��	�	
���	��6������	�����	����	������		������	����
������-��
	����
���	����{ZRTPZn�STUVQTWTQR�XYZQ�[\]]dg�,�	������������
������	�3��	����i	���	�	����
����������	���	���������	�����	�1��	�	���������	
���	�����
�����2�	��3	�	��
��
������������	���	��������������	���	����
������	��	������6����������	��������	��	�������
�����	�����-
�����
���	���		���������������	�	
���	�������
���-�
���������	���	����,����
Attachment 2 Page 13 of 61 



���������	��	�
�������������������������
	����������������
����	�����	�������
�������������������������
���������������������
����
�	�������
������������������
	�����	
�
�������
����������������������
������������������� !��"��#�$�%��&'((()�*+�%#���,-',.�/����	���	���������
���0�����1�2���3����4��������
�0����5���
��3���
��������
�
��	�����������
����
���2���3����4���	�	��
�6��
	��
����������
����������������������
�
�������
���0���7�������������������������
����	�����/������������
������
��������
�����8��
�������������
������������������������
���������������������������������
���	�9��	�������������������������
����
�������	
��	�:��
��������������;!�<=+>!�? !������ !��"��#�$�%��&'(@A.�/����	���	���������
���B��CD�	��������4��������
�0�������
����������
�C��������������������
���������	����������
���EB�8��C5��F����
���B�
	��0����6��	�������
��	�����G��
�����������������
	�������������	�������������������
��	��������������
��3�
��	������
����������	����2�����3�	����
�
�����	����
����������	�����D��H�=#>��#��� !��"��#�$�%��&'(@I.�/����	���	���������
���J�D
	��
�4��������
�0�������
�����������������������������
���J�D
	��
��	�����K������������������3������������
���������
��	�
�������	��������	������	���������������
�����������8��
���������	��������

	��
���������������C�����
��	������
��������������
��������	���
�	����
	��L�
	���������� �
Attachment 2 Page 14 of 61 



� �

����������� 	
���������������������������������� ���!"#"$�%�&'(�)�&�'*�*(+%"+,�*'��) -"$ !� )$"."$/0�����-�"+)"- !�&'(�)�&�"+)!(%��12���.�+(�&�%��".�%�*�'#�(&���*��&�'��$�'&��$ 3�&�4&()�� &�*(�!�$ 3�&�'��.'$��� --�'.�%�,�+�� !�'5!", $"'+�5'+%&2�6�")��*(+)$"'+�!"7��(&���*��&8�92�:/&$�#&�;�.�!'-#�+$�<� �,�&�4:;<&2=�6�")�� ���%�&",+�%�$'���)'.���*�'#�%�.�!'-#�+$�$���)'&$�"#- )$�$� $�%�.�!'-#�+$�� &�'+�-(5!")�"+*� &$�()$(��8�>2��3$��+ !�)'+$�"5($"'+&=�"+�$���*'�#�'*�"+$��,'.��+#�+$ !�,� +$&�'��!' +&=�- /#�+$&�5/�%�.�!'-��&�*'��&-�)"*")�"#-�'.�#�+$&=� +%� &&�&&#�+$&�'*�5�+�*"$$�%�-�'-��$/�'6+��&=� !&'�*'��&-�)"*")�"#-�'.�#�+$&8� +%�?2�'$����&'(�)�&�&()�� &���.�+(��!�.�� ,�%�5/�$ 3�"+)��#�+$�*"+ +)"+,�"+�$���<"$/@&�$6'�(�5 +���+�6 !�%"&$�")$&=� +%���.�+(��*�'#�"+$��+ !!/�,�+�� $�%�)� �,�&=�6�")�� $�-��&�+$�-! /� �#"+'���'!��"+�) -"$ !�-�'A�)$�*(+%"+,0���B������B�C )��'*�$���$�����-(5!")�"+*� &$�()$(���&/&$�#&�4&$���$&=�& +"$ �/�&�6��&=� +%�&$'�#�%� "+ ,�2�"&�*(+%�%�5/�*��&�- "%�5/�$�'&��6�'�(&��$���&/&$�#0�D+�$���) &��'*�$���!') !�6 &$�6 $��� +%�&$'�#�%� "+ ,��&/&$�#&�$�'&��*��&� ���%"��)$!/�5"!!�%�$'�(&��&0�D+�$���) &��'*�$���$� +&-'�$ $"'+�&/&$�#�$�'&��*��&� ���)'!!�)$�%�"+�$���*'�#�'*�$ 3�&�'+�#'$'��*(�!� $�5'$��$���&$ $�� +%�!') !�!�.�!=�5/�&$ $��*��&�*'��!")�+&"+,� +%���,"&$� $"'+�'*�%�".��&� +%�.��")!�&=� &�6�!!� &�6�",�$�#"!��$ 3�&�"#-'&�%�'+�$���$�()7"+,�"+%(&$�/=� +%�." �$�#-'� �/�-�'-��$/�$ 3�"+)�� &�&�$� $���&(!$�*�'#� --�'.�%�,�+�� !�'5!", $"'+�5'+%&0�����<"$/�"&&(�%���.�+(��5'+%&�"+�9EEF� +%�9E1E�$'�*(+%�!') !�6 &$�6 $��� +%�&$'�#�%� "+ ,��) -"$ !�-�'A�)$&0��G�.�+(��5'+%&� ���$/-") !!/�- "%�*'��6"$��*��&�)'!!�)$�%0��D+�9E1H�$���.'$��&� --�'.�%� �IJ/� ��,�+�� !�'5!", $"'+�5'+%�$'���- "��&-�)"*")� �$��" !� +%�)'!!�)$'��&$���$&�$'� .'"%�#'���)'&$!/� +%�%"&�(-$".��*($(����' %6 /���)'+&$�()$"'+0������<"$/�"&�-��- �"+,� +'$����,�+�� !�'5!", $"'+�5'+%�- )7 ,��$'�,'�$'�.'$��&�"+�9E9?0�BKB��LB���M����L����N����B������&�)'+%�# A'��&'(�)��'*�) -"$ !�*(+%"+,�"&�:/&$�#&�;�.�!'-#�+$�<� �,�&�4:;<&20����&�� ���)� �,�&�"#-'&�%�'+�%�.�!'-#�+$�$'�-�'."%��*(+%"+,�$'� &&(���$� $�$���<"$/�) +�*(+%�$���)'&$�'*�$���"+*� &$�()$(���+��%�%�$'�&��.��$� $�!�.�!�'*�%�.�!'-#�+$0�����<"$/�)(���+$!/�� &�:;<&�*'��$� +&-'�$ $"'+=�6 &$�6 $��=� +%�&$'�#6 $��0�:;<&� ���) !)(! $�%�5 &�%�'+� �#�$�'%'!',/�6�")��#(&$�5�� %'-$�%�5/�$���<'(+)"!� +%�6�")��#(&$�)'+*'�#�$'�:$ $��! 60�����-�')�&&�"+.'!.�&�$6'�&�- � $��)'#-'+�+$&0�����*"�&$�"&� +�"#-�'.�#�+$�*���6�")��"&�5 &�%�'+� �%�$��#"+ $"'+�'*�6�")��) -"$ !�-�'A�)$&� ���+��%�%�$'� ))'##'% $��,�'6$�� +%�$��� #'(+$�'*� %%"$"'+ !�) - )"$/�$� $�"&�)�� $�%�5/�$�'&��-�'A�)$&�$'�#��$�,�'6$��%�# +%&0�����&�)'+%�)'#-'+�+$�"&� ���"#5(�&�#�+$�*��=�6�")��"&�5 &�%�'+�+�6�%�.�!'-#�+$@&�(&��'*�$����3"&$"+,�&/&$�#� +%�$��� #'(+$�'*�) - )"$/� . "! 5!��"+�$� $�&/&$�#0�D*�$���&/&$�#�� &��3"&$"+,�) - )"$/=�$��+�%�.�!'-#�+$�) +�5��)� �,�%� �*���5 &�%�(-'+�$���(+"$&�'*��3"&$"+,�) - )"$/�%�.�!'-#�+$�6"!!���O("��0����&��)� �,�&� ���"+)�� &�%� ++( !!/�5 &�%�'+�%')(#�+$�%�"+)�� &��"+�$���<'&$�'*�<'+&$�()$"'+�D+%�30��
Attachment 2 Page 15 of 61 



�����������	��
����
��������������������������������������������������������������������� ����������������������!�"��������������������������������#���#�����������������������������������������"������!�����$��!��������������!����"�����#���"��"��������������"�"��"���!��������$��!%�&�����!����������������������#��������'��� ������������'����������"�������!��������������������������%������$��!���������!�����������������������#������"���������#�������#����(�������"�������%�����$�������)����*����"�������+��������,�����-������.$)*+,/��������������������*����"�������+����!�$���������.*+$/�����������(�������#�������#�������������������0�������������#���"�������'�"�����������������������������"��0��������"���������#����������"����������!�����������������������!������#�����%�&����������'�����$��!���������!����1��(�������#��������������!����������##�����#��������������,������������������������������%���&������"���'����������� ���� ������!�������������#������#������������!��#�(�������"�������'������������!�����$�����2�����3�����4���������(����.$234(/'���"�������#�������!�(��������������%�&���������!����'��� ����'��������������(������������������������������#��������� ���� ������������!%��������!���������������#������ ���������������"��������#�����(���������#����������������'����������5�������� ����������������#��������������� �����������������������������������%��+����������������������� ������"�����#�������������������������'�������������!����������������������������%�&�����������#����������"����������#����������������� �������"����'���������"���������1���������#������������������������"����������"��0���� �����������������#�������������"��������6�������� ��������$��!�������������������#������������������������������������"��0��������������������� �����#��� ��������������"��7�����������%�)����!'����������������-��������������������������������#�����#�������������#����"���#���"��0����� ���������#���������"��"������%������������������������������������#�����������"������������������.)&8/'����������������#���������#������"��"������%�����������#�����"��0�����������������������������������"��"������������"��"���������������%���9�����	��
�������������� ����������������������������������������������#�����"�����"��0����#������%�����#����������5�����������#���������������������� ������������ ����������������������!�����$��!�:��������;��� ���������������8� ��� �%�&��������������� �������������������������5�������������#��������������������������������������6�������������������������������������������'� �����������������������������������""������������������������������ �����������������#�������"��0����� ������������������%�������������������������������������������������������������� �������������������������$��!���"��������7��"��������<����������"�������#�������#���"��������������������������������#�$��!�������������������������%������
Attachment 2 Page 16 of 61 



� �

����������	��	
���	������������������������������������������������  ��!"#$�"%�&'()�*+,-./01���.�233.+45�6.,�.-0,257.48�927450424308�24:�3.4/5,+357.4�.6�5;0�<75=>/�/5,005/�24:�5,24/-.,5257.4�/=/509?���;7/�743@+:0/�5;0�<75=>/�-2A09045�-,0/0,A257.4�-,.B,298�/7B42@�.-0,257.4/8�C73=3@0�24:�-0:0/5,724�6237@7570/8�24:�/5,005�@7B;5�,0-@2309045�24:�92745042430?���0A04+0/�2,0�B040,250:�6,.9�2�5;,00D3045�@.32@�9.5.,�A0;73@0�6+0@�52E�24:�2��5250�6+0@�52EF���0/5,7357.4/1��/0�.6�5;0/0�6+4:/�7/�,0/5,7350:�5.�2357A7570/�G75;74�-+C@73�,7B;5/�.6�G2=�C=�5;0�H,0B.4�<.4/575+57.4?�I"J� K"� ��!"#$�"%�LM()�*+,-./01���.�233.+45�6.,�5;0�3.4/5,+357.4�.6�32-752@�6237@7570/�G;73;�2,0�7:0457670:�74�5;0�N2/50G250,�O2/50,�*@24�2/�,0P+7,74B�,0;2C7@75257.4�.6�5;0�0E7/574B�/=/509�.,�0E-24/7.4�5.�/+--.,5�B,.G5;�24:�:0A0@.-9045?���0A04+0�C.4:�-,.300:/�-,.A7:0�5;0�67424374B�6.,�5;0�0E-04:75+,0/�.6�5;7/�6+4:?��0/5,7357.4/1���+4:74B�-,.A7:0:�C=�C.4:�-,.300:/8�743@+:74B�7450,0/5�02,474B/8�2,0�,0/5,7350:�C=�5;0�50,9/�.6�5;0�C.4:�3.45,235�:0A0@.-0:�25�5;0�5790�.6�5;0�C.4:�/2@0?�I"J� K"� ��!"#$�"%�&'()�*+,-./01���.�233.+45�6.,�5;0�.-0,257.48�3.4/5,+357.48�24:�92745042430�.6�5;0�<75=>/�G2/50G250,�3.@@0357.4�/=/509?��N2/50G250,�+/0,�600�3.@@0357.4/�-,.A7:0�5;0�67424374B�6.,�5;0�0E-04:75+,0/�.6�5;7/�6+4:?��0/5,7357.4/1���/�2@@.G0:�+4:0,�/5250�/525+508�5;0�-,.300:/�.6�5;0�+/0,�600/�2,0�,052740:�74�5;0�6+4:�6.,�-@24474B8�3.4/5,+3574B8�9274527474B�24:�.-0,2574B�5;0�G2/50G250,�3.@@0357.4�/=/509?���M�QK"� ��!"#$�"%�&'()�*+,-./01���.�233.+45�6.,�5;0�.-0,257.48�3.4/5,+357.48�24:�92745042430�.6�5;0�<75=>/�/5.,9G250,�3.@@0357.4�24:�5,0259045�/=/509?���5.,9G250,�+/0,�600�3.@@0357.4/�-,.A7:0�5;0�67424374B�6.,�5;0�0E-04:75+,0/�.6�5;7/�6+4:?��0/5,7357.4/1���/�2@@.G0:�+4:0,�/5250�/525+508�5;0�-,.300:/�.6�5;0�+/0,�600/�2,0�,052740:�74�5;0�6+4:�6.,�-@24474B8�3.4/5,+3574B8�9274527474B8�24:�.-0,2574B�5;0�/5.,9G250,�3.@@0357.4�24:�5,0259045�/=/509?��R���O����S�TH*O����<U��V��W��<�X�������H���YYZ?Y[\DYYZ?Z]̂�-,.A7:0/�5;0�/5250G7:0�6,290G.,_�B+7:74B�/=/509/�:0A0@.-9045�3;2,B0/?��E-04:75+,0/�.6�79-,.A09045���</�2,0�,0/5,7350:�C=�/5250�@2G�5.�32-2375=D04;24374B�-,.̀035/�6.,�5;0�/=/509�6.,�G;73;�5;0�600�7/�79-./0:?��;0�,079C+,/09045�-.,57.4�.6���</�92=�C0�+/0:�6.,�32-752@�-,.̀035/�,0@250:�5.�5;0�/=/509�6.,�G;73;�5;0�600�G2/�3.@@0350:8�743@+:74B�,0;2C7@75257.4�.6�0E7/574B�/=/509/?�
Attachment 2 Page 17 of 61 



���������	
��	
����	
����
�
����
�	������
��
������
�
�	�����	�������
�	�������� !"#$%&��'#�())# *+�,#!�(-(./(0/%�)("().+1�2.+3.*�+3%�%4.$+.*5�2($+%2(+%!�)#//%)+.#*�$1$+%6�+3(+�.$�(++!.0 +(0/%�+#�5!#2+37��8.*(*).*5�.$�"!#-.9%9�01�(�:;<�/%-.%9�(5(.*$+�9%-%/#".*5�"!#"%!+.%$7���=%$+!.)+.#*$&��>($+%2(+%!�=%.60 !$%6%*+�:;<$�(!%�!%$+!.)+%9�,#!� $%�)(".+(/�6(.*+%*(*)%�#!�)#*$+! )+.#*�#*�+3%�2($+%2(+%!�)#//%)+.#*�$1$+%67����������	
��	
����	
����
�
����
�	������
�?�����
�
�	�����	�������
�	�������� !"#$%&��'#�())# *+�,#!�)#*$+! )+.#*�#,�+3%�5!#2+3@!%/(+%9�"#!+.#*�#,�)("().+1@%*3(*).*5�)(".+(/�"!#A%)+$7��8.*(*).*5�.$�"!#-.9%9�01�(�:;<�/%-.%9�(5(.*$+�9%-%/#".*5�"!#"%!+.%$7���=%$+!.)+.#*$&�B4"%*9.+ !%$�#,�>($+%2(+%!�C6"!#-%6%*+�:;<$�(!%�!%$+!.)+%9�01�$+(+%�/(2�+#�)("().+1@%*3(*).*5�"!#A%)+$�,#!�+3%�2($+%2(+%!�$1$+%67�	�����	
����	
����
�
����
�	��
������
�
�	�����	�������
�	�������� !"#$%&��'#�())# *+�,#!�(-(./(0/%�)("().+1�2.+3.*�+3%�%4.$+.*5�$+#!62(+%!�$1$+%6�+3(+�.$�(++!.0 +(0/%�+#�5!#2+37��8.*(*).*5�.$�"!#-.9%9�01�(�:;<�/%-.%9�(5(.*$+�9%-%/#".*5�"!#"%!+.%$7���=%$+!.)+.#*$&��:+#!62(+%!�=%.60 !$%6%*+�:;<$�(!%�!%$+!.)+%9�,#!� $%�#*�)(".+(/�6(.*+%*(*)%�#!�)#*$+! )+.#*�#*�+3%�$+#!62(+%!�)#//%)+.#*�$1$+%67�	�����	
����	
����
�
����
�	�?�����
�
�	�����	�������
�	�������� !"#$%&��'#�())# *+�,#!�)#*$+! )+.#*�#,�+3%�5!#2+3@!%/(+%9�"#!+.#*�#,�)("().+1@%*3(*).*5�)(".+(/�"!#A%)+$7��8.*(*).*5�.$�"!#-.9%9�01�(�:;<�/%-.%9�(5(.*$+�9%-%/#".*5�"!#"%!+.%$7���=%$+!.)+.#*$&�B4"%*9.+ !%$�#,�:+#!62(+%!�C6"!#-%6%*+�:;<$�(!%�!%$+!.)+%9�01�$+(+%�/(2�+#�)("().+1@%*3(*).*5�"!#A%)+$�,#!�+3%�$+#!62(+%!�$1$+%67�D�������	�	������	
����
�
����
�	��
������
�
�	�����	�������
�	�������� !"#$%&��'#�())# *+�,#!�(-(./(0/%�)("().+1�2.+3.*�+3%�%4.$+.*5�+!(*$"#!+(+.#*�$1$+%6�+3(+�.$�(++!.0 +(0/%�+#�5!#2+37��8.*(*).*5�.$�"!#-.9%9�01�(�:;<�/%-.%9�(5(.*$+�9%-%/#".*5�"!#"%!+.%$7���=%$+!.)+.#*$&�'!(*$"#!+(+.#*�=%.60 !$%6%*+�:;<$�(!%�!%$+!.)+%9�,#!� $%�#*�)(".+(/�6(.*+%*(*)%�#!�)#*$+! )+.#*�#*�+3%�+!(*$"#!+(+.#*�$1$+%67�D�������	�	������	
����
�
����
�	�?�����
�
�	�����	�������
�	�������� !"#$%&��'#�())# *+�,#!�)#*$+! )+.#*�#,�+3%�5!#2+3@!%/(+%9�"#!+.#*�#,�)("().+1@%*3(*).*5�)(".+(/�"!#A%)+$7��8.*(*).*5�.$�"!#-.9%9�01�(�:;<�/%-.%9�(5(.*$+�9%-%/#".*5�"!#"%!+.%$7���=%$+!.)+.#*$&�B4"%*9.+ !%$�#,�'!(*$"#!+(+.#*�C6"!#-%6%*+�:;<$�(!%�!%$+!.)+%9�01�$+(+%�/(2�+#�)("().+1@%*3(*).*5�"!#A%)+$�,#!�+3%�+!(*$"#!+(+.#*�$1$+%6$7��
Attachment 2 Page 18 of 61 



� �

���������	
�������
��������������������������������� �!"#���$���!%�&��'�()*+,-./���,�011,)23�4,*��.5.*06�7*023�*.8.2).-�*.1.98.5�4,*�3:.�+*9;0*<�+)*+,-.�,4�058021927�10+9306�+*,=.13-�3:03�+*9;0*96<�>.2.493�6,?@921,;.�+.*-,2-A��.-3*9139,2-/��	��B�4)25-C�9216)5927�923.*.-3�.0*2927-C�;)-3�;..3�3:.��.5.*06�7,8.*2;.23�1*93.*90�,4�>.2.493927�6,?�3,�;,5.*03.�921,;.�9259895)06D-�2..5-C�.69;9203927�-6);-�025�>697:3C�025�055*.--927�)*7.23�2..5-A�������������E"�F���G�&��'�()*+,-./���:9-�4)25�011,)23-�4,*�4)25-�5,203.5�><�5.8.6,+.*-�3,?0*5�3:.�1,2-3*)139,2�,4�10+9306�+*,=.13-�59*.136<�044.13.5�><�3:.�+0*391)60*�5.8.6,+;.23A��.-3*9139,2-/���)25927�9-�)-)066<�+*,=.13�-+.19491�025�;)-3�,26<�>.�-+.23�3,?0*5-�3:,-.�10+9306�+*,=.13-�4,*�?:91:�3:.<�?.*.�1,66.13.5A�H����#��IGG�GG����G��#���#��E"�F����&��'�()*+,-./���,�011,)23�4,*�3:.�923.*9;�492021927�025�*.603.5�1,-3-�,4�1,2-3*)139,2�4,*�+)>691�9;+*,8.;.23-�?:91:�+*9;0*96<�>.2.493�05=01.23�+*,+.*3<�,?2.*-�,4�3:.�-)>=.13�10+9306�+*,=.13A���.8.2).-�0*.�7.2.*03.5�3:*,)7:�-+.1906�0--.--;.23-�>.927�6.89.5�07092-3�3:.�>.2.493927�+*,+.*39.-A��.-3*9139,2-/���303.�60?�*.-3*913-�0--.--;.23-�3,�3:.�-+.19491�9;+*,8.;.23�1,2-3*)13.5A�&�'�"#��#�'�H�#���I�'�E"�F����&��'G�()*+,-./���,�011,)23�4,*��303.�025��.5.*06�7*023-�0?0*5.5�3,�3:.�	93<�4,*�3:.�+)*+,-.�,4�+*.-.*8927�,*�.2:021927�	93<�40196939.-A���:.-.�4)25-�0*.�3<+91066<�59*.13.5�3,?0*5-�+*,=.13-�3:03�+*.-.*8.�,*�.2:021.�3:.�	93<D-�3*02-+,*3039,2�924*0-3*)13)*.A��,66,?927�9-�0�69-3�,4�3:.�3<+9106�-,)*1.-/�J����B��)25-�K��)*401.��*02-+,*3039,2��6,1L�B*023��)25-�J�����)25-�K��*02-+,*3039,2��63.*20398.-��)25-�J�	M�N��)25-�K�	,27.-39,2�M9397039,2��9*�N)0693<��)25-�J�������)25-�K��04.��,)3.-��,��1:,,6-��)25-�J�������)25-�K��66��,05-��*02-+,*3039,2��04.3<��)25-��.-3*9139,2-/���)25927�9-�)-)066<�+*,=.13�-+.19491�025�;)-3�,26<�>.�-+.23�3,?0*5-�3:,-.�10+9306�+*,=.13-�3:03�;..3�3:.�*.O)9*.;.23-�,4�3:.�-+.19491�7*023A�
�P��������H�"��QR���'�S��������������������IQ�����$HS�I%�&��'G�()*+,-./���,�011,)23�4,*�4)25-�1,66.13.5�025�-.3�0-95.�?93:92�*>02��.2.?06��9-3*913-�0-�5.492.5�025�05,+3.5�><�3:.�	93<�	,)2196A��
Attachment 2 Page 19 of 61 



����������	�
���	������������������	�������������������	���	���������������	��������������������������������������������������������	��������������������	�����	����������	���	���������������������� !!"�#$%&�'�����
��(������	��������)�	��������)������*���	����	����������������+�����,���-�.�	������(������	���������������������.�������/*���)�*�	�����������������*���)������+�����,���-�.�	������$0!&0%1�23 4 356�0�%�#$%&�'�����
��(������	�������	��������������	����������������*��	��	�	����	���*���)�*�	������.��-���	��������	����	���������������

Attachment 2 Page 20 of 61 



Attachment 2 Page 21 of 61 



��������������	��
���
�
���
�����

� ����
��������������

����������������
�������� ����� �

��!�� �"������#$��
�%&

���� ��
�� �'�("  " (

����
���)

���*
���+

����
����,'

�,� -�
����-�

.'�,� -��
��� ���!�� 

����� ��
�!�� ����� �

��!�� ����
� ���!�� �

���� ���!�� 
����� ��

�!�� �
-���� ������ ��

�
��'�",�" (�����/���

����� )��
����

������
������

������
������

� ��01*��
01�*� 0*�

����-�#��� ��"����
�& )�)

�1���+��
�2*+��

�2*+��
�2*+��

�2*+��
�2**1���

01)�*�13�3
����-�#��� ����"�'

��& )�)
0))��

0*���
*���

00���
*���

*��2)
)0� 400+

����-�#5����5����
�"�����& +00

�1��+�*�
��*�

��*�
01����*�

��*�
��1��+

01��� �1��+
����-�#5����5����

���"�'��& +00
)1+�2+��

�*�+��
�*�+��

�*�+��
*��+��

��1+�2
01�*� +1�*2

����-�#������"����
���� �& +0�

01*�����
�����

����
����

)����
)���1*��

*�*�1��3
����-�#��������"�'

������ �& +0�
01*��0�*

0��0�*
0��0�*

0��0�*
0��0�*

0���10*3
*0* 01+)�

��������-��"��,
+0�21+3�

01���*��
01�*��2�

01�*�010��
01)���*3

01)*�012��
0+1���*1003

001�02
��5����5�����-��

"��, +00
21�)0�1���

�1����1���
�1����1)*�

01�*��1+��
01�*��1�*�

01�*���1�)0
0�1�*�001�20

���������-��"��,
)�)01))�

0*�+0*
0*����

0*�**0
0*����

0*����
�102�01�++

)�0
6789:;:<=>?

��1���*1+**
*1�3�*13�*

�12*3+1�**
*1)�2+1�**

�12+3+1)**
*1��0+�1�23

��1+�2�21+*2
(�� ���@��� ��"�

 �
������A

)���
0�1���0�1���

��
��

0�1���0�1���
�

��������,�(�� �A
)���

3��3��
�1*32�1*32

��
��

)1)++)1)++
�

6789:;:<=>?
�0�13��

0�13���
��1*32

�1*32�
��

�0+1)++
0+1)++�

BC<DE�F;:<=>
��1���031*��

0310+�*13�*
�12*321+))

21�03+1�**
�12+3+1)**

*1��0�21�+)
)�10�* �21+*2

A�GH%H�IJKL%�MNO�KPQ
�RN%%�QGSPJTG�QGH�-UQO

V%�WJLTHQ/
AA�SPRP%HL�-�'(�-N

RUQNX��SPYHZQ%�NSH�ULHK
QUIUHL�UK� �NSZG/���GHSH

IPSH1�-PMMJKUQO��H[H
XPRMHKQ�'XPZ\�(SNKQ�R

SPYHZQ%�NSH�KPQ�UKZXJLH
L/

Attachment 2 Page 22 of 61 



Attachment 2 Page 23 of 61 



�

�

���������	���
������������� ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� �����!�����"#$%#&$'����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������(�)*++,%-�./�0%.1$234����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������5�6.743%*23$8�0%.1$234���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������9:�;7�0%.2$44�0%.1$234������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������9<�=*78&7>�0%.>%,++$8�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������9 �0,%3&,??-�0%.>%,++$8�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  �=*78&7>�@.3�0%.>%,++$8������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������(:����������������"#$%#&$'���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������(A�)*++,%-�./�0%.1$234���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������(B�6.743%*23$8�0%.1$234���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������5 �;7�0%.2$44�0%.1$234������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������55�=*78&7>�0%.>%,++$8�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������C �0,%3&,??-�0%.>%,++$8�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������A9�=*78&7>�@.3�0%.>%,++$8������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������B���!���!�����"#$%#&$'�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������<:5�)*++,%-�./�0%.1$234�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������<:C�;7�0%.2$44�0%.1$234����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������<:B�=*78&7>�0%.>%,++$8�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������<<<�=*78&7>�@.3�0%.>%,++$8����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������<<C�D��E������������������"#$%#&$'�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������<�<�)*++,%-�./�0%.1$234�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������<���;7�0%.2$44�0%.1$234����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������<� �=*78&7>�@.3�0%.>%,++$8����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������<9:�����EE������"#$%#&$'�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������< <�)*++,%-�./�0%.1$234�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������< ��� �
Attachment 2 Page 24 of 61 



�

� �

�������	��
��������������	������������������������������������������������������ ���������!��"�������#$���%�$����&��'��$(�������������'������������������!���������)��*!������������'������ �����$�������������$�������+� ������������� �!���,���������������������(�������������������������������(��������� �)��*!��������$����������$���������������%�-��'���������.��'���������������!���������$�%������$������������������ �����)��*!�������/��'�������������������������������!�������$����,�&�������0�����������1�*!���������������������������-��������������������)��2��-���$����!���������������/����+��%��-�+�����������$�-�+����.������$���$��������������������$�������������$������.��-����������� ������$)��*!����� �������������������������'�������-����������!�� '!��!��%���� ���!�����������������������'(�����'����������%��-)�&�������3��� ��1�3��� ��������+����!��� ���������'������!��&������(��)')�&������'(�����'�(���������� �����)�3��������&����4&��������������������!���&�������1�*!�����������������!��%���� ��"� �����5����(�$�����������(�������$���������(�����������������(����4������������!����������������������)�67������ ���3�!�� ���1�8�����%���� ��������������%��������������$������!����$��'�����������������$����!��!��������������%��-)�9 ����'�3� ����1�0�����+���!�/�����/!�������������/���4���������+��� ����������!���� ��������!���� ����'�:�)')(�+����(���������� ���(�30"�(�'�����;)� �

Attachment 2 Page 25 of 61 



�

�

��������	���
���������������������������������������� ���������!�����"��������������#$����%�&'��������������(������(��#�$��'����#$(���������������)���������� �����#���������$���������$���$����#�#������$����������$������������������� �����������$���#�'����������*#����(�����������+�����������$�#�!��$��+�����(������,�������-�������������.�'�)/0���� �������%�&'��������������(������(���� �$��#�!��$�������'��1��(2���,�����!�������������(���������'������ ������������ ���������������(�#�����������������-�3����������(�����#$���'�����������$�#���4��!���������������+�����'���$$��������������������������$#���������4�$�����$��!���$���'������(����������������-���1������(�5�'���������%�&'��������������(������(���� �$���$$���������������(��������,�����!�������������(������'�������#������(�#�$����4�$�����$$������������(����$���'���'� ��)�����$�������$�����#�������#�#���!����'-�&'�����(������������ ���������(�����#$������$$��������$������������$+�$�������������������+���������������*#����(���������������������+������������$�������������(-��.�������������$���'���������%�&'��������������(������(��� �� ����������!������'�����!�����������$��������(�-�3����������(�����#$����������!��'������$������������+���� �$��!���������������'������!�+����� �������� ��� ������������������$���'�����!����� ���������+��������� ��!�������������(-���6���7����������8�&'��������������(������(��$$������������(�����'���(�����)(�������#����!���������������������������)���#��������������������������������$� ��������+�������������*#�������������,���$������������������(-��3����������(�����#$�����������������������*#����(������������)#����������������������#)$� ����������$�������$�����'�������������9������3���-���3����������(����������#$���'���,������������������������������������#������!����'-����� �

Attachment 2 Page 26 of 61 



��������	
���
�������� �������� ����
��� ��� ��������������

��������� ��������
�������� � �
��	!������"	�������

������ ���#����
�����

$�!���%&'('�����!��
#��)
#�������*

*��+)#���
���,�-.���

 **�
����!�/����������0�����1

��
����������
��#��������
��

�$2�3�+)
#��������������

��� *$2
���
�������!���#������

�����*
*34+(���

��5��
��,�-.���
 *6��$����
���������������
��7�

���0
���
��������
�������#��8��#��

�����0�����
�
��!������!������������

������9� ����
������
�

�2�*�:�
���������.����;
�!����*

*<4;�#�

������ ���������
�����#�

���� 
2 �������

����
������
�!������<�:�������������

#��������
����*
2�2+)#���

���,�-.���
 =>>����

�0��?�0
���������#�������
��#�����7��!��

9�����������)#������6���
��
������7�

#�����������!����
�����0�����:�����������

)#������*
2�*+���


�������������
 2

@���0���������0�����:
������������*

2��+���

�������
��

 3�$
������������9���������

��*2��+��
����������������
��

 <22;���

�
������������������ �2622

2"�
������
@���0������ �?�����?�

��*2�$+��
�
����������

��� $2
�����0�����;�#�
�

�<*22�+;
�#�
������ ���������
��,���


��� �������
 =22

�!��������#��������
�<*22�+(

�����5��
��,���
��
� �������

 *6*>�
:�������
����#��������


���<*
22$+(���

��5��
��,���
��� �������
 42)#���


��������
������6�����
��
�������

��#���
�������#��������
���������

;
#��
���9����:�������
���<*

22<+(���
��5��
��,���
��� �������

 323 ���!
�����9
����9����#��#����

%
.,A�(�����5��
������
�


�
���<
*2*�+(��

���5��
��,���
��� �������
 4$

���!�=2�!�����������
#�
�;�#����������*

*>* �����
��������,�-.���

�2�3�:�
�%�.����;�!��
�

���
����*

*>�;�#�

������ ���������
��,�-.�

��

���3-�������#
����������
��������)#�����-������0

����

Attachment 2 Page 27 of 61 



���������	�
������������
���������������������������������������������� !
����"��#$�!%&�'(�%���)�����'��%�*#��!%&�'(�%���)�+%���*#���,-�!%&�'(�%�����+./�����*��'�%0++�%�)�����'��%�*�&���'1�%2��#�3�4��$�)�%���%�&��*#��5������5�����67����%/&2+��$+89:�� ;<;= ;<;> ;<;? ;<;@ ;<;A B����!%&�'(�%���C�
�%�# 7DEF 7DEF 7DEF 7DEF 7DEF 7GEF!%&�'(�%���	��'H2�+�'��%�!�C 7EF 7EF 7EF 7EF 7EF 7IEFB���� 7IFF 7IFF 7IFF 7IFF 7IFF 7DJFFF
������������:� K��&����*�&���'

��!%&�'(�%�� ��	�
������$�*��+��L�%�&���L�#&
'��%���$�*2H#�.�M&�N+������������������ O/�+�
�&���'���L&#L�+�%/����/�H�#�%�%�&��&"�!
����"��#$�$��������+P+%�'+Q�%&���
����&����
#�.��&#$���
�
�����%/��+P+%�'���$�+&#L��"#&&$����
�&H#�'+���$���$2.��+%���%�+2�"�.��"��#2��+�$2��%&�
&&��$�������R�O/�+�
�&���'��#+&���.#2$�+���/�H�#�%�%�&��&"�.�%./�H�+��+���$�.2#L��%+�%&�
��L��%�"#&&$���J���$�%/��.&�%��.%2�#�.#�������&"�#�����+%&�'�+�(���
�
�R�*&%��%��#�
�&S�.%+���.#2$�T

Attachment 2 Page 28 of 61 



����������
	��
���
����������
���������������������
����������� !�"#�$%&"��'&�&��$��"( &��"#�$%&"��'&)"��( &�*+,�"#�$%&"��*�)-.&���(��$�"/))�"'&�&��$��"(�#��&$0&"1�& 2&3&�!'�"��&"�#�( &�4#"& '&5�$1$*&� 67#&!84'*79:$� �$��"&"�#�( &�;������;����8<��".#1)&�!)9=>�� ?@?A ?@?B ?@?C ?@?D ?@?E F�����"#�$%&"��G&��"& <HI <HI <HI <HI <HI <JII�"#�$%&"��K��$L1�)�$��"�*G <MI <MI <MI <MI <MI <NIIF���� <NII <NII <NII <NII <NII <OII
�����
�	���>��P��#���(�#��&$
G.&��� :$��#Q�$��"�"#�$%&"�� R&"��,1& �"6*�Q� #�$��"&�!(1L �-R#�S)�����
����
��������4.�)��#T�-"�)��"��!�!"#��#Q�!��$��#Q�$��")"#S�6!�&��&��%&6)"#&!!��))L&�����)"#��).�&))&��U&�!"#-#���-"���Q�#1)-.&��� $#!���-&"�#�)".&".&Q�-&1)�!!�"���#�&"�#�#�� #%-&�&-�"6U%&"��V1& �"6U&�!��)..&L�"&"�1�-"�#�)W4.�)��$��#Q�$��")��- 1!�-1 Q��"��� &-�$��")#���"�#��")U�#&!-�#))���&�!#1"�&  $#!���-&"�#�)U&�!-.&��� ��)"#�&"�#�W4.�&!#�"�#�#�".���������� !4#"& '&5�$1$*&� 67#&!:$� �$��"&"�#�( &��!��"����)&�&!!�"�#�& "�$���&"1��L�����"��#$-.&��� ��)"#�&"�#�&�!).&!���W

Attachment 2 Page 29 of 61 



����������
	��
���
����������
���������������������
����������� !�"#�$%&"��'&�&��$��"( &��"#�$%&"��'&)"��( &�*+,�"#�$%&"��*�)-.&���(��$�"/#"& '&0�$1$*&� 23#&!4/'*356$� �$��"&"�#�( &�7������7����48��".#1)&�!)59:�� ;<;= ;<;> ;<;? ;<;@ ;<;A B�����"#�$%&"��C&��"& 8DE 8DE 8DE 8DE 8DE 8FEE�"#�$%&"��G��$H1�)�$��"�*C 8DE 8DE 8DE 8DE 8DE 8FEEB���� 8IE 8IE 8IE 8IE 8IE 8DEE
�����
�	���:��J��#���(�#��&$

�"#�$%&"�� K&"��,1& �"2'�I(��$�"G�L1���$��")*�M� #�$��"&�!(1H �-K#�N)�����
����
��������*�M� #�&�!�$� �$��"��#��&$)&�!��#O�-")"#-#$� 2%�".".�P&"�#�& (#  1"&�"*�)-.&���+ �$��&"�#��2)"�$4P(*+�5'1��-��& ���&�&"��"#�$��%���2)"�$4'�I5*�)-.&�����L1���$��")Q6�DEERS".�C�"2&�� ��!�#�&�'�I���$�"��#$".�J���#�*��&�"$��"#�+�M��#�$��"& ,1& �"24*+,5S%.�-.&1".#��T�)".�C�"2"# &%�1  2!�)-.&���)"#�$%&"��"#".�'-U��T��&�!K�  &$�""�G�M��)&�!".���"��H1"&���)Q/.�(��$�"%&)����%�!��DEDF&�!��L1���)".�C�"2"#�$� �$��"��#��&$)&�!-&��"& ��#O�-")".&"�$��#M�)"#�$%&"��L1& �"2Q*&"&).#%".&")"#�$%&"������������� !%&"��%&2)�#1"��� 2M�# &"�)%&"��L1& �"2)"&�!&�!)�)"&H �).�!"#��#"�-".1$&�.�& ".&�!&L1&"�- ���Q/.�)��#O�-"��#M�!�)�#�$��#�-&��"& �$��#M�$��")&�!V#�-&��"& �L1��$��"�1�-.&)�)��-�))&�2&�!&���#���&"�"#&!!��)).��.���#��"2%&"��L1& �"2��#H �$&��&)Q

Attachment 2 Page 30 of 61 



����������
	��
���
����������
���������������������
����������� !�"#�$%&"��'&�&��$��"( &��"#�$%&"��'&)"��( &�*+,�"#�$%&"��*�)-.&���(��$�"/#"& '&0�$1$*&� 23#&!4/'*356$� �$��"&"�#�( &�7������7����48��".#1)&�!)59:�� ;<;= ;<;> ;<;? ;<;@ ;<;A B�����"#�$%&"��C&��"& 8DE 8DE 8DE 8DE 8DE 8FE�"#�$%&"��G��$H1�)�$��"�*C 8DI 8DI 8DI 8DI 8DI 8JEB���� 8KL 8KL 8KL 8KL 8KL 8DMN
�����
�	���:��O��#���(�#��&$

�"#�$%&"�� P&"��,1& �"2G��&��&�3&�!'&�&��$��"*�Q� #�$��"&�!(1H �-P#�R)�����
����
��������/.�)��#S�-"��#Q�!�)�1�!���"#�1�-.&)����&��&�&��& &�!)��#$���Q&"���#���"2#%���)%.������!�!"#$��"C�"2&�!���1 &"#�2#HS�-"�Q�)�#�%&"��T1& �"2U)"#�$%&"��$&�&��$��"U� ##!-#�"�# &�!.&H�"&"��#"�-"�#�V6"& )#��#Q�!�)�1�!����#�-#�)1 "&�")��Q�-�)"#�Q& 1&"����&��&�H1����&��&)UC�"2&�!#".��&-"�Q�"��)&���-"���".�$V(�#���"2&-T1�)�"�#�)%�  "2��-&  2��)1 "����-��&)�!#���&"�#�& )���!���"#$&��"&��-�"2#%��!��#���"2V(�#S�-")!�Q� #��!#���#���"2&-T1���!$&2U.#%�Q��U��#!1-�)&Q���)".�#1�.��!1-�!)���!����#�� ##!-#�"�# U%&"��T1& �"2�$��#Q�$��"U&�!%�" &�!$�"��&"�#�&-"�Q�"��)V(�#S�-"�1�!��� �Q� ).&Q�H�����!1-�!"#-#��#�$"#� ���H� �"2 �Q� )�#��$��#Q�$��"�*C)VC#1�-� &!#�"�#�&�!�$� �$��"&"�#�#�&���$H1�)�$��"�*C$&2���$�"��)"#�&"�#�#����#��1�!��� �Q� )V

Attachment 2 Page 31 of 61 



����������
	��
���
����������
���������������������
����������� !�"#�$%&"��'&�&��$��"( &��"#�$%&"��'&)"��( &�*+,�"#�$%&"��*�)-.&���(��$�"/#"& '&0�$1$*&� 23#&!4/'*356$� �$��"&"�#�( &�7������7����48��".#1)&�!)59:�� ;<;= ;<;> ;<;? ;<;@ ;<;A B�����"#�$%&"��C&��"& 8DE 8DE 8DE 8DE 8DE 8FGE�"#�$%&"��H��$I1�)�$��"�*CB���� 8DE 8DE 8DE 8DE 8DE 8FGE
�����
�	���:��J��#���(�#��&$

�"#�$%&"�� K&"��,1& �"2LJMK&"��,1& �"2N&-� �"��)4K,N5*�O� #�$��"&�!(1I �-K#�P)�����
����
��������/.���&��&���#0�$&"� 2FQK,N)��)1I!�O�)�#�)".&"%���I1� "I�"%���RSST&�!GQRQ".&"&�����O&"� 2#%��!I2LJM)#�&�#".�����O&"���"�"24��!�O�!1& ��)�!��")U".�#�����& !�O� #���U�"-V5V/.�C�"2.&)"&P��&��#���))�O� 2WXYZ[\]̂_ZYX̀ẐaW[̂a][̂âab]cZdZe[\̂̀ ]̂̂ZdX_ZY]cZf[d]ê_ZgZ[Ydhi]̂c]cZ[ffYX_[̀XejXka\̂̀̂almnop]cZĵ]gqdJ���&"�#�)*�O�)�#�.���)&"�$�#�&�2%#�P-��%�&-.)1$$��"#$&�&��O���"&"�#���".��&-� �"��)&�!��)1��".�2&���1�-"�#������#��� 2V/.�)-&��"& ��#��&$%�  I����)�""���&)�!��1�!)"#"&P�#O��&�!I������"#-#$� �&�-�)� �-"�!���O&"� 2#%��!%&"��r1& �"2�&-� �"��)V

Attachment 2 Page 32 of 61 



����������
	��
���
����������
���������������������
������������ �!���"#�$%&'����������%(!)*��+�"���(�,��-��#.�/��0 (�(+��(�$"#�$1������1����23($�*�-!�$0!456�� 7879 787: 787; 787< 787= >��������������?�@(��# 3ABC 3ABC���������D�@��E���$��%? 3AF 3AF>���� 3B 3AGB 3B 3B 3B 3AGB
�����
�	���6��,��������0

���������� H#��0?�$���#�IJK�*����������������D�@��E���$�!%�E�#�@��$��$0"-L#()M��N!�����
����
��������"(@�(�@��E���$�!O��O#��0)�$���#I?-���$�#PQ0-�($+*��EP��($O�##�*�!����!P!���!-�)*��+�!��JK�*�$0 �($������O#��0($+@�(E���@��@���PI

Attachment 2 Page 33 of 61 



����������
	��
���
����������
���������������������
������������ �!���"#�$%&'����������%(!)*��+�"���(�,��-��#.�/��0 (�(+��(�$"#�$1���# �2(�-�%�(#34��051 %467�8#���$���(�$"#�$9������9����5:($�*�-!�$0!6;<�� =>=? =>=@ =>=A =>=B =>=C D��������������E�8(��# :FGH :FGH���������7�8��I���$��%E :FGH :FGHD���� :H :H :JHH :H :H :JHH
�����
�	���<��,��������0

���������� &28�$!(�$K�!8��L,����$ %�I�#�8��$��$0"-M#()N��O!�����
����
��������1*�K�!8��L,����$������P-(��!)��8��*�$!(I��I�#-��(�$Q��Q-�-��!���������($Q��!��-)�-��$��0!��!-88���Q-�-��+����*�$0�����*�E(�3R!%&'����������%(!)*��+�"���(���P-(����$�!S1*�Q(�!�8*�!��Q�*�8��T�)��(##)��8#��($+�*��$�#3!(!��0�I�#�8���!���8#�$Q���*�M�!($UQ�##���0M3(�8#���$���(�$�(�*��M38�(I���0�I�#�8��$�!U��E(�3!8�$!���0($(�(��(I�!S1*�Q-$0($+(0�$�(Q(�0(!Q��!�-03�$08#�$0�I�#�8��$�S

Attachment 2 Page 34 of 61 



����������
	��
���
����������
���������������������
������������ �!���"#�$ %���&'�##(����������"#�$)*+����������),!-&��.�"���,� ���������� �$�.���$�"#�$/��0��#1�2��3 ,�,.��,�$"#�$  ,##4�-�*-�!(!���"#�$5���# �6,�0�)�,#(7��385 )79:�;#���$���,�$"#�$<������<����8=,$�&�0!�$3!9>?�� @A@B @A@C @A@D @A@E @A@F G��������������H�;,��# =IJJ =IJJ���������:�;��K���$��)H =LM =LMG���� =J =J =ILM =J =J =ILM
�����
�	���?��/��������3

���������� N����+0�#,�(7���� ,##4�-� )�K�#�;��$��$3"0O#,-N��P!�����
����
��������)�!,.$�$3-�$!��0-��3�(#,.&���3,K��!,�$;���������$�!��0-�0��Q�$�RR#,$������S0�#,�(�������$�R�-,#,�(Q�$3�.���$;,;��;�$-&�$$�#,�;��K���$�TU33,�,�$�#3���,#R���&,!�0#�,VR�-���3;��W�-����,$N+VXY;��W�-��R�&�����������Z�-,#,�,�! �!���"#�$T

Attachment 2 Page 35 of 61 



����������
	��
���
����������
���������������������
�������������� !"�"#��"$%&��%'$%�"%�( &���")"*��"$%"%�+(���"$%��,�$$ -%.���%)(&�$#��/0������0����12"%�+$�.�% .345�� 6768 6769 676: 676; 676< =����>�$�/?��(�'�*"��� 2@AA 2@AA=���� 2A 2A 2@AA 2A 2A 2@AA
�����
�	���5���$�>����( 

>�$�/?��(� >�� "(.!"��B�)(,"�/C* ��(D(E(�$*/(%��% &�F�")G$�H.�����
����
��������C."%#)$%.���"%#.(�E")(.I*�(*��(�.)$*( $)�/(%�J$��%(?J�$$ *��"%.�� K�$�* ��(�+(,�$$ -%.���%)(B��(!�*1,-B!3J$��+(>*�"%#J"(� !"��B�)(J�$/�+("%�(���'�(��?��(�&��H�$�+($���(���-.��% &��H�$"%)$�*$���()$%.���)�"$%)+�%#(.L

Attachment 2 Page 36 of 61 



����������
	��
���
����������
���������������������
������������ �!���"#�$%������%����&'($�)�*!�$+!,-.�� /0/1 /0/2 /0/3 /0/4 /0/5 6��������������7�8(��# '9:: '9::���������;�8��<���$��=7 '>: '>:6���� ': ': '9>: ': ': '9>:
�����
�	���.��?��������+

���������� ��*+(�!@<��AB$+��7)�$$�#")�!�C=�<�#�8��$��$+"*D#(EF��G!�����
����
��������H)�@<��AB$+��7)�$$�#!I!���)�!�88��J(����#ICKC::#($���L����L���+!��<�8(8�K�$+>K:::#($���L����LE���*M���+����#8(8�&7 ",����($($M*$+���)��J(!�($ME)�$$�#N")�!�C(!($��$+�+����8#�E��)��J(!�($M���+!��<��$+����($($M7 "�(�)�$��8(8�K�!��##�!8��<(+��8���##�#8(8�L���++(�(�$�#E�8�E(�I�!��E����$+�+($�)�C::O����������P�E(#(�I �!���"#�$�$+�)�@<��AB$+��7)�$$�#($<�!�(M��(<���8���NH)�����($($M8(8���D���8#�E�+�*$!L���>:�)��������!���>Q�)�������E��!!�8�($ML(�#+�E)��#=(!��(E�8��8���I�$+F(##���#�$�"��G8��8���IN

Attachment 2 Page 37 of 61 



��������	
���
���������������

������� �����
���
���������
��� ����

�����
����������������������

�����
��������
������� ����
�������


��!"#$$
$#$$$���������
����%���

&��'�����������'���
�
���(����������������

����
����%%�%����%��������(���

�����
���������)������

����
��������
������� ����
�������


��!�*
$#$$$ +�(������(����


�����������������)
,������� ���-. )/

�����������0�����1����
������
��)����/�

�
��������������
� ����
�������
��

!2#$$$#$$$ 1������
���
&�������
����(������

��������������%��&�(��
����

����'�)
��������3�
�'�
� ����
��

������������� ����
�
������
��

!2$$#$$$+�(������4�

������
%
��������������

���
�����(������������
����(��������

5����������'
1������
��������

������� ����
�������

��!2$

$#$$$���(������������
�'�����
����(�������

�����&
�'��
��
��(����
�
���

�������
��
)�����(��1���(�

6������������
������� ����
�������


��!�*
$#$$$	'
���
���
���
�����

��������'��%��7�8��������
���
�������
�����4���'�

�%���
����
�����%��'���
������ �

�������
��
���4�
��
�����
��������4�
��������

���������
�����	���������+�
���

6������������
������� ����
�������


��!�*
$#$$$ 6���������������

��
����(��
���9�������
����������������(
���

����
:���%����
��7�1�%���
�����'�����" ���������

�,��������
0 *��7����&���������)

���'����)����/�
�
��������������

� ����
�������
��
!�*$#$$$�������������

�4
��
���%�������������
&����9��
���%�
�
�����

��������
�'�����&��������1��

������ ��7
/���������'����

)����/��
��������
������� ����
�������


��!�*
$#$$$�'�����1��
�#��


��
����'����������
��'�
�������������

�����������
������
���'�
�	,+;7

,����0����������'
����
��������

������� ����
�������

��!"*

$#$$$�(��������
��
��������������������(���

������������(������
(�����
�����������

����7

6�%���������������;
��� ��
����&���

Attachment 2 Page 38 of 61 



�

�

�����������	����
������������������������������������������������������������ �!���"#���$���������� �$�������%�&����'����(�������������������������'���������������)���������*����������������������������*��������������������� �&����'���+�,-� ���������������������������������&��)����,� ������� �.������-� �*�"����/��)��-� ��-�� �����-����'������������!- ������� *������'�������*����&� ����0-��� �'������-� ��������1�����������-����+�/-�������1�'��������������������/2$�����3����.������4�������-�������� �,���5����6�-��&�� �$�����7�2'���&�'����+�3������������� �8����������(���������������������)������)�������''������� ��������&� ���-� �����������������������&������"������������������+�.������9�����2�������� �$����4������'���*���������/�������$�������*��� �2��������������������������.)���'���&���'����������������������������)+�$�&�'����$�����&������(��������������������� ������� �!)�����8����������%�&����������-�������2�������-��-���3�����'����.)���'+�,-� ���������������������������������&��)������������ �.������-�����1���&��-����� ������-����'���� �"�������������������4��'!-���'�����.%/�*��� ��� ����� �������������''� �������� �����������������/�������9����3������������$��������������:������;3$8<+�=1�'����������&�'����������&����������������������.������.������ �8&����)�������'�� ������� ���������/2$��� �����.������6�� �������&���������������� ������� �����������&��-��/2$��� ��-������/�������6- ���+�.)���'�2'���&�'���*�=1�������(�����������������)������)��������!������1���������������-��-���-���������� ���� �-�!������� �� �*����'�5���������)��� ������)��'���&�'���������1�����������������+�,-� ��������������������������)���������&����!�������-����+�>��-�������1�'��������������)�����������������������/2$��������,�����������?����(�.����4�-�������.��������������+�.)���'�2'���&�'���*�@�"�,����������(�����������������)������)��  ���"���������-��-����������/��)A������������������)���'��� ������ ������� �"����������&����-����������� ��-'����+����������������������������������� ��&���'����)�!)����"����� ����� ������� ��-�-������ ���������&�����������������)���'+�$��������-� �������������������&����!�����-����+��� �
Attachment 2 Page 39 of 61 



��������	
���
�������� �������� ����
��� ��� ��������������

��������� ��������
�������� � �
��	!������"	������������� ���#���� � �
��	!������"

�����
�
��
����!��$�#��%��
��&��

'���(
���
�������

��))�*+�
�(��� ,��
��

 )-)�
��������
����##�������!��

�!�����
�
�������
��������.������

��))-)+/
�#�
������ ���������
�����#

�����
 01-�����������
�����

1
2
�!����'��/�34-5�!���34 	!������/�3�.������

��))-�+/
�#�
������ ���������
�����#

�����
 �617)�����������
���

��1
�3��5�!�����������
��

��))--+8
#������������

��
�� )6)*)
,��
������#����6�������

��
������
�
#���������
9
����������/���������
�

���))-:
;/�#�
������ ���������
��

,��
��
 --*�

�������
������
�
#������
���

9�!�&'�����34.���#
���
�3�.��������))-*

;/�#�
������ ���������
��
���#�����

 �6�:-�����������
���
��1

<
��
�
�4,�
����
���������
�3

�!������%��3����������,�

���

/�������
��))-0+�

�(���,��
��
 -0�,

��
�������&��6��������
�
������
�
#���������

$���&��4=������#�����
������)):-

;��(���
���#�����

 7
>��#���/�34,������//��

��)):*�
�(��� ������

��
�� 7
��������
������������#

�����������(����1
?�����������������-5�!����

�9����&�
���'�?,?�/��#�

��))*�8
#������ ���#��

���
 1-�����������
�����1

�
����(��#�
��(
�����
����� @�!���������
��))*18

#������ ������
��
�� 7

,��
�������
������#���
�
�6���������
������
�
#���

��
����

>��#��4�
������//��������

����))*�

��(��� ,��
��
 7,��


�������&��6���������

������
�
#���������

����'�
��./���-��@��3�?�
����
������

����
��,��
��"
��))*: 8

#������,��
��
 :7 -: ,�

�
�������&����!���!��
���
�
����������3�

��1��������<
��
�
��//��
��))** �

�(���,��
��
 �7

�
��&
����������
�!��A@,�8
#��������))51

8#������������
��
�� 

7
A������3�/���������
��

��))55/
�#�
������ ���������
��,��
��

 )5�,
��
�������&��6��������

�
������
�
#���������
������������.�������%�����

����
�����
��#������9�������/�3

��))0-/
�#�
������ ���������
��,��
��

 )6:-7
,��
�������&��6�������

�
�������
�
#���������
B����,����������#�����

������)7�0
; ��(���

��������
��
 1���

������
����
(
�������(���
���!��!��!��B��'
��%

�
'
�����(�����������##�
�
��
��

����'�
���!������,��
��
��)7-5 ;8

#�����������
�
� 7

?,?�	����
�
�����������
�:)771+ 8

#������.���
��
� �������

 ��-

���1%�������#
����������
��������8#�����%���������

����	����#�����
��

Attachment 2 Page 40 of 61 



��������	
���
�������� �������� ����
��� ��� ��������������

��������� ��������
�������� � �
��	!������"	������������� ���#���� � �
��	!������"

�����
���$%�������#
����������

��������&#�����%���������
����	����#�����
��

	����#�����
���'������(
����������)*++,

-
.���
��� �������

 *�+�
����������
�������������

�#�������������!��������
%

������������
�/���!��!�
���!���
��0

	��11
������������������
�)*++2-

.���
��� �������
 3�+�

����������
�������������
�
��������
���
�#�������

��
#�������0�45��#��6��0����

����07'�
������������
��0
������������.#����
����8

���1���8�����
(��
�
�����#���������

5 &#������
.�%9���

 *+8+++
�����
���������������
�

������
���
���:
�!������
�������;�����#������

<���:���=����	��11
����#
����������)*++>

-
.���
��� �������

 *8+,+
�����������
�����������

���#�������
���!��<���:��
�

��������
����������#��
��
0

Attachment 2 Page 41 of 61 



����������
	��
���
����������
���������������������
����������� !"�# "$%&'( )�*(*�+���) (*�'� ,���'�( "�(�)�'�*(*�'�# (�-������-����./��*0'1)(�!)234�� 5657 5658 5659 565: 565; <����"�(�)�'�*(*�'�=>��'?�>��*�$@ /AB /AB /AB /AB /AB /CB<���� /AB /AB /AB /AB /AB /CB
�����
�	���4��D��'���#�'��(>
�*���*)(�!"�(�)�'�*(*�'� E���(!�)"�(�)�'�*(*�'�$�>(�!%(�(��>��*$�?� '�>��*(�!#1F �GH'�I)�����
����
��������"0���'J�G*��G 1!�)>(*G0�1�!����'�'*0��*�(�)�'�*(*�'�'�*�'�)��'J�G*)*'��0(�G��'�K(1*'*�(?�  ��I)��*0�G'>>1��*L)1G0()�*���*>1 *�K1)��(*0)MF�I� (��)*������M��0(�G�>��*)*'��!�)*��(��(G� �*��)M(�!'*0��(G*�?�*��)*0(*��'>'*��'�K)��� �(1*'*�(?� G0'�G�)N

Attachment 2 Page 42 of 61 



����������
	��
���
����������
���������������������
����������� !"�# $���%�& "�&�'�%�(&(�%�# &�)%*�+� #% �+,-������-����./��(0%*'&�!'123�� 4546 4547 4548 4549 454: ;����"�&�'�%�(&(�%�<=��%>�=��(�?) /@A /@A /@A /@A /@A /BCA;���� /@A /@A /@A /@A /@A /BCA
�����
�	���3��D��%���#�%��&=
�(���('&�!"�&�'�%�(&(�%� E���&!�'"�&���+)%�(�% #�%F�+('?�>� %�=��(&�!#*G �+H%�I'�����
����
��������"0�'��%F�+(�'�%���'(&  &(�%�%���J(�&���+'���& '&�!=%!���+&(�%�%��K�'(���'���& '%���'(&  &(�%�%��%*�!&G%*('&(>&��%*')�(,��(��'�+(�%�'LMK&=� ���(��'�+(�%�'��+ *!�N"0*�'(%�$!LOPP(0�(LQRS�!�(LOT&�+% &$%&!Q�%*(0RS�!O?&�',�(LQ�%*(0RU(0O?&�',�(LQBV(0�(L&�!T&�+% &$!LQ&�!SW(0�(LO)��(����& X >!L����& =%!���+&(�%�'=&,��+ *!�+0&������0&'�%�!��Q&!!���%>�� &�'Q&�!%(0����0&�+�=��('(%'&��(,%�����+���+, �I��=��%>�!��!�'(��&�+�%''���'LY&��%*''(������&�!'�������=��%>�=��('=&,& '%G��=� �=��(�!*�!��(0�"�&���+)%�(�% #�%F�+('LZ*�!����''�(&'�!���(0�'��%��&=&�!&'��%F�+('&���!��(����!(0&(��(��(%(0�'+&(��%�,(0�,&����>��&���!�>�!*& &++%*�(&�!&((0&((�=�&�%(0��'%*�+�%��*�!���J�  G��!��(����!(%=&(+0(0�&  %J&G ��?)�*�!'L

Attachment 2 Page 43 of 61 



����������
	��
���
����������
���������������������
����������� !"�# $%&�'%("�%���)*%�%)�&(+�% (,�,*-.�)� $-% , /0123� & ���4�5��-�6��&% +,,�,,6��&7������7����89��&:-.,%�!,;<=�� >?>@ >?>A >?>B >?>C >?>D E����"�%�,�-�&%&�-�/6��-5�6��&�F* 9GG1 9GG1 9GG1 9GG1 9GG1 9HIHG1E���� 9GG1 9GG1 9GG1 9GG1 9GG1 9HIHG1
�����
�	���=��J��-���#�-��%6
�&���&,%�!"�%�,�-�&%&�-� K���%!�,$%&�'%(+��%"�%���)/6��-5�6��&,F�5� -�6��&%�!#.L �)M-�N,�����
����
��������"�%�,�-�&%&�-��6��-5�6��&,%&5%��-., -)%&�-�,��&:�$%&�'%(%��%&-��)��%,�)%�%)�&(I�� ��5�)-���,&�-�I%�!�6��-5�,%��&(OP.�!����,,�&%,�!���&:�,��-��%6%�!%,��-Q�)&,%���!��&����!&:%&��&��&-&:�,)%&��-�(&:�(%����5��%���!�5�!.% %))-.�&%�!%&&:%&&�6�%�-&:��,-.�)�-��.�!����,�!��&����!&-6%&):&:�%  -'%L ��F*�.�!,O

Attachment 2 Page 44 of 61 



����������
	��
���
����������
���������������������
���������� !"#$�%�&���'( )$��)��&�&���*���+�%,-����."$%���+���/0�&%�$���&��1%��"$%���+���/!"*2������2����34��&5�-'��/'678�� 9:9; 9:9< 9:9= 9:9> 9:9? @����!%��'$�%&�&��� )$%�A�)��&"BC 4DE 4DE 4DE 4DE 4DE 4FDE@���� 4DE 4DE 4DE 4DE 4DE 4FDE
�����
�	���8��#������*%��%�)
"&%��&'��/!%��'$�%&�&��� G$�%�/�' �&�������&!%��'$�%&�&���"H'&�)'3 !"6B�A���$)��&��/*-I��JK�%L'�����
����
�������� !"$%�M�J&'��A�%��-'��J�&���'&���J%��'�J�))-��J�&���'NJ�$�J�&HN'�+�&H��/&%�A���%��+�%)�&���OP-�/����''�&�'�/���&5�'$%��%�)��/�'$%�M�J&'�%��/��&�+��/&5�&+�&��&�&5�'J�&���%H&5�H�%���A������/�A�/-���JJ�-�&��/�&&5�&&�)����&5�%'�-%J��++-�/���Q���I��/��&�+��/&�)�&J5&5�����Q�I��"BC+-�/'O

Attachment 2 Page 45 of 61 



����������
	��
���
����������
���������������������
����������� ���!"���#!$!��%&��!$'������'����()*��+,����-�./0�� 1213 1214 1215 1216 1217 8����%��!!�9�:*��; )<=> )<=> )<=> )<=> )<=> )?=>8���� )<=> )<=> )<=> )<=> )<=> )?=>
�����
�	���0��@�#,*�#A�,#��$
%��!!����-B����:,����*,� C!:�*���-A�!�!�D��*,�E, �;FC!�*-!��*�;%��!!�A�!�!�D��*,���-"�*��!�!�� !G!D!;,:$!����-A�H;* I,�J������
����
��������K ,��*��*�#���!!�$�*��!��� !:�!�!�D��*,�!��,��H&�;���&��- �� J�!�;*�#,�E, �;FC!�*-!��*�;%��!!�%&��!$:!��,�$!-H& ,���� �L��,�-!��,$�*���*��+!9*�&M�;, �;���!!��&��!$�::�,N*$��!;&=�,O$*;!��+,�;-H! �� J�!�;!-��-�;���&�!�;!-�����;;&LP��-�:�#��$$!-���-�������;�;���&�!�;:�,Q! �L

Attachment 2 Page 46 of 61 



����������
	��
���
����������
���������������������
����������� ���!"���#!$!��%&��!$'������'����()*��+,����-�./0�� 1213 1214 1215 1216 1217 8����%��!!�9�:*��; )<=> )<=>)?8���� )<=> )? )? )? )? )<=>
�����
�	���0��@,�%����!-
%��!!����-A����:,����*,� B!:�*���-C�!�!�D��*,�E�:!�%��!!��$:�,D!$!���F!D!;,:$!����-C�G;* H,�I������
����
��������A+!9*�&+���!#,�*��!-J��*�-* �*,��;,�E�:!�%�K��-"!�;,L:KM!�N!!�9!��!��*�;M;D-K��-A�$��� I%�KE�:���,��+!������!��#�!!$!��O�+!9,���&*�#*D*�#�+!9*�&)<=>O???�,�� *;*���!:�D!$!��*$:�,D$!�����N!;;���� *;*�*!��:#��-!�(!K#KO�*-!N�;I�.K

Attachment 2 Page 47 of 61 



����������
	��
���
����������
���������������������
����������� !"�#$��% &'(�)$�*%���+��',-������-����./��'0(%,&�!,123�� 4546 4547 4548 4549 454: ;�����'���'<&��'& /=> /=> /=> /=> /=> /?=>"�&�,�(�'&'�(�$��+@%�,�+��'�A< /=> /=> /=> /=> /=> /?=>;���� /B>> /B>> /B>> /B>> /B>> /=>>
�����
�	���3��C��(���#�(��&+
�'���',&�!"�&�,�(�'&'�(� D���&!�,EAE"�&�,�'�(�#�(F�G',A�H� (�+��'&�!#%@ �GI(�J,�����
����
��������"0�E+���G&�,K�'0A�,&@� �'��,EG'(�BLL>��*%���,'0�<�')'(+&��'&��&M"�&�,�'�(�# &�M'0&'!�'&� ,0(K�'K�  @�����&G� �'��,'0&'K����('��G(+� �&�G�&''0�&!(�'�(�(�'0�&G'N%�'('0���K )&!(�'�!,'&�!&�!,O<%����' )N'0�<�')�( �G)�,'(G(���G'!���G',&,��(F�G',(GG%�&�!'(+&J��+��(H�+��',&,��*%�,',&����G��H�!��(+G�'�P��,K0(+&J�'0������!J�(K�O"0�,��(F�G'K�  ,�'&,�!��%�!,'(@�%,�!�(�0��0���(��') (G&'�(�,'0&'&���!��'����!N&�!K�  &  (K'0�<�')'(��,�(�!��&'�+� )+&����'('0(,���*%�,',O

Attachment 2 Page 48 of 61 



��������	
���
���������������

������� �����
���
���������
��� ����

�����
�
��
�
��
����
�������

��� !"����
������������

�������
�������
��
#$%&''%'''���������
��

��(��
�����%�"������
�%��
��)�)�
�"��*�������+��

������,�
 -��������������,�&-����

�����,���������������"
���
(���"�����
��).	�������

(���
��,
/����������
���0������

��
���
0�"��*������

!"�����������
������������
�������


��#-'%''
'%'''�����-�
�"��*��

�������������������
����
�
�����.�*
������*
������

���
)����������1.�)2�
������

����������
����(�����"��
�,

�
�����������3������
4
�
��!"���

�������������
�������
�������
��

#55%'''������� �����+�
�!"
�����"������������"��


�����((
���
������"�����
����������������

�,�&6�����������������
��
���3
������
���7"��


�������������
�������
�������
��

#8-9%''' ���������
����
(���
������������������


������"�������
*��,
��
����������*�
��

.�"
����� ������*�
��������
������������
�������


��#5'%'''������
����� +�
�	�


���
��������$&�+�
�������
�����
��"����������+
�

��
�����������+��
:�:	,��	�
��"���������

���(�
�
�������"���
����
(�
����
(
�����"
�������

����������
���
��������
��
�������

;
���
��
!"�����������

������������
�������

��#9%<'

'%''' ���"�����������
�������
���
����"�����"

����,
)����
�=������������������

�����*�
���
������

.�"
����� ������*�
��������
������������
�������


��#$%'''%'''����
�� �������
�)�

����
��
�����������
���
������((�����(�"*����

�����
�����=����*�����
�(�����)����
�=�����������

������������
)����
�=�����������������.

����������
���
������

.������
��������
������������
�������


��#$%'''%'''����
�� �������
�>


��
�������
��?���������
�*�
�����%���������
�
����(�"

"��7
������-&��
����
�(�������������
(
�������

����������������
���*���
����
�������������"�
���

���������������
����(����
�����������
������������"�


��
;���=.��
����
���������.

����������
��.�����
�
�������������

�������
�������
��
# ''%'''������ �����+�
�>
��
�������
��?���������
�

*������%���������
�
����(
�""��7
������<6��
����

�(�����=���
����
��������
����������
������������

�"�
�������
�����������
����(���������

������
������������"�
��
3"���0�����0�"��*���

���!"���
�������������

�������
�������
��
#-%'''%'''	�
��"�������

�
����"��������������+
������3"���0�����.��

����
0������
����>�,�0���
��

������7���������3"���0�
����;��"�.����������

���������������3"���0�
����������,

3
���������;
���
��
!"�����������

������������
�������

��#$%''

'%'''	���"��������
����
���
���
������3
���������

(����-'������9-���+��"�
�
���

�
���������7
��
���"������
�����*
�+������
�����


�������"�����������
��������

�������
�������
������
���������(���

������������������
�
������
��

#95'%'''��*���������
�
����*��+����
����
(
����

�������������
*����(��
��+���(
��

(��������
������
����(�
� ..���1.���������."
�

�����
��������2�����
�@��1�������
��@�+�
���

����2,�
�
����������
��
���

!"�����������
������������
�������


��#5'
'%'''	���"��������
����*

���������������������(
����%�(
+����"�
���
���%��


�������
��
��������
��
��%��

���7
��
�����""���������
�
���

/��������.
*��(�������
��7"��


�������������
�������
�������
��

#$%'''%'''	���"�������
�
������"�������A�
������

�������
������*
�����
�������
���

)���1���)2����������
�
�����""��*��(���������

��/��������3���
�!���
.
*��(��������%�
�����
��

�����
�������"����
���
�������������>
�������

�
.
*���������"���
���"�

�������
��

!�(�����=���
��������
����������;
���������������

�	���"����
��

Attachment 2 Page 49 of 61 



��������	
���
���������������

������� �����
���
���������
��� ����

�����
������������
��������

�����������
���������������
�	��������
��

� �!����"
#������
������������������
�

������
��	"$
��������������
����������

���
��%&	�����������
��
'(�!����"
#�)�

������������������
�
������
��	"$

��������������
����������
���
��%&	�����������
��

�����"
#�)�
������������������
�

������
��	"$
( �!����������*����������+

�������������!
������������������
�

������
�� 	"$
,�-��.
��&
/�����!

������������������
�
������
��	"$

Attachment 2 Page 50 of 61 



�

�

�������������	
�	�
��������������������������������������� !�"�����������������#�����$�!�����%����������&���'����������(�)���������������*������*���%��%����#�����#�������������������������*���+,�!��������+�*�����������������'�����������"��-�����#��������*������������.��������������������������������������"����������������"�����"�#���������������������*���+,�/���0����������(�)���������������*������*���%��%��������������������"����������������"���������������������.���������������������"�������%����+���,�!��������+�*����������������*�������������'��������������"���������'��%�����������-���������"��������*�����������1������,��� �

Attachment 2 Page 51 of 61 



��������	
���
�������� �������� ����
��� ��� ���������

�������������
� ��������������

�� � �
��	!������"	������������� ���#���� � �
��	!������"
�����

$��#���	��%�&��!����'
��()*+,-

.#���
��
/��
��

 �0'�'
/��
���
������
������#��

�
��0���������
���
���
�
#���������

�1��2�!���3���-.����
��
��((**,-

.#���
��
���#�����

 +4�����������
������
�����&�2�!���3���5�!��


�
���
����((6)
. 5�#�
�������������

��
�����#�����
 6*������������
�����

�
��'6�!���10���'2�!���10�7��

�����10�����
$������1���3���-.����
��

��((2(-
.#���
��

���#�����
 (0��� ����������
�����

'
6)�!���1�8����3��������


��5�!����((2+
5�#�
���������������
��

 �0)))
6������1�8����3��������


��5�!����((2*
5�#�
���������������
��

 (0+))
���3�9��
���
����)��

��()*�,�
��
��

/��
��
 (6*8��%�����!����'��
�����

�
�������
���
����
���1��5�!���#�����

���!���������

����
�:
�������3
������#�

������� ��
���!��
���

8����3�����9����������
��()*�,�

��
��
�����
��

 +))5
�;����:���#��#����������

��������
����
��
����;����:�����

�979������
���<���#��
������
���*()))

, 5�#�
�������������
��
��7���
��� �������

 (06))
�����������#���������

������#�
������
#��������
���#��������
��

��
:
����!���!�
�����
��

8����3�����5�#�
�
�*())(, 5

�#�
���������������
��
7���
��� �������

 +))�
����#�������������!��

����:���
�:��������������������

#�
��3��%1
=�������3���-.����
��

�*()(',-
.#���
��

7�&>���
 (0)))

�����������
�������.����
�3����3�����

����
����������.��������3

�!
���!���
����!���

������������������ �����1

���'&�������#
����������
��������?#�����&�8����3

����

Attachment 2 Page 52 of 61 



����������
	��
���
����������
���������������������
����������������� !�"#�$%!��&�'#�(%)��*�"��+������+����,-)"�.&%��"/�012�� 3435 3436 3437 3438 3439 :��������������;�<)��! -=>??? -=>??? -=>??? -=>??? -=>??? -@?>???:���� -=>??? -=>??? -=>??? -=>??? -=>??? -@?>???
�����
�	���2��A"$&)"$ �&$��*

���������� #�<�)��"/ �����B��)&";�A� !�"")"$CD*<!�*�"���)&"E�B�!&<*�"��"/ %F!)G�&�H������
����
��������I.�;)�'&JK<�)"$J)�!/L�&F!)$��)&"�)"�.�=??@�������.��M!&���"�$�*�"� !�",��M� 0����G&*<!���/F'N�"%��'=?@?O.&��B��)�)�"�G�����'J&��.�;)�'�&G&"�)"%��&J%"/�����������'���*��.�F)!)���)&"�"/D"J!&��"/D"J)!����)&",DPD0��/%G�)&"<�&Q�G��RI.����//)�)&"�!<�&Q�G���)!!F�)/�"�)J)�/�.�&%$.�.����������������� !�"S</���<�&Q�G��"/�.�;�<�G)�'>��"�$�*�"�>A<����)&"��"/��)"��"�"G�,;�A�0<�&$��*�.���)!!!)H�!'F�)"G!%/�/)"�.�"�T�U EVK<��*)�J&��.������������'���*R

Attachment 2 Page 53 of 61 



����������
	��
���
����������
���������������������
����������������� !�"#$%"&'!($�!�$)�$*'+�,$�+�*�!$)-�"�.������.����/0'"�1$%��"+�234�� 5657 5658 5659 565: 565; <��������������#�)'��! 0=>> 0=>> 0=>> 0=>> 0=>> 0?@=>><���� 0=>> 0=>> 0=>> 0=>> 0=>> 0?@=>>
�����
�	���4��A"B$'"B �$B��-

���������� CD)�"�'$"E$&�!F����CD��"�'$"�G�*�!$)-�"��"+ %H!'&�$�I������
����
���������'�1'"�1�#'�J$,F)�'"B,'�!+K�&'�J!'-'���"+L�H�"(�$��1M$%"+��J/L(M2�����*���!������1�����,%!!J+�*�!$)�+@H%�!�&I�������������*'&�NO1�)�$P�&��$%!+,%"+�D��"+'"B����������)')���$�1��������%)$"��Q%���$,�,,�&��+)�$)���J$�"���$��""�D��'$"@�'�1�$-�$��!!$,�1�&$��)$��'H!J��'-H%���H!��1�$%B1������-�"��NR"&�����+'",�����%&�%���'!!'"&������1�"��+,$�-$��-�'"��"�"&�)���$""�!�1'&1'-)�&���1�����������$)����'$"�H%+B��NO1����'-���+'"&�����'"�1�����������$)����'$"�&$��'�0S@T>>)��S@>>>,���$,"��)')�N

Attachment 2 Page 54 of 61 



����������
	��
���
����������
���������������������
����������������� !�"#$%"&'!($�!�$)�$*'+�,$�+�*�!$)-�"�.������.����/0'"�1$%��"+�234�� 5657 5658 5659 565: 565; <��������������#�)'��!����������=-)�$*�-�"�>?# 0@ABBB 0@ABBB<���� 0@ABBB 0B 0B 0B 0B 0@ABBB
�����
�	���4��C$�>�����+

���������� DE)�"�'$"F��G$�?�'*� %-)>���'$"?�*�!$)-�"��"+ %G!'&�$�H������
����
��������I1�>JK"+>�JLF��G$�?�'*�����'�&%���"�!M"$�1�*���"'���M��������*'&�JI1�#$%"&'!1��+'��&��+���,,�$�"�!MN�������'�1'"�1�O(P�1���'"*���-�"�'"'",�����%&�%��-�M�)%����'+�"�'�!+�*�!$)-�"�A�"+'"*���-�"�'"�1�F��G$�?�'*� %-)>���'$")�$*'+���H�M���*'&��$QRG%'!+�G!��&���JI1'�)�$S�&��'!!&$"���%&����"'���M)%-)����'$"�"+���$&'���+)')!'"��$&$""�&��$�1�+�M!'"��)��*'$%�!M&$"���%&��+J

Attachment 2 Page 55 of 61 



����������
	��
���
����������
���������������������
����������������� !�"#�$� �%&��'(������(����)*+"�,%-��".�/01�� 2324 2325 2326 2327 2328 9��������������#�:+��! *;<= *;<= *;<= *;<= *;<= *>?;<=����������@�+'A-���'�"�BC# *;<= *;<= *;<= *;<= *;<= *>?;<=9���� *<== *<== *<== *<== *<== *;?<==
�����
�	���1��$"&%+"& �%&��'

���������� @�:�+��". �����D��+%"����������@�:�+�C�D�!%:'�"��". -A!+E�%�F������
����
��������G,+�:�%H�E�+"D%!D���,�E%"���E��.��:�+�%���:!�E�'�"�%I��"+���J�������,����K-+���+�,���'��&�"EJ��,�A+!+���+%"������-!�%IB�"+���JB����$D��I!%��%��,�:�%�:�E�%I+':�".+"&�J���'I�+!-���LG,�C �$:����+%"�C+D+�+%"�..�������"�D���&�%II%-�)M/�'��&�"EJ��:�+��%I�,+�"��-���""-�!!JL

Attachment 2 Page 56 of 61 



��������	
���
���������������

������� �����
���
���������
��� ���� ���
�����������

�����
������������������ !���

� !�����
�������������"����
�

������
��
��#$%%&�!������'(�!
!

���
���������)(�!
!�*��+

�������������
����
���!

�����
�������,����������*�+


���,��� -�������
���.�
�������� !���

.�����&�������
�/!��
��������

�������"����
�������

��

�$%% ���-
������������-

����������
��
������ 0

1��� ���������������/��*
.
���������2�!��-����

���"� �
����/!��
��
�������������"����
�

������
��
�'#�%%  !�����!
!��
��

��!�
��������!!����3����
���������
�������!�
��3
�

��
���������"&
-��,�����

� �/!��
��
�������������"����
�

������
��
�4#�)� ����!��!����
�

�������!!������-���!���
���
��
������&
-��,���� �

�!��*
.
���������2�!��-����

���"� �
��'�/!��
��
�������������"����
�

������
��
��#�5$  !�����!
!��
��

��!�
������� �!!����3����
���������
�������!�
��3
�

��
6�����7����

 !�����������
�������"����
�������


���
�#%$% !������/
��
���!

��!������
��
���!�
�
�����-�
��!�����
����8

�*��
���������
���,�����-����

����� �������9����,���
����!��������������

����
����
�������*
&
-���0������

 !�����������
�������"����
�������


��
��$% !������/
��
���!

��!������
��
���!�
�
�����-�
��!�����
����8

�*��
���������
���,�����-����

����� �������9����,���
����!��������������

����
����
�������*

 �3���������������7
���"�+
������

Attachment 2 Page 57 of 61 



�

�

��������	�
������������������������������� !�"���#$%&�$'(�!�)'�%������'�*��!�"���&$% $"+!�","��"-���*���!�*%$�"�,"$��'(�%*�&$%.�)'!�'�"'�+"(���)�����)%�!'$�)'�%��%*���/�*")���'��!0�+"��'��"�)�1�$�&"�$�%$�$��%,"'�%��%*��2�!'�� �*")���'��!0�"���'�����+%��'�%��%*�����)�!!"$(�%$���3+"��'"��"-���*")���'��!4��5!�'���6�'(�%*�7&$�� *����� $%/!1�!%��%�!�'��������*%$�+���)�&"��&�-��)�!�$,�)�!4�����!��!�$,�)�!�)%+��/�'��"��"!!%)�"'�����*$"!'$�)'�$��'�"'�$�8��$�!�)%�'���"��+%��'%$�� 1�+"��'��"�)�1�$�&�")�+��'�"��9%$�"���'�%�!4�6�$$��'�(�*����� ��!�%��(�����'�*����*%$�%���%� %�� �&$% $"+�/��)���!�'��� ���$"��%� %�� �������� �#$�!�$,"'�%��&$% $"+4�7�,�$"��%'��$�&$%.�)'!�"$������'�*�������'���:�*������#$�%$�'(�#$%.�)'�;�!'4�<��'���%,�$"���-������ !�"���=")���'��!�����!���!'1�'��$��"$��&$%.�)'!�"'�"���6�'(3%/����-������ !1���)����� �6�'(�>"��1�=�$��7'"'�%�!1�?�!��+1�@�!'�)��6��'�$1�A�&%'1�"���A�,��%&+��'�"���#�-��)�B%$C!�<&�$"'�%�!�A�,�!�%��=")���'��!4����� �

Attachment 2 Page 58 of 61 



��������	
���
�������� �������� ����
��� ��� ��������������

��������� ��������
�������� � �
��	!������"	������������� ���#���� � �
��	!������"

�����
�
��
������������
��

�$%&%%'(
�#�
������ ���������
��)���


��� �������
 *&$�

�������+����#��������
�
��������#�
����+�

�
����,�����
��
���-���-�
-.��
���/������
��
��

#������"
����!�0�����(��+�(�#����

������%&1�
'(�#�
������ ���������
��

�����������
 %&&

����!�0������
��
���(�#�

���%%2&

3(�#�
������ ���������
��
�����������

 �&
�
�
���(�����4�����
��


��
����%&25
'6�����7��
��

)�8/���
 �5��


�
��������!�����������#
������
��

�����
���
���,
�!�497
���*8�������#
����������

��������:#�����8��
��
��
��������
�
�
��

Attachment 2 Page 59 of 61 



����������
	��
���
����������
���������������������
����������� �!"������"����#$��%&��! �'!()*�� +,+- +,+. +,+/ +,+0 +,+1 2����3���'��4567!768 %���9��' $:;< $:;< $:;< $:;< $:;< $=>?@<2���� $:;< $:;< $:;< $:;< $:;< $=>?@<
�����
�	���*��A�4���456�46 B

3���'��4! �'9 ����%�7! C7D �6 �'567!768 %���3���'��4567!768 %���E787��DB7�% �'5�F���G�6H!�����
����
��������576I�6BD67!768 %���>� D�% �B ��%7� ��7 �'67D �6D6�J7�%!����%KL�M�7'F���'��4!>�����'��4F�%��%��B�%7'%���%KN ��>@9�67O% %���!>P�!7�B>Q�!%��7�7�%76>Q ��>E7D�%>� 6%763���'��4 �'P ��%7� ��79 ����%�7!R56�J7�%!� ������'7%&767D �6>67��8 %����667D� �7B7�%�I!%6��%�6 �>B7�& ��� �>7�7�%6�� �> �'D��BF��4!K!%7B!RA%&76D6�J7�%!� ������'7!K!%7B!D67!768 %���!��& !>D ��%��4>6��I��4>��4&%��4> � 6B �'7�78 %�6D6�J7�%! !M7�� !67D �6 �'S�6�D46 '7!%� 7!%&7%�� �' 6�&�%7�%�6 �7�7B7�%!R

Attachment 2 Page 60 of 61 



��������	
���
���������������

������� �����
���
���������
��� ����

�����
�
������������
�
��

�����
��������
������������
�������


�����
�����

 
!���
�����
��������

������������
�������

���"#���

�����
�
���$���%���&�
��

'������������
������������
�������


���(���
�����

�
������
���(
'������������

������������
�������

���)�*�

�����
�
���$���$+,�

'������������
������������
�������


���*�#�
�����

��������--
�
������������
�'�����

������������
�������
�������
��

�"������
.�/���/��0
�����1�.��


���2�
���������
��

�����
��������
������������
�������


�����3�
�����

�
���$���������
�����
��������

������������
�������

���*�

�� ���
'�-��������������� 
�����4

�
��
���������
�
�
��

Attachment 2 Page 61 of 61 



BEFORE THE PLANNING COMMISSION 

OF THE CITY OF SPRINGFIELD 

 

REQUEST FOR APPROVAL 

OF THE DRAFT FY25-FY29  

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT 

PROGRAM 

+                            DRAFT CAPITAL 

IMPROVEMENT  

+   PROGRAM FY25-FY29 

+    

    

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

   

 

  

     

 

       

       

 

 

AYES:  ____ 

NOES:  ____ 

ABSENT: ____ 

ABSTAIN: ____ 

NATURE OF THE APPLICATION

The Development and  Public Works Department has been going through the process of updating

the Capital Improvements Program  project lists  and has produced a draft copy  for the five year

period  of  FY25-FY29.   The  Development  and  Public  Works  Department  is  now  bringing  the

prioritized project lists  before the Planning Commission and seeks a recommendation to the City

Council for  review and  adoption.

ORDER

It  is  ORDERED  by  the  Planning  Commission  of  Springfield  that  the  draft  FY25-FY29  Capital

Improvement Program  project lists  be sent to the City Council with the Planning Commission’s

recommendation for  review and  adoption.  This ORDER was presented to and approved by the

Planning Commission on  January  3rd, 2023.

____________________________________

Planning Commission Chairperson

ATTEST:

7
0
0

1/3/24

Attachment 3, Page 1 of 1



  

AGENDA  ITEM  SUMMARY Meeting Date:  

 Meeting Type:  
 Staff Contact/Dept.:  

 Staff Phone No:  

 Estimated Time:   

S P R I N G F I E L D 

C I T Y   C O U N C I L 

Council Goals: Strengthen Public Safety 

by Leveraging 

Partnerships and 

Resources 
  

ITEM TITLE: AN ORDINANCE PROHIBITING THE USE OF CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES 

ON PUBLIC PROPERTY 

ACTION  

REQUESTED: 

Adopt/not adopt an Ordinance prohibiting the use of controlled substances on public 

property that would take effect upon the legislature addressing the underlying 

preemption issue (ORS 430.402). 

ISSUE 

STATEMENT: 

The City of Springfield is concerned that the decriminalization aspect of Measure 

110 (Drug Addiction and Recovery Act) has negatively impacted the community’s 

quality of life and safety and seeks to set a policy of valuing accountability and law 

enforcement tools in addition to Measure 110’s health focused approach to 

addiction. 

ATTACHMENTS: 1: Ordinance 

DISCUSSION/ 

FINANCIAL 

IMPACT: 

Oregon is experiencing a drug addiction and overdose crisis which has resulted in 

death and illness, irrevocable harm to families and individuals, stress on the first 

responder system and a decrease in public safety.  The City of Springfield recognizes 

that it has a role to play in addressing this crisis by implementing tools such as the 

newly approved Springfield Municipal Addiction and Rehabilitation and Treatment 

Court.   

 

On December 4, 2023, the Springfield City Council adopted a resolution asking the 

legislature to modify Measure 110 by reintroducing accountability for drug offenses 

while continuing to fund treatment and recovery programs, sobering facilities, and 

law enforcement.  It further seeks to address this issue by adopting an ordinance 

prohibiting drug use on public property.  The intent behind the ordinance is to 

prevent the general public from the unnecessary risk of exposure to fumes resulting 

from smoking dangerous mixtures of drugs as well as fentanyl contaminated drug 

paraphernalia and to preserve the safety and quality of life in the City of Springfield 

by not allowing people to publicly use illegal drugs. 

 

The ordinance would prohibit drug use on public property similar to the prohibition 

of drinking in public.  Currently, ORS 430.402 preempts local governments from 

prohibiting drug use on public property; therefore, the municipal court code change 

would only be effective upon the legislature addressing the preemption.  Based on 

input from SPD and the City Prosecutor, the ordinance includes a recommended 

penalty of a Class B misdemeanor (maximum penalty 180 days jail/$2,500 fine).  

The code language prohibition on drinking in public (a violation with a fine only 

penalty) has been updated but is otherwise unchanged. 

 

1/29/2024

Regular Meeting

Mary Bridget Smith/CAO

541-744-4061

5  Minutes



 

PAGE 1 of 3 

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, OREGON 
ORDINANCE NO. ___________ (General) 

 
AN ORDINANCE REPEALING AND REPLACING SPRINGFIELD MUNICIPAL CODE 

SECTION 5.256 TO ADD A PROHIBITION FOR USE OF CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES ON 
PUBLIC PROPERTY 

 
WHEREAS, legislative policy recognizes both alcoholism and drug addiction as diseases, reflecting a 

commitment to a health-centered approach to these issues;  

WHEREAS, the opioid epidemic, exacerbated by substances like Oxycontin, fentanyl, and counterfeit 

fentanyl, frequently involves opioids categorized as controlled substances under ORS 475.005;  

WHEREAS, Eugene Springfield Fire has experienced an increase in overdose calls which has stressed 

its first responder systems; 

WHEREAS, Oregon continues to experience an escalating trend of overdose deaths accentuating the 

pressing need for coordinated efforts to restore public health and safety among municipal, county, and 

state level governments; 

WHEREAS, the public consumption of these controlled substances has subjected the general public to 

unnecessary risks through exposure to fumes resulting from smoking dangerous mixtures of drugs and 

other substances, as well as the presence of fentanyl-contaminated drug paraphernalia in public areas; 

WHEREAS, state law acknowledges the importance of regulating public behaviors, evident in its 

prohibition of the public consumption of alcohol and cannabis; 

WHEREAS, the possession of alcohol and cannabis is legal in Oregon, and the possession of small 

amounts of certain controlled substances has been decriminalized; 

WHEREAS, current state law neither prohibits the public consumption of controlled substances, nor 

allows local governments to prohibit the public consumption of such drugs, resulting in a regulatory 

disparity between alcohol, cannabis, and other controlled substances; 

WHEREAS, given the established precedent in regulating the public consumption of substances such 

as alcohol and cannabis, it is both reasonable and appropriate to extend such regulations to the public 

consumption of controlled substances; 

WHEREAS, given the potency and associated dangers of controlled substances, including but not 

limited to methamphetamine, cocaine, and fentanyl, and any combination thereof, the public 

consumption of these substances should be regulated and carry greater penalties than the 

consumption of substances already deemed unlawful for public use, such as alcohol and cannabis; 

 
  

Attachment 1, Page 1 of 3 



 

PAGE 2 of 3 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SPRINGFIELD ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1.   Springfield Municipal Code Section 5.256 is hereby repealed and replaced as 
follows: 

 
“5.256 Alcohol and Controlled Substances in Public Places. 
 
(1) No person shall consume controlled substances, as defined in ORS 475.005, on public 

property. 
 
(2) No person shall consume alcoholic liquor, as defined in ORS 471.001 on public property.   

 
(3) The prohibition set forth in Subsection (2) does not apply to: 
 

(a) The consumption of alcoholic liquor in sidewalk cafes that have obtained permits 
pursuant to Section 7.302 of this Code. 
 

(b) The use of alcohol in street areas licensed for that purpose by the Oregon Liquor 
Cannabis Commission and adherence to all relevant Oregon Liquor and Cannabis 
Commission guidelines or regulations. 

 
(c) The consumption of medications, as directed by a prescriber, as stipulated in 

ORS 414.351. 
 
(4) The term “consume” means the act of imbibing, injecting, ingesting, inhaling, or 

otherwise introducing a substance into the human body. 
 

(5) The prohibition set forth in Section (1) will take immediate effect if any of the following 
occurs: 

 
(a) The State of Oregon passes a law granting local jurisdictions the power to 

regulate public consumption of controlled substances; 
 

(b) A court with appropriate jurisdiction determines that cities can regulate the 
public consumption of such substances within their boundaries; or 

 
(c) A regulatory body of the State of Oregon identifies or drafts regulations allowing 

implementation. 
 

(6) Penalties  
 

(a) Violation of the offense in Subsection 1 of this section is punishable as Class B 
misdemeanor pursuant to SMC section 1.205.  

 
(b) Violation of the offense in Subsection 2 of this section punishable as a violation 

and may include a fine not exceeding $720.00 pursuant to SMC section 1.205.” 
 
Section 2.   Severability Clause.  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or 

portion of this Ordinance is, for any reason, held invalid or unconstitutional by a court of competent 

jurisdiction, such portion shall be deemed a separate, distinct and independent provision and such 

holding shall not affect the validity of the remaining portion hereof. 

Attachment 1, Page 2 of 3 



 

PAGE 3 of 3 

 

Section 3. Effective date of this Ordinance is 30 days after adoption by Council. 

 
ADOPTED by the Common Council of the City of Springfield this ___ day of January, 2024, by a 

vote of _____ for and ____ against. 
 
APPROVED by the Mayor of the City of Springfield this ______ day of January, 2024. 

 
 
 
_______________________ 

      Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________ 
City Recorder 

Attachment 1, Page 3 of 3 


	2024-01-29 Council Agenda 
	WORK SESSION
	Item 01 FY23 Annual Comp. Financial Report
	ATT1 FY23 City Springfield ACFR
	03_Intro Section.pdf
	Introductory Section

	09_GASBIndAudSection.pdf
	Independent Auditor’s Report

	11_GASBMDASection.pdf
	Management’s Discussion and Analysis

	13_GASBBasicFinStmt.pdf
	City of Springfield, Oregon
	Basic Financial Statements

	24_GASB Other Supplemental.pdf
	Other Supplementary Information

	25_GASBNonMajorCombining.pdf
	Nonmajor Governmental Funds Combining Statements

	27_GASBSpRevenue.pdf
	Special Revenue Funds

	30_GASBDebtService.pdf
	Debt Service Funds

	32_GASBCapProjFunds.pdf
	Capital Projects Funds

	36_GASBEnterprise.pdf
	Enterprise Funds

	39_GASBInternal.pdf
	Internal Service Funds

	42_GASBFintrendinfo.pdf
	Financial Trend Information

	47_GASBRevcapacityinfo.pdf
	Revenue Capacity Information

	52_GASBDebtcapacityinfo.pdf
	Debt Capacity Information

	58_GASBDemographiceconomicinfo.pdf
	Demographic and Economic Information

	61_GASBoperatinginfo.pdf
	Operating Information

	65_GASBComplianceSec.pdf
	Compliance Section

	66_GASBAuditorComments.pdf
	Audit Comments

	FY23 Draft 1 numbered.pdf
	03_Intro Section.pdf
	Introductory Section

	09_GASBIndAudSection.pdf
	Independent Auditor’s Report

	11_GASBMDASection.pdf
	Management’s Discussion and Analysis

	13_GASBBasicFinStmt.pdf
	City of Springfield, Oregon
	Basic Financial Statements

	24_GASB Other Supplemental.pdf
	Other Supplementary Information

	25_GASBNonMajorCombining.pdf
	Nonmajor Governmental Funds Combining Statements

	27_GASBSpRevenue.pdf
	Special Revenue Funds

	30_GASBDebtService.pdf
	Debt Service Funds

	32_GASBCapProjFunds.pdf
	Capital Projects Funds

	36_GASBEnterprise.pdf
	Enterprise Funds

	39_GASBInternal.pdf
	Internal Service Funds

	42_GASBFintrendinfo.pdf
	Financial Trend Information

	47_GASBRevcapacityinfo.pdf
	Revenue Capacity Information

	52_GASBDebtcapacityinfo.pdf
	Debt Capacity Information

	58_GASBDemographiceconomicinfo.pdf
	Demographic and Economic Information

	61_GASBoperatinginfo.pdf
	Operating Information

	65_GASBComplianceSec.pdf
	Compliance Section

	66_GASBAuditorComments.pdf
	Audit Comments


	FY23 Draft 1.pdf
	03_Intro Section.pdf
	Introductory Section

	09_GASBIndAudSection.pdf
	Independent Auditor’s Report

	11_GASBMDASection.pdf
	Management’s Discussion and Analysis

	13_GASBBasicFinStmt.pdf
	City of Springfield, Oregon
	Basic Financial Statements

	24_GASB Other Supplemental.pdf
	Other Supplementary Information

	25_GASBNonMajorCombining.pdf
	Nonmajor Governmental Funds Combining Statements

	27_GASBSpRevenue.pdf
	Special Revenue Funds

	30_GASBDebtService.pdf
	Debt Service Funds

	32_GASBCapProjFunds.pdf
	Capital Projects Funds

	36_GASBEnterprise.pdf
	Enterprise Funds

	39_GASBInternal.pdf
	Internal Service Funds

	42_GASBFintrendinfo.pdf
	Financial Trend Information

	47_GASBRevcapacityinfo.pdf
	Revenue Capacity Information

	52_GASBDebtcapacityinfo.pdf
	Debt Capacity Information

	58_GASBDemographiceconomicinfo.pdf
	Demographic and Economic Information

	61_GASBoperatinginfo.pdf
	Operating Information

	65_GASBComplianceSec.pdf
	Compliance Section

	66_GASBAuditorComments.pdf
	Audit Comments



	ATT2 FY23 Governance Letter

	REGULAR SESSION
	CONSENT CALENDAR
	Item 03a. Janus Sanitary Sewer Extensions
	ATT1-P21181 S.37TH, S. 38TH, OSAGE, AND JANUS SANITARY SEWER EXTENTIONS
	ATT2 -P21181 S. 37TH, S. 38TH, OSAGE, AND JANUS ST SEWER EXTENSION PHOTOS

	Item 04a. Request for MetroPlan Amend PeaceHealth
	ATT 1 Combined Ordinance for PeaceHealth Metro
	ATT 1 - Ordinance for PeaceHealth Metro Plan Amendment and Zone Change
	ATT 1 EXH A - Map and Legal Description
	ATT 1 EXH B - Staff Report and Findings Metro Plan Amendment
	ATT 1 EXH C - Staff Report and Findings Zoning Map Amendment

	ATT 2 - Site Diagrams for Metro Plan Amendment and Zone Change 
	ATT 3 - Application and Exhibits for Metro Plan Amendment
	Peace  Health TPR Analysis 10.20.23
	peacehealth rehabilitation hospital
	TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS TRANSPORTATION PLANNING RULE ANALYSIS
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	Findings
	1.0 Background
	1.1 Site information
	1.2 analysis scope

	2.0 EXISTING ROADWAY CONDITIONS
	2.1 Street Network
	Table 1: Roadway Characteristics within study area

	2.2 Study intersections
	Figure 1- Vicinity Map and site location
	FIGURE 2- intersection control and lane configuration


	3.0 CRASH ANALYSIS
	table 2: intersection crash rate
	table 3: intersection crash Patterns

	4.0 DEVELOPMENT TRIP GENERATION AND DISTRIBUTION
	Table 4: Trip Generation
	FIGURE 3 –aM Peak hour Development Trips
	FIGURE 4 –pM Peak hour Development Trips

	5.0 background Traffic Volumes
	5.1 Intersection Counts
	5.2 Future YEar Background Volumes
	5.3 Final traffic Volumes
	FIGURE 5 –year 2023 AM Peak Hour existing traffic volumes
	FIGURE 6 – Year 2023 PM Peak Hour existing Traffic Volumes
	FIGURE 7 – Year 2025 AM Peak Hour background Traffic Volumes
	FIGURE 8 – Year 2025 PM Peak Hour background Traffic Volumes
	FIGURE 9 – Year 2030 AM Peak Hour background Traffic Volumes
	FIGURE 10 – Year 2030 PM Peak Hour background Traffic Volumes
	FIGURE 11 – Year 2025 AM Peak Hour With Development
	FIGURE 12 – Year 2025 PM Peak Hour With Development
	FIGURE 13 – Year 2030 aM Peak Hour With Development
	FIGURE 14 – Year 2030 PM Peak Hour With Development


	6.0 intersection analysis
	6.1 Performance Measures
	Table 5: HCM level of service for intersections

	6.2 Intersection Analysis Results
	Table 6: Intersection performance: Weekday Am peak hour
	Table 7: Intersection performance: Weekday pm peak hour


	7.0 Queue Analysis
	Table 8: Intersection queuing: Weekday am peak hour
	Table 9: Intersection queuing: Weekday pm peak hour

	8.0  transportation planning rule analysis
	8.1 existing zoning development proposal
	Table 10: PM Peak Hour trip generation Comparison-existing zoning

	8.2 proposed zoning development potential
	Table 11: PM Peak Hour Trip Generation-Proposed NC Zoning
	table 12: trip increase with zone change

	8.3 traffic volumes
	8.4 in-progress improvements
	8.5 Intersection Analysis
	Table 13: Intersection performance: proposed zoning
	FIGURE 15 – Trip Distribution for TPR Findings
	FIGURE 16 – Year 2035 PM Peak Hour Background Traffic Volumes
	FIGURE 17 – Year 2035 PM Peak Hour Traffic Volumes WIth Proposed Zoning

	8.6 transportation planning rule findings
	Table 12: Existing Street Classification


	9.0 parking
	10.0 Conclusion
	Findings

	Appendix F.pdf
	Q TIA.pdf
	2023 Background Am Q
	2023 Background Pm Q
	2025 Background Am Q
	2025 Background Pm Q
	2025 Build Am Q
	2025 Build Pm Q
	2030 Background Am Q
	2030 Background Pm Q
	2030 Build Am Q
	2030 Build Pm Q


	Appendix E.pdf
	TIA HCM.pdf
	2023 Background Am HCM
	2025 Background Am HCM
	2025 Build Am HCM
	2030 Background Am HCM
	2030 Build Am HCM
	2023 Background Pm HCM
	2025 Background Pm HCM
	2025 Build Pm HCM
	2030 Background Pm HCM
	2030 Build Pm HCM

	TIA Roundabout.pdf
	2023 Background Maple @ Access AM
	!5th at Bear Creek

	2023 Background Maple @ Access PM
	!5th at Bear Creek

	2023 Background Maple @ Game Farm Am
	!5th at Bear Creek

	2023 Background Maple @ Game Farm Pm
	!5th at Bear Creek

	2025 Background Maple @ Access AM
	!5th at Bear Creek

	2025 Background Maple @ Access PM
	!5th at Bear Creek

	2025 Background Maple @ Game Farm Am
	!5th at Bear Creek

	2025 Background Maple @ Game Farm Pm
	!5th at Bear Creek

	2025 Build Maple @ Access AM
	!5th at Bear Creek

	2025 Build Maple @ Access PM
	!5th at Bear Creek

	2025 Build Maple @ Game Farm Am
	!5th at Bear Creek

	2025 Build Maple @ Game Farm Pm
	!5th at Bear Creek

	2030 Background Maple @ Access AM
	!5th at Bear Creek

	2030 Background Maple @ Access PM
	!5th at Bear Creek

	2030 Background Maple @ Game Farm Am
	!5th at Bear Creek

	2030 Background Maple @ Game Farm Pm
	!5th at Bear Creek

	2030 Build Maple @ Access AM
	!5th at Bear Creek

	2030 Build Maple @ Access PM
	!5th at Bear Creek

	2030 Build Maple @ Game Farm Am
	!5th at Bear Creek

	2030 Build Maple @ Game Farm Pm
	!5th at Bear Creek



	Appendix D.pdf
	Traffic Volumes Am.pdf
	1
	2
	3
	4
	5
	6
	Global Peak
	Background-

	Traffic Volumes Pm.pdf
	1
	2
	3
	4
	5
	6
	Global Peak
	Background-


	Appendix C.pdf
	6035 Crash.pdf
	Sheet1
	Sheet2


	Appendix B.pdf
	PH Rehab Zone Change Scope of Work 5.16.23.pdf
	Transportation Planning Rule Analysis
	Table 1: PM Peak Hour trip generation Comparison-existing zoning
	Table 2: PM Peak Hour Trip Generation-Proposed NC Zoning
	Traffic impact Analysis
	Table 1: Trip Generation-Development proposal
	Analysis Parameters


	Appendix G.pdf
	Q TIA.pdf
	2023 Background Am Q
	2023 Background Pm Q
	2025 Background Am Q
	2025 Background Pm Q
	2025 Build Am Q
	2025 Build Pm Q
	2030 Background Am Q
	2030 Background Pm Q
	2030 Build Am Q
	2030 Build Pm Q

	Q TIA.pdf
	2023 Background Am Q
	2023 Background Pm Q
	2025 Background Am Q
	2025 Background Pm Q
	2025 Build Am Q
	2025 Build Pm Q
	2030 Background Am Q
	2030 Background Pm Q
	2030 Build Am Q
	2030 Build Pm Q

	2035 Build Maple @ Game Farm Pm.pdf
	!5th at Bear Creek

	2035 Build Maple @ Access PM.pdf
	!5th at Bear Creek

	2035 Background Maple @ Game Farm Pm.pdf
	!5th at Bear Creek

	2035 Background Maple @ Access PM.pdf
	!5th at Bear Creek

	2035 Background Maple @ Game Farm Pm.pdf
	!5th at Bear Creek

	2035 Background Maple @ Access PM.pdf
	!5th at Bear Creek

	2035 Build Maple @ Access PM.pdf
	!5th at Bear Creek

	2035 Build Maple @ Game Farm Pm.pdf
	!5th at Bear Creek




	ATT 4 - Application and Exhibits for Zone Change
	ATT 5 - PC Order and Recommendation - Zoning Map Amendment Signed
	ATT 6 - PC Order and Recommendation for Zone Change SIgned
	ATT 7 - Comments from Fuhrman

	Item 05b. Contract Award Library_CMO Remodel
	ATT1 Library-CMO Remodel Bid summary
	ATT2 Library-CMO Remodel Contract

	Item 05c. Made By You Liquor License
	ATT1 Made By You Liquor License Application

	Item 05d. PacificSource Contract
	ATT 1 PacificSource Services Agreement
	00_City of Springfield_Third Party Adminstrative Services Agreement _Medical_0124_V2  FINAL
	01_City of Springfield_Exhibit I BAA_2017(2024)_0124_V1 FINAL
	02_City of Springfield_Exhibit II Fees_0124_ Medical_V2 Final
	03 City of Springfield_CVS-Caremark Confidentiality Agreement_0119
	Reporting Services Addendum_0124_Medical_V4 Final 12.21
	05 City of Springfield_PacificSource Stop Loss Policy_0124_V2 FINAL


	PUBLIC HEARING
	Item 01 LDAP Update
	ATT1 Proposed Ordinance LDAP Code Amendments
	ATT1 Exhibit A LDAP Code Amendments
	ATT2 Proposed Ordinance - LDAP Construction Site Runoff

	ATT2 LDAP Code to be Repealed

	Item 02 Capital Improvement Program
	ATT1 FY25-FY29 CIP
	ATT2 FY25-FY29 CIP
	ATT3 Planning Commission Order

	ORDINANCES
	Item 01 Ordinance Amending SMC to Prohbiit Public Controlled Substance Use
	ATT1 Ordinance Amending SMC to Prohibit Public Controlled Substance Use (1.16.2024) (00031641xF5DC7) - Copy


	New Outlet: On
	Change of Ownership: Off
	Greater Privilege: Off
	Additional Privilege: Off
	Commercial: Off
	Caterer: Off
	Public Passenger Carrier: Off
	Other Public Location: Off
	For Profit Private Club: Off
	Nonprofit Private Club: Off
	Primary location: Off
	3rd: Off
	4th: Off
	5th: Off
	Primary location_2: Off
	Primary location_3: Off
	2nd: Off
	2nd_2: Off
	2nd_3: Off
	2nd_4: Off
	Primary location_4: Off
	3rd_2: Off
	3rd_3: Off
	3rd_4: Off
	Recommend this license be granted: Off
	Recommend this license be denied: Off
	Primary location_5: Off
	Limited OnPremises: On
	Off Premises: Off
	Warehouse: Off
	Wholesale Malt Beverage and Wine: Off
	Name of entity or individual applicant 1: Made By You LLC
	Name of entity or individual applicant 2: 
	Name of entity or individual applicant 3: 
	Name of entity or individual applicant 4: 
	Premises street address The physical location of the business and where the liquor license will be posted: 715 Main Street
	City: Springfield
	Zip Code: 97477
	County: Lane
	Business phone number: (541) 520-0731
	Business email: madebyyoustudios@outlook.com
	Business mailing address where we will send any items by mail as described in OAR 84500400651: 225 Main Street
	City_2: Sprinfield
	State: OR
	Zip Code_2: 97477
	Print name: Cynthia Koza
	Date_2: 1/2/23
	Print name_2: 
	Date_3: 
	Print name_3: 
	Date_4: 
	Print name_4: 
	Date_5: 
	BUSINESS INFORMATION Trade Name of the Business name customers will see: Made by You
	Group4: Choice2
	Current MJ License?: No
	No Recommendation/Neutral: Off
	Application Contact Name: Cynthia Koza
	Phone number_2: (541) 603-6771
	Email_2: cindy@rsstaff.org


